Sixth International Scientific Conference on Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Economics, Management and Agriculture

TEMA 2022

www.itema-conference.com

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

Organized by



Partner institutions









Poznań University of Economics and Business



SIXTH INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC CONFERENCE ITEMA 2022

Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Economics, Management and Agriculture

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

Maribor, Slovenia October 27, 2022

Sixth International Scientific Conference ITEMA

Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Economics, Management and Agriculture ISSN 2683-5991

Conference Proceedings (part of ITEMA conference collection)

Editor:

Vuk Bevanda 回

PhD, Associate Professor, Faculty of Social Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Associate Editor:

Paulo Monteiro Alexandre 匝

PhD, Associate Professor, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, School of Business Administration, Setúbal, Portugal

Organizational Committee:

Anton Vorina 匝

PhD, Professor, School of Economics, Vocational College, Celje, Slovenia **Nikolina Vrcelj** PhD candidate, Udekom Balkan, Serbia **Nevena Bevanda** PhD student, Udekom Balkan, Serbia **Ivana Mirčević** BSc, Udekom Balkan, Serbia **Uroš Mirčević** Ing., Udekom Balkan, Serbia **Goran Stevanović** BSc, Udekom Balkan, Serbia

Published by:

Association of Economists and Managers of the Balkans – UdEkoM Balkan Ustanicka 179/2 St. 11000 Belgrade, Serbia office@udekom.org.rs +381 62 8125 779

Conference partners:

Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor, Slovenia Faculty of Organization and Informatics, University of Zagreb, Croatia Faculty of Geography, University of Belgrade, Serbia Institute of Marketing, Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan, Poland Faculty of Agriculture, Banat's University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine "King Michael I of Romania", Timisoara, Romania

Cover image by: Gerd Altmann from Pixabay *Printed by:* SKRIPTA International, Belgrade

Print circulation: 100 copies

Belgrade, 2023

ISBN 978-86-80194-63-9

ISSN 2683-5991

DOI: https://doi.org/10.31410/ITEMA.2022

Disclaimer: The author(s) of each paper appearing in this publication is/are solely responsible for the content thereof; the findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in the papers are those of the authors and do not reflect the view of the editor, reviewers, scientific committee members, the publisher, conference partners or anyone else involved in creating, producing or delivering this publication.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License

CIP - Katalogizacija u publikaciji Narodna biblioteka Srbije, Beograd 330(082) 004(082) 005(082) 338.48(082) 631(082) 616.98:578.834]:33(082) **INTERNATIONAL Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Eco**nomics, Management and Agriculture (6; 2022) Conference Proceedings / Sixth International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Economics, Management and Agriculture, Maribor, Slovenia October 27, 2022 ; [editor Vuk Bevanda]. - Belgrade : Association of Economists and Managers of the Balkans / UdEkoM Balkan, 2023 (Belgrade : Skripta International). - XVIII, 434 str. : ilustr. ; 29 cm. - (ITEMA Conference Collection, ISSN 2683-5991) Tiraž 100. - Napomene i bibliografske reference uz tekst. - Bibliografija uz svaki rad. - Registri. ISBN 978-86-80194-63-9 a) Informaciona tehnologija -- Zbornici b) Ekonomija -- Zbornici v) Menadžment -- Zbornici g) Turizam -- Zbornici d) Poljoprivreda -- Zbornici d) Korona virus -- Ekonomski aspekt -- Zbornici COBISS.SR-ID 120738057

Editorial Committee of the ITEMA Conference

Albania

Rovena Troplini Vangjel 🗈

PhD, Assistant Professor, Head of Finance Accounting Department Business Faculty, Aleksandër Moisiu University of Durrës, Durrës **Kladiola Gjini** PhD, Assistant Professor, University of Elbasan Aleksander Xhuvani, Elbasan

Algeria

Kamel Mouloudj

PhD, Full-Time Professor, University of Medea

Austria

Dominika Galkiewicz Prof. (FH) Dr., University of Applied Sciences Kufstein

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Lejla Žunić PhD, Associate Professor, University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Science, Sarajevo

Bulgaria

Maria Vodenicharova PhD, Associate Professor, University of National and World Economy, Sofia Victor Yotzov PhD, Associate Professor, University of National and World Economy, Sofia Nikolay Atanasov PhD, Associate Professor, Medical University Plovdiv

Croatia

Sandro Gerić PhD, Associate Professor, Faculty of Organization and Informatics Varaždin, University of Zagreb Darko Andročec PhD, Assistant Professor, Faculty of Organization and Informatics Varaždin, University of Zagreb Jelena Dorčić PhD, Postdoctoral Researcher, University of Rijeka, Faculty of Tourism and Hospitality Management, Opatija Pavle Jakovac PhD, Associate Professor, Faculty of Economics and Business Rijeka, University of Rijeka

Czech Republic

Dominik Zidek 厄

PhD, Assistant Professor, Masaryk University, Faculty of Law

Hungary

Krisztina Bence-Kiss 💿

PhD, Senior lecturer, Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences, Kaposvár

India

J. C. Sharmiladevi

PhD, Assistant Professor, SCMS, Symbiosis International University, Viman Nagar, Pune

Italy

Vito Arcangelo Carulli 匝

PhD, Adjunct Professor, Department of Economics and Finance, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", Bari

Katia Giusepponi D

PhD, Associate Professor, University of Macerata – Department of Education, Cultural Heritage and Tourism, Macerata

Serena Brianzoni 匝

PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Management, Polytechnic University of Marche, Ancona

North Macedonia

Ljupcho Eftimov 🕩

PhD, Full-Time Professor, Faculty of Economics-Skopje, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje

Vera Karadjova 🝺

PhD, Full-Time Professor, University "St. Kliment Ohridski", Bitola; Faculty of Tourism and Hospitality, Ohrid

Nikolche Jankulovski 💿

PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Agricultural Economics, Head of Faculty of Biotechnical Sciences – Bitola, University "St. Kliment Ohridski"- Bitola

Poland

Zygmunt Waśkowski 🝺

PhD, Full-Time Professor, Director, Institute of Marketing, Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan

Ireneusz P. Rutkowski 💿

PhD, Full-Time Professor, Department of Market Research and Services, Institute of Marketing, Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan

Barbara Borusiak 匝

PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Commerce and Marketing, Institute of Marketing, Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan

Magdalena Ankiel 🕩

PhD, Associate Professor, Product Marketing Department, Institute of Marketing, Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan

Marcin Pełka 匝

PhD, Assistant professor, Wrocław University of Economics and Business, Wrocław

Portugal

Rui Dias 匝

PhD, Associate Professor, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, School of Business Administration and Researcher at the University of Évora (CEFAGE), Setúbal

Paula Heliodoro 回

PhD, Associate Professor, Polytechnic Institute of Setubal, Setubal

Romania

Imbrea Florin 回

PhD, Full-Time Professor, Dean, Faculty of Agriculture, Banat's University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine "King Michael I of Romania", Timisoara

Laura Smuleac 🕩

PhD, Associate Professor, Vice Dean for Research, Faculty of Agriculture, Banat's University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine "King Michael I of Romania", Timisoara **Suzana Demyen**

PhD, Assistant Professor, Babes-Bolyai University, Department of Business Administration - Resita

Serbia

Velimir Šećerov PhD, Full-Time Professor, Dean, Faculty of Geography, University of Belgrade, Belgrade Dejan Filipović PhD, Full-Time Professor, Faculty of Geography, University of Belgrade, Belgrade Milan Marković PhD, Research Associate, University of Niš, Innovation Center, Niš Ana Jovičić Vuković PhD, Lecturer, School of Business, Novi Sad

Slovakia

Mária Farkašová 🕩

PhD, Assistant Professor, Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Nitra

Slovenia

Polona Tominc ⁽¹⁾ PhD, Full-Time Professor, Dean, Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor Darja Boršič ⁽¹⁾ PhD, Full-Time Professor, Vice Dean, Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor Borut Milfelner ⁽¹⁾ PhD, Full-Time Professor, Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor

Spain

José Aurelio Medina-Garrido PhD, Associate Professor, University of Cadiz, Jerez (Cádiz) Dolores Gallardo-Vázquez PhD, Full professor, University of Extremadura; Facultad de Ciencas Económicas y Empresariales

Turkiye

Erginbay Uğurlu [®] PhD, Istanbul Aydın University, Kampus Kucukcekmece Hanifi Murat Mutlu [®] PhD, Professor, Gaziantep University, Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences Department of International Trade and Logistics

Taiwan

Tamara Klicek

PhD, Assistant Professor, National Taipei University



Contents

Index of Authors
IndexXIII
PrefaceXV
ITEMA 2022 Participants' AffiliationXVII
Support for Knowledge Management Processes
with Blockchain Technology1 Sandra Lovrenčić
A Proposed Blockchain-Based Solution
for a Data-Driven Vehicle Lifecycle Management9 Ezmolda Barolli Muhamet Zeneli
Dynamic Generation of Website Content Based
on User Segmentation Using Artificial Intelligence17 Nenad Kojić Mladen Petrović Natalija Vugdelija
Cryptocurrency: Evidence from North Macedonia
State and Perspectives of Electronic Invoicing
in Croatian Companies
Comparing Genetic Algorithm
and Variable Neighborhood Search Method for Solving Job Shop Problem
Risk Management in the Automation of Business Processes
through the Application of Robotic Process Automation
Ivana Ivanović Stefan Krstović
Social Networks – A New Way
of Communicating in Healthcare
Usage of E-platforms Google Meet.
Microsoft Teams and Zoom in Education
Framing a Model for Mobile Learning
Using Augmented Reality
Efficiency of Learning Using Augmented Reality Technology 81 Vitomir Radosavljević Slavica Radosavljević
Information Security – SOC Potentialities
Cybersecurity – Security Operations Center. 99 Pedro Falé Leonilde Reis Rui Almeida

An Approach to Improving Network Security
Marija Zajeganović Milan Pavlović
Danica Mamula Tartalja Silva Kostić
Payment Security Issues and User Data in Online Commerce 113 Nadezda Dimova 113
Impact of Risk Management in an Organizational Context
The Potential for Sustainable Tourism Development and Branding. Analysis of Krushevo and Elbasan Destinations
European Strategies for Sustainable Tourist Destinations, Problems & Prospects – The Case of Vlora, Albania
The Tourist Image of the Protected Landscape of Biambare, Sarajevo Lejla Žunić
The Role and Importance of Women in the Revitalization of Intangible Heritage in Order to Maintain the Competitiveness of the Destination
Global Stagflation Shocks: Macroeconomic Challenges and Repercussions
Assessment of the Economic Situation of Post-socialist EU Countries
Business Power and Mobility to Workplaces in Italian Regions during the First COVID-19 Wave
Covid-19's Impact on Supply Chain Practices in the Republic of Serbia
Advantages and Disadvantages of Strategic Alliances in International Business
Testing the Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis in Period of the Global Pandemic of 2020 and the Russian Invasion in 2022: Empirical Evidence from XAU, XAG and XPT
Paulo Alexandre Mariana Chambino

Risk Diversification in Asian Stock Markets: An Empirical Analysis in the Context of the 2020 and 2022 Events
Mariana Chambino
Healthcare Financing Models and the Expenditure Growth
A Holistic CSR Maturity Assessment Model
Information and Communication Technologies
in the Function of the Development of Digital Competences of Persons with Disabilities
Changing the Process of the Employee Recruitment
in the Labour Market
Effect of the 4 th Industrial Revolution on Employability
– Case of Albania
Human Resources Management
in Quality 4.0 Maturity Assessment
Study of the Motivating Factors
of the Human Resources Management System
Liliya Nedeva
University-Industry Cooperation, from the Viewpoint
of Top-Level Management in Albanian Companies
EFQM Maturity Assessment
The Level of Development - Students' Perceptions
and Beyond: The Case of Balkan Countries
Industry 4.0 Process-Operations Management Maturity Assessment:
A Literature Survey
Impact of the Ukrainian Crisis on Investments
in Online Market in Slovakia
A Contribution to Analysis of the Space Productivity in a Seaport

Elements of Food Security in the Current Geopolitical Context	5
Analysis of Agriculture in the European Union	'3
Bulgarian Agriculture - Principles, Traditionsand Development of the Organic AgricultureStristina Petrova-Hristova	;1
Taxation of Agricultural Sector in Albania	;7
The Chaotic Wheat Producer Price Growth Model 39 Vesna Jablanovic 39	5
Economic Assessment of Sea Buckthorn Cultivation and Processing in Conditions of Intensive Production)1
Introducing Green Infrastructure into Urban Policy Documents – The Case of Croatian Cities	5
Priority Substances in Waters of Albanian Ports	3



Index of Authors

A

Anastasia Vlastaridou, 277; 335 Anđela Đorđević, 187 Anela Džananović, 253 Anton Vorina, 63 Areti Stringa, 273 Aurel Nuro, 423

B

Biljana Cvetić, 187 Bledar Murtaj, 423 Brunilda Duraj (Zani), 387

A

Christos Mpafas, 335

D

Dagmar Petrušová, 173 Danica Mamula Tartalja, 57; 105 Deda Đelović, 355 Demetrio Panarello, 181 Dijana Vuković, 153 Dimitar Semkov, 233 Dragan Vasiljević, 187

E

Elvira Fetahu, 123 Emilia Geroska, 123 Ermira Qosja, 299 Esmeralda Halo, 423 Evdokia Nikou, 277 Ezmolda Barolli, 9

G

Gabriela A. Popoviciu, 365 Georgios Melidis, 335 Gerta Bamllari, 131 Giorgio Tassinari, 181 Gordana Jelić, 57

Ioulia Kouroupaki, 277 Ivana Ivanović, 49 Ivona Bajić Sabljo, 263

J

Jana Ladvenicová, 401 Jana Sochuľáková, 173 Jana Vugdelija, 41 Jasna Bajraktarević, 253 João Santos, 117 Jovica Pejčić, 161

K

Katarína Kráľová, 173 Ketrina Çabiri Mijo, 299 Kiril Jovanovski, 25 Klavdij Logožar, 195 Kristina Petrova-Hristova, 381

L

Learta Jusufi, 25 Lejla Žunić, 139 Lena Malešević Perović, 325 Leonilde Reis, 91; 99; 117 Liliya Nedeva, 293 Ľubomír Gurčík, 401

Μ

Maja Ćukušić, 33 Mancia Mircea-Sebastian, 365 Manuel Landum, 117 Maria Belesioti, 239 Mariana Chambino, 203; 217 Maria Vitzilaiou, 309 Marija Zajeganović, 105 Mario Jadrić, 33 Marko Veldić, 33 Matilda Naço, 131 Michail Glykas, 239; 277; 309; 335 Milan Pavlović, 105 Milena Shehu, 273 Mirjana Nedović, 263 Mladen Petrović, 17 Muhamet Zeneli, 9

Ν

Nadezda Dimova, 113 Natalija Vugdelija, 17 Nenad Kojić, 17 Nicole Horta, 203; 217 Nikolay Atanasov, 233 Nikolina Vrcelj, 63

0

P

R

S

Ognjen Pantelić, 49

Paula Heliodoro, 203; 217 Paulo Alexandre, 203[217 Pedro Falé, 99 Pedro Vieira, 91

Rui Almeida, 99 Rui Dias, 203; 217

Sandra Jurić, 373 Sandra Lovrenčić, 1 Sandra Mrvica Mađarac, 373 Sanja Varlaj, 153 Sara Simić, 153 Silva Kostić, 105 Slavica Radosavljević, 71; 81 Stefan Krstović, 49

Thaleia Dima, 309

V

Vesna Jablanovic, 395 Vidosava Džagić, 187 Viola Theodhori, 387 Vitomir Radosavljević, 71; 81 Vladimir Šimić, 325 Vlastimir Čobrda, 349 Vuk Bevanda, 63

Z

Zuzana Bajusová, 401 Zvonimir Filipović, 373

Ž

Željka Kordej-De Villa, 415



Index

4th Industrial Revolution, 273

#

A

Adriatic Sea, 423 Advantages, 25 Adventure tourism, 123 Agricultural and livestock production, 373 Agricultural policy of EU, 373 Agro-Food sector, 365 Arbitrage, 203 Artificial intelligence, 17 Asian Markets, 217 Augmented Reality, 71; 81

В

Barriers, 299 Blockchain, 9 Blockchain technology, 1 BTEX, 423 Bulgarian agriculture, 381

С

Challenges, 299 Chaos, 395 Communication, 293 Competitive advantage, 195 Conventional crops, 401 **Corporate Social** Responsibility, 239 COVID-19, 187 Craftsmanship, 153 **Critical Success Factors** (CSFs), 309 Croatia, 415 Croatian companies, 33 Cryptocurrency, 25 **CSR** Maturity Assessment Framework, 239 Cultural differences, 195 Cultural immersion, 123 Cybersecurity, 91; 99; 117 Cybersecurity threats, 99

D

Data, 113 Digital competence, 253 Digital human resources strategy, 263 Digitalization, 263 Digital transformation, 33; 335 Digitize, 9 Disability, 253 Disadvantages (of cryptocurrency), 25 Distributed ledger, 9 Dynamic investment assessment methods, 401 Dynamic website, 17

E

Economy, 381 Effective learning, 81 Efficiency, 293 EFOM, 309 Electronic human resources management, 263 Electronic invoicing, 33 Employability, 273 Employers, 181 Employment rate, 173 European agricultural model. 365 European solidarity, 365 European strategies, 131 European Tourism Indicator System, 131 Event management, 91 Events 2020 and 2022, 203

F

Financial instruments, 25 Financial integration, 217 Financial markets, 25 France, 161 Functional food, 401

G

GC/ECD/FID, 423 Gender, 153 Genetic algorithm, 41 Germany, 161 Global crisis, 365 Glykas Quality Compass (GQC), 309 Google Meet, 63 Government budget, 233 Green corridors, 365 Green infrastructure, 415 Gross domestic product per capita, 173

HDI index, 325 Healthcare financing models, 233 Health literacy, 57 Heuristics, 41 Human resources management (HRM), 263; 277 Hyperledger fabric, 9

Н

Incentives, 387 Incident control, 99 Incident response, 99 Industry 4.0, 335 Inflation, 173 Information, 91 Information and communication technologies, 253 Information security, 91; 117 Information-sharing platforms, 57 Insurance, 9 International business, 195 ISO26000:2010, 239

Job Shop, 41

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

Κ

Knowledge management, 1 Knowledge management processes, 1 Kohonen neural network, 17

L

Lacemakers, 153 Learning technologies, 81 Lepoglav lace, 153 Level of development, 325 Life satisfaction, 325 Log messages, 105 Long memories, 217 Loyalty, 139

Μ

Macroeconomic repercussions, 161 Main challenges for agricultural production, 373 Malicious activities., 105 Maturity assessment, 277; 335 Maturity Model, 239 Microsoft teams, 63 Mitigation strategies, 187 Mobile learning, 71 Motivation, 293 Motivational factors, 299

Ν

Natural environment, 123 North Macedonia, 25

0

Online commerce, 113 Online market Slovakia, 349 Online support, 57 Online teaching, 63 Operations management, 335 Organic agriculture, 381 Organochlorine pesticides, 423

Ρ

PAH, 423 Payment, 113 PCBs, 423 Persistence, 203 Physical activity, 123 Physical planning, 415 Policy documents, 415 Portfolio diversification, 203; 217 Post-socialist countries, 173 Process automation, 49 Producer price, 395 Promotion, 139 Protected landscape, 139 Public administration balance, 173 Public health expenditure, 233

Quality 4.0, 277 Quality Management (QM), 309

0

R

Regional strategies, 131 Regulatory framework, 25 Risk management, 49; 117 Risks, 49 RPA technology, 49 Rural areas, 381

S

Satisfaction, 139 Scheduling problem, 41 Sea buckthorn, 401 Seaport, 355 Secure, 9 Security, 113 Security information, 91 Security Operations Center, 91 Size of agricultural holdings, 373 Skills, 253 Skills gap, 273 SOC, 99 Social health insurance, 233 Space Productivity, 355 Stagflation, 161 Static investment assessment methods, 401 Strategic alliances, 195 Stringency, 181

Students' perception, 325 Supply chain, 187 Supply chain disruptions, 187 Sustainability, 131

Tax policy, 387 Teaching content, 71 Tourist impressions, 139 Trade unions, 181 Traditions, 381 Troubleshooting, 105

U

Ukrainian crisis, 349 Unemployment rate, 173 Urban areas, 415 USA, 161 User, 113 User segmentation, 17

Variable neighborhood search, 41 VAT, 387 Vehicle lifecycle management, 9 Vlora, 131

W

Ζ

Water analyze, 423 Web 4.0, 17 Western Balkans, 25 Wheat, 395 Women's heritage, 153 Work productivity, 173

Zoom, 63



Preface

The purpose of the annual ITEMA conference is to support the power of scientific research and dissemination of the research results with the objective to enhance society by advancing knowledge; policy-making change, lives, and ultimately, the world. Our objective is to continue to be the fore-most annual conference on cutting-edge theory and practice of information technology, tourism, economics, management, and agriculture, encouraging advancement via excellence, and interaction.

ITEMA conference aims to bring together the international academic community (experts, scientists, engineers, researchers, students, and others) and enable interactive discussions and other forms of interpersonal exchange of experiences and popularization of science and personal and collective affirmation.

The annual ITEMA conference is committed to the highest standards of publishing integrity and academic honesty as ensuring ethics in all its publications. Conformance to standards of ethical behavior is therefore expected of all parties involved: authors, editors, reviewers, and the publisher. The conference organizer follows the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) guidelines on how to deal with potential acts of misconduct.

All received full papers prior peer review process are subject to plagiarism check with iThenticate by Turnitin software. Any identified plagiarism automatically disqualifies a paper. Afterward, all full papers are double-blind peer-reviewed by the reviewers drawn from the editorial committee or external reviewers depending on the topic, title, and the subject matter of the paper. Peer reviewers provide a critical assessment of the paper and may recommend improvements. Although the author may choose not to take this advice, we highly recommend that the author address any issues, explaining why their research process or conclusions are correct.

The conference program of the 6th International Scientific Conference on Recent Advances in Information Technology, Tourism, Economics, Management, and Agriculture - ITEMA 2022 held on October 27, 2022, combined presentations of the latest scientific developments in the field of knowledge management with blockchain, data-driven vehicle lifecycle management, AI-based website content generation, comparative analysis of protocol attributes, cryptocurrency evidence, electronic invoicing, genetic algorithms for job shop problems, risk management with automation, social networks in healthcare, e-platform usage in education, augmented reality learning, information security and cybersecurity, payment security in online commerce, tourism, COVID-19's economic impact, digitalization, strategic alliances, capital markets, healthcare financing, FINTECH, sustainability reporting, human resources, education strategies, agricultural analysis, and others. The selection of papers for presentation on the conference day was based on quality, originality, and relevance.

ITEMA 2022 keynote speaker was full-time professor Kornelije Rabuzin representing the Faculty of Organization and Informatics, University of Zagreb, Varaždin, Croatia with the topic *Using Business Intelligence*.

Within publications from the ITEMA 2022 conference:

- 12 double peer-reviewed papers have been published in the ITEMA 2022 Selected Papers,
- 48 double peer-reviewed papers have been published in the ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings,
- 106 abstracts have been published in the ITEMA 2022 Book of Abstracts.

Altogether ITEMA 2022 publications have more than 700 pages. All full papers have DOI numbers and ORCID iD integration.

Participation in the conference took **193 researchers** representing **20 different countries** from different universities, eminent faculties, scientific institutes, colleges, various ministries, local governments, public and private enterprises, multinational companies, associations, etc.





ITEMA 2022 Participants' Affiliation

Albania

- Agricultural University of Tirana, Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness
- European University of Tirana, Tirana
- Tirana University, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Chemistry
- University "Aleksandër Moisiu", Durres
- University "Luarasi", Faculty of Law, Department of the Public Law, Tirana
- University of Elbasan, Faculty of Economy, Department of Marketing
- University of Tirana, Faculty of Economics, Str. Arben Broci, Tirana
- University of Tirana, Sheshi Nënë Tereza 4, 1010 Tirana

Austria

- Central European Uniiversity, Quellenstrasse 51, 1100 Vienna
- University of Applied Sciences Kufstein, Andreas Hofer-Str. 7, Kufstein
- University of Klagenfurt, Universitätsstrasse 65-67

Bosnia and Herzegovina

- BIT Center Tuzla
- Fam3 doo Tuzla
- University in Sarajevo, Faculty of Education, 71000 Sarajevo
- University in Tuzla, Faculty of Economics
- University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Science, Zmaja od Bosne 35, 71000 Sarajevo
- University of Travnik, Faculty of Management and Business Economics, 71250 Kiseljak

Bulgaria

- Medical University Plovdiv, Department of Health Management and Health Economics, 15A, Blvd. Vasil Aprilov, 4000 Plovdiv
- New Bulgarian University, 21 Montevideo Str., Sofia
- Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski", 15 Tzar Osvoboditel Blvd., Sofia
- Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski", Faculty of Geology and Geography, "Socio-Economic Geography" Department, Tzar Osvoboditel 15, Sofia
- University of Plovdiv "Paisii Hilendarski", 24 Tsar Asen Str., Plovdiv

Croatia

- College of Applied Sciences "Lavoslav Ružička" in Vukovar, Županijska 50, Vukovar
- Croatian Health Insurance Fund, Kapucinska 33, Osijek
- Institute of Economics, Trg J. F. Kennedyja 7, 10000 Zagreb
- PIK Vrbovec plus d.o.o., Gospodarska zona 20, Antunovac
- Regional Wholesales Market Osijek d.d., Jablanova bb, Osijek

- University North, Trg dr. Žarka Dolinara 1, 48000 Koprivnica
- University of Rijeka, Faculty of Economics and Business, Ivana Filipovića 4, 51000 Rijeka
- University of Split, Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, Cvite Fiskovića 5, 21000 Split
- University of Zagreb, Faculty of Organization and Informatics, Pavlinska 2, Varaždin
- Zagreb School of Business, Ulica grada Vukovara 68, 10000 Zagreb

China

- Hong Kong Baptist University, Department of Finance and Decision Sciences
- Hong Kong Polytechnic University, School of Professional Education and Executive Development

Czech Republic

- Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Management, Odbojárov 10, 820 05 Bratislava 25
- Mendel University in Brno, Faculty of Business and Economics, Department of Marketing and Trade, Zemědělská 1665/1, 613 00 Brno-sever
- Prague University of Economics and Business, W. Churchill Sq. 1938/4, 130 67 Prague 3 – Žižkov

France

• UCA - Skema Business School

Greece

- University of the Aegean, 41 Kountouriotou Str., 82100 Chios
- University of the Aegean, School of Engineering, Department of Financial and Management Engineering, Kountouriotou 42, 82100 Chios

Hungary

- Centre for Economic and Regional Studies, Institute for Regional Studies West-Hungarian Research Department; Liszt Ferenc u. 10, 9022 Győr
- Eötvös Loránd University, Faculty of Economics, Egyetem tér 1-3.,1053 Budapest
- Magyar Agrár és Élettudományi Egyetem (MATE), Páter Károly u. 1, 2100 Gödöllő
- University of Debrecen, Faculty of Economics and Business, Institute of Accounting and Finance, Böszörményi út 138, 4032 Debrecen

Italy

- Polytechnic University of the Marches, Department of Management, Piazzale Martelli 8, 60121 Ancona
- University of Brescia, Department of Law, via San Faustino No. 41, Brescia
- University of Pisa, Department of Economics and Management, via Ridolfi 10, 56124 Pisa
- University of Bologna, Department of Statistical Sciences "Paolo Fortunati", Via delle Belle Arti 41, 40126 Bologna

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

Kuwait

- American College of the Middle East
- American University of the Middle East

Montenegro

• Port of Bar, Obala 13. jula 2, 85 000 Bar

North Macedonia

- Ss Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Faculty of Economics – Skopje, bul. Goce Delcev 9v, Skopje
- Pro Local Fostering Development CSO, Bitola, Pelagonia

Poland

• Poznan University of Economics and Business, Al. Niepodległości 10

Portugal

- Cybersafe Lda, Alfragide
- Research Unit on Governance, Competitiveness and Public Policies (GOVCOPP), ESTGA – UA, 3810-193 Aveiro, FEUC – UC
- School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal
- University of Coimbra, Faculty of Economics, Av. Dias da Silva, № 165, 3004-512 Coimbra
- University of Évora, Center for Studies and Advanced Training in Management and Economics (CEFAGE)

Romania

- Babeș-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca
- Babeș-Bolyai University, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Teodor Mihali Street No. 58-60
- Partium Christian University, Faculty of Economics and Social Science, Department of Economics, str. Primăriei, nr. 36, 410209 Oradea
- University of Agronomic Sciences and Veterinary Medicine of Bucharest, 59 Mărăști Blvd, Bucharest
- University of Oradea, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Cadastre and Architecture, 4 B. St. Delavrancea, 410058, Bihor
- West University of Timisoara, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration

Serbia

- Academy of Applied Technical and Preschool Studies, Department Vranje, Filipa Filipovica 20, 17500 Vranje
- Academy of Applied Technical Studies Belgrade, Department of Computer-Mechanical Engineering, Blv. Zorana Djindjića 152 a, 11070 Belgrade
- Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Studies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade
- Association of Economists and Managers of the Balkans, Belgrade

- ATSSB, Department of Belgrade Polytechnic, Katarine Ambrozić 3, Belgrade
- Belgrade Business and Arts Academy of Applied Studies, Kraljice Marije 73, Belgrade
- Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Serbia, Kneza Miloša 12, Belgrade
- Faculty of Security Studies, Gospodara Vucica 50, Belgrade
- Faculty of Social Sciences, Belgrade
- Quadro Consulting, 6 Vladimira Popovića St., Belgrade
- Singidunum University Belgrade
- University in Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics in Subotica
- University of Belgrade, Faculty of Economics and Business, Kamenička 6, 11000 Belgrade
- University of Belgrade, Faculty of Agriculture, Nemanjina 6, 11081 Belgrade
- University of Belgrade, Faculty of Mining and Geology, Djusina 7, Belgrade
- University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organisational Sciences, Jove Ilića 154, Belgrade
- University of Defence, Military Academy, Belgrade
- University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Trg kralja Aleksandra Ujedinitelja 11
- University of Niš, Innovation Centre at University of Niš, Univerzitetski trg 2
- Videobolt, Bulevar Mihaila Pupina 10a, Belgrade

Slovakia

- Academy of the Police Force in Bratislava, Sklabinská 1, 835 17 Bratislava
- Alexander Dubček University in Trenčín, Faculty of Social and Economic Relations, Študentská 3, 91150 Trenčín
- Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Law, Šafárikovo námestie 6, 810 00 Bratislava
- Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Medicine, Špitálska 24, 813 72 Bratislava
- Comenius University, Faculty of Management, Odbojarov 10, Bratislava
- Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 94976 Nitra
- University of Economics in Bratislava, Faculty of Commerce, Department of Tourism, Dolnozemská cesta 1, 852 35 Bratislava

Slovenia

- · Celje School of Economics, Higher Vocational College
- · Faculty of Economics and Business
- University of Maribor, Faculty of Economics and Business, Razlagova 14, 2000 Maribor



Support for Knowledge Management Processes with Blockchain Technology

Sandra Lovrenčić¹

Received: January 31, 2023 Accepted: February 9, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Knowledge management; Knowledge management processes; Blockchain technology

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Knowledge management facilitates the cycle of knowledge within organization through processes for knowledge capture/creation, storing, sharing and application. Various information technologies are already used to support those processes and their mechanisms, and new ones are continually emerging. The use of blockchain technology is lately suggested in many areas, including knowledge management. This paper aims to identify what are the most discussed benefits of using blockchain technology in knowledge management, considering their features, especially for specific processes. It also explores possible advantages and disadvantages of the use of blockchain technology, on which depends its real adoption in organizations as support for knowledge management processes.

1. INTRODUCTION

1

Importance of organizational knowledge is indisputable today for the success of any business organization on a market that is continually changing and is, especially lately, disrupted by various events – diseases (COVID-19), natural disasters (earthquakes), wars (Ukraine), or logistic problems (truck drivers shortage, Suez Canal obstruction). Critical knowledge must be determined and obtained from sources within and without organization, as is accentuated in Quality management systems – Requirements standard, ISO 9001:2015 (Kahler et al., 2016), which was again confirmed in 2021 (International Organization for Standardization, 2015). For this reason, knowledge management should be an integral part of organization management, ensuring that knowledge management processes have the continuous support that they need.

The use of various information technologies to foster knowledge management processes has been investigated by various authors (Becerra-Fernandez & Sabherwal, 2014; Dalkir, 2017; de Carvalho & Ferreira, 2001; Lovrenčić et al., 2017) because it offers many possibilities for improvement of business processes that organization can benefit from and gain competitive advantage. It is not exaggerated to say that knowledge management can benefit from almost any information technology, and therefore this research continues with the emergence of new technologies, including blockchain technology.

The paper is structured as follows. In Chapter 2 is given an overview of knowledge management processes and well known technologies for their support, and in Chapter 3 are described the basics of blockchain technology. Chapter 4 investigates benefits of blockchain use for knowledge management processes, and Chapter 5 advantages and disadvantages of blockchain technology in general. Potential directions for future research are described in Chapter 6, and in chapter 7 the conclusion is given.

Faculty of Organization and Informatics, University of Zagreb, Pavlinska 2, Varaždin, Croatia



2. KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT PROCESSES AND TECHNOLOGY

The flow of knowledge through organization is enabled by knowledge management processes that are part of knowledge management architecture, which also includes various mechanisms, technologies, systems and supporting infrastructure. There are numerous proposals for names and number of those processes. For example, Wei and Yeganeh (2013) list suggestions from six different papers and Dalkir (2017) gives a review of seven approaches to knowledge management cycle. In general, knowledge management processes can be divided into four phases:

- 1. **Knowledge capture/creation:** First phase of knowledge management cycle that is focused on obtaining new or existing knowledge, which resides within or without organization and is necessary for its business.
- 2. **Knowledge storing:** The phase in which different methods and technologies are used for processing, codifying and storing knowledge in various formats that are appropriate for sharing and using.
- 3. **Knowledge sharing:** Often mentioned as the most important phase, it ensures that knowledge is accessible in an understandable form and at the right time to employees that make decisions and perform actions.
- 4. **Knowledge application:** Last phase refers to the application of knowledge in business, whereby the knowledge that is applied can be one's own or someone else's.

Information technology is an integral part of knowledge management since it began to be studied as a scientific discipline. This is depicted in well-known Stankosky's (2005) four pillars of knowledge management: leadership, organization, learning and technology; where information technology such as e-mail, data warehousing, search engines, decision support and management tools are mentioned. During years many "traditional" and also emerging technologies were and are used for support of knowledge management processes, for example databases, content management systems, decision support systems, lessons learned systems, data mining, blogs, big data analytics, machine learning. augmented reality, natural language processing and semantic technologies. For a large number of emerging information technologies, the benefit for supporting knowledge management processes, and thus the organization's operations, is assessed. Blockchain is also one of those technologies.

3. BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGY

It is considered that work on blockchain began when Haber and Stornetta (1991) described the procedure of secure time-stamping of digital documents, and then gained interest after famous mail and paper from Nakamoto (2008) that proposes a bitcoin as electronic cash with peer-to-peer network and proof-of-work chain. The first implementation of blockchain was in 2009 as the public distributed ledger for bitcoin transactions, meaning that a ledger is distributed over network (Chowdhury et al., 2019).

There are many papers that in detail explain blockchain technology (Belotti et al., 2019; Chatterjee & Chatterjee, 2017; Murray, 2019; Sahani et al., 2020; Yaga et al., 2018), which can be described in the simplest way as a shared distributed database. In the blockchain, content is stored on a decentralized public ledger that ensures tracking of history of all transactions and thus provenance of data, information and knowledge. Encrypted content, distributed ownership and distributed physical structure of the ledger ensure trust and security. Blocks in a ledger are connected into chains, and each block has a block header and block data. Block header contains information about block

number and size, time of creation, previous block hash value, block data hash representation and nonce value, whereas block data are stored transactions and ledger events (Yaga et al., 2018). There is no need for intermediaries and interactions can be trustless and permissionless. For example, blockchain enables use of smart contracts – certain actions (such as transfer of some asset) can be predefined and automatically executed when certain conditions are met, without a third party (Belotti et al., 2019), enabling automation of business workflow. Blockchain can also store non-fungible tokens (NFTs) that are unique and can identify something or someone, thus proving the existence and ownership over any digital asset which is the object of a smart contract (Wang et al., 2021).

On Figure 1 is depicted a simple representation of the process of creation of a new block. The important part of the process after initiation of a blockchain change is that transaction has to be validated by computers on the network with consensus protocols, such as Proof of Work (PoW) or Proof of Stake (PoS) (Sriman et al., 2020). Once verified and added to blockchain, block is immutable, irreversible and resilient. This is why its use is investigated in many domains beyond cryptocurrencies, and one of them is knowledge management.



Figure 1. Creation of a Block in a Blockchain Source: Houston, 2022.

4. THE USE OF BLOCKCHAIN IN KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT PROCESSES

Since knowledge management continuously makes use of new technologies to support its processes, there is also ongoing research and proposals of possible application of blockchain for this purpose. The aim of this research was not only to find scientific papers about the topic but also suggestions and ideas from professional perspective, such as business magazines and professional blogs, so that the scope of the interest and practical use in business organizations can be viewed from different perspectives. For this reason, only Google and Google Scholar were searched with keywords "knowledge management processes", "knowledge creation", "knowledge acquisition", knowledge storing", knowledge storage", "knowledge sharing", "knowledge distribution", "knowledge use" and "knowledge application" combined with "blockchain". Results directly connected to knowledge management processes in business organizations and blockchain features that would improve them were taken into account. For given conditions, only few papers described below and no relevant other sources were found. Investigation of Scopus citation database papers about general use of blockchain for knowledge management was done by Frozza et. al. (2019) and the authors found nine papers in total and several proposals for blockchain application in all knowledge management processes, naming decentralization, immutability, traceability, anonymity, distrusting, transparency and smart contracts as its important features. Akhavan et al. (2018) argue that blockchain should be used in knowledge management because of various features: for knowledge creation because of collective verification and transparency; for knowledge storage because of transparency, decentralization, immutability and integration; for knowledge sharing because it ensures intellectual property rights; and for knowledge use because of security and access control. Yuman and Goval (2022) propose model of enterprise knowledge management blockchain technology platform that ensures verification, security and anonymity of knowledge creation and transfer with the use of private keys, using distributed and decentralized knowledge base. Framework for knowledge acquisition system with secure, immutable and irrevocable blockchain-driven decentralized knowledge base is proposed by Majeed & Hong (2018), which will enable secure submission of rules with public and private keys. Decentralization, immutability and establishment of trust are also features that improve processes of knowledge storage and sharing (Adeleke, 2019). Other features that make blockchain technology useful for knowledge sharing are transparency and security (Hu et al., 2018; Philsoophian et al., 2022), as well as security, trust, immutability, distribution and traceability (Pastor et al., 2020).

According to purpose of knowledge management processes, known features of blockchain and analyzed literature, most important benefits of blockchain technology that can be identified for specific processes/phases are:

- 1. **Knowledge capture/creation:** provenance of captured/created knowledge and trustworthiness of data sources,
- 2. **Knowledge storing:** distributed, decentralized knowledge storage and decreased possibility of knowledge manipulation,
- 3. **Knowledge sharing:** no intermediaries in knowledge sharing and facilitated sharing because of decentralized storage,
- 4. **Knowledge application:** self-execution through smart contracts and automation of business workflow.

5. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF THE USE OF BLOCKCHAIN

In previous chapter are described many positive perspectives of implementation of blockchain technology. One of most mentioned advantages is security of stored data, information and knowledge, because of use of cryptography, decentralization and need for network consensus for any change in a ledger. The way in which each block is created ensures immutability of stored information, which becomes permanent and uneditable. The whole process brings even more advantages in form of transparency and trustless and permissionless interactions, but also ensures authorship and ownership of created knowledge (NFTs) and proof of knowledge.

When adopting blockchain in knowledge management, organizations should not be aware only of its benefits and advantages, but also of disadvantages in general. Important disadvantages that organizations have to take into consideration before implementation of blockchain technology in knowledge management and for specific knowledge management processes are:

- **Scalability:** The number of transactions per second (TPS) of blockchain technology is still low; according to various sources, Bitcoin has 7-14 TPS and Ethereum 20-35 TPS where-as Visa has 1700 TPS.
- **Cost:** Transaction fees can significantly vary, depending on various factors (Clarke, 2022) as well as mining and service fees.
- **Storage limitations:** Compared to standard data and knowledge bases, the size of Ethereum Blockchain (978 GB) and Bitcoin Blockchain (406 GB) is small, but largely affects the scalability. Up to date size can be checked at https://ycharts.com.
- **Sustainability issues:** Energy consumption depends on consensus method Bitcoin has estimated energy consumption of 132.42 TWh/year (comparable to Argentina), and Ethereum 0.01 TWh/year (comparable to Gibraltar). Up to date energy consumption estimate and comparison with countries can be checked at https://www.statista.com.
- **Questionable future value:** As with any new technology, organizations may not see future value of use of blockchain when considering other technologies and blockchain advantages versus mentioned disadvantages, as well as possible contrary information in media.

6. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Blockchain technology is continuously investigated for application in many domains and for various purposes. There is also research interest aimed at knowledge management in general and for specific domains, which was not in the focus of this paper. Surprisingly, there were only several papers that investigated the use of blockchain technology features specifically for knowledge management processes and no other relevant web sources were found. This points out that more thorough research should be made in several citation databases with carefully selected keywords to find out the nature of connection between blockchain and knowledge management that is currently in the main scientific focus.

Research aimed at blockchain features and knowledge management processes mainly took into account possible benefits. But, to enable organizations to make decision about implementing blockchain technology together with other technologies it already uses to support knowledge management processes, a framework that weighs all advantages and disadvantages for specific processes and their mechanisms should be established. The framework should take into account various factors, such as business strategy, importance of specific process and already implemented technologies, as well as extended use of blockchain technology beyond knowledge management.

7. CONCLUSION

Literature search and overview showed that there is ongoing research about blockchain and knowledge management, but mostly not focused on blockchain features and their potential to support knowledge management processes. Since continuous practice and research proves that many technologies can successfully be implemented into knowledge management systems, there is large potential also for blockchain technology. Organizations invest resources into areas that will be profitable, and knowledge management is not an exception. This is why consideration of use of blockchain technology depends on various factors and such investment would probably need justification of broader use. However, with advancement of blockchain technology, main disadvantages have potential to be reduced over time and influence less on profitability issues, making organizations more prone to implement blockchain as a support for knowledge management processes.

References

- Adeleke, T. (2019). Blockchain and Learning Organizations: How the Emerging Technology Impacts Knowledge Sharing (Publication No. 27672423) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Maryland University College]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2385767203
- Akhavan, P., Philsoophian, M., Rajabion, L., & Namvar, M. (2018). Developing a block-chained knowledge management model (BCKMM): beyond traditional knowledge management. In E. Bolisani, E. Di Maria, & E. Scarso (Eds.). *Proceedings of the 19th European Conference on Knowledge Management* (pp. 17-24). Curran Associates.
- Becerra-Fernandez, I., & Sabherwal, R. (2014). *Knowledge management: systems and processes*. New York: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315715117
- Belotti, M., Božić, N., Pujolle, G., & Secci, S. (2019). A vademecum on blockchain technologies: When, which, and how. *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, 21(4), 3796-3838. https://doi.org/10.1109/COMST.2019.2928178
- Chatterjee, R., & Chatterjee, R. (2017). An overview of the emerging technology: Blockchain. In 2017 International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Networks. (pp. 126-127). Piscataway: IEEE
- Chowdhury, M. J. M., Ferdous, S., Biswas, K., Chowdhury, N., Kayes, A. S. M., Alazab, M., & Watters, P. (2017). A Comparative Analysis of Distributed Ledger Technology Platforms. *IEEE Access*, 7, pp. 167930-167943. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2953729
- Clarke, A. (2022, September 7). How high transaction fees are being tackled in the blockchain ecosystem. *Cointelegraph*. https://cointelegraph.com/news/ how-high-transaction-fees-are-being-tackled-in-the-blockchain-ecosystem
- Dalkir, K. (2017). *Knowledge Management in Theory and Practice* (Third Edition). Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press
- de Carvalho, R. B., & Ferreira, M. A. T. (2001). Using information technology to support knowledge conversion processes. *Information Research*, 7(1). http://www.informationr.net/ir/7-1/paper118.html
- Frozza, T., Casella Galli, F., Pinheiro da Lima, E., & Ribeiro da Silva, E. (2019). Implications of Blockchain technology in Knowledge Management: a literature review. In *Third International Symposium on Supply Chain 4.0 : Challenges and Opportunities of Digital Transformation, Intelligent Manufacturing and Supply Chain Management 4.0.* (pp. 92-98). Collaborative Research Network on Supply Chain 4.0. http://supplychain4.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Proceedings-ISSC4-2019.pdf
- Haber, S., & Stornetta, W. S. (1991). How to time-stamp a digital document. *Journal of Cryptology*, 3(2), 99-111.
- Houston, R. (2022, July 13). Blockchain is a digital database used to store data for crypto transactions and other assets — here's how it works. *Insider*. https://www.businessinsider.com/ personal-finance/what-is-blockchain
- Hu, S., Hou, L., Chen, G., Weng, J., & Li, J. (2018, November). Reputation-based distributed knowledge sharing system in blockchain. In *Proceedings of the 15th EAI Internation*al Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Systems: Computing, Networking and Services (pp. 476-481). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3286978.3286981
- International Organization for Standardization. (2015). *Quality management systems Re-quirements* (ISO Standard No. 9001:2015). https://www.iso.org/standard/62085.html
- Kahler, T., Gross, D., Bredehorst, B., & Ulrich, D. (2016). Organizational Knowledge: DIN EN ISO 9001:2015 interpreted and explained for practical use (Research Report No.

15.R.004), Pumacy Technologies AG. https://www.pumacy.de/en/publications/studies/report-organizational-knowledge/

- Lovrenčić, S., Sekovanić, V., & Jarnjak, A. (2017). Knowledge Management in the Wealth of Information Technology. In V. Potočan, P. Kalinić & A. Vuletić (Eds.), *Economic and Social Development: 26th International Scientific Conference* (pp. 499-507). Varaždin Development and Entrepreneurship Agency
- Majeed, U., & Hong, C. S. (2018). Blockchain Driven Knowledge Acquisition Systems: A General Framework. Journal of the Korean Data and Information Science Society, pp. 988-990. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334519686_Blockchain_Driven_Knowledge Acquisition Systems A General Framework
- Murray, M. (2019). Tutorial: A descriptive introduction to the blockchain. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 45(1), pp. 464-487. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.04525
- Nakamoto, S. (2008). Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System. https://bitcoin.org/bitcoin.pdf
- Pastor, I. G., Olaso, J. R. O., & Fuente, F. S. (2020). Blockchain as a Trust Building Tool for the Promotion of Knowledge Sharing in Project Management. In J. R: Otegi, N. Toledo & I. Taboada (Eds.) *Research and Education in Project Management* (pp. 44-47), 44. AEIPRO.
- Philsoophian, M., Akhavan, P., & Namvar, M. (2022). The mediating role of blockchain technology in improvement of knowledge sharing for supply chain management. *Management Decision*, 60(3), 784-805. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-08-2020-1122
- Sahani, A., Singh, P., & Kumar, A. (2020). Introduction to Blockchain. *Journal of Informatics, Electrical and Electronics Engineering*, 1(1), 1-9. http://doi.org/10.54060/JIEEE/001.01.004
- Sriman, B., Ganesh Kumar, S., & Shamili, P. (2020). Blockchain technology: Consensus protocol proof of work and proof of stake. In S. S. Dash, S. Das & B. K. Panigrahi (Eds.), *Intelligent Computing and Applications: Proceedings of ICICA 2019* (pp. 395-406). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5566-4_34
- Stankosky, M. A. (2005). Advances in Knowledge Management: University Research Toward an Academic Discipline. In M. A. Stankosky (Ed.), *Creating the Discipline of Knowledge Management* (pp. 1-14). New York: Routledge
- Wang, Q., Li, R., Wang, Q., & Chen, S. (2021). Non-fungible token (NFT): Overview, evaluation, opportunities and challenges (Technical Report). https://arxiv.org/pdf/2105.07447.pdf
- Wei, C. C., & Yeganeh, M. (2013). The Influence Of Information Technology On The Knowledge Management Process. *Journal of Knowledge Management Practice*, 14(1). http:// www.tlainc.com/articl327.htm
- Yaga, d., Mell, P., Roby, N., & Scarfone, K. (October, 2018). Blockchain Technology Overview (Report No. 8202), National Institute of Standards and Technology. https://doi.org/10.6028/ NIST.IR.8202
- Yuman, Y., & Goyal, D. S. (2022). Knowledge Management using IoT-Blockchain Technology: State of the Art. *International Journal of Electrical and Electronics Research (IJEER)*, 10(2), 183-189. https://doi.org/10.37391/IJEER.100223



A Proposed Blockchain-Based Solution for a Data-Driven Vehicle Lifecycle Management

Ezmolda Barolli¹ D Muhamet Zeneli² D

Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Blockchain; Vehicle lifecycle management; Insurance; Digitize; Secure; Hyperledger fabric; Distributed ledger

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Vehicle lifecycle data and stakeholders' data related to it have a non-open approach to data access. The lack of accurate, reliable, transparent, and accessible data consequently leads to a lack of trust, but also a risk analysis that is not always relevant. This paper consists of analyzing the factors to determine if a blockchain-based solution could increase trust and collaboration between different stakeholders in vehicle lifecycle management and the insurance industry. The goal is to model a data-driven approach on a blockchain-based solution that helps reduce barriers to finding data on all vehicle transactions. The methods used are based on the analysis of the current systems and platforms of vehicle lifecycle management and insurance policies from the business model perspective and security aspects. The proposed technical solution consists of a general architecture for a permissioned blockchain-based vehicle lifecycle management used by manufacturers, insurance companies, and other stakeholders.

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper consists of analyzing the factors to determine if a blockchain-based solution could increase trust, and collaboration, and initiate a data-driven approach business model between different stakeholders in vehicle lifecycle management and the insurance industry. The possibilities that blockchain offers in addressing the problems of lack of data will be analyzed. A data-driven model, a solution based on blockchain, and "smart contracts" will be conceived. The proposal is to digitize all transactions in a decentralized, accessible, and distributed ledger which could initiate new initiatives in the insurance policies like the pay-as-your-drive or bonus-malus concept. Modeling and building a decentralized database of customers and products leads to a data-oriented business model and more concrete opportunities for analyzing those data. The current approach has risen issues that the blockchain-based solution must address because they continue to cost manufacturers, insurance companies, and customers a considerable amount of money. In this paper key issues identified are mileage fraud, accident fraud, IoT update vehicle usage, vehicle production, and usage location traceability, parts functioning and traceability, data analysis from manufacturers and other stakeholders, ownership traceability, insurance policies traceability, data-driven risk analysis, and predictive maintenance.

This paper presents a general architecture for permissioned blockchain-based vehicle lifecycle management. The proposed technical solution consists in a permissioned blockchain platform that helps break down border barriers to find data on manufacturers, vehicles, users, and all other stakeholders, following the entire product lifecycle. These data can be used by a range of users such as manufacturers, insurance companies, and other stakeholders. The main objective

¹ University of Tirana, Sheshi Nënë Tereza 4, Tiranë 1010, Albania



² University of Tirana, Sheshi Nënë Tereza 4, Tiranë 1010, Albania

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

is to securely digitize and share vehicle lifecycle data. This will enable the stakeholders to securely collaborate over a permissioned blockchain network using vehicle data for different business model approaches. This could create a growing ecosystem of services around the proposed solution. The purpose is to store in a distributed ledger and provide evidence of all transactions committed for a vehicle from different stakeholders as needed while addressing the security concerns between participants in the network.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Relevant and accurate data about a vehicle impacts its value and the insurance policy related to it. Today's vehicle industry is spread over different manufacturers, dealership companies, vehicle repair services, and others. All this amount of data is not shared between different stakeholders. Issues and fraud related to vehicles rise, directly impacting their value and stakeholders. Zafar et al. (2022) underline the fact that due to a lack of records, insecure records, or lack of verified data, the purchaser of a used vehicle remains unaware of the maintenance and transfer history of the vehicle.

Willemarck et al. (2014) in their joint appeal to members of the European Parliament addressed the issue of vehicle odometer fraud which has become a growing problem internationally. Known more commonly as mileage fraud, it affects a considerable number of used cars in Europe - estimates go as high as 30%, costing European consumers approximately \in 5.6 to \notin 9.6 billion. One of the reasons is the lack of unified vehicle life-cycle management. Vehicle data are currently spread across multiple stakeholders that do not trust each other or collaborate. Brousmiche et al. (2018) present another example of vehicle fraud that has great economic and societal impacts concerning rolling wrecks. Vehicles declared as wrecks by an insurance expert are put back onto the second-hand car market, with the help of corrupt professionals. These rolling wrecks are often the cause of severe accidents, involving injured people, and costing insurance companies and consumers a lot of money.

Pan et al. (2020) stress the need to introduce trust mechanisms in organizations to solve the problem of trust to improve information sharing. Lack of data transparency and trust arise since the only link to the information across different stakeholders is a paper-based vehicle logbook which in some cases, is corrupted or not updated with all transactions. Bringing all participating stakeholders under a common digitized platform is a challenge. Recently launched new initiatives for digitizing vehicle logbooks using blockchain technology, secure-by-design, and decentralized ledger. Abbas et al. (2020) explore the potential of blockchain technology in enhancing trust among the stakeholders based on blockchain technology's key attributes: distributed and sustainable; secure and indelible; transparent and auditable; consensus-based and transactional, flexible and orchestrated.

Casino et al. (2019) in a systematic review of blockchain applications emphasize that blockchain has found widespread applications including insurance, payments, asset management, supply chain, banking transaction, etc. providing security, scalability, reliability, and trust among stakeholders and participators in the network. Some notable work is presented by Brousmiche et al. (2018) addressing vehicle life cycle management and odometer fraud prevention through blockchain technology based on J.P Morgan Quorum. They consider the involvement of different stakeholders and emphasize the need and the efficacy for secure management of vehicle data over its life cycle with blockchain technology. The authors presented the idea of a

digital car logbook to prevent odometer fraud and provide a secure cryptographic protocol to provide access to vehicle data to interested stakeholders. Another notable work by Masoud et al. (2019) addresses information integrity with a framework called CarChain, a novel public blockchain-based history reporting system in used motor vehicles. CarChain provides vehicle owners, repair service companies, and insurance companies to register, add and store vehicle data in a distributed ledger that broadcasts transactions through a peer-to-peer (P2P) network. Addressing the cost issue Zafar et al. (2022) analyzed the memory and monetary costs of implementing Hyperledger Fabric a decentralized permissioned blockchain-based secure automotive supply chain and underline that memory and monetary cost are acceptable in their implementation and do not pose a challenge. Previous notable work addresses certain issues like digitizing, sharing, and controlling access to vehicle data but does not address the need for a comprehensive blockchain-based solution over the complete vehicle lifecycle management and fully integrated with manufacturers, insurance companies, dealership companies, and repair service companies.

3. METHODOLOGY

The approach used is the analysis of the current systems and platforms of vehicle life cycle management and insurance policies, highlighting the problems of the actual solutions not only from the point of view of the system and security but also from the business model side. After identifying the current problems, blockchain technology is proposed to address them while considering information security. Concluding on the conception of a blockchain-based solution for the creation of a data-driven business model. The aim is to increase transparency, trust, and collaboration, to enable pay-as-your-drive insurance policy initiatives, price determine mechanism based on risk analysis, predictive maintenance, vehicle and supplier part traceability, and data-driven new initiatives. This is achieved by proposing a decentralized distributed ledger with users, manufacturers, vehicles, and transactions generated from the moment of production and the entire life cycle of the vehicle, and the history of user transactions related to them. The analysis of security aspects from the part of identity management and access privilege is taken into consideration in this paper.

4. USE CASE OVERVIEW

In this blockchain-based vehicle lifecycle management, several actors are contributing and sharing data in a secure blockchain network. The major actors in this network are the manufacturer companies, providing digital vehicle logbooks and embedded IoT devices, insurance companies, dealership companies, and vehicle repair garages. The solution will provide flexibility, scalability, and ease of participating in the blockchain network for new actors.

Vehicle life cycle processes proposed in this solution, presented in the figure 1 schema, highlight some main steps. The schema presents a real-life scenario for a vehicle. The vehicle begins its journey to a permissioned blockchain when a manufacturer/authorized service provider creates a digital logbook in the blockchain containing all vehicle details. Manufacturer/Authorized service provider may choose to install embedded IoT devices that will perform updates of mileage and maintenance warnings in the blockchain as configured. During step two vehicle is sold and vehicle ownership is updated in the blockchain. The current owner has access and can securely share temporary access with third parties (such as insurance companies, garages, and other participants in the network). In step three insurance companies based on historical data of vehicles provided in the blockchain issue an insurance policy considering a bonus-malus system or the pay-as-your-drive approach since data are transparent, auditable, and with high integrity. In step four based on warnings and incidents reported by IoT devices and sensors vehicle owner securely shares vehicle data with a vehicle garage. Maintenance report is stored in the blockchain network and vehicle data are updated in-vehicle digital logbook. In step five vehicle is resold and ownership changes. Access to the previous owner is denied, and the current owner is granted access and ownership of the vehicle. An insurance policy is reissued by the insurance company and based on previous data stored in blockchain risk analysis is more accurate and price more realistic to performance. In step six an accident occurred, and data are stored in the blockchain. Considering that the insurance company decides after an analysis from an insurance expert if the vehicle will be repaired or will be asked for vehicle wreckage, thus ending the vehicle's life cycle. These steps in a real vehicle life cycle scenario are repeated many times and traceability of transactions for vehicles is transparent, and accurate and resolves issues like mileage fraud and rolling wrecks that are present in the current system.



Figure 1. Blockchain-based vehicle life cycle

5. TECHNICAL SOLUTION PROPOSAL

Architecture for this blockchain-based system for vehicle life cycle management will be modeled from a business-level perspective. The architecture of the system will be modeled based on Hyperledger Fabric technology which is an enterprise-grade distributed ledger platform that offers modularity and versatility for a broad set of industry use cases. Working with Fabric directly involves modeling applications using Chaincode. The system will be modeled considering three main business levels: assets, participants, and transactions. There will be considered two main assets which are vehicle and insurance policy. The blockchain-based solution is scalable and in a real-life scenario, stakeholders will be able to agree to add more assets and participants to the network if needed. Assets are modeled in the form of key-value pairs. These key-value pairs represent the current state of the asset. The assets are stored in a state database, and individual fields of an asset can be updated by updating the corresponding key-value pair. In this technical solution focus will be on the higher-level abstractions that are specific to the business use case by modeling resources whether they are participants in the network, the assets that are transferred, or transactions that are executed, and defining resource permissions.

A map representation of the main *assets* is presented in figure 2. Assets are modeled as objects with their attributes and may contain other objects as attributes. Vehicle as the main asset is modeled with attributes such as Digital logbook, IsSold, Insurance Policy, IsMaintained, and IsAccidented. Each of these is an object with its attributes. The focus of this asset is the digitizing process of the digital logbook, the history of insurance policies related to vehicles, and all vehicle issues and maintenance reports. All assets are subject to change if other assets and participants enter the blockchain.



Figure 2. General map of network assets and their attributes.



The main *participants* in the network are Insurance Companies, Dealership Companies, Vehicle Garages, Manufacturer companies with embedded IoT Devices, and vehicle owners. The system is modular and flexible for further development and changes for different participants. The blockchain network will be run into these participants and an access control list will be defined to determine roles and access right for each participant and for each channel. Every company which represents a major participant uses its applications and stores information in its databases as presented in figure 3. The proposed solution consists in sharing that information in a blockchain network accessible by all participants by integrating communication from participants' applications to the proposed blockchain Hyperledger Fabric network. Data are encrypted and only participants who have access and have the key or are provided with a valid key may view or write the data.

Transactions will be modeled as Read, Update, and Create access rights based on assets and participants. The read access of one participant is not allowed without providing the access key of the other. All transactions are encrypted. The transactions are not displayed in a detailed form in this paper but are displayed as what access rights have participants in table 1:

While defining the assets, participants and transactions are imperative to determine the relationship between participants and assets. Below are presented the main relationship between participants. Relationships in the Hyperledger Fabric network could be more detailed, elaborated, and subject to change based on new participants that join the network.

Assets \Participants	Insurance	Dealership	Garage	IoT devices (Manufacturer)
LogBook	Read	Create	Read	Update: Mileage, Consumption, Issues Detected
IsSold	Read	Create, Update Status	Read	No access
Insurance Policy	Create	Read	Read	No access
IsMaintained	Read	Read	Create	Read
IsAccidented	Create Update Status	Read	Read	Read

 Table 1. Participants access rights

The main relationships are presented below:

- Insurance Company can issue one insurance policy for one vehicle. Until one insurance policy is valid, no insurance company can issue another one. Thus, the relationship between the insurance policy and the vehicle is one-to-one.
- One vehicle must own one digital vehicle logbook. Vehicle logbook fields are updated based on vehicle maintenance, embedded IoT devices, and further updates.
- One owner can have multiple vehicles. The owner is provided with access keys for each vehicle and may choose to grant temporary access to interested stakeholders.
- Vehicle Repair Garage can offer services to multiple vehicles and vehicle owners can choose between different vehicle repair garages.
- Vehicle Dealership Companies can offer services to multiple vehicles and vehicle owners can choose between different vehicle dealership companies.

The *identity management* process will be in a form of a chain of trust formed by a root certificate authority (CA) and intermediary CA. Fabric provides a built-in CA component that allows the creation of CA in the blockchain.

6. CONCLUSION

In this paper, a permissioned blockchain-based solution implemented with Hyperledger Fabric for vehicle lifecycle management is presented. Considering the lack of data and lack of collaboration between different stakeholders in the automotive and insurance industries we believe that blockchain technology could build trust and collaboration. There is a need to digitize vehicle lifecycle data in a secure and temper-prof technology. Blockchain key features such as immutability, decentralization, sustainability, security, and consensus-based provide an opportunity for a mutual agreement between participating stakeholders to share their data and integrate their systems with the blockchain network. In this blockchain-based proposed solution, the manufacturer enters into the blockchain each vehicle produced, or the authorized service provider enters into the blockchain each vehicle creating a digitized vehicle logbook. During the vehicle lifecycle, the data is entered into the blockchain, and its usage is traced. All transactions through the vehicle lifecycle are stored in the blockchain network resolving issues like:

- Buying and selling a vehicle: the potential buyer verifies the property, and the doubt of buying a vehicle from a false owner in the case of a stolen vehicle is eliminated; it eliminates the possibility of duplicating the chassis number.
- Odometer fraud: it is possible to follow the kilometers traveled by the vehicle, avoiding that is illegally lowered by a dealer.
- Accidents fraud: they are all recorded, and this helps to determine a more accurate value in the market, reducing the information asymmetry that can occur when crashed cars arrive and the buyer is not informed.

- Maintenance services traceability: any maintenance performed on the vehicle is recorded in the blockchain by the service repair garage providing a higher level of transparency. This also helps to determine a more accurate market value in a trade and a price comparison between similar models.
- Data-driven model of the lifecycle of a vehicle: the existence of a platform with data on each type of vehicle, helps manufacturers and others to analyze the lifecycle of their product, and the quality of production since it tracks each event of how the vehicle responds in terms of safety and performance. This information is used by manufacturers to identify their production, advertising, and sales strategies.

References

- Abbas, Y., Martinetti, A., Moerman, J.-J., Hamberg, T., & van Dongen, L. A. M. (2020). Do you have confidence in how your rolling stock has been maintained? A blockchain-led knowledge-sharing platform for building trust between stakeholders. *International Journal of Information Management*, 55, 102228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102228
- Brousmiche, K. L., Heno, T., Poulain, C., Dalmieres, A., & Ben Hamida, E. (2018). Digitizing, Securing and Sharing Vehicles Life-cycle over a Consortium Blockchain: Lessons Learned. 9th IFIP International Conference on New Technologies, Mobility, and Security (NTMS), Paris, France, 2018, (pp. 1-5). https://doi.org/10.1109/NTMS.2018.8328733
- Casino, F., Dasaklis, T. K., & Patsakis, C. (2019). A systematic literature review of blockchain-based applications: Current status, classification, and open issues. *Telematics and Informatics*, *36*(36), 55–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2018.11.006
- Hamida, E. B., Brousmiche, K. L, Levard, H., Thea, E. (2017). Blockchain for Enterprise: Overview, Opportunities and Challenges, *The Thirteenth International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Communications*, Paper presented at 13th International Conference ICWMC 2017, Nice, France, Jul. 2017. (pp. 83–88).
- Masoud, M. Z., Jaradat, Y., Jannoud, I., & Zaidan, D. (2019). CarChain: A Novel Public Blockchain-based Used Motor Vehicle History Reporting System. *IEEE Jordan International Joint Conference on Electrical Engineering and Information Technology (JEEIT)*, 2019, (pp. 683-688). https://doi.org/10.1109/JEEIT.2019.8717495
- Pan, X., Pan, X., Song, M., Ai, B., Ming, Y. (2020). Blockchain technology and enterprise operational capabilities: An empirical test. *International Journal of Information Management*, 52, 101946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.05.002
- Willemarck, T, Graafland, H., Gonderinger, C., Cobbaut J., Lycke, B., Hakkenberg, J., Peelman, M. (2014), Protect European consumers against odometer manipulation, accessed: 2022-09-03. [Online]. Available: https://goo.gl/CnQuYg
- Zafar, S., Hassan, S. F. U., Mohammad, A., Al-Ahmadi, A. A., & Ullah, N. (2022). Implementation of a Distributed Framework for Permissioned Blockchain-Based Secure Automotive Supply Chain Management. *Sensors, 22*(19), 7367. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22197367


Dynamic Generation of Website Content Based on User Segmentation Using Artificial Intelligence

Nenad Kojić¹ D Mladen Petrović² D Natalija Vugdelija³ D

Keywords:

Dynamic website; User segmentation; Artificial intelligence; Web 4.0; Kohonen neural network

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: The aim of this work is the segmentation of website users on the basis of artificial intelligence with the aim of dynamically modifying the content of the website for users, in accordance with the objectives of Web 4.0, and in this way enabling quick and optimal display of content following their needs. User classification will be based on click events on categories/subcategories and articles. Based on that information, using Kononen's neural network, the user will be classified into one of the n categories to which the neural network was initially trained. Based on the detected type of the user's classification, the content of the site is dynamically changed to the user, and the categories and products for which the majority of users of that type of classification have expressed greater interest are initially displayed and offered. The goal is to adapt the content of the site to the needs of the user and in this way the user can easily and quickly find the desired product.

1. INTRODUCTION

f odern Internet users are increasingly basing their needs on searching for information and products as well as purchasing products through websites and web applications. In the process of searching for desired products or services, we often find and buy those that we were not initially looking for. The goal of every site that offers services or products to the user is to attract the user, keep them on the site, place as many different products as possible and finally sell its product to the user (Gutama, 2021). To that end, websites often have large amounts of pages, with as many products as possible, often the same product presented in multiple images, in multiple colors, from multiple angles, multiple variations, and all with the aim of finding the best solution for the user's needs. Such large amounts of information, data, pages, texts, and images often lead to the complete opposite effect, which is burdening users with a large number of unnecessary details, which can make users feel uncomfortable and leave the site. This effect is even more emphasized with sites that have a large number of interactive elements (sliders with a large number of images, large-sized images with a large number of objects in them, pop-ups that appear frequently and in large numbers, advertisements, imposing the opinions of other customers, etc.). Although both developers and website owners have created their applications to offer the user a product or service, and in addition for the user to come, find and buy that product, the great competition on the market and the desire for dominance can often drive users away from certain websites due to excessive information burden on users (Rosário, 2021).

As both sellers and buyers want to be in a win-win situation, websites intended for advertising and sales have been constantly changing and adapting to the specific needs of users. Thus, a

¹ Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Applied Studies for Information and Communication Technologies in Belgrade, 16 Zdravka Celara St., Belgrade, Serbia

² Quadro Consulting, 6 Vladimira Popovića St., Belgrade, Serbia

³ Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Applied Studies for Information and Communication Technologies in Belgrade, 16 Zdravka Celara St., Belgrade, Serbia



significant number of websites began to remember the user's previous behaviour and to offer the user goods from the same or similar product categories in advance, with the desire to increase the user experience. The second group of sites started by including different algorithms for recognizing the needs of users and defining a certain group of products as a suggestion to the user. In many different ways, sellers try to segment the items they offer to the user with the aim that the user finds the desired products as soon as possible and buys them (Punj, 2012).

Research has shown that user behaviour, user needs, expectations and wishes can be classified in certain ways. Psychology, as a science, has developed a large number of specific disciplines that analyse user behaviour in different ways and the various effects that lead to the final opinion, attitude and impression of the final product. So today we have a large number of works and researchers dealing with mass psychology, psychology of design, psychology of colour, psychology of optimal experience (Sharpe, 1974; Csikszentmihalyi, 2014). All this research shows that user experiences, behaviours and characteristics can be grouped and classified. In addition, the correct choice of colours, designs, shapes, etc. increases user experience, which contributes to better placement and sale of goods and services.

Psychology also indicates that users can be classified into certain logical groups that gather users with similar interests, desires and needs. This classification of users enables web applications to perform user segmentation. The goal of segmentation is to recognize the type of user and offer them products that correspond to their expected needs (Tu, 2010). In this way, the users will not be overwhelmed by a large amount of information and can quickly find what they need.

The era of Web 4.0 indicates that the goal of future web applications is based on the implementation of artificial intelligence and finding information that suits each user and their specific needs (Cioffi, 2020). Starting from that, in this paper, a solution for the segmentation of site users is proposed, based on clicks on individual target parts, ads/products, and based on artificial intelligence. For the purposes of artificial intelligence, self-organizing artificial neural networks were used, namely its representative Kohonen's neural network (KNN) (Kohonen, 2012). KNN aims to dynamically classify users (Müller, 2022), to provide the website code with information that is further used to dynamically modify the content of the website and display products to the user following their expectations. Such a dynamic system has a constant phase of learning and training, and with each new input it further improves the way of classifying the user experience.

This paper is organized into five chapters. After the Introduction, the basic principles of Kohonen's neural network are given. In the third chapter, there are suggestions for the use of KNN for the purposes of user classification and the proposed logic for changing the content of the site. In the fourth chapter, a conclusion is given with guidelines for further research and in the end, a list of used references is given.

2. KOHONEN NEURAL NETWORK

There are a large number of data processing methods that are based on the clustering of the set Q, which involve dividing and grouping the data into clusters Q_i , i = 1, ..., N so that data distances within the same cluster are minimal, while data distances between different clusters are maximal. This type of classification requires that the observed data can belong to only one cluster and must be classified into a certain cluster. Historically, artificial neural networks have shown good results in terms of input data classification and clustering (Roohi, 2013).

Starting from three primary learning paradigms, artificial neural networks can be divided into three main categories: supervised, feedback-reinforced and independent-unsupervised. Self-organizing maps (SOM), also known as Kohonen networks after their inventor Teuvo Kohonen, belong to the class of unsupervised networks (Kohonen, 2012). They determine the representation of internal weights for presenting input data without any user supervision. This is an extremely important feature in the case when there is a large dynamic of changes and fluctuations in the input data. Self-organizing maps are a visualization technique for data representation that reduces data dimensions through the use of self-organizing neural networks (Pal, 1993). Self-organizing feature maps (SOFM) learn to classify input vectors according to how they are grouped in the input space. The input space can be any set of data with the most diverse types of data contained in it (Kohonen, 2012).

A self-organizing map consists of elements called nodes or neurons, which can be visualized as a neural network in the form of a matrix. The usual arrangement of nodes is a regular arrangement in the form of a hexagonal or rectangular grid. Each node is associated with a weight vector of the same dimension as the input vectors representing the data, and is also associated with a position within the map structure (Kohonen, 2012). The procedure of placing a vector from the data space on the map starts by finding the node with the closest weight vector to the vector taken from the data space. Then the coordinates in the map of this node are set to the value of the vector. The distance between neurons is calculated based on their positions using the classic mathematical distance function. When input samples are presented to the network, a search is performed to select a winning neuron c. The input vector x at time t is compared with each of the weight vectors mi belonging to the SOM, and the minimum of the Euclidean distance between the input signal and the neuron's weight coefficients determines the best match, i.e. belonging to the same cluster.

$$\| x(t) - m_c(t) \| = \{ \| x(t) - m_i(t) \| \| x(t) - mc(t) \| \}$$
(1)

In this case, the weight coefficients of the nodes are updated taking into account the environment in the form of a circle around the winning unit with a gain function $\alpha(t)$ (values of this function are $0 \le \alpha \le 1$) as follows:

$$m_i(t+1) = m_i(t) + \alpha(t)[x_i(t) - m_i(t)]$$
(2)

Outside this area, the weight coefficients remain unchanged:

$$m_i(t+1) = m_i(t) \tag{3}$$

The gain function is linear, with the highest values in the winning neuron and the lowest at the region boundaries. The arrangement of neurons in the SOM builds a discrete approximation of the distribution of samples used to train the neural network (Kohonen, 2012).

More neurons indicate regions with a high concentration of samples and fewer in regions where the samples are diluted. Figure 1 shows sample data as well as nodes of the SOM in the final state in the coordinate system. The final state of the map depends on three main conditions: the initial values of the weight vectors in the network, the data used for training and the parameters (characteristics) of the map. Map configuration parameters such as the number of network nodes, gain function, degree of learning and node distances are the main elements that determine the final result. A self-organizing map represents a topological organizer in the sense of ordering data, but not a clustering procedure itself (Pal, 1993; Kohonen, 2012). The final weight vectors in the map are used for clustering, which allows the formation of clusters with specific network links.



Figure 1. Distribution of nodes within the SOM based on input data.

3. PROPOSED ALGORITHM

The goal of every website user is to find the appropriate content as soon as possible, and the goal of every website owner dealing with sales is for the user on their website to be satisfied and make a purchase. When the concept of creating websites is based on marketing and advertising products that are primarily based on the content that is marketed to the user, we call it Contextual advertising (Zhang, 2012). The ideal mutual benefit scenario is that the user quickly finds the desired content/product and buys it. The psychology of customer behaviour defines the targeting of users in accordance with their experience, behaviour and habits as behavioural targeting (Ozcelik, 2019). The key problem is how to automatically classify users and products on the website and how to match them with each other. One of the methods presented in the professional literature is the Click-through rate (Zhou, 2019).

In this way, it is possible to monitor the user's movement within the website based on the monitoring of click events and thus try to understand the user's expectations in relation to their needs. On the other hand, this approach may require a fairly large sample of users in order to recognize their common characteristics. Another approach can be seen through the analysis of the strings that the user enters in the search field and in this way more clearly understand what exactly a specific group of users is looking for, in what order, priority, etc. This concept shows good results through the structure of the Vector space model (VSM) (Singh, 2015).

However, relying only on entered search terms can greatly reduce the quality of user classification because some users do not use text search, so their activity on the website cannot be detected. Some form of combination of these approaches should have the best results. During the last decade, one of the statistical models that shows exceptional results in modelling a large amount of data that can be more or less connected, i.e. correlated, is Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) (Jelodar, 2019). In this way, grouping can be realized by analysing a large amount of information, by looking for previously unnoticed details that can create logical groups with a clear explanation of why some parts of the initial data are similar (Jelodar, 2019). Starting from these scientific achievements, this paper proposes a solution for user classification based on artificial neural network (ANN) and in accordance with the principles of behavioural targeting, simultaneously combining the principles of click-through rate, VSM and the principle of LDA. The methodology used in this paper is based on the use of one of the web platforms for advertising and selling drinks in the Republic of Serbia. The activities of the user x_i , are stored in terms of each of their clicks, array **C**, and the entered search terms, array **S**. Also, for each user, certain pieces of information are stored: the time spent on a page - array **T**, the set of pages visited - array **P**, the items purchased - array **A**. On the basis of the results collected over several months, the detection of users who accessed the site multiple times was realized using client cookies in correlation with the identifiers of logged-in users who went through the authorization and authentication process. In this way, a clear distinction was made between users who visit the site while they are not authenticated among themselves and connecting an authenticated ed user with them while they were unauthenticated.

Considering that KNN can work with more criteria, for the purposes of this work, a total of 3 criteria were used: the total number of clicks on individual products, the terms that were searched and the items that were finally purchased. All three criteria are viewed as multidimensional parameters because they are based on the number of users, the time the user spent implementing the observed action and taking into account the distinction/pairing of the same users who are authorized.

Samples defined in this way are considered as inputs to KNN. The input vector x is compared at each moment t with each of the weight vectors m_i belonging to the SOM. The minimum value of the Euclidean distance determines the best match, i.e. belonging to a certain cluster. The number of clusters is not necessarily limited and does not have to be formally numbered and described. It presents the conclusion of KNN based on the entered results and groups users into N clusters in accordance with recognized common characteristics of user behaviour.

When a new user comes to the website, and KNN has already created its own clusters, the new user's activities will either contribute to assigning them relatively quickly to the existing cluster (if their behaviour is in accordance with the previously recognized behaviour of the user), or will contribute to the new organization of KNN (which may result in a change in the weight vectors m_i , or a change in the number of clusters and the logic used to group the nodes of the network into new clusters in the n-dimensional space).

In the first phase of work, the training of the network was done after the user left the site until the minimum amount of data needed for the training of KNN was formed. In the testing phase, corrections of input parameters and weight coefficients are dynamically applied in each of the three observed user activities. In this way, the first and key phase was realized, which represents the classification of users in accordance with the principles of behavioural targeting in correlations created in this way, the second phase of implementation of the proposed algorithm is entered. The second phase aims to dynamically create the content of the website in accordance with the conclusion of the first phase of user classification.

For these needs, the website was realized as a dynamic website, using the server programming language PHP and the MySQL database, as a server-side rendering method for displaying data to the end user. The initial view is defined by predefined content that is displayed to each user.

This content is stored in the database and displayed to the user for whom no previous activity is found in the client cookie. Based on that content, the user can either leave the site, which is not recorded, or click on one of the links/products, i.e. specific items, or enter search content. Regardless of which of the mentioned two activities is implemented, that activity changes the input vector of the KNN and the user tries to classify it in relation to the previous clusters of the neural network. With each subsequent activity, this process is repeated and the user can only be more precisely assigned to a cluster that is more suitable for the user experience. In relation to the calculated type of cluster to which the user belongs, the content that is dynamically retrieved and displayed from the database in the form of a group of articles and the articles themselves. They are displayed to the user on the page and in the block for recommended articles. This mechanism is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Proposed algorithm for user's activity in relation to the clicks

In the proposed way, each activity of the user can either confirm the previously juxtaposed group of clusters and their position increases, or the change appears if the weight coefficients and distances of the network nodes led to the change of the cluster by their recent changes. In each case, the dynamics of changing activities of each user are taken into account and entered equally into the total knowledge available to the neural network. Based on the change of cluster membership, the dynamic content that is further displayed to that user is directly changed.

The described activities were analysed over one year. Over 20,000 entries participated in the final form. In order to compare the results, a lot of different analyses were carried out, of which we singled out four special phases for the purposes of this work. Each phase lasted 3 months. In the first phase, the same content is used without changes based on user experience (Phase 1). This phase was taken as the reference phase. In the second phase, only the user's activity in relation to the click was observed (Phase 2). In the third phase, only the use of search keywords was observed (Phase 3). In the final phase, the simultaneous effects of user clicks and the use of search terms were combined, as described in this paper (Phase 4). The effect was measured in relation to the time spent on the viewed pages (TC), the total number of clicks that resulted in a purchase (CC) and the value of the purchase (VC). These values are scaled to relative total values of all phases in the interval 1-100%.

The KNN was implemented in the form of an external API that referred to the described user activities and which activated the stored procedures in the primary database, which recorded all the user activities from before that were used as input vectors for the KNN.

The obtained results show that the measurement of the TC parameter by phases was 75%, 49%, 58% and 41%, Figure 3. In correlation with the measurement of the *CC* parameter, which has values of 81%, 74%, 69% and 52%, a difference is observed in Phase 2 and Phase 3. Such results indicate that the observed group of users does not have the same behavioural characteristics when compared in relation to the number of clicks and retention time, Figure 3.

However, the analysis of the *VC* parameter gives a more uniform situation, with values of 75%, 77%, 78% and 82%, and with a more clearly profiled function that indicates that the phase of integration of several different parameters, was the most effective from the point of view of users and website owners. These results are also shown graphically on the diagrams, Figure 3.



Figure 3. Values of parameters TC, CC and VC for Phase 1 to Phase 4 (two different types of charts).

The aforementioned analysis indicated the need for multicriteria analysis and contributed to the LDA concept. In order for the results to be even more credible, it is necessary to increase the sample number of users and include various factors that influence the decisions and attitudes of consumers. The mentioned testing was temporarily interrupted after the testing period because it was shown that the time required to update the KNN weight statuses became longer and longer with a larger number of data, so a different way of implementing the mentioned code must be found if it is maintained as a condition that every action of the user is carried out contacting KNN. This is certainly the subject of further work on improving the proposed algorithm.

4. CONCLUSION

This paper presents a solution for the dynamic generation of website content intended for advertising and product sales. Dynamic content generation is based on the dynamic creation of clusters of users in relation to their user behaviour on the site and their expectations. Clustering was realized using artificial neural networks. The results show that the application of the proposed algorithm increased the efficiency of the initial website solution and proved to be very useful. Further research will be directed towards changing the way clustering is realized due to 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

the speed of the system's response and changing the number of input parameters, the size of the dimensions of the matrix of the input set, and the optimization of the speed of calculating the weight coefficients of the proposed neural network.

References

- Cioffi, R., Travaglioni, M., Piscitelli, G., Petrillo, A., & De Felice, F. (2020). Artificial intelligence and machine learning applications in smart production: Progress, trends, and directions. *Sustainability*, 12(2), 492.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). Toward a psychology of optimal experience. In Flow and the foundations of positive psychology (pp. 209-226). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Gutama, D. H., Umami, I., & Saputro, P. H. (2021). Analysis of the effect of website sales quality on purchasing decisions on e-commerce websites. *International Journal of Informatics and Information Systems*, 4(1), 71-81.
- Jelodar, H., Wang, Y., Yuan, C., Feng, X., Jiang, X., Li, Y., & Zhao, L. (2019). Latent Dirichlet allocation (LDA) and topic modeling: models, applications, a survey. *Multimedia Tools* and Applications, 78(11), 15169-15211.
- Kauffmann, J., Esders, M., Ruff, L., Montavon, G., Samek, W., & Müller, K. R. (2022). From clustering to cluster explanations via neural networks. IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems.
- Kohonen, T. (2012). Self-organization and associative memory (Vol. 8). Springer Science.
- Kohonen, T. (2012). Self-organizing maps (Vol. 30). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ozcelik, A. B., & Varnali, K. (2019). Effectiveness of online behavioral targeting: A psychological perspective. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 33, 100819.
- Pal, N. R., Bezdek, J. C., & Tsao, E. K. (1993). Generalized clustering networks and Kohonen's self-organizing scheme. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, 4(4), 549-557.
- Punj, G. (2012). Consumer decision making on the web: A theoretical analysis and research guidelines. *Psychology & Marketing*, 29(10), 791-803.
- Roohi, F. (2013). Artificial neural network approach to clustering. Int. J. Eng. Sci.(IJES), 2(3), 33-38.
- Rosário, A., & Raimundo, R. (2021). Consumer Marketing Strategy and E-Commerce in the Last Decade: A Literature Review. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 16(7), 3003-3024.
- Sanborn, F., & Harris, R. J. (2019). A cognitive psychology of mass communication. Routledge. Sharpe, D. T. (1974). The psychology of color and design. Nelson-Hall.
- Singh, V. K., & Singh, V. K. (2015). Vector space model: an information retrieval system. *Int. J. Adv. Engg. Res. Studies*/IV/II/Jan.-March, 141(143).
- Tu, S., & Lu, C. (2010, November). Topic-based user segmentation for online advertising with latent dirichlet allocation. In International Conference on Advanced Data Mining and Applications (pp. 259-269). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Zhang, K., & Katona, Z. (2012). Contextual advertising. Marketing Science, 31(6), 980-994.

Zhou, G., Mou, N., Fan, Y., Pi, Q., Bian, W., Zhou, C., ... & Gai, K. (2019, July). Deep interest evolution network for click-through rate prediction. In Proceedings of the AAAI conference on artificial intelligence (Vol. 33, No. 01, pp. 5941-5948).



Cryptocurrency: Evidence from North Macedonia

Kiril Jovanovski¹ 💿 Learta Jusufi²

Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: February 4, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Cryptocurrency; Advantages; Disadvantages (of cryptocurrency); Financial instruments; Financial markets; Regulatory framework; North Macedonia; Western Balkans

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Cryptocurrency as a novel concept in finance, has lately attracted wide attention in the financial market. However, there is a divided opinion when it comes to embracing or ignoring them. Some are optimistic about their future, and others believe that the skepticism that surrounds them will strongly contribute to their disappearance from the market. The first part of the paper will give a brief background about cryptocurrencies and their associated advantages and disadvantages. The second part of the paper will focus on providing an overview of the cryptocurrency situation in North Macedonia, where they are currently unregulated. Since no legislation would protect consumers in case of fraud, the proper regulatory framework in this sphere is an urgent problem that requires immediate attention. Additionally, this paper will offer a small insight into other Western Balkan countries in this regard, where the situation is like in North Macedonia.

1. INTRODUCTION

From a historical retrospective, the currency has always been evolving. It all started from gold and silver into metal coins and then eventually to paper or fiat money, used in today's economy. The fiat money is supplied by a country's central bank and protected by the government through regulations and laws, establishing the trust and value of the same.

However, recent digital developments and advancements led to the evolution of the currency over again. The late explosion and bust of virtual currency markets around the world have hit the financial system and institutions, placing cryptocurrency in a significant position in the portfolios of the financial market participants. The first triumphant cryptocurrency that changed the physical dimension of the currency was Bitcoin, created by Satoshi Nakamoto back in 2009. This led to the creation of thousands of other cryptocurrencies in the years that followed, surpassing 8.000 in 2021.

The abrupt invasion of cryptocurrencies in the financial markets created chaos for the regulatory bodies, who are still struggling to formulate policies and the proper legislation. Part of the reason behind this is the complex nature of cryptocurrency, but also the advantages and disadvantages that surround the same. This is particularly true in the case of developing countries such as North Macedonia, where regulators are still trying to figure out how to regulate, tax, and control cryptocurrency.

² Ss Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Faculty of Economics – Skopje, bul. Goce Delcev 9v, Skopje, North Macedonia



¹ Ss Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Faculty of Economics – Skopje, bul. Goce Delcev 9v, Skopje, North Macedonia

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

2. BRIEF BACKGROUND ON CRYPTOCURRENCY

Though there is yet no strict definition of cryptocurrencies, in the latest research they are defined as a digital representation of value, not issued by a regulating authority, which does not exist in physical form, and in certain cases can be used as an alternative to money (European Central Bank, 2015). Cryptocurrencies use complex cryptography which allows for the creation and processing of digital currencies and transactions across decentralized systems. This is one of the main features that make them difficult to counterfeit (Sovbetov, 2018). They typically work through blockchain technology, a public ledger distributed over a network that records transactions executed among network participants, and serves as a public financial transaction database (Gatteschi et al., 2018).

The invention of cryptocurrencies began as an act of insubordination against the corruption of the traditional financial system. For a variety of reasons, these trends gained popularity after the global financial crisis a decade ago. After the crises, people stopped trusting financial institutions and shifted their attention to the use of cryptocurrencies as a substitute for traditional money (Goriacheva et al., 2017). In 2008, Satoshi Nakamoto, an anonymous creator, presented the world with Bitcoin, the first form of cryptocurrency that received serious attention (Nakamoto, 2008). With operations built on peer-to-peer information exchange technologies, Bitcoin is the trailblazer of many of the standards for digital currency (Mitchel, 2019). The code of this currency is a product of computer-based complex mathematical equations, which limits the number of possible Bitcoins to 21 million coins. This can be considered as an advantage of Bitcoin over other official currencies, whose new emissions are impacted by their depreciation and inflation, whereas the Bitcoin rate is determined by the ratio of demand and supply (Zahorodniy & Partyn, 2018).

Currently, more than 8.000 different types of cryptocurrencies are being traded worldwide. Apart from Bitcoin, there are various other types of virtual money which are referred to as an altcoin. Many altcoins have been developed to fix the shortcomings of Bitcoin. Initially, there was no great interest in altcoins, but as time went by, the views on cryptocurrency changed, thus more and more people started investing in all sorts of digital currencies (Zhao, 2015).

		Jar	nuary 2021	November 2022							
N.	Currency	Price	Capitalization	N.	Price	Capitalization					
1.	Bitcoin (BTC)	\$35.724	\$667.320.519.657	1	\$16.600	\$319.337.757.181					
2.	Ethereum (ETH)	\$1.229	\$140.576.634.356	2	\$1.196	\$146.446.263.414					
3.	Tether (USDT)	\$1.00	\$24.333.048.444	3	\$.99	\$65.880.684.724					
4.	Polkadot (DOT)	\$16	\$15.099.931.127	10	\$5.5	\$6.314.307.112					
5.	XRP (XRP)	\$0.2772	\$12.555.994.634	7	\$0.38	\$6.314.307.112					

Table 1. Top 5 cryptocurrencies market capitalization

Source: (CoinMarketCap, 2021)

Generally, the main ways to invest in cryptocurrency are the following (Bondarenko et al., 2019): (1) Trading – buying and selling through cryptocurrency exchanges. This method is recommended to more experienced investors; (2) Mining – the use of powerful computing to create the cryptocurrency. This method is generally safe but less profitable; (3) Cloud Mining – the purchase of computing power for rent; (4) Initial Coin Offering (ICO) – release of cryptocurrency, a process through which you can raise funds for the development of the project. This method is the most profitable, but with a higher associated risk.

3. THE LEGALIZATION OF CRYPTOCURRENCIES

Regulators in various countries have yet not established a consensus in determining the legal status of cryptocurrencies, leaving cryptocurrency transactions in a grey area. Generally, most of the countries have initially issued government warnings about the dangers and risks associated with investing in the cryptocurrency markets, stipulating the fact that many of the organizations that facilitate such transactions are unregulated. A few countries have further updated their laws on Anti-Money Laundering ("AML") and Combating the Financing of Terrorism ("CFT") to include cryptocurrency markets, and instructed the financial institutions that facilitate such markets to pay attention to the same. Some countries have imposed restrictions, or entirely banned investments in cryptocurrencies, as well as, barred financial institutions from facilitating transactions that involve cryptocurrency regulation across a few countries around the world:

Country	Cryptocurrency	Re	gulatory Framework
_	Status		
Australia	Property	•	In 2017, the government enacted a bill that made digital currencies subject to the AML/CFT regulatory framework. Taxed as an asset for capital gains.
Canada	Virtual commodity	•	In June 2014, amended Canada's Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, to include virtual currencies, including Bitcoin. The Act is regarded as the world's first national law on digital currencies, and certainly the world's first treatment in the law of digital currency financial transac- tions under national anti-money laundering law. Subject to income tax.
U.S.A.	Property, Currency, Investment instruments	•	The responsibility for monitoring cryptocurrencies lies on a state level. Cryptocurrencies fall under the regulatory scope of the Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA"). This implies that cryptocur- rency exchange service providers must get a license from Fi- nancial Crimes Enforcement Network ("FinCEN"), and adhere to AML/CFT regulations. Furthermore, The US Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") treats cryptocurrencies as se- curities and suggests that securities laws are applicable. Taxed as property. Payment of wages in cryptocurrencies is subject to income tax and salary tax, and payments in crypto- currencies to independent contractors are taxed by applying the self-employment tax.
China	Virtual Commodity	•	In March 2018, China's central bank – The People's Bank of China ("PBOC"), banned any existing virtual currencies. Pre- viously, in 2017, it also banned ICOs and domestic currency exchanges.
Japan	Property	•	Cryptocurrency exchange businesses are regulated with the amendment of the Payment Services Act, which took effect on April 2017. Additionally, cryptocurrency exchange businesses are required to comply with AML/CFT obligations. Japan has one of the most progressive regulatory frameworks. Subject to income tax – treated as miscellaneous income, rather than capital gains.
Switzerland	Property, Payment token	•	Regulated by Financial Market Supervisory Authority ("FIN- MA") in 2017. AML/CFT regulations are applicable. Subject to wealth tax – taxed as foreign currency.

Table 2. Cryptocurrency regulation in certain countries

UK	Crypto-asset	 The United Kingdom does not have any laws that specifically regulate cryptocurrencies. Corporations are subject to corporate tax, unincorporated businesses to income tax, and individuals to capital gains tax.
European Union	Financial Instruments	 Currently, European Union has no general regulatory frame- work related to cryptocurrency. On September 24th, 2020, the EU Commission published a proposal for the regulation of crypto assets: the "Markets in Crypto-Assets Regulation" ("MiCA"). Once adopted and in place, it will be applicable in all EU member states. Meanwhile, some countries have defined the status of crypto- currency for taxation purposes. In Bulgaria, cryptocurrencies are taxed as financial assets, whereas, in Denmark and Spain they are subject to income tax.
Bolivia, Morocco, Nepal, Pakistan & Vietnam	N/a	Ban all activities involving cryptocurrencies.
Bangladesh, Iran, Thailand, Lithuania, China & Columbia	N/a	• Indirect restrictions barring financial institutions with- in their borders from facilitating transactions involving cryptocurrencies.

Source: (The Law Library of Congress, 2018), (Cvetkova, 2018), (Bolotaeva et al., 2019), (EUR-Lex, 2020)

The acceptance of cryptocurrency appears to be linked with the state of development of a country. Developing countries with weak economies are not quite ready to introduce such payment systems, whereas developed countries are very interested in regulating and taxing the same (Drozd et al., 2017). Additionally, in a few developed countries, central banks are assessing the possibility of introducing a widely accessible Central Bank Digital Currency ("CBDC") into their economies. Currently, two CBDC models are in discussion: a retail CBDC and a wholesale CBDC. In terms of retail CBDC, the Riksbank in Sweden has launched a pilot project to determine the viability of an eKrona for retail payments, though no decision on technology has been taken so far. Another example of a retail CBDC is the Fedcoin, which was proposed in the US in 2014, but the concept has not been endorsed by the Federal Reserve. On the other hand, an example of a wholesale CBDC is the CADcoin in Canada, which has been used in simulations performed by the Bank of Canada in cooperation with Fintech firms and Canadian banks but has not been put into practice yet (Bech & Garratt, 2017).

4. EVIDENCE FROM NORTH MACEDONIA

Recently, cryptocurrencies have become a mainstream topic everywhere, including in North Macedonia. Due to the possibility of quick earnings, this type of investment is increasingly attracting the attention of citizens. In North Macedonia, the segment of cryptocurrency is not yet well regulated by law, thus, in case of fraud, there is no way to get compensated for the associated losses. If citizens get involved in this activity, they are doing it at their risk.

Currently, there is no official cryptocurrency company operating in North Macedonia. The same goes for Albania and Bosnia & Hercegovina. The only countries that have allowed the establishment of cryptocurrency companies in the Western Balkans are Kosovo³, Montenegro, and Serbia.

³ Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99.

Albania	N/A
Bosnia and Hercegovina	N/A
Kosovo*	Lyocha
Montenegro	Digital Montenegro, Coinmetro
North Macedonia	N/A
Serbia	Round Globe Technologies, ECD, Tradecore, Ulticoin, YourBTMs

Table 3. Active cryptocurrency companies in Western Balkan

Note: *Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99

Source: Adapted from (The World Bank Group, 2020)

The National Bank of the Republic of North Macedonia ("NBRM") actively monitors the views of the regulatory bodies of the EU regarding cryptocurrencies and their handling. According to the European Banking Authority ("EBA") and the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA"), cryptocurrencies can rarely be treated as financial instruments and/or electronic money. In most cases, they are not covered by laws in the financial field. In the absence of regulation, the usual safeguards that apply to regulations in the financial sector do not apply to cryptocurrency, therefore consumers are at great risk. The current legal framework in North Macedonia (Law on Payment Operations, Law on Banks, Law on Foreign Exchange Operations, Law on the Unit of Currency in the Republic of Macedonia, as well as the Law on the Use of the Unit of Currency in the Republic of Macedonia does not recognize the term cryptocurrency or digital asset, which is the case with most of the countries around the world.

Furthermore, according to NBRM, the general views on cryptocurrencies are in line with those of European financial regulators. It points out that cryptocurrencies do not have the status of deposits, and there is no mechanism in which clients can be reimbursed through the Deposit Insurance Fund, as in the case of funds invested in banks that have licenses for establishment and operations. Following the Law on Payment Operations, all payments are made in denars through the transaction account of the participant in the payment operations of the country. In rare cases, cryptocurrencies may be treated as electronic money, provided that several criteria are met, such as being issued by an authorized electronic money issuer. If cryptocurrencies have an investment nature in the background, i.e. are subject to trading on regulated platforms in the country and abroad by authorized participants, in that case, they can be considered financial instruments.

The first time that the NBRM officially addressed the public on cryptocurrencies, was right after the ONECOIN scandal in 2016, which turned out to be a classical pyramid scheme. It is believed that this announcement came as a result of the news regarding the London financial police launching an investigation into this cryptocurrency, for which NBRM had enough reasons to believe that it is bought a lot by Macedonian citizens. The launch of this investigation was a sufficient reason to stop any operations of this cryptocurrency in the country. NBRM used this opportunity to remind the public that the old Law on Foreign Exchange Operations somehow applies to cryptocurrencies, forbidding Macedonian citizens from having an account abroad and trading on foreign stock exchanges, i.e. forbidding any kind of investment in digital assets. Furthermore, they warned the public about the risks associated with investing in cryptocurrencies, such as the risk of loss of the invested money, the risk of fraud, the risk of volatility, and the risk of blocking certain cryptocurrency platforms due to activities related to money laundering and terrorist financing (NBRM, 2016).

In 2017, NBRM addressed the public with another official statement, as a follow-up to the previous announcement. Once again, they highlighted the dangers of cryptocurrency and warned people to stay away from possible pyramid schemes. Nevertheless, cryptocurrencies are actually traded and mined unofficially in North Macedonia, and so far there has been no case of legal action against someone who participated in these activities. This questionable legal framework has led to the formation of an informal local market of cryptocurrencies.

In 2019, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs announced the "Decision on the transition to the second phase of the association between the Republic of North Macedonia and the European Union". This implied that part of the legislation that was in force during the first phase (2004-2018) ceased to be in force and capital markets were partially liberalized, i.e. the ban on investing in real estate abroad, the ban on investing in securities, etc. were abolished. Additionally, this also implied that the announcements that were made previously by NBRM ceased to apply as well. The grey zone surrounding cryptocurrencies finally became white. However, the risks NBRM warned about were real, leaving citizens to decide whether they accept cryptocurrencies. According to recent announcements, cryptocurrencies will soon be regulated by law in North Macedonia. The Ministry of Finance, the Financial Intelligence Office ("FIO"), and other financial regulators are in the process of determining the solutions to this issue, which will be implemented in the new Law on Prevention of Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism (FIO, 2020).

The situation is pretty similar in the rest of the Western Balkans. The table below presents a synopsis of the regulatory framework related to crypto assets.

Albania	ania Kosovo* FBIH Republic of North Srpska Macedonia		North Macedonia	Montenegro	Serbia								
		Permi	tted, Prohibited, U	Jnclear									
Unclear (New law is in the legislative procedure)	Prohibited	Unclear	Unclear	Unclear	Unclear	Permitted							
	Unregulated, Regulated, Unclear												
Unregulated (New law is in the legislative procedure)	Unregulated	Unregulated	Unregulated	Unregulated	Unregulated	(Partially regulated AML/CFT supervision)							
The remit of the Central Bank/Banking Agency													
No	No	No	Unclear	Unclear	Yes (via AML/CFT regulations)	Yes							
		The remit	t of the Securities	Regulator									
Yes	/	Unclear	Unclear	Securities Commission	Unclear	Yes							
		The remit o	f another designat	ted regulator									
		Federal Ministry of Finance											
			Licensing										
Not applicable yet	Not applicable yet	Not applicable yet	Not applicable yet	Not applicable yet	Via AML/CFT regulations (issuance/ exchange)	Not applicable yet							
	Number of fi	rms that applied t	o regulators (inclu	iding potential ma	arket entrants)								
/	/	/	5	/	/	10							

Table 4. Crypto Assets/ICO-s

Note: * Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99

Source: Adopted from (The World Bank Group, 2020)

According to the research conducted by the World Bank, most of the regulators claimed that crypto-assets are not regulated in their jurisdiction. Exceptions in this regard are Albania - which has already submitted the new Law on Financial Market based on Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) to the Parliament for approval, and Serbia - where the National Bank has reported that AML/CFT regulations apply to cryptocurrency activities. Additionally, in Montenegro, the AML/CTF regulations imply that some crypto asset intermediaries are subject to licensing obligations by the Central Bank.

5. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Having in mind that cryptocurrencies are still the focus of speculative investors, large capital movement, and the association with illegal actions, cryptocurrencies can pose great financial aggregate risks, thus urging for further research on several topics. *First*, the literature should work harder on resolving the motives for investing in crypto assets. In that sense, there should be a differentiation between crypto assets as an investment and as a medium of exchange. Furthermore, such findings will help to get to know better the factors determining the value of cryptocurrencies. *Secondly*, the literature should define the proper way to regulate the possession and usage of crypto assets, especially if one knows that large capital movements can be toxic for small and open economies. Moreover, the governments will have more solid conclusions when designing the regulation acts. *Third*, the research should prove the level of financial literacy is crucial to lowering the aggregate financial risks, and proper usage of financial instruments and services. And fourth, but not final, literature should find an argument for central banks or big and well-established financial institutions to use blockchain and Fintech more widely.

6. CONCLUSION

Cryptocurrency is a relatively new concept in the financial market and as such, it is surrounded by suspicion, mistrust, and skepticism. Although it seems like a promising alternative to traditional assets, the number of disadvantages associated with it is very high. Governments around the world are still struggling to establish the appropriate regulatory framework because of the complex nature of cryptocurrency.

The majority of the countries have addressed the citizens by issuing government statements related to one of the following: warning about the risks associated with investing in cryptocurrency markets, restrictions, or entire ban of investments in cryptocurrency, and facilitation of cryptocurrency transactions. Developed countries that have attempted to regulate cryptocurrency have mainly done so by updating their AML/CFT & tax laws and regulations.

In North Macedonia, similar to other developing countries, there is still no appropriate regulatory framework. This has led to the formation of an unofficial market of cryptocurrencies, where citizens participate at their own risk. However, according to recent news, cryptocurrencies will soon be regulated by the new Law on the Prevention of Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism. This is especially important because when cryptocurrencies are not regulated and the country has no insight into who buys and sells them, they can be easily abused, especially for illegal activities.

However, it is hard to determine what the future of cryptocurrency holds, whether they will evolve and replace traditional currencies, or become entirely obsolete. With its potential for either becoming tremendously successful or unsuccessful, thorough research is recommended for anyone interested in pursuing an investment in the same.

References

Bech, M., & Garratt, R. (2017). Central bank cryptocurrencies. *BIS Quarterly Review*, September. Bolotaeva, O. S., Stepanova, A. A., & Alekseeva, S. S. (2019). The Legal Nature of Cryptocurrency. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*. IOP Publishing Ltd.

- Bondarenko, O., Kichuk, O., & Antonov, A. (2019). The possibilities of using investment tools based on cryptocurrency in the development of the national economy. *Baltic Journal of Economic Studies* 5 (2).
- Cvetkova, I. (2018). Cryptocurrencies Legal Regulation. BRICS Law Journal 128-153.
- Drozd, O., Lazur, Y., & Serbin, R. (2017). Theoretical and Legal Perspective on Certain Types of Legal Liability in Cryptocurrency Relations. *Baltic Journal of Economic Studies* 3 (5).
- EUR-Lex. (2020). Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on Markets in Crypto-assets, and amending Directive (EU) 2019/1937. Accessed March 10, 2020.
- European Central Bank. (2015). Virtual currency schemes a further analysis.
- FIO. (2020). Financial Intelligence Office. October 6. https://ufr.gov.mk/?p=2273.
- Gatteschi, V., Lamberti, F., De Martini, C., Pranteda, C., & Santamaria, V. (2018). To Blockchain or Not to Blockchain: That is the Question. *IT Professional, IEEE Computer Society* (1520-9202).
- Goriacheva, A., Jakubenko, N., Pogodina, O., & Silnov, D. (2017). Anonymization Technologies of Cryptocurrency Transactions as Money Laundering Instrument.
- Mitchel, R. (2019). Cryptocurrency: History, Advantages, Disadvantages, and the Future. Senior Honors Theses.
- Nakamoto, S. (2008). Bitcoin: A peer-to-peer electronic cash system.
- NBRM. (2016). National Bank of the Republic of North Macedonia. 28 9. https://www.nbrm. mk/ns-newsarticle-soopshtieniie_na_nbrm_28_9_2016.nspx.
- Sovbetov, Y. (2018). Factors Influencing Cryptocurrency Prices: Evidence from Bitcoin, Ehtereum, Dash, Litcoin and Monero. *Journal of Economics and Financial Analysis* 2 (2).
- The Law Library of Congress. (2018). *Regulation of Cryptocurrency Around the World*. Washington, D.C.: Global Legal Research Center.
- The World Bank Group. (2020). Fintech Innovation in the Western Balkans: Policy and Regulatory Implications & Potential Interventions. Washington: The World Bank.
- Zahorodniy, A., & Partyn, H. (2018). Crypto currency A virtual phenomenon which can destabilize financial markets. *Economics, Entrepreneurship, Management* 5 (2).

Zhao, Y. (2015). Cryptocurrency Brings New Battles into the Currency Market.

Additional reading

- Bunjaku, F., Gjorgieva Trajkovska, O., & Miteva Kacarski, E. (2017). Cryptocurrencies Advantages and Disadvantages. *Journal of Economics* 2.
- Dumitrescu, G. (2017). Bitcoin A Brief Analysis of the Advantages and Disadvantages. *Global Economic Observer* 5 (2).
- Sharma, R. P., & Sharma. A. (2018). Using crypto currency and associated advantages and disadvantages. *International Journal of Economics & Finance Research & Applications* 2 (2).
- Thakur, K. K., & Banik, G. G. (2018). Cryptocurrency: Its Risks and Gains and The Way Ahead. *IOSR Journal of Economics and Finance* 9 (2).



State and Perspectives of Electronic Invoicing in Croatian Companies

Marko Veldić¹ Mario Jadrić² () Maja Ćukušić³ ()

Keywords:

Electronic invoicing; Digital transformation; Croatian companies

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 14, 2022 Accepted: January 27, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: The paper analyzes the current state and perspectives of electronic invoicing in Croatian companies. The digital transition or more specifically, the digital transformation processes affect all companies and are crucial for increasing efficiency, innovation, and the overall growth of the economies. Electronic invoicing, as one of the manifestations of digital transformation, brings about numerous economic benefits based on process automation and integration from order to payment between business parties. In the paper, the reasons and characteristics of Croatian companies that have introduced electronic invoicing and those that have not are presented in detail. The empirical study reveals that a company's adoption of electronic invoicing increases with the company's size. Also, the government's critical role in implementing electronic invoicing in Croatian companies is highlighted.

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the most critical documents used in business processes and operations is the invoice (Haag et al., 2013). It represents payment information related to commercial transactions, and in addition to its vital role between trading partners, the invoice is also essential for tax administration, as VAT collection procedures rely on the integrity and credibility of invoices (Arendsen & Wijngaert, 2011). The process of traditional paper invoicing takes place in five steps: data entry, invoice printing, enveloping, mailing, and archiving, whereby the whole process requires time and money (Boshkoska et al., 2019). Further to that, other problems may arise such as incorrect data filling, issues with sending, and loss of documents, which can harm relations between business partners. There could also be difficulties associated with secure archiving, whether technical or methodological leading to the possibility of non-compliance with legal requirements (Veselá & Radiměřský, 2014). The idea of e-invoicing is not new. Electronic invoices have existed for approximately 40 years and were used with the support of EDI and XML formats. The broader availability of the Internet has led to greater adoption of electronic invoicing, with the public sector recently driving the adoption and implementation processes.

On a more specific note, and in the context relevant to the study presented herein, the Republic of Croatia issued the Law on Electronic Invoicing in Public Procurement (Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia, 2018), which introduced the obligation to receive electronic invoices in public procurement procedures from December 2018 and the obligation to issue electronic invoices in public procurement procedures from July 2019 (MINGOR, 2022). Since then, public purchasers/contracting authorities have received electronic invoices via the central electronic invoicing platform "Servis eRačun za državu". In Europe, several legislations have been developed to promote the more comprehensive application of electronic invoicing in the EU. Also,

³ University of Split Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, Cvite Fiskovića 5, Split, Croatia



¹ University of Split Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, Cvite Fiskovića 5, Split, Croatia

² University of Split Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, Cvite Fiskovića 5, Split, Croatia

many public sector organizations in Europe, including Sweden, Norway, Spain, and Denmark have announced mandatory programs/plans for e-invoicing. Italy has gone a step further, introducing a mandatory e-invoicing network for all business entities. In the first phase, the European market was mainly developed by the private sector, an advanced and high-volume industry. Today, the main driver is the growing number of governments requiring organizations to exchange invoices electronically. It is foreseen that the third phase will be the result of rapid technological development and the transfer of "the ball" to the B2C sector which will lead to further growth of the market for the implementation of electronic invoices. The global market's value for implementing electronic invoices in 2019 was estimated at EUR 4.3 billion, growing to EUR 18 billion in 2025 (Koch, 2019).

Most of the economic benefits of electronic invoice adoption do not come from savings in printing and postage costs but from the process automation and integration of activities from order to payment, increasing the transparency of business transactions and bridging accounting systems between suppliers and customers in real-time (Horák et al., 2020). Despite the clear benefits, there is still some reluctance to the implementation of electronic invoicing. Namely, the willingness of smaller organizations to invest in related digital solutions is still relatively low (CEF Digital, 2021a). It is also important to note the role of the private sector in raising the level of adoption of electronic invoicing as this is one of the tasks of information intermediaries who also provide issuing, receiving, and archiving electronic invoices and equip the business entities with ready-made solutions for using electronic invoicing (CEF Digital, 2021b). In Croatia, appointed by the Law on Electronic Invoicing in Public Procurement, the Financial Agency (FINA) represents a central information intermediary that receives and sends electronic invoices and supporting documents. This is in accordance with European norms, whereby other information intermediaries are required to connect to FINA's central platform for the exchange of electronic invoices.

The objectives of this paper are to empirically investigate the current situation and the perspectives of electronic invoicing adoption in the Croatian business sector. The level of adoption of electronic invoicing is analyzed with regard to the size of the company. Further to this, the role of the government in the adoption of electronic invoicing will be determined.

2. METHODOLOGY

To achieve the objectives and collect relevant data for this study, a survey was sent to the e-mail addresses of over 300 companies operating in the Republic of Croatia. The survey was divided into three sections. The first section collected information about the company's size, business sector, whether the company is subject to the law on public procurement, and if the company has introduced electronic invoicing. Depending on the answers, the second or third section is opened, collecting information about the use of electronic invoices. The second section is completed by companies that have not introduced electronic invoicing, while the third by those that have. The survey was distributed in August 2022 to a sample of micro, small, medium, and large companies operating in Croatia. Of the 59 companies that responded, 41 have introduced electronic invoicing, which is 69.49% of all surveyed companies, while 18 companies (30.51%) have not yet introduced electronic invoicing.

3. **RESULTS**

3.1. Sample Statistics

According to the category of company size, of all the companies that completed the survey, the largest number are micro companies (37; 62.71%), followed by small (14; 23.73%) and medium companies (5; 8.47%), and the smallest number are large companies (3; 5.08%). Most are providing services in the social and personal activities sector (13), followed by those operating in the processing industry (9), wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles and items for personal use and household, financial intermediation (6), construction, agriculture/ hunting/forestry (4), real estate business, rental and business services, public administration/defense/compulsory social insurance (3), hotels and restaurants, fisheries, health care/social care, transport/storage/communications, education (2) and a single mining and quarrying company. To the question "Is your company subject to the Law on Public Procurement?", the vast majority of respondents, i.e. 46 (78%) answered negatively, 8 respondents (14%) answered affirmatively, and 5 respondents (8%) did not know whether they were subject to of the Law on Public Procurement. When companies were asked about their business cooperation, respondents could choose to what extent they agree with the answers provided using a scale from 1 to 5, where 5 means "I completely agree" and 1 means "I completely disagree". The results (Table 1) showed that the highest level of cooperation of the observed companies is with private companies (the real sector) where the mean level of cooperation on a scale from 1 to 5 is 4.15 (SD=1.23). Private companies (real sector) are followed by citizens (where the average level of cooperation is 2.97 (SD=1.67)). The lowest level of cooperation of the observed companies is achieved with the state (the public sector) with a mean level of cooperation of 2.53 (SD=1.37).

	5		4		3		2		1			
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Mean	SD
Government	18	30.15	13	22.03	15	25.42	5	8.47	8	13.56	2.53	1.37
Businesses	4	6.78	3	5.08	7	1186	11	18.64	34	57.63	4.15	1.23
Citizens	17	28.81	12	20.34	5	8.47	6	10.17	19	32.20	2.97	1.67

Table 1. Cooperation of companies with the government, businesses, and citizens

Source: Author's research

3.2. Analysis of the Companies That Have Not Introduced Electronic Invoicing

As the most important reason for not introducing electronic invoicing, the respondents answered using the statement "Electronic invoicing is not legally mandatory for my company", with a mean level of agreement of 4.78 (SD=0.43), followed by the statement "Insufficient financial and time savings in business" with a mean level of agreement of 3.56 (SD=0.98), "High costs and complexity of implementing electronic invoicing..." with a mean level of agreement of 2.94 (SD=1.06), "Working with electronic invoices is complicated" with a mean level of agreement of 2.11 (SD=1.13), "Security risks..." with a mean level of agreement of 2.06 (SD=1.00). The lowest level of agreement for not introducing electronic invoicing was on the statement "Employees' resistance to changes" where the mean level of agreement was determined to be 1.78 (SD=0.88). Of the 18 companies that have not yet introduced electronic invoicing, 5 (28%) respondents answered that they do not know if they will introduce electronic invoicing, and 3 (17%) respondents are certain that they will not. Out of 10 respondents whose companies intend to introduce electronic invoicing, 4 (22%) will do so within a year, 3 (16%) within three years, and 3 (17%) in more than three years. Among the 10 respondents who have not introduced electronic invoicing, but intend to introduce it, the highest level of agreement with the reasons for introducing it was found with the statement "On my own initiative to improve business, increase efficiency and reduce costs", for which a mean level is 4.60 (SD=0.66), followed by the statement "In order to harmonize with the accounting practices of other business entities" where the average level was determined to be 4.00 (SD=0.77), while the lowest level was for the statement "For the purpose of mandatory application of electronic invoicing in public procurement and harmonization with the legislation of the Republic of Croatia", where the mean level was determined to be 2.60 (SD=1.28).

Respondents whose companies have not introduced electronic invoicing are evenly divided (9 to 9) regarding the question "Do you think that the government decision on the mandatory exchange of electronic invoices between companies (Business-to-Business) would have a positive effect on your business?". On the other hand, to the question "Do you think that the state decision on the mandatory exchange of electronic invoices towards citizens/consumers (Business-to-Consumer) would have a positive effect on your business?", 8 respondents were of the opinion that such a decision would positively affect the company, and 10 respondents disagreed.

3.3. Analysis of the Companies That Have Introduced Electronic Invoicing

Those companies falling under the requirements of the Law on Public Procurement are obliged to receive electronic invoices from December 1st, 2018, while invoice issuers are obliged to issue and send electronic invoices from July 1st, 2019. Results showed that out of the 41 companies that introduced electronic invoicing, 20 of them decided to introduce electronic invoicing before July 1, 2019, which is 49% of the surveyed companies, and 18 surveyed companies (44%) did that after the specified date. Three respondents could not give a definitive answer related to the timing of when they introduced electronic invoicing. When asked about the reasons for the introduction of electronic invoicing, the respondents mostly agree with the statement "In order to harmonize with the accounting practice of other business entities", to which a mean level of agreement of 3.85 (SD=1.42) was determined, followed by the statement "For the mandatory application of electronic invoicing in public procurement and harmonization with the legislation of the Republic of Croatia" with a mean level of agreement of 3.78 (SD=1.67), while the lowest level was determined for the statement "On its own initiative to improve business, increase efficiency and reduce costs" with a mean level of agreement of 3.68 (SD=1.56). For the survey question asking from which sector companies mostly use electronic invoice transactions, the respondents selected the statement "Government (public sector)", with a mean level of 4.10 (SD=1.48), followed by the statement "Businesses (real sector)" with a mean level of agreement of 3.88 (SD=1.23), while the lowest level was for the statement "Citizens (B2C, G2C)" with the mean level of agreement of 2.34 (SD=1.57). The highest level of agreement with the benefits from the implementation of electronic invoicing was found with the statement "Electronic invoicing has accelerated the exchange and processing of invoices", where the mean level of agreement was 4.12 (SD=1.25), followed by the statement "Electronic invoicing has led to a significant reduction of administrative costs of preparing, printing and enveloping invoices" with a mean level of agreement of 3.85 (SD=1.39). The mean level of agreement for the statement "Electronic invoicing led to improved documentation management" is 3.61 (SD=1.46), while the lowest level of agreement was determined with the statement "Electronic invoicing led to faster payment and collection of receivables" where the average level of agreement was determined

to be 3.10 (SD=1.32). For the statement "Implementation of electronic invoicing in the business was expensive and complex", the mean level of agreement was 2.90 (SD=1.14) while for the statement "Employees had resistance to change during the implementation of electronic invoicing", this value was 2.44 (SD=1.21).

For the exchange of electronic invoices companies most often use the services of private information intermediaries. There are 21 such companies among the respondents (51%), while 15 companies (37%) use the services of the state information intermediary. There were 5 (12%) that do not use the services of an information intermediary. Among companies that have introduced electronic invoicing, invoices are most often exchanged directly from the company's accounting program (23; 56.10%). 9 companies (22%) exchange electronic invoices through the web interface of the selected information intermediary, and 9 companies (22%) also exchange electronic invoices through FINA's web application called e-Račun. Companies of all sizes for the exchange of electronic invoices most often use their own accounting (and/or ERP) programs (ranging from 80% for medium-sized companies to 47.62% for micro-companies). FINA's web application e-Račun is used only by micro and small companies. More precisely, 33.33% of micro-enterprises and 16.67% of small enterprises use FINA's web application e-Račun. Companies that have introduced electronic invoicing have mostly positive attitudes towards the statement that the government decision on the mandatory exchange of electronic invoices between companies (Business-to-Business) would have a positive effect on the companies' operations, so 24 respondents agree with this statement, while 17 respondents do not agree with this statement. The majority of surveyed companies (26) do not agree with the statement that the government decision on the mandatory exchange of electronic invoices for citizens/consumers would have a positive impact on business operations.

3.4. The Relationship between Company Size and Electronic Invoicing Adoption

The assumption that there will be a difference in the adoption of electronic invoicing among companies of different sizes was tested with a Chi-square test between two characteristics of analyzed companies based on the questions: "Into which category does your company belong?" and "Has your company introduced electronic invoicing?".

			Has your company i invoi		
			Yes	No	Total
	Miana	N	21	16	37
	Micro	%	56.8%	43.2%	100.0%
Catagony	Small	N	12	2	14
Category		%	85.7%	14.3%	100.0%
	Medium	n	8	0	8
	and large	%	100.0%	0.0%	100.0%
Total		N	41	18	59
		%	69.5%	30.5%	100.0%

Table 2. Crosstabulation analysis of companies by size and use of electronic invoicing

Source: Author's research

The empirical Chi-square value was 7.59, with an empirical level of significance of 0.006, therefore it can be concluded that a statistically significant correlation between the size of the company and the use of electronic invoicing exists.

3.5. The Role of the Government in the Adoption of Electronic Invoicing in Companies

To test the assumption that the government has a significant role in the adoption of electronic invoicing in companies, two claims were put into relation: the use of electronic invoicing, and the level of business cooperation between companies and the government (public sector). The average level of importance of doing business with the government was 1.32 points higher among companies that introduced electronic invoicing compared to companies that did not introduce electronic invoicing. Specifically, the average level of importance of doing business with the state (public sector) among companies that have introduced electronic invoicing is 2.93, while the average level of importance of doing business with the state among companies that have not introduced electronic invoicing is 1.61.

and business cooperation between companies and the government										
The use of electronic invoicing		Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation						
Daing huginage with the government (nublic costor)	Yes	41	2.93	1.40						
Doing business with the government (public sector)	18	1.61	.70							

Table 3. The relationship between the use of electronic invoicing and business cooperation between companies and the government

Source: Author's research

By conducting the Independent Samples Test (t-test for Equality of Means), with the empirical t-ratio of 4.80, it can be concluded that there is a statistically significant difference in the importance of doing business with the government (public sector) among companies that introduced and did not introduce electronic invoicing. The conclusion was reached with an empirical significance level of <0.001.

Finally, there is a question related to the perspectives of introducing electronic invoicing in order to find out if the companies that have not introduced electronic invoicing intend to do that soon. For the intention of introducing electronic invoicing, "soon" is considered the period of up to three years, i.e. the sum of the answers "Yes, within a year" and "Yes, within three years". Of the 18 companies that have not introduced electronic invoicing, 5 have not declared an opinion on this matter, while 3 companies declared they certainly will not introduce electronic invoicing. Among the respondents who expressed the intention to introduce electronic invoicing, 4 respondents intend to introduce it within one year, and 3 respondents within three years, which gives result of 7 respondents who have the intention of introducing electronic invoicing soon. Also, 3 respondents intend to introduce electronic invoicing, but beyond the framework of three years. Although 56% of companies intend to introduce electronic invoicing intend to do so within three years.

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Electronic invoicing brings various benefits compared to traditional invoicing as presented in the introductory part of the paper and verified in the empirical study. The European Union recognized electronic invoicing as a tool for increasing the productivity of the public sector, as did the legislator in the Republic of Croatia, which introduced a law according to which all companies participating in the public procurement process must exchange invoices electronically. This paper aimed to analyze the state and perspectives of electronic invoicing in Croatia, to determine the adoption with regard to the size of the company, and to determine the role of the government in the adoption of electronic invoicing. The limitations of this research are certainly the sample size. To generalize the results to all companies in the Republic of Croatia, further research on a larger sample is definitely needed. In this pilot study, the analysis showed that there is a relationship between the size of the company and the use of electronic invoicing. Little over half of the micro-enterprises use electronic invoicing, while the percentage of adoption of electronic invoicing is growing drastically among small companies, while medium and large companies use electronic invoicing 100%. Regarding the role of the government in the adoption of electronic invoicing, a significant difference was observed between companies concerning the extent of business cooperation with the government and the use of electronic invoicing, leading to the conclusion that the government plays a significant role in the adoption of electronic invoiced electronic invoicing have the intention of introducing electronic invoicing soon, in terms of the expected adoption of electronic invoicing the perspective is positive, because, with a longer period of time, most companies do intend to introduce electronic invoicing.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported by the Croatian Science Foundation [grant number IRP-2017-05-7625].

References

- Arendsen, R., & Wijngaert L. (2011). Government as a Launching Customer for eInvoicing, Centre for e-Government Studies, University of Twente, The Netherlands, 122–133.
- Boshkoska, M., Mancheski, G., Jovanovska, D., & Midovska, Petkoska, M., (2019). Challenges and Benefits of e-Invoice Exchange System Implementation, *11th International Conference: Digital Transformation of the Economy and Society: Shaping the Future*, 452- 465.
- CEF Digital. (2021a). *SMEs and private sector onboarding-electronic invoices*, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/cefdigital/wiki/display/CEFDIGITAL/SMEs+and+Private+Sector+on-boarding+-+electronic+invoices. Accessed: Nov 2022.
- CEF Digital. (2021b). *Transmitting electronic invoices*, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/cefdigital/ wiki/display/CEFDIGITAL/Transmitting+electronic+invoices. Accessed: Nov 2022.
- Haag, S., Born, F., Kreuzer, S., & Bernius S. (2013). Organizational Resistance to E-Invoicing

 Results from an Empirical Investigation among SMEs, Institute of Information Systems, Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany, 286–297.
- Horák, J., Bokšová J., & Jiří Strouhal, J. (2020). *Electronic Invoicing Adoption within the European Union, International Atlantic Economic Society* 2020., 449–450.
- Koch, B. (2019). *The e-invoicing journey 2019-2025*; Billentis, available at: https://billentis.com/ The_einvoicing_journey_2019-2025.pdf. Accessed: Nov 2022.
- MINGOR (Ministarstvo gospodarstva i održivog razvoja Republike Hrvatske). (2022). *Uvod u e-račun*, available at: https://mingor.gov.hr/djelokrug/uprava-za-trgovinu-i-politiku-javne-na-bave/digitalno-gospodarstvo/e-racun-7014/uvod-u-e-racun/7015. Accessed: Nov 2022.
- Official Gazette of the Republic of Croatia ("Narodne novine"). (2018). Zakon o elektroničkom izdavanju računa u javnoj nabavi, NN 94/2018, available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2018_10_94_1817.html. Accessed: Nov 2022.
- Veselá, L., & Radiměřský, M. (2014). The development of electronic document exchange, *Enterprise and the Competitive Environment 2014 conference*, ECE 2014, 6–7 March 2014, Brno, Czech Republic, 743 751.



Comparing Genetic Algorithm and Variable Neighborhood Search Method for Solving Job Shop Problem

Jana Vugdelija¹ 💿

Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: January 24, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Job Shop; Scheduling problem; Genetic algorithm; Variable neighborhood search; Heuristics

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Job Shop scheduling problem is one of the most complex and researched problems in the field of production planning. In this paper, two methods for solving Job Shop scheduling problem are presented and compared. The genetic algorithm and variable neighborhood search method were chosen and implemented in software for solving Job Shop problem. The paper first briefly presents Job Shop scheduling problem and then explains the development of solving software and implementation of selected solution methods. The results of using implemented genetic algorithm and variable neighborhood search method are presented on test instances with various dimensions. Solutions obtained using these two methods were put in comparison and analyzed, as well as compared with the optimal or best-known solutions in the literature.

1. INTRODUCTION

Job Shop scheduling problem is one of the most complex and researched problems in the field of production planning. Different heuristic methods are mainly used to solve it, and in this paper variable neighborhood search method and genetic algorithm were chosen. Among other frequently used methods for solving the Job Shop problem are the ant colony algorithm (Saidi-Mehrabad et al., 2015), particle swarm optimization (Nouiri et al., 2018), artificial bee colony algorithm (Li et al., 2014), as well as many hybrid methods (Huang & Liao, 2008), (Li & Gao, 2016). The paper consists of five sections. After the introductory part, Section 2 briefly presents the Job Shop problem. In Section 3, genetic algorithm and variable neighborhood search method used to solve the Job Shop scheduling problem are described. In Section 4, the results of experiments on test instances are presented. Finally, concluding remarks are given in Section 5.

2. JOB SHOP PROBLEM

Job Shop scheduling problem represents the problem of determining the order in which products will be processed on machines, where each product can follow a different processing sequence, i.e. have a different order of operations (Pinedo, 2008). This problem belongs to the group of NP-hard problems (Garey et al., 1976). Although Job Shop may be seen as a production planning problem by setting, the concepts used to solve this problem can be applied in many other areas. For example, in the field of traffic and logistics when routing and scheduling trains or airplanes as shown by Liu and Kozan (2009), or when assigning staff and planning shifts, creating a class or lecture schedules, etc. In this paper, the basic form of the Job Shop problem (Zhang et al., 2019) is considered. Let there be *n* jobs, J1, J2,...J*n*, that needs to be processed on *m* machines M1, M2,...M*m*, and let each job have a known (different) sequence of processing operations that it needs to follow, with

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organisational Sciences, Jove Ilića 154, Belgrade, Serbia



each job being processed on each machine at most once. The time needed to process each product on each machine is also known, given in the form of the matrix *tij* for i=1, 2,...n and j=1, 2,...m. Each machine can process only one product at any time and each product can only be processed on one machine at any time. All jobs are of equal priority, available from the same initial moment, and it is not possible to interrupt the started processing of any product on any machine. It is necessary to find the sequence of execution of jobs on each machine in such a way that the completion time of the last processing operation on the last product is as short as possible while respecting all the aforementioned restrictions. Minimization of the total time needed to process all products and minimization of idle time on machines and others can be used as an objective function, while in this paper makespan is being considered, as previously stated.

3. GENETIC ALGORITHM AND VARIABLE NEIGHBORHOOD METHOD FOR THE JOB SHOP PROBLEM

Before implementing the selected solution methods in the software, it is necessary to determine how the solution will be represented. In the developed software, the solution is presented as a structure that contains two attributes: the schedule of execution of jobs on the machines and the time required to process all products, i.e. the objective function. The job execution schedule is written in the form of a sequence of $n \times m$ members (where *n* is the number of jobs and *m* is the number of machines). Array elements represent processing operations and have values from 1 to *n*, thereby indicating the job to which the operation belongs. The ordinal number of occurrence of value *i* in the sequence indicates the ordinal number of the *i*-th job operation and thus the machine on which that operation is executed. This way of recording the schedule is presented by Sevkli and Azdin (2006). The solution algorithms are presented in more detail below. Both algorithms are implemented in the programming language C# (Visual Studio environment).

3.1. Genetic Algorithm

Genetic algorithm is a heuristic first presented by Holland (1992) and is based on the idea to simulate biological process of evolution in order to find the best possible solution to various optimization problems. The very idea of applying simulated evolutionary processes in order to create a machine that learns was first mentioned by Turing (1950). The analogy between genetic algorithms and Darwin's theory of evolution is reflected in the fact that through generations the most desirable traits of individuals are favored, meaning that individuals that are better adapted, or in the case of optimization problems, have a better value of the objective function, have a higher probability of transferring their genetic material to the next generations. The methods used in genetic algorithms that simulate evolutionary processes are called genetic operators and refer to selection, crossover and mutation processes (Mattfeld, 2013). The genetic algorithm (GA) implemented to solve the Job Shop problem can be represented by the following functions:

- Creation of the initial population
- Input data: number of individuals in population, *n* (number of jobs), *m* (number of machines), order in which jobs are processed on machines, duration of processing each job on each machine
 - 1. Repeat until number of individuals in the population is reached
 - a. Generate a random permutation of numbers from 1 to n
 - b. Create a sequence of one initial solution by repeating the generated permutation m times in a row
 - c. Calculate the time needed to implement the obtained schedule

- 2. Sort the individuals in the population into a non-decreasing sequence according to the value of the objective function
- Output data: Initial population ie. an array with a given number of individuals
- Crossover
- Input data: two parent entities, the order in which the jobs are processed on the machines, the processing time of each job on each machine
 - 1. Randomly select a segment of size 50% to 60% from the schedule of the first parent
 - 2. Rewrite the selected segment, in the same positions, in the child's schedule
 - 3. Make a copy of the other parent's schedule
 - 4. For all elements of the selected segment
 - a. Remove the first occurrence of an element from a copy of the other parent's schedule
 - 5. In the remaining positions in the child's schedule, write the elements from the updated copy of the other parent's schedule maintaining the order
 - 6. Calculate the value of the objective function for the newly obtained individual
 - Output data: Newly generated individual child
- Mutation

•

- Input data: The unit to be mutated, the order in which the jobs are processed on the machines, the processing time of each job on each machine
 - 1. Randomly select two elements in the layout of the individual for mutation
 - 2. Replace positions of the selected elements
 - 3. Calculate the objective function of the mutated individual
- Output data: Altered (mutated) individual
- GA
- Input data: order in which jobs are processed on machines, duration of processing each job on each machine, number of individuals in population, n (number of jobs), m (number of machines), c (crossover rate), number of generations
 - 1. Create an initial population
 - 2. Repeat until number_of_generations
 - a. Repeat until number_of_units_in_the_population
 - i. Randomly select the first parent from the best c% of the population
 - ii. Randomly select the first parent from the best c% of the population
 - iii. Perform crossover
 - b. Repeat for each individual in the new population
 - i. Perform mutation
 - c. Create a sequence of individuals of the old and new population sorted non-decreasingly by execution time
 - d. Determine the next generation as the number_of_individuals_in_the_population of the best individuals from the sequence generated in previous step
 - 3. The first individual of the last generation represents the best obtained solution
 - 4. Present the best obtained solution on the Gantt chart
- Output data: The best solution obtained and the Gantt chart of the best solution obtained

3.2. Variable Neighborhood Search Method

Variable neighborhood search heuristics (VNS) was presented by the authors Mladenović and Hansen (1997) and since then it has been widely used in solving a large number of optimization problems. The method is based on the principle of local search, whereby the search environment

changes. After defining a set of environments and determining the initial solution, the process of improving the solution consists of a local search phase and a perturbation phase (Hansen et al., 2017). In the implemented VNS based algorithm three methods of modifying the solution were used. The adjacent solution within the first neighborhood is obtained by swapping the places of two randomly selected array elements, and while choosing a solution within the second environment, the element of the sequence and the position to which that element will be moved are randomly determined, whereby all elements in between are moved by one place. The jump (preturbation) function is defined as a multiple repetition of the method of moving to a second neighborhood solution. That is, a jump is performed by moving several randomly selected layout elements to another, also randomly selected position. The implemented algorithm can be represented by the following functions:

- Check neighborhoods for improvements
- Input data: order in which jobs are processed on machines, duration of processing each job on each machine, current solution, number of environments, maximum number of consecutive attempts without improvement
 - 1. Set i=1 and set the counter of consecutive attempts without improvement to 0.
 - 2. Repeat until maximum number of consecutive attempts without improvement is reached (Loop 1)
 - a. Repeat until i is greater than the number of environments (Loop 2)
 - i. Select the neighboring solution y from the i-th neighborhood of the current solution.
 - ii. Calculate the objective function for y.
 - iii. If that solution is better than the current one, set current solution to y, set the counter of consecutive attempts without improvement to 0 and return to the beginning of Loop 2.
 - iv. Otherwise, increase i by 1 (next neighborhood) and return to the beginning of Loop 2.
 - b. Increase the counter of consecutive attempts without improvement (current solution remains unchanged) and return to the beginning of Loop 1.
- Output data: Current solution
- VNS
- Input data: order in which jobs are processed on machines, duration of processing each job on each machine, n (number of jobs), m (number of machines), maximum number of jumps, maximum number of consecutive attempts without improvement
 - 1. Create the initial layout by repeating the sequences 1,2,3,...,n m times.
 - 2. Compute the objective function for the initial solution.
 - 3. Set the best achieved solution to the initial solution.
 - 4. Repeat until maximum number of jumps is reached (Loop 1)
 - a. Check neighborhoods for improvements
 - b. If the current solution is better than the best achieved solution, update the best achieved solution
 - c. Perform a jump
 - d. Increase jump counter
 - e. Set the solution obtained by jumping to the current solution
 - f. Compute the objective function for the newly obtained current solution
 - g. Return to the beginning of Loop 1
 - 5. Present the best achieved solution on the Gantt chart
- Output data: Best achieved solution, Gantt chart of the best achieved solution.

4. **EXPERIMENT RESULTS**

For the experiment performing purposes, test instances presented by Taillard (1993) were used. The implemented solving methods were applied to groups of examples with dimensions of 15x15, 30x20 and 50x15, that is, test examples with 15 jobs and 15 machines, 30 jobs and 20 machines and with 50 jobs and 15 machines. For all examples with dimensions 15x15 and 50x15 optimal solutions are known, most of which were achieved by Brinkkötter and Brucker (1999) and Taillard (1993). Benchmark results for 30x20 examples and other test instances are presented by Shylo (2014) and updated regularly.

The stopping criterion in both implemented methods is not time-based, i.e. it is fulfilled by a certain number of generations for the genetic algorithm and the number of jumps for the variable neighborhood search method, but presented results were obtained for approximately the same time, close to 5 minutes of work per example.

Table 1 presents the results obtained by solving test examples with dimensions 15x15, and Table 2 shows the results for examples with dimensions 30x20. The best solutions obtained from 10 runs of the algorithm are shown.

15x15	Ex. 1	Ex. 2	Ex. 3	Ex. 4	Ex. 5	Ex. 6	Ex. 7	Ex. 8	Ex. 9		
GA	1282	1278	1275	1216	1276	1267	1266	1259	1351		
VNS	1269	1276	1257	1220	1263	1267	1257	1258	1323		
Optimal	1231	1244	1218	1175	1224	1238	1227	1217	1274		
relative deviation GA	4.1%	2.7%	4.7%	3.5%	4.2%	2.3%	3.2%	3.5%	6.0%		
relative deviation VNS	3.1%	2.6%	3.2%	3.8%	3.2%	2.3%	2.4%	3.4%	3.8%		
Better algorithm	VNS	VNS	VNS	GA	VNS	=	VNS	VNS	VNS		

 Table 1. Results for 15x15 test instances

30x20	Ex. 1	Ex. 2	Ex. 3	Ex. 4	Ex. 5	Ex. 6	Ex. 7	Ex. 8	Ex. 9		
GA	2374	2309	2189	2325	2260	2356	2219	2274	2281		
VNS	2262	2187	2089	2209	2192	2259	2134	2184	2209		
Benchmark	2006	1939	1846	1979	2000	2006	1889	1937	1963		
relative deviation GA	18.3%	19.1%	18.6%	17.5%	13.0%	17.4%	17.5%	17.4%	16.2%		
relative deviation VNS	12.8%	12.8%	13.2%	11.6%	9.6%	12.6%	13.0%	12.8%	12.5%		
Better algorithm	VNS										

Table 2. Results for 30x20 test instances

As can be seen, the VNS algorithm provided better solutions for the vast majority of the first 2 sets of examples. In Table 3 are presented results achieved solving test instances with dimensions 50x15. Here, the best results out of 20 runs of the algorithms are shown.

50x15	Ex. 1	Ex. 2	Ex. 3	Ex. 4	Ex. 5	Ex. 6	Ex. 7	Ex. 8	Ex. 9	Ex. 10
GA	3096	2932	3016	2845	2907	2968	2984	3111	3075	2877
VNS	2940	2971	2837	2884	2909	2945	3108	3061	2853	2887
Optimal	2760	2756	2717	2839	2679	2781	2943	2885	2655	2723
relative deviation GA	12.17%	6.39%	11.00%	0.21%	8.51%	6.72%	1.39%	7.83%	15.82%	5.66%
relative deviation VNS	6.52%	7.80%	4.42%	1.59%	8.59%	5.90%	5.61%	6.10%	7.46%	6.02%
Better algorithm	VNS	GA	VNS	GA	GA	VNS	GA	VNS	VNS	GA

Table 3. Results for 50x15 test instances

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

When considering examples with greater dimensions, VNS is not as dominant compared to GA as it was for smaller test instances. In fact, both algorithms have the same number of better solutions, but the VNS has more consistently low relative deviations. For better comparison, average relative deviations from optimal or best known solutions for both algorithms for all sets of examples are shown in Table 4.

	15x15	30x20	50x15	Total average
GA	3.8%	17.2%	7.57%	9.52%
VNS	3.1%	12.3%	6.00%	7.13%

Table 4. Average relative deviations

In total scores, VNS still shows better results than GA. As hybrid versions of the genetic algorithm are often found in the literature, one assumption that would explain the results could be that the basic form of the genetic algorithm is not suitable enough for solving the Job Shop problem.

5. CONCLUSION

The paper describes solving Job Shop scheduling problem using a variable neighborhood search method and genetic algorithm. The obtained results were compared with each other. And the experiment showed that the variable neighborhood search method gave more successful results for the majority of test examples. Although the subject of the work was primarily a comparison of the two implemented methods, the obtained results were also compared with the optimal (or best known) solutions for the tested examples, where none of the methods managed to reach these values. Deviations from the optimal solutions were on average 9.52% for the genetic algorithm and 7.13% for the variable neighborhood search method. The planned direction of further research would be the development of a hybrid method that would incorporate the positive features of both algorithms with the aim of more precisely targeting the points where modification will be made (mutation or transition to a neighboring solution) and thus increase the efficiency of the algorithm.

References

- Brinkkötter, W., & Brucker, P. (1999). Solving open benchmark problems for the job shop problem.
- Garey, M. R., Johnson, D. S., & Sethi, R. (1976). The complexity of flowshop and job shops scheduling. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 1(2), 117–129.
- Hansen, P., Mladenović, N., Todosijević, R., & Hanafi, S. (2017). Variable neighborhood search: basics and variants. *EURO Journal on Computational Optimization*, *5(3)*, 423-454.
- Holland, J. H. (1992), Adaptation in natural and artificial systems: an introductory analysis with applications to biology, control, and artificial intelligence, MIT press
- Huang, K. L., & Liao, C. J. (2008). Ant colony optimization combined with taboo search for the job shop scheduling problem. *Computers & operations research*, *35(4)*, 1030-1046.
- Li, J. Q., Pan, Q. K., & Tasgetiren, M. F. (2014). A discrete artificial bee colony algorithm for the multi-objective flexible job-shop scheduling problem with maintenance activities. *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, 38(3), 1111-1132.
- Li, X., & Gao, L. (2016). An effective hybrid genetic algorithm and tabu search for flexible job shop scheduling problem. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *174*, 93-110.
- Liu, S. Q., Kozan, E., (2009), Scheduling trains as a blocking parallel-machine Job Shop scheduling problem, *Computers & Operations Research*, *36(10)*, 2840-2852.

- Mattfeld, D. C. (2013). Evolutionary Search and the Job Shop: Investigations on Genetic Algorithms for Production Scheduling, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Mladenović, N., & Hansen, P. (1997). Variable neighborhood search. Computers & operations research, 24(11), 1097-1100.
- Nouiri, M., Bekrar, A., Jemai, A., Niar, S., & Ammari, A. C. (2018). An effective and distributed particle swarm optimization algorithm for flexible job-shop scheduling problem. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, 29(3), 603-615.

Pinedo, L. (2008). Scheduling - theory, algorithms, and systems, Prentice hall.

- Saidi-Mehrabad, M., Dehnavi-Arani, S., Evazabadian, F., & Mahmoodian, V. (2015). An Ant Colony Algorithm (ACA) for solving the new integrated model of job shop scheduling and conflict-free routing of AGVs. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 86, 2-13.
- Sevkli, M., & Azdin, M. E. (2006), A Variable Neighbourhood Search Algorithm for Job Shop Scheduling Problems, Lecture Notes in Computer Science book series (LNCS, volume 3906).
- Shylo, O. V. (2014). Job shop scheduling at Oleg V. Shylo: Personal webpage http://optimizizer. com/TA.php
- Taillard, E. (1993). Benchmarks for Basic Scheduling Problems, *European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 64, No. 2*, pp. 278-285.
- Turing, A. M. (1950). Computing Machinery and Intelligence, *Mind, Vol. 59, No. 236* pp. 433-460.
- Zhang, J., Ding, G., Zou, Y., Qin, S., & Fu, J. (2019). Review of job shop scheduling research and its new perspectives under Industry 4.0. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, 30(4), 1809-1830.



Risk Management in the Automation of Business Processes through the Application of Robotic Process Automation

Ognjen Pantelić¹ D Ivana Ivanović² Stefan Krstović³

Keywords: Process automation; RPA technology; Risks; Risk management

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 17, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: In a modern business environment with very big data flows, employee focus is crucial for success. This problem developed a need for new technological advancements such as Robotic Process Automation (RPA). As the RPA technology is relatively young, there is still an insufficient amount of research about which project management techniques are the best for it. This paper aims to recognize the key principles of risk management which can be applied to the automation of business processes through the use of RPA technology and to emphasize the significance of risk management for conducting successful RPA projects.

1. INTRODUCTION

Today's business environment requires a fast response to changes and constant adaptation. Companies aiming to be competitive must constantly develop better business processes.

RPA enables process automation through "robots" performing processes the same as humans. Although it seems that creating RPA solutions is simple, while automating through RPA, companies may be faced with challenges that can be viewed as risks of the RPA projects.

There is little research on risk management in business process automation through RPA. Therefore, this research is based on literature that defines and explains the functioning of RPA technology and literature that deals with risks as components of project management.

2. THE TERM ROBOTIC PROCESS AUTOMATION

Although the term RPA alludes to actual robots going between offices performing tasks instead of people, it represents software-oriented solutions applied to other programs' user interfaces carrying out the business process the same as a human. In RPA, the word "robot" is equivalent to a software license (Kirchmer, 2017; Willcocks et al., 2015).

Robotic Process Automation can be applied to highly frequent, repetitive business processes with clear predefined rules of execution (HerbertNathan, 2017). By creating and using a digital workforce, RPA provides a more efficient business process execution (Kirchmer, 2017). Instead of complete automation, RPA aims to increase productivity, decrease errors in the work process and provide better services to clients (Panyi, 2020). This is achieved through the automated

³ University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Jove Ilica 154, 11010 Belgrade, Serbia



¹ University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Jove Ilica 154, 11010 Belgrade, Serbia

² University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Jove Ilica 154, 11010 Belgrade, Serbia

handling of standard situations while leaving exceptions to employees (Kirchmer et al., 2019). RPA should not take the place of people in total, but enable them to focus on complex work demands (Panyi, 2020).

Business process automation through RPA contributes to achieving various business benefits (Kämäräinen, 2018). There are various positive conclusions related to the implementation of RPA in literature case studies, but the positive outcomes must be the result of good management of the RPA projects, and especially adequate risk management.

One definition of risk is the uncertainty that may have a positive outcome. However, in the context of this paper, this aspect will not be considered and the word risk will be connected to the unforeseen, unfavorable outcomes of automating business processes through RPA.

3. BASIC CONCEPTS OF PROJECT RISK MANAGEMENT

Every project includes certain risks, regardless of the industry or department it relates to (Kendrick, 2015). The goal of risk management is to minimize the possibility of unfavorable events, and the strength of their impact if they occur (Tesch et al., 2007).

The Project Management Institute (PMI) has defined 6 steps that lead to successful risk management (Pritchard, 2014):

Step 1: Risk management planning

Step 2: Risk identification

Step 3: Qualitative analysis of risk

Step 4: Quantitative analysis of risk

Step 5: Creating plans of action

Step 6: Monitoring and controlling risk.

4. AN OPPORTUNITY FOR RPA AUTOMATION

For the research, risk management will be simulated on the RPA project example. As an example of an RPA project, a hypothetical business process will be considered.

For this research, it is assumed that the following opportunity for RPA automation was noted.

Every month many employees leave or join the company. It is necessary to cancel or obtain an insurance policy with a private medical insurance company for each person. From the internal system containing employee data, necessary information is gathered and per request sent to an external associate who provides private medical insurance policies. The application is sent by accessing the external system and finding and filling in the form, which differs depending on whether the insurance policy is opened or canceled. Several fields need to be filled in which takes 30 minutes on average. The process is based on rules from the moment the need to send a request is established.

5. THE PLAN FOR RISK MANAGEMENT

Based on the authors' experience and RPA knowledge a risk checklist was formed (Table 1).⁴

4

The checklist was based on the hypothetical list of the RPA projects that began in the imaginary company

Risk ID	Risk		
1	The Subject Matter Expert (SME) incorrectly filled the robot making application		
2	The SME demands a subsequent change in the execution of the business process		
3	Problems with access to the systems used in the given business process		
4	The existence of differences between the test and production environment		
5	Employee resistance to the new way of working		
6	Skepticism toward the new way of working		
7	The business process based on the created documents is unclear to the developer		
8	Lack of licenses		
9	Conflicts among teams		
10	Over automation		
11	Incompatibility with the safety protocols		
12	The developer has too much freedom		
13	Unavailability of the test environments		
14	Performance of the basic business function of certain business units endangered		
15	Postponing important decisions		
16	The SME is overburdened by his business activities		
17	Phases of the project, on which subsequent phases depend, are late with execution		
18	Updates and changes to systems that are used in the business process		
19	The developer lacks experience		
20	Suddenly abandoning the project		
21	The SME found that a part of the business process is missing in the documentation		
22	Lack of understanding of the RPA vocabulary		

Table 1. Checklist of risks for the RPA projects

Most sources propose the risk probability be determined intuitively based on experience without calculating precise numbers, but rather that the probability of risks is classified as risks with high, intermediate, or low probability. Due to that, the risk probability will be calculated as a relative frequency of occurrence of risk in *N* number of conducted projects.

Definition 1. Let m represent the number of positive outcomes of event A in n repetitions of the experiment. Then the number

$$r = m / n \tag{1}$$

is the relative occurrence frequency of event A in n experiment repetitions (Kovačević, 2015).

Therefore, for every risk, the probability will be determined as:

$$\frac{\text{The number of projects during whose realization the given risk occurred}}{\text{The total number of projects which have been taken into account}^{5}}$$
(2)

As far as the impact is concerned, the authors will, for the research paper, determine it intuitively based on acquired experience in the field of RPA technology.

for the period of three months and imagined notes taken during the project's realization. Notes were analyzed and risks have been defined.

⁵ Due to the fact that the checklist was formed based on a hypothetical list of RPA projects that began in an imaginary company in a 3-month period and imaginary notes taken during the project realization the number of projects in which a certain risk arose is known to the author.

6. IDENTIFICATION OF RISK ON THE SPECIFIC RPA PROJECT EXAMPLE

Based on the checklist above, the initial register of risks is formed (Table 2) when analyzing the selected business process for automation (opening/closing private health insurance).

Risk ID	Probability		
1-1*	0,4		
2-3	0,2		
3-4	0,1		
4-5	0,2		
5-6	0,2		
6-9	0,4		
7-11	0,2		
8-12	0,1		
9-13	0,1		
10-16	0,2		
11-17	0,3		
12-18	0,2		
13-20	0,1		
14-22	0,2		

Table 2. Initial risk register

Note: * The second digit represents the risk ID from the checklist.

7. QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS

Probability can be great $(\geq 0,5)$, intermediate (> 0,1 && < 0,5), or low $(\leq 0,1)$, and the impact is viewed as high (one/more project aims endangered), intermediate (demands significant replanning) and low (bigger change of plans not required) (Kendrick, 2015). The estimate is made based on the Probability/Impact matrix. The qualitative analysis is provided in Table 3.

Risk ID	Probability	Impact	Estimate
1-1	Intermediate	Low	Low exposure
2-3	Intermediate	High	High exposure
3-4	Low	Intermediate	Low exposure
4-5	Intermediate	High	High exposure
5-6	Intermediate	High	High exposure
6-9	Intermediate	High	High exposure
7-11	Intermediate	High	High exposure
8-12	Low	High	Average exposure
9-13	Low	Intermediate	Low exposure
10-16	Intermediate	High	High exposure
11-17	Intermediate	High	High exposure
12-18	Intermediate	High	High exposure
13-20	Low	High	Average exposure
14-22	Intermediate	Intermediate	Average exposure

Table 3. Qualitative analysis of risks

For risks with high exposure, a quantitative analysis through the application of the Failure Models Effects Analysis (FMEA) technique follows.
8. QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

With the FMEA technique, a Risk Priority Number (RPN) is determined based on Occurrence, Severity and Detectability value (Carbone & Tippett, 2004). These values are measured on a scale from 1 (least adverse outcome) to 10 (most adverse outcome) (Perrin, 2007). The quantitative analysis is provided in Table 4. The higher the RPN, the greater the risk (more important on the priority list) (Perrin, 2007; Carbone & Tippett, 2004).

The authors view that in this case the best action is to classify the risks into low-priority and high-priority ones - RPN = 500 should be the referential value. Risks with an **RPN greater than or equal to 500** will be considered **high priority** for which action plans will be created.

Risk ID	0	S	D	$\mathbf{RPN} = \mathbf{O}^*\mathbf{S}^*\mathbf{D}$
2-3	10	10	6	600
4-5	10	7	8	560
5-6	10	7	8	560
6-9	10	9	6	540
7-11	10	9	2	180
10-16	10	10	4	400
11-17	10	10	10	1000
12-18	10	10	9	900

Table 4. Quantitative analysis of risks

9. PLANS OF ACTION

To act upon the noted high-priority risks, adequate responses to them should be created. Plans of action describe activities that will be carried out to decrease the high-priority risks.

There are numerous ways of responding to individual risk, however, all responses to negative risks fall into one of the following categories (as mentioned, in this paper only negative risks are taken into account) (Perrin, 2007):

Avoidance strategy: Eliminating the potential threat. For example, the project anticipates cooperation with an organization that has trade unions threatening to go on strike. The avoidance strategy would then be to choose a partner that does not have trade unions.

Transfer strategy: Some or all consequences are transferred to third parties connected to the given risk, including the responsibility for creating action plans. An example of this strategy is the purchase of an insurance policy or a purchase of another form of warranty.

Migration strategy: Decrease of probability or impact of risk. Designing systems of tolerance towards mistakes is an example of this strategy.

Acceptance strategy: Applied in cases when it is impossible to choose any other strategy.

Risk ID	Strategy	Plan of action
2-3	Migration	The risk has a very high impact on the RPA project's performance. So, activities should minimize the probability of this risk occurring. Before beginning to develop
		the RPA solution, a check of access to the demanded systems should be made.
		The RPA developer may attempt to access a certain system only after reaching the
		automation point where the system is used. So, the RPA developer and the SME
		should check if access to all needed systems is available beforehand.
4-5	Transfer	This risk occurs with all projects which imply changes in the established performance
		system of business activities. It is especially visible in RPA projects as the very word
		"robot" makes employees feel uncomfortable and afraid that they might be substituted.
		The proposed response to this risk is regularly reminding the higher management of
		how important it is to educate the employees and keep them up to date with the new
		information technology.
		Responsibility is transferred to higher management. They should be reminded of the
		importance of managing this risk whenever officially reporting. The assistance should
		be offered during employee education. Employees developing the RPA solution should
		prepare the education content and be exempted from other activities while conducting
		the education process. If possible, the employees being educated to be freed from their
		regular work activities, too.
5-6	Transfer	The risk can be overcome the same as the risk 4-5.
6-9	Migration	To avoid conflict during the RPA project's execution, communication and amicable
		rapport with all stakeholders should be maintained. Each time an official report is
		given, other stakeholders should be included together with the upper management.
11-17	Migration	To overcome this risk, precise deadlines must be set to carry out all RPA project
		phases before beginning to develop the solution and the resources necessary must be
		defined and provided.
12-18	Migration	Update and change applications and systems used in the business process greatly
		impact the RPA project's course. This risk has a great influence while maintaining
		the RPA solution. There should be official communication systems with the internal
		teams maintaining systems for business processes chosen for automation. They should
		promptly share information about any changes. If it is an external system, a similar
		deal should be made. This way of overcoming risk is deemed adequate, as often the
		same systems are used in different business processes chosen for RPA automation.

Table 5. Plans of action for high-priority risks

10. MONITORING AND CONTROL

Risk monitoring and control implies answering the following questions (Pritchard, 2014):

Question 1: Have the action plans been executed as proposed

Question 2: Have the action plans been as efficient as expected

Question 3: Has the project team followed the organizational policy and procedures

Question 4: Are the project assumptions still valid

Question 5: Have the triggers of risk occurred

Question 6: Have the new external influences changed the organization's risk exposure **Question 7:** Have new risks occurred.

Further activity needs to be carried out in accordance with the answers, to monitor the risks.

11. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

As the research in question is independent, due to the confidentiality of the data for the needs of this research, real data could not be used, nor a real RPA implementation project. The research is based on information found in the available literature, and the authors' experience in

business process automation through RPA. An object of future study could be carrying out the noted steps for risk management on the sample of a real RPA project and defining the complete methodology for leading the RPA project which would consider all project aspects.

12. CONCLUSION

A case study has established that, for the given example of project automation of the business process through the application of RPA technology, the following risks are of top priority:

Risk 1: Problems with access to the systems which are used in the given business process

Risk 2: Employee resistance to the new way of working

Risk 3: Skepticism towards the new way of working

Risk 4: Conflicts among teams

Risk 5: Phases of the project, on which subsequent phases depend, are late with execution **Risk 6:** Update and change systems that are used in the business process.

Also, for successful automation of the given business process, the following activities which present responses to the previously stated identified and prioritized risks should be conducted:

- **Risk 1:** Compulsory check of the access to the requested systems before beginning development of the RPA solution
- **Risk 2:** Every time an official report is made, the higher level of management needs to be reminded of the importance of the employees being educated about new information technologies and participating in the education in the field of RPA technology
- Risk 3: When reporting, include other primary stakeholders with the higher management
- **Risk 4:** Setting deadlines for the execution of all phases of the RPA project before starting to develop the solution and defining and providing resources necessary for carrying it out
- **Risk 5:** Establishing official communication systems with the teams responsible for maintaining the systems used in business processes selected for the automation. They should, through those channels of communication, provide prompt information in case of any change.

It can be concluded that the RPA projects are mostly not complex, and not high risk, but exactly that may lead to a misconception that there is no need for risk management.

If risks are managed, it can be easily established whether the requested automation is risky. A feasibility study for individual RPA projects would be suggested. In the case of a high-risk RPA project, whose risks do not allow its execution, the project must be abandoned and the stake-holders informed. This way, major savings of key resources are made.

Financial analysis is not of key importance in deciding to carry out automation through RPA. Besides finances, the risks following automation must be considered. Only such an approach to automating business processes through RPA can achieve the benefits of RPA solutions.

References

- Carbone, T. A., & Tippett, D. D. (2004). Project Risk Management Using the Project Risk FMEA. *Engineering Management Journal*, *16* (4), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/1042924 7.2004.11415263
- HerbertNathan & Co. (2017). RPA Software an independent study of Robotic Process Automation Software in Scandinavia [PowerPoint slides]. https://dk.devoteam.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/22/2021/05/rpa-rapporten-2017.pdf
- Kämäräinen, T. (2018). *Managing Robotic Process Automation: Opportunities and Challenges Associated with a Federated Governance Model* [Master's Thesis, Aalto University School of Business].
- Kendrick, T. (2015). Identifying and Managing Project Risk (Third Edi.). New York: AMACOM.
- Kirchmer, M. (2017). Robotic Process Automation Pragmatic Solution or Dangerous Illusion?. BTOES Insights (Business Transformation and Operational Excellence Summit Insights), 1-3.
- Kirchmer, M., Franz, P., & Bathmaker, D. (2019). Value-Driven Robotic Process Automation Enabling Effective Digital Transformation. *BPM-D Paper*, 1-28.
- Kovačević, I. K. (2015). *Verovatnoća i statistika sa zbirkom zadataka* (Third Edi.). Beograd: Univerzitet Singidunum.
- Panyi, M., (2020). Future of the Robotic Process Automation. BrainBay Centrum, 299-304.
- Perrin, J. R. (2007). PMP Exam Prep Boot Camp (Student Edi.).
- Pritchard, C. L. (2014). *Risk Management: Concepts and Guidance* (Fifth Edi.). Florida Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Tesch, D., Kloppenborg, T. J., & Frolick, M. N. (2007). IT Project Risk Factors: The Project Management Professionals Perspective. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 47(4), 61-69.
- Willcocks, L., Lacity, M., & Craig, A. (2015). The IT Function and Robotic Process Automation. *The Outsourcing Unit Working Research Paper Series*, 15/05, 1-10.

Social Networks – A New Way of Communicating in Healthcare

Gordana Jelić¹ Danica Mamula Tartalja²

Received: November 20, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Information-sharing platforms; Health literacy; Online support

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The advancement in IC technologies has provided health systems with newer and better means of reaching large populations. This paper investigates how social networks facilitate health message-sharing on the Internet and provide users with numerous tools to create, publish or share various content formats. The literature review points out two basic motives for the use of social networks by sick people: "information support" aimed at obtaining information and increasing knowledge about the disease and its therapies by sharing experiences with other users, and "social and emotional support" enabled by digital environments which encourage empathy among online peers allowing each person to access help from different social media while controlling the level of disclosure of their identity and condition. The authors of this paper conclude that a deeper understanding of shared content and user behavior in online settings can help communicators improve health literacy, raise community awareness and provide social support.

1. INTRODUCTION

The spread of technologies in mHealth, as a subfield of eHealth, has led to the emergence of social media, a new way of communicating with healthcare services that enable patients to play an active role in managing their health and ultimately improve the overall quality of their health care and outcomes. Social media is widely used in health contexts by various users. Approximately 80% of cancer patients use social networks to connect with their "companions". More than 80% of US government-owned health services have social media accounts. Among healthcare professionals, 65% of radiologists in the United States and Europe use social media for various health reasons (Braun et al., 2019). Social media is defined in different ways. Some definitions focus on the technological features of social media that distinguish them from traditional technologies, while other definitions concentrate on the communication characteristics of social media. The content "created by users for users" is an important characteristic that distinguishes social media from traditional ones.

Social networks can perform multiple functions: clinical access and triage, providing emotional support to patients (Criss et al., 2015; Goodyear et al., 2019), sharing information and monitoring health parameters, as well as online consultation with medical staff. They have been used to stimulate participation in health-related events, as well as to encourage changes in health behaviors. Namely, participants/patients use them to document (and share) their progress in changing their health behaviors, by posting images of healthy meals, sharing virtual prizes for weekly physical activity achievements, creating group challenges to reach health-related goals, taking part in competitions regarding health behaviors, etc. The importance of social networks is

² Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Studies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, Serbia





¹ Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Studies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, Serbia

also reflected in the possibility of reaching a wider and more diverse population, including hardto-reach groups and areas. Thus, in trying to reach as many users as possible, health systems worldwide often opt for communication via SMS messages, which represent a safer communication medium due to the reach of mobile phone signals and an unreliable Internet connection (Mamula Tartalja et al., 2022).

The use of social networks for health purposes can be grouped into different categories from the perspective of social media users. Healthcare institutions use social networks for information surveillance, dissemination of health information and fight against disinformation, as well as for health intervention and social mobilization. Health researchers and professionals use social media for health-related research, professional development, facilitating doctor-patient communication, and offline services. Users of social media use them to search for and share health information, exchange social support in online communities, and track, monitor and share health statuses or activities. Patients want to connect and communicate with each other. That is why it is important to add a community feature to a healthcare app.

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The aim of this paper was to indicate the importance and benefits that healthcare organizations, clinicians, patients and regulatory bodies can gain from the use of various forms of electronic communication between doctors and patients. Also, the characteristics of doctor-patient communication that takes place over the Internet as a communication medium were analyzed through three different subgenres: Twitter social network, Viber application and *Stetoskop.info* web portal, with the aim of highlighting the importance of improving the level of 'health literacy' in the target group of patients. Online consultations performed by various medical specialists were monitored. Although they all belong to electronic discourse, these three subgenres can be distinguished by their own dynamics of development and linguistic manifestations. The analysis of messages sent via Viber and Twitter dealt with the graph-based and stylistic elements and conversational macrostructure of the discourse since it is about exchanging a large number of short messages regarding a specific situation. Concerning communication taking place on web portals, there is a simple rhetorical structure 'question-answer' mainly present, so the emphasis was placed on how patients presented themselves and the topic they addressed as well as how they asked questions, while the accuracy of professional explanations was observed in the doctors' answers, but also a certain degree of 'distancing' due to the lack of diagnostic data.

From the ethical aspect of research, the availability and visibility of communication are also different in the mentioned subgenres. The exchange of messages via Viber is the least visible since it is private and available only to the participants in a conversation. In order to access a user's profile on the Twitter social network, it is necessary to register and 'follow' the user on the network in order to be able to read their short messages (*tweets*). The most accessible subgenre includes web portals. The communication is public and viewable without any prior registration or membership. Online consultations are only a part of the content offered by web portals, in addition to texts about diseases and treatment methods, articles about health and family, and information about professional meetings and lectures, with all posts, also containing the dates of posting and the authors' names as well.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Data from social media are mainly analyzed in order to predict the future incidence of disease for individual users. The use of social media to detect individual diseases is especially useful for people who are at risk but less motivated to seek diagnosis and treatment; therefore, social media monitoring can complement the traditional doctor-patient interaction method of disease detection so as to proactively provide health advice to those who are less likely to seek help. Furthermore, data from social media can also be investigated in order to predict outbreaks of infectious diseases among the population (e.g., the COVID-19 epidemic). User-generated social media posts can provide insight into cognitive and behavioral health issues. The analysis of social media posts can be used to reveal public concerns and sentiments about ongoing epidemics, public attitudes toward the actual implementation of recommended disease prevention measures, and also to monitor discussions on controversial health topics, such as vaccination and e- cigarettes.

From the technical and technological aspects, the use of social media in the provision of healthcare services should ensure privacy and security for users. Social networks enable closed groups that are easy to administer, therefore the network architecture could be used to help communities of users/patients who have the same problems. Social networks allow private messages; thus the architecture can ensure an additional layer of privacy. Since social networks also allow account verification, hospitals and formal caregivers could use them, thereby increasing user trust.

By analyzing patients' conversations on social media, researchers can assess patients' understanding of the disease and their coping strategies, identify their concerns about the disease, understand their barriers to changing health behaviors, identify disease-related symptoms, and assess patients' post-recovery experience.

As mentioned above, three subgenres of the electronic discourse in social media were analyzed. The aim was to point out the importance of using adequate linguistic tools to enable better understanding between participants in communication. It was observed that the graph-based and stylistic innovations that emerged with the advent of electronic communication such as repetition of graphemes, words and punctuation marks, unconventional use of lower- and upper-case letters, use of emoticons and emoji, are used in the communication between doctors and patients through social networks and applications for exchanging short messages. Given that this form of electronic communication is often called 'written speech', the authors of messages, by using these innovations, compensate for the lack of prosody, intonation, the fallacy of accent in the sentence, facial expressions and gestures, as integral elements of oral communication, in order to achieve better understanding and interpretation of their messages. A significantly more formal style of expression was observed on web portals, probably due to greater visibility of message content, and therefore a lower level of privacy. Patients tend to formulate their questions precisely while using post titles to concisely highlight the reason for their inquiry. On the other hand, doctors are very careful in answering patients' questions, being aware of the fact that their answers, advice, recommendations, or diagnoses could, exactly due to the wide availability of this medium, be (mis)used by some patients who would not be suitable for such therapy.

Authors of several studies (Zummo, 2016; Umefjord et al., 2006; Chiu, 2016), analyzing the contents of websites and platforms dedicated to online consultations with physicians, as well as surveying users of these online services, identified different intentions that make patients opt for this type of communication with a doctor. The most common reasons why patients decide to visit a doctor online refer to asking for a medical opinion, i.e., a diagnosis based on the symptoms they have, and then to searching for a second opinion, which generally follows a traditional visit to the doctor's office, for confirmation of the opinion received, or due to dissatisfaction with the previous medical examination. Patients who already have a disease confirmed most often use online services to get more information about the disease and treatment options, and also to ask for advice, recommendations, empathy, and share experiences.

The non-medical reasons why patients decide to ask for doctor services online are related to the ease of use and constant availability of services and information, then to privacy protection guaranteed when it comes to symptoms and conditions that make patients feel ashamed, as well as due to the lack of time to visit a doctor, which most often implies long waiting time at a healthcare facility, but also the lack of time for the doctor to answer the patient's questions within his working hours, due to the crowded office. One of the reasons is that it is easier to express oneself in writing. Namely, patients often avoid asking the doctor directly everything they want to know about their disease, either because they feel insecure and shy, or because of the atmosphere of doctor supremacy in doctor-patient communication, which is present in institutional discourse (Heritage, 2004).

However, while patient web portals and mHealth applications can be very useful, there are barriers in regard to their design and usability. Ching and Kapoor (2017) point out a recent survey that showed that 41% of users feel frustrated when navigating portals, which is a factor limiting the adoption of these technologies. According to the same survey, 26% of patients complained about the speed of sending notifications, and 21% claimed that the tools contain too many medical or technical terms. Nevertheless, the post-pandemic medical industry has seen an increase in patient engagement, especially regarding the need to collaborate remotely with service providers and review vaccine data and lab results.

4. CONCLUSION

Traditional public surveys can take weeks and are expensive, while social networks provide real-time data and are inexpensive to assess the effectiveness of public health communication, allowing communication participants to adapt their communication strategies to public needs on time. Healthcare professionals and researchers can use social networks for their professional development, such as learning, collaboration and career advancement. Social networks can be used to collaborate on research projects (Chen & Wang, 2021), access and share trending research findings and medical knowledge, search for a job, attend a medical conference remotely, and discuss interesting or difficult cases with colleagues. Studies (Pizzuti et al., 2020) found that different social media platforms have different roles in the professional development of healthcare professionals and researchers: Pinterest is mainly used for education about healthcare quality, Twitter for gathering news and information about conferences, and LinkedIn for career advancement.

According to Trigo et al. (2020), it should be noted that any ad-hoc mHealth solution based on social networks can exchange biomedical information without the need for a separate information system that would guarantee additional safety and security. However, in the same paper, the authors state that "biomedical interoperability standards are highly recommended" (p. 3) and give examples of successful initiatives in terms of standardization carried out within the health-care domain, such as Health Level 7 (HL7) and Digital Imaging and Communication in Medicine (DICOM).

Social media in mHealth provide patients with access to medical information, yet if patients cannot understand the given information or the system is not functional, they will not have any benefits from mHealth services. The research results indicate that information shared on social media should primarily be presented in a user-friendly manner. The importance and necessity of introducing social networks, but also social media in general, are relevant for the mHealth architecture and system of healthcare service provision for several reasons. Social networks are easy to use, socially encouraging, decentralized, flexible, global, and free, with high data availability, low latency, and a large number of users. Moreover, social networks can facilitate health-related research by providing additional data for learning about patient illness experience, as well as by recruiting research participants, especially from hard-to-reach populations.

References

- Braun, L.A., Zomorodbakhasch, B., Keinki, C. & Huebner, J. (2019). Information needs, communication and usage of social media by cancer patients and their relatives. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 145, 1865-1875. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-019-02929-9
- Chen, J. & Wang, Y. (2021). Social Media Use for Health Purposes: Systematic Review. *JMIR Publications, 23*(5). doi: 10.2196/17917. PMID: 33978589; PMCID: PMC8156131
- Chiu, M. H. P. (2016). An investigation of the questions posted on medical consultation websites. *Health Information & Libraries Journal*, *33*(4), 283-294.
- Ching, J. & Kapoor, K. (2017). Benefits, barriers, and impact of patient portals and mHealth applications, *PharmacyToday SPECIALTY PHARMACY SECTION MOBILE HEALTH* https://www.pharmacytoday.org/article/S1042-0991(17)31487-1/pdf
- Criss, S., Woo Baidal, J. A., Goldman, R. E., Perkins M., Cunningham, C. & Taveras, E. M. (2015). The role of health information sources in decision-making among Hispanic mothers during their children's first 1000 days of life. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*. 19(11): 2536-2543.
- Heritage, J. (2004). Conversation analysis and institutional talk: Analysing data. In D. Silverman (Ed.), *Qualitative research: Theory, method and practice* (pp. 161-182). London: Sage Publications.
- Goodyear, V. A., Armour, K. M. & Wood, H. (2018). Young people and their engagement with health-related social media: new perspectives. *Sport Educ Soc.* 24(7): 673-688
- Mamula Tartalja, D., Jelić, G. & Osmani, E. (2022). On the Potential of SMS Text Messaging in mHealth. *Program and Book of Abstracts*. Paper presented at LXVI Conference ETRAN 2022, Novi Pazar, June 6-9, 2022 (p. 67). Belgrade: ETRAN Society, Academic Mind. ISBN 978-86-7466-927-3
- Pizzuti, A. G., Patel, K.H., McCreary, E. K., Heil, E., Bland, C. M., Chinaeke, E., Love, B. L. & Bookstaver, P. B. (2020). Healthcare practitioners' views of social media as an educational resource. *PLoS One. 15*(2):e0228372
- Trigo, J. D., Rubio, O. J., Martinez-Espronceda, M., Alesanco, A., Garcia, J. & Serrano-Arriezu, L. (2020). Building Standardized and Secure Mobile Health Services Based on Social Media. *Electronics*, 9(12), 2208. https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics9122208
- Umefjord, G., Petersson, G. & Hamberg, K. (2003). Reasons for consulting a doctor on the Internet: Web survey of users of an Ask the Doctor service. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 5(4). https://www.jmir.org/2003/4/e26/
- Zummo, M. L. (2012). In-Between Discourse and Genre: Doctor-Patient Interaction in Online Communication: Formal and Informal Features in CMC. *Romanian Journal of English Studies*, 9(1), 78-90.



Usage of E-platforms Google Meet, Microsoft Teams and Zoom in Education

Anton Vorina¹ (b) Nikolina Vrcelj² (b) Vuk Bevanda³ (b)

Keywords: Online teaching; Google Meet; Microsoft teams; Zoom

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 15, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: The crisis caused by COVID-19 has forced educational institutions to use electronics for educational purposes and thus to digitize the entire process of lectures as well as exams and other school activities. Distance learning is, of course, welcome at a time when it is necessary to limit oneself socially as much as possible to help curb the spread of infections. But everything has both good and bad sides and e-learning is no exception. Rapid changes in this area required even faster adaptation by teachers, professors, or lecturers, as well as pupils and students. The latter, already born in the age of electronics and accustomed to drastic innovations in this field, probably had fewer problems with this. The purpose of the research is to identify the advantages and disadvantages of e-learning observed by users. The research will be limited to three of the most widespread e-meeting programs. These are Google Meet, Microsoft Teams and Zoom. Assuming that these are the three most used programs, the satisfaction of the users of these programs is also an important issue in the research.

1. INTRODUCTION

With the development of technology, online education has become increasingly popular V around the world since 2013 (although it is still not the most popular method), and the COV-ID-19 crisis has further accelerated the digitization and use of electronics in education. Despite the ever-faster unfolding and more frequent use of electronic tools for learning purposes, in most cases, they were only an additional element, a diversification of the classical form of education. However, the current global situation has forced educational institutions to use exclusively e-learning. Teaching methods and student habits have completely changed. E-learning is not just about moving the physical classroom to the virtual. There is much more. It is about adapting the traditional system to new technologies, opportunities, values, needs and, last but not least, events in the field of economy. For effective e-learning, we must therefore adapt the entire model, not just the equipment or space. E-learning plays an important role in the development of future educational models, and systems. Which, in fact, is somehow sensible or necessary in the age of digitalization. All over the world, we are robotizing production, digitizing homes, and gadgets, and increasingly developing advanced smart devices, so it is high time we took a step forward in the field of education as well. E-learning also offers the possibility of abandoning methods based primarily on memorization and mechanical training. The new form of learning emphasizes the importance of encouraging students to actively participate and research, to independently search for and process information, to analyze and solve problems, and to communicate and cooperate effectively. It encourages students to think more actively, participate more actively and be more independent. The development of students is at the forefront and not so much the subject itself. As e-learning takes advantage of modern technologies, it consequently eliminates time and space constraints. One of the advantages of this is the possibility of choosing the learning environment of each individual



¹ Celje School of Economics, Higher Vocational College, Slovenia

² Association of Economists and Managers of the Balkans, Belgrade, Serbia

³ Faculty of Social Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

according to his knowledge, abilities and preferences, teachers can improve their methods and diversify their lectures, and schools have the opportunity to avoid geographical boundaries. Based on the experience gained so far, schools around the world are increasingly flirting with the idea of introducing an online form of learning in combination with the traditional way, even at a time when the situation in economies will stabilize.

2. E-PLATFORMS

Online learning or just networking itself is made possible by various platforms. The three most common ones will be presented below.

2.1. Google Meet

Google Meet is a platform (Figure 1) that allows users to have free one-hour video conferences with up to 100 participants. It also offers the possibility of advanced features for organizations, such as the possibility of up to 250 participants (https://apps.google.com/meet/how-it-works/).

Signing up for Google Meets is fairly simple, as you only need to sign in with a (pre-existing) Google Account or a Google Workspace account for business use. When using a computer, no additional installation of the program is required, and for use over the phone, we install the application. We join the video conference using a link or code sent by the host. With the paid version, there is also the option to call the meeting number in combination with the assigned PIN code. If we use the free version of Google Meet, we must log in to the account to participate, but the paid version does not require this. A special feature of Google Meets is the subtitles (in English only) provided by speech recognition technology (https://nerdschalk. com/7-google-meet-chrome-extensions-you-can-try-now/).



Figure 1. Google meet platform Source: Own

Before attending the video conference, Google Meets allows us to view our cameras as other participants will see us. We can turn the camera and sound on and off. Google Meet automatically changes the layout of your video meeting to show the content and attendees that are most active. We also have the option to change the layout. Anyone can easily pin and remove participants and mute them. Either way, you cannot turn on the other person's sound again. Educational editions were created especially for educational purposes. Here, only the user who created the meeting - the teacher - can remove or mute the participants. All participants are allowed to share a screen (full screen or application window), and send instant messages - which also include file sharing - to participants during calls.

This platform has many extensions to power up online classes. For example, there is Google Meet Grid View. The main thing that this extension allows us is to see all the participants at once, instead of only 16, we are allowed to see without an extension. Furthermore, there is Google Meet Plus, with which we can create breakout rooms and control attendance, it gives us quiz options and a dedicated control panel, etc. Google Meet Enhancement Suite includes the ability to automatically mute the microphone, turn off video when joining a meeting or enable captions, lets users quickly mute and unmute themselves using a keyboard shortcut; and Auto Join (skipping the waiting screen when joining a meeting). Besides that, you can start and leave meetings quickly, mirror videos, remove all participants, or enable dark mode. With Nod – Reactions extension you can "raise your hand" (figuratively). You can also send other reactions like "thumbs up", "hand clap", "laugh", "hmm", and "wow". There is also Meet Attendance which gathers a list of attendees instead of the host. These are just some of the many extension options (https://apps.google.com/meet/how-it-works).

There are three versions available to us. The first, free, allows the meeting to last up to 1 hour, with a maximum of 100 participants. We can create an unlimited number of meetings, and participants can join via a browser. We can send out invitations to external participants, but they must still sign in with a Google account. We are offered options for subtitles in English, screen sharing and customizing the layout. Google Drive provides 15 GB of space per user. In case we need help, online self-help and community forums are available. The next possible version is Google Workspace Essentials. This version is chargeable and costs \$ 8 (6.69 €) per active user per month. It allows the duration of the meeting up to 300 hours, and the maximum number of participants is 150. In addition to all other options available to us in the free version, you can join the video call via a US or international phone number and save the recording of the meeting in Google Drive. Google Drive provides 100 GB of space per user (up to 2 TB in total), disks are shared, and we can also use Drive File Stream. In case we need help, we have ongoing online support and community forums. The latest possible version is Google Workspace Enterprise. This version is also payable from 6 (5.02 €) to 18 USD (15.05 €) per active user per month. The meeting can be attended by up to 250 people. In addition to the options listed so far, live streaming in the domain for up to 100,000 viewers and smart noise extraction are also enabled. Google Drive gives you unlimited space, disks are shared, and we can use Drive File Stream (https://apps.google.com/intl/sl/meet/pricing/).

Detailed overview of versions of Google Workspace Enterprise (https://workspace.google.com/pricing.html):

Business Starter:

- USD 6 / user/month
- Custom and secure business email
- 100-participant video meetings
- 30 GB cloud storage per user
- Security and management controls
- Standard Support

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

Business Standard:

- USD 12 / user/month
- Custom and secure business email
- 150 participant video meetings + recording
- 2 TB cloud storage per user
- Security and management controls
- Standard Support (paid upgrade to Enhanced Support)

Business Plus:

- USD 18 / user/month
- Custom and secure business email + eDiscovery, retention
- 250 participant video meetings + recording, attendance tracking
- 5 TB cloud storage per user
- Enhanced security and management controls, including Vault and advanced endpoint management
- Standard Support (paid upgrade to Enhanced Support)

Enterprise:

- Contact sales for pricing
- Custom and secure business email + eDiscovery, retention, S/MIME encryption
- 250 participant video meetings + recording, attendance tracking, noise cancellation, in-domain live streaming
- As much storage as you need
- Advanced security, management, and compliance controls, including Vault, DLP, data regions, and enterprise endpoint management
- Enhanced Support (paid upgrade to Premium Support).

2.2. Microsoft Teams

Microsoft Teams (Figure 2) is an online platform that enables connectivity not only through video meetings (as is the case with the other two platforms) but also through chat, calls, and the ability to share and edit documents. All of this is possible even when we are not connected in a video call. This allows us to send messages directly to one or more people. We can also tag people when we post a message to get their attention. The text we want to send can be edited. You can save received messages, search for them by senders or keywords, and filter them for display (https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-365/microsoft-teams/instant-messaging).

As already mentioned, one of the functions of the platform is also a video meeting. Anyone with an email address can be invited to join the meeting. You can also include the use of other Office applications in the meeting, share your screen, or even use a digital whiteboard. We can join meetings even when we do not have an Internet connection, by combining a PIN code and a call using a global caller's number (https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-365/microsoft-teams/video-conferencing).

The application can be installed on Android and IOS devices. Microsoft differentiates its offer according to users. It offers packages for home use, which do not include the Teams application, and packages for companies, which include the application. Thus, Microsoft Teams is included in three of the four payable offerings (https://www.pcmag.com/how-to/use-microsoft-teams-for-free).



Figure 2. Microsoft Teams platform Source: https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-teams/download-app

The offers differ mainly in the number of programs they include, the level of security, the inclusion of desktop applications, etc. However, there are no differences in the offer within the Teams application. Thus, in all three versions, a maximum of 300 people can be included in the video call (https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-365/business/ compare-all-microsoft-365-business-products).

2.3. Zoom

The third Zoom platform (figure 3) presented was positioned in the Leaders Quadrant (Magic Quadrant for Meeting Solutions-year (2020) by the world's leading information technology research and advisory firm – Gartner (https://zoom.us/gartner-meetings).



Figure 3. Zoom platform

Source: https://www.monitor.si/novica/zoom-je-postal-svetovna-uspesnica-a-tudi-tarca-zlorab/197273/

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

Zoom is a video conferencing platform that can be used through a computer desktop or mobile app, and allows users to connect online for video conference meetings, webinars and live chat (https://www.webwise.ie/parents/explainers/explained-what-is-zoom/).

Zoom allows up to 1000 video participants to join a meeting and 49 videos viewed on one screen. Similar to the aforementioned. Zoom also offers various options such as hand raising, sharing screens, files, recording meetings, group or personal chat, etc. With Zoom, you can host online events with up to 100 interactive video participants. and up to 10,000 view-only attendees. Zoom can be used online or as an application for Windows, MacOS, Linux, iOS and Android OS.

Detailed overview of versions of Zoom (https://workspace.google.com/pricing.html):

Basic Personal Meeting:

- free (just sign up)
- Host up to 100 participants
- Group meetings for up to 40 minutes
- Unlimited one-on-one Meetings

Pro:

- 139,90 EUR / year/license
- Host up to 100 participants
- Group meetings for up to 30 hours
- Social Media Streaming
- 1 GB Cloud Recording (per license)

Business:

- 189,90 EUR / year/license
- Host up to 300 participants
- Single Sign-On
- Recording Transcripts
- Managed Domains
- Company Branding
- All features included in Pro and more

Enterprise:

- 189,90 EUR / year/license
- Host up to 500 Participants
- Unlimited Cloud Storage
- Dedicated Customer Success Manager
- Recording Transcripts
- All features included in Business and more

Zoom United Business:

• 326,00 EUR / year/license

Phone

- Includes all the phone features of Zoom United Pro
- Unlimited calling within Global Select
- Optional add-on: add unlimited calling in up to 18 other countries

Meetings

- Host meetings with up to 300 participants
- Single Sign-On
- Recording Transcripts
- Managed Domains
- Company Branding.

3. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF E-LEARNING

First of all, it is necessary to point out the fact that without an internet connection, none of the platforms can work. Therefore, we can first highlight the problem of internet connections. People who have poorer internet connections or limited internet access (either due to financial situation or something else) consequently have a poorer experience using the programs. As one of the main disadvantages of e-learning, however, users cite inefficiency compared to real classes. Namely, they report problems with concentration when looking at the screen for a long time. Video meetings require more concentration than live meetings. Our communication consists of verbal and non-verbal speech, and the latter is made more difficult by video meetings. Because our brains are "together", but we are located far apart, special subconscious emotional conflicts occur in our bodies and they also tire our bodies.

One of the advantages is that users have the option of a virtual background, which they perceive as an advantage or as a conformable way to attend class when they do not like their real backgrounds during video meetings. Another advantage is the location, as we can attend classes from the comfort of a home armchair or while visiting a hairdresser, for example. At the same time, we don't have to huddle in overcrowded classrooms and look for empty seats.

4. CONCLUSION

Students had to adjust their daily habits due to distance learning. The first change, which is not necessarily a bad one, is definitely that in the morning student just sit in front of the screen and don't have to huddle on the bus, wait in rush hour, scurry around the school hallways, etc. At the same time, e-learning also means a reduction in physical contact with peers, which can lead to a lack of work motivation or even depression. As we found out earlier, e-learning also causes stress due to the lack of physical contact with interlocutors, which in turn makes us even more tired. However, as far as physical health is concerned, frequent enough, long enough and properly performed breaks are crucial. This means not sitting for too long, not looking at the screen for too long, and moving around during breaks, not just turning off the screen and sitting still.

All three programs (Google Meet, Zoom, and Microsoft Teams) are not complex to use and learning the features they offer is fairly easy. In addition to instructions and help on the official websites, you can help yourself with videos on YouTube.

References

- 20 Google Meet Chrome extensions you can try in 2021! (2021). Acquired 26. 1. 2022 from the website https://nerdschalk.com/7-google-meet-chrome-extensions-you-can-try-now/
- Compare all Microsoft 365 business products (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-365/ business/compare-all-microsoft-365-business-products
- *Explained: What is Zoom?* (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://www.webwise.ie/parents/explainers/explained-what-is-zoom/
- *Google Meet Pricing.* (2020) Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://apps.google.com/ intl/sl/meet/pricing/

Google Meet's New Features Put it on Par with Teams, Zoom (2020).

Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://mytechdecisions.com/mobility/ google-meets-new-features-put-it-on-par-with-teams-zoom/

- *Google Workspace* (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://workspace.google. com/pricing.html
- How to Use Microsoft Teams for Free (2022). Acquired 26. 10. 2022 from the website https://www.pcmag.com/how-to/how-to-use-microsoft-teams-for-free
- *Instant Messaging* (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://www.microsoft.com/ sl-si/microsoft-365/microsoft-teams/instant-messaging
- *Kako delujejo videokonference v Googlu Meet* (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://apps.google.com/meet/how-it-works/
- Prenesite Microsoft Teams (2022). Acquired 24. 10. 2022 from the website https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-teams/download-app
- *Video conferencing* (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://www.microsoft.com/ sl-si/microsoft-365/microsoft-teams/video-conferencing
- Zoom (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://explore.zoom.us/ meetings? ga=2.207566928.293401532.1608464162-1350154636.1606804956
- Zoom je postal svetovna uspešnica, a tudi tarča zlorab (2022). Acquired 25. 10. 2022 from the website https://www.microsoft.com/sl-si/microsoft-teams/download-app
- Zoom Pricing (2020). Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://zoom.us/pricing
- Zoom: A Leader in the 2020 Gartner Magic Quadrant for Meeting Solutions (2020).
 - Acquired 26. 12. 2020 from the website https://zoom.us/gartner-meetings



Framing a Model for Mobile Learning Using Augmented Reality

Slavica Radosavljević¹ Vitomir Radosavljević²

Received: November 5, 2022 Accepted: December 27, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Teaching content; Mobile learning; Augmented Reality

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** This paper considers the possibility of creating a framework for mobile learning with elements of augmented reality, intending to better adapt teaching content to students who are in the same or different locations. The framework, in which the use of mobile devices in learning is observed, depends on the purpose for which the mobile device is used (for research purposes, simulation, etc.), on technical capabilities, and the level of user capabilities. The goal is to achieve a quick and efficient understanding of the learning content, as well as good cooperation from the participants. The sustainable link between AR and HE goals must be established in accordance with the cognitive approach, according to the axioms of the theories related to learning, with the aim of unifying the association of this technology with the teaching–learning process.

1. INTRODUCTION

With the rapid development of mobile technology, augmented reality (AR) is one of the innovative technologies for improving the interaction between real and virtual spaces by superimposing virtual objects or information in a physical environment. Smartphones and tablets with AR technology are being increasingly used as pedagogical tools in education, including science (Lin & Tsai, 2021). Augmented reality can be applied to different aspects of education. In the last few years, there has been an increase in the number of examples of the application of augmented reality in education, with an emphasis on higher education, where better student engagement, better perception, and more positive attitudes have been noted as the effects of the application of augmented reality (Chen et al., 2016). AR technology enables the enrichment of the learning experience, makes learning easier, increases motivation, and improves focus in students (Sırakaya & Sırakaya, 2020).

Mobile devices, by default, offer certain unique advantages which can be utilized in education, such as mobility, social interactivity, connectedness for data sharing within devices, individuality, and the capability to gather real and simulated data from a location and the environment (Klopfer & Squire, 2012). Aside from easier access to learning materials, they also have the potential to ensure individual learning, which used to come only in the form of mentor work between a lecturer and a student (Peters, 2007).

2. MOBILE LEARNING

Correct dimensioning of mobile device usage in the learning process creates a new dimension that can affect the efficiency of learning to gather active experience (Kohen–Vacs et al., 2013). Mobile device usability is viewed through the prism of gathering, adopting, storing, and managing information. In the everyday search for information, there is already a trend of the



¹ Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

² Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

prevalence of mobile devices. Such a type of informal learning provides a basis for the adjustment of formal learning materials to mobile devices for the purpose of better integration.

The usability of a device is viewed through the physical comfort and satisfaction of a student challenged by cognitive stimulation, the acceptance of information, and the ability to move from a physical to a virtual location. The usability of devices ties together the needs and activities of students and the software and hardware components of a mobile device. The high mobility, intuitiveness, and simplicity of a device can decrease cognitive overload, i.e. make task fulfillment easier.

The role of mobile devices in learning, depending on the environment and the topic being learned, should be motivating and relevant when adopting information, especially when location characteristics are used to choose and present the content. The mobile device system should be able to fulfill the following roles:

- Positioning via devices such as GPS, NFC, RFID, QR code, or 2D bar code.
- The creation of "learning paths" through instructions after precise positioning, defining the contents, and following existing activities. These paths can be defined in advance or randomly generated. The more independent students are, the more imminent individual learning paths become (Meek et al., 2012).
- The most important part of the system is the choice and presentation of the learning content depending on the location. Namely, the materials are delivered to a student based on the previously defined positioning, assessment of the connection between the student's location and the materials, as well as based on the individual characteristics of the student. In addition, good interoperability and interactivity between a student and a teacher play a major role in the acceptance of the new learning method, as well as in its efficiency (Nandwani et al., 2012).

The main characteristics of mobile applications are defined, to a large extent, by functional and nonfunctional user requirements. Functional requirements encompass all application settings, which can differ greatly, as applications are very specific. On the other hand, nonfunctional requirements encompass the answers to individual users' requirements, as well as some general requirements that refer to mobile device characteristics, such as the usage of wireless technology, security, privacy, and interoperability.

Through the dynamic experience of mobile applications in learning, and during the process of problem-solving, students coordinate their activities better in the virtual world than in the physical one. As with traditional education, the types of participation include the engagement and motivation of students, especially if some sort of a game is being played, which results in the better processing and memorization of information. The educational materials presented in the form of a game, such as learning foreign languages using augmented reality mobile applications, demonstrate great potential for inspiring teamwork, social interactions, and better results of learning (Liu et al., 2016).

The goal of device usability should be an increase in students' focus on the task at hand, and not the specific tools used to fulfill the said task. Digital information that can be presented on mobile devices can easily integrate into existing materials using various codes, images, or other markers. This opens the door to an increased potential for combining learning resources through mobile technology and augmented reality, all with the goal of improving the understanding of study materials. In the example of using QR codes in mobile learning, students had an evident positive reaction to the augmentation of study materials (Chen et al., 2011).

Criteria used to define the aspect of mobile device usability are the following:

- Device mobility, in terms of moving to another environment without a change in data reception and processing performance;
- Information availability, i.e., access to information from any location at any time. This enables the *just-in-time* learning principle, where information follows the user, i.e., the user can store it and reuse it under identical conditions as when first receiving it, but at a later time when this information is necessary;
- Mental comfort, which encompasses understandability, ease of learning, ease of remembering, and intuitiveness, thus affecting the cognitive load and the rate at which students will fulfill a task. Metaphors, incomplete information and mnemotechnics, complicated displays, or illogicality of activities can impede cognitive performance;
- Student satisfaction in terms of interface esthetics, the physical appearance of the device, and device functionality when learning. This criterion is difficult to predict and define in advance, as satisfaction and enjoyment are defined by the personal and cultural style of each individual. Latest-generation mobile devices use their modern technical characteristics to achieve higher user satisfaction.

When using mobile devices in learning activities, there must be an array of conditions satisfied, which stimulate students to cooperate and interact (Yang et al., 2015):

- Location-related conditions in which students can use mobile devices,
- Access to information whenever and wherever necessary (just in time learning),
- The least possible cognitive overload with materials and activities that can be simplified using mobile device functionalities when fulfilling a task,
- Esthetic and functional approach that can be personalized per the requirements and preferences of the user.

3. THE PROCESS OF MOBILE LEARNING

The process of mobile learning is an intersection between three aspects: mobile devices, learning, and interaction, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Mobile learning through the prism of mobile devices, learning, and social interactions Source: Koole, 2009.

The goal of mobile learning is to give a student the competencies for better assessment and choice of information, redefining achieved goals, and questioning the understanding of what

they have already learned. Efficient mobile learning provides an improved cognitive environment where physically distant participants can communicate with each other, instructors, learning materials, and physical and virtual surroundings.

The criteria for assessing the mobile learning process are the following:

- Mediation, which implies that the very nature of interactions between participants replaces the participants in their interpersonal communication, as well as in the interaction with their surroundings, tools, and information;
- Access to information and its selection, which implies that with the increase in the amount of information, students need to increase the amount of effort to recognize the appropriateness and veracity of said information;
- Knowledge navigation, which implies that, based on the learned materials, students acquire the skills necessary to place information in the context of situation and necessity.

In the mobile learning system, the following should be kept in mind:

- The method of mobile device usage that will improve the interactions between students, the community, and the system,
- The students' method of accessing other systems and devices using their mobile devices to confirm or assess the relevance of information and the process flow, all with the goal of fulfilling tasks,
- Students' independence in navigation through information filtering,
- The method of switching the roles of students and teachers with the necessary equipment.

The advantages achieved through the mobile learning process, in addition to offering students interactivity through spoken communication and multimedia access to the Internet, include:

- Using the wireless network, students can reach physical and virtual destinations on their mobile devices,
- The ability to access different materials anywhere and anytime ensures a better understanding and adoption of information,
- Learning in specific contexts can offer the authenticity of the social and cultural environment, which provides a better insight into the application of the acquired knowledge and skills,
- A well-implemented system can play a major role in the decrease of cognitive overload in students, enabling them to adopt and transfer information, when necessary, in a simpler manner.

4. DESIGNING LEARNING ACTIVITIES

The process of designing learning activities should encompass:

- An assessment of the previously adopted level of knowledge,
- Adjusting the existing teaching techniques (diagrams, advanced organization models, etc.) with the goal of simplifying the overview of information,
- Using additional multimedia forms to stimulate understanding and memory,
- Ensuring differently structured activities depending on the context and characteristics of potential users, as well as on the environment where the activity is to take place,
- Designing learning situations in terms of stimulating the activity of transferring concepts and procedures according to different contexts,
- Enabling the research, discovery, choice, and assessment of relevant information according to the unique conditions of the task at hand.

When it comes to learning interactions in the process of mobile learning, the following should be kept in mind:

- Interactions between students, teachers, experts, and the learning system itself,
- Students' need for social interaction, as well as the need to adopt information and/or skills,
- The dimensioning of a media space that is large enough for developing joint ideas, practical work, and mentoring, both between students and between a student and a teacher.

5. AUGMENTED REALITY TECHNOLOGIES IN MOBILE LEARNING

Applications that support augmented reality can be designed to respond to the educational needs of students in vocational educational institutions. As a result, not only will the students with special needs be able to access an inclusive design through an application, but all students can benefit from a good design (Bacca, et al 2015).

Applying augmented reality can be very effective with learning materials that are difficult to understand or are entirely conceptual by increasing the students' interest in the concepts of learning (Parhizkar et al., 2012). Among other things, it can provide students with an experience that is built into the learning materials that describe real situations. Using augmented reality, students can explore materials that have been shaped by a given situation or learning context. The most prominent examples have to do with the exploration of physical surroundings by topic of interest, such as history, the arts, technology, biology, astronomy, etc. (Yen et al., 2013).

The previous applications of augmented reality in the domain of education have enabled:

- Learning using 3D content, which allows students to better understand the materials,
- Comprehensive, group, and situational learning, where students connect with each other, both time- and space-wise, for better cooperation,
- A sense of attendance, immediacy, and direction,
- The visualization of the invisible elements of the learning materials, and
- Establishing a connection between formal and informal education.

6. SETTING UP THE FRAMEWORK FOR THE MOBILE LEARNING MODEL WITH ELEMENTS OF AUGMENTED REALITY

The framework in which the use of mobile devices in learning is viewed depends on the purpose of the usage of the device (research, simulation, etc.), technical capabilities for access and installation, and the level of user competencies (Alioon & Delialioglu, 2015).

Setting the framework for mobile learning based on augmented reality encompasses the definition of:

- 1. The model and form of learning materials that will be used through augmented reality;
- 2. The type of interaction between the participants and learning materials using mobile devices;
- 3. The context of the augmented reality application defined according to a certain model (usually identity, location, surroundings, etc.);
- 4. The type of learning meant for the augmented reality model in terms of individual or group work, professional training, etc.

The creation of the model primarily encompasses the definition of the necessary entities that participate in the AR-powered mobile learning process. The basic entities are students and teachers, who, along with the learning objects (course materials, printed materials, physical surroundings, etc.) make up the real-world part of the model. Virtual reality enhances the materials with an augmented context using a predefined interaction between these contents depending on the characteristics of the student. The characteristics of the mobile device enable the augmentation of reality.

The components of the mobile learning model using augmented reality include:

- The real world or the context, including all course materials, learning objects, or the environment where learning is taking place.
- Digital content or augmented context, including 3D graphics, symbols, images, explanations, etc. that enhance the real world.
- Learning activities that tie together the real-world and digital content through different interpretations, amendments, interactions, etc. (Santos, et al., 2013).

The real world implies the presence of the learning objects, students, teacher, and learning materials in different forms. Important contextual elements are the goals and tasks the teacher provides (lectures, laboratory exercises, homework, independent work, etc.).

The augmented context implies the addition and display of clearly defined and evaluated information in a multimedia format, based on the symbols of the learning objects. Adding augmented content is a form of contextual visualization, i.e., the presentation of virtual information in the context of a real-life environment. Contextual visualization can have beneficial effects on learning, since virtual information is in accordance with real-world objects, which decreases the need for attention-switching between different media. In addition, contextual visualization uses multimedia symbols in the known, real environment, which helps students manage what they're learning. Teachers are tasked with adjusting the objects and surroundings to the students' needs. Course materials can include the interface, information (text, image, or audio), and its own characteristics such as length, language, and choice of words. The information contains 3D graphic computer models and notes or symbols such as numbers, circles, arrows, etc.

Learning activities can include individual steps in the learning process using course materials, with the option to use additional study materials. The augmented reality system, based on the symbols and pre-prepared additional contents in the database, evaluates, pairs, records, and archives content. Interactivity during the use of augmented reality allows students to potentially adjust certain parameters with the goal of tracking the expected outcomes (Matsutomo et al., 2012). These adjustments are possible precisely because of the dynamic rather than static nature of augmented reality.

7. LEARNING MATERIALS IN THE AUGMENTED LEARNING ARCHITECTURE

Learning materials in the context of augmented reality architecture are educational content used to distribute learning. These materials can be digital or analog, single-use or multi-use, or they can be referred to during the learning process (IEEE standard for learning object metadata, 2002).

Creating learning materials for augmented reality requires several electronic educational resources (hardware, software, content), which include texts, audio, video, virtual 3D objects, different forms of feedback, navigation, and instructions. Such learning materials should be easy to integrate with traditional printed publications (textbooks, handbooks, or other books). This is especially important in terms of the enhancement of the didactical effect through the implementation of various educational practices, such as the need for new training materials, consolidation of learned materials, virtual laboratory work, researching virtual models, etc. (Sannikov et al., 2015).

The identification of objects from the real world that are being used for learning is done using mobile devices. These objects are first assigned augmented reality symbols that define the name or location. Then, the augmented reality symbol is identified using a multimedia device, such as a camera, a tablet, or a smartphone. Afterward, based on the identifying information, the user can download contents from the database, which will then join real-world objects.

8. THE GOALS OF INTEGRATING AUGMENTED REALITY INTO THE MOBILE LEARNING PROCESS

The mobile learning model based on augmented reality technology can be integrated into traditional classes at any higher educational institution. The integration of this model into everyday classes, based on pedagogical methodology, has the goal to create, realize, and test new technologies for the visualization of augmented reality in the mobile environment in order to further motivate students. The goal of implementing this model has two major points:

- On one hand, technology enables an enhancement of materials beyond regular textbooks during traditional classes,
- On the other hand, the application of scientific content is implemented into the real world.

Given this, the teacher and the textbook are not completely eliminated from the learning process, but they are supplemented with new technologies based on pedagogical tools.

The mobile learning model based on augmented reality technology can pose an alternative to traditional teaching methods, where instructions can be applied simply and in real time. The saved time that's necessary to adopt new knowledge can easily be measured.

9. DISCUSSION IN THE PLACE OF CONCLUSION

The application of augmented reality in the mobile learning process allows for more efficient adoption of course materials, which is apparent in test results and the decrease in errors in work (Radosavljevic et al., 2019). Students' professional competencies and skills, as authors (Sannikov et al., 2015) explained in their works, are more easily and quickly adopted using augmented reality applications. Owing to the possibility of adjusting the materials to the user, there has been a decrease in the number of errors and an increase in the understanding of course materials (Radosavljevic et al., 2019).

References

- Alioon, Y., & Delialioglu, O. (2015). A Frame for the Literature on M-learning. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 182, pp. 127–135
- Bacca, J., Baldiris, S., Fabregat, R., Kinshuk, & Graf, S. (2015). Mobile Augmented Reality in Vocational Education and Training. Proceedia Computer Science, 75, 49–58. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.12.203
- Chen, N., Teng, D., Lee, C., & Kinshuk. (2011). Augmenting paper–based reading activity with direct access to digital materials and scaffolded questioning. Computers & Education, 57(2), 1705–1715, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.03.013
- Chen, P., Liu, X., Cheng, W., & Huang, R. (2016). A review of using Augmented Reality in Education from 2011 to 2016. Innovations In Smart Learning, 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–981–10–2419–1_2
- IEEE standard for learning object metadata. (2002). New York, N.Y.
- Klopfer, E., & Squire, K. (2012). Environmental detectives: The development of an Augmented Reality Platform for Environmental Simulations, Educational Technology Research and Development, 56 (2), pp. 203–208
- Kohen–Vacs, D., Jansen, M., & Milrad, M. (2013). Integrating Interactive Videos in Mobile Learning Scenarios. QScience Proceedings, 2013(3), 17. https://doi.org/10.5339/qproc.2013.mlearn.17
- Koole, M. (2009). A Model for Framing Mobile Learning, in M. Ally (ed.) *Mobile Learning Transforming the Delivery of Education and Training*. Edmonton, Canada: AU Press, Athabasca University, 25–51
- Lin, H., & Tsai, S. (2021). Student perceptions towards the usage of AR-supported STEMUP application in mobile courses development and its implementation into English learning, Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, Vol. 37 No. 3 (2021): AJET Issue 3, 88-103
- Liu, Y., Holden, D., & Zheng, D. (2016). Analyzing students' Language Learning Experience in an Augmented Reality Mobile Game: An Exploration of an Emergent Learning Environment. Procedia – Social And Behavioral Sciences, 228, 369–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.07.055
- Matsutomo, S., Miyauchi, T., Noguchi, S., & Yamashita, H. (2012). Real–Time Visualization System of Magnetic Field Utilizing Augmented Reality Technology for Education. IEEE Transactions On Magnetics, 48(2), 531–534. https://doi.org/10.1109/tmag.2011.2174208
- Meek, S., Goulding, J., & Priestnall, G. (2012), *The influence of Digital Surface Model choice on visibility–based Mobile Geospatial Applications*. Proceedings of the GIS Research UK 20th Annual Conference (GISRUK 2012), pp. 125–131, The University of Lancaster, Lancaster, United Kingdom
- Nandwani, A., Crane, L., Edwards, R., & Benachour, P. (2012) The magic door: Smart interactions between students and lecturers using contactless technologies, *Proceedings of the 11th Annual World Conference on Mobile and Contextual Learning (mLearn 2012)*, pp 252–255, Helsinki, Finland, 16–18 October 2012
- Parhizkar, B., Obeidy, W., Chowdhury, S., Mohana Gebril, Z., Ngan, M., & Habibi Lashkari, A. (2012). Android mobile augmented reality application based on different learning theories for primary school children. International Conference On Multimedia Computing And Systems. https://doi.org/10.1109/icmcs.2012.6320114
- Peters, K. (2007). *M–learning: Positioning Educators for a Mobile, Connected Future*, International Review on Research in Open and Distance Learning (IRRODL) 8, no 2, ISSN 1492–3831
- Radosavljevic, S., Radosavljevic, V., & Grgurovic, B. (2018). The potential of implementing augmented reality into vocational higher education through mobile learning. Interactive Learning Environments, 28(4), 404-418

- Radosavljevic, V., Radosavljevic, S., & Jelic, G. (2019). Smart Classroom Environmental Parameters as a Parameter of Adaptive Learning. PEOPLE: International Journal of Social Sciences, 5(2), 680-699
- Sannikov, S., Zhdanov, F., Chebotarev, P., & Rabinovich, P. (2015). Interactive Educational Content Based on Augmented Reality and 3D Visualization. Procedia Computer Science, 66, 720–729. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.11.082
- Santos, M., Yamamoto, G., Taketomi, T., Miyazaki, J., & Kato, H. (2013). Authoring Augmented Reality Learning Experiences as Learning Objects. 2013 IEEE 13th International Conference On Advanced Learning Technologies. https://doi.org/10.1109/icalt.2013.165
- Sırakaya, M., & Sırakaya, D. (2022). *Augmented reality in STEM education: a systematic review*. Interactive Learning Environments, 30:8, 1556-1569, https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020 .1722713.
- Yang, X., Li, J., Guo, X., & Li, X. (2015). Group interactive network and behavioral patterns in online English-to-Chinese cooperative translation activity. The Internet And Higher Education, 25, 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2014.12.003
- Yen, J., Tsai, C., & Wu, M. (2013). Augmented Reality in the Higher Education: Students' Science Concept Learning and Academic Achievement in Astronomy. Procedia – Social And Behavioral Sciences, 103, 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.10.322



Efficiency of Learning Using Augmented Reality Technology

Vitomir Radosavljević¹ D Slavica Radosavljević²

Received: November 5, 2022 Accepted: December 21, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Learning technologies; Augmented Reality; Effective learning

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The intensive development of information technologies has led to the introduction of many innovations in the educational process. Innovations often rely on the use of new technologies in the educational process and aim to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of learning. This paper presents the use of augmented reality in training students to process graphic images. The method of using augmented reality in the training has been presented in the paper, and afterward, the results of the research, which compared student efficiency using written text instructions and student efficiency using augmented reality technology in the training process. The results of the research did not show a significant difference in efficiency. But, it should be taken into account that the students, who were part of the research, encountered this type of training for the first time, so the opportunities that augmented reality provides in the training process needs to be further investigated.

1. INTRODUCTION

The development of fifth-generation mobile networks and information technologies that rely on these networks (artificial intelligence, cloud computing, and IoT), has affected all areas of society. Education, as one of the pillars of any society, is no exception. Mobile learning, LMS platforms, simulations, virtual labs, etc. have changed the education process. The goal of using modern information technologies in education is to impact both the quality and the scope of knowledge adopted by students (Büyükbaykal, 2015). The widespread use of new technologies and social media among the younger population has incited the educational services sector to accept them as an integral part of the learning process (Haleem et al., 2022). A special challenge is posed by the application of immersive technologies (augmented and virtual reality) in education. These technologies have already brought about certain conclusions. The most important conclusion has to do with their importance in skill acquisition in students, as well as in the increase of confidence in the application of those skills (Santos et al., 2014; Radosavljevice et al., 2018; Urlings et al., 2022).

In this paper, the authors will provide a demonstration of the experience of using augmented reality technology in education, as well as the results of a study that was conducted to find out whether students are more time-efficient in mastering learning materials through the usage of augmented reality in training. The paper is organized into several parts. After the introduction, there is an overview of relevant literature in the area of learning and augmented reality technology. Then, there is the overview of the scientific study that cross-examined the efficiency of task fulfillment using augmented reality technology as opposed to learning and work strategy that used text-based instructions. Finally, there are the results of the research with a discussion and a conclusion.



¹ Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

² Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies, Belgrade, Serbia

2. LEARNING AND MODERN TECHNOLOGIES

Learning is comprised of constructive processes in which an individual activates, independently or in a group, elaborates, builds, and organizes knowledge (Seidel & Shavelson, 2007). The definition of electronic learning (e-learning) provided by the United States Distance Learning Association is "the process of mastering knowledge and skills through information and instructions received via different technologies and distance learning methods" (Levels et al., 2019). The application of various technological solutions in the learning process is a means to positively affect the factors and outcomes of learning. The learning process is considered successful if it is efficient and effective. Learning is efficient if students adopt knowledge or master skills through optimal engagement. Efficient learning encompasses learning where the number of activities a student must fulfill in order to learn is minimal. Learning is effective if the knowledge that the student adopts can be applied and tied to previous knowledge to create more complex skill sets (Hoy, 2010). The efficiency and effectiveness of learning must be adjusted to one another. An efficient learning strategy must be effective, and vice versa. A learning strategy that is efficient must realize and satisfy the criteria of effective learning through the steps it takes to realize it. A study (McMahon, 2006) defines 7 criteria of effective learning as follows:

- The scope of learning materials presented to the student must be in accordance with the ability and time the student has;
- The amount of information presented to the student must be appropriate;
- Students must be given clear instructions on the activities expected of them;
- Activities conducted by students that belong to higher-order thinking and learning must be rewarded;
- The teacher should demand students' active participation during the lecture;
- The student must be given options to choose from during the lecture;
- The student must be given feedback on their performance

The choice of learning strategy defines the steps to realize the learning process. Strategies such as learning through reading or underlining are efficient from the perspective of resources and activities taken during learning but are not considered effective. Strategies such as practice testing, which is comprised of taking tests and using flashcards, as well as distributed practice, where students use previously acquired knowledge in several timed sessions, are considered highly effective but are quite demanding in terms of efficiency, and therefore not sufficient (Biwer et al., 2020). The use of contemporary technologies in different learning strategies can contribute to the optimization of learning efficiency and effectiveness (Radosavljevic et al., 2019).

Research has shown that there is a positive effect of the application of modern technologies in teaching. Students readily accept new technologies as a part of the learning process, and they consider them an integral part (Penprase, 2018; Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Radosavljevic et al., 2019). The use of technology in learning has a positive effect on student motivation. The increased motivation results in an increase in the participation of students, which, in turn, increases es the effectiveness of learning (Kennedy & Dunn, 2018; Pechenkina & Aeschliman, 2017). Technological solutions used in the realization of the curriculum most commonly rely on the use of multimedia content, social networks, mobile phones, cloud platforms, MOOC, digital and smart classrooms, and immersive technologies.

The use of technology in education is also a positive ecological factor, as it decreases the amount of paper and other waste (Camilleri & Camilleri, 2016). The importance of introducing

technology into the educational process became especially apparent during the COVID-19 pandemic, when different e-learning platforms enabled the realization of education regardless of the situation, as students could not physically attend lectures (Hoofman & Secord, 2021; Fauzi, 2022).

Augmented reality (AR) technology is defined as the technology which merges real-world information with digitally generated information presented as a part of the real environment (Encyclopedia of Multimedia, 2006). The application of augmented reality technology has a positive impact on the motivation and performance of students during learning, as well as on the interest students have in the learning materials. Due to the way the content is presented, it is believed that augmented reality technology is important in transferring knowledge and skills that are applicable in the real world (Bacca et. al., 2014; Radosavljevic et al., 2018; Lima et al., 2022). There are more and more studies on the application of augmented reality technology in education each year. A study by Chen and Wang (Chen & Wang, 2008) examines the possibilities of tangible augmented reality (TAR), where learning is realized through the merging of digital learning materials and objects in the physical space. One of the conclusions of the study is that students tend to adopt knowledge faster than during traditional lessons. A study (Juan et al., 2016) demonstrates an increase in the efficiency of the learning process through the use of augmented technology in dentistry. Studies (Tzima et al., 2019; Uygur et al., 2018) analyze the role of teachers in augmented reality learning. A study (Radosavljevic et al., 2018) analyzes augmented reality technology in the context of professional vocational education. These studies conclude that augmented reality is still not being used to a greater extent in the education process and that this technology and its potential are still unknown to teachers. All the above-mentioned studies confirm that there is an increase in motivation and learning effectiveness when augmented reality technology is used.

3. RESEARCH AND RESULTS

The study, which tested the efficiency of learning through augmented reality technology was carried out at the ATUSS academy, ICT College in Belgrade, Serbia, in March 2022. Fifty-seven first-year students of undergraduate academic studies at the Communication Technologies study program took part in the study. All students in the study were between 19 and 23 years old and digitally literate (they know how to use mobile phones, e-mail communication, web searches, the Moodle platform for e-learning). The study was carried out during laboratory practical lectures for the course Graphic Software Tools. In these practical lectures, the students learn how to digitally process photographs using raster image processing software.

The students who participated in the study were tasked to follow a laboratory exercise in one of three possible ways. The first group, comprised of 15 students, conducted the exercise following paper-based instructions. The second group, also comprised of 15 students, used paper QR codes to load instructions in an augmented reality application. The third group used digital QR codes displayed on their monitors to load instructions. The goal of the study was to compare the time efficiency using a strategy encompassed textual instructions, as opposed to time efficiency using visual instructions through augmented reality technology.

The study was conducted in several phases. In the preparatory phase, it was necessary to create an augmented reality app that the students would use to carry out the exercise. For this purpose, the software platform Unity (https://unity.com/) was used. This is a cross-platform integrated

development environment used in the process of production of video games, simulations, 2D and 3D modeling, and interactive applications. Aside from this software, Vuforia (https://de-veloper.vuforia.com/), a software development kit for augmented reality applications, was also used. With these platforms, an augmented reality application was developed and used during the realization of laboratory exercises. The hypothesis defined in this phase was that augmented reality technology in the learning process is more efficient than traditional text-based learning. An additional hypothesis was that the most efficient method of using augmented reality was one that encompassed digital as opposed to paper-based QR codes (as shown in Figure 1). Aside from the application development, this phase also included the preparation of instructions for the exercises in a textual form, as well as a questionnaire on the experience using augmented reality technology, which the students were asked to fill out during the study.



Figure 1. Printed and Digital QR Codes



Figure 2. Scanning QR codes and following instructions on mobile phones using the augmented reality application

The realization phase of the study commenced with the division of students into groups. Students were distributed into four time slots based on the number of their student cards. As that number had been assigned to students when they enrolled in the school using a random order, this method can be considered viable for the division into statistically even groups. Each group had a maximum of 15 students, as the room assigned for laboratory exercises contains 15 working stations. Each student carried out the exercise individually, following the instructions given to them in one of the three ways. The first group received the instructions in a textual form printed on paper. The second group received instructions in the form of printed QR codes. Using their phones, on which they had previously installed the augmented reality application for this exercise, these students scanned the codes. Upon scanning, they received an image with graphic instructions for the exercise. The third group received the instructions in digital form, where the QR code for the augmented reality application was integrated into the program for the exercise. Figure 2 presents the way students used the augmented reality application using digital and paper QR codes. Figure 3 presents The display of content on a mobile phone upon scanning the QR code.

In their assigned time slots, the students were given the necessary materials along with the instructions. The time required for the students to carry out the exercise was tracked. The exercise comprised the processing and montage of a photograph defined through precise steps. After finishing the exercise, the students filled out a questionnaire that gathered basic data about the students, while those students who used the augmented reality application also filled out a questionnaire regarding their experience using the application.



Figure 3. The display of content on a mobile phone upon scanning the QR code

The following phase of the study encompassed the processing of the gathered data. The results are presented in Figure 4 and showed that students who were given text-based instructions fulfilled the task in an average of 16.27 minutes (with a standard deviation of 5.96). The students who used the augmented reality application with printed QR codes took, on average, 18.80 minutes (with a standard deviation of 5.03). The students who used the augmented reality application with digital QR codes required, on average, 19.51 minutes (with a standard deviation of 4.40).



Figure 4. Average times required to carry out the exercise (in minutes) by instruction format Source: Own research

The results presented above do not confirm the hypotheses of the study. The efficiency of learning, i.e. of the realization of the laboratory exercise, was lower when using augmented reality technology than when using text-based instructions. The students that carried out the exercises using text-based instructions required the least amount of time. The least efficient were those students that used QR codes. One of the possible explanations for such results lies in the questionnaires that asked about the students' experience using the augmented reality application. For more than 92% of the students that used the application, this was the first time encountering this method of work and learning. The authors believe that having to get acquainted with the new method of learning, i.e. carrying out the exercise had an impact on the results that pointed out a low level of efficiency in learning using an augmented reality application. Despite these results, the general experience using this augmented reality was rated as positive. Figure 5 provides an overview of the results of the study, which point to the advantages of using augmented reality in learning. The application of augmented reality provided the students with clear instructions for carrying out the exercise; they found the concept of augmented reality understandable, and its application in the learning process entertaining, which positively affected their motivation to learn.



Figure 5. The advantages of the application of augmented reality in learning based on the questionnaire

Source: Own research



Figure 6. Image shaking with printed and digital QR code scanning Source: Own research

The question regarding the technical aspect of the realization of augmented reality, in terms of image quality and QR codes on the screen, pointed to an issue with scanning depending on the quality of the screen. As the quality of some monitors was not at an appropriate level, there was mild image shaking and distortion, and those students who scanned their QR codes on these

monitors experienced issues. The augmented reality application had trouble recognizing the QR codes, and the content would not show up on students' mobile devices, or it would occasionally disappear. The students that had printed QR codes experienced fewer scanning issues, and their answers to the question regarding image display in the application correlated to the perceived ease of use (Figures 6 and 7). In addition, the focusing of the mobile device camera on the digital QR codes was a slower process than in the case of scanned QR codes.



Figure 7. Ease of use of augmented reality with printed and digital QR codes Source: Own research

4. CONCLUSION

Augmented reality technology is one of the most recent information technologies. The paper provides insight into a study that had the goal of comparing the efficiency of the learning process using augmented reality technology as opposed to a traditional learning strategy that uses printed text. The starting hypothesis that augmented reality would be more effective in the learning process was not confirmed in this study. Nevertheless, this conclusion should be taken with reservation and further examined. As most participants experienced the augmented reality learning strategy for the first time in this study, some time was necessary for them to get acquainted with this strategy during the exercise. This impacted the time necessary to carry out the task and, by extension, the students' efficiency. It has also been established that there were issues with the scanning of digital QR codes and that those QR codes were causing issues with content display in the augmented reality application. If the content was not being displayed on a high-quality monitor, there were issues with scanning the digital QR code, and the image displayed in the application was shaky. The scanning of digital QR codes was also slower as compared to printed codes, as mobile devices were experiencing issues focusing the camera on the monitor.

The positive results of the study are tied to the conclusions regarding the application of augmented reality in the learning process. It is advised that printed QR codes be used when implementing augmented reality into the learning process, as they were shown to be more reliable than digital ones. The application of augmented reality allowed for a clear transfer of knowledge and instructions for the laboratory exercises, and augmented reality was characterized as easy to use, as well as entertaining, which had a positive impact on the students' motivation to work and learn. Regardless of the hypothesis not being confirmed, this study provided results that may be useful for further research and implementation of augmented reality technology, not only in educational information systems but in other information systems as well.

References

- Bacca, J., Baldiris, S., Fabregat, R., Graf, S., & Kinshuk. (2014). Augmented Reality Trends in Education: A Systematic Review of Research and Applications. Educational Technology & Society, 17 (4), 133–149.
- Biwer, F., Egbrink, M., Aalten, P., & de Bruin, A. (2020). Fostering effective learning strategies in higher education—A mixed-methods study. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 9(2), pp. 186-203.
- Büyükbaykal, C. (2015). Communication Technologies and Education in the Information Age. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 174, pp. 636-640.
- Camilleri, M., & Camilleri, A. (2016). Digital Learning Resources and Ubiquitous Technologies in Education. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 22(1), pp. 65-82.
- Chen, R., & Wang, X. (2008). An empirical study on tangible augmented reality learning space for design skill transfer. Tsinghua Science and Technology, 13(S1), pp. 13-18.
- Dunn, T., & Kennedy, M. (2019). Technology Enhanced Learning in higher education; motivations, engagement and academic achievement. *Computers & amp; Education*, 137, pp. 104-113.
- Encyclopedia of Multimedia. (2006). Augmented Reality. pp. 29-31, ISBN:978-0-387-24395-5
- Fauzi, M. (2022). E-learning in higher education institutions during COVID-19 pandemic: current and future trends through bibliometric analysis. *Heliyon*, 8(5), p.e09433.
- Haleem, A., Javaid, M., Qadri, M., and Suman, R. (2022). Understanding the role of digital technologies in education: A review. *Sustainable Operations and Computers*, 3, pp. 275-285.
- Hoofman, J., & Secord, E., (2021). The Effect of COVID-19 on Education. *Pediatric Clinics of* North America, 68(5), pp. 1071-1079.
- Hoy, A. (2010). Educational psychology. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Merrill., ISBN: 978-0-13-477432-9
- Juan, M., Alexandrescu, L., Folguera, F., & García-García, I., (2016). A Mobile Augmented Reality system for the learning of dental morphology. Digital Education Review
- Kennedy, M., & Dunn, T. J. (2018). Improving the use of technology enhanced learning environments in higher education in the UK: A qualitative visualization of students' views. Contemporary Educational Technology, 9(1), 76-89.
- Levels, M. (DLLP), D., Opportunities, J., Chapter, J., Benefits, C., & Members, C. et al. (2019). USDLA – United States Distance Learning Association. Retrieved 5th August 2019, from https://usdla.org/
- Lima, C., Walton, S. & Owen, T. (2022). A critical outlook at augmented reality and its adoption in education. *Computers and Education Open*, Vol. 3, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeo.2022.100103.
- McMahon, T. (2006). Teaching for more effective learning: Seven maxims for practice. *Radiog-raphy*, 12(1), pp. 34-44.
- Pechenkina, E., & Aeschliman, C. (2017). What Do Students Want? Making Sense of Student Preferences in Technology-enhanced Learning. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 8(1).
- Penprase, B. E. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and higher education. Higher education in the era of the fourth industrial revolution, 10, 978-981.
- Radosavljevic, S., Radosavljevic, V., & Grgurovic, B. (2018). The potential of implementing augmented reality into vocational higher education through mobile learning. Interactive Learning Environments, 28(4), pp. 404-418.
- Radosavljevic, V., Radosavljevic, S., & Jelic, G. (2019). Ambient intelligence-based smart classroom model. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 30(2), pp. 307-321.
- Santos, M., Chen, A., Taketomi, T., Yamamoto, G., Miyazaki, J., & Kato, H. (2014). Augmented Reality Learning Experiences: Survey of Prototype Design and Evaluation. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 7(1), pp. 38-56.
- Seidel, T., & Shavelson, R. (2007). Teaching Effectiveness Research in the Past Decade: The Role of Theory and Research Design in Disentangling Meta-Analysis Results. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(4), pp. 454-499.
- Tzima, S., Styliaras, G., & Bassounas, A., (2019). Augmented Reality Applications in Education: Teachers Point of View. Education Sciences, 9(2), p. 99.
- Urlings, J., Sezer, S., ter Laan, M., Bartels, R., Maal, T., Boogaarts, J., & Henssen, D., (2022). The role and effectiveness of augmented reality in patient education: A systematic review of the literature. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 105(7), pp. 1917-1927.
- Uygur, M., Yanpar, T., & Akay, C. (2018). Analyzing the Views of Pre-Service Teachers on the Use of Augmented Reality Applications in Education. European Journal of Educational Research, 7(4), pp. 849-860.



Information Security – SOC Potentialities

Pedro Vieira¹ D Leonilde Reis² D

Received: November 15, 2022 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Information; Information security; Cybersecurity; Security Operations Center; Security information; Event management

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Nowadays, information is an essential resource and a valuable asset. Like any other asset, information is potentially vulnerable and subject to various threats, whether deliberate or accidental. The methodology adopted for the study was exploratory and descriptive, focusing on document analysis of information in the field of the theme. The paper aims to focus on the operationalisation and management of the Security Operations Center (SOC), to foster and optimise the definition of policies and instruments for data loss prevention and recovery, as well as to carry out training actions for employees. The main results emphasise that cybersecurity involves a set of tools, policies, guides, risk management approaches, training actions, good practices and technologies that can be used to protect the assets of organisations and users in cyberspace, to preserve the guarantee the so-called information security triad.

1. INTRODUCTION

The defence of the security perimeter of organisations is considered and the way they approach cybersecurity internally has gained increasing importance with changes in work regimes caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the existence and perception of increasing volumes of cyberattacks, some of them triggered against large companies and public entities (Vieira, 2022). In this sense, it is considered urgent to outline strategies for access control and network and infrastructure protection. It is also considered that intrusion tests, as well as vulnerability and threat management, may contribute to optimising the organisation's security levels.

GARTNER report explains that Cyber Risk Management (ISO/IEC 27005, 2018) involves the design and deploy a cyber-risk management program aligned with business needs by using fit-for-purpose methodologies, technology choices and organisational structures (Gartner, 2022). Also to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), Risk Management is the on-going process of assessing the risk to IT resources and information, as part of a risk-based approach used to determine adequate security for a system, by analyzing the threats and vulner-abilities and selecting appropriate cost-effective controls to achieve and maintain an acceptable level of risk (NIST, 2022).

2. SECURITY OPERATIONS CENTER

In today's increasingly connected world, where organisations are constantly collecting and storing more data than ever before, having a robust and effective Security Operation Center (SOC) cannot be underestimated. With the right tools and personnel in place, the SOC can help to protect an organisation's most valuable assets and ensure that its data and systems are safe from harm.



¹ Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

² Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

It should be noted that the SOC, as a service essentially aimed at risk management, includes the skills underlying the triad people, processes, and technologies responsible for monitoring, analysing and maintaining an organisation's information security, providing the necessary basis for it to protect its most sensitive assets, detecting and responding more quickly to threats.

The SOC is a centralized facility that serves as an intelligence hub for the organisation, gathering data in real-time from across the organisation's networks and other digital assets and using intelligent automation to identify, prioritize and respond to potential cybersecurity threats. When a cyberattack occurs, the SOC acts as the digital front line, responding to the security incident with force while also minimizing the impact on business operations.

It is considered that in an organisational context, SOC's main activities and responsibilities include (Rotich, 2022):

- Asset inventorying to allow better identification of all assets that should be protected (e.g. servers, databases, computing devices, endpoints, etc.) and all tools that are used to protect these assets, such as firewalls or antivirus software;
- Continuous monitoring of the network to detect any nonconformities and to provide a complete overview of the activity. A SOC monitors 24/7/365 the entire IT infrastructure looking for suspicious events;
- Searching proactively for suspicious behaviour and tests and assessing network security to detect advanced threats and identify areas of vulnerability or insufficiently protected assets. The SOC team performs vulnerability assessments and penetration tests that simulate specific attacks. Based on the results of these tests, the team adopts best practices, adjusts software and security policies and draws up better incident response plans;
- Constant monitoring of all used security resources, such as firewalls, IPs, antivirus, anti-DDoS and others to cross data about events, providing a Security Information and Event Management (SIEM) solution that detects almost instantly intrusion attempts;
- Prevention techniques to deter and deflect a range of known and unknown risks;
- Threat intelligence capabilities to assess the source and impact of cybersecurity incidents and identify areas of vulnerability or insufficiently protected assets;
- Development of the organization's incident response plan, establishing roles, tasks, activities and responsibilities in the event of an incident and defining the metrics by which the degree of success of the response will be evaluated. The SOC may also collaborate in designing backup procedures to ensure business continuity if a data breach event occurs;
- Using a combination of automated technologies and human intervention, the SOC provides a decisive response to address a security incident as quickly as possible. These kinds of actions often include an investigation to determine the causes of the vulnerabilities that allowed the hackers to access the systems, the disconnection of the network of compromised terminals, the pause or interruption of compromised processes, the redirection of network traffic, the application of antivirus software, the delete of infected files or the disable of passwords;
- Reporting to ensure all incidents and threats are fed into the data repository, making it more precise and responsive in the future. Reporting also is used, after an incident, the SOC ensures that incident data is kept ensuring evidence and future auditing and that customers, regulators, users, law enforcement, and other related entities are notified as required by applicable regulations;
- Developing compliance mechanisms to ensure reliability and compliance with internal and external rules and regulations. A SOC must ensure that all security systems, tools and

processes are compliant with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and other data privacy regulations. After an incident occurs, the SOC must be in a position to ensure that law enforcement, regulators, users, clients and other parties will be notified under the law and regulations and that the necessary data from the incident is retained for evidence and future audit processes.



Figure 1 shows a representation of the main operations developed by a SOC.

Figure 1. Security Operations Center Source: Vieira, 2022 adapted from Softwall

As shown in Figure 1, a SOC brings together skilled people, processes, and technologies to continuously carry out different types of activities for the identification, monitoring, prevention, detection, treatment, response, and mitigation of cyber incidents of diverse types and origins.

A SOC team should include employees who have a professional skill set in information security and cybersecurity. The number of team members depends on the type of business, but usually, a SOC team includes security analysts, malware analysts, and cryptography and forensic specialists.

There are several reasons and benefits to the existence of a SOC in an organisation (Rotich, 2022):

- 1. **Centralized command:** A SOC is a unified command centre that aggregates data across the organisation's IT infrastructure, spanning network devices, computers, and cloud applications. SOCs can help organisations to adopt a comprehensive approach to managing and monitoring cybersecurity risks and to ensure that all major security incidents, such as data breaches, are handled effectively.
- 2. Log management and analysis: The cybersecurity teams must keep networks safe from cyberattacks. Log management and analysis is a fundamental function of the SOC as it helps to identify trends and anomalies that could indicate a security breach, allowing it to take appropriate steps to mitigate them. By focusing the analysis and management of log data across the entire network, the SOC team looks at logs and establishes normal or base-line activity and uncovers anomalies that might provide hints about possible intrusions as well as examining how quickly systems respond when something does go wrong. Many

hackers know that organisations often fail in analysing log data, which can allow viruses and malware to run and be undetected by victims of the attacks for some time.

- 3. **Compliance requirements:** A SOC helps organisations meet and comply with compliance with industry, national and global privacy regulations by providing an audit trail of all activities related to the security of data and systems. Storage retention policies are also managed by the SOC, ensuring that relevant logs and other data are kept appropriately based on regulatory or business requirements, strengthening the organisation's compliance.
- 4. **Minimize costs:** While many organisations think that implementing a SOC comes at a very high cost, the costs associated with a data breach including reputational damages, data theft, corrupted data, or lost customers is much greater. A SOC also helps mitigate the financial consequences of a cyberattack, as SOCs reduce dwell time, resulting in reduced financial costs when an attack happens. Additionally, partnering with a SOC reduces the significant financial costs of hiring and retaining an in-house team of cybersecurity experts and managing the cybersecurity tools needed to power a SOC.
- 5. **Threat prevention:** A SOC monitors the organisation's entire environment and configures rules and actions in a preventive way so that threats, virtual attacks and security incidents are dealt with or blocked, preventing them from spreading and protecting critical business data from being compromised or stolen. In addition, a SOC, by providing details of suspicious activity occurring on the network, is also improving network visibility. The SOC also can isolate and contain the threat until it can be fixed or removed. Today's modern SOC can isolate and contain the threat until the remedy is applied.
- 6. **Communication and collaboration:** The close collaboration between all SOC team members allows organisations to enact their cybersecurity practices much more efficiently. For example, many SOCs are operating 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, allowing for the real-time detection of incidents and continuous monitoring to provide immediate responses.
- 7. **Faster and effective response:** SOC provides a centralized, complete and real-time view of the performance of the entire infrastructure from a security perspective, detecting and mitigating threats in real time to detect, identify, prevent and resolve problems before they can cause many problems. SOC reduces dwell time, which is the amount of time an attacker is not detected on the network after initial access. Each minute that an attacker remains within the network, the greater the potential for damage. SOCs reduce dwell time from months to minutes, reducing the financial impact when an intrusion occurs.
- 8. **Continuous protection:** Continuous monitoring is vital to detecting the earliest indications of abnormal behaviour. Adversaries don't work 9-5, nor do they adhere to a traditional Monday-Friday work week. Businesses are under assault 24/7. SOC doesn't stop when all the organisation's employees are asleep, but rather proactively monitors for threat indicators, even throughout holidays and weekends. So, whether in-house, hired, or virtual, SOC team members are on hand to check for potential vulnerabilities and to detect attacks 24 hours a day.
- 9. **Remote worker protection:** With the increase in employees working remotely from home due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a new set of risks and threats has emerged, leading to the need to put in place robust monitoring controls to counteract these threats. By providing remote cover for these home workers, a SOC helps to reduce eventual cyber risks.
- 10. **Forensic investigation facilitation:** SOC is responsible for performing forensic investigation during and after an attack to help understand what happened, where it happened, to what systems and machines, and any digital footprint left by intruders, enabling analysts to investigate security incidents more quickly and comprehensively.

These benefits of a SOC are condensed in Figure 2 in five major points.



Figure 2. Benefits of a SOC **Source: Vieira**, 2022 adapted from Shieldbyte Infosec

As shown in figure 2, a SOC helps to keep sensitive data and systems safe and makes it easier to respond quickly and effectively to any incidents, so by deploying a SOC, organisations can take a proactive approach to cybersecurity instead of waiting for an attack to happen.

3. SECURITY INFORMATION AND EVENT MANAGEMENT

Keeping criminals off networks and protecting data is the essential job of a SOC team. To do so, a SOC team needs a SIEM with the appropriate tools to be able to detect and contain threats, so, SIEM provides organisations with visibility into the activity on their networks so they can detect early and respond quickly to potential cyberattacks and meet compliance requirements.

SIEM is the tool typically used to monitor IT security events, which is a system that aggregates data from various sources, normalizes it, enriches it and sends it to a centralized management console, later used by the SOC team. SIEM is a set of tools and services that combine Security Information Management (SIM), which focuses on collecting and managing logs and other security data, and Security Event Management (SEM), which involves real-time analysis and reporting. SIEM correlates and aggregates event data generated by applications, security devices, data centres, cloud resources and other systems in an organisation's IT ecosystem.

According to Mezmo (2022), "from a user perspective, SIEM is a centralised security information dashboard used to display alerts and suspicious network activity". So, SIEM tools are used within a SOC and use predetermined rules to help security teams analyse network traffic and events, define threats and generate alerts. A SIEM solution helps to demonstrate a pattern of anomalous behaviour by flagging it as a real concern for security analysts to investigate. For example, antivirus software may fail in detecting a recent and as yet unknown type of malware, but a SIEM system, by analysing the bandwidth that machines are using, can generate an event warning if one of them is consuming more resources than it should and alert SOC analysts to look further into the problem.

In the last decade, SIEM technology has evolved to make threat detection and incident response faster and smarter with Artificial Intelligence (AI). Effectively, some SIEM platforms integrate

AI that automates processes and 'learns' from data to improve the detection of suspicious activity. Automatically, these platforms network traffic, prevent access pre-emptively and generate alerts to security analysts to investigate the event even further. In fact, according to Mezmo (2022), "too many false positives from a SIEM create a phenomenon called analyst fatigue or analyst burnout and leaves analysts apathetic to alerts." For this reason, a SIEM solution helps to demonstrate a pattern of anomalous behaviour, flagging it as a real concern for security analysts to investigate and quickly determine the correct steps and procedures that should be followed.

In conclusion, a SIEM's operation allies the log analysis with a comprehensive network security strategy by using a combination of advanced technologies and human resources to detect, contain, respond and remediate a variety of cyber threats. Through mechanisms for monitoring the network and user behaviour, limiting access attempts, monitoring and responding to incidents, SIEM performs log management, automation and correlation of events and uses human experts to respond to potential cyberattacks and mitigate and remediate their consequences.

4. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Ensuring security levels in an organisational context according to the outlined strategies is an increasing challenge. In this sense, it is considered urgent to explore in detail the circumstances surrounding the definition of alerts through SIEM tools. It is also considered that it will be urgent to establish a set of security metrics to improve the daily operations of the SOC, by strengthening the SIEM system used to monitor and alert security events, improving its alarming capabilities.

5. CONCLUSION

It is advocated that to ensure the security of application systems and infrastructures, the SOC permanently monitors the network and security resources used, detects threats, identifies vulnerabilities and reacts to incidents. Good information security practices should also be a major concern for organisations (ISO/IEC 27002:2022, 2022). On the other hand, once the SOC is certified, it carries out security audits within the scope of ISO 27001:2018 Standard and carries out intrusion exercises for the organisation's network and systems to analyse attack vectors and validate whether there is the monitoring of these vectors, as well as verifying that the SOC's processes are properly implemented to react based on alerts.

It is thus concluded that the SOC is not "just" a blocker but is essentially a service that aims at risk management, demonstrating the existing risk, in the sense of placing the control systems of the most technologically intelligent equipment available in the search for security solutions that can do correlation and alerts in real-time.

Coordinating and unifying an organization's security tools, as well as security incident response and processes, was one of the key benefits of operating or outsourcing a SOC. This centralization usually allows for more timely and rapid detection of threats and a more agile, effective and efficient response. In addition, the existence of a SOC contributes to strengthening the organization's degree of compliance with applicable privacy regulations.

In the current context, teams responsible for ensuring cybersecurity need to monitor many devices, users, applications and, consequently, cybersecurity events related to these elements. The most used platform to monitor cybersecurity events is the so-called SIEM, which is a system that aggregates all the security information from different sources, standardizing it, enriching it and sending it to a centralized management console. A SIEM, therefore, combines SIM security information management, which focuses on collecting and managing logs and other security data, and SEM which involves real-time analysis and reporting.

References

- Gartner. (2022). Why Cyber Security Starts with ITAM Data IT Discovery: A Critical First Step in IT Security. https://content.lansweeper.com/Operational-IT-Security
- ISO/IEC 27001:2018. (2018). Information security management systems Requirements, 2018. www.iso.org/isoiec-27001-information-security.html
- ISO/IEC 27002:2022. (2022). Information security, cybersecurity and privacy protection Information security controls. https://www.iso.org/standard/75652.html
- ISO/IEC 27005:2018. (2018). Information technology Security techniques Information security risk management. https://www.iso.org/standard/75281.html
- Mezmo. (2022). What is the difference between-SIEM and-SOC. https://www.mezmo.com/ learn-observability/what-is-the-difference-between-siem-and-soc
- NIST. (2022). *Information Technology- Cybersecurity*. National Institute of Standards and Technology: https://www.nist.gov/cybersecurity
- Rotich, A. (2022). Security Operation Center (SOC). https://medium.com/@thefoursec/ security-operation-center-soc-22ac281c6eaa
- Shieldbyte Infosec. (2022). SOC1, SOC2 & SOC3 Compliance.
- https://shieldbyteinfosec.com/SOC1-SOC2-SOC3-compliance.php
- Softwall. (2022). SOC. Security Operations Center.

https://www.softwall.com.br/solucoes/soc-security-operations-center/

Vieira, P. (2022). Security & IT Risk. Bachelor's degree internship report, Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal.



Cybersecurity – Security Operations Center

Pedro Falé¹ Leonilde Reis² Rui Almeida³

Received: November 6, 2022 Accepted: January 12, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Cybersecurity; SOC; Cybersecurity threats; Incident response; Incident control

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

1. INTRODUCTION

Abstract: Currently, most organizations are dependent on Information and Communication Technologies, in the sense of accomplishing their underlying business activities. In this scope, cybersecurity is considered the domain that has the strength to protect sensitive information, be it at the individual level or in an organizational context. The objective of this paper is to introduce the concept, relevance, and functions of a Security Operations Centre. The methodology underlying the study was based on the use of the MI-TRE Adversarial Tactics, Techniques and Common Knowledge framework as a matrix of tactics and techniques based on real scenario observations. The main results emphasize the importance of incorporating the Security Operations Center as a barrier against cybersecurity threats. Security Operations Center brings additional value to the organizational context, through people, processes and technologies while also using several frameworks to improve work management, incident response and incident control.

Information security is the process that protects information and assets (Falé, 2022). It is considered that (Russo & Reis, 2020) the analysis of risks and vulnerabilities are fundamental in an organizational context as well as the procedures underlying business continuity.

In this regard, the three pillars of cybersecurity with a first known reference dates back to 1977, to a paper entitled Audit and evaluation of computer security by the U.S. Department of Commerce. This model has no author, but even now it focuses (Microsoft, 2022) on Confidentiality - Keeping data secret and ensuring that only authorized people can access your files and accounts; Integrity - Ensuring that information remains intact without data being inserted, modified, or deleted without proper permission; Access/Availability - Ensuring access to information and systems when it is needed.

However, the three pillars previously mentioned characterize only the minimum, the elementary ones; The pillar of Authenticity, linked to basic access mechanisms such as logins, passwords, and tokens, and the pillar of Irretrievability, linked to the authorship of the information provided using digital certificates and digital signatures, should also be included.

SOC potentiates the cybersecurity posture of an organization. It serves as a barrier against cyberattacks and therefore ensures the proper functioning of an organization. SOC must be aligned with the use of ISO/IEC27002:2013, which incorporates a set of good practices and controls that help in information security management (ISO/IEC 27002:2013, 2013). It uses the MI-TRE ATT&CK framework as a matrix of tactics and techniques based on real scenario observations and NIST as an incident response framework.



¹ Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

² Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

³ Cybersafe Lda, Alfragide-Portugal

In this sequence of concerns regarding the current good practices emanating from international standards, it is considered that the analysis of the threats and vulnerabilities underlying each organization is of particular interest. Thus, identity theft, extortion, and data loss, among others, should be covered. In this sense, outlining a cybersecurity strategy should be a justified concern by organizations to define the layers of defense corresponding to the various levels necessary for the functioning of the organization. The use of the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) reference framework for the different phases associated with a Cybersecurity Incident Response Cycle can be added value given the specificity of the issue.

According to the report prepared by the National Center for Cybersecurity (CNCS, 2022), which describes that "The dominant cyber threats in Portugal during 2021 were phishing/smishing/ vishing, ransomware, online fraud/burglary and account compromise". Phishing/smishing (40% of incidents), social engineering (14%) and malware distribution (13%) were the types of incidents most recorded by CERT.PT in 2021. Thus, analysis, monitoring, and control are considered urgent because of the possible implications in the event of an incident.

2. SECURITY OPERATION CENTER

The Security Operation Center (SOC) is an organizational unit. According to Splunk (2022), the SOC promotes the existence of a centralized function within an organization, involving people, processes, and technology to perform continuous monitoring and improve the organizational posture of security. It aims to predict, detect, analyze, and respond to cybersecurity incidents. That is, the SOC not only identifies threats, but it must also analyze, investigate, respond, report vulnerabilities and plan how to prevent such occurrences from happening again in the future.

The SOC responds to cybersecurity incidents in real-time and in duality seeks to improve the cybersecurity posture of the organization. As a function that focuses on preventing and mitigating cybersecurity risks, the sectors in which it operates are homogeneous. It can play a role in financial markets, industry, government, energy, etc. Most SOCs, adopt a hierarchical approach to incident management, where analysts and engineers are categorized based on experience and skills.

In general, the SOC response to an incident is divided into lines. It has a SOC Manager (L4), Engineers, and incident responders such as level one, level two, and level three SOC analysts (L1, L2, L3). The SOC reports to the CISO, and the CISO to the CIO or CEO. Figure 1 presents the general flow of an incident response, delimited by each analyst level.

So, figure 1 shows a general workflow for responding to a cybersecurity incident, a function performed by the SOC. As the figure indicates, the tasks of the SOC are subdivided by lines, its purpose being to escalate incidents according to the specificity and skills required for its resolution. This workflow is intended to be general and can be adapted to the reality of each organization.

The L1 analyst starts in the triage phase, identifying the incident. If the incident has the profile of an existing playbook, the L1 analyst will proceed to resolve it. If the existence of the playbook is not confirmed, the L1 should escalate the incident to the L2. L2 core functions revolve around investigation, more robust threat and vulnerability knowledge, incident mitigation/containment, and finally documentation, creating playbooks and runbooks. L2 should escalate to L3 when deep, complex analysis is required, determining the origin of threats, whether they pose a threat to the organization and how to stop them. This activity is called Threat Hunting.



Figure 1. SOC incident response workflow Source: Falé, 2022.

The SOC engineer has the responsibility of designing managing and maintaining the SOC infrastructure and network. They must work closely with the SOC manager whose function is to manage the day-to-day operations of the SOC team, and the SOC analyst to ensure everything works as intended.

The resolution of the various incidents is embodied in tickets. Tickets contain fields that can be adjusted to classify and categorize them, before their final resolved status. This flexibility allows tickets to be searched and filtered by each specific field. The status of the ticket varies depending on its resolution phase. Figure 2 is designed to show the different states of a ticket.



Figure 2. SOC ticket status workflow Source: Falé, 2022.

We highlight the importance of the ticket management presented in Figure 2 given the criticality of the information handled, and given the specificity of each resolution phase. Figure 2 intends to establish a general workflow of a ticket state. The different ticket core phases derive from two main states: false positive or incident. These two states originate after the ticket starts in the analysis state. The end point of the ticket goes through the internal or external notification state and the resolved state. The workflow also has great flexibility that allows the reiteration of previous phases.

It is considered that a cybersecurity strategy must have layers of defense corresponding to the various levels required for the operation and specificity of the organization. As such, the SOC provides added value to an organization by acting as an external and internal barrier, an extra all-around layer of protection, following the zero-trust policy. Continuous monitoring ensures that threats are detected and resolved in real-time, more efficiently protecting the business, and minimizing the costs and losses of a data breach. Any large enterprise subject to compliance with privacy regulations should consider having a SOC.

From the customer's point of view, the SOC can be not only a protection tool but also an analysis and support tool to define strategies. The SOC through its research and documentation provides visibility to the trends of cyber-attacks and vulnerabilities in systems. Therefore, it contributes to the overall observability of the organization, allowing leadership to make informed decisions, considering cybersecurity. Currently more than ever in organizations, cybersecurity has a guaranteed place in the strategic decision-making of companies/organizations. The cybersecurity strategy must always be aligned with the business strategy and consequently the SOC also.

3. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

It is considered that in the current context, the SOC analyst must keep up to date with the latest trends, news and adversaries' tactics, techniques and procedures. One of the critical success factors of providing a good SOC service is emphasizing the added value in your team, the ability to adapt, and respond with regards to trend analysis, the latest developments and cybersecurity threats to the specificity of the business.

The SOC can add value in terms of monitoring and responding to a diverse set of cybersecurity incidents. We emphasize the importance of the existence of a continuous improvement perspective, to optimize the SOC, either by updating detection and prevention rules, establishing procedures and protocols, or adjusting measures and expectations with customers.

4. CONCLUSION

The area of cybersecurity is in an emerging position, with exponential growth (Cisco, 2022). This is not surprising, considering that the transition to digital, requires this information to be kept secure. Increasingly, organizations are taking the cost related to cybersecurity as essential. According to Morgan (2021) the "U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics projects" identifies that the information security analyst position will be the 10th fastest growing occupation in employment growth, with a growth percentage of 31%, with the average growth rate of all occupations being 4%. In the cybersecurity field, over the past 8 years, the number of unfilled job openings has grown by 350%.

According to (IBM, 2022), and in summary form, the countermeasures must ensure the following topics: Critical infrastructure security - Protection of systems, networks and other assets; Network security - Cable and Wi-Fi; application security - Use of data, authentication, permissions and other; Cloud security - confidential computing, encryption of data stored, in transfer and during processing; Information security - Data protection measures and compliance with standards and regulations such as RGPD; User education - Awareness and training of the organization's employees in order to strengthen end-point security; Continuity planning and disaster recovery - Tools and procedures for response and unplanned events; Storage security - Encryption, isolated data copies; Mobile security - Security of apps, mail, etc.

In Portugal, it is possible to identify that partnerships and cooperation between entities on the subject of cybersecurity have recently corroborated and strengthened the national space. However, with the ending of the National Strategic Plan for Cyberspace Security (ENSC) in 2023 and given the recent developments such as the pandemic, telework and division between East and West, the ENSC should be strengthened in its greater esteem post-2023.

Another relevant problem in this context is to link this set of concerns to the domains of sustainability given the context of innovation often underlying the issue under study (Reis, et al., 2021).

SOC is a centralized function inside of an organization, involving people, processes, and technology to continuously and better monitor the organizational security posture. It aims to prevent, detect, analyze, and respond to cybersecurity incidents. We also highlight the importance of all cybersecurity solutions. These solutions are necessary for the protection of information, which in turn protects the organization altogether, meaning its people, clients, processes, products and services.

References

Cisco (2022). What Is Cybersecurity?

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/security/what-is-cybersecurity.html

- CNCS (2022). *CERT.PT: Centro Nacional de Cibersegurança Portugal*. CERT.PT: https://www.cncs.gov.pt/pt/certpt/
- Falé, P. (2022). *Cybersecurity Security Operations Center*. Relatório de estágio de licenciatura, Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal.
- IBM (2022). What is cybersecurity? https://www.ibm.com/topics/cybersecurity
- ISO/IEC 27002:2013 (2013). Information Technology Security techniques Code of practice for information security controls.
- Microsoft. (2022). *O que é a cibersegurança?* https://support.microsoft.com/pt-pt/topic/o-que-%C3%A9-a-ciberseguran%C3%A7a-8b6e-fd59-41ff-4743-87c8-0850a352a390
- Morgan, S. (2021). Cybersecurity Jobs Report: 3.5 Million Openings In 2025 https://cybersecurityventures.com/jobs/
- Reis, L., Cagica Carvalho, L., Silveira, C., Marques, A., & Russo, N. (2021). *Inovação e Sustent-abilidade em TIC*. Silabo.
- Russo, N., & Reis, L. (2020). Certificação de Programas de Faturação Guia para a Continuidade de Negócio. FCA.
- Splunk. (2022). *What Is a Security Operations Center (SOC)?* https://www.splunk.com/en_us/data-insider/what-is-a-security-operations-center.html



An Approach to Improving Network Security Using Log Analysis

Marija Zajeganović¹ Milan Pavlović² Danica Mamula Tartalja³ Silva Kostić⁴

Keywords: Log messages; Troubleshooting; Malicious activities.

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: January 31, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: Troubleshooting is the process of detecting, identifying and resolving problems within a computer network by means of specific methods, tools and operations. Troubleshooting implies following a set of procedures or steps that conform to the security standards and policies of a company. Diagnosing the source of a problem can be done by tools for system monitoring, recording log messages, manual testing of device configuration, as well as by tools for device operation analysis. The procedure for using log messages to resolve both common problems and those caused by attacks is explained in this paper. Furthermore, this paper describes the way security threat management systems use the contents of log messages to analyze hardware problems and malicious activities.

1. INTRODUCTION

It is almost impossible to imagine any segment of our lives without computer networks. There are different realizations of a properly designed and configured computer network. Generally, all networks can be defined by their hardware, software and network protocols which enable both proper communication in a computer network and the use of numerous applications. Since the appearance of the first computer networks, the way of communication and the functioning of the networks themselves have been changed and adapted several times to current trends, i.e. demands and standards of large corporations. In the beginning, there were several manufacturers of hardware equipment for computer networks and each of them developed its standards and protocols for communication. Over time, all components of computer networks, protocols and hardware have been significantly improved. Today, there is a large number of new network devices, routers and switches of newer generations, firewall devices, WiFi routers, etc. (Panek, 2020)

Once a computer network is set up, there are numerous challenges and issues that IT staff can encounter. With the realization of modern complex computer networks, the risk of network problems increases, either as a result of bad connectors and/or damaged cables at the physical level, wrong device configuration or as a result of threats and attacks on the computer network (Simpson et al., 2011).

⁴ The Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Technologies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, 11000, Republic of Serbia



¹ The Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Technologies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, 11000, Republic of Serbia

² The Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Technologies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, 11000, Republic of Serbia

³ The Academy of Technical and Art Applied Studies Belgrade, Department School of Information and Communication Technologies, Zdravka Čelara 16, Belgrade, 11000, Republic of Serbia

Challenges and problems in a computer network can be divided into those that occur due to various situations that do not depend on people:

- a. Power cut unplanned works, power supply failure, a blown fuse;
- b. Natural disasters fires and earthquakes;
- c. Device overload too high level of received voltage;
- d. Component failure hardware components with a manufacturing defect.

On the other hand, computer network problems can be caused by human error:

- a. Configuration errors misconfiguration, wrong IP address, deleted configurations;
- b. Targeted attacks and network failures Zero-day, viruses and trojans, phishing, DDoS;
- c. Poor planning and improper project implementation poor assessment of requirements and inadequate analysis of the necessary resources for flawless network operation.

The consequences can be almost imperceptible, with minimal packet loss, but in some cases, the mere functioning of a computer network can be affected. In order to detect errors or in the network as well as potential attacks, it is necessary to continuously analyze network traffic by observing the content of log messages (Ranjbar, 2015). Quick and accurate detection of problems implies taking adequate countermeasures to eliminate them. The main steps in the problem solving procedure will be explained in this paper.

2. COMPUTER NETWORK TROUBLESHOOTING PROCEDURE

Troubleshooting is a process of solving problems. When IT staff troubleshoot problems, they use specific methods and operations to detect the cause of a problem and eliminate it. Troubleshooting consists of a series of steps and procedures in accordance with the standards and policies of a company or an organization (Ranjbar, 2015). It includes certain tools for system monitoring, log messages, testing of devices and system and analyzing. There are several steps in a troubleshooting process, as shown in Figure 1:

- 1. First, it is necessary to diagnose a problem after the monitoring system notifies a problem on specific devices or in the application;
- 2. Then, relevant information about the problem should be gathered. It is important to detect which device is affected, if there are one or more affected devices, when the problem occurred, if the problem occurred for the first time, etc.;
- 3. After that, the cause of the problem should be identified and a plan to solve the problem defined;
- 4. Next, solutions should be implemented and processes repeated and changed if necessary;
- 5. Finally, the entire troubleshooting process should be documented.

The entire communication between two devices is realized thanks to a large number of protocols that are defined within the layers of the OSI model, i.e. the TCP/IP stack of protocols (Ranjbar, 2015). Errors and problems that arise in the computer network are also observed through these reference models. Cabling problems often occur at the physical layer. It is not unusual to use inadequate types or damaged cables. The connectors on the cables themselves may be poorly connected. Hardware problems might occur as well.

Components can fail due to poor quality, maintenance, or long-term load. At the connection layer, the second layer of the OSI model, the most common problems are: mismatched speed and/ or duplex settings on the switch port itself, incorrect Spanning Tree Protocol settings, problems related to ARP attacks and MAC Spoofing or DHCP Spoofing (Ranjbar, 2015). At the network layer, potential problems could be duplicate IP addresses and misrouting due to misconfiguration of routing protocols or implementation of static routes. At the transport layer where TCP/ UDP ports are used, there are frequent problems related to disabling the transfer of certain data due to ACL lists or activated policies on the firewall. At the other layers (session, presentation and application layer), most problems are connected with the applications or specific protocols. Since there is a large number of protocols at OSI or TCP/IP layers, this can be the cause of many problems. Server configuration problems (Apache, Nginx...) might occur as well.



Figure 1. The main steps in network monitoring and troubleshooting

3. SYSTEM MONITORING AND LOG MESSAGES

Collecting information about the overall operation of the computer network in the form of log messages is one of the most important steps in the entire process of solving problems and locating errors. All available information about the cause of the problem and its consequences is collected. The obtained information is then analyzed. Based on the analyzed data, further preparation for the following steps is carried out in order to eliminate the located problems. The accuracy of information gathered from log messages is of crucial importance (Jing et al., 2015).

The network monitoring step can include many sub-steps, tools, systems or software, and the ways and methods of gathering information depend on the environment. There are several ways to gather relevant information about a network's behavior. It might be through a monitoring system – which consists of one or more programs that perform different operations like monitoring, information gathering, notifying administrators, etc.

The information can refer to the use of the server memory and load of its processor, device availability or problems with TLS certificates. Such information is most often "extracted" from the devices themselves, mostly using the SNMP protocol. With the SNMP protocol, some other basic and more advanced information can also be obtained, such as the device name, IP address, VRF, QoS, port information on the switch, etc. Examples of such monitoring systems are Icin-gaWeb2, LibreNMS and Grafana. Then, relevant information about a network behavior might be gathered via data collection agents – i.e. software/applications installed on end devices that collect and forward log messages to the central log message management system.

• K)> (c	Incolney(1000); Incolney(1000); https://bit/station.station//activation/	n a la construction de la constr	Contention Content and Content Content Content Content Content Content	4 ⁰ 6 Canal
INGA	Hors		Italitatis natidenistrativ 2	
ndom*	83 Hogss 25 25 10	SCHWI MARKAWANA	directilements any / desire.ord_bail directilements any / desire.org / desire.org / desire.org	dema.Berenne.arg / device_stange
ard a	Antip Brandy D forwarding D	0 Bervices: 💽 💶 💶		
-	Q, Beards. Thest problem = 1	Plugin Output		
-	POWN Medideen7 Proc Sector Point Proc Sector by sugrestmenter2/ BMMs date head there is POWN Medideen8	test-down-8 (checked by yepret-centes?) 1046; down hostsheck Problem hendling	densilierencey/deixy.ud.juereny densilierencey/deixy.ud.jueren	
n.	ene leg st test-deer-d lokedet by vepert-centes?) BMI: dee hestdeck DOWN lestdeer-3 test-deer-4 test-dee	Pol admonistrati de Administratione Commenti de Administratione	and the second se	ta kai tu tu ka ka Sen juut kan
6	DOWN BRITCHERNEY BUILDERSTRUCTURE BUILDE	Onverterer All down houts, All houts on the system		1100 100 6.0
mation	erve zejat tost-den-9 lotockel by veprant-centes?] BBM: deen hestohook. DOWN deen Apple tast-deens-10 tast-deens-10 by veprant-centes?] bBMc. dow hostohook	Postbalan A		the state of the s
abori	DOWN Inst-down-2 mem Ser 24 Emil-Hamm? (Enclosed by separative minor?) EDMs stars best short DOWN Inst-down-1	Chock execution		5-118 5-88 No.118
min	ana lagut tool daw. 1 (shocked by vagnet center/) blief daw hosteleck UOVW kostelech-3 (shocked by vagnet-center/) blief; daw hosteleck test-son-5 (shocked by vagnet-center/) blief; daw hosteleck TOOVW kastelecen-5	Clean Romer Clean Romer Control R	ders dennen og / nyn / addala, sond, sen end, son en	derectivenessay / seriet, atte, wither, / www.go
	dest 5e.24 1est-skad-4 (clascied by wagrast-centes?) BMGs skale holtcheck DCNN: Mad-http-1 test-filep-1 (checked by wagrast-centes?) PLA*s filep installeck det v0 Elinit	Consistences 1/3 (nard shile) Contraction from (), 1429 Custom Variables		- full ten to man
	DOWN derive the Next the second sec	Oversition warning official Oversition down.	Image: Second	data.Rowaw.arg/artrap/ra.nin_graph
	CONVENTION Text-Flap-5 Checked by Vapratt-cetter/1 FLAP: Flap hostcheck and VA dear	Feature Commande	Bases Data Site Data Site Data Site Data Site Data Site Site Data Site Data Site Data Site Data Site Site <t< td=""><td>har war the state</td></t<>	har war the state
_	COWN Less dap 6 to be by to be by	Achie Chedia Ca Pacter Gaules C	Tunne allen	
	• >		D	
	A)		В)	

Figure 2. Display of the interface of different monitoring tools: A) Web interface of the IcingaWeb2 monitoring tool (source: https://icinga.com); B) Web interface of the LibreNMS monitoring tool (source: https://alternativeto.net/software/librenms)

Agents are configured to check specific log files (which are often in plain text document format) and forward them to the central system. It is possible to indicate exactly which type of log messages needs to be collected. It is not necessary to collect all log messages since they can occupy additional memory space. Information can also be gathered by log message management systems – the central system where log messages are collected, normalized and analyzed.

Log messages are special texts recorded and stored in log files. Log analysis is a process of analyzing and extracting information from log messages. There are several types of log messages es depending on the type of event being recorded: system, network, technical or security ones (Vaarandi et al., 2018). Optimization of log messages is considered to be the essential procedure since it is necessary to know which type of log messages will be collected, monitored and analyzed. A piece of the log information is forwarded to centralized log systems directly or through various log message transmission mechanisms, while other information is obtained from the operating system as part of the overall log message generation process. Log messages are written in log files and these files can be generated by the system or applications, or generated by the administrator (Vaarandi et al., 2018). By default, log messages use UDP port 514 for communication, while the default port for TCP protocol is 6514. It is possible to use other ports for the transmission of log messages. Log analysis takes place during the process of searching log messages and looking for specific information, but it also takes place when examining a specific incident that occurred due to a network failure.

Log messages can be divided into the following main groups: System log messages (Activities in the system, End devices, Applications), Network log messages (Email, Firewall, VPN), Technical log messages (Proxy, DNS, HTTP, DHCP, Web and SQL), Security log messages (Antivirus, Network intrusion detection system – NIDS, Host intrusion detection system - HIDS, Data loss protection - DLP). Additionally, log messages may be divided according to the severity level indicated by the content of a log message. A log message can be informative as well as displayed as a warning or an error in an application or a system. The severity level of a log message ranges from 0 to 7 with the lower the level, the greater the severity (Suh-Lee et al., 2016).

4. CENTRALIZED SYSTEMS FOR MONITORING LOG MESSAGES

The system for monitoring and analyzing events in the network consists of agents for collecting log messages and the system for managing log messages, as explained above.

Security Information and Event Management (SIEM) is a system for managing security information and events. SIEM represents a centralized system for collecting regular and security log messages. It provides different types of notifications and warnings, uses special algorithms (AI and ML) for analyzing data and has possibilities for isolating malicious packets and analyzing packet capture files. This system processes data in real time and data can include almost any type of log messages, whether it is data from routers, switches, mobile phones, or applications (Bhatt, 2014).

The features of a SIEM system are identical to a log message management system, except that they mainly focus on security and (mostly) malicious activities. Activities can range from simple ping packets coming from the Internet to compromised services such as FTP, web servers, third-party applications, etc. In the SIEM architecture, there are agents for collecting log messages which send captured messages to the main center for processing and analysis. Further analysis is performed, data are compared, their correlation is performed, data groups are formed and activity alerts are created based on the extracted data. Different SIEM solutions depend primarily on the manufacturer, but all of those solutions include the following functions: data aggregation, threat intelligence, correlation and security monitoring, alert analytics, forensics, threat detection, incident response and Security Operations Center (SOC) automation (Bhatt, 2014). Every security engineer in a Security Analysis Center (SOC) should have insight into network activity, the way of communication between devices and its duration and the type of exchanged data, and know the standard procedure if any problems occur.

5. CASE STUDY

In this chapter, an example of potential threats and malicious activities in the network will be presented using the methods of analyzing and collecting data through the Security Onion platform using SIEM. Specifically, malicious activity in Security Onion was analyzed when an alarm "ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/ SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621" with the severity level *HIGH* was detected.

	Timestamp 📥	rule.name	event.severity_label			destination.ip
→ ♣ ▲	2021-05-27 21:53:41.733 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		36148	10.0.10.50
» 🌲 🔺		ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)			58036	10.0.10.50
→ ♠ ▲	2021-05-27 21:54:39.956 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high	45.146.164.125	49330	10.0.10.50
→ ♠ ▲	2021-05-27 21:55:00.017 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)			50588	
→ ▲ ▲		ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)			33506	10.0.10.60
> 🌲 🔺	2021-05-27 21:55:21.746 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		48464	10.0.10.60
→ ♠ ▲	2021-05-27 21:55:26.081 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		49484	10.0.10.60
» 🌲 🛆		ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)				
> 🌲 🔺	2021-05-28 14:02:00.392 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high	45.146.164.125	35906	10.0.10.134
→ 🌲 🔺	2021-05-28 14:02:12.517 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		56438	
→ 🌲 🛆	2021-05-28 14:02:13.286 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		44880	10.0.10.134
> 🌲 🔺	2021-05-28 14:02:40.028 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high	45.146.164.125	60588	10.0.10.221
→ ♠ ▲	2021-05-28 14:10:55.179 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high		58794	
→ 🌲 🔺						
→ 🌲 🔺	2021-05-28 14:27:21.996 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Endty Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)	high	45.146.164.125	43782	10.0.10.221
→ 🔺 🔥	2021-05-28 15:21:45.299 +02:00	ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE 2019-9621)	high	45.146.164.125	52934	10.0.10.221

Figure 3. Security Onion Threat Alerts

The first step is to isolate the alarm and display only the alarm related to this malicious activity. As can be seen in Figure 3, all potential attacks came from the same IP address, while multiple IP addresses were targeted. In-depth analysis of the alarm message reveals detailed information about the target destination port, the type of event, the NIDS (Network intrusion detection system) which detected the attack, etc. First, a review of the local network should be done. After research and other alarms, it is evident that only HTTP port 80 was targeted during the attack, as shown in Figure 4, which means that the attacker was targeting potential web servers.

Another important piece of information is the decoded packet which indicates that the POST header with the URL /Autodiscover/Autodiscover.xml link was sent to 10.0.10.50, and that the XML file tried to capture the /etc/passwd file, which is a file on Linux operating system that contains usernames, groups they belong to and similar essential information.

The threat was identified by the public CVE number 2021-2109, which can easily be searched and researched to learn more about this type of attack and methods of protection.

Timestamp 📥	rule.name
✓ ▲ ▲ 2021-05-27 21:5	3:41.733 +02:00 ET EXPLOIT Zimbra <8.8.11 - XML External Entity Injection/SSRF Attempt (CVE-2019-9621)
📚 @timestamp	2021-05-27T19:53:41.733Z
oversion 🃚 @version	1
📚 destination.ip	10.0.10.50
📚 destination.port	80
📚 ecs.version	1.6.0
📚 event.category	network
📚 event.dataset	alert
📚 event.module	suricata
📚 event.severity	3
event.severity_label	high
📚 host.name	testhn01
📚 ingest.timestamp	2021-05-27T19:53:43.494Z
📚 log.file.path	/nsm/suricata/eve-2021-05-27-19:01.json
📚 log.id.uid	1474067014476491
📚 log.offset	1468271

Figure 4. Detailed display of malicious activity alerts

After gathering some information about the attacker, the next step is to check if additional methods of intrusion were attempted from the same address. Thus, the sequence of movements and activities can be viewed chronologically. It can be determined where the attack started from, as well as when it happened. In this particular case, the first alarms were more informational and attempt to access non-existent web server pages were detected. This type of attack is mostly done with automated tools and scripts, so many alarms often appear, because it is a brute forcing technique in a way. After that, an attempt to establish sessions and communication from the target machine to the attacker was observed. And finally, there are attempts to exploit web server vulnerabilities. Further steps include the analysis of the web server itself, logs, data and scan for vulnerabilities and malicious files in order to determine whether there really was a breach, that is, whether the communication between the attacker and the target device was successful.

6. CONCLUSION

Collecting information in the form of recording and reading log messages is definitely the most important step in the entire problem solving process, and the accuracy of the information collected from log messages is of crucial importance.

Analyzing log messages directly from applications or text files is almost never done. For this purpose, log message management systems were created, as central points to which log messages are sent using log message collection agents. On these central systems, data is collected, the normalization process is carried out, and they are parsed and displayed in a readable

format for further analysis. In accordance with the company's policies and legal regulations (e.g. GDPR), the data is stored for a certain period and after the expiration of the period, the data must be deleted.

Then, standard systems for managing log messages are not adequate and SIEM solutions (such as Security Onion) are used since they include more advanced tools for detection (and rarely prevention) of malicious activities. Such solutions have numerous integrated tools and specific agents for collecting not only log messages but also network traffic (packets), as well as metadata and system registry files. HIDS and NIDS solutions perform additional analysis and scanning of files on devices and send data to the central server for further analysis. SIEM are mandatory components of a computer network for monitoring events as well as recording and analyzing log messages. Detailed plans and strategies are needed for data storage and backup. Continuous monitoring of the system is crucial. Finally, it is essential to stay up-to-date with the latest trends and threats to network security in order to improve SIEM solutions.

References

- Bhatt, S., Manadhata, P. K. & Zomlot, L. (2014). The Operational Role of Security Information and Event Management Systems. In *IEEE Security & Privacy*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 35-41, Sept.-Oct. 2014, https://doi.org/10.1109/MSP.2014.103
- Jing, Y., Tingwen, L., Haoliang, Z., Jinqiao, S. & Guo, L. (2015). An automatic approach to extract the formats of network and security log messages. *MILCOM 2015 – 2015 IEEE Military Communications Conference*, pp. 1542-1547, https://doi.org/10.1109/ MILCOM.2015.7357664
- Panek, C. (2020). Networking Fundamentals. by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. ISBN: 978-1-119-65074-4
- Ranjbar, A. (2015). Troubleshooting and Maintaining Cisco IP Networks (TSHOOT) Foundation Learning Guide, Pearson Education, Inc., ISBN-13: 978-1-58720-455-5
- Simpson, M. T., Backman, K., & Corley, J. E. (2011). *Hands-On Ethical Hacking And Network Defense*. Course Technology, Cengage Learning. ISBN: 978-1-4354-8609-6.
- Suh-Lee, C, Ju-Yeon, J., & Yoohwan, K. (2016). Text mining for security threat detection discovering hidden information in unstructured log messages. 2016 IEEE Conference on Communications and Network Security (CNS), pp. 252-260, https://doi.org/10.1109/ CNS.2016.7860492
- Vaarandi, R., Blumbergs, B., & Kont, M. (2018). An unsupervised framework for detecting anomalous messages from syslog log files. NOMS 2018 - 2018 IEEE/IFIP Network Operations and Management Symposium, pp. 1-6, https://doi.org/10.1109/NOMS.2018.8406283



Payment Security Issues and User Data in Online Commerce

Nadezda Dimova¹ 💿

Received: November 19, 2022 Accepted: February 7, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Online commerce; User; Security; Payment; Data

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** In recent years, there has been increased development of information and telecommunication technologies, which have a significant impact on the economic and social sphere on a global scale and, in particular, at the national level. In parallel, there are many challenges to the integration and use of digital technologies and the resulting issues of payment and data security in online commerce.

This research is dedicated to revealing the nature of data privacy, the relationship between the regulator, consumers and retailers, and presenting the features of payment and data security in online commerce.

1. INTRODUCTION

Dynamic changes in the global aspect of the economy and changes in consumer tastes and preferences are only part of the factors for the creation and integration of new modern technologies. However, their implementation is a prerequisite for solving many specific problems, in particular the problems related to data security and payments in online commerce.

To examine the security of payments in online retail, we should first specify the role of data privacy. From there, let's emphasize the connection between this privacy and the security of payments specifically in online retail.

The purpose of the report is to highlight the security issues of payments and user data in online commerce.

2. DATA PRIVACY IN RETAIL

1

The study of data privacy in online retailing is closely related to the interrelationship between consumers, retailers, and law enforcement. In the conditions of digitization and technological improvement, they are undergoing significant transformations and, in parallel, they must manage to ensure the privacy of their data and improve the analysis of this data.

Retailers themselves process a large amount of data and many studies prove that they are always ready to increase their spending on new technologies and their personalization to track individual consumers and their location, recognize their faces, track their emotions and encode voices.

This leads to major problems in terms of the feeling of vulnerability on the part of the users (Martin et al., 2017).



New Bulgarian University, 21 Montevideo Str., Sofia, Bulgaria

It is precisely this sense of vulnerability that is particularly important in conditions of challenges of a different economic and social nature (Brough & Martin, 2021).

Stakeholders and their interests in data privacy can be an essential part of big databases and privacy, creating both notable risks and threats to privacy and, in parallel, great potential for retailers.

Stakeholders themselves are looking for various ways to protect and expand user privacy, but these actions are entirely based on cooperation between them rather than contradictions and conflicts.

Researcher Martin and colleagues identify three emerging themes that are channeling collaboration and the increasing convergence between consumers, retailers and regulators regarding the collection and use of consumer data in retail. Primarily, these researchers justify the role of big data as a driver of customer relationships and customer performance because, according to them, it improves customer perceptions.

Next, they highlight the profound impact of regulation in shaping consumer-retailer interactions.

Third, but not least, they advance the idea of the potential of privacy protection as a proactive retail strategy that can provide an innovative source of competitive advantage to retailers.

All these studies and ideas are supported by quantitative and qualitative methods (Martin et al, 2017).

The conclusions reached by the researchers are that the regulatory body shapes the interaction between the consumer and the retailer. On the other hand, retailers must adhere to privacy regulations in dealing with consumers.

Next, they reach many conclusions that relate to the global perspective on data privacy. It is strongly emphasized that most studies focus on a single country or a specific company, depending on the empirical data. In parallel, privacy perspectives are determined by a country's culture, so the views of consumers, regulators and retailers on data privacy are inevitably influenced by their cultural country.

Furthermore, the cross-country and company emphasis is on demonstrating the specific case studies of retailers or regulatory approaches to data privacy and consumer response, which also establishes some frameworks for key tensions in global privacy perspectives to inform retail marketers to expand market share.

The term "privacy" itself is largely applied in specific contexts to consumers and regulators. Through the lens of the issue research, three themes emerged that involved consumers, regulators and retailers.

Researchers in this scientific field are proving that for users, large databases support increasing personalization. Bleier and Eisenbeis prove that online personalized ads improve click-throughs, especially in the early stages of purchasing decisions, but this over-personalization is only possible if customer preferences are volatile or change over time (Bleier & Eisenbeiss, 2015).



Figure 1 Source: Martin et al., 2017.

Another point of view is given by researchers Chung et al. (2016) who focus in their studies on adaptive personalization using social networks, or Tirunillai and Tellis on online communications and brand positioning (2014).

The very interaction between users and retailers depends on privacy rules. Such privacy policies can be a good proxy for the degree of transparency and control that businesses provide to their customers by notifying them then that they are providing this information (Martin et al., 2017). Along with this, stricter privacy policies can reduce the effect of the negative sides that are caused by a breach of data security, which is caused by competitors (Martin et al., 2018).

Given the purpose of the article, the security of payments in online commerce should also be analyzed.

3. SECURITY OF PAYMENTS IN ONLINE COMMERCE

In general, the targets of hacker attacks and theft of personal information and banking data are different: from the local supermarket to online shopping and providing personal data. Many companies and individuals believe that if they have antivirus software purchased and installed, they are sufficiently protected. In reality, this is not the case at all. Antivirus software is only one possible side of this problem and addresses only one threat or only one possible approach to information theft and destruction. For complete information security, additional actions of active and proactive protection are required.

When a means of payment is created, the responsibility for its protection is most often guaranteed by the one who issues it, but gradually, and especially these days, the commitment to maintaining security becomes shared and includes the entire set of participants in the payment process. Thus, in addition to the operator of the payment system, all bound users of the payment system can join the mechanism of countermeasures against attempts at malicious actions and better protection.

The problems related to the protection against fraud in electronic payments in online commerce are increasing. It is an indisputable fact that the evolution of payment systems and the technological

innovations that accompany them are the basis of the improved conditions for commercial exchange and its migration to a digital environment. A new step in the present and in the functioning of online commerce is the use of artificial intelligence, which allows positives to be drawn also in terms of protection against sales fraud. In fact, its integration enables real-time intelligent and automated analytical systems to monitor user activity and implement corrective actions if new and unknown schemes of abuse in commerce and payments are detected.

No less important are three important problems of public information about the real dimensions of crime in electronic payments in commerce. The first is related to the fact that a significant part of the frauds committed in digital payments remains unreported or unregistered by the victims. The second is that the proportion of fraud is sometimes left out of official reporting because the contingently unrealized pecuniary damage is significant. The third problem is related to the evolution of organized crime, which is outpacing the development of defense systems. A prerequisite for this is mainly the limited resource provision for the implementation of various improvements. This would help us summarize that the new reality requires alternative methods of countermeasures and security, leading to the emergence of a new class of electronic services related to the protection of information in digital payments (Stoyanov, 2019).

4. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, to achieve consumer satisfaction and to keep all stakeholders in online commerce satisfied, the security of payments and consumer data is paramount. However, this process is two-way and efforts should be made on both sides – companies and consumers. Only the future will tell what level of security will be required in online commerce and who, how and in what manner will process user data both globally and nationally.

References

- Bleier, A., & Eisenbeiss, M. (2015). Personalized Online Advertising Effectiveness: The Interplay of What, When, and Where. *Marketing Science*, *34(5)*, 669–688. http://www.jstor.org/ stable/24544741
- Brough, A. R., & Martin, K. D. (2021). Consumer Privacy During (and After) the COV-ID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 40(1), 108–110. https://doi. org/10.1177/0743915620929999
- Chung, T. S., Wedel, M., & Roland T. R. (2016), Adaptive Personalization Using Social Networks, *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 44 (1), 66–87. DOI: 10.1007/ s11747-015-0441-x
- Martin, K. D., Borah, A., & Palmatier, R. W. (2017). Data Privacy: Effects on Customer and Firm Performance. *Journal of Marketing*, *81(1)*, 36–58. https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0497
- Martin, K. D., Palmatier, R. W., & Borah, A. (2018), "A Strong Privacy Policy Can Save Your Company Millions", *Harvard Business Review*.
- Stoyanov, M. (2019). Protection Against Fraud In Electronic Trade Payments, *Economics 21, is*sue 1, year 20, 48-66.
- Tirunillai, S., & Tellis, G. J. (2014). Mining Marketing Meaning from Online Chatter: Strategic Brand Analysis of Big Data Using Latent Dirichlet Allocation. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 51(4), 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.12.0106



Impact of Risk Management in an Organizational Context

João Santos¹ Leonilde Reis² Manuel Landum³

Received: November 9, 2022 Revised: January 23, 2023 Accepted: February 6, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Information security; Risk management; Cybersecurity

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** In Portugal, the Council's Minister Resolution 41/2018, presents a complement to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which, in order to comply with it, defines technical guidelines for the Public Administration concerning the security architecture of networks and information systems. The objective of the paper is to present risk management in an organizational context. The adopted methodology is focused on the presentation of the research and obligations that the organizations have to take into account before the law and the regulatory authorities. International standards and how they can be applied in the context of the organization under study were analyzed, and the main results reached, aim to raise awareness within the organizations assertively, for the existing vulnerabilities and threats. Risk management was based on asset management and professional experience acquired over the years, as well as knowledge of internal procedures.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Decree-Law 65/2021 applies to operators of critical infrastructure; operators of essential services and Public Administration entities, such as the organization under study, and defines the security requirements of network and information systems as well as the rules for incident notification. According to article 10° of Decree-Law 65/2021, entities that fall within the cited groups must consider all assets that ensure the functioning of the Information Systems and should carry out, at least once a year, an analysis of the risks associated with them.

Organizations have lately been targets of attacks, namely cyberattacks. This shows that there is a need, on the organization's part, to take action to avoid constraints on their operations. Therefore, it is preponderant that there is an understanding of the problem and finding ways to protect the organization and its assets (Santos, 2022).

All organizations must have security measures implemented; some of them imposed by legislation and others imposed internally, by knowledge of the cause and the need for protection. Security measures, especially legislated ones, may vary depending on the business area of the organization.

In that sense, this risk analysis should consider the Identification of threats; System failures; Natural phenomena; Human error; Malicious attacks; Failure to provide goods or services by a third party; Impact and probability of occurrence of the identified threats.



¹ Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

² Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal, Setúbal - Portugal

³ Câmara Municipal do Barreiro, Barreiro - Portugal

2. RISK MANAGEMENT

According to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), the norm aims to create standards for various activities of the organizations. ISO/IEC 27001:2018 enables organizations to implement an Information Security Management System (ISMS) through requirements suggested by the standard. The ISMS together with a risk management process increases the trust of stakeholders while preserving the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of information (ISO/IEC 27001, 2018).

Also, the norm ISO/IEC 27002:2022 - Information security, cybersecurity, and privacy protection - Information security controls, provides a set of generic controls in an ISMS scope, (ISO/ IEC 27002, 2022). According to ISMS.ONLINE (2022) and compared to the previous version, it has a smaller number of controls, which are divided into four groups: People, Organization, Technology and Physical. The latest version of ISO considers compliance with regulations such as GDPR.

Supported by ISO/IEC 27001:2018 and ISO/IEC 27002:2013, ISO/IEC 27005:2018 was created to sustain an information security risk management platform, (ISO/IEC 27005, 2018). In this sense, ISO 31000:2018 also provides generic guidelines and a framework for risk management in organizations, independently of its sector. This standard aims to help organizations to identify opportunities, threats and how to treat risks. ISO 31000:2018 provides guidance for audit processes, whether internal or external. According to norm ISO 31000:2018, risk management must be considered in decision-making processes, as well as in all other organizational processes.

Risk criteria can be defined based on the internal and external contexts of the organization, such as the rules and existing laws. ISO 55000:2014 can be applied to all assets of an organization and all organizations, regardless of their nature. The guidelines of (ISO 55000, 2014) provide an overview of asset management.

Portuguese Public Institution, the Câmara Municipal do Barreiro (CMB), is responsible for the management of the municipality of Barreiro and provides services to citizens in the areas of spatial planning, social action, housing, transport and communications, energy, environment and basic sanitation, health, education, sports, consumer protection, civil protection, culture, and heritage.

The risk treatment will be defined based on the strategies: avoid, assume, remove, probability, consequence, share and retain defined in ISO 31000:2018, which are added the strategies of mitigating or transferring the risk referred to in the Quadro Nacional de Referência para a Cibersegurança (QNRCS) of Centro Nacional de Cibersegurança (CNCS), as described in Table 1.

Table 1. presents the strategies that can be followed in the process of treating the risk, as well as a brief description of each and what its source is. The responsible for the treatment of the risk should define the best strategy to be followed, considering all the various variables influencing it.

In the study conducted in an organizational context, 16 risks were identified in Table 2. Risk 03 is presented as it is considered that in the context of the paper, it can constitute added value. Risk 03 was identified by the fact that the Local Area Network (LAN) consists of nine /16 subnets, allowing 64516 hosts per subnet, making a total of 580644 hosts on the LAN. The LAN is

oversized, allowing too many hosts considering the CMB needs, which leaves a wide spectrum of Internet Protocols (IP) available, that can be used by intruders and given the size of the networks it becomes difficult to detect these intrusions.

Strategy	Description	Source
Avoid	Avoid the risk when deciding not to start or continue with	ISO 31000:2018
Avolu	the activity that origins the risk.	CNCS-QNRCS
Assume	Take on or increase the rick to nursue on encertunity	ISO 31000:2018
Assume	Take on or increase the risk to pursue an opportunity	CNCS-QNRCS
Remove	Remove the source of risk	ISO 31000:2018
Probability	Change the odds	ISO 31000:2018
Consequence	Changing the consequences	ISO 31000:2018
Share	Share risk (e.g., through contracts, insurance purchases)	ISO 31000:2018
Retain	Retain risk by reasoned decision	ISO 31000:2018
Mitigating	Reduce the impact or likelihood of risk	CNCS-QNRCS
Transferring	Transfer impact to third parties	CNCS-QNRCS

Table	1.	Risk	treatment
-------	----	------	-----------

Source: Santos, 2022.

Table 2. Possibility to	connect external	devices to the	organization	on the network
-------------------------	------------------	----------------	--------------	----------------

#03 – Possibility to connect exter	nal devices to the organization on the network
Assets	Network
Responsible	GINT
Threat	Unauthorized access; Intrusion; Cyberespionage
Vulnerability	Insecure network architecture
Confidentiality	Yes
Integrity	Yes
Availability	Yes
Probability	3 - Average
Impact	5 – Very High
Risk Level	15
Treatment	Avoid
Action	Scale the LAN to CMB needs; Implement security by MAC Address
Responsible for the treatment	GINT
Cost	No

Source: Santos, 2022.

The impact defined as very high derives from the threats set into question the 3 principles of the triad of security, availability, integrity, and confidentiality. Given that connection of some non-CMB equipment has already been recorded in the internal network, it is understood that the probability of this happening is medium. This risk can be avoided by implementing security mechanisms, which validate the MAC address of equipment that is attempting to connect to the LAN and resizing the LAN to a subnet where the allowed IPs are adjusted to the real needs of the CMB.

It can be verified in Figure. 1 that 50% of the identified risks have a high impact and 19% of those are considered Very High impact. These levels of impact require action, as the result of their occurrence may be catastrophic.

It can also be verified that 31% of the remaining risks are of lower impact. The risk impact analysis is important, but its treatment must consider other variables, such as the probability of its occurrence, the activities in question, and the threats to which they are subject.



The risks identified in this study were classified as well as analyzed to their impact on the organization. It was possible to conclude that some of these risks should be mitigated by finding solutions that can minimize the impact of their occurrence. Considering the specificity of the public organization under study, it was also verified that other risks should be assumed, and the risks that should be transferred to third parties were also identified.

3. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

The latest studies show us that vulnerability exploitation activities tend to increase in quantity, as well as should be increasingly sophisticated, and their impacts may have catastrophic consequences. As such, it is necessary to view Information Security Management as a continuing activity. In order to ensure high levels of security, it is necessary to define the steps to be taken in each process, which implies internal changes, such as transfers of employees, equipment, shared folders, or factors such as hiring employees and acquiring equipment.

These steps should include a detailed identification and analysis of each of these assets to identify which risks are associated with them and thus define how they should be treated. Risk mitigation can be facilitated by creating an internal security policy, based on ISO/IEC 27002:2022 controls and the recommendations of the Ministry Council Resolution 41/2018. The policy should be in place for the needs of the CMB, given that we are dealing with a public administration organization, with all its specificities.

4. CONCLUSION

The digital world and its benefits should continue to evolve, just as the threats will arise on a larger scale and in an increasingly elaborate way. It is necessary to monitor threats from all stakeholders, from security professionals to all other employees. There is a whole of laws in the sphere of information security and cybersecurity with which public administration organizations are not exempt from complying with them.

The compliance plan with these laws can be supported by the guidelines of the ISO standards studied and the QNRC of CNCS and can be adapted to real needs. Considering known threats, it is necessary to define strategies and act preventively before them. This means a deep knowledge of the organization, its processes, its assets, and its objectives.

In the definition of these strategies, it is essential to understand the impact of their implementation, because the sustainability of organizations may depend on the balance between the lack of investment in security mechanisms and how easily the organization can fall into the temptation to create rules in such a restricted way that makes it impossible to perform regular, daily tasks.

Risk management should be properly supported, and should indicate how those who have the task of making decisions about their treatment should act and manage it. However, in some cases, there is a need for critical analysis, and it may be necessary to put into practice the experience and know-how of the team, and the perception that it has about the organization and its functioning. Therefore, in conclusion, there is no exact way to perform the management of security information, it will always depend on the context in which it is inserted and who is treating and managing it.

References

- ISMS.Online. (2022). ISO 27002:2022 Changes, Updates & Comparison. https://www.isms. online/iso-27002/iso-27002-revisions-updates-comparison/
- ISO 31000. (2018). Risk management Guidelines. https://www.iso.org/standard/65694.html
- ISO 55000. (2014). *Asset management Overview, principles and terminology*. https://www.iso.org/standard/55088.html
- ISO/IEC 27001. (2018). Information security management systems Requirements, 2018. www. iso.org/isoiec-27001-information-security.html
- ISO/IEC 27002. (2022). Information security, cybersecurity and privacy protection Information security controls. https://www.iso.org/standard/75652.html
- ISO/IEC 27005. (2018). Information technology Security techniques Information security risk management. https://www.iso.org/standard/75281.html
- Santos, J. (2022). *Gestão da Segurança da Informação*. Relatório de Estágio de Licenciatura, Instituto Politécnico de Setúbal.



The Potential for Sustainable Tourism Development and Branding. Analysis of Krushevo and Elbasan Destinations

Elvira Fetahu¹ (D) Emilia Geroska² (D)

Received: November 29, 2022 Accepted: January 13, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Adventure tourism; Natural environment; Cultural immersion; Physical activity

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: UNWTO forecasted that international arrivals or outbound travelers worldwide will reach up to 1.8 billion by 2030, thus securing tourism as one of the fastest-growing economic activities fostering overall development, introducing new investments, and generating income and new employment. Tourism's overall impact on a nation also influences the local economy although it is quite challenging to measure this impact and its dimension. Over the last few years, tourism in Albania and North Macedonia has had ups and downs considering the Covid-19 pandemic situation which also determined the importance of sustainable tourism development and its influence in the tourism sector. The study provides a framework analysis of Krushevo and Elbasan as a single thematic tourism destination by using primary and secondary data and reveals evidence-based recommendations for local and national policymakers to design innovative tourism programs in these cities. The findings show that Krushevo and Elbasan have similarities mostly in the category of access points, attractions, and amenities and variations in the type and quality of the activities offered.

1. INTRODUCTION

Tourism is considered one of the most profitable sectors in the economy. It plays an increasingly significant role in Albania's and North Macedonia's economies. The paper elaborates on the situation analysis of both destinations Krushevo and Elbasan, in line to set a joint strategic direction for further development of the destination of Krushevo and Elbasan as a single thematic tourism destination focusing on active and adventure tourism products. It is structured into five sections. The introduction section is followed by an overview of the potential of the tourism sector for economic development. The third section provides an analysis of the current situation regarding strategies and policies at local, regional, and national levels. The fourth section presents the used methodology in this paper and follows by results. The fifth section concludes and provides recommendations on how to solve some tourism problems in both destinations.

2. TOURISM SECTOR AND THE POTENTIAL FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Tourism plays an important role in the economic development of a country. Many governments see tourism as a suitable tool for improving the balance of payments, attracting foreign investments, and mitigating unemployment. Besides the direct effects of tourism, like increased income and growth of working places, the "multiplier effect of tourism "exists. This means that the right way to measure the overall impact of tourism on a country's economy must consider not only the direct beneficiaries of tourism income but also indirect beneficiaries.



¹ Department of Marketing, Faculty of Economy, University of Elbasan, Albania

² Pro Local – Fostering Development CSO, Bitola, Pelagonia, North Macedonia

According to UNWTO (2019), "The international arrivals or outbound travelers worldwide will reach up to 1.8 billion by 2030, thus securing tourism as one of the fastest-growing economic activities fostering overall development, introducing new investments, and generating income and new employment". Before COVID-19 travel restrictions, evidence shows a growing popularity of Krushevo and Prilep as a destination for paragliding. This has visibly increased tourism in the area of Pelagonija. According to local providers' estimation in 2017, outside of paragliding championships, "Krushevo welcomed at least 1 000 international guests who visited for leisure paragliding activities or to prepare for upcoming competitions". Based on the interviews with the providers of accommodation in Krushevo (KET Project, 2022), which is supported by the official statistics as well, the greatest portion (up to 90%) of the total arrivals in 2021 count to the domestic tourism encompassing all market segments within the national economy: families, couples, friends, private groups, small organized groups; traveling per one-day visit, long weekends, holiday, event attending. Most visits included at least one physical activity like walking in nature, hiking, biking, and horseback riding. Below is presented in a table the number of overnights in Krushevo and Elbasan.

8				
Year	No. of overnights in Elbasan	No. of overnights in Krushevo		
2017	11756	46741		
2018	12809	51526		
2019	13654	56660		
2020	10800	44273		
2021	12300	52454		

Table 1. The overnights in Elbasan and Krushevo

Source: Municipality of Elbasan, 2021 & MacStat database 2022

Due to its geographical position, Elbasan must rely upon specific types of tourism, mainly adventure, historical and health-related. Within Albania, Elbasan must compete with other regions with coastlines and regions that are already popular as mountainous destinations. Besides these, Elbasan has created the image of a polluted city for many years, where the main business activities focus on industrial production, not services or tourism. But not everything is grey from the perspective of Elbasan as a tourist destination. Being situated at the very center of Albania makes it easily accessible from the main entry points in Albania. It also is rich with potential tourism resources and has a long tradition of hospitality, which form a solid base to turn Elbasan into a distinctive tourism destination. Most tourist visits to Elbasan are related to thermal spas in Llixha (Tregan), about 7-to-10-night stays. These visits are active during spring and autumn when the weather is favorable for thermal-related health treatments. Another destination that involves overnight stay is Gjinar, a mountainous destination situated about 24 km from Elbasan. Although it is well known as a beautiful tourist destination, few activities are offered there, resulting in tourists staying no more than 1-2 nights. Most of them make a day visit, enjoying traditional food, clean air, and wonderful nature. Elbasan is known for organizing the "Summer Day" feast every year on March 14, also a national holiday. Thousands of visitors come that day or a day before to enjoy traditional food and outdoor picnics, creating a festive atmosphere in Elbasan and nearby surroundings. But the duration of tourists is not more than one night, and most are one-day visitors.
3. ANALYSIS OF THE CURRENT SITUATION REGARDING STRATEGIES AND POLICIES AT LOCAL, REGIONAL, AND NATIONAL LEVELS

The consulted literature presented in the table below sets the foundation for further development of the local destinations of Krushevo and Elbasan. It comprises a depth presentation of the local destination potential and their development directions from a strategic point of view. Both national and local level strategic documents align with current EU trends in tourism development in general. Several aspects specific to the local destination (active tourism, wellness tourism, rural tourism) are highlighted as the most potent touristic features for further destination development. Below is a summary of the strategic planning for the destination development of Krushevo and Elbasan, respectively.

	Organization	Strategies/Plans/Research documents
1	Municipality of Krushevo	Tourism Development Strategy of Municipality of
		Krushevo 2020-2025
2	Municipality of Krushevo	An integrated plan for local development of the
		municipality of Krushevo, 2019-2022
3	Centre for development of Pelagonija region	Program for development of Pelagonija region 2021
4	Centre for development of Pelagonija region	Study for the development of Pelagonija as a
- T	Centre for development of relagonija region	destination for adventure tourism "Pelagonija -
		Shaped for adventure"
5	Bureau for regional development of North	National strategy for regional development
5	Macedonia	2021_2031
6	Ministry of Economy of North Macedonia sector	National Tourism Strategy Republic Of Macedonia
0	Tourism	The Final Version Of Kohl & Partner 2016-2021
7	Ministry of Economy of North Macedonia sector	
	Tourism	National Strategy for rural tourism 2012-2017
	Agency for Promotion and Support of Tourism in	National Strategy for Furth tourism 2012 2017
	the Republic of Northern Macedonia	
8	I RCP	Tourism Development Plans for Ten Destinations
		across North Macedonia
		Volume 1 – Methodology Background and Market
		Analysis 2016
9	LRCP	Tourism Development Plans For Ten Destinations
		Across North Macedonia
		Volume II – Destination Development Plans
		November 2016
10	LRCP	Destination Development plan No.3 Pelagonija,
		2017
11	Ministry for local-self-government, North	IPA CBC Programme the Republic of North
	Macedonia	Macedonia - Republic of Albania 2014-2020
		IPA III CBC 2021-2027 Programming between
		North Macedonia and Albania
12	Municipality of Elbasan	Territory Development Strategy for Municipality of
		Elbasan
13	Municipality of Elbasan	Strategic Development Plan of the City of Elbasan
		2010 - 2020
14	The Republic of Albania, Council of Ministers	National Strategy for Development and Integration
		(NSDI II) 2015-2020
15	Ministry of Tourism, Albania	The Strategy for Tourism Development in Albania
		for 2019-2023
16	Ministry of Tourism, Albania	Integrated Program for Rural Development (IPRD) -
		The program of 100 Villages

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

17	Law on Tourism	The Agency for Promotion and Support of Tourism
		in the Republic of North Macedonia
		Ministry of Economy, Republic of North Macedonia
18	Law on tourism	Albania
19	Legal and Institutional Framework on Tourism,	Investment Council Secretariat, Albania
	Albania 2018	
20	Beyond Borders – Introducing Smart Tourism and	Study of the natural and cultural heritage of the
	Sharing Economy, an EU-funded project	CBC region
21		Study of Sustainable Tourism in Cross-Border
		Region
22	Beyond Borders – Introducing Smart Tourism and	Study on Supply of Available
	Sharing Economy, IPA II CBC MK-AL funded	Tourist Services and Tourist Potential in Cross-
	project	Border Region

According to the Municipality of Krushevo (2020), "The Municipality of Krushevo claims to become one of the most visited tourist destination centers, both in North Macedonia and more widely in the Balkans and Europe". That is why this municipality was involved in a series of projects in the field of tourism, and the ultimate goal is the development of adventure tourism with which the city can grow into a destination visited throughout the year. Furthermore, Krushevo is recognized as a hard adventure destination (Krushevo, Prilep, and the surrounding areas) where there is sufficient market proof for the international competitiveness of the assets for paragliding. As per the analysis in-depth concerning the LRCP project funded by the EU and implemented by the World Bank, "growth in this segment, as well as diversification of the hard adventure offering with other activities such as rock climbing, bouldering, and others, has very strong potential to create new business opportunities and new high-skilled jobs".

Centre of Development stated that there is a very rich cultural and historical heritage of various kinds, of which the archaeological site of Heraclea, the city architecture of Bitola, and the traditional architecture of Krushevo, as well as numerous churches, monasteries, museums, urban and rural memorial units, etc., numerous natural sites, that represent a huge potential for developing different types of tourism (lake, mountain, monastery, village, etc.), and improving the economy in the region.

Albania is appreciated by many international operators and visitors for its beautiful nature and landscapes. Natural and rural areas in Albania offer opportunities for developing rural tourism, mountain tourism, ecotourism, and outdoor activities (rafting, paragliding, hang gliding, mountain biking, fishing, trekking, mountaineering, hiking, horseback riding, study tours, etc.). Some of these activities are the main motive for visits by foreign visitors to the natural areas.

Development of mountain tourism resulted in the stabilization of a considerable number of tours organized in Theth, Vermosh-Lepusha, Valbona, and Tropoja, in the Albanian Alps, Diber and Bulqiza area, in the mountainous area of Tirana, the mountainous area of Elbasan and Librazhd, the mountainous area of Korça, the mountain of Tomor, Llogara and Karaburun and the mountainous region of Gjirokastra and Permet. On the other hand, tourism in environmentally protected areas is also added to the category. This category includes several forms of tourism, such as agro-tourism, event and business tourism, cultural tourism (heritage, history, religion, etc.), ethno-gastronomic tourism, and health tourism (thermal, welfare, and medical).

According to the Ministry of Tourism (2019), "The Municipality of Elbasan is the main actor that coordinates and pushes tourism policies locally, in concordance with National Strategy for

Sustainable Tourism Development and there are efforts to promote Elbasan as a tourist destination, evidencing its main attractions and organizing several events and feasts during the year". Municipality of Elbasan (2010) stated, "According to the Territory Development Strategy for the Municipality of Elbasan, Elbasan has good potential for developing ecological, natural, agricultural, health, mountainous, and historical/cultural tourism". Some of the projects planned to be prepared are (i) a complete map with historical assets of the municipality of Elbasan; (ii) identification of needs for restorative interventions in historical assets and designing of respective technical projects; (iii) improvement of road infrastructure for main touristic destinations in Elbasan municipality.

4. METHODOLOGY

The primary goal of this document is to develop a robust understanding and elaborate possible opportunities for destination development and gain valuable insights into the actual situation of tourism in Krushevo and Elbasan. This paper adopts combined research methods using primary and secondary data. The primary data were collected using two methods; workshops and indepth interviews.

Two joint cross-border workshops with the main tourism stakeholders were organized in North Macedonia and Albania to collect local experiences, possibilities, views, and ideas from relevant stakeholders and beneficiaries from Krushevo – Elbasan cross-border area. There were 48 participants (32 men and 16 women), all representatives from tour operators, hospitality businesses, local government, non-profit organizations, cultural institutions, and academia.

The in-depth interviews were organized after the workshops. The participants took part in structured interviews held in the framework of this study. In-depth interviews were useful for fully understanding the opinions, experiences, and suggestions of the main actors of the tourism sector in Krushevo and Elbasan. During these interviews, the following list of themes and questions were covered:

- How can be Krushevo and Elbasan viewed as tourist attractions? What is its identity?
- What events and activities have been done about tourism in Krushevo and Elbasan, and what can be done more?
- How to improve the marketing of Krushevo and Elbasan as tourist destinations? How can it be promoted?
- How to improve the tourist infrastructure?
- What can be done to improve tourism services in general?

The secondary data were also part of the research input. Extensive desk research was conducted through analysis and review of the whole documents, plans, and strategies available in the field. Desk research was mainly employed to create a general view of Krushevo and Elbasan's local destinations and their tourism potential.

5. **RESULTS**

The analysis of the primary data gathered from in-depth interviews and joint discussions at the cross-border workshops and the secondary data from consulting relevant literature supported forming a general situation analysis of tourism development potentials in Krushevo and Elbasan.

In general, both Krushevo and Elbasan can be perceived as adventure & active destinations following the above analysis regarding the ATTA definition of adventure tourism as a trip that includes at least two of the following three elements: physical activity, natural environment, and cultural immersion.

Furthermore, the extensive analysis of the 5As, presented above, on the key elements of the destination: access, accommodation, attractions, activities, and amenities revealed:

- Similarities mostly in the category of access points, attractions, and amenities;
- Moderate consistency in the variety of accommodation capacities, and
- Variations in the type and quality of the activities offered.

Regarding amenities, both Krushevo and Elbasan offer standard and regular internet access coverage at satisfying levels and health protection institutions. There is a lack of locally organized transport.

The conducted research contributed to identifying some of the problems and challenges for further development of tourism in Krushevo and Elbasan:

- Lack of a distinctive strategy for tourism development at Elbasan Municipality.
- There is no one-stop-shop Tourist Info Centre in Krushevo offering systemized and promotional information on touristic offers in the town;
- There is no systemized and integrated touristic offer in the form of ready-to-use products, such as guided tours to attractions in Krushevo and Elbasan;
- There is a great lack of certified local guides in multiple languages, even in English;
- Waste management requires improvements;
- Capacity building for hospitality service providers is required to meet travelers' expectations.
- Modernizing the curriculum in the high school for hospitality and upgrading the cooperation with the private sector are needed;
- No digital access for self-guided tours (biking and hiking) in multilanguage is available;
- There is no dedicated directory for tourism development and policies in the Municipality of Elbasan;
- Poor road infrastructure to main tourist points of interest.

6. CONCLUSION

The COVID-19 pandemic period influenced in decreasing number of tourists in Albania and North Macedonia. The restrictions of COVID-19 made tourism pause for some months and the number of tourists was lower compared with previous years. Because of its interdependence with other sectors of the economy, from one side, tourism triggers development across the local economy. On the other side, it is quite challenging to determine the exact economic impact tourism as a sector has on the local economy. In addition, it is also a complex exercise to determine which investment is purely touristic related when once investing in road or health infrastructure, the destination benefits as well in regards to more accessible and safer tourist areas to visit.

Amenities are of particular interest to adventure tourism development as they include safety logistics, internet access, health insurance, and access to first-aid facilities, etc. Recent developments due to COVID-19 introduced anti-spread amenities, including special measures for cleaning the accommodation and transport facilities, public spaces, and sites of great attraction.

Based on the results stated in the paper, Elbasan and Krushevo have so many touristic places to be visited by foreigners and so many activities they can do there. Though, those cities do not offer a very comfortable infrastructure, along with the impossibility of having multilanguage guides, missing additional tourism information from the central and local government, or even non-existent.

Krushevo offers clean air and an unpolluted natural environment due to its specific location and lack of transport. Food is of great attraction potential as well as both territories can still offer healthy and homemade food, whether served in traditional restaurants or B&Bs.

Increased infrastructural investments in Krushevo and Elbasan highly contribute towards the attractiveness of the local destinations in terms of accessibility to sites for adventure, fostering the overall economic development in the cross-border area, which leads to more jobs, higher income, and higher export of services.

To conclude, Krushevo and Elbasan will not have only a project together to promote sustainable tourism, but also a change, a development, and a solution to the tourism problems in those cities.

7. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

Following the above analysis of the two local destinations and investigating possibilities for developing joint adventure touristic packages, it is conclusive that both Krushevo and Elbasan should follow further tourism development in adventure travel, as their greatest potential is that specific type of tourism.

In that regard, both destinations share elements that are base for linking the offer at the current situation and use that as a foundation for further development, following the recommendations below:

- Setting up local DMO for Krushevo (municipality),
- Developing USP and UVP for Krushevo (DMO),
- Developing consistent and unique promotional messages for all-year-round adventure Krushevo (DMO),
- Developing and implementing a national advertising campaign on Krushevo (a joint effort of all stakeholders),
- Developing and promoting digital tools (web-based) for self-guided hiking and biking tours in Krushevo,
- Further marking of hiking and biking trails in Krushevo,
- Introducing downhill biking trails during the summer on the ski runs (private concessioner, municipality),
- Further improvement of the paragliding infrastructure, extra take-off spot, and large facility at the site,
- Further refinement of the road network, focus on road access to attractions: Meckin Kamen and Adventure Park,
- Building long and greater capacity zip line in Krushevo,
- Establishing a dedicated directory for tourism and tourism policies and development in the Municipality of Elbasan,
- Developing a dedicated web page for tourism in Elbasan,
- Evidencing, signaling, marking and promoting hiking and biking trails in Elbasan.

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This research is developed in the frame of the project titled: "Krushevo and Elbasan – acknowledged cross-border tourism destination". The project is supported by the IPA II CBC Programme North Macedonia-Albania and implemented by Alka, Skopje and Tjeter Vizion, Elbasan

References

- Ministry of Economy. (2022). *Tourism Macedonia*. Law on Tourism. https://tourismmacedonia. gov.mk/?lang=en&doing_wp_cron=1668811714.0346789360046386718750
- Municipality of Elbasan. (2021). Territory Development Strategy for Municipality of Elbasan. https://elbasani.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Strategjia-e-Zhvillimit-per-Territorin-e-Bashkise-Elbasan-1.pdf
- Municipality of Elbasan. (2010). Strategic Development Plan of the City of Elbasan 2010 2020
- Municipality of Krushevo. (2020). *Tourism development strategy*. 95. http://krusevo.gov.mk/ wp-content/uploads/2020/10/strategi-a-za-razvo-na-turizmot-vo-opshtina-krushevo-finalna-verzi-a-lektorirana-25.09.2020-1-1.pdf
- Municipality of Krushevo. (2019). An integrated plan for local development of the municipality of Krushevo, 2019-2022. http://krusevo.gov.mk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/ strategi-a-za-razvo-na-turizmot-vo-opshtina-krushevo-finalna-verzi-a-lektorirana-25.09.2020-1-1.pdf



European Strategies for Sustainable Tourist Destinations, Problems & Prospects – The Case of Vlora, Albania

Matilda Naço¹ 💿 Gerta Bamllari² 💿

Received: November 21, 2022 Revised: February 11, 2023 Accepted: February 14, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

European Tourism Indicator System; Regional strategies; European strategies; Sustainability; Vlora

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Although tourism is a priority development scenario, Albania is struggling to select a competitive development model. The country's entry into the international market is producing increased visits primarily driven by curiosity, a motivational factor that hardly ensures repeated visits. Physical development is present, pressure on resources builds on and barely any coordinated actions are taken by regions in the name of long-term competitiveness and sustainability. Initiatives such as pilot testing European Tourism Indicator System for sustainable management at the destination level in the Vlora region in South Albania, a territory high in demand for tourism services, produced substantial information about the state of development and strategic documents. This paper aims to shed light on regional strategies for sustainable development and the level of tourism private sector engagement. This serves not only to evaluate the adaptation of the European strategic framework, but it sets the ground for the mobilization of local enterprises and individuals towards their implementation.

1. INTRODUCTION

Over the last 3 decades, the potential of tourism for Albania has been studied, appraised, and confirmed by economy professionals. Even though tourism is a priority development scenario, Albania struggles to choose a competitive development model. The entry of a country into the international market produces increased visits driven primarily by curiosity, a motivational factor that hardly ensures repeat visits. Physical development is present, the pressure on resources is increasing and the regions are hardly taking any coordinated action in the name of long-term competitiveness and sustainability.

A recent analysis of the sector governance shows that despite the equipment with strategic documents Albania still lacks a competitive model of sustainable tourism development. Although it acknowledges the significance of sustainable tourism, Albania>s draft «National Strategy for Sustainable Tourism Development 2018-2022» does not specify any rules or benchmarks for sustainability. It is worth noting that in spite of the fact that the strategy comprises nineteen priority interventions and five intervention areas, all of them deal with investments, diversity, seasonality, human resources, and marketing (Niented & Shutina, 2018, p. 98).

The European Tourism Indicators System (ETIS), a unified set of indicators for the sustainable management of tourism destinations, was introduced by the European Commission in 2013 (European Commission, 2013).

Referring to Nientied and Shutina (2018) "the concern for sustainable tourism in Albania is yet quite small. Furthermore, local tourism destination administration is still in the early stages of

² Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness, Agricultural University of Tirana, Albania



¹ Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

development. Together, these elements make the environment unfavorable for establishing concerted action for sustainable tourism" (p. 94).

Based on the information mentioned above the aim of this study is to zoom into the regional strategies for sustainable development of tourism to analyze the level of EU strategic framework adaptation and particularly the engagement of local enterprises and individuals in this process. It highlights prospects and challenges and sets the ground for the mobilization of local enterprises and individuals toward their implementation.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

"It has been shown recently that tourism can contribute to major environmental changes that can harm local economies as a result of the escalation of climate change research" (Tudorache et al., 2017, p. 1). This aspect emphasizes the importance of sustainable tourism. "Tourism that fully accounts for its current and future economic, social, and environmental implications, fulfilling the requirements of visitors, the industry, the environment, and host communities", is how UNEP and WTO (2005) describe sustainable tourism (p. 12).

Moreover, the beginning of the twenty-first century found the world with 6.1 billion people and nowadays we are officially 8 billion people. Every year about eighty-three million individuals are added to the world population. "Projections show that in 2050 the globe will be populated by 9.7 billion people" (Desa, U. N., 2019, p. 1). Most of this increase in population occurs in developing countries. The main natural resources are under greater strain due to population expansion, economic development, and climate change. As a result, sustainable resource management has risen to the top of the list of priorities for local and national government policies. According to Ritchie and Crouch (2003), sustainable development has become a necessity also in the field of tourism as well as in other activities; in recent years, it has even been asserted that a tourist destination cannot become competitive if it is not sustainable. Based on the above and on the crucial role that tourism plays for the EU economy, special importance is given to sustainable development indicators applied in the field of tourism.

A revised tourism policy was approved in March 2006 by the Commission of the European Communities with the primary goals of boosting the competitiveness of the European tourism industry and generating more and better jobs.

In this light, the European Commission introduced The European Tourism Indicators Systems (ETIS) in 2013, a unified system of indicators for the sustainable management of tourism destinations. According to Tudorache et al. (2017), "this system was developed to promote sustainable destination management while also serving as a comprehensive tool to monitor, manage, and advance sustainable tourism growth." (p. 2).

According to ETIS Toolkit (2013), "since the quality of tourist destinations is greatly impacted by their natural and cultural environments as well as their integration into a local community, the competitiveness of the tourism sector is tightly tied to its sustainability" (p.8).

To meet those obstacles, wise decisions must be made based on relevant facts. This data may come from particular indications that go beyond just counting customers or other discrete business metrics. The ETIS Toolkit (2013) states that ETIS consists of seven phases, which are as follows (p. 19): Step One: Raise awareness; Step Two: Create a destination profile; Step Three: Form a stakeholder working group; Step Four: Establish roles and responsibilities; Step Five: Collect and record data; Step Six: Analyze results; Step Seven: Enable on-going development and continuous improvement.

The ETIS is a comprehensive management system built on a set of sustainability indicators. It includes 43 core indicators as well as a preliminary set of supplemental indicators, such as maritime and coastal tourism, accessible tourism, and transnational cultural routes (ETIS Toolkit, 2016, p. 12). ETIS's 43 key indicators are divided into four categories: Field 1: Destination management; Field 2: Economic value; Field 3: Social and cultural impact; Field 4: Environmental impact. According to (Delgado & Saarinen, 2014; Tudorache, et al., 2017) ETIS is not the first set of indicators to existing for sustainable tourism (Nientied & Shutina, 2018, p. 97). There are several sets of territorial governance indicators for sustainable tourism, but based on the study of Nientied & Shutina (2018), "in Albania and elsewhere in the Western Balkans, it makes little difference whether a set of indicators is the best (technically speaking)" (p. 97). According to them, getting started and, if needed, adjusting the list of indicators is the most critical point. For the authors cited above, ETIS appears to be a promising alternative because it is a system that includes processes and approaches rather than just a list of indications.

Vlora County in South Albania represents a region with a confirmed potential for sustainable tourism development. The territory is high in demand for tourism services and generates 23% of the total income in the economy from tourism, which is faced with the challenge of developing sustainably. The analysis of the tourism sector at the governance level for this region has demonstrated the same features mentioned in the general literature review. There is neither a clear perception of the "sustainable" concept of tourist destinations nor a translation into strategic documents for the region. "The regional strategic documents fail to explain what is meant by sustainable tourism development and most tourism-related objectives and economic outputs are concentrated in already overcrowded and depleted areas, such as the coast" (Ciro, 2019, p. 82). "Coastal tourism", also known as "Mass tourism" in Vlora developed according to a responsive and spontaneous model to demand. Although it has played a leading role in the economy of the Vlora region, all this physical development to cater to the growing numbers has been accompanied by irreversible consumption of environmental and cultural values.

3. METHODS

The choice of ETIS as a method was justified by the need to follow the EU initiatives in the field of sustainable tourism policy. A reminder here that Albania is on the current agenda for future enlargement of the European Union (EU). It applied for EU membership on April 28, 2009, and has been an official candidate for entry since June 2014.

The research is applicative and was conducted in the highly potential tourism area of Vlora county in South Albania. From this applicative approach, the research paper aims to contribute to the literature by illustrating the results of ETIS in a county of Albania and also the challenges and difficulties that this tourist destination has to face in the process of implementing ETIS.

A survey was conducted with a total of 2000 questionnaires distributed throughout the municipalities of Vlora county. Questionnaires had on focus four different groups of respondents including Destination Marketing Organizations (DMOs), visitors and residents, enterprises and local government units. Questionnaires were completed through face-to-face interactions conducted mainly in public areas. The survey of DMOs had the lowest response rate, due to the lack of genuine DMOs in this district. In surveys of enterprises, the main data were collected through emails and direct phone calls³.

In order to select the relevant and appropriate indicators of sustainable tourism in Vlora county that would consequently be taken into consideration during our research paper, we created focus groups involving 15 persons. We invited into those focus groups hotel managers, specialists from local government units, tourism specialists, travel agency owners and specialists from civil society organizations. The sampling criteria considered were occupation, age and the sex of respondents. The duration of each meeting was 60 minutes.

As a result of this research, a collection of 44 indicators was created from the studied indicators, the majority of which are optional indicators (70%). Percentages of ETIS indicators calculated for each category of the ETIS are shown in the table below.

8	8 ,
Category	Percentage
Destination management	89%
Social and cultural impacts	72%
Economic value	50%
Environmental impact	62%

Table 1. Percentages of ETIS indicators calculated for each category of the ETIS.

Source: Authors' calculations

4. **RESULTS**

Data collected from visitors indicated that nearly all tourists and same-day visitors (88.8%) were highly content with their whole experience in Vlora (indicator A.3.1) and more than half of respondents (57%) had visited it at least once during the last 5 years (indicator A.3.1.1). It was noticed that a very small percentage of surveyed tourists (16.8%) were aware of destination sustainability efforts (indicator A.4.1). It is also worth noting that a very low percentage of tourists (19.1%) were satisfied with the accessibility of the destination for those with disabilities or specific access requirements (indicator C.3.2.1). From the results of the surveys with the visitors, it was noticed that the average nights of stay for tourists at the destination were 4.1 days (indicator B.2.1.) and average length of stay of 'same day' visitors is 5.6 hours (indictor B.2.1.1). The average daily spending of visitors is about (31.8 €) and that of tourists (53.3 €) were considered two of the most important evaluated indicators. Number of 'same day' visitors in the high season and low season in Vlora was 25.1%. The evaluation of indicators relating to the environmental dimension revealed that a very small percentage (12.8%) of respondent tourists (55.3%) used local/ "soft" mobility/public transport services to travel around the destination site (indicator D.1.1).

Referring to surveys with residents, we found that although most residents felt that their involvement in tourism planning and development was minimal. Percentage of residents satisfied with their involvement and their influence in the planning and development of tourism was about 36.2%. We also found that percentage of residents who have positive thoughts on the impact of tourism on destination identity and percentage of residents who are satisfied with tourism in the destination per season are very high, respectively: 85.8% - (indicator C.4.1.1) and 75.4% - (indicator C.1.1.1)

3

The contact database for enterprises was provided by Albanian Tourism Association (ATA).

Data Source	Indicator Code*	Destination Results
	A.3.1	88.8 %
	A.3.1.1	57 %
	A.4.1	16.8 %
	B.1.1.3	31.8 €
Tourists / Source dow? wisite up	B.1.2	53.3 €
Tourisis / Same day Visitors	B.2.1	4.1 No. of nights
	B.2.1.1	5.6 No. of hours
	B.2.1.2	17.8 %
	D.1.1	12.4 %
	D.1.1.1	53.5 %
	A.1.1.1	36.2 %
Residents	C.1.1.1	75.4 %
	C.4.1.1	85.8 %
	A.2.1	7.5 %
	A.2.1.1	2.8 %
	A.4.1.1	17.8 %
	B.2.1.2	17.8 %
	B.2.2	56.8 %
	B.2.2.1	25 €
	B.3.1.1	40.7 %
	B.3.1.2	0 %
	B.5.1.2	29 %
	C.2.1	52.1 %
	C.2.1.1	21.6 %
Enterprises	C.3.1	8.4 %
	D.2.1	94 %
	D.2.1.1	95 %
	D.2.1.2	14.1 %
	D.3.1.1	8.5 %
	D.5.1	174 L
	D.5.1.1	31.5 %
	D.5.1.2	2.8 %
	D.6.1	3%
	D.6.1.1	84.5 %
	D.7.1.1	10.3 %
	A.1.1: A.1.1.2: B.5.1.1: C.3.1.1:	This group of indicators is not
DMOs	C.4.1: C.4.1.2: D.3.1: D.4.1: D.5.1.3:	calculated in this paper. ³
	D.7.1.2; D.8.1; D.8.1.1	

Table 2. ETIS Indicators for 'Vlora' County

* The indicators that are not mentioned in this table are not applicable in our case study for Vlora County.

** The reasons for not calculating these indicators are explained in the last paragraph of the results section.

Source: Authors' Calculations

A relatively small percentage (7.5%) of tourism businesses and establishments in the destination use voluntarily certified certifications or labels for environmental, quality, sustainability, and/or CSR practices, but the number of tourism enterprises/establishments with sustainability reports in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) remains even lower (2.8%). A greater effort on the part of businesses can be seen in communicating their sustainability efforts to visitors in their products, marketing, or branding. The percentage of enterprises that apply this strategy is 17.8%. The percentage of tourism enterprises that sourced a minimum of 25% of food and drink from local/regional producers at their businesses was 29%. Looking at the impact of businesses on the environment, it is worth mentioning that the percentage of businesses involved in climate change mitigation schemes—such as: CO2 offset, low energy systems, etc.—and "adaptation" responses and actions was relatively high - 94% (indicator D.2.1). For 95% of surveyed respondents, the destination was included in climate change adaptation strategy or planning. As per water management, the percentage of tourism enterprises that are using recycled water is very low (2.8%) – (indicator D.5.1.2), but an improvement appears in the percentage of tourism enterprises with low-flow shower heads and taps and/or dual flush toilets/waterless urinals. About 32% of surveyed businesses used the mechanism mentioned above. It is also worth noting that 84.5% of tourism enterprises have switched to low-energy lighting.

In light of our goal of analyzing the ETIS implementation, in this section, we have also observed the major issues and problems faced throughout the period of evaluating the indicators. In some cases, the lack of qualitative and quantitative data affected the reliability of the indicators. "The lack of reliable local and regional tourism statistics and the necessity to address conceptual concerns in various tourist locations (such as how to operationalize the idea of sustainability) make the environment for ETIS implementation relatively difficult" (Nientied and Shutina, 2018, p.101). Also, as discussed in the methods section, due to the small number of DMOs in the entire territory of Vlora, only a very small percentage of them answered the questionnaire, resulting in the invalidity of the randomness of the sample. And, in the cases of the given answers, due to the incompleteness of some of them, we could not get a stable and reliable assessment for indicators such as: A.1.1, C.3.1.1, C.4.1, C.4.1.2, D.3.1, D.4.1, D.7.1.2, and for the basic indicator D8. In this case, we were unable to apply any technique to overcome the missing data problem. Therefore, this group of indicators is not calculated in this paper. The lack of data received from DMOs prompts the design of an objective to increase the interaction and awareness of DMOs on the importance of sustainability practices in relation to their customers.

5. CONCLUSION

The development of metrics for assessing the effects of tourism on host communities has received a lot of attention. In this paper, we presented the results of the survey that was conducted in Vlora County in South Albania by administering the ETIS questionnaire to a sample of 2000 respondents. One of the most important findings from our research was that nearly all visitors (about 90%) are satisfied with their overall experience in the destination, but local people denounce their lack of involvement in the decision planning. Although most residents felt that tourism helps to protect and enhance its local identity, cultural heritage, and assets (85.5%), they also felt that their involvement in tourism planning and development was relatively low (36.2%). Our findings contribute to a better understanding of ETIS for a country like Albania that aims to be part of the EU. In our case study, it is observed that the region of Vlora, although it clearly has great potential in tourism, has not yet embraced and developed this tool enough to achieve tangible results that reflect the growth of sustainable cultures at local levels.

From the above analysis, government action at the central and local level would be recommended to promote sustainable tourism, but this does not seem to be enough; Tourism providers (enterprises), the community (residents), and DMOs should be involved to improve sustainable tourism and destination governance. Policies related to the sector of tourism, which should be translated into action plans according to the municipalities of Vlora County, should be based on a platform of cooperation between the public sector, the private sector, individuals/local community and DMOs, however, underrepresented any of the above links may seem. This experience shown also that the lack of data at the local level and the lack of reliability in the data collected by the DMO can damage the quality of several indicators. This is significant in ETIS since it is designed as a tool for implementing and monitoring sustainable policies at the local level. "To be efficient in policy planning at the local level, indicators must be reliable and accurate" (Modica et al., 2018, p. 16). According to Modica et al. (2018) "the lack of resources makes the indicators less reliable and therefore less used, which can be detrimental to local planning policies" (p. 16). This is one of the most important recommendations that should be taken into consideration in the future.

Another important recommendation remains the improvement of the perception of the 'sustainable' concept by organizations that draft strategic documents for the tourism sector and update the regional strategic plan as a whole.

Our findings contribute to a better understanding of ETIS for a country like Albania that aims to be part of the EU. In our case study, it is observed that the region of Vlora, although it has great potential in tourism, has not yet embraced and developed this tool enough to achieve tangible results that reflect the growth of sustainable cultures at local levels.

References

- Ciro, A. (2019). Tourism governance in Albania–an assessment of the policy framework for the tourism sector in Albania. *Annual Review of Territorial Governance in the Western Balkans*, *1*, 69-85.
- Desa, U. N. (2019). World population prospects 2019: Highlights. New York (US): United Nations Department for Economic and Social Affairs, 11(1), 125.
- ETIS Toolkit. (2013). EU Indicator Toolkit.

ETIS Toolkit. (2016).

https://www.studocu.com/pt/document/universidade-do-minho/geografia-do-turismo/etis-toolkit-2016-150316/23637497

- European Commission. (2013). The European Tourism Indicator System TOOLKIT for sustainable destination. *Luxemburg: European Publishing House*.
- Modica, P., Capocchi, A., Foroni, I., & Zenga, M. (2018). An assessment of the implementation of the European tourism indicator system for sustainable destinations in Italy. *Sustainability*, *10*(9), 3160.
- Nientied, P., & Shutina, D. (2018). Is ETIS a Viable Option for Fostering Sustainable Tourism? (A është ETIS një opsion i realizueshëm për nxitjen e turizmit të qëndrueshëm?). *Annual Review of Territorial Governance in Albania*, *1*, 94-104.
- Tudorache, D. M., Simon, T., Frenț, C., & Musteață-Pavel, M. (2017). Difficulties and challenges in applying the European tourism indicators system (ETIS) for sustainable tourist destinations: The case of Brasov county in the Romanian Carpathians. *Sustainability*, *9*(10), 1879.



The Tourist Image of the Protected Landscape of Biambare, Sarajevo

Lejla Žunić¹ 💿

Received: November 14, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Protected landscape; Tourist impressions; Satisfaction; Loyalty; Promotion

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The protected landscape (PL) of Biambare is one of the most famous green sites for local visitors and tourists of Sarajevo. This area is distinguished by beautiful Bosnian Alps (Dinarids) meadows and plenty of spectacular natural phenomena, especially caves; the Central Biambare Cave is currently the most popular. The terrain is situated at an elevation range of 915–1044 m above sea level, so it mostly has a pleasant pre-mountain climate, etc. Therefore, tourism supply is based on different products and activities: speleology; walking in nature; bicycling; riding; hiking; alpinism; fishing; hunting; skiing; and collecting medicinal herbs and mushrooms. The aim of the paper is to represent the Biambare tourist image based on identifying its central natural attributes and according to the evaluation of the visitor's experience. The two relevant parameters for understanding tourist impressions are: "satisfaction" and "loyalty". These are higher among foreign than resident visitors, particularly among Middle Eastern tourists, who favour this site above many others in Canton Sarajevo.

1. INTRODUCTION - THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

A ccording to Tapachai & Waryszak, "the destination images are perceptions or impressions of a destination held by tourists with respect to the expected benefit or consumption values" (Rayesh, 2013). It's "mental concept formed from a set of impressions" (Beerli & Martín, 2004). Beerli & Martin (2004 also define "image as tourists' perceptions of the brand and brand associations stored in their memory" (Žunić, 2018). It can also be understood as "an interactive system of thoughts, opinions, feelings, visualisations, and intentions toward a destination" (Tasci et al., 2007).

"Types of the destination image are:

- Organic- opinions of friends, magazines, newspapers, news, reports, etc.;
- *Induced* image proffered by commercial information sources, i.e., marketing efforts of various commercial agents to publicise a destination;
- Affective- visitor's feelings or emotional responses toward it;
- *Cognitive* knowledge of and beliefs regarding a place" (Huete-Alcocer & Lopez-Ruiz, 2019).

Factors of a destination's image can be different attractions: nature, culture and art, recreation, tourists and other infrastructure, the environment, and the atmosphere (ambience). Each of them can be the reason for tourists' satisfaction, but it's usually a complex of various things in the destination that participate in creating our feeling toward the visited place. Therefore, the image is the product of a very complex and, at the same time, personal visualization toward a destination. But when visitors share their experiences related to their holiday in a particular destination, we can generate and evaluate their level of satisfaction. The higher the level of visitor satisfaction, the faster the popularity of the destination grows.

University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Science, Zmaja od Bosne 35, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina



The relationship between destination image and tourist satisfaction worldwide is explored by numerous authors. According to Javier & Bing, "destination image has a direct relationship with perceived quality, satisfaction and intention to return and willingness recommend others" (Rayesh, 2013). Tourist impression is a powerful generator of destination image because visitors share their positive experiences and stimulate travels and new visitors (Urry & Larsen, 2011).

• *Tourist satisfaction* is "a person's feelings of pleasure or disappointment resulting from comparing a product are perceived performance (or outcome) in relation to his or her expectations" (Kotler & Keller, 2012). Customer satisfaction is a post-purchase attitude formed through a mental comparison of the product and service quality that a customer expected to receive from an exchange (Kim, 2012). *Attributes of satisfaction* could be: attractions, accommodation, accessibility, amenities, activities, efficiency, service quality, social value, play, aesthetics, perceived monetary cost, perceived risk, time & effort spent and perceived value.

Besides tourists' satisfaction, loyalty and *WOM* marketing are also countable as relevant parameters of the destination image assessment. Surely, there's a strong relationship between satisfaction, loyalty, and *"Word of Mouth"* promotion, as they affect each other and contribute to the complete tourist perception of a place.

- Loyalty is the quality of being faithful in your support of someone or something (Oxford). When it comes to tourists' loyalty, we can simply understand it as visitors who are faithful to a certain destination, which practically means that they are returning visitors. "Loyal customers as those who re-buy a brand, consider only that brand, and do no brand-related information seeking" (Newman & Werbel, 1973). According to Reynolds and Arnold (2000), "customers aim to dedicate all of their purchase categories to a particular service provider" (Jones & Taylor, 2007). Attributes of loyalty, according to G. Prayag, are: comfort facilities, safety & infrastructure, cultural attractions & shopping, tourist attractions & ambience and variety & accessibility. Tourist loyalty depends on the satisfaction of tourists and meeting expectations (Rayesh, 2013).
- *WOM marketing* is practically free "*Word of Mouth*" promotion of a destination. Therefore, it's one of the most desirable effects of tourist satisfaction. "It plays a vital role in marketing strategies, tourist spending, revisits intention and the overall image of the destination" (Yoon & Uysal, 2005). As stated by Urry & Larsen (2011), positive tourist impressions result in travelers sharing their experiences and stimulating new visitors. Furthermore, *word of mouth* has the strongest impact when it comes from a friend or other familiar person who has already visited the destination because of the inclination to listen to their perspective.



Figure 1. Rajesh's holistic model for destination loyalty Source: Rayesh, 2013.

2. METHODOLOGY

The research aims to present the protected area of PL Biambare and evaluate its touristic image through the perceptions and impressions of visitors. The paper is divided into two main sections: "Tourist-geographical profile of PL Biambare" and "Evaluation of the tourist image of PL Biambare." Relevant parameters for the tourist image are "satisfaction"- "pleasant environment and positive experience", "loyalty"- "return visitors even if the ticket price increases", and "WOM marketing"- "recommendation and persuasion". Field work included observations, map interpretation, surveys, and interviews (June-Sept. 2022). A closed-ended questionnaire was directly administered to visitors at two points: *a*) at the main entrance to the PL Biambare and *b*) at the entrance to the Central Cave. The structure of respondents counted foreign visitors at 53% and domestic visitors at 47% (total 72 = 100%). The intensity of the visitor's impression was measured on a Likert scale (1–5). The statistical presentation of results is percentage mod, AM. The overall picture of the tourist "affective" image of PL Biambare is positive, meaning this site represents a significant tourist resource.

3. TOURIST-GEOGRAPHICAL PROFILE OF PL BIAMBARE, ILIJAŠ, SARAJEVO

PL Biambare is located between two smaller bosnian towns: Olovo and Srednje, but it's also near Sarajevo, the capital of Bosnia & Herzegovina, as it's well connected by the magistral road Sarajevo-Tuzla (M18). PL Biambare takes the NE slopes of Ilijaš municipality (1 of 9 municipalities at Canton Sarajevo), which is surrounded by mountains: Zvijezda (N, NE), Ozren (S, SE), and Čemerska mt. (W, SW). Geomorphologically, it's situated between the villages of Nišići and Krivajevići, on the northeast area of the Black River plateau. This area includes the smaller plateau of Nišići (1500 m), which is located between Biambare Caves (N) and the hills Motika (E), and Duge Strane, Borka (S).



Figure 2. Location of PL Biambare in the Bosnia & Herzegovina and the region SE Europe Source: Google Earth Maps

IUCN-category: V	Protected landscape: area with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value and where safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its associated nature conservation and other values
Total area	367,36 ha
Year of establishment	2003
State	Bosnia & Herzegovina
Entity	Federacija BiH
Canton	Sarajevo
Municipality	Ilijaš
Distance from the city centre	Sarajevo- 40 km, Tuzla- 80 km

Table 1. The basic geographic data of PL Biambare

Source: Nezirović et al., 2017.

According to the Spatial Plan of Biambare, this site is divided into 3 functional zones:

- A. Zone I (nucleus): 133,83 ha, includes the caves as the karst objects with the highest value;
- B. Zone II (buffer zone): 141,04 ha, includes well-preserved areas for research, education, and recreation, while the main features are: sinkholes, springs, 128 floristic endemic species, honey herbs, mushrooms, willows and trees e.g., *Salix fragilis & alba*, etc.;
- C. *Zone III (transitional zone):* 92,49 ha, includes panonic meadows, sinkholes and channels with hydrological and floristic value, while it allows activities in the field of forestry, agronomy, tourism and hospitality, based on the principles of sustainable development.



Figure 3. Spatial Plan of an Area of Special Characteristics "Protected Landscape of Biambare" Source: Development Planning Institute of the Sarajevo Canton, 2009.

Name	Length (m)	Depth (m)	Height (m)
1. Central/Main Cave	533	-24	959
2. Ledenjača/ Freezing Cave	323	-51	935
3. Donja/ Down Cave	148	+6/-11	930
4. Đuričina Cave	142	-28	950
5. Gornja/ Upper Cave	112	+10	980
6. Dimšina Cave	108	-30	935
7. Ledenica/ Ice Cave	41	-18	940
8. Nova/ The New Cave	28	-12	980

Table 2. Cave objects in the protected area—PL Biambare, Sarajevo

Source: Nezirović et al., 2017.

The Central Cave has been a popular tourist spot and a speleological site for a long time. It's 420 m long only in the basic direction without individual branches but longer than 500 m. It has four halls with rich ornaments of all known creation forms: lateral blocks, stalactites, casts, stalagmites, and curtains. The fourth hall is the biggest (around 60 m in diameter and 15–30 m in height). It is also called the *"Music Hall"* for its acoustic effects.



Figure 4. Plan of the Central Biambare Cave **Source:** Milanolo & Mulaomerovic, 2007-2008.



Figure 5. The Central Biambare Cave and the "amazed" visitor by its stalactites Source: Author's private collection

Area of Biambare is not popular only because of its caves, but there are many other attractions and various activities to be done: speleology & cave tours; walking in nature; cycling; riding; hiking & alpinism; fishing; hunting; skiing; collecting medicinal herbs and mushrooms; the playing yard for the kids *"The Wood City"*. Above all, it provides impressive scenic views.



Figure 6. Impressive landscape at Biambare: the view of the coniferous (Picea abies) forest from the cave door Source: Author's private collection

4. EVALUATION OF THE TOURIST IMAGE OF PL BIAMBARE

The evaluation of the tourist image of PL Biambare was based on a survey directly conducted among 72 visitors (53% foreign, 47% residents). In the structure of respondents, dominant participation by arrivals counts Bosnia and Herzegovina (residents) at 47% and Kuwait at 35%.

• *Satisfaction*, which is determined by *"pleasant environment and positive experience,"* is majority positive (78%), while it's highest among visitors from the Middle East region (Kuwait, Bahrain, and the UAE), Australia, and Bosnians. At the same time, satisfaction is higher among foreign visitors than among domestic visitors (4.15 vs. 3.93).

Most foreign tourists came to Sarajevo because of its interesting culture, and they didn't even expect they would have the opportunity to enjoy such a beautiful green site as Biambare, which is only about 1 hour away from the city. Furthermore, this site is rich in karst phenomena, such as caves, and it is vastly different from their living environment; for example, people in the Middle East live in desert cities. As a result, and given that Arab visitors constituted the majority of foreign visitors, the expectation for them is even higher than for locals who are already accustomed to this type of attraction. Arabian tourists generally prefer green areas, while the Biambare site delighted them with a fresh boreal climate, coniferous forests, fascinating meadows, caves, water, and impressive scenic views. Previous research also showed that tourists from the Middle East favor Biambare (besides Baščaršija) among other Sarajevo tourist attractions because "they are missing green sites in their origin places" (Žunić, 2018). Stanković (2000) also stated that "green areas are a particularly desirable attraction for Arabian visitors, as they come from arid desert areas". Protected areas around Sarajevo have been increasing in number lately, and they present a most valuable addition to the urban tourist supply as they combine cultural and nature tourism, while tourists' preferences for green sites are growing too.



Figure 8. The structure of respondents by dominant participants in the survey Source: Own research



Table 3. Total satisfaction (%)

Marks (x)	Frequency (f, %)	Product (fx)	AM (x̄)
5	56	56*5=280	
4	22	22*4=88	
3	12	12*3=36	4.24
2	10	10*2=20	4.24
1	0	0*1=0	
	∑f=100	$\sum fx = 424$	

Table 4. Arithmetic mean as an indicator of satisfaction

Source: Own research



Figure 10. The origin structure of satisfaction Source: Own research

• Loyalty, which is determined by "return visitors even if the ticket price increases," is a majority positive (67%), but it's some lower than total satisfaction (78%). It's highest among visitors from the Middle East region (Kuwait, Bahrain, the UAE, and Qatar) and the USA. In both cases, these are tourists from well-developed countries with higher life and economic standards than Bosnia's, so the ticket price is not as important as their level of comfort. That means they could still easily afford it, and they would do so gladly because they are satisfied with the product. Because most Arabian visitors are "desert-city people" and families, they prefer long days spent in a fresh nature setting that also includes a playground for children, etc. Although the sample of Americans here was small, the fact is that they are mostly "concrete-city people" (people who live in well-built and urbanized areas; for example, New York is popularly known as the "concrete jungle"), so the site of Biambare is an indispensable attraction.

It's important to note that among American visitors, some are actually of Bosnian origin, who have a strong connection to their native place and visit it often during the summer season. PL Biambare is an important site in their stay program, despite the fact that nature is not their primary motivation but rather VFR. There are several reasons why Bosnian Americans are returning visitors to Biambare (as they mentioned in the interview): quality time in nature; the availability and simplicity of a protected area; socialization; looking for an opportunity to find a partner from the same culture. In their opinion, open green areas are more practical than closed ones (cafés, etc.) for establishing new contacts. They even compared the availability and utilization of some protected areas in the *United States* to those in *Bosnia and Herzegovina*, and *Sarajevo*, and pointed out that *PL Biambare* is more suitable because of the short distance from the city; as well it enables a safe stay and an independent walk in a tamer forest; the ticket is cheaper; and the site is much nearer their residence.

Foreign tourists from faraway countries such as Malaysia and Australia are understandably neutral, given the enormous geographical distance and the fact that their primary motivation for visiting Sarajevo was its multicultural image as *"European Jerusalem"* rather than a green city. Plus, some of them stated they count themselves as *"world tavelers"* and prefer to meet new sites rather than visit the same ones.

When it comes to residents, the dominant contingent of respondents strongly disagreed that they would stay loyal to this site if the ticket price increased. It's mostly local people who live in the surrounding area (Krivajevići, Nišići, Olovo, Ilijaš, etc.) and have lower economic standards. Therefore, an expensive ticket could be a limitation for them to visit Biambare as their priority site.

Table 5. Total loyalty (%)				
Positive	67			
Neutral	8			
Negative	25			

Source: Own research



Figure 11. Total loyalty by the arrivals (%) Source: Own research

Marks (x)	Frequency (f, %)	Product (fx)	AM (x)
5	50	50*5=250	
4	17	17*4=68	
3	8	8*3=24	2.95
2	18	18*2=36	3.85
1	7	7*1=7	
	∑f=100	∑fx=385	

Table 6. Arithmetic mean as an indicator of loyalty





However, loyalty is higher among domestic visitors than foreign ones (3.53 vs. 3.32), which is logical because protected areas are the biggest benefit for locals (return visitors), as they provide a pleasant stay in nature close to home. The green sites are preferable for weekend recreation and socialization, as well as for health improvement. Leung et al. (2014), EEA (2012), Žunić (2022), and other sources state numerous benefits of protected areas for local people: "socio-cultural", "economic", "environmental", and, in the first place, an improvement of health and quality of life. "Protected areas provide a set of health activities called "green exercises": recreation, joy, relaxation, walking, staying in nature, meditation, stress relief, and immunization" (Žunić, 2022). According to information at the Biambare reception, most frequent domestic visitors are from Olovo and Sarajevo. Their primary motive is to stay in nature, but family visitors favor this site because of its landscapes and available facilities for children (the Wood city, sports fields, playhouses, walking paths, and eco cart/ ,,train"). Most of the local respondents consider that staying at Biambare is useful time well spent because family and friends gather in a healthy environment, generating numerous benefits such as recreation, socialization, games and fun, health, etc.

WOM marketing, which is determined by "recommendation and persuasion," is majority positive (82%), and it's generally the dominant share of strongly agreeing on attitudes among three measured parameters (satisfaction, loyalty, WOM). It's even higher among foreign than among domestic visitors (4.35 vs. 3.93).

Table 7. Total wOW marketing (%)				
Positive	82			
Neutral	3			
Negative	15			

lab	le	/.	lotal	wc	JM	mar	ket1	ng	(%	6)
										_

Source: Own research		Source:	Own	research	h
----------------------	--	---------	-----	----------	---

According to the structure of respondents by arrivals, the highest intensity of promotion intention (SA) is found among the visitors from the Middle East, USA, UK, and Australia, but it's also positive for Malaysians and residents. Their word of mouth will be an effective stimulant for new visitors to the Biambare site in the future.



Source: Own research

The fact is that the number of tourists from the Middle East at Biambare is growing lately, and they are the best living example of the type of visitors who are actually well inclined and stimulated by the recommendation of their friends and relatives, as Urry & Larsen (2011) emphesized. This is exactly what they responded to when they were asked about their way to deciding to visit Sarajevo and Biambare. Evidence of WOM effects on Arabian visitors of Sarajevo was confirmed by tourist employers who work with these clients as well (Žunić, 2018). USA visitors are also affected by WOM's promotion of Bosnia, Sarajevo, and Biamabre, not only by Bosnian Americans but also by other Americans who shared their positive impressions; some of them even announced them in the most popular daily magazine, *The New York Times*, which says "Bosnia is no longer a taboo destination, but a destination worth visiting" (Johanson, 2014).

Marks (x)	Frequency (f, %)	Product (fx)	AM (x)		
5	63	63*5=315			
4	19	19*4=76			
3	3	3*3=9	1.00		
2	2 14		4.29		
1	1	1*1=1			
	∑f=100	$\sum fx=429$			







AM (x)	Domestic	Foreign	Total
Satisfaction (S)	3.93	4.15	4.24
Loyalty (L)	3.53	3.32	3.85
(WOM) Promotion	3.93	4.35	4.29
Total average:	3.80	3.94	4.13

Table 9. Sum parameter evaluation

Source: Own research

From the table of sum parameter evaluation, we can conclude there's a strong relationship between S-L-WOM, especially between "satisfaction" and "WOM marketing," while "loyalty" could be more dependent on the profile of tourists. The overall tourist image of Biambare is positive. Obviously, this is a popular Bosnian green site with higher tourist value. Carballo et al. (2015) stated that "the image is a fundamental element in the promotion of tourism destinations since what differentiates one destination from another is key to its success" (Huete-Alcocer & Lopez-Ruiz, 2019).

5. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Future research should focus on more specific attributes of satisfaction, loyalty, and WOM promotion, as well as on the aspects of loyalty in relation to the tourist profile. The study was based on a simple questionnaire to understand three relevant parameters of the site's image. It was 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

conducted directly on the site, and it was important to save visitors' valuable time. Additional information was collected in a more casual way during the parallel interview with respondents. As a result, future research should be divided into phases to separately measure each of the examined indicators, and the survey should include precise variables (attributes) defined selectively for satisfaction, loyalty, and WOM marketing. This type of research should significantly impact the further development of Sarajevo and the Biambare tourist supply.

6. CONCLUSION

Biambare's protected landscape has a positive tourist image. It's a popular Bosnian green site with rising tourist appeal. To improve the overall quality of satisfaction, PL Biambare's future development should focus on receptive content and the creation of special programs. Camping and well-organized thematic tours, such as guided forest hiking or herb and mushroom picking, are still lacking. There are also a limited number of rest areas (shadirwan, benches, and a cafe) and parking spots. Some general satisfaction barriers observed on the site include:

- parking deficiency;
- a lack of benches and "shade fountains" (shadirwan);
- a scarcity of well-marked forest trails;
- a lack of hospitality (catering);
- a lack of special programs (e.g., picking mushrooms and medicinal herbs with a tour guide, etc.);
- unexplored or insufficiently explored caves (Central Cave is the only well-organized cave for visitor tours).

References

Beerli, A., & Martín, D. J. (2004). Factors influencing destination image. Annals of Tourism Researches, vol. 31 (3)

Bijambare - Bosnia Travel d.o.o.

- Development Planning Institute of the Sarajevo Canton. (2009). Spatial Plan of an Area of Special Characteristics "Protected Landscape of Biambare". https://zpr.ks.gov.ba/prostorni-plan-podru-ja-posebnih-obilje-ja-za-ti-eni-pejza-bijambare
- European Environment Agency (EEA). (2012). Report No 5/2012, ISSN 1725-9177.
- Huete-Alcocer, N., & López-Ruiz, V. R. (2019). The role of destination image in tourist satisfaction: the case of a heritage site, *Economic Research - Ekonomska Istraživanja*, DOI: 10.1080/1331677X.2019.1654399
- Johanson, M. (2014). Is it safe to travel to Sarajevo? 10 taboo destinations and why you should visit them. International New York Business Times.
- Jones, T., & Taylor, S. F. (2007). The conceptual domain of service loyalty: how many dimensions? *Journal of Services Marketing* 21/1 (2007) 36–51, Emerald Group Publishing Limited [ISSN 0887-6045] [DOI 10.1108/08876040710726284]
- Kim, D. J. (2012). An investigation of the effect of online consumer trust on expectation, satisfaction, and post-expectation. *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 10:219– 240 DOI 10.1007/s10257-010-0136-2

Kotler, P., & Keller, K. L. (2012). Marketing Management, New Jersey, Prentice Hall

- Leung, Y. F., Spenceley, A., Hvengaard, G., & Buckley, R. (2014). *Tourism and visitor management in protected areas*. IUCN, World Parks Congress, Sidney
- Milanolo, S., & Mulaomerovic, J. (2008). *Speleological research in the area of PL Biambare*. Bilten "*Our Karst*", Speleological society of BH Karst, Sarajevo

- Newman, J. W., & Werbel, R. A. (1973). *Multivariate analysis of brand loyalty for major household appliances. Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 10, pp. 404–409.
- Nezirović, S., Žunić, L., Košić, K., Drešković, N., Avdić, B., Orić, M. (2017). Valorisation of the Biambare caves- PL Biambare. Geographical Reviews (50) 71-82, Macedonian Geographical Society
- Rayesh, R. (2013). Impact of Tourist Perceptions, Destination Image and Tourist Satisfaction on Destination Loyalty: A Conceptual Model, Pasos. *Revista de Turismo y Patrimonio Cultural*, DOI: 10.25145/j.pasos.2013.11.039
- Reynolds, K., & Arnold, M. J. (2000). Customer loyalty to Selling and Sales Management. *Selling and Sales Management*, Vol. 20 No. 2, pp. 89-98.
- Stanković, S. M. (2000). Turistička geografija. Univerzitet u Beogradu.
- Tasci, A. D. A., Gartner, W. C., & Cavusgil, S. T. (2007). Conceptualization and operationalization of destination image. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*, vol. 31 (2): 194– 223. Doi: 10.1177/1096348006297290
- Urry, J., & Larsen, J. (2011). *The different perspectives of image perception*. The Tourist Gaze, SAGE, London
- Yoon, Y., & Uysal, M. (2005). An examination of the effects of motivation and satisfaction on destination loyalty: a structural model. *Tourism Management*, 26 (1): 45-56. Scientific Research Publishing



The Role and Importance of Women in the Revitalization of Intangible Heritage in Order to Maintain the Competitiveness of the Destination

Dijana Vuković¹ 💿 Sanja Varlaj² 💿 Sara Simić³ 💿 Received: November 22, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Lacemakers; Lepoglav lace; Women's heritage; Craftsmanship; Gender

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Abstract: Within the Croatian intangible cultural heritage, traditions and customs, due to their specific functions, occupy a unique place in tourism. The oral transmission of tradition, the culture of memory is manifested in the contemporary application of traditional customs as the most vital model of duration, regardless of the new way of life in which traditional customs have lost their significance. This paper aims to highlight women's role in tradition's transference - a practice that belongs to women within the framework of intangible cultural heritage, but also female creativity which is closely related to sustainable tourism. Protected cultural goods of intanaible heritage represent forms of cultural expression of particular importance in a certain area. Their historical roots testify to their exceptional value from a historical, artistic, ethnographic, sociological, anthropological, linguistic, or literary point of view. Intangible cultural heritage, which is passed down from generation to generation, provides a sense of identity and continuity and thus promotes respect for cultural diversity and human creativity. The paper aims to point out the role of intangible cultural heritage as a generator of destination development and the active role of women.

1. INTRODUCTION

Cultural tourism, although one of the oldest selective forms of tourism, still today remains one of the forms that cannot be precisely defined. The activities and places that were visited, which today are called cultural content and the type of travel that is now called cultural tourism, were traveled as far back as the time of the ancient Romans who traveled to Greece and Egypt. Such trips, which included sightseeing at historical sites, and visits to festivals, events and museums, were part of a wider lexicon of sightseeing activities that formed a complete tourist experience (Du Cros & McKercher, 2015). Cultural tourism enables visitors to get to know different aspects of a certain culture in the destination they are traveling to and thus enriches tourists with new knowledge, and possibly the local population with knowledge on the part of visitors and a better understanding of tourism demand as a whole. Cultural heritage includes artifacts, monuments, groups of buildings, and sites that have different values, including symbolic, historical, artistic, aesthetic, ethnological or anthropological, scientific, and social significance. (Richards, 1996:25)

Man has always belonged to a horde, a tribe, or, later, a nation. All that time within a certain nation meant the development of specific customs and the creation of its own traditions. This, in turn, favored the development of different cultures of expression, behavior, and work that become the identity of the people themselves, that is, they represent part of the cultural heritage of the people. *Cultural heritage can generally be divided into tangible and intangible. Intangible heritage is mainly created by the transmission from generation to generation and the oral*



¹ University North, Trg dr. Žarka Dolinara 1, 48000 Koprivnica, Croatia

² Zagreb School of Business, Ulica grada Vukovara 68, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia

³ Central European University, Quellenstrasse 51, 1100 Vienna, Austria

transmission of customs of a certain group of people in a certain geographical location, while tangible cultural heritage represents what man has made with his own hands or found in nature. (Horvat Majzek, 2018:69)

One of the very detailed definitions of intangible cultural heritage explains - *That "intangible cultural heritage" means the practices, representations, expressions, knowledge, skills – as well as the instruments, objects, artifacts, and cultural spaces associated therewith that communities, groups and, in some cases, individuals recognize as part of their cultural heritage. This intangible cultural heritage, transmitted from generation to generation, is constantly recreated by communities and groups in response to their environment, their interaction with nature, and their history, and provides them with a sense of identity and continuity, thus promoting respect for cultural diversity and human creativity. (Scovazzi, 2012)*

The sustainable development of tourism is based on the balanced management of ecological, socio-cultural, and economic development that will preserve the socio-cultural identity of the local community, improve their quality of life and ensure their well-being, while the development of quality tourist products and services will improve the quality and experience of tourists' satisfaction. and all this with the rational use and preservation of resources for the long-term generation of the aforementioned and the possibility of future generations using these resources. (Klarin, 2018)

When talking about the typology of cultural tourism, considering its diversity and complexity, it can be divided into several categories. For example, Smith distinguishes in his book (Smith, 2009):

- heritage tourism,
- art tourism,
- creative tourism,
- urban cultural tourism,
- rural cultural tourism.

Heritage tourism refers to everything that is material. These can be castles, buildings, palaces, monuments, archaeological sites, etc. Heritage tourism also includes intangible cultural and historical heritage, i.e. ceremonies, festivals, customs, manifestations, etc. Tourist destinations try to attract tourists by presenting their past, showing through different cultural and historical values. In this way, they try to create a specific and unique image of what the destination offers tourists, introduce tourists to its traditions, and enable them to gather new knowledge and experiences. The role of women has changed throughout history. When it is correlated with the creation of cultural heritage in the past, women can be viewed from an ideological and cultural point of view, according to which it is considered that women are more in touch with the emotional sphere. From a so-cioeconomic point of view, women are placed in the area of reproduction, education, and household care. The relationship between women and the revitalization and protection of material cultural values can be viewed from two aspects: from the aspect of women as active creators in the creation of cultural tangible and intangible heritage, and the second is the role of women in transmitting knowledge in the creation of tangible and intangible and intangible cultural heritage. The distinction between male and female roles, "typically female roles" is the subject of this paper.

Gender has become an important factor in the economic processes of globalization, a criterion on which the world economy counts and by means of which certain market-economic relations and forces in that market are shaped and/or restructured. Gender is one of the main categories of social

life as one of the oldest characteristics of people. Historically looking at gender roles, men were seen as leaders, financial caretakers, and heads of the house, while women were the ones who did the shopping, maintained the home, and provided care and emotional support. Gender salience, as an important factor in the activation of stereotypes, indicates the extent to which a person's gender is highlighted. For example, if we see a woman with an extremely stereotypical appearance, we are more likely to expect that she has "typically female" personality traits and a "female role". Considering gender roles today, it is the woman who desperately tries to remove the stain from her favorite dress, chooses the best hair shampoo to attract "all the men", and chooses the healthiest biscuits for her children, while the man helps the neighbor with household repairs, knows which bank offers the most favorable loan, and he gets a raise, but with it "flexible working hours". Historically speaking, women were the ones who made Lepoglav lace, whose role and significance in the framework of sustainable tourism is the subject of this research.

2. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND DISCUSSION

In sustainable tourism, women have a significant role in preserving intangible heritage, given the fact that throughout history they have created it. Natural and cultural heritage, as the basis of life and identity, is a permanent problem in societies. Women have made great progress within the formal labor market during the last quarter of the 20th century, which is the result of, among other things, women's resistance to the system of inequality and policies that allowed gender discrimination in the labor market, various dimensions of labor discrimination are still present in that market, and when it comes to sustainable tourism, they are expected to play a significant role in the protection of tangible and intangible cultural heritage. Croatian society is a modern society, but it has a number of characteristics of traditional culture, which was historically created by the collective action of people in different localities (regions), hence the diversity and wealth of heritage. Tradition has provided us with numerous material, social and spiritual goods that form cultural heritage. Tradition is not the past but *preserved progress, progress is continued tradition* (Weizsäcker, 1988).

Traditional societies are slowly changing, reproducing societies with an unchanged natural and cultural environment, in which the role of women is clearly defined. That is why they are able to accumulate and use the inherited assets and value system as cultural heritage. It may be contradictory, but it was in that society that most of the cultural heritage was created - from the construction characteristic of the wealthy class to social (marriage, customs, the relationship between men and women) and spiritual traditions (beliefs, religion, ethos). Tradition consolidates and preserves cultural heritage, especially intangible, but over time it acts selectively, so some "products" of culture fall into oblivion.

The skills, knowledge, and technologies of making today's significant cultural products are not devoid of identity. The classifications of trades have changed over time, but the basic division in this sphere is based on gender identity. The division into men's and women's trades originates from the oldest period of human history. Some authors call women's crafts "occupations". The products of women's craftsmanship come from domestic craftsmanship. They were rarely intended for the market, they mainly served to meet the needs of the family or the cooperative.

According to the above, defined research objectives:

• the current tourist offer focused on intangible cultural heritage is based on the gender division of traditional crafts and skills, which economically encourages the development of the local community; 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

- a key role in the promotion of modern and sustainable tourism in the local context and the expression of identity is played by traditionally female crafts and skills;
- the local community through the organization of events, education and other content becomes an active participant in economic progress and gender inclusion using the variety of intangible cultural heritage;
- intangible cultural heritage becomes a generator of local community development, increasing gender inclusiveness and familiarity with the destination itself.

Hypothesis One: Cultural heritage is one of the instruments of cultural identity and promotion of diversity and it is impossible to present it without intangible cultural heritage.

Hypothesis Two: The gender approach to intangible cultural heritage additionally affirms cultural heritage, and at the same time makes women step out of the sphere of invisibility and become an agent of development and an important stakeholder in sustainable tourism.

3. METHODOLOGY

The scientific method used to collect primary data was a survey, and respondents gave their answers anonymously. The research was conducted on a deliberate random sample of all visitors who have stayed in Lepoglava at some point and based on their experience have an experience of Lepoglava as a tourist destination. The research was conducted on 253 respondents who stayed in Lepoglava and know the elements of making Lepoglav lace. The sample consisted of 253 respondents. Regarding gender, there are 162 (64%) women and 91 (36%) men. The majority of respondents are aged 36-45, 92 of them (36.4%), 32 (12.6%) are under 25, 57 (22.5%) are between 26-35, 38 (15%) respondents are aged 46-55, 26 (10.3%) respondents are 56-65 years old, while 8 (3.2%) respondents are over 66 years old. According to the level of education, 87 (34.4%) of the respondents have a higher professional degree/master's degree, 80 (31.6%) have a second professional degree, and 68 (26.9%) have a higher professional degree/bachelor's degree. The least number of respondents, 8 (3.2 %) have a doctoral degree, and only 10 (4.0 %) have completed elementary school. At most, 174 (68.8 %) respondents are employed persons, 22 (8.7 %) are retired, 16 (6.3 %) are students, 11 (4.3 %) are postgraduate students, while there are a smaller number of respondents with their own OPG, craftsmen or subjects of some other employment. According to the number of household members, 125 (49.4%) respondents live in a household with 4-7 people, 124 (49%) with 1-3 people, while only 4 (1.6%) respondents stated that they live in a joint household with 8 and more people. 101 (39.9%) respondents have incomes higher than HRK 7,001, slightly less, 54 (21.3%) of them have incomes from HRK 5,001 to HRK 7,000, 38 (15%) respondents have incomes from HRK 3,001 to HRK 5,000, and up to HRK 3,000 per month, there are 28 (11.1%) respondents. 32 (12.6%) of the respondents stated that they did not have their own income.

Table 1. Measures of mean and dispersion, and coefficient of internal reliability (CronbachAlpha) of the rating scale of Lepoglav attractions according to personal taste

	Ν	Arithmetic	SD	Minimum –	Cronbach
		middle	3D	maximum	Alpha
Days of Lepoglav lace	253	4,10	1,1	1-5	0,806
Mineral fair - Lepoglav gate	253	3,86	1,2	1-5	0,806
An extinct volcano	253	3,82	1,2	1-5	0,806
Pauline culture	253	3,70	1,2	1-5	0,806
Penal correctional facility in Lepoglav	253	3,04	1,4	1-5	0,806

Means and dispersion of ratings of Lepoglav attractions according to personal taste are shown in Table 1. We notice that the most attractive is Lepoglav lace, arithmetic mean of 4.10 (standard deviation SD 1.1), mineral fair - Lepoglav agate arithmetic mean of 3.91 (SD 1,1), the Pauline culture with an arithmetic mean of 3.86 (SD 1.2), the extinguished volcano of an arithmetic mean of 3.82 (SD 1.2), then the Pauline culture with an arithmetic mean of 3.70 (SD 1.2), and the least attractive Penal correctional facility in Lepoglavan with arithmetic mean rating of 3.04 (SD 1.4). The Cronbach Alpha internal reliability coefficient for the rating scale of Lepoglav attractions according to personal taste is 0.806, which means that it is a good tool for evaluating individual attractions according to personal taste in our sample.

In Table 2, we can see that 138 (54.5%) respondents bought a souvenir that exudes and tells the story of Lepoglava culture while visiting Lepoglava, and 179 (70.8%) of them stated that they were satisfied with the souvenir and repeated the purchase. 29 (11.5%) respondents bought souvenirs in the tourist community, at a fair or event in Lepoglava and 75 (29.6%) respondents, and 28 (11.1%) outside the city of Lepoglava. 121 (47.8%) respondents bought the souvenir elsewhere. When asked which of the souvenirs seen tells the story of the town of Lepoglava as a tourist destination the most. 92% of respondents stated that the Lepoglav lace is the most expressive souvenir and without it, it is impossible to imagine the city of Lepoglava as a destination.

Table 2. Distribution of respondents according to whether they bought a souvenir, where t	they
bought it, and whether they were satisfied with the souvenir and repeated the purchase	;

	Number (%) of respondents
When visiting Lepoglava, did you buy a souvenir that exudes	
and tells the story of Lepoglava's culture?	
NO	115 (45,5)
YES	138 (54,5)
If your answer is yes, where did you buy the souvenir?	
To the Tourist Board	29 (11,5)
At a fair or event in Lepoglava and its surroundings	75 (29,6)
At a fair or event outside the city of Lepoglava	28 (11,1)
Else	121 (47,8)
Are you satisfied with the souvenir and repeat the purchase?	
NO	74 (29,2)
YES	179 (70,8)

Source: Own research

Using the Student's t-test, we tested the existence of a difference in the assessment of familiarity with certain attractions in relation to whether they had visited which landmark of Lepoglava. We set the significance level at $\alpha = 0.05$. All probabilities (p) are lower than the level of significance, and we can say that there is a significant difference in the evaluation of all attractions according to whether the respondents visited one of the sights or not, that is, hypothesis H1 is accepted, which reads: The experience of Lepoglava as a prison town by the general public of Croatia has changed. As we can see from Table 3, the respondents who visited one of the sights of Lepoglava gave a significantly higher rating to the knowledge of certain attractions compared to those who did not visit the sights. Those who visited one of the sights rated their knowledge of Lepoglav lace significantly better (t = -4.5, df=121; p < 0.001), the mineral fair - Lepoglav agate (t = -5.3, df=251; p < 0.001), an extinct volcano (t = -4.5, df=251; p < 0.001). Pauline culture (t = -6.9, df=251; p < 0.001), and KPD Lepoglav (t = -2, 2, df=251; p < 0.001). The highest score for knowledge of individual attractions was Lepoglav lace with a score of arithmetic mean of 4.13 (standard deviation of 1.1), and the extinct volcano was the least known, with a score of arithmetic means of 3.05 (standard deviation of 1.04).

		2	2	10			
Have you visited any	of the	Number of the	Arithmetic	Difference	95% range reliability	t (df)	D*
sights of the city:		respondents	Middle (SD)	Difference	FROM TO	τ (u1)	1
Days of Lepoglav	NO	80	3,33 (1,4)	0.808	-1,2	4.5 (121)	<0.001
lace	YES	173	4,13 (1,1)	-0,808	-0,5	-4,3 (121)	<0,001
Mineral fair -	NO	80	2,19 (1,3)	0.086	-1,4	5 2 (251)	<0.001
Lepoglav gate	YES	173	3,17 (1,4)	-0,980	-0,6	-5,5 (251)	<0,001
An extinct volcone	NO	80	2,21 (1,3)	0.840	-1,2	4.5 (251)	<0.001
All extinct volcano	YES	173	3,05 (1,4)	-0,840	-0,5	-4,5 (251)	<0,001
Douling oulture	NO	80	2,41 (1,3)	1 171	-1,5	6.0 (251)	<0.001
	YES	173	3,58 (1,2)	-1,1/1	-0,8	-0,9 (231)	<0,001
Penal correctional	NO	80	3,46 (1,3)	0.276	-0,7	2.2 (251)	0.026
facility in Lepoglav	YES	173	3,84 (1,2)	-0,570	-0,05	-2,2 (231)	0,020

Table 3. Knowledge of individual attractions of the City of Lepoglava in relation to whether
they have visited any of Lepoglava's landmarks

Note: *Student's t-test

Source: Own research

Preservation of natural and cultural heritage is part of the national awareness of its identity past and present, but also part of the heritage that belongs to global movements for the protection of natural and cultural diversity. Heritage is what is inherited (locally, nationally, globally) from the past and a number of previous generations and its interpretation in the touristic sense are impossible without the role of women. Preservation of heritage is a relationship between tradition and the future - future generations. Protection and preservation guarantee the affirmation of some values of tradition and accessibility in use.

Table 4. The connection between women and intangible cultural heritage through the prism of respondents about Lepoglav lace

Your opinion on the role of women in the creation and preservation

of cultural	intangible	heritage o	n the exam	ple of Le	epoglav	lace
	0	0		1	10	

Elements	Pearson correlation coefficient (r)
The role of Lepoglava lace in cultural events	0,302**
The connection of Lepoglav lace with other works of art from Lepoglava	0,399**
Lepoglav lace in the myths and legends of the region	0,473**
Lepoglav lace has a religious meaning for the inhabitants of Lepoglava	0,458**
Lepoglav lace has a metaphysical meaning for the inhabitants of Lepoglava	0,442**
Lepoglav lace is recognizable beyond the borders of Croatia	0,716**
Lepoglav lace is a reflection of female creativity and skill	0,464**
Love for the land is woven into the Lepoglav lace	0,499**
In history, Lepoglav lace represented a way of using free time	0,506**
Making Lepoglav lace today is a matter of preserving tradition	0,435**
Lepoglav lace should be used more in the production of other clothing products	0,325**
Making Lepoglav lace is exclusively a women's craft	0,531**
Lepoglava lace is an original souvenir of the Lepoglava region	0,488**

Note: ** p < 0,01

Source: Own research

The centuries-old tradition of making lace in the Lepoglav area gave birth to and has preserved to this day a distinctive form of lacemaking, which is primarily recognizable thanks to the talent of Danica Brossler. Her talent was followed by a large number of hard-working women - lacemakers who knew how to translate her ideas into a finished product - which we recognize today as Lepoglav lace (Vrtiprah, 2006). Only women participate in the production of Lepoglav lace, and with their knowledge, skills, and techniques, they represent the character of Lepoglava and Varaždin County and the spirit of the local population of the entire county. Women's jobs included the making of clothes and other items, which often went beyond their use value and became part of a valuable heritage in the household, church, or monastery. The authors of valuable items and decorations made of lace and embroideries of high artistic value most often remained anonymous, and their products made of sensitive and consumable materials, canvas, wool, silk, and thread were easily destroyed. In the skill of embroidery, the nuns in the monasteries took the lead and made and decorated church and priestly vestments from fine and expensive materials (silk, silver and gold threads, pearls). Table 4 shows the relationship between women and Lepoglav lace. Table 4 indicates a positive correlation between the role and importance of women in the production of Lepoglav lace. The value of the correlation coefficient from 0 to 1 is a positive correlation and indicates a balanced relationship between women, the making of Lepoglav lace, its importance in national identity, and the necessity of preservation. The role of Lepoglav lace in cultural events r=0.302; Correlation of Lepoglava lace with other works of art from Lepoglava r=0.399; Lepoglav lace in myths and legends of the region r=0.473; Lepoglava lace has a religious meaning for the inhabitants of Lepoglava r=0.442.

Due to the size of the community (spatial and population), as well as the fact that the town of Lepoglava hardly has a person who is not in some way or another directly related to Lepoglava lace (be it a family member, fellow resident, acquaintance, etc.), the culture of the Paulines (priests) who recognized the beauty of lace so many years ago, today represents a very specific cultural phenomenon.

With the great division of labor in the past, it was women who stood out, whose skill was recognizable and enabled them to have better living conditions through lace making. Craftsmanship was highly valued in all time and space units. In our country, even today, it is said that "a craft is worth its weight in gold", and one who "creates what he sees with his eyes" is regarded as very capable.

In the era of industrialization, some trades are gradually dying out, and some are disappearing. Their products, which are still used, evoke nostalgic memories of the "good old days". What makes craftsmanship, and especially the art of making Lepoglav lace, specific compared to other categories is their non-national character. Namely, the making of Lepoglav lace is conditioned by the skills of natural resources, and the social life of the Lepoglav region, and is therefore tied to the identity of the local community, which was created and preserved from decay by women.

4. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Future trends of personalization and niche markets in tourism can be used to strengthen further and emphasize the importance of intangible heritage and women's role in it. Each destination could built-on on its USP and become more prominent and attract high-ticket clients. Providing finance for young scientists to dig deeper into these themes and with research results give precise answers to their communities, regions, local businesses, and women because they have skills but do not have the resources and knowledge to make a good living from these skills. There are numerous examples like Lepoglav in Croatia because of our rich history and handy people/women. For instance: Korčula's cake Lumblija or Strudelfest in a small village near Karlovac. Both examples are part of an intangible heritage passed by women; mother to daughter for centuries. In this way, it is possible to strengthen the local economy, and the significance of some niche destinations, keep young women in smaller towns and ensure their secure existence and independence. Traditionally women's crafts and skills play a key role in the promotion of modern and sustainable tourism in the local context. This hypothesis could be further investigated. 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

5. CONCLUSION

Observing concrete opportunities on selected examples and interesting ones exposed to strong depopulation, especially in rural areas, it is essential to achieve communication with young people who are a necessary element in defining a general and gender approach to cultural heritage. The educational system plays a particularly important role in this, through which it is possible to influence the change of the cultural model. Changing consciousness and patriarchal patterns is a longterm process that requires the involvement of all social structures. At the level of the local community, it is necessary to analyze cultural practices in detail and harmonize them with the own dynamics and development plans of the tourist destination. By introducing a gender perspective into local tourism policies, it is possible to influence the speed and efficiency of establishing gender equality. The manner and dynamics by which knowledge and skills will be affirmed as unused capacities of women, especially in rural areas, will establish the process of embedding this approach in the entire cultural heritage as an indispensable cultural and touristic product. To be yourself, to find your uniqueness, to harmonize the experiences of the elderly and the needs of the young, to nurture and be proud of tradition, to transform resources into a sustainable economy - this is the imperative of preserving women's heritage, as shown by examples and conducted research.

References

- Du Cros, H., & McKercher, B. (2015). Cultural Tourism: What is cultural tourism? 2nd edition. Routledge.
- Horvat Majzek, J. (2018). Međimurje is the cultural and natural resource of our Međimurje cultural heritage, Čakovec, Zrinski.
- Klarin, T. (2018). Assumptions of successful implementation of the concept of sustainable development of tourism: Example of urban destinations of the Republic of Croatia, Acta Turistica, 30(1), str. 43-85.
- Richards, G. (1996). *Cultural Tourism in Europe. Introduction: Culture and Tourism in Europe*, 10-18. CABI, Wallingford.
- Smith, V. (Ed). (1989). *Hosts and guests: The anthropology of tourism*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Scovazzi, T. (2012). Cultural Heritage, Cultural Rights, Cultural Diversity, Brill/ Nijhof.
- Vrtiprah, V. (2006). *Cultural resources as factors of tourist offer in the 21st century: Tourist offer and demand in globalization processes*. Economic thought and practice, pages 152;279-296.

Additional reading

- Altvater, E, & Mahnkopf B. (1997). Grenzen der Globalisierung: Ökonomie, Ökologie und Politik in der Weltgesellschaft, Münster. Manuel Castells, Moć identiteta, Zagreb.
- Cifrić I. (2013). Dimension of sociocultural identity. In: Croatian identity in change (collection), edited by: Cifrić I.; Trako Poljak T.; Klasnić K. Library "Development and environment", Zagreb.
- Kalanj, R. (2008). *Theoretical confrontations with the source of identity. In: Relational identities* (collection), arranged by Cifrić I.. Zagreb.
- Kaul, I.(ed), Grunberg, I. (ed) & Stern, M. A. (ed.) (1999). *Global Public Goods: international cooperation in the 21st century*, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Rifkin, J. (2005). Age of Access: The New Culture of Hypercapitalism, J.P. Tarcher/Putnam, New York.
- Stiglitz, J. E. (2009). Making globalization work: new steps to a just world, Algoritam, Zagreb.


Global Stagflation Shocks: Macroeconomic Challenges and Repercussions

Jovica Pejčić¹

Received: October 25, 2022 Accepted: January 13, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Stagflation; Macroeconomic repercussions; USA; Germany; France

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: This paper analyses key macroeconomic repercussions of the global pandemic and geo-political crises in terms of growing recessionary and inflationary pressures, and finally, the potential occurrence of stagflation. Primarily, stagflation shocks in the 1970s are analyzed and compared to the current crisis for the period January 2020 - July 2022 in the example of selected economies (the United States, Germany and France). Descriptive analysis showed that in the observed period, inflationary and recessionary pressures existed in USA, Germany and France; however, those pressures could not be identified as stagflation, since they did not happen simultaneously. Namely, during the pandemic crisis, recessionary pressures were present, since the GDP growth decreased till the first quarter of 2021 in analyzed economies, while inflation rates were stable. On the other hand, with the recovery of economies in the second quarter of 2021 inflationary pressures were stronger, intensified by the geopolitical crisis. Therefore, it seems that the most visible anomaly of the global economic system in 2022 is the presence of inflationary pressures.

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper investigates the realization of targeted macroeconomic goals in the circumstances of global discontinuities, which could lead to stagflation pressures. Namely, the focus is on the achievement of stable, sustainable and permanent economic growth and development of the observed economies when a high dose of uncertainty and insecurity in the global environment exists.

For the policymakers, the observation and improvement of three macroeconomic indicators are of primary importance: an increase in gross domestic product, a low unemployment rate and low inflation. These indicators are mutually intertwined as will be discussed. So far, it has been assumed that it is almost impossible to ensure a strong pace of GDP growth without reducing unemployment or without suffering inflationary pressure. Namely, conducting an anti-inflationary policy would come at the expense of a slightly lower gross domestic product with a higher unemployment rate. The bottom line is that there is bad news as well as good news. Current circumstances, which are a reflection of exogenous health shock and the current geopolitical crisis, lead to an even more complicated situation. Namely, nowadays economic policymakers are faced with the simultaneous pressure of inflation and recession, which can be recognized as stagflation.

Stagflation occurs when the economy experiences a halt or decline in production, a drop in overall output and an increase in unemployment, as well as high inflation. Hence, all three macroeconomic indicators are going in the wrong direction, and the economy is simultaneously threatened by output decline and inflationary adjustment. Furthermore, in the presence of stag-flation pressure, high inflation and a stagnant economy can fully coexist, or low inflation and a growing economy, which has not been the case so far. Thus, the arrival of stagflation was something completely new, and far more complex for the functioning of the entire macroeconomic



Faculty of Economics in Subotica, University in Novi Sad, Serbia

system that requires completely new solutions with a comprehensive approach and analyses (Boesler & Graffeo, 2022).

The goal of this paper is twofold: (1) to elaborate a review of the stagflationary shocks of the 1970s and (2) to conduct a descriptive analysis of potential stagflationary pressures in the period 2020-2022 during the pandemic and geo-political crises, evaluating the key macroeconomic indicators of the United States of America (USA), Germany and France. Hypotheses analyzed in the paper are: (H_1) recessionary pressures are present in the USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; (H_2) inflationary pressures are present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; (H_3) stagflationary pressures are present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; (H_3) stagflationary pressures are present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; (H_3) stagflationary pressures are present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; (H_3) stagflationary pressures are present in USA.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. After the introduction, section 1 presents the literature review, section 2 deals with the speculative analysis of stagflation, and section 3 discusses the stagflation shock during the 1970s. Section 4 tests the functioning of the global economy through the presence of fear of stagflation caused by the emergence of Covid-19, and the prolonged escalation of geo-political relations between Russia and Ukraine. Concluding remarks are summarized within the last section.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The emergence of stagflationary pressures is a current and increasingly omnipresent topic that is discussed vigorously on a global scale. It directly affects the functioning of the state, the development of the economy, as well as the economic standard of individuals. Taylor (2022) explains stagflation as the worst experience of the 70s of the last century, indicating that the economic environment needs more than a decade to revitalize its constructs. Torry (2022) points out that the effects of stagflation shocks are seen as a trap through which the world's economy passes, due to the negative trends that stagflation brings with it, such as the radical destruction of the macroeconomic system. Koenigsberg (2022) explains the phenomenon of stagflation as a nightmare faced by economies, which has a harsh effect on key macroeconomic variables. Shipman and Tomlinson (2022) indicate that this far-reaching problem reflects chronic problems at the global level, emphasizing a high dose of stagflation fear, which resulted in a "flood" of ministerial resignations (mainly Ministers of Economy). Accordingly, only those countries which start working hard "today" and make extremely difficult decisions will be able to overcome the crisis.

Koegh (2022) emphasizes that the world's number one problem when it comes to the macroeconomy is rapidly growing inflation, describing its distorting effect on the purchasing power of the population; namely, this is explicitly reflected in the goods market's demand reduction, which spills over into the labor market's demand decline and consequently brings down the entire aggregate supply. Accordingly, problems of such proportions should be suppressed at the moment of creeping growth, and not at the moment when they take on galloping proportions. Rossouw (2022) indicates that at the moment the biggest problem of the global economic system is rising inflation because people on fixed incomes such as pensioners are getting poorer over time. As inflation rises, their purchasing power decreases.

Hawkins (2022) believes that "inflationary psychology" is a phenomenon that currently represents the foundation of the macro-economic problems; hence, the expected rise in prices tomorrow accelerates consumption today, automatically reflecting on damaging aggregate demand and price

accumulation. Therefore, the reaction of the economic authorities, which is "required" to curb inflation through higher interest rates and reduce government spending, just pushes the economy into recession. Granville and Martin (2022) point out that the decline of economic activities is a crucial problem, believing that the form of the recession cannot be accurately predicted. However, one is certain, the recovery will not be fast, and that the economies will have to make a lot of efforts to return to the level of economic activity before the emergence of Covid-19.

Dolar (2022) indicates that the eventual continuation of the tightening of relations between Russia and Ukraine would lead to an increase in the price level of oil derivatives, which would increase global inflation, moreover a gradual entry into the phase of recession, i.e. possible stagflation. Olney (2022) explains that the presence of inflation is an enormous problem that can occur due to two reasons. The first reason is that there is an increase in demand that results in an increase in the price level, while the second reason refers to disruptions in the supply chain. Furthermore, he points out that the limited supply of oil derivatives, electricity, or agricultural inputs could be recognized as a stagflation generator, highlighting the fact that people nowadays buy less at higher prices.

Katić (2022) indicates that the global economy has reached the highest level of uncertainty and that almost all economic activities are getting out of control. Namely, some "hidden hand is pushing us into ruin", referring to the "state that thinks", with the active intervention of the state apparatus to remove the negative consequences of the market model of the functioning of the economy.

Kapoor (2022) points out that an eventual rise in interest rate levels by Central Banks in response to a rise in price levels would have the effect of wreaking havoc on household budgets. The author also asserts two essential reasons that preceded the current condition of the global economy - first, the decline in industrial production caused by the emergence of Covid-19, and second, the effects of events on the territory of Ukraine.

3. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK OF STAGFLATION

The theoretical framework of stagflation analysis can be based on the application of the AS-AD model, on which basis, it is possible to see the dynamics of changes and the effects of shocks caused by stagflation movements. To analyze the effect of external shocks and macroeconomic repercussions, diagram 1 is presented. Diagram 1 shows two axes (X and Y). On the Y-axis is the price level within one economy, that is, the economic system, while on the X-axis is the movement of output, that is, the produced quantity of products in a time interval of one year in one country.

Diagram 1 shows three curves:

- Supply curve AS,
- Supply curve AS'
- AD demand curve.

At the point where the demand curve and the original supply curve intersect, the equilibrium point (E) is read and defines the given price level (p) and the given output level (q). In a situation where there is a negative shift in the supply curve (AS), i.e. moving to the left (or up) and creating a new supply curve (AS'), a new intersection with the original demand curve (AD) creates a new equilibrium point (E'). E' is formed on a new, higher, price level (p') and it is defined with a new, lower, quantity of output (q').

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings



Source: Author, based on Bajracharya (2018)

The conclusion is that in the new equilibrium point, a smaller amount of products is produced at higher prices, which indicates stagflationary pressures. The question arises, what factors cause a negative shift in the AS supply curve and consequently stagflation? Stagflation most often occurs when there is a supply-side shock, if the supply structure of a key factor of production, such as the supply of labor, electricity or oil, is disrupted. Oil, as one of the key sources of energy, can be used as input and output for almost all existential and business activities. Certainly, the primary importance of understanding a very complex topic is that if a country faces a shortage of the mentioned production factors, it will automatically be reflected in an increase in prices, along with a decrease in production.

Overcoming the situation explained in Diagram 1, refers to the active role of the state and policymakers. In terms of recession, policymakers apply an expansive fiscal policy to initiate and stimulate production in order to return the economy to a state of economic balance. Another high-frequency situation is the occurrence of inflationary pressure. The problem itself was overcome by the gradual application of a restrictive monetary policy, i.e. by withdrawing the money supply from circulation and increasing the reference interest rate, in order to minimize the harmful aggregate demand. When the economy is faced with inflation and recession simultaneously, the application of expansive fiscal and monetary measures would certainly lead to the recovery of the economic environment; however, then inflationary pressure could lead to a hyperinflationary problem, which is certainly not the goal. On the other hand, although restrictive adjustment measures application would return inflation to economic normality, the economy would move from recession to depression and face an even more catastrophic macroeconomic scenario.

The complexity of these problems could be stressed by the fact that stagflation is a rare economic situation; thus, there is no standard solution for overcoming it, especially having in mind that current stagflation is a consequence of war and global economic uncertainty.

4. REVIEW OF THE STAGFLATIONARY SHOCKS OF THE 1970S

The question arises whether any economy has experienced stagflationary consequences so far, i.e. the so-called supply-side shock. The last time such a situation, which economists also call a nightmare, happened in the United States of America (USA) was in the 70s of the last century. Namely, it was a period in which energy prices rose incredibly. The USA is an economy that in

the 1960s and 1970s imported enormous amounts of petroleum products in order to strengthen its macroeconomic structure, accumulate industrial production and generally meet the needs of the population. Jackson (2022) pointed out that everything was completely normal, functioning smoothly until the appearance of the embargo by the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC).

At that moment the US economy in a short period simultaneously experienced an increase in the consumer price index, above 10% (such an increase has not been recorded in the US almost since the Second World War), while unemployment jumped from 4.6% in 1973 to 9% in 1975, and GDP plummeted. The OPEC countries continued to increase the oil price in the following period, thus, this was automatically reflected in the fact that inflation grew from year to year, and the economy sank into recession. Doubtless, the USA, as one of the most developed economic systems, tried to minimize the effects of the increase in oil-derivate prices. The USA government changed Americans' lifestyles through policy measures, which was reflected in increased savings and rationalization of the consumption of an irreplaceable energy source (Krugman, 2022).

Year	Unemployment rate %	GDP %	Inflation Rate %
1969	3.5	3.1	6.2
1970	6.1	0.2	5.6
1971	6.0	3.3	3.3
1972	5.2	5.3	3.4
1973	4.9	5.6	8.7
1974	7.2	-0.2	12.3
1975	8.2	-0.5	6.9
1976	7.8	5.4	4.9
1977	6.4	4.6	6.7
1978	6.0	5.5	9.0
1979	6.0	3.2	13.3
1980	7.2	-0.3	12.5
1981	8.5	2.5	8.9
1982	10.0	-1.8	3.8
1983	8.3	2.2	3.6

 Table 1. Trends in the rate of unemployment, inflation and GDP in the USA (1968 - 1983)

Source: Trading economics (2004)

A strong US economy, which employs hundreds of millions of people, has huge industrial production and has ambitions for further growth and development. If the oil supply on the market decreases, it would automatically lead to an increase in the price level (inflation), while on the other hand, producers would reduce the aggregate supply. Further, a reduction in supply would lead to a decline in national production, with a rapidly growing unemployment rate.

Based on Table 1, it could be concluded that from 1969 until 1982, unemployment rose from 3.5% to 10%. While in the observed time interval, the level of inflation rose from 6.2% to the highest 13.3%. This certainly indicated that the US economy was facing stagflationary movements.

Graph 1 shows that two stagflation episodes were identified, due to two oil shocks, in 1974 and 1979-1980. Beginning with a recession, the 1970s was a decade of pessimism and ended very painfully with the Vietnam War. Memories of the Great Depression made economic policymakers reluctant to use contractionary monetary and fiscal policies to curb inflationary pressures, as it was believed that an increase in unemployment would be completely unacceptable, meaning that the American population would experience additional deflationary adjustment.



Graph 1. Stagflationary shocks in the USA (1969-1983) Source: Author, according to Trading economics

Graph 1, (panel a) shows the movement of the inflation rate, while (panel b) shows the movement of the GDP growth rate in the United States of America in the time interval 1969 -1982. The conclusion is that the American economy faced simultaneous inflationary and recessionary pressure twice, the first time in the period 1974 - 1975, while the second time was in 1980, which indicated the presence of stagflation.

5. DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS OF STAGFLATIONARY PRESSURES DURING THE PANDEMIC AND GEO-POLITICAL CRISES (2020-2022)

Fifty years after the 1970s, fears of stagflation are vivid again. The combination of rising inflation and slowing economic growth after the initial strong recovery from the Covid-19 crisis has been challenging for major economies around the world. It is expected that the conflict in Ukraine further raises global inflation and further dampens growth momentum. Moreover, in order to make a comparative analysis of the crisis that happened in the 1970s and the one that is happening today, it is necessary to observe from several years back. In the first months of its origin, the coronavirus was considered exclusively as a health problem. However, the speed of its spread which caused the lockdown of economies had final effects in slowing down economic activities. Certainly, it imprinted on the economic context of 2020. Global connectivity, intertwined relations between

countries, dependence on production factors, as well as the high mobility of labor, capital, goods and services, rapidly led to a negative impact on the macroeconomic indicators of almost all countries of the world (Mitchell & Duehren, 2022). The decrease in production was followed by a decrease in demand in the labor market, which was reflected in the increase in the unemployment rate. The decrease in industrial production is mostly noticeable in Germany (almost the most developed economy of the European Union before the pandemic crisis), the USA, and France, but also in the rest of the world. Russia's invasion of Ukraine which began on February 24, 2022, directly complicated enough complex situation for the functioning of the global economy. Ukraine is one of the most important producers of basic food that is an inevitable part of everyone's consumer basket. That country fulfills almost half of the world's needs for sunflower oil. 15% of corn and 10% of wheat. The lack of food was especially felt in the large number of European economies that are directly dependent on Ukrainian imports, grains and edible oil. However, the consequences are far greater. In May 2022, the United Nations warned that the level of hunger in the world had reached a "new high" and that tens of millions of people could face long-term hunger because of the war. As of May 2022, 23 countries have imposed food export restrictions. Until the beginning of the war on the territory of Ukraine, the Russian Federation was the leading supplier and main source of energy for the whole of Europe. They ranked first when it comes to natural gas exports to the world market, second when it comes to crude oil and third when it comes to supplying coal. In 2020, Russian oil, gas and coal accounted for a quarter of energy consumption in the European Union (Schifferes, 2022).

The description of the situation and pressures after the pandemic crisis and the crisis in Ukraine is irresistibly reminiscent of the period of oil shocks and stagflation in the 70s - inflationary pressures are rising again caused by the same triggers in the context of rising energy prices, with a decline in economic activity. In order to analyze whether stagnation pressures are real, it will be analyzed the level of GDP and inflation on the example of the US, German and French economies. Since that stagflation is analyzed for the US economy in Section 3, stagflation pressures are analyzed in the present period in the USA, followed by an analysis of stagflation pressures in the largest European economies, Germany and France.

The US's inflation rate increased to 8.7% in May 2022 (Graph 2, panel a). In the US economy, there is an increase in the price level of almost all products. The prices of energy products increased by 34.6%, due to the increase in the price of gasoline (48.7%), fuel oil (106.7%, the largest recorded increase), electricity 12%, and natural gas (30.2%, the highest since July 2008). The costs of the most basic existential activities increased by about 10%. A large increase was recorded in the prices of meat, fish and eggs (14.2%). Other increases were also seen in accommodation costs (5.5%), used cars (16.1%) and airfares (37.8%). The citizens of one of the most developed economies in the world are facing a significant reduction in purchasing power caused by inflationary pressure. The gross domestic product of the USA (Graph 2, panel b) indicated complete stability until the emergence of Covid-19. In 2020, there will be a "negative growth" of the observed indicator by 3.4%. After the fall, the US manages to consolidate its public finance, refusing recession pressures.

As can be seen from Graph 3 (panel a), the annual inflation rate in Germany was confirmed at 7.9% in May 2022. It was the third consecutive month of record-high inflation since German reunification, also it was the highest since 1973/1974, driven mainly by faster increases in energy (38.3%) and food (11.1%) prices. Energy prices rose sharply, especially fuel oil (94.8%), motor fuel (41.0%) and natural gas (55.2%), reflecting the impact of Russia's invasion of Ukraine.



Graph 2. Inflation Rate and GDP growth rate in the USA (2020 – 2022) **Source:** Author, according to Trading economics (2022)

Based on Graph 3 (panel b), although it is visible that the presence of Covid-19 had a direct impact on the reduction of GDP in 2020 to an almost record level, in the next few months, by conducting a responsible policy, Germany's macroeconomic environment returned to a state of stability, which repeated the average growth during the last decade of 3.6%. It seems that the reduction of GDP in Germany had character as a structural break, and therefore could not be identified as recession and stagflation, although stagflation pressures are still present.



Graph 3. Inflation rate and GDP growth in Germany (2020 – 2022) **Source:** Trading economics (2022)

The annual inflation rate in June 2022 was changed to 5.8% (Graph 4, panel a). This increase in inflation is linked to an increase in the price level of energy products (27.8%), especially oil derivatives (36.7%), diesel (35.2%), gasoline (24.2%) and gas (55.0%). As far as the price of electricity is concerned, there is a slight decrease (6.5%). The prices of agricultural and food products have accumulated by about (5%). Until the emergence of Covid-19, France had a stable GDP growth of about 4%, until experienced a steep decline in the second quarter of 2020 (Graph 4, panel b). Also in the second quarter of 2021, France achieves recovery. In comparison to Germany and the USA, France had a similar dynamic of GDP growth and inflation rate, although, the decline of GDP in the second quarter of 2022 was deeper. On the other hand, inflationary pressures in France are lower in comparison to Germany and USA, achieving maximum inflation of 6 %.



Graph 4. Inflation rate and GDP growth in France (2020 - 2022) **Source:** Author, according to Trading economics (2022)

Based on the previous analyses, we can conclude that in the observed countries (USA, Germany and France) similar dynamics of GDP growth and inflation rate exist in the period January 2020 - July 2022. Namely, during the pandemic crisis, the GDP decreased till the first guarter of 2021 in all analyzed economies, which could be recognized as recessionary pressures. In that period inflation rate was stable, below 2%. However, with the recovery of economies, in the second quarter of 2021, the inflation rate started to increase, while inflationary pressures were stronger in each quarter till July 2022. Therefore, the conclusion drawn is that although in the observed period, inflationary and recessionary pressures existed in USA, Germany and France, those pressures could not be identified as stagflation, since they did not occur simultaneously. Although no country has recorded major discontinuities in economic activities that would indicate chronic macroeconomic problems, the dose of insecurity and danger of current period is certainly at a high level. What is evident is that the impact of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine is already showing itself in sharply higher prices of key goods. Many developing countries that are highly dependent on food imports are now even more vulnerable. Whether the geo-political crisis will have more far-reaching effects on the functioning of the global economy remains to be seen.

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

6. CONCLUSION

Based on the described and empirically documented problem of stagflation, taking into account experiences from stagflation in the 1970s, it could be concluded that the global economy is currently in an unenviable situation. The increase in inflation with a short-term decrease in economic activities was reflected in current macroeconomic variables. Descriptive empirical analysis showed that a similar dynamic of GDP growth and inflation rate occurred in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022. Namely, during the pandemic crisis, recessionary pressures were present, since the GDP growth decreased till first quarter of 2021 in analyzed economies, while inflation rates were stable, below 2%. On the other hand, with the recovery of economies in the second quarter of 2021, inflationary pressures were stronger in each quarter till July 2022. Therefore, the conclusion is that inflationary and recessionary pressures existed in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; however, those pressures could not be identified as stagflation, since they did not occur simultaneously. Namely, according to the descriptive analysis conducted, hypotheses, H_1 and H_2 are confirmed: recessionary and inflationary pressures were present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022; while hypothesis (H_3) is rejected: stagflationary pressures were not present in USA, Germany and France in the period January 2020 - July 2022.

It seems that the most visible anomaly of the global economic system is the presence of inflation, which is partly caused by the emergence of Covid-19, and then prolonged by the military conflict in Ukraine. Consequently, it is important to highlight the quote of economist Katić (2022): "When the tide of printed money recedes, only then will you see who was swimming in it". Namely, the real cost of living for the largest part of the world's population very often exceeds statistical inflation rates. If the states decided to return the price level to normal and "rein" inflation, then interest rates would increase, money would stop being printed, and governments would borrow less, but there would be a certain danger of deflationary adjustment and a potential collapse of the financial system. Certainly, the coming crisis will make low-developed and poor economies dissatisfied, since big capital will withdraw even faster, protecting high-profit rates, industrial production will melt, and states will be powerless because their economic capacities will hardly be able to support their economy.

References

- Boesler, M., & Graffeo, E. (2022). What's Stagflation, and Why Is It Such a Worry Now? Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/energy/whats-stagflation-and-whyis-it-such-a-worry-now/2022/07/15/5c0162c6-0459-11ed-8beb- 2b4e481b1500_story.html
- Dolar, V. (2022). Why stagflation is an economic nightmare and could become a real headache for Biden and the Fed if it emerges in the US. Taken from The conversation, https://theconversation.com/why-stagflation-is-an-economic-nightmare-and-could-become-a-real-headache-for-biden-and-the-fed-if-it-emerges-in- the-us-179036
- Granville, B., & Martin, C. (2022). Is a major recession unavoidable? Three economists give their views, The conversation, https://theconversation.com/ is-a-major-recession-unavoidable-three-economists-give-their-views-185233
- Hawkins, J. (2022).1970s-style stagflation now playing on central bankhttps://theconversation. ers' minds. Taken from the site, The conversation, com/1970s-style-stagflation-now-playing-on-central-bankers-minds-185868

- Jackson, L. (2022). *Is The US Economy Heading For Stagflation? Retrieved from,* The conversation, https://www.forbes.com/advisor/investing/stagflation/
- Kapoor, S. (2022). *Inflation: why it's happening and why interest rates are going up to combat it,* The conversation, https://theconversation.com/ inflation-why-its-happening-and-why-interest-rates-are-going-up-to-combat-it-187665
- Katić, N. (2022). *Kada momci iz Davosa drže reč*, Politika, https://www.politika.rs/scc/ clanak/516210/Kad-momci-iz-Davosa-drze-rec
- Koegh, B. (2022). *Fed hopes biggest rate hike in 22 years tames inflation without recession or stagflation: 3 essential reads on what it all means,* The conversation, https://theconversation. com/inflation-should-be-viewed-as-public-enemy-number-1-heres-why-18319
- Koenigsberg, O. (2022). 3 Strategic Options to Deal with Inflation. Retrieved from Harvard business review, The conversation, https://hbr.org/2022/01/3-strategic-options-to-deal-with-inflation
- Krugman, P. (2022). *That Was the Stagflation That Was, The New York times*, https://www.ny-times.com/2022/07/07/opinion/inflation-recession-the-fed.html
- Mitchell, J. & Duehren, A. (2022), *High Inflation, Slowing Growth Raise Risk of Global Downturn*, The Wall Street Journal, https://www.wsj.com/articles/high-inflation-slowing-growthraise-risk-of-global-downturn-11652908756?mod=Searchresults_pos6&page=2
- Olney, M. (2022). *Inflation rates are rising in the US an economist explains why*, The conversation, https://theconversation.com/inflation-rates-are-rising-in-the-us-an-economist-explains-why-187757
- Rossouw, J. (2022). Inflation should be viewed as a public enemy number: here's why. Retrieved from The conversation, The conversation, https://theconversation.com/ inflation-should-be-viewed-as-public-enemy-number-1-heres-why-183193
- Schifferes, S. (2022). Ukraine: how the Russian invasion could derail the fragile world economy, The conversation, https://theconversation.com/ ukraine-how-the-russian-invasion-could-derail-the-fragile-world-economy-177937
- Shipman, A., & Tomlinson, P. (2022). *Inflation, recession fears and tax cuts: any new UK chancellor faces an unenviable in-tray,* The conversation, https://theconversation.com/inflationrecession-fears-and-tax-cuts-any-new-uk-chancellor-faces-an-unenviable-in-tray-186484
- Taylor, A. (2022). *Why a 1970s-style 'stagflation' crisis would hit the world's poor hard,* The Washington post, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/06/09/ stagflation-poor-countries-world-bank/
- Torry, H. (2022). What Is Stagflation? What to Know About the Combination of High Inflation and Stagnating Economic Growth. Taken from The Wall Street Journal, The conversation, https://www.wsj.com/articles/what-is-stagflation-meaning-explained-global-economy-worldbank-11654723092



Assessment of the Economic Situation of Post-socialist EU Countries

Dagmar Petrušová¹ (b) Katarína Kráľová² (b) Jana Sochuľáková³ (b)

Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: February 6, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Post-socialist countries; Gross domestic product per capita; Employment rate; Unemployment rate; Work productivity; Inflation; Public administration balance

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The economic development of Slovakia, as well as other former socialist countries, was largely marked by the transition from a centrally planned economy to a market economy. This process was long and difficult. Post-socialist countries were forced to adopt a broad complex of political, social, economic and institutional reforms that made the business environment in the country more attractive and strengthened economic growth. This process of transformation continues and despite progress there is room for further improvement even in the most developed post-socialist countries. In addition, the economy of individual countries, as well as the world economy, is currently significantly affected by the ongoing pandemic, and it has also been negatively affected by the war conflict in Ukraine and the emerging energy crisis.

In the article, we will focus on evaluating and comparing the development and economic situation of former socialist countries that have since become members of the European Union. Based on selected macroeconomic indicators, we will assess the level of the economy of individual countries. Subsequently, we will use the ranking method and compile and evaluate the ranking of the analyzed countries.

1. INTRODUCTION

The economic situation has recently been subject to turbulent developments. The pandemic has affected economic development worldwide. The object of our investigation will be the evaluation of the state of development of basic macroeconomic indicators in post-socialist countries that are currently members of the European Union. These are the following countries: Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Croatia, Latvia, Lithuania, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovenia and the Slovak Republic. The economic development of these countries was marked by the existence of the communist regime in the past.

The recovery of the economy from the consequences of the centrally controlled economy was difficult and took many years. Also, for this reason, the mentioned countries became member states of the European Union. We will compare the economic strength of countries in the period of 2012-2021, focusing on selected macroeconomic indicators.

Based on a wide range of data from the Eurostat databases, we selected the following comparable indicators: GDP per capita, employment rate, unemployment rate, nominal productivity per employed person, purchasing power parity, public administration deficit/surplus and inflation. These macroeconomic indicators are statistical data that express the current state of the

³ Alexander Dubček University in Trenčín, Faculty of Social and Economic Relations, Študentská 3, 91150 Trenčín, Slovakia



¹ Alexander Dubček University in Trenčín, Faculty of Social and Economic Relations, Študentská 3, 91150 Trenčín, Slovakia

² Alexander Dubček University in Trenčín, Faculty of Social and Economic Relations, Študentská 3, 91150 Trenčín, Slovakia

economy of a certain country, or they assess the level of development of the economy. The goal of this contribution is to analyze, compare in the mentioned time interval and create a ranking of these countries using selected macroeconomic variables.

2. ANALYSIS OF SELECTED INDICATORS

For an objective comparison of different countries, we analyze GDP per capita. We can express it as the share of the total GDP production in constant prices to the population of the selected country (Bayerová, 2021). Through this indicator, we can monitor how many products per inhabitant on average.

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	5 390	5 390	5 470	5 700	5 910	6 120	6 330	6 6 3 0	6 380	6 690
Czechia	15 170	15 160	15 480	16 290	16 670	17 490	17 990	18 460	17 400	18 020
Estonia	12 320	12 540	12 960	13 230	13 620	14 410	14 970	15 510	15 010	16 260
Croatia	10 420	10 420	10 430	10 770	11 240	11 750	12 200	12 700	11 730	13 460
Latvia	9 680	9 980	10 260	10 750	11 110	11 590	12 140	12 530	12 130	12 800
Lithuania	10 330	10 810	11 290	11 620	12 070	12 760	13 400	14 050	14 030	14 690
Hungary	10 120	10 330	10 800	11 220	11 500	12 030	12 690	13 270	12 710	13 660
Poland	9 980	10 100	10 440	10 890	11 240	11 790	12 420	13 020	12 750	13 580
Romania	6 500	6 770	7 040	7 290	7 670	8 280	8 700	9 120	8 820	9 380
Slovenia	17 360	17 160	17 620	17 990	18 550	19 440	20 240	20 720	19 720	21 260
Slovakia	13 180	13 250	13 600	14 300	14 550	14 960	15 510	15 890	15 180	15 660

Table 1. GDP per capita (€)

Source: Eurostat

In the monitored period, we noted a growing trend for the GDP per capita indicator in all countries. The highest increase in the last year of the mentioned period compared to the first year was recorded by Romania, by 44.3%, and Lithuania by 42.2%. Slovakia and the Czech Republic increased the value of GDP per capita by only 18.8%, which represented the lowest increase of the mentioned countries. For all countries, a slight decrease in the indicator between 2019 and 2020 can be seen, which was probably caused by the onset of the pandemic and subsequent socio-economic measures that also affected the economies of these countries.

 Table 2. Employment (%)

					1 0	< /				
	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	62.4	62.9	64.4	66.5	67.0	70.6	71.7	74.3	72.7	73.2
Czechia	71.5	72.5	73.5	74.8	76.7	78.5	79.9	80.3	79.7	80.0
Estonia	73.1	74.1	75.0	76.7	77.0	79.2	79.7	80.5	79.1	79.3
Croatia	58.1	57.2	59.2	60.6	61.4	63.6	65.2	66.7	66.9	68.2
Latvia	67.9	69.5	70.6	72.5	73.0	74.6	76.8	77.3	76.9	75.3
Lithuania	68.5	69.9	71.8	73.3	75.2	76.0	77.8	78.2	76.7	77.4
Hungary	63.8	65.2	68.7	70.9	73.7	75.4	76.7	77.6	77.5	78.8
Poland	62.9	63.2	64.9	66.3	68.2	70.0	71.4	72.3	72.7	75.4
Romania	56.8	56.9	58.0	59.2	60.3	62.7	63.9	65.1	65.2	67.1
Slovenia	67.8	66.7	67.3	68.6	69.5	72.9	74.9	75.9	74.8	76.1
Slovakia	66.9	66.9	67.8	69.6	71.8	73.2	74.5	75.6	74.6	74.6

Source: Eurostat

Another indicator we examined is employment, or the employment rate. In all countries surveyed, we have seen an upward trend in employment rates. A slight decline was observed

between 2019 and 2020 for several of the following indicators. This was due to the global pandemic and the measures associated with it.

Unemployment is a macroeconomic as well as a societal problem, reflecting the state of the economy when those able and willing to work cannot find employment (Čaplánová & Martincová, 2014). It is a manifestation of an imbalance in the labor market where the able-bodied population offers more work than firms are willing to employ. One of the most used indicators to measure the severity of this phenomenon is the unemployment rate. It explains what percentage of the available population in a country (aged 15-64) is out of work (Muchová, 2021).

					1 2					
	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	13.3	13.9	12.4	10.1	8.6	7.2	6.2	5.2	6.1	5.3
Czechia	7.0	7.0	6.1	5.1	4.0	2.9	2.2	2.0	2.6	2.8
Estonia	9.9	8.6	7.3	6.4	6.8	5.8	5.4	4.5	6.9	6.2
Croatia	16.0	17.3	17.3	16.2	13.1	11.2	8.5	6.6	7.5	7.6
Latvia	15.1	11.9	10.9	9.9	9.7	8.7	7.4	6.3	8.1	7.6
Lithuania	13.4	11.8	10.7	9.1	7.9	7.1	6.2	6.3	8.5	7.1
Hungary	10.7	9.8	7.5	6.6	5.0	4.0	3.6	3.3	4.1	4.1
Poland	10.4	10.6	9.2	7.7	6.3	5.0	3.9	3.3	3.2	3.4
Romania	8.7	9.0	8.6	8.4	7.2	6.1	5.3	4.9	6.1	5.6
Slovenia	8.9	10.1	9.7	9.0	8.0	6.6	5.1	4.4	5.0	4.8
Slovakia	13.9	14.1	13.1	11.5	9.6	8.1	6.5	5.7	6.7	6.8

Table 5. Unemployment (%)	Table	3. U	nempl	loyment	(%)
----------------------------------	--------------	-------------	-------	---------	-----

Source: Eurostat

In all countries surveyed, we have observed a downward trend in the unemployment rate. A slight increase was observed between 2019 and 2020. We observed the lowest unemployment rate in all subjects in 2019.

year / country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	44.0	43.1	44.3	44.7	45.9	46.2	46.2	49.1	50.7	51.3
Czechia	77.0	77.8	80.0	80.5	80.5	82.5	82.5	85.6	86.0	85.0
Estonia	73.4	73.5	75.1	71.9	73.3	74.5	74.5	77.8	80.7	84.5
Croatia	74.9	76.3	73.3	73.2	74.7	74.9	74.9	74.4	71.5	74.7
Latvia	63.2	62.5	64.7	64.8	65.7	67.4	67.4	69.0	70.0	73.1
Lithuania	73.2	74.3	74.6	72.9	71.9	75.2	75.2	78.8	81.7	83.0
Hungary	73.5	73.4	71.8	71.4	68.1	67.9	67.9	70.6	71.5	72.2
Poland	74.0	73.7	73.5	74.6	74.2	75.0	75.0	79.5	81.9	82.6
Romania	55.5	56.2	56.9	58.6	63.0	66.0	66.0	72.5	75.0	84.2
Slovenia	80.7	81.2	81.6	80.7	81.0	81.8	81.8	82.5	82.6	83.9
Slovakia	83.4	84.1	84.2	83.7	77.1	73.9	73.9	72.5	73.3	72.6

Table 4. Nominal labor productivity per person employed (%)

Source: Eurostat

Labor productivity is a measure of a country's competitiveness and economic performance. In most countries in the monitored period, we can observe an increase in labor productivity per person. We recorded the highest increase in Romania, by almost 30% and in Estonia by less than 10%. A balanced course was recorded in Croatia. In Slovakia, as the only country studied, we recorded a drop in productivity of more than 10%.

In analyses of economic developments, the phenomenon of inflation must also be given due attention. We can speak of consumer inflation if there is a general increase in the prices of goods and services included in the consumer basket in the economy. It should be noted that this phenomenon is not natural for the economy in the long term. In fact, if there were no inflation of the money supply, the prices of consumer goods and services should naturally fall in the long term because of scientific and technological progress. We interpret price fluctuations through the inflation rate, measured by the consumer price index (CPI for short) (Čaplánová & Martincová, 2014).

Although the phenomenon of inflation from an economic point of view can also bring some positive effects (at a low level), its existence brings an increase in costs to households due to a reduction in the purchasing power of the monetary unit. For this reason, it is desirable that the European Central Bank and the political representatives of the given state take responsible measures. Interventions to control inflation/deflation can leave more damage to the economy than the manifestations of the phenomena. Before the regulation itself, however, it is necessary to know the current and past issues. Economic analyzes also serve these purposes. The issue of comparability of data from the CPI in European countries was because each country reported a different number of representative items in the consumer basket and also different item weights. For this reason, the Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices (abbreviated as HICP) was created for the purpose of comparing changes in consumer prices (Habánik, 2021). The aim of its creation was not to establish an identical consumer basket, but to apply the same principles and rules for all countries, taking national differentiation into account. Its results are naturally slightly different from the CPI, but its informative value when applying the comparison of several different countries is significantly higher.

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	2.4	0.4	-1.6	-1.1	-1.3	1.2	2.6	2.5	1.2	2.8
Czechia	3.5	1.4	0.4	0.3	0.6	2.4	2.0	2.6	3.3	3.3
Estonia	4.2	3.2	0.5	0.1	0.8	3.7	3.4	2.3	-0.6	4.5
Croatia	3.4	2.3	0.2	-0.3	-0.6	1.3	1.6	0.8	0.0	2.7
Latvia	2.3	0.0	0.7	0.2	0.1	2.9	2.6	2.7	0.1	3.2
Lithuania	3.2	1.2	0.2	-0.7	0.7	3.7	2.5	2.2	1.1	4.6
Hungary	5.7	1.7	0.0	0.1	0.4	2.4	2.9	3.4	3.4	5.2
Poland	3.7	0.8	0.1	-0.7	-0.2	1.6	1.2	2.1	3.7	5.2
Romania	3.4	3.2	1.4	-0.4	-1.1	1.1	4.1	3.9	2.3	4.1
Slovenia	2.8	1.9	0.4	-0.8	-0.2	1.6	1.9	1.7	-0.3	2.0
Slovakia	3.7	1.5	-0.1	-0.3	-0.5	1.4	2.5	2.8	2.0	2.8

Table 5. HICP - inflation rate (%)

Source: Eurostat

The development of the HICP was fluctuating during the monitored period. Comparing the first and last year of the monitored period, we can state that the values returned to the same, or comparable level. However, the year 2022, even if the worst period of the pandemic is behind us, appears to be the most problematic. It is a consequence of the fading anti-epidemic measures and, war conflicts in Ukraine. As a result, the EU imposed several embargoes on imports and exports to Russia, which also affected the economies associated with Ukraine and Russia. In August 2022, according to Eurostat data, the average inflation in the EU zone is at the level of 9.1%. Double-digit HICP values were recorded in the monitored countries. The highest was in Estonia 25.2 %, Lithuania 21.4 %, and Latvia 21.1 %.

The balance (i.e., deficit or surplus) of the general government budget is the difference between total revenue (excluding credit revenue) and total expenditure (including interest service) of the general government, more precisely of the general government sector, in a given budget period,

usually a calendar year. It is most often expressed as a percentage of the gross domestic product (ŠTATISTICKÝ ÚRAD SR). A negative figure indicates a situation where government expenditure exceeds government revenue - a deficit is created. A positive number indicates a situation where revenue exceeds expenditure - a surplus is generated. A general government budget deficit means an increase in government debt (Habánik, 2021).

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Bulgaria	-0.8	-0.7	-5.4	-1.9	0.3	1.6	1.7	2.1	-4.0	-4.1
Czechia	-3.9	-1.3	-2.1	-0.6	0.7	1.5	0.9	0.3	-5.8	-5.9
Estonia	-0.3	0.2	0.7	0.1	-0.4	-0.5	-0.6	0.1	-5.6	-2.4
Croatia	-5.5	-5.5	-5.5	-3.4	-0.9	0.8	0.0	0.2	-7.3	-2.9
Latvia	-1.4	-1.2	-1.6	-1.4	0.0	-0.8	-0.8	-0.6	-4.5	-7.3
Lithuania	-3.2	-2.6	-0.6	-0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.5	-7.3	-1.0
Hungary	-2.3	-2.6	-2.8	-2.0	-1.8	-2.5	-2.1	-2.1	-7.8	-6.8
Poland	-3.8	-4.2	-3.6	-2.6	-2.4	-1.5	-0.2	-0.7	-6.9	-1.9
Romania	-3.7	-2.1	-1.2	-0.6	-2.6	-2.6	-2.8	-4.3	-9.3	-7.1
Slovenia	-4.0	-14.6	-5.5	-2.8	-1.9	-0.1	0.7	0.4	-7.8	-5.2
Slovakia	-4.4	-2.9	-3.1	-2.7	-2.6	-1.0	-1.0	-1.3	-5.5	-6.2

Table 6. General government deficit/surplus (Percentage of gross domestic product)

Source: Eurostat

The resulting deficits in all countries have been affected by increases in expenditure (including COVID measures, of which the largest share is accounted for by "first aid" measures) as well as reductions in general government revenue in the most recent years under review (Vlachynský, 2022).

3. EVALUATION OF RESULTS

We used the simplest method to evaluate the results - the quick ranking method. This method evaluates the position of countries according to a ranking scale given by the number of subjects.

Indicator/ country	Employ- ment	Unem- ployment	GDP per capita	General government deficit/surplus	HICP - inflation rate	Nominal labor pro- ductivity	Σ	Average
Bulgaria	9	7	11	2	2	11	42	7.00
Czechia	2	1	2	8	6	3	22	3.67
Estonia	1	4	4	1	8	7	25	4.17
Croatia	10	11	5	11	5	4	46	7.67
Latvia	4	10	9	3	1	9	36	6.00
Lithuania	3	8	6	5	4	8	34	5.67
Hungary	7	6	7	4	9	6	39	6.50
Poland	8	5	8	7	7	5	40	6.67
Romania	11	2	10	6	5	10	44	7.33
Slovenia	5	3	1	9	3	2	23	3.83
Slovakia	6	9	3	10	7	1	36	6.00

Table 7. Ranking method in 2012

Source: Own processing

The ranking is determined from 1, 2,...n according to the number of countries so that the subject with the best score gets the lowest value. The final ranking is obtained by summing the achieved values of each indicator for a particular country. The specific sum is divided by the arithmetic mean, or weighted arithmetic means, and the country's ranking is assigned on that basis.

Indicator/ country	Employ- ment	Unem- ployment	GDP per capita	General government deficit/surplus	HICP - inflation rate	Nominal labor pro- ductivity	Σ	Average
Bulgaria	9	5	11	5	3	11	44	7.33
Czechia	1	1	2	7	5	1	17	2.83
Estonia	2	7	3	3	7	2	24	4.00
Croatia	10	10	8	4	2	7	41	6.83
Latvia	7	10	9	11	4	8	49	8.17
Lithuania	4	9	5	1	8	5	32	5.33
Hungary	3	3	6	9	9	10	40	6.67
Poland	6	2	7	2	9	6	32	5.33
Romania	11	6	10	10	6	3	46	7.67
Slovenia	5	4	1	6	1	4	21	3.50
Slovakia	8	8	4	8	3	9	40	6.67

Table 8. Ranking method in 2021

Source: Own processing

Using the data in Tables 7 and 8, we have constructed country rankings in 2012 and 2021 to compare changes in the ranking of these countries.

	-		
	rai	nking	
year / country	2012	2021	change in ranking
Bulgaria	8	9	-1
Czechia	1	1	0
Estonia	3	4	-1
Croatia	9	8	+1
Latvia	7	10	-3
Lithuania	5	5	0
Hungary	6	6	0
Poland	4	3	+1
Romania	7	8	-1
Slovenia	2	2	0
Slovakia	4	7	-3

Table 9. Comparison of ranking using the ranking method

Source: Own processing

By examining and comparing selected economic indicators between 2012 and 2021, we see that the Czech Republic and Slovenia performed best among the post-socialist EU Member States. These countries retained the first and second positions in our ranking. Thus, there was no change in location in the compared years in the Czech Republic and Slovenia, and also in Lithuania and Hungary. The mentioned countries are consistently placed in the first half of the table. The biggest drop was recorded by Latvia and Slovakia, which moved down three places in 2021. This put Latvia in last place on the table. Croatia and Poland recorded a positive shift (up one position). This moves Croatia from last place in 2012 to closer to the middle of the table and Poland to third place in 2021.

4. CONCLUSION

The transition of the countries of Central and Eastern Europe from socialism to the current establishment is considered an economic success story, even if it was accompanied by many difficulties. After thirty years of transformation, the best economic situation is clearly in the Czech Republic and Slovenia. In the ranking of countries, which we compiled using the ranking

method, they retained the first and second places. These two countries have the highest gross domestic product per capita, the indicator most often used to measure a country's economic strength. At the same time, they also maintain the highest standard of living of residents from post-socialist countries. Although Bulgaria and Romania have taken a big step forward, they remain the poorest members of the EU.

The Slovak Republic entered the transformation as a moderately developed country. During the analyzed period, Slovakia dropped in the ranking by 3 places. Among other things, the reasons can be found in the absence of the rule of law in the past, which led to the distortion of the business environment. Without a healthy economic environment, businesses have no incentive to move forward and invest. One of the fundamental problems is the unpredictability of the business environment (frequent changes to key laws), which reduces the competitiveness of the Slovak Republic in the long term.

A high-quality business environment creating conditions for achieving long-term sustainable economic growth is a basic prerequisite for business development and increasing the competitiveness of the Slovak Republic on an international scale. Therefore, it is necessary to focus on removing unjustified regulatory and financial barriers, bureaucracy, cost, and time burden, on ensuring the stability and predictability of the business environment.

References

- Bayerová, V. (2021). Makroekonomie I. Brno: Akademické nakladatelství Cerm.
- Čaplánová, A., & Martincová, M. (2014). *Inflácia, nezamestnanosť a ľudský kapitál z makroe*konomického pohľadu. Bratislava: Wolters Kluwer.
- EUROSTAT. Available on: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat
- Habánik, J. a kol. (2021). Makroekonómia. Trenčín: FSEV TnUAD.
- Muchová, E. a kol. (2021). Makroekonómia. Praha: Wolters Kluwer.
- ŠTATISTICKÝ ÚRAD SR. Available on: https://slovak.statistics.sk
- Vlachynský, M. (2022). *Drahý nový rok*. [online]. Bratislava: INESS. 28.s. Available on: https:// iness.sk/sites/default/files/documents/pdf/IPN/drahy_novy_rok.pdf



Business Power and Mobility to Workplaces in Italian Regions during the First COVID-19 Wave

Demetrio Panarello¹ D Giorgio Tassinari² D

Received: November 20, 2022 Accepted: January 31, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Stringency; Employers; Trade unions

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The diffusion of the pandemic and the severity of COVID-19-related measures were very uneven across regions; however, the intensity of the restrictions was not always tightly linked with the strength of the pandemic. Economic interests and business power might have played a role in defining political responses at the local level, which are in turn able to shape the intensity of work-related mobility. This article aims at investigating whether regional variations in the stringency of COVID-19-related measures have actual impacts on work-related mobility and whether there is an independent effect of the pressure exerted by unions and businesses, assuming mobility to be governed concurrently by stringency, pandemic intensity, and pressure. Through the analysis of original regional-level indicators of stringency and public pressure, we demonstrate that trade unions' pressure is associated with a decrease in work-related mobility during the first COVID-19 wave in Italy.

1. INTRODUCTION

I taly was the first western country to be severely hit by the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to the imposition of a national lockdown beginning on the 10th of March 2020 (Dell'Omo et al., 2021). Citizens were thus obliged to stay at home – unless it was urgently needed – and all non-essential production activities were forced to close. The economic activities deemed to be essential (e.g., pharmacies, bakeries, etc.) were authorised to carry on with their work – and their employees were accordingly allowed to keep going to work. Some firms involved in the production of non-essential goods, however, could continue to operate after filing a derogation request to the local government authorities. Deviations from the national rules applying to specific sectors were implemented by most regions.

The lockdown was eased since the 4th of May when most economic activities slowly started to reopen. The key aspect of the lockdown strategy was to limit contact between people (and, therefore, infections). Hence, the observance of the restrictions and the adherence of citizens to the government's prescriptions was the keystone of the whole pandemic-containment operation during the first COVID-19 wave (Panarello & Tassinari, 2022).

In examining the dynamics of the restrictions, however, it must be borne in mind that trade unions kept pushing for stricter containment measures and closure of non-essential workplaces, caring for workers' safety, while business organisations were skeptical about implementing harsh restrictions and exerted considerable pressure intending to relax them, to avoid adverse impacts on the economy. Such pressure was particularly relevant at the regional level. Policymakers can be expected to be influenced by the preferences of business organisations regarding

² University of Bologna, Department of Statistical Sciences "Paolo Fortunati", Via delle Belle Arti 41, 40126 Bologna, Italy



¹ University of Bologna, Department of Statistical Sciences "Paolo Fortunati", Via delle Belle Arti 41, 40126 Bologna, Italy

lockdown stringency, both to preserve business confidence and future investments and to prevent them from mobilising their resources through lobbying or public media campaigns (Culpepper, 2015; Fairfield, 2015).

The aim of our investigation is to verify whether regional-level variations in the stringency of COVID-19-related measures have actual impacts on variations of mobility towards workplaces on the ground (i.e., whether regional stringency really matters to what happens in the real economy) and whether there is an independent impact of the preferences and pressure of organised economic interests – unions and business organisations – and the specificities of the local economies.

2. MODEL AND VARIABLES

The main hypothesis of this work is that mobility toward workplaces is governed concurrently by the stringency of COVID-19-related measures, by the intensity of the pandemic, and by the pressure exerted by unions and business organisations.

The key variable, which is used as the dependent variable in the estimations, is mobility toward workplaces (Figure 1), taken from Google's Community Mobility Reports (Google LLC, 2020), capturing the percentage change in the number of visitors to workplaces compared to a pre-pandemic baseline, referring to the period going from the 3rd of January to the 6th of February 2020. From the daily data provided by Google, we computed an average value for each analysed weekly time point.



Figure 1. Daily percentage changes in mobility toward workplaces in Italy (first year of the COVID-19 pandemic)
Source: Google LLC, 2020.

We built an original regional-level stringency index for Italy, tracing the over-time policy responses of Italian regional governments to the pandemic outbreak at weekly intervals in the period February-June 2020. We coded all the regional ordinances and regulations concerning non-pharmaceutical responses to the pandemic, capturing the regional-level deviations from the national rules concerning the operation of specific economic sectors. Then, we developed a composite indicator following the methodology developed by Hale et al. (2020) for their Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker's Stringency Index, assigning a different stringency score to each weekly time point and region. We also constructed two indicators of public pressure by analysing the 28,331 tweets published by business organisations and trade unions in the period of interest. Specifically, we conducted a dictionary-based sentiment analysis (Moreno & Iglesias, 2020) of all the social media communications posted on Twitter by the regional divisions of the main organised business groups and trade unions in Italy in the period February-June 2020. For what concerns COVID-19-related communications, we categorised them into positive, negative, and neutral tweets, through the use of three polarised dictionaries. The two pressure indexes – one concerning trade unions and one concerning business organisations – were computed by dividing the number of COVID-19-related tweets with a negative meaning by the total number of tweets published in the same period, to measure the relative importance of the COVID-19 issue over the usual communication. As a robustness check, we also use the absolute number of COVID-19-related tweets with a negative meaning in lieu of the pressure indexes es in some of the models, to consider the absolute impact of the social media activity of trade unions and business organisations on public opinion and, consequently, on policymakers' orientations.

To capture the intensity of the pandemic over time, we collected the distribution of COVID-19 deaths, released by the Italian Civil Protection (Dipartimento della Protezione Civile, 2020). For each time point and region, we divided the cumulative number of regional deaths recorded on the last day of the considered time point by the regional population.

Finally, we make use of the quarterly unemployment rate and eight time-invariant variables describing the socio-economic and political characteristics of the regions, provided by the Italian National Institute of Statistics (Istat): proportion of large firms (10 or more employees) over the total number of firms; political spectrum of the regional government (dichotomic variable taking value 0 for left or centre-left, and 1 for right or centre-right); electoral cycle (dichotomic variable taking value 1 if regional elections are going to take place within the following twelve months); number of employees in manufacturing over the regional population; number of employees in hotels, restaurants and retail over the regional population; per capita gross domestic product; services value-added over GDP; and manufacturing value-added over GDP.

We estimate four GLS panel regression models of the percentage change in work-related mobility compared to the pre-pandemic period, using various combinations of the above-mentioned characters as explanatory variables, whereby stringency and cumulative deaths are always included as regressors. All the models incorporate time fixed-effects.

3. **RESULTS**

The outcomes from the four estimated models are presented in Table 1. In these models, we have missing values in the first two weeks of the dataset and time-varying variables with two lags: therefore, two time periods (42 observations) get lost overall, leading to 378 available observations.

Out of the estimated models, the second one appears to best reflect the variability of work-related mobility, being characterised by the largest R-squared between. Therefore, we will only comment on the results from this model. Both the regional stringency and the public pressure exerted by trade unions are highly significant, with a negative sign, as could be expected in accordance with our hypotheses. Among structural variables, only GDP per capita is significant, with a negative sign, which likely reflects the diffusion of remote working in high-value-added jobs. All the coefficients related to time fixed-effects (omitted for the sake of brevity) are significant, with p-values lower than 0.01.

Table I. Kesu	its from Mo	dels 1 to 4		
Variable	Coefficient (Model 1)	Coefficient (Model 2)	Coefficient (Model 3)	Coefficient (Model 4)
Stringency (lag 2)	-0.117**	-0.121**	-0.123**	-0.127**
Cumulative deaths by population (lag 2)	-793.835	344.023	-784.623	364.989
Pressure: Trade unions (lag 2)	-4.851 [*]	-4.558*		
Pressure: Business organisations (lag 2)	2.149	1.921		
Absolute number of Trade unions' negative COVID- 19-related tweets (lag 2)			-0.127***	-0.131***
Absolute number of Business organisations' negative COVID-19-related tweets (lag 2)			0.047	0.062
Percentage of firms with 10+ employees	-1.201**	0.300	-1.370***	0.312
Unemployment rate	0.209^{*}	-0.183	0.210*	-0.196
Political spectrum (0=centre-left; 1=centre-right)	0.920	0.207	0.483	-0.228
Electoral cycle (1=regional elections taking place within 12 months; 0=otherwise)	0.268	0.604	0.208	0.527
Thousands of employees in manufacturing over regional population	37501.906**		47334.001**	
Thousands of employees in hotels, restaurants and retail over regional population	1.26e+05***		1.27e+05***	
Per capita GDP		-0.000^{*}		-0.000^{*}
Services value-added over GDP		-0.361		-0.338
Manufacturing value-added over GDP		-0.309		-0.250
Intercept	-8.996**	35.908	-8.626**	34.427
Observations	378	378	378	378
R-squared (within)	0.988	0.988	0.989	0.988
R-squared (between)	0.318	0.488	0.285	0.479
R-squared (overall)	0.983	0.984	0.983	0.984

Note: *, ** and *** stand for p < 0.10, p < 0.05 and p < 0.01.

4. **CONCLUSION**

Our results clearly show that an increase in stringency directly brings about a reduction in mobility toward workplaces, disturbing economic activity. This is an indicator of the fact that the level of stringency does in fact matter in terms of affecting developments on the ground as regards workplace/economic activity. Hence, it shows that there are good reasons why employer groups would care about influencing the intensity of regulations at the regional level. The models additionally show that trade unions' pressure is also associated with a decrease in work-related mobility. We must underline that the two pressures – related to employers and trade unions - have opposite signs, albeit the first one is not significant. Most structural variables pertaining to the socio-economic context are not significant, except for the employment-related variables in Models 1 and 3 as well as per capita gross domestic product in Models 2 and 4.

Indeed, the specifications shown in Models 1 and 3 highlight interesting results. Here, as we would expect, the coefficients pertaining to the share of employees in manufacturing and hospitality-related sectors are both significant and with a positive sign. The unemployment rate is also significant and with a positive sign, which can be rationalised as a reason for regional governments to be less "stringent" in the execution of COVID-19-related restrictions so as not to negatively affect employment dynamics. Lastly, the percentage of large businesses (firms with ten or more employees) has a negative relationship with work-related mobility. This can be interpreted as a consequence of the fact that larger firms are also more structured and can organise remote working easier compared to the smaller ones.

As regards per capita GDP (Models 2 and 6), it must be borne in mind that the activities characterised by the highest value-added (business services, banks, insurance companies, service activities incorporated in manufacturing businesses) are easily transferable into a remote-working model, which obviously results in mobility reductions. By contrast, non-teleworkable, material-type production activities have a lower per capita value-added.

References

- Culpepper, P. D. (2015). Structural power and political science in the post-crisis era. *Business* and Politics, 17(3), 391-409.
- Dell'Omo, R., Filippelli, M., Semeraro, F., Avitabile, T., Giansanti, F., Parmeggiani, F., ... & Costagliola, C. (2021). Effects of the first month of lockdown for COVID-19 in Italy: A preliminary analysis on the eyecare system from six centers. *European Journal of Ophthalmology*, 31(5), 2252-2258.
- Dipartimento della Protezione Civile (2020). *COVID-19 Italia Monitoraggio situazione*. Available at: https://github.com/pcm-dpc/COVID-19
- Fairfield, T. (2015). Structural power in comparative political economy: perspectives from policy formulation in Latin America. *Business and Politics*, *17*(3), 411-441.
- Google LLC (2020). Google COVID-19 Community Mobility Reports. Available at: https:// www.google.com/covid19/mobility
- Hale, T., Boby, T., Angrist, N., Cameron-Blake, E., Hallas, L., Kira, B., ... & Webster, S. (2020). Variation in Government Responses to COVID-19. *Blavatnik School of Government Working Paper, Version 9.0.* Available at: https://www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/research/publications/ variation-government-responses-covid-19
- Iglesias, C. A., & Moreno, A. (Ed.) (2020). *Sentiment analysis for social media*. Basel, Switzerland: MDPI - Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Panarello, D., & Tassinari, G. (2022). One year of COVID-19 in Italy: are containment policies enough to shape the pandemic pattern?. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 79, 101120.



Covid-19's Impact on Supply Chain Practices in the Republic of Serbia

Anđela Đorđević¹ Biljana Cvetić² Dragan Vasiljević³ Vidosava Džagić⁴

Keywords:

Supply chain; COVID-19; Supply chain disruptions; Mitigation strategies

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 10, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: This paper focuses on supply chain practices before and after the COVID-19 pandemic. Supply chain disruptions due to COVID-19 on the supply, demand, and logistical side are thoroughly explained and presented. The paper addresses how the pandemic exposed the vulnerabilities and deficiencies of the lean, JIT global supply chain model. This paper also presents short- and long-term strategies that companies have taken to mitigate supply chain disruptions. As a contribution to the paper, results from the research on COVID-19 impacts on the Serbian economy and business, that the Serbian Chamber of Commerce has conducted, are shown. The paper aims to highlight the most important supply chain measures and strategies needed to stay competitive during any pandemic.

1. INTRODUCTION

The COVID–19 pandemic emerged at the beginning of 2020. It has disrupted global activ-L ities across all economic sectors and industries. The disruptions occurred as consequences of the global lockdown measures adopted and implemented by countries to mitigate the impact of the pandemic's spread on the human population. The COVID-19 lockdown measures, according to Erhi (2020), caused production halts, restrictions on people and goods movement, border closures, logistical constraints, and a slowdown in trade and business activities. All the above-mentioned factors have led to severe supply chain disruptions (SCDs), i.e., many supply chains (SCs) worldwide (86%) have been seriously impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, stated Van Hoek (2020). In the pandemic conditions, demand became highly unpredictable, there was a supply shortage, and suppliers could not meet delivery agreements. Some sectors witnessed a decline in demand, while others saw a sudden spike in demand, found Raj (2022). Before COVID-19, many SCs were focused on JIT (Just-in-Time) and lean concepts. JIT may result in leaner SCs and lower inventory costs, but it has been shown to be ineffective during times of crisis, according to Belhadia (2021) and Zhu (2020). The way COVID-19 has impacted global SCs has increased the importance of risk management and mitigation strategies. SC strategies, designs, and dependencies across organizations need to be reevaluated to avoid improvised reactions to future natural disasters and create resilient SCs. Oldekop (2020) shown that work from home, i.e., online work, and digitally organized logistics have mitigated the negative impacts of COVID-19. The questions are 1) what strategies can deal most effectively with which impacts, and 2) what are the challenges and requirements associated with the implementation of resilience strategies?

⁴ The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Serbia, Kneza Miloša 12, Belgrade, Serbia



¹ Faculty of Organizational Sciences, University of Belgrade, Jove Ilića 154, Belgrade, Serbia

² Faculty of Organizational Sciences, University of Belgrade, Jove Ilića 154, Belgrade, Serbia

³ Faculty of Organizational Sciences, University of Belgrade, Jove Ilića 154, Belgrade, Serbia

2. SUPPLY CHAIN DISRUPTIONS

Craighead (2007) defined SCDs as unplanned and unpredicted events that disturb the flow of goods and services across the SC. According to Mishra and Sharma (2021), the effects of COV-ID-19 on global SCs have affected three different sides: supply, demand, and logistics.

2.1. Supply Shocks

According to Panwar (2022), supply shortages during the pandemic have been both a cause and a manifestation of SCDs. Due to social distancing and global lockdowns, the movement of people and business operations were affected. This has led to an unexpected change in the supply of products. Many production facilities were closed because of the lockdown. As a consequence, manufacturers and retailers have not had access to enough raw materials and products for their businesses, or the lead times have become too long. Production and manufacturing capabilities decreased, so supply shocks occurred, found Magableh (2021). Most companies were not prepared to meet new demands or to deliver at new demand points. Even worse, companies could not sustain their normal production levels. Many factory workers, especially those in developing countries, have returned to their hometowns. The factories became devoid of both raw materials and workers.

2.2. Demand Shocks

Demand shocks can be defined as sudden changes in demand. The COVID-19 pandemic has triggered the most dramatic consumer behavior and consumption patterns in recent history. Due to health reasons, demand for household cleaning products, disinfectants, vitamins, health supplements, and face masks spiked up, whereas demand for home hair colors and similar products increased due to closed businesses. Working from home became the norm, thus, demand for athome caffeine products, and home-office equipment sharply increased. Even for products where demand has not changed drastically, points of demand have. Also, consumers tried to reduce the risk of exposure to the virus and decrease demand for products and services that involve close contact with others, claimed Kiers (2022).

2.3. Logistical Side

The restrictions on the movement of people and goods have led to a decline in exports and imports. In some countries, vessels that were entering the country's waters were required to observe a mandatory 14-day quarantine period before clearing or discharging goods. This has impacted the shipment, and the arrival of goods found Erhie (2020). Consumers were unaware of a supply shortage since information and data from partners were non-transparent. This has led to an increased volume of orders. Customers are usually not willing to wait for long deliveries, especially when substitute products are available. COVID-19 has led to restrictions on the transportation and movement of goods, especially through areas that are under restricted or containment categories. Since public transportation hasn't yet been reopened, there were problems with transporting people to work. Social distancing measures were the cause; available vehicles could not be utilized at full capacity. These transportation issues have led to unprecedented delays in the delivery of consignments to end customers and can disturb the smooth functioning of SC, found Raj (2022). During the pandemic, consumer optimism has declined across the country, and it is expected that consumers will continue to reduce their spending, claimed McKinsey (2020). This could result in

overstocking of materials at warehouses waiting for demand to pick up at a future date. Overstocking for indefinite periods will lead to potential damages, perishability issues, and working capital blockages, leading to liquidity issues across SCs. During the wake of the pandemic, most organizations have responded to customer requirements to minimize physical touchpoints and are seen to be redesigning their SCs. To attract customers, brands were either choosing to go with fully captive in-house delivery services or integrations with last-mile delivery partners. Even if products do make it to the point of delivery, the transporter may have to navigate through an affected zone and select an alternate route, leading to delivery delays.

3. MITIGATION STRATEGIES

To restore competitiveness, organizations must redesign their supply chain management (SCM) models. Kiers (2022) claimed that as of mid-October 2021, companies are focused on establishing more resilient SCs. Short-term and long-term strategies regarding supply, demand and logistical shocks are presented below.

3.1. Supply Side

Raj (2022) identified inconsistency of supply as one of the most prominent challenges that is related to the uncertainty of supply from upstream vendors, irregular and indefinite lead times, and price volatility. For Paul (2020), a short-term strategy for mitigating supply disruption can be the identification of crucial components and raw materials, which carry a major interruption risk. Companies should explore alternate vendors to ramp up production in case of sudden surges in demand. Also, a retrospective analysis of the unpredictable demand and available supply can be used. That way, optimum manufacturing conditions for future batches or cycles can be reinstated. In the long-term, companies need to put together and periodically revisit their Business Continuity Plan (BCP) stated Queiroz (2020). According to Belhadia (2021), BCP includes strategies for risk mitigation that are aimed toward setting up alternate suppliers closer to the main manufacturing facility to prevent inconsistency in the supply of critical raw materials. Companies are moving from selecting the most cost-effective vendor to the most responsive vendor with the shortest lead times. Companies started engaging in value-sharing with their suppliers, allowing them to keep a portion of the profit. Panwar (2022) found that due to these benefits, suppliers are more inclined to prioritize the company's interests in times of crisis, thereby improving SC resilience. Resources, information, and technology sharing between different stakeholders, including firms, suppliers, and customers, is crucial for creating synergy and recovering from disruption to remain competitive. Diversification and dual sourcing are also possible strategies. Companies were warned not to rely too heavily on any single source, thereby diversifying their risks. Having multiple suppliers for a product reduces the supply risk, as stated by Kiers (2022). Another possible strategy is the vertical integration of SCs. "Vertical integration allows a company to streamline its operations by taking direct ownership of various stages of its production process instead of relying on external suppliers", said Hayes (2022).

3.2. Demand Side

Gartner (2020) found that changing patterns in buying behavior combined with misinformation on goods have led to demand disruptions. An immediate measure would be to provide end-toend transparency to customers. Mishra (2021) stated that during times like the COVID-19 pandemic, companies need to reassure their consumers that their products are being handled safely and hygienically across the value chain. Companies should provide omni-channel options to customers who prefer online shopping by partnering with third-party delivery agents who can provide local last-mile deliveries, according to Raj (2022). In the long term, the main company would need to identify, partner, and collaborate with key customers. According to Sodhi (2021), a more robust and sustainable business model for last-mile delivery should be used as a long-term strategy by creating its own omnichannel distribution network to avoid future dependencies. This would ensure the existence of adequate channels for customers to order products, leading to stabilized demand, found Raj (2022). Through the vendor-managed inventory (VMI) model, inventory level and demand data are shared between the chain's members via electronic data interchange (EDI). Sudan (2021) found that this can help in understanding the transportation disruption for upstream and downstream partners in crisis, and can also help in analyzing demand and supply disruptions caused by transportation disruptions. Companies are planning to strengthen their demand forecasting capabilities. The role of machine learning tools, which can pick up changes in retail trends in a short time and swiftly adjust demand projections, is crucial.

3.3. Logistical Side

Regarding the logistical side, vehicle unavailability and delays are the most important issues. As a short-term solution, companies should use vehicle tracking devices and promote greater transparency to maintain a healthy mix of a dedicated and market-owned fleet of vehicles. Raj (2022) found another solution in the creation of multiple channels to distribute products to customers, making the distribution network more resilient. In the long term, for larger companies that possess their own fleet, considering that transportation is the backbone of any SC, lifeline maintenance of the fleet should be done periodically. Companies should also consider using autonomous vehicles for fixed point-to-point movements that do not require human drivers, which is crucial during times like the COVID-19 pandemic. Companies should focus on implementing cutting-edge SC transparency solutions into their transportation system operations for quick response to change using real-time data during the crisis. Sudan (2021) found Internet of Things (IoT) sensors to have been a crucial asset for tracking shipments. Blockchain ensures transparency and trust in the SC. It solves the problem of counterfeit goods since products can be traced from the first to the last point of the SC. Smart contracts allow fast payments once the agreed terms are met, said Erhie (2020). Through the use of IoT sensors, information on the arrival of raw materials to production lines or of finished goods in warehouses is updated in real-time; therefore, companies can manage stock levels more precisely. Smart IoT sensors can be used to manage planned and predictive maintenance, which leads to reduced downtime and cost savings. Localizing SCs will lead to a reduction in the lead time. This leads to higher responsiveness to disruptions, according to Kiers (2022). It was shown that e-commerce increases the average firm's value in a short period. Opening online distribution channels would be valuable for firms even without pandemic issues. Companies are moving from traditional SCs toward digital supply networks (DSNs). DSNs include the free flow of information and end-to-end transparency, dexterity, and optimization of the SC. "Digitization ensures resilient global SCs," claimed Kiers (2022).

4. **RESEARCH**

The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Serbia researched COVID-19's impact on the economy and business. The research was conducted in three phases. The first phase took place between March 26 and March 31, 2020, at the beginning of the crisis in Serbia, while the third phase was conducted between June 8 and June 15, after the quarantine. The number of business entities that participated in the first phase of the research was 806, while in the third phase, that number was 396. In this paper, the focus is on the actions and strategies that companies have taken or were planning to take to tackle the pandemic. Actions or strategies that companies took or were planning to take in the first phase of the research, i.e., at the beginning of the crisis, are shown in Figure 1. Regarding e-commerce, the results are presented in Figure 2.





At the start of the pandemic, approximately 9% of companies studied had already established e-commerce. A large number of companies (around 44%) have already established electronic payment, while 29% were not planning to go digital. In Figure 3. strategies that companies have taken or were planning to take after the quarantine, in the third phase of the research, are shown.



Figure 3. Share of companies that have taken certain actions (n=396) – phase 3

Even though the percentage of companies that are laying off part or all of their employees hasn't changed much, since the quarantine, some of the companies (19.4%) have hired new employees. The measures taken by the majority of the companies after the quarantine are a reduction of

working hours (51.8%), and work from home for some employees (58.8%). The same measures were also the most prominent at the beginning of the pandemic. Figure 4 depicts the measures taken or planned to be taken during the third phase.



Figure 4. Actions regarding business model – phase 3

About 30% of companies that are already digitized and are planning to strengthen their online business channels endured the pandemic more easily. The majority of the remaining companies emphasize the use of digital solutions as their recovery paths. A third of companies plan to open new advertising channels, digitize business processes, and/or adapt their product portfolios to the current demand situation. Around 13% of companies have opened a webshop in response to the crisis or plan to do so.

5. CONCLUSION

The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed the vulnerabilities and deficiencies of the lean, JIT global SC model. Even though COVID-19 has had a mostly negative impact on the global economy, it has also highlighted the importance of digitalization. "Go digital to survive" is one of the major lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic. Companies that were already digitized endured the pandemic more easily. The most reoccurring immediate measures that were taken at the beginning of the pandemic in the Republic of Serbia were the reduction of working hours and the organization of work from home for some employees. The same actions were the most frequent after the quarantine. The most frequent measures regarding the business model that were taken or were planned to be taken in the third phase are the digitization of all business processes, new advertising channels, and changes in the production algorithm and or introduction of new products.

References

- Belhadia, A. K. (2021). Manufacturing and service supply chain resilience to the COVID-19 outbreak: Lessons learned from the automobile and airline industries. *Technological Fore-casting and Social Change*, *163*.
- Craighead, C. B. (2007). The severity of supply chain disruptions: design characteristics and mitigation. *A Journal of The Decision Science Institute*, *38*(1), 131-156.
- Erhie, E. N. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on the supply chain industry. Retrieved from pwc.
- Gartner. (2020). Coronavirus: How to Secure Your Supply Chain. Retrieved from Gartner: https://www.gartner.com/smarterwithgartner/coronavirus-how-to-secure-your-supply-chain

- Hayes, A. (2022). *Vertical Integration*. Retrieved from Investopedia: https://www.investopedia. com/terms/v/verticalintegration.asp
- Kiers, J. S. (2022). Which Strategies and Corresponding Competences Are Needed to Improve Supply Chain Resilience: A COVID-19 Based Review. *Logistics*, 6(12).
- Magableh, G. (2021). Supply Chains and the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Comprehensive Framework. *The Journal of The European Academy of Management, 18*(3), 363-382.
- McKinsey. (2020). McKinsey & Company. Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/
- Mishra, R. S. (2021). Impact of disruptions in agri-food supply chain due to COVID-19 pandemic: contextualised resilience framework to achieve operational excellence. *The International Journal of Logistics Management, 33*, 926-954.
- Oldekop, J. A. (2020). COVID-19 and the Case for Global Development. *Journal of World Development*, 134.
- Panwar, R. P. (2022). The Future of Global Supply Chains in a Post-COVID-19 World. California Management Review, 64 (2), 5-23.
- Paul, S. K. (2020). A production recovery plan in manufacturing supply chains for a high-demand item during COVID-19. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 20*(1), 104-125.
- Queiroz, M. M. (2020). Impacts of epidemic outbreaks on supply chains: mapping a research agenda amid the COVID-19 pandemic through a structured literature review. *Annals of Operations Research*.
- Raj, A. M. (2022). Supply chain management during and post-COVID-19 pandemic: Mitigation strategies and practical lessons learned. *Journal of Business Research*, 142, 1125-1139.
- Sharma, A. &. (2021). Managing the supply chain during disruptions: Developing a framework for decision-making. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 159-172.
- Sodhi, M. S. (2021). Research opportunities in preparing supply chains of essential goods for future pandemics. *International Journal of Production Research*, 1-16.
- Sudan, T. T. (2021). Recovering Supply Chain Disruptions in Post-COVID-19 Pandemic Through Transport Intelligence and Logistics Systems: India's Experiences and Policy Options. *Frontiers in Future Transportation, 2.*
- Van Hoek, R. (2020). Research opportunities for a more resilient post-COVID-19 supply chain-closing the gap between research findings. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 40,* 341-355.
- Zhu, G. C. (2020). Lessons Learned from the COVID-19 Pandemic Exposing the Shortcomings of Current Supply Chain Operations: A Long-Term Prescriptive Offering. Sustainability 2020, 12.



Advantages and Disadvantages of Strategic Alliances in International Business

Klavdij Logožar¹ 💿

Received: November 5, 2022 Revised: February 3, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Strategic alliances; Competitive advantage; International business; Cultural differences

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The paper studies strategic alliances and their role in international business. The importance of strategic alliances in the global economy has increased. Strategic drivers for interfirm co-operation between alliance partners are market growth, cost reduction, reducing risk, and access to knowledge. The author focuses on the advantages and disadvantages of strategic alliances. The challenges of managing international strategic alliances are also discussed. Ensuring the success of strategic alliances between international firms is more difficult due to alliance partners' differences in national, organizational and professional culture. International strategic alliances are critically important to a firm success and coping with globalization, deregulation, and developments in information and transportation technology.

1. INTRODUCTION

A lliances are a sophisticated phenomenon in organizations. Alliances are used in a wide range of situations and can entail many different partner arrangements, the pursuit of many different objectives, and varying degrees of commitment and involvement from partners. In recent years, strategic alliances have become prevalent and significant structural tools for business growth (Albers et al., 2016).

Strategic alliances can be categorized according to the number of parties engaged as either dyadic partnerships, in which only two parties are involved, or multiple relationships, in which three or more parties are involved. From the perspective of resource commitment, businesses can commit either some or no equity, but they still contribute some of their resources to the alliance and collaborate with some of their partners (Culpan, 2009). According to Contractor and Reuer (2014), there are four main sorts of motivations that influence interfirm collaboration strategically:

- 1. market expansion or increased revenue as a result of the collaboration;
- 2. efficiency or cost reduction;
- 3. risk sharing or reduction;
- 4. access to know-how or learning.

An alliance is an inter-organizational co-operation between two or more organizations that are still separate from one another but work together on a particular project - each partner's strategic objectives are to:

- 1. maximize the joint net value or net benefits emerging from the co-operation (Zajac & Olsen, 1993; Colombo, 2003);
- 2. appropriate a sizeable portion of the net benefits generated (Gulati & Singh, 1998);
- 3. reduce each partner's expenses and risk.

¹ University of Maribor, Faculty of Economics and Business, Razlagova 14, 2000 Maribor, Slovenia



Several methods can be used to take advantage of an alliance's advantages. It may feature monetary gains like revenue and equity growth on equity-based joint venture shares or royalties from technological licenses (Contractor et al., 2011). Earning profit markups on outsourced components or goods traded between the allies via supply chain partnerships could potentially benefit the alliance (Wathne & Heide, 2004; Kaufman et al., 2000; Jeffries & Reed, 2000). A non-financial, but no less significant, gain from an alliance could be that each party picks up useful process practices or other expertise from the alliance partner.

2. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF STRATEGIC ALLIANCES

Businesses need resources that can be leveraged to produce unique and rare value for customers in order to generate and exploit a competitive edge. It is challenging for businesses to have all the resources required to compete successfully across numerous markets due to the growing complexity of markets as a result of accelerated and rapid globalization (Ariño & de la Torre, 1998). Independent businesses rarely have the resources necessary to compete on an equal footing, let alone to gain an advantage. Access to information, resources, technology, and markets is made possible by alliances. Resources include things like knowledge, access to technology, and advantages in a market. The aspirations to increase production efficiency and the resulting decrease in costs; to hasten access to technology, markets, and customers; to improve organizational learning; to expand strategic skills; and to maintain the competitiveness are the main drivers of strategic alliance formation. The positive aspects of alliances can be seen in these and other motivations.

A company's management must be aware of the following factors to improve its chances of forming a successful international strategic alliance (Brouthers et al., 1995):

- 1. Complementary Skills: Only companies that can strengthen the venture should be partnered with in an alliance. The knowledge, experience, and abilities must be relevant to the goods or services being supplied and must be specific to them. Alliances should only be formed by managers with companies that meet a specific purpose. There is little need for enterprises to collaborate if no new capabilities are added.
- 2. Co-operative Cultures: Management needs to understand how crucial collaboration is to building effective global strategic partnerships. The management of one company shouldn't assume the lead position and impart all of their knowledge to the other alliance partners while receiving no education. Management must look for opportunities to learn from alliance partners because co-operation is a two-way street. Employees that are a part of the alliance must be mindful of any existing cultural divides, and management must take care to ensure this.
- 3. Compatible Aims: Management must ensure that their involvement in the partnership is based on the goals of their individual company and is not merely a convenient, impromptu choice. The alliance's management must have objectives, as well as company-wide objectives. The alliance should achieve strategic goals that would not have been possible without the global strategic alliance. Conflicting objectives among the participating companies could make the alliance underperform or limit its outcomes so that only one alliance partner benefits.
- 4. Appropriate Levels of Risk: Management needs to take into account the hazards. Management should avoid joining alliances where they would be expected to give more money than the company can reasonably afford, both up front and down the road. Management must also exercise caution because not all knowledge, expertise, and know-how is housed within the alliance, and partner companies must prevent alliance partners from accessing
non-alliance information. In many cases, alliances are created to lower risks, yet in doing so, alliances also increase other dangers, such as political vulnerability. Two significant risk factors include giving up business expertise or discovering that financial pressures rise as a result of partner issues.

Numerous studies on alliances show significant failure rates (Kale et al., 2002), substantial transaction costs associated with drafting and overseeing alliance agreements (Argyres & Mayer, 2007), and severe uncertainty surrounding the appropriation of alliance benefits (Park & Ungson, 2001). According to studies, between 30 and 70 percent of alliances fail, failing to achieve the objectives of their parent companies or giving the operational or strategic benefits they promised (Bamford et al., 2004). Over 50% of alliances are reportedly terminated (Lunnan & Haugland, 2008).

This leads to a conundrum for businesses. On the one hand, businesses struggle to form alliances that are successful enough. On the other hand, they must now build more partnerships than ever before and rely more heavily on them in order to increase their competitiveness and growth. If this is the case, managers need to have a better awareness of what factors truly contribute to successful alliances. Failure can come at a high price. Alliance failure is caused by a variety of elements, such as partner opportunism, cultural incompatibilities, and the inherent friction brought on by aim divergence (Doz, 1996; Kale et al., 2000).

3. STRATEGIC ALLIANCES IN INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS

Due to factors such as globalization, deregulation, advancements in communication and transportation technologies, and the emergence of new market economies, strategic alliances are becoming more and more widespread. In a global context with a wide range of variable environmental elements at play, difficult strategic decision-making processes that precede partnerships become much more complex. Finding the type of value creation that is ingrained in different places is a crucial question in the formation of strategies. However, locales are infused with values, institutions, and practices that build the infrastructure in which assembly decisions are entrenched, so it's not only geography that matters (Dacin, 2011).

When companies wish to expand internationally, they may opt to have complete management control, acquire an existing company, or create a new wholly-owned subsidiary. Alternatively, they may choose to co-operate with other companies to varying degrees (Kogut and Singh, 1988). In general, businesses engage in inter-organizational connections abroad to reduce costs, establish selective alignment between host country risks and company control, and gain knowledge from their partners (Aguilera, 2011). The global market to multinational hierarchy spectrum encompasses a wide range of inter-organizational linkages, from supplier ties (Dyer & Chu, 2000) to multinational corporate groups (Colpan et al., 2010).

Global strategic alliances are described as relatively long-lasting inter-organizational co-operative agreements involving cross-border flows and linkages that make use of the resources and governance structures from autonomous organizations with headquarters in two or more countries for the joint accomplishment of individual goals connected to the corporate mission of each sponsoring firm (Parkhe, 1991). Contractual partnerships are increasingly preferred over the equity joint venture option in the changing global corporate environment. Globally speaking, the enforcement of intellectual property rules is improving yearly. Over the past 20 years, expropriation risks have dramatically decreased, and arbitration provisions better safeguard the value of foreign assets (Contractor & Reuer, 2014). The rising codification of unregistered corporate capability is another subtle trend that tangentially supports the transferability of information in contractual alliances that are increasingly organizationally remote (Contractor & Lorange, 2002). Due to improved operations research methodology, global supply chain coalitions that previously would have been deemed too hazardous or unmanageable due to foreign exchange, political, and international logistics hazards are now feasible (Ding et al., 2007).

International partnerships give businesses the chance to access expertise and resources that aren't currently regulated or accessible in their native country (OECD, 2000). International alliances, however, can provide difficulties not present in local coalitions. According to research, alliance partners' teamwork and learning can be hampered by variations in national cultures (Lane & Beamish, 1990; Parkhe, 1991; Lyles & Salk, 1996; Hennart & Zeng, 2002).

Country distinctions still exist and have a significant impact on strategic choices and outcomes notwithstanding globalization (Tong et al., 2008). Researchers have recently been encouraged to include country-specific data and use disparities between the nations of alliance partners as explanatory factors as a result of the greater availability of country data. These could contain institutional and cultural data banks as well as assessments of each country's level of intellectual property protection (Ginarte & Park, 1997; Berry et al., 2010).

Three potential drivers of partner differences are suggested by Sirmon and Lane (2004): national, organizational, and professional. Deeply ingrained ideals shared by all citizens of a country are referred to as national culture (Hofstede, 1991; Hill, 2021). A people's "design for living" is made up of a set of common conventions, values, and priorities (Hill, 2021). National culture has a significant and enduring impact. Organizational culture is defined in terms of common group meaning (Hofstede et al., 1990; Golden, 1992; Ostroff et al., 2002). According to O'Reilly and Chatman (1996), organizational culture establishes a particular sort of social control that designates the proper attitudes and actions that organization members should exhibit. Similar organizational cultures between partners enhance learning, enjoyment, and interaction effectiveness, but cultural disparities between partners reduce these favorable consequences. The corporate procedures used to share, integrate, and exploit resources including knowledge, connections, and physical assets are projected to be hindered by decreased learning, satisfaction, and efficacy of interactions (Sirmon & Lane, 2004). Another significant culture that may have an impact on international alliances is the professional culture. When a group of people working in a functionally comparable profession has a set of norms, values, and beliefs specific to that profession, then that profession is said to have a professional culture. Through the socialization that people acquire during their occupational education and training, professional cultures are created (Jordan, 1990). The outcomes are anticipated to be disappointing when multinational alliance partners demand that individuals from various professional cultures interact during the alliance's principal value-creating activity.

4. CONCLUSION

Alliances are a sophisticated phenomenon in organizations. Alliances are used in a wide range of situations and can entail many different partner arrangements, the pursuit of many different objectives, and varying degrees of commitment and involvement from partners. The four basic kinds of motivations for interfirm collaboration's strategic drivers include: market expansion or revenue enhancement as a result of co-operation; efficiency or cost reduction; risk sharing or reduction; and access to knowledge or learning.

In order to reduce their expenses, build a discriminating alignment between host country risks and firm control, and learn from their partners, businesses engage in interorganizational interactions abroad. Through international alliances, businesses can access information and resources that aren't currently controlled or accessible in their own nation. It is more challenging to integrate knowledge-intensive activities between foreign enterprises since partners have different national, organizational, and professional cultures. These discrepancies may prevent alliance partners from collaborating and learning from one another. However, in cross-national endeavors, cultural differences aren't always a source of conflict or unpredictability. Because conflict is likely to necessitate more engagement and communication between the partners, which will ultimately result in more effective knowledge acquisition, conflict may occasionally be a useful process mechanism for organizational learning.

In order to have the resources to be genuinely internationally competitive, multinational corporations will increasingly need to create alliances. However, making the wrong alliance partner choice could end up being much more expensive and hazardous than going it alone. Understanding the ideal methods for managing a single alliance between two or more businesses is useful. Future alliance strategies should, however, use a portfolio strategy, as most businesses participate in multiple alliances. Each unique alliance is significant, and a company should follow the proper best practices at each step of the alliance's life cycle and have a solid strategic justification for the partnership. However, by treating each of its separate alliances as a portfolio and managing it as such, a company can benefit further.

Strategic alliances are notoriously dangerous. Strategic collaborations should be avoided unless there is a genuine lack of resources, such expertise, technology, or money. If there are gaps, the business should search for complementary capabilities, collaborative cultures, compatible goals, and proportionate risk levels. Numerous research on alliances point to high rates of failure, high transaction costs associated with drafting and overseeing alliance agreements, and serious uncertainty surrounding the appropriation of alliance benefits. In response, they frequently make recommendations for the choice of partners and legal frameworks in order to lower the risks of failure, transaction costs, and misappropriation.

References

- Aguilera, R. V. (2011). Interorganizational governance and global strategy. *Global Strategy Journal*, 1 (1-2), 90–95.
- Albers, S., Wohlgezogen, F. & Zajac, E. J. (2016). Strategic Alliance Structures: An Organization Design Perspective. *Journal of Management*, 42 (3), 582-614.
- Argyres, N., & Mayer, K. J. (2007). Contract design as a firm capability: An integration of learning and transaction cost perspectives. *Academy of Management Review*, 32 (4), 1060-1077.
- Ariño, A., & de la Torre, J. (1998). Learning from failure: towards an evolutionary model of collaborative ventures. *Organization Science*, 9 (3), 306-325.
- Bamford, J., Gomes-Casseres, B., & Robinson, M. (2004). *Envisioning collaboration: Mastering alliance strategies*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Berry, H., Guillén, M. F., & Zhou, N. (2010). An institutional approach to cross-national distance. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 41 (9), 1460–1480.

- Brouthers, K. D., Brouthers, L. E., & Wilkinson, T. J. (1995). Strategic Alliances: Choose Your Partners. *Long Range Planning*, 28 (3), 18-25.
- Colombo, M. G. (2003). Alliance form: a test of the contractual and competence perspectives. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(12), 1209–1229.
- Colpan, A., Hikino, T., & Lincoln, J. (2010). *The Oxford Handbook of Business Groups*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Contractor, F. J., & Lorange, P. (2002). Cooperative Strategies and Alliances. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Contractor, F. J., & Reuer, J. J. (2014). Structuring and Governing Alliances: New Directions for Research. *Global Strategy Journal*, 4 (4), 241-256.
- Contractor, F. J., Woodley, J. A., & Piepenbrink, A. (2011). How tight an embrace? Choosing the optimal degree of partner interaction in alliances based on risk, technology characteristics, and agreement provisions. *Global Strategy Journal*, 1 (1-2), 67-85.
- Culpan, R. (2009). A fresh look at strategic alliances: research issues and future directions. *International Journal of Strategic Business Alliances*, 1 (1), 4-23.
- Dacin, M. T. (2011). Assembling the global enterprise. Global Strategy Journal, 1 (1-2), 50-53.
- Ding, Q., Dong, L., & Kouvelis, P. (2007). On the integration of production and financial hedging decisions in global markets. *Operations Research*, 55 (3), 470–489.
- Doz, Y. L. (1996), The evolution of cooperation in strategic alliances: initial conditions or learning processes?. *Strategic Management Journal*, 17 (S1), 55-83.
- Dyer, J. H., & Chu, W. J. (2000). The determinants of trust in supplier-automaker relationships in the U.S., Japan, and Korea. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 31 (2), 259–285.
- Ginarte, J. C., & Park, W. G. (1997). Determinants of patent rights: a cross-national study. *Research Policy*, 26 (3), 283–301.
- Golden, K. A. (1992). The individual and organizational culture: strategies for action in highly ordered contexts. *Journal of Management Studies*, 29 (1), 1-21.
- Gulati, R., & Singh, H. (1998). The architecture of cooperation: Managing coordination costs and appropriation concerns in strategic alliances. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 43 (4), 781-814.
- Hennart, J.-F., & Zeng, M. (2002). Cross-cultural differences and joint venture longevity. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 33 (4), 699–716.
- Hill, C. W. L. (2021). *International Business: Competing in the global marketplace, 13th Edition*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Hofstede, G. (1991) Cultures, organizations: Software of the mind. London: McGraw-Hill.
- Hofstede, G., Neuijen, B., Ohayv, D. D., & Sanders, G. (1990). Measuring organizational cultures: a qualitative and quantitative study across twenty cases. Administrative Science Quarterly, 35 (2), 286–316.
- Jeffries, F., & Reed, R. (2000). Trust and adaptation in relational contracting. *Academy of Management Review*, 25 (4), 873–882.
- Jordan, A. T. (1990). Organizational culture and culture change: a case study. *Studies in Third World Societies*, 42, 209–226.
- Kale, P., Dyer, J. H., & Singh, H. (2002). Alliance capability, stock market response, and long-term alliance success: The role of the alliance function. *Strategic Management Journal*, 23 (8), 747-767.
- Kale, P., Singh, H., & Perlmutter, H. (2000). Learning and protection of proprietary assets in strategic alliances: building relational capital. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 217–37.
- Kaufman, A, Wood, C., & Theyel, G. (2000). Collaboration and technology linkages: a strategic supplier typology. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (6), 649–663.
- Kogut, B., & Singh, H. (1988). The effect of national culture on the choice of entry mode. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 19(3), 411–432.

- Lane, H. W., & Beamish, P. W. (1990). Cross-cultural cooperative behavior in joint ventures in LDC's. *Management International Review*, 30 (Special Issue), 87–102.
- Lunnan, R., & Haugland, S. (2008). Predicting and measuring alliance performance: A multidimensional analysis. *Strategic Management Journal*, 29 (5), 545-556
- Lyles, M. A., & Salk, J. E. (1996). Knowledge acquisition from foreign parents in international joint ventures: an empirical examination in the Hungarian context. *Journal of International Busi*ness Studies, 27 (5), 877–903.
- O'Reilly, C. A., & Chatman, J. A. (1996). Culture as social control: Corporations, cults, and commitment. In Staw, B. M., and Cummings, L. L. (Eds.), *Research in organizational behavior: An annual series of analytical essays and critical reviews*, 18. US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press. 157-200.
- Ostroff, C., Kinicki, A. J., & Tomkins, M. (2002). Organizational Culture and Climate. In Borman, W. C., Ilegen, D. R., and Klimoski, R. J. (eds.) *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, 565–594.
- OECD. (2000). *OECD Science, Technology and Industry Outlook*. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.
- Park, S., & Ungson, G. (2001). Interfirm rivalry and managerial complexity: A conceptual framework of alliance failure. *Organization Science*, 12 (1), 37-53.
- Parkhe, A. (1991). Interfirm diversity, organizational learning, and longevity in global strategic alliances. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 22 (4), 579-601.
- Sirmon, D. G., & Lane, P. J. (2004). A model of cultural differences and international alliance performance. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 35 (4), 306–319.
- Tong, T., Alessandri, T. M., Reuer, J. J., & Chintakananda, A. (2008). How much does country matter? An analysis of firms' growth options. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 39 (3), 387–405.
- Wathne, K., & Heide. J. (2004). Relationship governance in a supply chain network. *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (1), 73–89.
- Zajac, E, & Olsen, C. (1993). From transaction cost to transactional value analysis: implications for the study of interorganizational strategies. *Journal of Management Studies*, 30(1), 131–145.



Testing the Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis in Period of the Global Pandemic of 2020 and the Russian Invasion in 2022: Empirical Evidence from XAU, XAG and XPT

Nicole Horta¹ Rui Dias² Paula Heliodoro³ Paulo Alexandre⁴ Mariana Chambino⁵

Received: October 11, 2022 Accepted: January 14, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Events 2020 and 2022; Persistence; Arbitrage; Portfolio diversification

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: This study intends to determine if the events of 2020 and 2022 have had an impact on the efficiency of the commodities markets, in particular the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), between September 18th, 2017, and September 15th, 2022. The findings of the Rankings and Signals test demonstrate that, during the calm time, the gold, silver, and platinum markets do not reject the random walk hypothesis, which means that spot prices are independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.), consequently their movements are assumed to be random. Contrarily, the random walk hypothesis is rejected during the Stress period in all commodity markets, with variance ratios below unity, suggesting that returns show significant autocorrelation. To support this, the findings of the exponent Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFA) reveal that silver (XAG) had an antipersistent short memory ($\alpha < 0,5$), during the Calm period, transitioning to a persistent movement $(\alpha > 0,5)$ during the time of the crisis. While the worldwide financial markets were stable, platinum (XPT) was in a state of equilibrium. This state changed to persistent with the succession of events starting in 2020 ($\alpha > 0,5$). In turn, gold (XAU) reduced its antipersistence ($\alpha < 0,5$) throughout the period of stress in international markets. In conclusion, there is evidence of some dependency in the time series, but this dependence does not appear to be easily exploitable by investors. These findings have significant implications for gold, silver, and platinum's roles as investment assets.

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the most significant economic and financial theories tested over the last century is the efficient market hypothesis (EMH). Due to numerous contradictory evidence, also known as anomalies against HME, some researchers have questioned whether the HME hypothesis is valid so many theories have been developed to explain some of the anomalies (Fama, 1965, 1970, 1991).

The gold, silver and platinum markets are precious metal markets that have evolved into potential investment assets. From the perspective of an investor, it is critical to understand that the spot prices of these precious metals represent the relevant information set at each moment in time. This paper examines a sequence of price changes for each metal to see whether these

¹ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

² School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal; Center for Studies and Advanced Training in Management and Economics (CEFAGE), University of Évora, Portugal

³ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

⁴ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

⁵ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal



markets are efficient, that is, whether the random walk and martingale hypothesis are verified in times of stress in international financial markets (Dias & Carvalho, 2020, 2021; Dias et al., 2021; Teixeira et al., 2022).

In recent decades, we learned that speculation is a necessary element of the price discovery process and that efforts to eliminate such speculation reduce informational efficiency in international financial markets dramatically. In light of these occurrences, this study will test whether the events of 2020 and 2022 have influenced the efficiency, in their weak form, of commodity markets, namely gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT). The results suggest some persistence between the 2020 and 2022 events, but there is no evidence that investors can easily exploit this dependence, and these findings are crucial for investors trying to diversify their portfolios efficiently.

Because gold, silver, and platinum markets have become important components of both individual and institutional investment portfolios, this study contributes to the existing literature, particularly in the study of informational efficiency in precious metal markets. It is also important to understand the impact that the 2020 and 2022 events had on predictability in the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT).

This study is organized as follows: part 1 is an introduction, and section 2 is a Literature Review of studies on predictability in commodities markets. Section 3 covers the data and methods. Section 4 contains the main results. Section 5 concludes.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Various scientific studies have examined the notion of asset return prediction through the examination of patterns that may impact commodity price information, namely precious metals. According to these studies, certain economic developments make the fast adjustment of asset values difficult, resulting in temporal gaps that investors might employ to take advantage of above-average returns without incurring additional risk (Dias & Santos, 2020; Dias et al., 2021; Vasco et al., 2021; Guedes et al., 2022).

In 2015, the authors Ntim et al. (2015) investigated the extent to which the predictability of gold spot prices can be explained by macroeconomic variable volatility in the spot prices of 28 global gold markets, with special attention on the random walk and martingale hypothesis, from January 1968 to August 2014. The authors show that gold markets in the UAE, Saudi Arabia, Indonesia, Egypt, Mexico, Nepal, Pakistan, Russia, and Vietnam are (un)efficient and persistent. For gold markets in Hong Kong, Japan, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States, the random walk and martingale hypothesis cannot be rejected, whereas the results for gold markets in Australia, Bahrain, Brazil, Canada, China, Germany, India, Malaysia, Singapore, South Africa, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, and Turkey are hybrid. Furthermore, Charles et al. (2015) highlight that the predictability of precious metals market returns has changed over time, i.e. the returns of gold and silver markets have been trending downwards, implying that the level of efficiency, in its weak form, of these markets has significantly improved.

Already in 2020, the authors Shahid et al. (2020) assessed whether the prices of NYSE commodities (gold, silver, and metal) fluctuate randomly. The authors show that commodities exhibit inefficient

behavior throughout the sample period, demonstrating that past prices help predict future prices. Furthermore, investors can use time-varying information to reduce the risk of NYSE investment.

Pathak et al. (2020) investigated the predictability of gold, silver, platinum, and palladium spot prices and discovered that the degree of efficiency of metal prices fluctuates with time, with the silver market exhibiting the highest levels of efficiency. In addition, Shahid, Latif, et al. (2020) investigated the predictability of four commodities indexes, namely gold, metal, oil, and silver, in different crisis periods from 1963 to 2013. The authors show, using linear and non-linear testing, that commodities index returns were predictable (dependent) in certain crises but unpredictable in others.

In more recent studies, Okoroafor and Leirvik (2022) evaluated the efficiency of the spot crude oil (WTI) market to key events in worldwide financial and commodities markets, finding that the WTI market is persistent and (in)efficient during the financial crisis. In contrast, Kara et al. (2022) tested the efficient market hypothesis, i.e. the predictability of pricing patterns, for many non-re-newable commodities, including gold, platinum, and silver, copper, zinc, aluminum, lead, tin, and nickel (1980-2019). Except for silver, the authors show that none of the prices can be described by the efficient market hypothesis, which states that prices follow stationary and predictable patterns related to global economic events. In addition, Mensi et al. (2022) investigated fractal behavior and long memory in major precious and industrial metals futures markets. The authors estimated the Hurst exponent and performed an asymmetric multifractal trend fluctuation analysis for this purpose (A-MF-DFA). According to the authors, gold has the least asymmetric multifractal behavior while silver has the most asymmetric multifractal magnitude. All metals markets exhibit negative persistence and positive anti-persistence. Precious metals were most inefficient in decline before and during the 2008 global financial crisis, the European sovereign debt crisis, and the oil crisis.

In summary, this paper aims to contribute to the provision of information to market agents trading the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), and to attempt to demonstrate whether the 2020 and 2022 events have caused predictability in the specific metal markets.

3. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

3.1. Data

The data analyzed are the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022. To obtain more robust results, we divided the sample into two sub-periods: the first period is referred to as Calm is defined by an apparent calmness in the financial markets and comprises the period from 18 September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019. The events of 2020 and 2022 characterize the second period, a highly complex period in international financial markets marked by events such as the pandemic outbreak caused by the appearance of coronavirus in the Chinese city of Wuhan in March 2020 and, later, the Russian invasion of Ukraine in the first quarter of 2022. The time scales are daily and were obtained from the Thomson Reuters Eikon database.

3.2. Methodology

In order to answer the research question, we will go through several steps. The first step is to evaluate the evolution of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (Pt) (XPT). The sample will

be characterized using descriptive statistics such as mean, standard deviation, asymmetry, and kurtosis, to validate whether we are dealing with normal distributions. To validate the results, we will estimate Jarque and Bera (1980). We will estimate the Dickey and Fuller (1981), Phillips and Perron (1988), Levin et al., (2002), and Im et al. (2003) tests to demonstrate that prices are stationary. The Clemente et al. (1998) test will be used to assess the most important breaks in the structure of spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT).

To answer the research question we will estimate Wright's (2000) model, through Wright (2000) Rankings and Signs Variance Ratios; to validate results we will apply Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFA) methodology. By assuming that the time series are non-stationary, this technique prevents false conclusions when the study focuses on the long-run relationships of the time series. Peng et al. (1994) created this methodology, which has its roots in the study of DNA behavior. This method was then used to investigate the behavior of financial series. DFA's interpretation is as follows: $0 < \alpha < 0.5$ anti persistent series; $\alpha = 0.5$ series features random walk: $0.5 < \alpha < 1$ persistent series.

4. **RESULTS**

Figure 1 shows the evolution of commodity markets, namely the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG) and platinum (XPT), in the period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019, a period marked by relative stability in financial markets, as well as in the period from January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022, a highly complex period in international financial markets marked by events such as the pandemic outbreak caused by the emergence of coronavirus in the Chinese city of Wuhan in March 2020 and later, in the first quarter of 2022, with the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Through graphical observation, it is noticeable that there are significant breaks in the structure of the time series, especially during the first and second quarters of 2020 and 2022. Authors Dias et al. (2022), and Zebende et al. (2022) support this evidence by highlighting large structural breaks in international capital markets.

Figures 2 and **3** show the evolution, in returns, of the financial markets under analysis and high dispersion around average (extreme volatility), and a certain synchronism in the movements of the time series can be observed. It's possible to confirm the existence of accentuated falls in structure in the markets under analysis, with special emphasis on the commodities markets, which were primarily felt in the last quarter of 2019 and first/second quarter of 2020, a period that was characterized as a bear market period due to a sharp drop in price indexes caused by the uncertainty triggered by the evolution of the global pandemic (Covid-19). In 2022, due to Russia's invasion of Ukraine, there are also structural breaks in the time series under study, however, they are less pronounced as compared to the influence of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Table 1 shows the main descriptive statistics of the returns of the time series, namely the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), for the two sub-periods under study, namely the Calm sub-period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019, and the Stress sub-period from January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022.

The values of average returns are shown in **Table 1**, which are consistent with classical financial theory dictates, that is, the longer the time interval, the average returns will tend toward zero. Overall, gold (XAU), had the highest average return in both subperiods under analysis, despite falling. It should also be highlighted that the commodities under research exhibited positive

average returns during the calm subperiod; nevertheless, during the financial market Stress subperiod, not only did all of them become less profitable, but even platinum (XPT) showed a negative average return.



Figure 1. Evolution, in levels, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), for the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022 **Source:** Own elaboration



Figure 2. Evolution, in returns, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), in the period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019 **Source:** Own elaboration

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings



Figure 3. Evolution, in returns, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), in the period from January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022 **Source:** Own elaboration

In terms of standard deviation, gold (XAU) is the riskiest asset in the calm subperiod. In comparison, all of the financial markets under consideration showed higher risk during the Stress subperiod. The results also show that the return series deviate from the normality hypothesis, which is validated by the Jarque and Bera (1980) test, as well as by analyzing the skewness and kurtosis coefficients, which are statistically different from those of a normal distribution, leading us to conclude that the return series analyzed are leptokurtic and asymmetric.

	Calm Period			Stress Period				
	18/0	09/2017 a 31/12/2	2019	01/0	01/01/2020 a 15/09/2022			
	XAG	XAU	XPT	XAG	XAU	XPT		
Mean	5.97E-05	0.000252	5.26E-06	0.000100	0.000134	-8.66E-05		
Median	0.000336	0.000270	0.000000	0.000536	0.001016	0.000649		
Maximum	0.041407	0.024360	0.039076	0.079027	0.036340	0.097077		
Minimum	-0.049225	-0.021652	-0.053648	-0.162015	-0.058927	-0.138772		
Std.Dev.	0.010996	0.006550	0.011721	0.021290	0.009942	0.020139		
Skewness	-0.244225	0.104835	-0.170491	-0.817372	-0.737945	-0.750538		
Kurtosis	5.035149	4.047529	4.260143	11.07271	6.471347	8.376299		
Jarque-Bera	108.2328	28.19906	42.10862	1998.483	419.1480	917.8575		
Probability	0.000000	0.000001	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000		
Sum	0.035392	0.149290	0.003122	0.070898	0.094422	-0.061224		
SumSq.Dev.	0.071578	0.025401	0.081333	0.320018	0.069783	0.286347		
Observations	593	593	593	707	707	707		

Table 1. Descriptive statistics, in returns, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT)from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022

Source: Own elaboration

When we are analyzing price indexes it is crucial to analyze the (non-)stationary nature of the time series. **Tables 2** and **3** analyze the stationary nature of the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), throughout the Calm and Stress subperiods, respectively.

The Levin et al. (2002) and Im et al. (2003) test postulate that the null hypothesis has unit roots, showing a probability lower than a significance level of 1%, in first differences, since it causes us to reject the null hypothesis.

 Table 2. Stationarity tests of Dickey and Fuller (1981), Phillips and Perron (1988), Levin, Lin, and Chu (2002) and Im et al. (2003), applied to the commodity markets (XAU, XAG, XPT)

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

 1
 1

J 1	1	, ,	,				
Method	Statistic	Prob.**	Crosssections	Obs.			
Null: Unit root (assumes common unit root process)							
Levin, Lin & Chu t*	-56.9454	0.0000	3	1773			
Null: Unit root (assumes individual unit root process)							
Im, Pesaran and Shin W-stat	-47.9240	0.0000	3	1773			
ADF - Fisher Chi-square	505.978	0.0000	3	1773			
PP - Fisher Chi-square	505.104	0.0000	3	1773			

under study over the period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019

Note: ** Probabilities for Fisher tests are computed using an asymptotic Chi-square distribution. All other tests assume asymptotic normality

Source: Own elaboration

Table 3. Stationarity tests of Dickey and Fuller (1981), Phillips and Perron (1988), Levin, Lin, and Chu (2002) and Im et al. (2003), applied to the commodity markets (XAU, XAG, XPT), over the period from January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022

Method	Statistic	Prob.**	Crosssections	Obs.				
Null: Unit root (assumes common unit root process)								
Levin, Lin & Chu t*	-56.9413	0.0000	3	2118				
Null: Unit root (assumes individual unit root proc	Null: Unit root (assumes individual unit root process)							
Im, Pesaran and Shin W-stat	-48.1422	0.0000	3	2118				
ADF - Fisher Chi-square	534.660	0.0000	3	2118				
PP - Fisher Chi-square	534.821	0.0000	3	2118				

Note: ** Probabilities for Fisher tests are computed using an asymptotic Chi-square distribution. All other tests assume asymptotic normality

Source: Own elaboration

In **Figure 4** it is possible to examine the most significant structure breaks, of the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), over the period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019. The results of Clemente et al. (1998) test demonstrate that more significant breaks occur mostly when rumors of the advent of an infectious disease in the Chinese city of Wuhan, dubbed Covid-19, appear. Due to the evolution of the pandemic outbreak, there are also significant breaks in the time series structure in the early months of 2020. It should also be highlighted that platinum (XPT) moves more volatilely than gold (XAU) and silver (XAG).

Even though Russia's policy choice to conduct military operations on Ukrainian territory had a large-scale negative impact, commodity markets did not show sharp falls.

In **Tables 4** and **5** are presented the results of the non-parametric version of the Wright (2000) variance test for the two sub-periods under study, namely, the "Calm" period, which runs from September 18th, 2017 to December 31st, 2019, and the "Stress" period, which corresponds to the time lapse between January 1st, 2019, and September 15th, 2022, for the commodities of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT). This approach comprises the Rankings Variance Ratio and Signals tests, and the present statistics were calculated for lags from 2 to 16 days.

The results presented in **Table 4** show that during the Calm period, the random walk hypothesis is not rejected for all markets under analysis, which means, that during this period the changes in the price indexes XAG, XAU and XPT are i.i.d., so it is assumed that past price index movements or trends cannot be used to predict future price index movements.

During the Stress period, however, the random walk hypothesis is rejected for all commodity markets, including gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT). During this period, we even find that the variance ratios are less than unity, which implies that the returns exhibit significant autocorrelation. These findings lead us to conclude that, regardless of the nature of the information, markets may overreact to it during the Stress period and end up correcting themselves in the following days. Zebende et al. (2022), Dias et al. (2022), and Guedes et al. (2022) validate these findings, revealing that the high prices sensitivity to new information during this period of high complexity in international financial markets is due to the climate of pessimism and uncertainty experienced by investors during the sample period, as a result of events such as the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 and Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022.



Figure 4. Evolution, in levels, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), for the period from 18 September 2017 to 15 September 2022 Source: Own elaboration

Table 4. Tests of Wright's (2000) Variance Ratios of Rankings and Signals, in returns, of commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), over the period from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019

Null Hypothesis: XAG is a random walk						
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability		
Max z (at	t period 2)	2.131658	593	0.0890		
Wald (Ch	i-Square)	16.09920	15	0.377		
Individu	lal Tests		1	<u></u>		
Period	Var. Ratio	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Probability		
2	0.912463	0.041065	-2.131658	0.0360		
3	0.870888	0.061216	-2.109108	0.0340		
4	0.887535	0.076826	-1.463903	0.1410		
5	0.875196	0.089969	-1.387182	0.1550		
6	0.864278	0.101516	-1.336959	0.1760		
7	0.867338	0.111925	-1.185278	0.2320		
8	0.860704	0.121472	-1.146733	0.2460		
9	0.846881	0.130339	-1.174770	0.2440		
10	0.833241	0.138652	-1.202718	0.2350		
11	0.814170	0.146501	-1.268458	0.2150		
12	0.795844	0.153956	-1.326068	0.1950		
13	0.778120	0.161070	-1.377536	0.1730		
14	0.760766	0.167887	-1.424970	0.1590		
15	0.752592	0.174439	-1.418303	0.1600		
16	0.748872	0.180756	-1.389321	0.1650		
	Null Hyp	othesis: XAU is a rand	lom walk			
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability		
Max z (at	period 13)	1.747963	593	0.2040		
Wald (Ch	i-Square)	20.76580	15	0.1840		
Individu	ual Tests					
Period	Var. Ratio	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Probability		
2	0.928226	0.041065	-1.747810	0.0790		
3	0.896511	0.061216	-1.690551	0.0880		
4	0.892039	0.076826	-1.405272	0.1620		
5	0.870776	0.089969	-1.436313	0.1490		
6	0.838329	0.101516	-1.592568	0.1070		
7	0.823332	0.111925	-1.578453	0.1200		
8	0.809609	0.121472	-1.567366	0.1240		
9	0.794279	0.130339	-1.578350	0.1220		
10	0.778460	0.138652	-1.597820	0.1150		
11	0.754216	0.146501	-1.677693	0.0970		
12	0.740452	0.153956	-1.685861	0.0970		
13	0.718455	0.161070	-1.747963	0.0820		
14	0.706922	0.167887	-1.745689	0.0810		
15	0.709265	0.174439	-1.666683	0.0990		
16	0.715834	0.180756	-1.572093	0.1300		
T •	Null Hyp	oothesis: XPT is a rand	lom walk	D 1 1 11		
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability		
Max z (at	period 16)	1.144655	593	0.5420		
Wald (Ch	n-Square)	11.20068	15	0.7320		
Individu	lai lests	C4.1 E		Day 1 - 1 - 11 -		
Period	Var. Katio	Std. Error	Z-Statistic	Probability		
2	0.969029	0.041065	-0./34191	0.4550		
3	0.936133	0.07(92)	-0./16268	0.4/50		
4	0.969207	0.076826	-0.400811	0.6810		

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

5	0.957439	0.089969	-0.473063	0.6320
6	0.955149	0.101516	-0.441809	0.6500
7	0.942110	0.111925	-0.517228	0.6000
8	0.932909	0.121472	-0.552319	0.5910
9	0.908344	0.130339	-0.703208	0.4860
10	0.885651	0.138652	-0.824718	0.4200
11	0.859158	0.146501	-0.961370	0.3400
12	0.843360	0.153956	-1.017435	0.3000
13	0.830145	0.161070	-1.054539	0.2840
14	0.812988	0.167887	-1.113918	0.2620
15	0.801978	0.174439	-1.135192	0.2480
16	0.793096	0.180756	-1.144655	0.2410

Source: Own elaboration

Table 5. Tests of Wright's (2000) Variance Ratios of Rankings and Signals,in returns, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT)over the period January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022

Null Hypothesis: XA	G is a random walk			
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability
Max z (a	t period 2)	12.67728	706	0.0000
Wald (Cl	ni-Square)	176.6346	15	0.0000
Individ	ual Tests			•
Period	Var. Ratio	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Probability
2	0.522884	0.037635	-12.67728	0.0000
3	0.373722	0.056104	-11.16287	0.0000
4	0.300005	0.070410	-9.941766	0.0000
5	0.250896	0.082455	-9.084983	0.0000
6	0.211422	0.093037	-8.475924	0.0000
7	0.183742	0.102577	-7.957514	0.0000
8	0.165742	0.111327	-7.493744	0.0000
9	0.139225	0.119454	-7.205923	0.0000
10	0.135944	0.127072	-6.799731	0.0000
11	0.129524	0.134266	-6.483229	0.0000
12	0.114931	0.141098	-6.272711	0.0000
13	0.109201	0.147619	-6.034465	0.0000
14	0.103157	0.153866	-5.828744	0.0000
15	0.101478	0.159871	-5.620300	0.0000
16	0.091801	0.165660	-5.482294	0.0000
Null Hypothesis: XA	U is a random walk			
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability
Max z (a	t period 2)	11.85102	706	0.0000
Wald (Cł	ni-Square)	161.1216	15	0.0000
Individ	ual Tests			
Period	Var. Ratio	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Probability
2	0.553981	0.037635	-11.85102	0.0000
3	0.358434	0.056104	-11.43536	0.0000
4	0.293553	0.070410	-10.03339	0.0000
5	0.252260	0.082455	-9.068433	0.0000
6	0.207382	0.093037	-8.519349	0.0000
7	0.188365	0.102577	-7.912437	0.0000
8	0.161292	0.111327	-7.533715	0.0000
9	0.142062	0.119454	-7.182167	0.0000
10	0.142438	0.127072	-6.748630	0.0000
11	0.129794	0.134266	-6.481221	0.0000

Testing the Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis in Period of the Global Pandemic of 2020 and the Russian Invasion in 2022: Empirical Evidence from XAU, XAG and XPT

12	0.120490	0.141098	-6.233316	0.0000
13	0.113554	0.147619	-6.004977	0.0000
14	0.109981	0.153866	-5.784391	0.0000
15	0.107495	0.159871	-5.582663	0.0000
16	0.101736	0.165660	-5.422325	0.0000
Null Hypothesis: XP	Γ is a random walk			
Joint	Tests	Value	df	Probability
Max z (a	t period 2)	12.79182	706	0.0000
Wald (Ch	i-Square)	175.2677	15	0.0000
Individu	ial Tests			
Period	Var. Ratio	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Probability
2	0.518574	0.037635	-12.79182	0.0000
3	0.376586	0.056104	-11.11182	0.0000
4	0.287103	0.070410	-10.12501	0.0000
5	0.236443	0.082455	-9.260258	0.0000
6	0.203024	0.093037	-8.566189	0.0000
7	0.183986	0.102577	-7.955130	0.0000
8	0.169627	0.111327	-7.458847	0.0000
9	0.142807	0.119454	-7.175936	0.0000
10	0.133193	0.127072	-6.821379	0.0000
11	0.133375	0.134266	-6.454552	0.0000
12	0.125228	0.141098	-6.199737	0.0000
13	0.116954	0.147619	-5.981943	0.0000
14	0.111292	0.153866	-5.775871	0.0000
15	0.109373	0.159871	-5.570916	0.0000
16	0.110238	0.165660	-5.371000	0.0000

Source: Own elaboration

The Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFS) approach was used to test the weak efficient market hypothesis in commodity markets, namely the spot prices of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT) from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022. To study two sub-periods, one marked by relative stability in international financial markets and another marked by high complexity in markets resulting from events such as the Covid-19 outbreak and the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the period under study was divided into two parts: a "Calm" period that runs from September 18th, 2017, to December 31st, 2019, and a "Stress" period that runs from January 1st, 2020, to September 15th, 2022.

Using the DFA technique the α parameter was calculated for each time series. The parameter α represents the correlation properties of time series, and means that if $\alpha = 0.5$, there are no long-range correlations present in the series, remaining in an equilibrium situation. In turn, if the parameter remains between 0.5 and 1, the series is persistent, and the process is considered to be long-term dependent with positive correlations at all lags. These markets are associated with higher risk and (positive) persistence, allowing for abnormal profits through arbitrage and providing evidence against the efficient market hypothesis. If the series has an α parameter between 0 and 0.5, the series is antipersistent, and the process is considered to be long-run dependent with negative correlations at all lags, which is related to markets that exhibit rapid mean-reversion.

Analyzing **Table 6**, we can see a significant increase in the exponents for XAG (0.48 to 0.54) and for XPT (0.50 to 0.52). During the Calm period, the commodity XAG presented an antipersistent long memory ($\alpha < 0.5$), turning to a persistent movement during the crisis ($\alpha > 0.5$). Platinum (XPT), on the other hand, was in a situation of equilibrium during the period of socalled tranquility in international financial markets, before transitioning to a persistent state with the sequence of events beginning in 2020 ($\alpha > 0.5$). In turn, the commodity XAU experienced a decrease in the value of its exponent but remained antipersistent ($\alpha < 0.5$).

These findings show that prices do not fully reflect available information and that price changes are not i.i.d. In this view, this research has implications for investors since some returns in the markets under investigation may be predicted, offering the potential for arbitrage and abnormal profits, which implies gaining returns above the market average without incurring additional risk. These findings are consistent with those given by Dias et al. (2022), Zebende et al., (2022), and Guedes et al. (2022), all of which highlight the presence of long memories in periods of stress in international financial markets.

Table 6. Results of the DFA exponent, in returns, of the commodity markets (XAG, XAU, XPT), over the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022

Market	DFA (Calm)	DFA (Stress)
XAG	0.48 ≌ 0.0130	$0.54 \cong 0.0114^{***}$
XAU	0.48 ≌ 0.0245	$0.46 \cong 0.0068^{***}$
XPT	0.50 ≌ 0.0054	0.52 ≌ 0.0119***

Note: ***. **. *. represent significance at 1%. 5% and 10%. respectively.

Source: Own elaboration.

5. CONCLUSION

This article aimed to understand if the global pandemic of 2020 and the Russian invasion in 2022 caused predictability in the spot price formation of gold (XAU), silver (XAG), and platinum (XPT), in the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022. To answer the research question, we performed the Rankings and Signals test which allows evidencing, that in the Calm period, the random walk hypothesis is not rejected in the gold, silver, and platinum markets, meaning that spot prices are independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.), so it is assumed that their movements follow a random behavior. On the contrary, the random walk hypothesis is rejected in all commodity markets throughout the Stress period, with variance ratios below unity, meaning that returns exhibit significant autocorrelation. To validate, the results of the Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFA) exponent demonstrate that during the Calm period, silver (XAG) exhibited an antipersistent short memory ($\alpha < 0.5$), shifting during the crisis to a persistent movement ($\alpha > 0.5$). Platinum (XPT) was in a situation of equilibrium during the calm period in international financial markets, becoming persistent with the sequence of events beginning in 2020 ($\alpha > 0.5$). In turn, gold (XAU) decreased its antipersistence ($\alpha < 0.5$) through stress in international markets.

In conclusion, the authors provide significant evidence for regulators, supervisors, investors, and hedge managers who wish to invest in these markets by building strategies and diversifying their portfolios based on different frequencies. These results have significant implications for the role of gold, silver and platinum as investment assets.

References

- Charles, A., Darné, O., & Kim, J. H. (2015). Will precious metals shine? A market efficiency perspective. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. irfa.2015.01.018
- Clemente, J., Montañés, A., & Reyes, M. (1998). Testing for a unit root in variables with a double change in the mean. *Economics Letters*, 59(2), 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(98)00052-4
- Dias, R., Alexandre, P., Vasco, C., Heliodoro, P., & Santos, H. (2021). Random Walks and Market Efficiency: Gold, Platinum, Silver Vs Asia Equity Markets. 5th EMAN Conference Proceedings (Part of EMAN Conference Collection), October, 55–70. https://doi.org/10.31410/ eman.2021.55
- Dias, R., & Carvalho, L. C. (2020). Hedges and safe havens: An examination of stocks, gold and silver in Latin America's stock market. *Revista de Administração Da UFSM*, *13*(5), 1114–1132. https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465961307
- Dias, R., Pereira, J. M., & Carvalho, L. C. (2022). Are African Stock Markets Efficient? A Comparative Analysis Between Six African Markets, the UK, Japan and the USA in the Period of the Pandemic. *Naše Gospodarstvo/Our Economy*, 68(1), 35–51. https://doi.org/10.2478/ ngoe-2022-0004
- Dias, R., & Santos, H. (2020). Stock Market Efficiency in Africa: Evidence from Random Walk Hypothesis. 6th LIMEN Conference Proceedings (Part of LIMEN Conference Collection), 6(July), 25–37. https://doi.org/10.31410/limen.2020.25
- Dias, R. T., & Carvalho, L. (2021). *The Relationship Between Gold and Stock Markets During the COVID-19 Pandemic. May*, 462–475. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6643-5.ch026
- Dias, R. T., Pardal, P., Santos, H., & Vasco, C. (2021). *Testing the Random Walk Hypothesis for Real Exchange Rates* (Issue June, pp. 304–322). https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6926-9. ch017
- Dickey, D., & Fuller, W. (1981). Likelihood ratio statistics for autoregressive time series with a unit root. *Econometrica*, 49(4), 1057–1072. https://doi.org/10.2307/1912517
- Fama, E. F. (1965). Random Walks in Stock Market Prices. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 21(5). https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v21.n5.55
- Fama, E. F. (1970). Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work. *The Journal of Finance*, 25(2). https://doi.org/10.2307/2325486
- Fama, E. F. (1991). Efficient Capital Markets: II. *The Journal of Finance*, 46(5). https://doi.org/10.2307/2328565
- Guedes, E. F., Santos, R. P. C., Figueredo, L. H. R., Da Silva, P. A., Dias, R. M. T. S., & Zebende, G. F. (2022). Efficiency and Long-Range Correlation in G-20 Stock Indexes: A Sliding Windows Approach. *Fluctuation and Noise Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1142/S021947752250033X
- Im, K. S., Pesaran, M. H., & Shin, Y. (2003). Testing for unit roots in heterogeneous panels. *Journal of Econometrics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(03)00092-7
- Jarque, C. M., & Bera, A. K. (1980). Efficient tests for normality, homoscedasticity and serial independence of regression residuals. *Economics Letters*, 6(3). https://doi. org/10.1016/0165-1765(80)90024-5
- Kara, A., Yildirim, D., & Tunc, G. I. (2022). Market efficiency in non-renewable resource markets: evidence from stationarity tests with structural changes. *Mineral Economics*. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13563-022-00312-8
- Levin, A., Lin, C. F., & Chu, C. S. J. (2002). Unit root tests in panel data: Asymptotic and finite-sample properties. *Journal of Econometrics*, *108*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(01)00098-7

- Mensi, W., Vo, X. V., & Kang, S. H. (2022). Upward/downward multifractality and efficiency in metals futures markets: The impacts of financial and oil crises. *Resources Policy*, 76. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2022.102645
- Ntim, C. G., English, J., Nwachukwu, J., & Wang, Y. (2015). On the efficiency of the global gold markets. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. irfa.2015.03.013
- Okoroafor, U. C., & Leirvik, T. (2022). Time varying market efficiency in the Brent and WTI crude market. *Finance Research Letters*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.frl.2021.102191
- Pathak, R., Gupta, R. Das, Taufemback, C. G., & Tiwari, A. K. (2020). Testing the efficiency of metal's market: new evidence from a generalized spectral test. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, 37(2). https://doi.org/10.1108/SEF-07-2019-0253
- Peng, C. K., Buldyrev, S. V., Havlin, S., Simons, M., Stanley, H. E., & Goldberger, A. L. (1994). Mosaic organization of DNA nucleotides. *Physical Review E*, 49(2), 1685–1689. https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevE.49.1685
- Phillips, P. C. B., & Perron, P. (1988). Testing for a unit root in time series regression. *Biometrika*, 75(2), 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/75.2.335
- Shahid, M. N., Jehanzeb, M., Abbas, A., Zubair, A., & Akbar, M. A. H. (2020). Predictability of precious metals and adaptive market hypothesis. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, 15(5). https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOEM-07-2018-0404
- Shahid, M. N., Latif, K., Chaudhary, G. M., & Adil, S. (2020). Financial Crises and Adaptive Market Hypothesis: An Evidence from International Commodities traded at New York Stock Exchange. *Review of Economics and Development Studies*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.47067/reads. v6i1.185
- Teixeira, N., Dias, R., Pardal, P., & Styles, L. (2022). The gold market as a safe haven when stock markets exhibit pronounced levels of risk: evidence during the China crisis and the COV-ID-19 pandemic. April, 27–42.
- Vasco, C., Pardal, P., & Dias, R. T. (2021). Do the Stock Market Indices Follow a Random Walk? May, 389–410. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6643-5.ch022
- Wright, J. H. (2000). Alternative variance-ratio tests using ranks and signs. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07350015.2000.10524842
- Zebende, G. F., Santos Dias, R. M. T., & de Aguiar, L. C. (2022). Stock market efficiency: An intraday case of study about the G-20 group. In *Heliyon* (Vol. 8, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. heliyon.2022.e08808



Risk Diversification in Asian Stock Markets: An Empirical Analysis in the Context of the 2020 and 2022 Events

Nicole Horta¹ Rui Dias² Paula Heliodoro³ Paulo Alexandre⁴ Mariana Chambino⁵

Keywords: Asian Markets; Financial integration; Long memories; Portfolio diversification



Received: October 11, 2022 Accepted: December 20, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: The World Health Organization (WHO) designated coronavirus infection a worldwide pandemic in 2020, based on the risk of contagion and the number of confirmed cases in more than 195 countries. Covid-19 had a severe impact on the global economy as a result of uncertainty and pessimism, causing adverse effects on financial markets. On February 24th, 2022, Russia launched a full-scale military invasion against Ukraine, signifying a dramatic escalation of a conflict that began in 2014. Several analysts named the invasion the largest military invasion in Europe since World War II. In the context of these events, this paper aims to estimate whether portfolio diversification is practicable in the stock markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), for the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022. In the purpose of reaching such analysis it is intended to provide answers to two questions: (i) if the global pandemic of 2020 and the Russian invasion in 2022 have accentuated financial integration in these Asian markets? (ii) If yes, the existence of persistence in returns, could put portfolio diversification into question? The results indicate that those markets have low levels of integration, both in periods of normality and in periods of global uncertainty. Complementarily, the 2020 and 2022 events have significantly increased persistence in these regional markets. These results demonstrate that prices do not fully reflect available information and that changes in prices are not i.i.d. This situation has implications for investors, as some returns may be expected, creating some opportunities for arbitrage and windfalls profits. The authors consider that these results provide an opportunity for regulators in these regional markets to take efforts to ensure better information between these markets and the international markets.

1. INTRODUCTION

Over the last 40 years, China has experienced a high rate of economic growth. The connection of capital markets between China and other countries has gradually become an important subject. The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) founded on August 8th, 1967, in Bangkok, includes ten member states, namely Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. ASEAN and China are geographically adjacent and have a long history of economic and cultural interactions. On September 5th, 2013, President Xi introduced the One Belt One Road initiative to strengthen cooperation with those nations. Under this initiative, China and ASEAN countries would continue to

⁵ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal



¹ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

² School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal; Center for Studies and Advanced Training in Management and Economics (CEFAGE), University of Évora, Portugal

³ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

⁴ School of Business and Administration, Polytechnic Institute of Setúbal, Portugal

promote connectivity and strengthen economic ties. Additionally, with the ongoing regionalism of ASEAN countries and the implementation of the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, the economical connection between China and ASEAN countries has been further reinforced (Li & Bai, 2022). The financial integration of Southeast Asian markets has been an important research topic. The performance of these developing markets has received considerable attention as a result of recent global financial market changes (Jacob et al., 2021).

China and the countries of Southeast Asia are geographically close and have had strong economic connections over a long period. In recent years, China and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries have gradually opened their markets and strengthened their economic and trade ties, which have been reflected in their capital markets.

Considering the 2020 and 2022 events, this research paper will test whether portfolio diversification is achievable in the capital markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC) over the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022. The outcomes strongly suggest that the markets are partially integrated; however, we observe that during the global uncertainty of 2020 and 2022, the persistence in these regional markets has increased significantly. These outcomes may put into question the implementation of efficient portfolio diversification strategies in these regional markets.

This study contributes to the literature, particularly the study on portfolio diversification in those Asian regional markets during the pandemic breakout in 2020 and the Russian invasion in 2022. According to what we know, this is the first study to examine these Asian markets in the context of global economic instability.

The preference for these Asian financial markets is justified by the fact that they have unstable and dynamically developing economies and are connected by cultural heritage and by some similar economic conditions. In addition, following the recent financial crisis of 2008, international emerging markets, and those in Asia, have become important investment destinations. In this context, with large capital inflows, it is of high importance to understand the interdependencies and connections between these regional financial markets.

In terms of structure, this paper is organized into 5 sections. Section 1 is represented by the current introduction. Section 2 presents a literature review of articles concerning the integration of financial markets. Section 3 describes the data and methodology. Section 4 contains the results. Finally, Section 5 presents the main conclusions.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The comprehension of international connections between stock markets and the investigation of the occurrence of financial integration phenomena, in the context of stock market crashes, is important for investors, investment fund managers and academics, in several aspects, namely in portfolio diversification in an international context (Dias et al., 2019).

Karim and Karim (2012) examined the integration among the five emerging stock markets in ASEAN (Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines and Singapore), based on the Autoregressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) and the authors show that stock markets in the ASEAN region are integrated during the pre, post-1997 and post-US financial crisis. These results are in alignment

with many research studies on international stock market interdependencies, suggesting that ASEAN stock markets are drifting towards greater integration with each other, especially after the global financial crisis. This implies that the long-term diversification benefits that can be obtained by investors in ASEAN markets tend to decrease.

The authors Nittayagasetwat and Buranasiri (2018), on the other hand, examined portfolio diversification in the emerging markets of the 5 Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries, namely Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore and Thailand. The authors evidence low correlations between the analyzed markets, but the level of integration indicates the existence of long-term relationships between the returns of the analyzed markets. Considering these findings, investors cannot fully obtain the benefit of diversification in the long term. In a complementary approach, the author Wu (2019) examined the financial integration between the stock markets of the ASEAN-5 economies, China (mainland China and Hong Kong), Japan and South Korea, through Vector Autoregressive (VAR) models along with a sliding window approach. The author suggests that the integration between markets in East and Southeast Asia is not as strong as it may appear. Although governments in this region have promoted collaboration and integration between these regional markets, however, barriers remain significant.

Hung (2019) highlights that the volatility in the Chinese market had a significant impact on other markets, suggesting that equity markets are more integrated, as a result of the financial crisis. However, Sanusi et al. (2019) demonstrate the presence of long memories in ASEAN markets, which could be beneficial for investors, as these markets show some previsibility.

In 2020, the authors Stevanius and Sukamulja (2020) analyzed the integration and co-movements between Asian stock markets and Indonesia. The authors show that in the short run, there is a relationship between Kuala Lumpur Composite Index, Thailand Stock Exchange Index and Hang Seng Index against Jakarta Composite Index. Furthermore, the authors also provide evidence of integration and co-movement between the stock markets of Malaysia, Thailand, South Korea, Japan, Singapore, and Hong Kong with the Indonesian stock market.

Additionally, the authors' Silva et al. (2020) investigated portfolio diversification in the stock markets of Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, and Thailand (ASEAN-5). The authors discovered significant levels of integration among these regional markets, which may call the portfolio diversification hypothesis into question. Furthermore, except for the Singapore (SGX) market, the authors show that ASEAN-5 markets display persistence in returns, which means, the presence of pronounced long memories.

Jacob et al. (2021) analyzed the integration of Southeast Asian capital markets, namely Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, and Thailand, and suggest that the Malaysian Stock Exchange, the Thai Stock Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange, and the Philippine Stock Exchange were fully integrated, while the Indonesian Stock Exchange was not. These results may call into question the hypothesis of efficient portfolio diversification.

Saji (2021) analyzed financial integration in Asian capital markets to gauge whether portfolio diversification was feasible in these regional markets. The author's evidence that the cointegration results could not produce any conclusive evidence of long-run relationships between stock markets. Furthermore, there is weak price convergence between markets and financial integration is partial and incomplete.

In more recent research, Li and Bai (2022) investigated the long-run and short-run synchronizations between China's markets and ASEAN-5 markets. The authors' evidence that the co-movement between China and ASEAN-5 countries is not statistically significant in the long-run, while the average spillover effect and the volatility spillover effect are both statistically significant in the short-run, which reflects the close financial ties between China and ASEAN-5 countries. In a complementary approach, the author Prasetya (2022) studied four cases. First, to find the long-run cointegration between East and Southeast Asia. Secondly, analyze the short-run causal relationship between East and South East Asian stock market. Third, to find the most dominant East Asian stock market towards Southeast Asia and the most dominant Southeast Asian stock market towards East Asia. Finally, to search the structural analysis of forecasting for the five-day horizon period of the price of each country in both East and Southeast Asia. The author highlights that Japan is the market with the most connections in Southeast Asia, while Singapore and Philippines are the markets with the most connections in East Asia. Another point to underline in this study is that Japan is the most influential stock market in East Asia, while Singapore is the most influential stock market in Southeast Asia. This study shows that policymakers in East and Southeast Asian countries should synchronize capital market standards and regulations and reduce barriers to capital flow to stimulate the integration of regional stock markets.

In conclusion, this paper is a contribution to provide information to investors and regulators in Asian markets, where individual and institutional investors seek to efficiently diversify their portfolios, in a period of uncertainty and lack of confidence arising from the global pandemic of 2020 and the Russian invasion in 2022.

3. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

3.1. Data

The data for this study were gathered from the Thomson Reuters Eikon platform and included the daily price index of the capital markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), the Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET), and China (SSEC).

The quotes are daily and cover the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022, which is marked by the global pandemic of 2020 and Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022. To keep the time series as reliable as possible, we have kept the prices in local currency to minimize exchange rate distortions.

Country name	Index
Indonesia	JKSE
Malaysia	KLSE
South of Korea	KOSPI
Japan	NIKKEI 400
Philippines	PSI
Thailand	SET
China	SSEC

Table 1. The name of countries and their indexes under analysis in this paper

3.2. Methodology

The research will be carried out in stages. To describe the sample, descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, asymmetry, and kurtosis) will be employed, as well as Jarque and Bera's (1980) adherence test, residual stability charts, and Q-Q Plots. To evaluate the robustness of the results, we will estimate the time series stationarity using the Hadri (2000) and Levin et al. (2002) tests.

To answer the research questions, we will estimate the integration among Asian capital markets, using the Gregory and Hansen (1996) methodology that identifies structure breakdowns. In order to validate the results, we will use the Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFA) methodology. DFA is an analysis method that examines time dependence in non-stationary data series. This technique by assuming that time series are nonstationary avoids spurious results when the analysis focuses on the relationships of data series in the long run. DFA has the following interpretation: $0 < \alpha < 0.5$: anti persistent series; $\alpha = 0.5$ series exhibits random walk; $0.5 < \alpha < 1$ persistent series. The function of this technique is to examine the relationship between x_k and x_{k+t} values at different moments.

4. **RESULTS**

Figure 1 presents the evolution, in levels, of the 7 Asian stock exchanges, namely, the capital markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), over the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022, a period of high complexity and economic pressure at global level triggered by the uncertainty caused by the global pandemic (Covid-19) and due to Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022. The markets under analysis have evidenced the existence of quite significant structural breaks during the first two quarters of 2020 triggered by the uncertainty caused by the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, as well as during the year 2022, with the Russian invasion of Ukraine, although it is noted that the impact of the latter event causes less pronounced breaks in the time series.

In **Figure 2**, we can observe the evolution, in returns, of the seven capital markets under analysis. In general, the time series demonstrate a relative dispersion around the average, as well as a relative synchronization between the movements of the time series. We highlight a significant structural fall in the Japanese stock market index during the 1st and 2nd quarters of 2020, explained by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic crisis.

In order to understand the average returns and standard deviations of the data series of the price indexes referring to the capital markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South of Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), for the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022, we made graphs that can be seen in **Figures 3 and 4**. Through the analysis, we found negative average returns, namely in the KLSE (-0.000159), KOSPI (-5.54E-06), PSI (-0.000189), SET (-1.37E-05), SSEC (-4.05E-05) stock indexes, while the JKSE (0.000210) and NIKKEI 400 (0.000210) stock markets show positive average returns. As for the standard deviations of the capital markets analyzed, we found that the Philippine Stock Index (PSI) has the highest level (0.013677), while the markets of South Korea (0.011664), China (0.011291), Indonesia (0.010662), Japan (0.010985), Thailand (0.010536), Malaysia (0.007896).

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings



Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)

Figure 1. Evolution, in levels, of the financial market under analysis, for the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022.

Source: Own Elaboration



Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)

Figure 2. Evolution of the returns, of the financial market under analysis, in the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022. **Source:** Own Elaboration

To validate whether the time series present normal distributions, we calculated the skewness and kurtosis of the capital markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOS-PI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), in the period from September 18th, 2017, to September 15th, 2022. In **Figures 5 and 6** we can check these statistics, and we can ascertain that the coefficients of asymmetry and kurtosis, most prominently are centered on the capital markets of Thailand (Skewness = -2.009865; Kurtosis = 29.11360) and the Philippines (Skewness = -1.393738; Kurtosis = 17.94907). Regarding the stock indexes,

they show asymmetries and kurtosis different from a normal distribution (Skewness = 0; Kurtosis = 3), JKSE (-0.167870;12.69804), KLSE (-0.221266; 11.16387), KOSPI (-0.242733; 10.48160), SSEC (-0.669519; 8.077473), NIKKEI 400 (-0.157310; 6.352479). In summary, we can see that the time series are leptokurtic and asymmetric.



Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)

Figure 3. Average of the 7 financial markets during the period under analysis



Figure 4. Standard Deviations of the 7 financial markets during the period under analysis

Kurtoses



30









Source: Own Elaboration

Table 2 contains the results of the test of Jarque and Bera (1980) and we verify the validation of the results of asymmetries and kurtosis that were previously estimated for the capital markets under analysis. The test of Jarque and Bera (1980) validated our results, that is, the null hypothesis of normality (H0) in favor of the alternative (H1 - non-normality), was rejected for a significance level of 1%.

	JKSE	KLSE	KOSPI	NIKKEI 400	PSI	SET	SSEC
Jarque-Bera	4810.250	3414.648	2871.395	579.1879	11812.76	35660.17	1408.559
Probability	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000
Observations	1226	1226	1226	1226	1226	1226	1226

Table 2. Test of Jarque and Bera (1980), in returns, of the 7 financial markets for the periodfrom September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022



Source: Own Elaboration

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)



Through the graphical observation of quantiles illustrated in **Figure 7**, we can also infer on the normality of time series data under analysis. The normal distribution line is graphically represented in orange and the data distribution for each time series is represented in blue. When the time series data dispersion is compared to the normal distribution line, it is clear that none of the series overlap.

For time series estimation, the stationary nature of data series from 7 capital markets should be analyzed, namely Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South of Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Portugal (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC). The Levin et al. (2002) test postulates as null hypothesis the existence of a unit root in the observable components of the time series, that is, the non-stationarity of the time series. Based on the results presented in **Table 3**, the t-statistic of Levin et al. (2002) leads us to reject the null hypothesis at a significance level of 1%, indicating the stationarity of the time series under study. In addition, to validate these findings, Hadri's (2000) test was applied, and in table 4 we can see that the statistical result leads to the non-rejection of the null hypothesis at a significance level of 1%, validating the stationarity of the time series, suggesting that we are dealing with white noise (mean = 0; constant variance). This way, with stationary series, we can apply models and tests, without running the risk of getting spurious regressions.

Table 3. Levin et al. stationarity test (2002), applied to the 7 financial markets, in the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022

Method				Statistic		Prob.**	
Levin, Lin & Chu t*			-98.9458		0.0000		
** Probabilities are	computed assu	ming asymptor	tic normality				
Intermediate results	on UNTITLE	D					
	2nd Stage	Variance	HAC of		Max	Band-	
Series	Coefficient	of Reg	Dep.	Lag	Lag	width	Obs
JKSE	-0.91331	0.0001	2.E-06	2	22	123.0	1223
KLSE	-1.01883	6.E-05	2.E-07	0	22	779.0	1225
KOSPI	-0.88846	0.0001	3.E-06	1	22	90.0	1224
NIKKEI 400	-0.96909	0.0001	2.E-06	0	22	95.0	1225
PSI	-1.05112	0.0002	4.E-06	0	22	88.0	1225
SET	-0.77714	0.0001	3.E-06	4	22	77.0	1221
SSEC	-1.00212	0.0001	3.E-06	0	22	89.0	1225
	Coefficient	t-Stat	SE Reg	mu*	sig*		Obs
Pooled	-0.98191	-77.157	1.002	-0.500	0.707		8568

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)

Source: Own Elaboration

Table 4. Hadri Stationarity test (2002), applied to the 7 financial markets, in the period fromSeptember 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022.

Method		Statistic	Prob.**	
Hadri Z-stat		-0.27353	0.6078	
Heteroscedastic Consist	tent Z-stat		-0.30346	0.6192
* Note: High autocorrel	ation leads to severe size	distortion in Hadri test,	leading to over-rejection	of the null.
** Probabilities are com	puted assuming asympto	otic normality		
Intermediate results on	UNTITLED			
		Variance		
Series	LM	HAC	Bandwidth	Obs
JKSE	0.0586	0.000131	11.0	1226
KLSE	0.0271	7.21E-05	8.0	1226
KOSPI	0.1550	0.000135	1.0	1226
NIKKEI 400	0.0366	0.000130	3.0	1226
PSI	0.0329	0.000188	5.0	1226
SET	0.0479	0.000138	11.0	1226
SSEC	0.0750	0.000113	15.0	1226

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Eviews12)









Figure 8. Stability Tests conducted on results of the 7 financial markets, for the period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022 **Source:** Own Elaboration

Figure 8 graphically represents the stability tests performed on the residuals of the seven capital markets, namely the stock indices of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South of Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Portugal (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), for the

period from September 18th, 2017 to September 15th, 2022. The performances of these stability tests are related to the existence of structure breaks, which means, sharp falls in prices that cause imbalances in financial markets. The detection of structural breakdowns is important because it has the same impact as the existence of unit roots in the visible components of time series. The presence of disturbances in the variance may be observed using graphical analysis, as well as the violation of the 95 percent probability boundaries, indicating an unstable behavior in the time series investigated.

The Gregory and Hansen (1996) test was used to examine the extent of financial integration across the seven stock markets during a period of tremendous complexity defined by the economic crisis and the Russian invasion of Ukraine, during which markets broke down severely. The methodology used postulates that in the null hypothesis there is an absence of cointegration and is tested against the alternative hypothesis, that is, long term relations between markets. Thus, the behavior and degree of integration between variables will be under evaluation.

Table 5 shows the results of the Gregory and Hansen (1996) test on stock markets in Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Portugal (PSI), Thailand (SET), and China (SSEC) during the Smooth subperiod. Overall, we can conclude that the markets are partially integrated since they present 11 integrations (in 42 possible ones). When analyzing in terms of individual markets it is possible to validate that the markets that present more integrations are the KOSPI, JKSE, PSI and SSEC stock indices (2 in 7 possible), while the KLSE, NIK-KEI 400 and SET stock markets present only one integration.

These results demonstrate that in this Smooth subperiod the markets are partially integrated, that is, they do not present marked synchronizations, showing that these regional markets present relevant characteristics for a successful portfolio diversification strategy. These conclusions are validated by the authors Dias et al. (2019) for Latin American markets.

Market	Test	Test Statistic	Method	Lags	Breakpoint	Date	Results
KOSPI - NIKKEI 400	-5,31**	Zt	Trend	0	314	04/01/2019	Integration
KOSPI - SSEC	-4,7*	ADF	Regime	3	352	05/03/2019	Integration
JKSE - PSI	-5,84***	Zt	Regime	2	95	08/02/2018	Integration
JKSE - SET	-5,15**	Zt	Regime	1	289	27/11/2018	Integration
KLSE - SET	-5,15**	Zt	Regime	0	375	05/04/2019	Integration
NIKKEI400 - KOSPI	-5,58***	Zt	Trend	0	314	04/01/2019	Integration
PSI - JKSE	-5,85***	Zt	Regime	0	95	08/02/2018	Integration
PSI - SSEC	-5,11**	Zt	Regime	0	309	26/12/2018	Integration
SET - KLSE	-5,23**	ADF	Regime	0	374	04/04/2019	Integration
SSEC - KOSPI	-4,94*	ADF	Regime	3	355	08/03/2019	Integration
SSEC - NIKKEI400	-4,88*	Zt	Trend	0	344	20/02/2019	Integration

Table 5. Gregory and Hansen (1996) test, relating to the 7 Asian capital markets in the Smooth period, September 18th, 2019 to December 31st, 2020

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Stata). The critical values are found in Gregory and Hansen (1996). The critical values for the ADF and Zt parameters are: -5,45 (1%); -4,99 (5%); -4,72 (10%). For the Za parameter, the critical values are: -57,28 (1%); -47,96 (5%); -43,22 (10%). The asterisks ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively

Table 6 displays the results of the Gregory and Hansen (1996) test on capital markets, namely Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Portugal (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), in the Stress subperiod, that is, in a period of uncertainty in the global economy and financial markets. In general, the integration of markets decreased from 11 in the Smooth period to 10 in the Stress subperiod. When we look at the integration of the markets individually, we can see that the KOSPI stock index only integrates once with Japan, while the Indonesia market (JKSE) integrates with the Philippines market (PSI) and Thailand (SET), and the Malaysia stock index (KLSE) integrates with Thailand (SET) and Japan (NIKKEI 400) with South Korea (KOSPI). Regarding the capital markets, the Philippines (PSI) integrates with Indonesia (JKSE) and China (SSEC), Thailand (SET) integrates only once with the Malaysian market (KLSE), while China (SSEC) integrates with the Korean market and Japan. When we compare the two sub-periods we find that the uncertainty in the current global economy of the 2020 global pandemic and the Russian invasion in 2022, did not accentuate the integration in these regional markets; these findings allow us to evidence that the implementation of portfolio diversification strategies in these regional markets may be viable.

Market	Test	Test Statistic	Method	Lags	Breakpoint	Date	Results
KOSPI – NIKKEI 400	-5,31**	Zt	Trend	0	311	28/12/2018	Integration
JKSE - PSI	-5,84***	Zt	Regime	2	95	08/02/2018	Integration
JKSE - SET	-5,15**	Zt	Regime	1	289	27/11/2018	Integration
KLSE - SET	-5,15**	Zt	Regime	0	375	05/04/2019	Integration
NIKKEI400 - KOSPI	-5,58***	Zt	Trend	0	314	04/01/2019	Integration
PSI - JKSE	-6,06***	Zt	Trend	0	394	03/05/2019	Integration
PSI - SSEC	-5,11**	Zt	Regime	0	309	26/12/2018	Integration
SET - KLSE	-5,38**	Zt	Trend	0	372	02/04/2019	Integration
SSEC - KOSPI	-5,55**	ADF	Trend	0	343	19/02/2019	Integration
SSEC – NIKKEI 400	-4,88*	Zt	Trend	0	344	20/02/2019	Integration

Table 6. Gregory and Hansen (1996) test, relating to the 7 Asian capital markets in the Stress period, January 1st, 2020 to September 15th, 2022

Note: Data processed by the authors (software: Stata). The critical values are found in Gregory and Hansen (1996). The critical values for the ADF and Zt parameters are: -5,45 (1%); -4,99 (5%); -4,72 (10%). For the Za parameter, the critical values are: -57,28 (1%); -47,96 (5%); -43,22 (10%). The asterisks ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively

Source: Own Elaboration

Table 7 illustrates the results of the α DFA exponents for the stock markets of Indonesia (JKSE), Malaysia (KLSE), South Korea (KOSPI), Japan (NIKKEI 400), Philippines (PSI), Thailand (SET) and China (SSEC), for two sub-periods: The first is from September 18th, 2019 to December 31st, 2020, which we refer to as Smooth Period, and the second is from January 1st, 2020 to September 15th, 2022, which we refer to as Stress Period.

During the Smooth period, there were long memories in select stock indexes, including the KO-SPI (0.57), KLSE (0.60), NIKKEI 400 (0.53), SET (0.57), and SSEC (0.54) markets, while there was considerable persistence, that is, the existence of short-term memories, in the JKSE (0.46) and PSI (0.49) markets. In relation to the subperiod which we call Stress in stock markets, all DFA exponents increased significantly, with the exception of China's market, which went from long term memory (0.54) to anti persistence (0.48). In the individual market analysis, we find that the DFA exponents of KOSPI (0.60), JKSE (0.60), KLSE (0.61), NIKKEI 400 (0.56), PSI

(0.59), SET (0.64) stock indexes exhibit significant long memories. These results demonstrate that prices do not fully reflect available information and that changes in prices are not i.i.d. This carries implications for investors as some returns may be expected, creating opportunities for arbitrage and above average returns without incurring additional risk. These conclusions are consistent with the evidence suggested by Santos et al. (2020), Dias et al. (2020), Dias et al. (2021), Zebende et al. (2022), Dias et al. (2022), Guedes et al. (2022), that suggests the existence of long term memory in international financial markets.

Ior aDFA always had K > 0.99				
Index	DFA exponent (Tranquilo)	DFA exponent (Stress)		
JKSE	0.46 ≌ 0.0113	$0.60 \cong 0.0029$		
KLSE	$0.60 \cong 0.0020$	$0.61 \cong 0.0168$		
KOSPI	$0.57 \cong 0.0051$	0.60 ≌ 0.0013		
NIKKEI 400	0.53 ≌ 0.0069	0.56 ≌ 0.0149		
PSI	0.49 ≌ 0.0213	$0.59 \cong 0.0250$		
SET	$0.57 \cong 0.0056$	0.64 ≌ 0.0326		
SSEC	0.54 ≌ 0.0012	0.48 ≌ 0.0243		

Table 7. DFA exponent for return	1. The values of the linear adjustments
for αDFA alw	vays had $R^2 > 0.99$

Note: The hypotheses are H_0 : $\alpha = 0.5$ and H_1 : $\alpha \neq 0.5$

Source: Own elaboration

5. CONCLUSION

The general conclusion to be retained and supported by the results obtained through the tests carried out with econometric and mathematical models suggests that these Asian regional markets are partially integrated. In corroboration, through the DFA model, these regional markets reveal signs of market inefficiency, in its weak form, namely during the global uncertainty resulting from the 2020 global pandemic and the Russian invasion in 2022.

This situation has implications for investors, as some returns may be expected, creating opportunities for arbitrage and abnormal profits, contrary to the assumptions of *random walk* and informational efficiency.

In conclusion, the authors suggest that the implementation of efficient portfolio diversification strategies in these regional markets may be questionable. This study demonstrates that policy-makers in East and Southeast Asian countries should synchronize stock market standards and regulations and reduce barriers to capital flows to stimulate regional stock market integration. These conclusions also provide an opportunity for the regulators of these regional markets to introduce policies to ensure better information between these regional markets and the international markets.

References

- Dias, R., da Silva, J. V., & Dionísio, A. (2019). Financial markets of the LAC region: Does the crisis influence the financial integration? *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 63(January), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2019.02.008
- Dias, R., Heliodoro, P., Teixeira, N., & Godinho, T. (2020). Testing the Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis: Empirical Evidence from Equity Markets. *International Journal of Accounting, Finance and Risk Management*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ijafrm.20200501.14
- Dias, R., Pereira, J. M., & Carvalho, L. C. (2022). Are African Stock Markets Efficient? A Comparative Analysis Between Six African Markets, the UK, Japan and the USA in the Period of the Pandemic. *Naše Gospodarstvo/Our Economy*, 68(1), 35–51. https://doi.org/10.2478/ ngoe-2022-0004
- Dias, R. T., Pardal, P., Santos, H., & Vasco, C. (2021). *Testing the Random Walk Hypothesis for Real Exchange Rates. June*, 304–322. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-6926-9.ch017
- Gregory, A. W., & Hansen, B. E. (1996a). Residual-based tests for cointegration in models with regime shifts. *Journal of Econometrics*, 70(1), 99–126. https://doi. org/10.1016/0304-4076(69)41685-7
- Gregory, A. W., & Hansen, B. E. (1996b). Tests for cointegration in models with regime and trend shifts. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 58(2), 555–560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.1996.mp58003008.x
- Guedes, E. F., Santos, R. P. C., Figueredo, L. H. R., Da Silva, P. A., Dias, R. M. T. S., & Zebende, G. F. (2022). Efficiency and Long-Range Correlation in G-20 Stock Indexes: A Sliding Windows Approach. *Fluctuation and Noise Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1142/S021947752250033X
- Hadri, K. (2000). Testing for stationarity in heterogeneous panel data. The Econometrics Journal. https://doi.org/10.1111/1368-423x.00043
- Hung, N. T. (2019). Return and volatility spillover across equity markets between China and Southeast Asian countries. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEFAS-10-2018-0106
- Jacob, T., Raphael, R., & Stebiya, M. V. (2021). CAPITAL MARKET INTEGRATION OF ASE-AN-5 COUNTRIES: AN EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS. *Hasanuddin Economics and Business Review*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.26487/hebr.v5i2.2796
- Jarque, C. M., & Bera, A. K. (1980). Efficient tests for normality, homoscedasticity and serial independence of regression residuals. *Economics Letters*, 6(3), 255–259. https://doi. org/10.1016/0165-1765(80)90024-5
- Karim, B. A., & Karim, Z. A. (2012). Integration of ASEAN-5 stock markets: A revisit. Asian Academy of Management Journal of Accounting and Finance, 8(2), 21–41.
- Levin, A., Lin, C. F., & Chu, C. S. J. (2002). Unit root tests in panel data: Asymptotic and finite-sample properties. *Journal of Econometrics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(01)00098-7
- Li, Y.-M., & Bai, L.-R. (2022). A Study of the Co-movement and Spillover Effects of Stock Markets Among China and ASEAN-5 Countries. Proceedings of the 2021 3rd International Conference on Economic Management and Cultural Industry (ICEMCI 2021), 203. https:// doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.211209.160
- Nittayagasetwat, A., & Buranasiri, J. (2018). Evaluation of the investment in combined stock markets under co-integration and diversification benefit: The case of southeast Asian markets. *Journal of Applied Economic Sciences*, 13(2).
- Prasetya, R. A. (2022). Does the East and Southeast Asian Equity Market have Integration? A Study of Cointegration Analysis. *International Journal of Current Science Research and Review*, 05(03), 647–666. https://doi.org/10.47191/ijcsrr/v5-i3-07

- Saji, T. G. (2021). Asian stock market integration after the global financial crisis: an ARDL bound testing approach. *Managerial Finance*, 47(11). https://doi.org/10.1108/MF-08-2020-0430
- Santos, H., Dias, R., Heliodoro, P., & Alexandre, P. (2020). Testing the Empirics of Weak Form of Efficient Market Hypothesis: Evidence From Lac Region Markets. *Conference Proceed*ings (Part of ITEMA Conference Collection), 91–101. https://doi.org/10.31410/itema.2020.91
- Sanusi, A., Singagerda, F. S., & Septarina, L. (2019). The volatility model of the ASEAN Stock Indexes. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*. https://doi.org/10.21511/ imfi.16(1).2019.18
- Silva, R., Dias, R., Heliodoro, P., & Alexandre, P. (2020). Risk Diversification in Asean-5 Financial Markets: An Empirical Analysis in the Context of the Global Pandemic (Covid-19). 6th LIMEN Selected Papers (Part of LIMEN Conference Collection), 6, 15–26. https://doi. org/10.31410/limen.s.p.2020.15
- Stevanius, S., & Sukamulja, S. (2020). Co-integration and Co-movement Between Asian Stock Price Index and Jakarta Composite Index. *Indonesian Capital Market Review*, 12(1). https:// doi.org/10.21002/icmr.v12i1.12175
- Wu, F. (2019). Stock market integration in East and Southeast Asia: The role of global factors. *International Review of Financial Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2019.101416
- Zebende, G. F., Santos Dias, R. M. T., & de Aguiar, L. C. (2022). Stock market efficiency: An intraday case of study about the G-20 group. *Heliyon*, 8(1), e08808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. heliyon.2022.e08808


Healthcare Financing Models and the Expenditure Growth

Nikolay Atanasov¹ Dimitar Semkov²

Received: November 19, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Healthcare financing models; Public health expenditure; Social health insurance; Government budget

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Abstract: The present study includes the countries of the European Union, aiming to test the hypothesis that the funding models can be related to the size and growth of health expenditure, as a phenomenon from the second half of the 20th and the beginning of the 21st century. The criterion for arouping the national health systems is the dominant public source of financing from the two with the largest weight in the aggregate expenditure - health insurers' payments and payments on account of the state budget. Data from the health accounts of the countries of the EU for a period of the last 10 years are used. The observed indicator is the weight of total health expenditure of the current GDP, which allows international comparisons to be made. The methods of analysis used include descriptive statistics, verification of hypotheses for the type of empirical distributions, equality of means and variances, and graphical presentation of the detected dependencies. The results show that there is a significant variation in health expenditure between the individual countries in the EU. Within the formed two groups of countries - one with a dominant government budget and the other with a dominant health insurance financing, no statistically significant difference in the size of the health expenditure can be found. Such a dependence is found when grouping using other indicators related to geographical location and living standards.

1. INTRODUCTION

Healthcare stands out as a specific socio-economic sphere in which the market has a limited place and role. Pure market phenomena are limited for several reasons, well known and described in the scientific literature. They can be summarized as follows (Arrow, 1963, p. 948-954; Stiglitz & Rosengard, 2015, p.368-371):

- the individual's demand for health services is not steady in origin as, for other goods, but irregular and unpredictable it is a fact only in the time of illness;
- risky nature of the final medical treatment and its quality, which can subject the consumer properties of the produced services to a considerable degree of uncertainty;
- the individual course of the disease and influence of the applied treatment, which can predetermine the unique nature of the final result depending on the particular case;
- monopoly role of the physicians in the healthcare market which favours vertical integration prescribed demand, limits competition;
- the presence of specific monopolistic factors preventing the entry of new providers of medical care;
- the presence of stated preferences that limit the free consumer choice;
- relatively more pronounced asymmetry of information;
- an absence of profit motive since for-profit and not-for-profit organizations compete within the system at the same time;

² Medical University Plovdiv, Department of Health Management and Health Economics, 15A, blvd. Vasil Aprilov, Plovdiv, 4000, Bulgaria



¹ Medical University Plovdiv, Department of Health Management and Health Economics, 15A, blvd. Vasil Aprilov, Plovdiv, 4000, Bulgaria

- availability of goods with significant positive externalities, which limits their market pricing;
- health is a basic human need with significant social importance, which implies ensuring financial affordability through the participation of the government.

As a result of these, the state makes efforts to ensure not only control by placing requirements on the activities of health care providers, but also to raise and distribute funds to ensure equity in access to the system (Culyer & Newhouse, 2000, p. 1805). Public funds are collected by two main methods – taxation and compulsory insurance payments. On this basis, two main models for the financial organization of healthcare systems are distinguished, named after their founders – the so-called Bismarck and Beveridge models.

The model of Bismarck was introduced in Germany in 1883 and first, it was based on social insurance for workers (Lisac et al., 2008, p. 184). Later, the insurance coverage was extended to other categories of employed, as well as some self-employed people (Busse, 2002, p. 17). This system allows more market elements mainly a high degree of economic and financial independence of the healthcare providers and competition among them. An advantage of the Bismarck system is the shorter waiting time to access the system. But the price of these benefits is a relatively higher current health care expenditure.

Beveridge's model differs significantly from Bismarck's because health fundraising is done through taxation. In this sense, all members of society participate in this process, and the government bears the total or a large part of all health expenditures. Within the revenue system, there are no special instruments intended to finance the current health costs. Similar systems, financed as a priority or entirely at the expense of the state budget, are to a greater extent centralized and integrated. In turn, they are relatively "more economical". However, the main disadvantage is the presence of larger queues of patients, i.e. ceteris paribus, slower time access to health goods. This model was introduced after the Second World War and was influenced by the British economist William Beveridge in 1948. Such kind an organization of the system was argued through the sentence that health is a basic human right and the whole society should be contributed to the system, which is realized by taxation. This system has free universal access to health care (Koen, 2000, p. 4; Rodrigues, E., et al., 1999, p. 164).

Both models allow for a certain level of private spending. As the latter finds expression mainly through private insurance products and through the so-called direct patient payments. In both models, private sources have significantly less weight than public ones.

2. AIM OF THE STUDY

The present study includes the countries of the European region, aiming to test the hypothesis that the funding models can be related to the size and growth of health expenditure, as a phenomenon from the second half of the 20th and the beginning of the 21st century. This study tries to solve the following scientific tasks:

- to select a measure of health expenditure that allows providing a comparison among economies with different wealth, income, and living standards.
- to define sets of national health systems from the EU region with their health expenditure according to the type of financial model.

- to provide evidence for the distribution, central tendencies, dispersion, and homogeneity of collected data.
- to confirm or reject the hypothesis for the relationship between the models of healthcare financing with the size of expenditure.

3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

International data about health indicators, including economical ones, can be found in several publicly accessed sources. In this regard can be mentioned the regional Eurostat Database, global World Bank and International Monetary Fund Data Bases, and some specialized sources like the European Health for All database of the World Health Organization. According to the aim and the tasks of the study, it was chosen Eurostat Database which provides opportunities for the extraction of different measures of expenditure, and for international comparisons to be made.

It was chosen the per cent share from the current GDP of total current health care expenditure (TCHE) or its specific element by a source of financing as a reliable unit of measure which allows international comparisons to be made.

The following quantitative methods were used – descriptive statistics, tests for normality, homogeneity of variances and non-parametric tests for equality of group medians. All graphs and tests were performed with the SPSS 23 software product at a significance level of 0.05.

4. **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

After reviewing queries in the database "Health care expenditure by financing scheme"³ from a total of 33 observed countries (27 - members of the EU and 6 outside it), two subgroups were formed. In the first subgroup, we included 13 countries with the lowest share of Social health insurance schemes below 1.5 % of the current GDP. This is the group of countries that come as close as possible to the Beveridge model. The other 20 countries, whose financing is based mainly on social health insurance and compulsory contributory health insurance, were included in the second group, presenting the Bismarck model group.

In addition, publications available on popular scientific Internet platforms⁴ representing health systems from the last ten years were studied to be assigned to the appropriate group, according to a funding model (Lo Scalzo et al., 2009, p. 49; Theodorou, 2012, p. 42; Economou, 2010, p. 49; Barros et al., 2011, p. 58; Dimova et al., 2018, p. 63).

Total health expenditure as the sum of all funding sources for the total population of 33 countries and both samples follow a frequency distribution close to normal (Sharpio-Wilk test Sig. > 0.05). The same is confirmed for both groups of countries whose distribution of health expenditure as a per cent of current GDP is close to normal. According to the significance levels of the tests, it can be concluded that the distribution in the Bismarck model group is closer to rejecting the hypothesis of a normal distribution of the data. This is due to the fact that there is a definite number of countries with relatively small weights of TCHE from the national income. The histograms of the two samples can be seen in Fig. 1.

 $^{^{3}}$ The queries were performed on 06.02.2022 for the last available data for 2019.

⁴ www.academia.edu, www.researchgate.com, https://scholar.google.com/



Figure 1. Frequency distribution of TCHE with normal curves in two samples.

There are 12 (60 %) countries in the group with insurance financing with a weight of health expenditure in GDP below 8 %. In the countries that adopted the Beveridge model with costs below the specified threshold, this number is only 3, with a cumulative share of 23.1 %. There is a well-marked difference in the means, medians, and dispersion of the data in the two samples (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Group medians, maximum, minimum value, 1st and 3rd quartile of TCHE.

In the sample of countries that base their health systems on the Bismarck model, we encounter quite a pronounced dispersion (Range = 6.33 %; IQR = 3.84 %). This sample contains countries whose data are relatively heterogeneous in terms of spending as a share of GDP. The hypothesis of homogeneity of variances in the two groups is rejected (Levene's test Sig. < 0.05).

The difference in group medians is visible in Fig. 2 (Median₁ = 9.13 %; Median₂ = 7.48 %), but whether it is large enough to be considered statistically significant as well? The non-parametric test for independent samples shows that the hypothesis of equality of group medians cannot be accepted (Mann-Whitney U test Sig. > 0.05). Average measures of health care expenditure, presented as a percentage of current GDP, do not differ statistically significantly in the two groups of financing models.

This result may be due to the large variance in the Bismarck group. If we pay more attention to this group, we will find that the majority of countries with low expenditure weights are not those that have long and traditionally used the social insurance model of financing. These are the countries that have returned to this practice after years of centralized command-administrative management of the system. To understand more about the financing models and the health expenditure they generate, a new third group of countries can be created, including those from Central and Eastern Europe (CEE). From the group of countries with the Beveridge model, there is only one country from the specified region, which was also assigned to the third group (Latvia). Thus, the third group contains 13 countries (Median = 6.98 %; IQR = 1.32 %). The median values and the variation of the data in the three groups can be presented in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. Medians, maximum, minimum value, 1st and 3rd quartile of TCHE in the three groups of countries.

The results of the non-parametric test in this case confirm the hypothesis of a significant difference in the group medians (Kruskal-Wallis Test Sig. < 0.05). There is at least one pair of group medians that are significantly different from each other. This fact is due to the significantly lower levels of health expenditure in the CEE countries, not so much to the visible difference between the two groups of countries with traditions in the analyzed financing models.

5. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

The search for more convincing predictors of health expenditure in the European region, other than financing models, could be directed towards the use of living standards indicators, the parity purchasing power of income, or similar ones.

6. CONCLUSION

Although visually there is not a small difference in the mean values and the medians of the two groups of countries with Beveridge (n=13) and with Bismarck (n=20) models, the hypothesis that the paradigm of the financing model can be related to the significant changes in the size of the total expenditure of health care cannot be confirmed. This study also supports the hypothesis that belonging to a given geographic region may also be associated with significant differences in healthcare expenditure.

References

- Arrow, K. (1963). Uncertainty and the welfare economics of medical care. *American Economic Review*, 53(5), 941–973.
- Barros, P., Machado, S., Simões, J. (2011). Portugal: Health system review. *Health Systems in Transition*, 13(4), 1-156.
- Busse, R. (2002). *Health Care Systems: Towards an Agenda for Policy Learning Between Britain and Germany.* Anglo-German Foundation for the Study of Industrial Society.
- Culyer, A. J., & Newhouse, J. P., (Eds.). (2000). *Handbook of health economics, Volume 1B,* Amsterdam: Elsevier Science B.V.
- Dimova, A., Rohova, M., Koeva, S., Atanasova, E., Koeva-Dimitrova, L., Kostadinova, T., & Spranger, A. (2018). Bulgaria: Health system review. *Health Systems in Transition*, 20(4), 1-256.
- Economou, C. (2010). Greece: Health system review. Health Systems in Transition, 12(7), 1-180.
- Koen, V. (2000). Public expenditure reform: The health care sector in the United Kingdom. *Economics Department Working Papers*, No256. OECD Economic Department.
- Lisac, M., Blum, K., Schlette, S. et al. (2008). Health Systems and Health Reform in Europe. *Intereconomics 43*, 184–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-008-0253-z
- Lo Scalzo, A., Donatini, A., Orzella, L., Cicchetti, A., Profi li, S., & Maresso, A. (2009). Italy: Health system review. *Health Systems in Transition*, 11(6), 1-216.
- Rodrigues, E., De Puelles, P. G., & Jovell, A. J. (1999). The Spanish health care system: lessons for newly industrialized countries. *Health Policy and Planning*, *14*(2), 164–173.
- Stiglitz, J., & Rosengard, J. K. (2015). *Economics of the public sector*. New York, London: W. W. Norton Company, Inc.
- Theodorou, M., Charalambous, C., Petrou, C., Cylus, J. (2012). Cyprus: Health system review. *Health Systems in Transition*, 14(6), 1-128.



A Holistic CSR Maturity Assessment Model

Maria Belesioti¹ D Michail Glykas²

Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: December 14, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Corporate Social Responsibility; Maturity Model; CSR Maturity Assessment Framework; ISO26000:2010

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Recently, there has been an increasing interest in defining Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and the factors that have the potential to influence it. CSR has become an essential strategic tool and its initiatives have increased in variety and scope, impacting communities and businesses in economic, environmental, and social terms as a means of raising the social profile and maximizing the corporation's long-term economic and social value. This paper aims to introduce the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility and to investigate the key enabling factors and constraints that play a crucial role in the adoption and implementation of CSR initiatives. For this, a holistic framework, namely a Corporate Social Responsibility Maturity Model (CSRMM) for CSR assessment will be analyzed and presented.

1. INTRODUCTION

It has been many years since Bowen published his work about the responsibilities of businesses for society, defining Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as the social obligations companies should fulfill through their policies, their corporate decisions, and their actions (Bowen, 1953). The concept of CSR is extended beyond legislation, as organizations voluntarily incorporate social and environmental concerns in their strategies, adopting a more responsible role. Implementation of CSR initiatives triggers organizations to undertake responsibility related to the impact their activities have on customers, employees, shareholders, the community, and the environment. CSR embraces three organizational aspects: economic, environmental, and social. Elkington (1999) identified a more common expression of these three aspects and named it with 3Ps: people-planet-profit.

The environmental pillar is the most well-known of the three. The main topic stressed here is the effect of organizational actions in the direction of the environment. Thus, this pillar refers to activities companies undertake to protect the environment and reduce their environmental impact and carbon footprint.

The second pillar is the Social one. It takes into account the interest of all stakeholders and the community in the progression of providing an impartial and ethical organization. It deals with companies' interaction and interrelations with their shareholders, customers, employees, and the local society and discusses the practices companies implement to engage their assets to enhance social sustainability. This pillar enhances operational performance through 'efficiency', quality products, and reliability, which increases productivity, corporate social performance, and customer commitment.

² Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece



¹ University of the Aegean, 41 Kountouriotou Str. 82100, Chios, Greece

The Economic pillar is considered one of the main drivers for sustainability and CSR. It is related to the implementation of sustainable business practices to promote long-term profitability and is assessed with indicators related to quality, speed, dependability, flexibility, and cost. This pillar supports the environmental and social pillars, embracing aspects that an organization must fulfill.



Figure 1. Illustration of CSR Pillars

For the successful development and implementation of environmental, social, and economic goals these three pillars must have complementary relationships and be equal without overshadowing each other. Thus, companies need a coherent framework to identify, develop, implement, control, and improve their strategy with social flair, able to ensure effectiveness and profitability.

CSR is considered one of the most important objectives for companies (Luo & Bhattacharya, 2006). However, despite its significance, it lacks a generalized and unique definition. To explain this concept, different definitions and theoretical perspectives have been framed – with a considerable common ground between them. It is associated with corporations and their evident societal obligations expecting that companies are not only responsible to their shareholders but to society in general, in addition, to pursuing profits (Hsu, 2012). Due to this, there is a growing interest in the topic from the academic world and CSR practitioners, aiming to investigate the CSR key enablers, the benefits generated by fulfilling social responsibilities, the impact on the company's reputation and the customer's perception, and finally the stakeholders' view.

The concept of CSR can be approached from different angles, which can vary in context, processes, and added value. For the purpose of this paper, we will consider CSR as a part of corporate strategy that is driven by ethical implications, social awareness, and environmental concerns, interacting with stakeholders, on a frequent and structured basis.

The contribution of our research is the proposition of a novel methodology and a holistic CSR Maturity Model (CSRMM) that assesses the CSR maturity level of corporations and can be implemented from small and medium enterprises to multinational organizations with the same efficiency. The resulting model provides all the necessary information for identification and mapping the drawbacks and the assets that strategy professionals and academics have to consider when designing CSR initiatives. It also provides practical guidance to corporations for succeeding at a higher level of maturity.

In Section 2, a literature review of the CSR concept is presented. It was based on the most prominent literature review articles related to the adoption and implementation of CSR policies and activities during the last years. The research has formulated the research objective that this paper addresses, namely: the proposal of a novel holistic and integrated framework for CSR Maturity Assessment since this literature survey revealed a gap in this field. Section 3 presents ISO 26000:2010, the standard that provides guidelines for CSR initiatives implementation, intending to assist organizations to upgrade to a higher level of maturity. The overview of ISO 26000:2010 is crucial for the formulation of our research objective. In applying this standard, corporations should consider diversities related to society, environment, culture, law and organizational aspects, while being consistent with European and international norms.

Section 4 presents a short overview of the current maturity models, while Section 5 is the core of our research. A Holistic CSR Maturity assessment model is proposed. The Critical Success Factors and Enablers related to Corporate Social Responsibility in a Maturity Assessment Framework are depicted and their interrelations are analyzed. Finally, Section 6 concludes.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW OF THE CONCEPT

Socially responsible activities of any company, represent their awareness about the environment they operate (Tuan, 2012) since these activities have a significant impact on society, the environment, employees, and, at the end of the day, the company itself. Corporate Social Responsibility is established as one of the most popular and emerging organizational issues for both the academic community and the business world. However, there is great variety as far as CSR understanding and implementation are concerned, and many definitions of the term exist.

CSR is traditionally perceived as philanthropic actions organized and implemented by corporations. The earliest definition of CSR is the one given by Howard Bowen who, according to Carroll (1999), is the father of corporate social responsibility. He defines CSR as the obligation of businessmen to implement actions, decisions, and policies that are desirable in terms of the objectives and values of society (Bowen, 1953). Davis described CSR as a firm's consideration of issues beyond the narrow economic, technical, and legal requirements (Davis 1973 cited in Carroll, 1999) while Carroll (1979) gave a broader definition defining CSR as the social responsibility of business addressing the economic, legal, ethical, and discretionary expectations each society has. Another scholar suggests that companies should be considered as the source of the social and environmental problems they are trying to solve (Granum et al., 2015) and not as part of the solution. Therefore, the debate about their role and their obligations is loud. Friedman (1970) argued that, the only social responsibility of a business is to increase its profits within a legal and ethical framework and that a firm cannot be held responsible, only people can. Similarly to Friedman, French (1979) states that companies can have responsibility and ethics, not as autonomous entities but via their people, since they are organizations with a specific structure that apply decision-making procedures. The result of this decision-making depicts the mindset and the ethics of their people.

On the opposite side, Zadek (2001) considers that companies have extended responsibility against society. Therefore, he categorizes them into three distinct generations regarding their social activities for sustainable development: philanthropy, corporate strategy to be used as a competitive advantage, and finally companies that implement activities that can make a difference. Following Zadek's view, Matten (Matten et al., 2003) describes the way companies implement those activities.

Looking behind the scene of this implementation, European Commission (2002) while addressing the CSR concept, has acknowledged the motivation that companies have as well as their role. So, it defined CSR as a corporate contribution to sustainable development, recognizing CSR as an undivided part of corporate business, and depicting the social and environmental concerns of stakeholders. However, nowadays the term has evolved and climbed up the management ladder (Skarmeas & Leonidou, 2013). Today, CSR has many forms, ranging from corporate-centered to business-centered to multi-stakeholder initiatives involving civil society and government. CSR has been transformed from philanthropy and voluntary actions to regulated practices and strategic corporate activities. Corporations are receiving pressure from society that demands compliance with regulations on aspects such as human rights, environmental protection, and transparency, necessitating the existence of CSR in the corporate strategy. Respecting legislation is considered a prerequisite for meeting the CSR concept but if companies want to be fully aligned they should have in place processes that integrate social, environmental, ethical, human rights, and consumer concerns into their business operations and core strategy in close collaboration with their stakeholders. Additionally, companies aim to maximize the creation of shared value for their owners/shareholders and society as well while, at the same time, they try to identify, prevent and mitigate possible adverse impacts.

Corporate Social Responsibility refers to both people and organizations behaving and conducting business ethically and respecting social, cultural, economic, and environmental issues. It is considered of high priority, climbing on the top of the agenda of corporations, while its scope spans from responsible business to strategic decision-making. CSR is often valued as a strategic competitive tool, embracing three distinct organizational, aspects: economical, environmental, and societal, which force companies to integrate systems that focus on the common good for society in general and stakeholders in particular. Businesses acknowledge their obligations towards society, extending beyond law mandatory aspects and the narrow goal of profit-making.

When CSR moved from theory to practice, it was considered a breakthrough dimension of business operations. Literature contributed to the definition and characterization of the CSR phenomenon (De Bakker et al., 2005). To this end, Garriga and Mele (2004) map the present territory by classifying the main CSR theories and related approaches into four groups. More specifically, according to instrumental theories, the corporation is an instrument for wealth creation and its social activities are only a means to achieve economic results. Political theories deal with the power of corporations in society and the responsible use of this power in the political arena; integrative theories consider which corporations are focused on the satisfaction of social demands; and finally ethical theories, based on the ethical responsibilities of corporations to society. In practice, each CSR theory presents four dimensions related to profits, political performance, social demands, and ethical values. The findings suggest the necessity to develop a new theory on the business and society relationship, which should integrate these four dimensions.

When looked at strategically, corporate social responsibility can become a source of tremendous social progress, as the business applies its considerable resources, expertise, and insights to activities that benefit society (Porter & Kramer, 2006). Strategic management research has studied the positive interconnection between social success and economic and financial profitability (strategic CSR approach). Porter and Kramer (2006) stressed the high importance of integrating corporate strategy and society's needs while Lantos (2001) introduces the concept of strategic responsibility, linked to the fulfillment of philanthropic responsibilities that will simultaneously benefit the financial performance. Zadek (2004) states that organizations pass through five stages of corporate responsibility, from defensive, to compliance, to managerial and strategic, and, finally, to civil. According to Goyal and Kumar (2017), the top management's involvement and commitment play a crucial role in the successful implementation of CSR. However, the value system and the processes affect the formulation and implementation of CSR initiatives (Chin et al., 2013). In 2011, the Commission adopted its renewed strategy for CSR, which combines horizontal approaches to promote CSR with more specific approaches for individual sectors and policy areas. Considering that a public authority has to support and ensure CSR conduct by using a smart mix of voluntary and mandatory measures, including regulation, puts CSR at the center of Commission policies and proposals. The actions that Commission is targeting are analytically described in a staff working document (SWD, 2019) which was published in March 2019. Extra emphasis is now given to the drivers of corporate social performance, the actions that managers can take to affect that performance, and the consequences of those actions on both corporate social and financial performance (Epstein & Roy, 2001) as well as the stakeholders. Stakeholder theory (Freeman, 1984) identifies strategic motivations for relationships with the different categories of stakeholders. The differential roles that transformational and transactional leadership styles play in corporate social responsibility practices, as well as the interplay between leadership styles and institutional CSR practices, are also under continuous consideration (Du et al., 2013).

While exploring the need for systematic evaluation to identify the level of acceptance of CSR in strategic planning, several studies have been conducted. Maon et al. (2010) refer to stages of different levels of CSR dedication and implementation. These different stages are subdivided into different dimensions describing a consolidative model; different characteristics from academic literature are formulated into cultures and stages in which an organization can exist. In addition, Kouroula and Halme (Kourula, A., Halme, M., 2008), focus on the societal and business outcomes of engagement, classify different corporate responsibility (CR) actions into three types – philanthropy, integration, and innovation which influence corporate engagement and commitment.

To this end, different phases of maturity enable the evaluation of the distinctive levels of CSR integration into the company strategy and the stage at which the company currently stands on its determined path (Marques-Mendes & Santos, 2016) bringing into the spotlight maturity models as a key factor of successful CSR adoption.

3. ISO 26000:2010 STANDARD: GUIDELINES FOR CSR MATURITY

ISO26000:2010 was initially developed in 2005 and published in 2010, by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO). The aim was to effectively assess and address social responsibilities that are relevant and significant to their mission and vision. Its target purpose was to give an overview of the Corporate Social Responsibility concept and under this frame; it identified opportunities arising from its implementation such as increased competitiveness and reputation resulting in profit increase. It does not dictate an obligatory procedure for companies that wish to behave socially aware. On the contrary, it provides valuable recommendations acting as a method pointer for creating social policy as an efficient tool through which organizations can contribute and perhaps influence social issues in the context of the wider communities they operate. The guidelines proposed by ISO 26000:2010 concentrate on their potential to contribute to the strengthening of the social establishments of the above-mentioned communities, to empower, generate autonomy, and develop skills in their final beneficiaries.

ISO26000:2010 standard refers to corporations that develop and implement - or wish to do so-CSR activities in their strategic agenda. Its purpose is to provide guidelines that allow these corporations to perform their respective activities in compliance with social and environmental requirements in the framework of their corporate priorities. The standard highlights seven key subjects underpinning the development and operation of any organization: More specifically, it guides recognizing social responsibility and engaging stakeholders and ways to integrate socially responsible behavior into the organization. In addition, identifies seven core subjects and issues pertaining to social responsibility namely Organizational governance, Human rights, alignment with the UN Guiding Principles, Labor practices, The environment, Fair operating practices, Consumer issues and last but not least Community involvement and development.



Figure 2. CSR Core Subjects Overview Source: https://www.boreal-is.com/blog/iso-26000-social-responsibility

Moreover, ISO26000:2010 acknowledges seven key underlying principles namely Accountability, Transparency, Ethical behavior, Respect for stakeholder interests, Respect for the rule of law, Respect for international norms of behavior, and Respect for human rights, targeting in assisting organizations to address their social responsibilities, while at the same time, respect cultural, societal, environmental, and legal differences and economic development conditions. It provides practical guidance related to making social responsibility operational and places emphasis on performance results and continuous improvement. ISO 26000:2010 supports stakeholders' engagement and additionally enhances the credibility of reports and claims made about social responsibility. It aims at increasing confidence and satisfaction in organizations among both their customers and other stakeholders and ensures consistency with existing documents, international treaties and conventions, and existing ISO standards. Finally, ISO 26000:2010 promotes common terminology in the social responsibility field and targets to broaden awareness of social responsibility.

4. CSR MATURITY MODELS

CSR Literature regarding CSRMM focuses on the development of specific models, without verifying their practical application in companies (Marques-Mendes & Santos, 2016). When a company is Socially Responsible (SR), means that the company incorporates actions to ensure that its employees act responsibly. Becoming Socially Responsible implies that a company is in the transition of becoming SR, by undertaking actions and policies that enable responsible behavior. ISO 26000:2010 guides companies on how to create insight into these actions and policies.

A method to create distinction in the maturity level of companies when implementing ISO 26000: 2010 actions is to develop a maturity grid consisting of distinct maturity levels. These

levels contain actions and processes that a company should accomplish in order to qualify for that specific level. They can serve as a "roadmap" that enables managers to diagnose what capabilities a company currently possesses and which are lacking and need to be built in order to progress in a particular area. A CSR maturity model should be enabled from ISO: 26000 actions and act as a tool/method that assesses organizations regarding their CSR performance and the same time suggests actions for performance improvement.

Crosby (1979) introduced the first maturity model, which referred to the Quality Management Maturity Grid and contained five levels of organizational skills, dealing with methods and tools of quality management on a scale from one to five, such as uncertainty, awakening, enlightenment, wisdom, the certainty of sales, improvement actions and company quality posture. The grid revealed a development path defining all necessary actions that should be in place for the company to reach the next maturity level.

Maturity levels describe the next levels of CSR implementation. They are hierarchically structured, and the levels follow a logical sequence, starting from total immaturity, (level 1), through informality or implementation (level 2), standardization and monitoring (level 3), aware measurement and management (level 4), until continuous improvement, as a display of the highest maturity (level 5). Each maturity level is described by the strategies, structures, systems, processes, and used methods and tools, describing at the same time the path of CSR implementation development as far as CSR and indicating the successive stages of maturity and the current position of the company.



Figure 3. CSR implementation process **Source:** Maon et al., 2010.

The two most comprehensive models describing the stages of CSR development are the Mirvis and Googins Model from 2006 and the Maon, Lindgreen, and Swaen model from 2010. The first assumes a finite sequence of stages in the development of corporate citizenship. The successive stages of maturity are enforced by the so-called triggers which are internal and external challenges that demand action. According to this model, these triggers focus primarily on the credibility of the company as an entity, and then on its ability to meet the stakeholders' expectations. Coherence of efforts and, finally, involvement in the institutionalization of citizenship in its business strategies and culture are in the later stages (Mirvis & Googins, 2006).

Maon, based on the previous model, additionally introduces the stakeholder culture dimension and social responsiveness dimension and builds the consolidated, 7-staged CSR development model that integrates organizational values and culture with managerial processes and operations (Maon et al., 2010).

In their view, organizational culture plays a crucial role in CSR development, since the transition to the higher stages of maturity requires a good understanding of the concept and internalization of its respected values. Our methodology for a CSRMM development is a 6-staged procedure (Figure 4), strongly related to corporate strategy and organization:



Figure 4. Proposed CSR implementation process

5. PROPOSED INTEGRATED-HOLISTIC CSR MATURITY ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK

CSR, as a part of management systems, has evolved from a systemic approach to pure strategic management. Organizations that have integrated and implemented CSR activities, compliant with ISO26000:2010 guidelines standard, must continuously improve it. Furthermore, measuring CSR activities is of key importance from a sustainable organization perspective. The concept of CSR is directly related to long-term focus and benefits. Maturity assessment in corporate social responsibility (CSRM) evaluates corporate evolvement in general and in specific areas and creates strategic improvements related to economic, social, and environmental dimensions.

The literature did not provide us with studies regarding the relationship of CSRM and the CFS with main management principles. Glykas Quality Compass (GQC) considers ten quality concepts subdivided into three categories: five core concepts, three intra-core concepts, and two auxiliary concepts as described below:

1. Five core concepts:

a. **Strategic Focus:** Strategy is directly related to the vision of the corporation, the implemented CSR activities and the quality management system of the organization.

An organization that has a clear strategic direction, provides senior management the roadmap for alignment of functional activities towards achieving the corporate goals and objectives and consequently increasing operational efficiency. Clear strategy achieves greater employee involvement and contribution, improved human efficiency, enhanced performance, greater commitment, higher levels of internal and external customer satisfaction, and competitive advantage and thus increase profitability and market share.

- b. **Customer Focus:** Refers to the required actions and procedures that must be addressed so as a corporation to meet customers' needs and expectations. It concerns actions related to the general direction of the quality management system, the policy, the objectives, their design, the awareness, the production, the support, the monitoring of customer satisfaction and the continuous improvement. Customer focus can affect brand reputation and increase loyalty.
- c. **Human Resources Focus**: Human Recourses of all organizational levels is fundamental. Employees must be engaged and contribute by creating and delivering value for the achievement of the organization's target goals and vision. Effectively managed employees comprise a high performing workforce providing the organization a competitive advantage. This can be achieved through proper coordination and communication within the organization. Through active participation, employees gain knowledge and experiences, understand the importance of quality, and create and enhance strategic partnerships while at the same time increasing their commitment to the organization. Essential considered the incentives, the education and employees' training as well as their integrity and the way they conduct business promoting respect, trust and fairness.
- d. **Process Focus:** It deals with processes and interdependent activities that convert inputs into outputs adding value, increasing quality levels and productivity leading to continuous improvement. Extra emphasis is given to achieving efficiency and effectiveness during organizational processes.
- e. Leadership Focus: One of the most important factors for the continuous improvement of the quality of an organization is that of the appropriate senior management. Leadership sets clear organizational goals, establishes unity and decides and defines quality policy that must be aligned with quality objectives as part of the corporate culture. Leadership communicates the vision and strategy of the organization motivating employees to participate toward achieving the goals of the organization.

2. Three intra-core concepts:

- f. **Change Management Focus:** It is a framework or a systematic approach, related to organizational changes affecting employees, customers, core values processes and profitability through evaluation methods and corrective actions provided by data analysis. Change management metrics should be considered holistically, providing the organization with the required information for implementing strategies and methods that will ensure effective change and tactics adjustment to achieve its goal.
- g. **Performance Measurement Focus:** It is the process of evaluating, measuring and determining the efficiency and effectiveness of actions of an employee. Performance measurement brings scientific metrics into the decision-making process, underlining the change derived from information accuracy and knowledge, instead of practical experience. The primary goal of performance measurement is the identification of opportunities that can contribute to employees' evolution inside a corporation as

well as to act as a motive for succeeding in their maximum performance through appropriate and continuous support. Evaluates productivity and ensure the personal development of individual employees, increasing at the same time job satisfaction, motivation and commitment to the organization and its vision.

h. **Continuous Improvement:** Also known as a continual or continuous improvement process. It's a continuous effort for products, services or processes of an organization improvement, focusing on value-added activities enhancement. Organizations with a culture of continuous improvement can benefit from inherent flexibility and techniques improving knowledge sharing, process improvement and workflow management.

3. Two auxiliary concepts:

- i. **Information-Knowledge management:** Knowledge management is the process of creating, maintaining, using and sharing exchanging knowledge and experience of employees in an organization. Although knowledge management is usually about know-how, information management is about know-what referring to the management of data both facts and figures obtained from vertical sources. It is a cycle of knowledge, a multidisciplinary approach to improving performance by avoiding previous unsuccessful approaches and strategies and by making the best use of knowledge management is focused on improved performance, competitive advantage, innovation and exploitation aspects, and knowledge sharing to ensure the continuous improvement of the organization.
- j. **Corporate responsibility**: It concerns the impact that an organization has on society, the environment, the economy and all stakeholders. Organizations that have effective corporate responsibility programs add value to the organization itself, ensure its viability and operate in ways that enhance society and the environment. In addition, CSR activities can help forge a strong bond between employees and the organization, boost morale and increase commitment.



Figure 5. Glykas Quality Compass Concept

The above concepts are used in all four-quality perspectives (CSRM, standards, methodologies and Quality excellence awards) and follow the PDCA cycle for continuous improvement. The PDCA cycle, or Deming cycle, is a methodology that consists of four stages: Plan, Do, Check and Act.



Source: https://deming.org

The Glykas Quality Compass (GQC) framework provides a matrix, a ten-to-ten table, founded on the ten, most crucial, critical-success factors, which are identified in current, maturity-assessment frameworks and the ten, best-known enablers, which are identified in the literature. The matrix can be used regarding the CSFs during the design of the framework and regarding the enablers during the implementation of the CSRM framework, for the three-fold managerial perspective **Processes – Human Resources – Information Technology.**



Figure 7. Framework of Glykas Quality Compass Source: Glykas, 2019.

In order to examine whether the GQC can be expanded to apply to the ISO26000:2010 requirements, given that the standard's scope is to "provide guidance to those who recognize that respect for society and environment is a critical success factor". The holistic approach of the GQC maturity assessment model combined with CSFs corporate social responsibility management principles and organizational resources could be implemented for the assessment of the ISO26000:2010 Corporate Social Responsibility Standard, providing a useful guide for the continuous improvement of organizations. At the same time, it depicts the level of maturity when it comes to CSR implementation in corporate environments. The GQC approach could also assist CSR management implementation team to clarify the CSR concept and link it properly with corporate strategy (Glykas, 2019).

This research could be used as a recommendation and implementation guide according to ISO 26000:2010 for an organization in order to test the GQC method. Such a case study would provide findings, tools and categories to expand the GQC model, producing thus a generic GQC CSRM maturity framework to be used as a reference by future researchers in the field of CSR maturity assessment.

6. CONCLUSION

Contemporary companies measure their success beyond profit. The positive impact they provide to both society and the local community is critical. Thus, corporate social responsibility should be seen as an appropriate process, for advanced mitigation actions that minimize the negative effects and not only as a strategic competitive tool. CSR can assist companies to self-regulate their activities and be socially accountable to their customers, stakeholders, and society, at the same time. So, in a nutshell, corporations engage in CSR aiming to enhance financial performance, achieve a competitive advantage, and broaden their reputation and image.

In this paper, we provided a literature survey in the field of our study focusing on the investigation of the relationship between ISO2600:2010 and CSR dimensions, aiming to develop a maturity model that verifies the influence of the standard guidelines in CSRM. Our research verified that ISO 2600:2010 does not influence CSR dimensions in the same way. It acts more proactively in ethical and environmental dimensions and is less present in social and strategic CSR. We found evidence of a positive association between the standard guidelines and CSR principles, which indicates the importance of its implementation as well as in the dissemination of values and behaviors aligned with its scope.

The Critical Success Factors (CSF) related to Corporate Social Responsibility in a Maturity Assessment Framework have been identified and thoroughly analyzed. Moreover, the relationship between CSR activities that influence corporate performance, reputation, brand name, and finally profitability was presented.

Research contributions are important for both professionals and academics since the study's research objective resulted in the proposal of a holistic and integrated Corporate Social Responsibility Management Maturity Assessment framework encompassing the core guidelines of ISO26000:2010 in order to be used by both researchers and practitioners. In order to answer these questions, the GQC model was presented and a framework combining this model with the requirements of the ISO 26000 was designed in order to be tested in a future case study.

During the study, we had to overcome several limitations. The relevance of this study relies on the association of ISO 26000:2010 with the advancement of corporate social responsibility, especially in the context of implementing its guidelines. Although there are studies that investigate the relationship between these constructs, there is a gap in the literature regarding standard implementation and its influence on the different dimensions of CSR.

Our ongoing research on the Corporate Social Responsibility Maturity Assessment Framework application includes the implementation of the proposed framework in a corporate environment. This will prove its feasibility and furthermore will define the extent of influence each of the critical success factors has on the evolution of Corporate Social Responsibility.

References

- Bowen, H. R. (1953). Social responsibilities of the businessman ([1st ed.]). Harper.
- Carroll, A. B. (1979). A three-dimensional conceptual model of corporate performance. *The Academy* of Management Review, 4(4), 497–505. https://doi.org/10.2307/257850
- Carroll, A. B. (1999). Corporate social responsibility. Evolution of a definitional construct. *Business & society, 38(3), 268-295.*
- Carson, S. G. (2015). Etikk for beslutningstakere. Cappelen Damm akademisk.
- Chin, M. K., Hambrick, D. C. & Trevino, L. K. (2013), Political ideologies of CEOs the influence of executives' values on corporate social responsibility, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 58(2), 197-232
- Commission Staff Working Document. (SWD), Corporate Social Responsibility, Responsible Business Conduct, and Business and Human Rights: Overview of Progress
- Crosby, P.B. (1979). Quality is free: the art of making quality certain. McGraw-Hill. ISBN 0-07-014512-1
- De Bakker, F. G. A., Groenewegen, P., & Den Hond, F. (2005). A Bibliometric Analysis of 30 Years of Research and Theory on Corporate Social Responsibility and Corporate Social Performance, *Business & Society*
- Du, S., Swaen, V., Lindgreen, A., & Sen, S. (2013). The roles of leadership styles in corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics* 155–169.
- Elkington, J. (1999). Cannibals with forks: the triple bottom line of 21st century business. Capstone.
- Epstein, M. J., & Roy, M. J. (2001). Sustainability in action: Identifying and measuring the key performance drivers. *Long range planning*, *34*(5), 585-604.
- Foreign Policy Centre (London England) & Institute of Social and Ethical AccountAbility. (2001). *Third generation corporate citizenship: public policy and business in society.* Foreign Policy Centre.
- Freeman, R. E. (1984). Sustainability in action: Identifying and measuring the key performance drivers, Found at Freeman R. E. & McVea J. (2001). A stakeholder approach to strategic management. SSRN. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.263511
- French, P. A. (1979). The Corporation as a Moral Person, *American Philosophical Quarterly*, 16(3), 207-215.
- Friedman, M. (1970). The social responsibility of business is to increase its profits. *The New York Times Magazine*, p. 13. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-70818-6_14
- Garriga, E., & Melé, D. (2004), Corporate Social Responsibility Theories: Mapping the Territory, *Journal of Business Ethics*, 53, 51 – 71, https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BUSI.0000039399.90587.34
- Glykas, M. (2019). Quality Management Review: A Case Study of the Application of the Glykas Quality Implementation Compass, *Journal of Multidisciplinary Engineering Science and Technolo*gy, 6 (12), ISSN: 2458-9403

- Goyal, P., & Kumar, D. (2017). Modeling the CSR barriers in manufacturing industries. *Benchmark-ing: An International Journal*, 24(7) 1871–1890. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-09-2015-0088
- Hsu, K.-T. (2012). The advertising effects of corporate social responsibility on corporate reputation and brand equity: evidence from the life insurance industry in Taiwan. *Journal of Business Ethics* 189–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-1118-0
- Kourula, A., & Halme, M. (2008). Types of corporate responsibility and engagement with NGOs: an exploration of business and societal outcomes. *Corporate Governance: The International Jour*nal of Business in Society, 8(4), 557–570. https://doi.org/10.1108/14720700810899275
- Lantos, G. P. (2001). The boundaries of strategic corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 18(7), 595–632. https://doi.org/10.1108/07363760110410281
- Luo, X., & Bhattacharya, C. B. (2006). Corporate social responsibility customer satisfaction and market value. *Journal of Marketing 70(4), 1–18.*
- Maon, F., Lindgreen, A., & Swaen, V. (2010). Organizational stages and cultural phases: a critical review and a consolidative model of corporate social responsibility development. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 12(1), 20–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00278.x
- Marques-Mendes, A., & Santos, M. J. (2016), Strategic CSR: an integrative model for analysis, *Social Responsibility Journal 12(2)*, 363-381 https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-04-2015-0055
- Matten, D., Crane, A., & Chapple, W. (2003). Behind the mask: Revealing the true face of corporate citizenship. *Journal of business ethics*, *45*(1), 109-120.
- Mirvis, P., & Googins, B. (2006). Stages of Corporate Citizenship: A Developmental Framework, A Center for Corporate Citizenship, *Boston College Monograph*, Boston
- Porter, M. E., & Kramer, M. R. (2006). Strategy & society: the link between competitive advantage and corporate social responsibility. *Harvard Business Review* 78, 1-16
- Skarmeas, D., & Leonidou, C. N. (2013). When Consumers Doubt, Watch Out! The Role of CSR Skepticism. Journal of Business Research, 66, 1831-1838. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.02.004
- Tuan, T. L. (2012). Corporate social responsibility leadership and brand equity in healthcare service. *Social Responsibility Journal* 347–362. https://doi.org/10.1108/17471111211247929
- Zadek, S. (2004). The Path to Corporate Responsibility, Harvard Business Review, 82(12), 125-132.



Information and Communication Technologies in the Function of the Development of Digital Competences of Persons with Disabilities

Anela Džananović¹ 💿 Jasna Bajraktarević² 💿

Received: November 19, 2022 Revised: January 26, 2023 Accepted: February 14, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Information and communication technologies; Disability; Digital competence; Skills

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Abstract: The subject and problem of the work refer to information and communication technologies, which are one of the most important prerequisites for life and work for people with disabilities. From education itself, social life, professional rehabilitation and employment, information and communication technologies are a factor without which participation is impossible for people with disabilities, regardless of the form. This paper singles out one particular aspect of the use of information and communication technology, which depends on the level of development of the country and the existential status of a specific person and what type of disability it is. Investing in information technology and digital competences of people with disabilities has a pronounced positive impact on the development of social entrepreneurship in the context of companies for the employment of people with disabilities. When talking about information and communication technologies, we are talking about different equipment, software and the like, with the help of which people with disabilities can communicate more easily; they have a great impact on all people in the world, especially on people with disabilities.

1. INTRODUCTION

Information technology is a discipline that arose as a result of the practical requirements of companies, social enterprises, commercial banks, the public sector, the education system, the health system, and practically all areas of society. Information technologies represent the application of computers, aids, and software for, the analysis, download, transmission and processing of data in all the mentioned areas, especially in the context of business and development of companies.

2. INFORMATION-COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES

The definition of information and communication technologies goes in the direction that it is a set of tools, processes, methodologies and equipment necessary for the collection, processing and presentation of data and information in all spheres of society (Sotirović, 2004). The term information and communication technology is often used in a much broader sense and includes all activities that IT professionals deal with, from the installation of application programs to the design of complex computer networks and information systems. The ability to use information and communication technologies implies (Sotirović, 2004): good knowledge of all tools used in computing; having the necessary skills to effectively use these tools; recognition of situations in which information and communication technologies can be used to solve a problem. The development of computers has influenced the rapid development of communications, and

¹ Faculty of Management and Business Economics, University of Travnik, 71250 Kiseljak, B&H



² Faculty of Education, University in Sarajevo, 71000 Sarajevo, B&H

information and communication technologies imply the integration (joining) of telecommunications, computers, software, and memory, intending to enable users to access, store, transfer and manipulate information (Sotirović, 2004).

3. USE OF INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES BY PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES

Information and communication technologies have been used in practice for a long time, and particular progress has been experienced in the last decade, especially when it comes to information and communication technology in the context of the development of digital competences for people with disabilities. When talking about information and communication technologies, we are talking about different equipment, software and the like, with the help of which people with disabilities communicate more easily. Information and communication technologies have a great influence on all people in the world, especially on people with disabilities. In that case, people with disabilities are one of the more vulnerable groups because they practically depend on the development of information and communication technology in their education and work. The good thing is that the use of information and communication technology in everyday life enables easier access to information, but the negative thing is that not all people with disabilities in every part of the world have equal access to them, because unfortunately one of the decisive factors is money, and the largest number of people with disabilities cannot afford to purchase information and communication technology for their needs. In order for information and communication technologies to be used by persons with disabilities as planned, certain prerequisites must be met following the particular form of technology used and the specific type of disability of a person. Before the very application of information and communication technology to persons with disabilities, it is necessary to determine the level of ability, that is, the education of the person to use the necessary technology, practically the same case as with the system of professional rehabilitation and determining the remaining and work ability. This is causal and related because the remaining work ability depends on the level of knowledge of using digital technologies. If a specific person with a disability is capable of using technology, support is achieved in the habilitation and rehabilitation of the user's abilities, improving access to information, overcoming geographic and social barriers through support in communication and networking, and creating a positive self-image, increasing motivation and self-confidence, and can be employed and maintained at work (Association of therapists, 2022). The daily use of information and communication technologies also helps people with disabilities to have normal social interaction with other people and lead a life like other people. This is primarily about the inability to communicate, dyslexia, blind and partially sighted people and people with learning problems (Muhammad, 2022).

4. ANALYSIS OF THE USE OF INFORMATION COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES

When using information and communication technologies by people with disabilities, certain problems can be crystallized (Muhammad, 2022):

- insufficient information about the development of information and communication technologies by persons with disabilities;
- lack of interest on the part of disabled people themselves in the use of information and communication technologies, because they think that they are not so important for the availability and analysis of information in different spheres of life;

• availability of information and communication technologies, too little investment by the state and non-existence of subsidies by the state, because ICTs are financially unavailable to ordinary individuals in a large number of cases.

People with disabilities must not completely surrender to information and communication technologies, but use them only as a tool for the daily activities they have to carry out (Muhammad, 2022).

5. RAISING THE DIGITAL COMPETENCES OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES TO ACHIEVE A BETTER POSITION IN THE LABOR MARKET

Information and communication technology greatly improves the quality of life of people with disabilities, whereby different information and communication technology tools are used for different forms of disability (Čop & Topolovec, 2009:312). Starting from education as the basis for finding an adequate job for students with partial and complete visual impairments, these are primarily (Čop & Topolovec, 2009:312): adapted textbooks written in braille with adequate relief illustrations; textbooks printed in enlarged black print with illustrations of moderate size and without much detail; complete Braille stationery; paper, blocks, folders for storing texts written in braille; standard audiovisual means and adequate lighting. For these needs, many information and communication technologies have been applied in practice more and more recently (Čop & Topolovec, 2009:312). Informal education seeks to provide the opportunity to acquire knowledge about the necessary technologies, which increases a person's self-confidence, communication, and integration in society, as well as some other competencies of a concrete person with disabilities, acquisition of digital competences and finally improving their position on the labor market or, in the case of an employed person, maintaining their job in their working environment (Batelo Kokić & Kisovar-Ivanda, 2015). Information and communication technologies for persons with disabilities are regulated in Article 9 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, which talks about accessibility. In order to enable persons with disabilities to live independently and participate fully in all areas of life, the signatory states of this Convention take appropriate measures to ensure their access, on an equal basis with other persons, to the built environment, transportation, information and communications, including information and communication technologies and systems, as well as other equipment, spaces and services intended for the public, both in urban and rural areas (Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 2022). Access to information and better accessibility to services is possible in situations where action plans or accessibility standards are adopted for certain types of people with disabilities (Digital Empowerment, 2016). UNESCO recognized that information and communication technology could lead to better access to information, which was eventually confirmed in the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Unfortunately, this requires significant financial investments, which is why the involvement of the state is necessary because without these incentives people with disabilities can't play a significant role in social spheres (The ICT opportunity for a disability-inclusive development framework, 2013).

6. EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE APPLICATIONS

Portable devices and applications are basic elements for facilitating the daily life of people with disabilities and represent the basis of information and communication technologies for people with disabilities. For people who cannot see at all, or see very poorly, the device itself and the text on the screen: Applications within portable devices provide the possibility of converting an image or text in a document into speech, or a Braille document, via a connected Braille device. In practice, speech or speech programs are used much more (Okić & Kragić, 2015).

People with cognitive impairments may have various problems related to memory, analytical skills, attention, reading skills, comprehension or communication. To reduce these problems as much as possible, it is possible to use portable devices and associated applications for speech recognition and converting text to speech, using the so-called reminders that remind a person of tasks he has to do, converting text into images for people with reading problems, predicting words when writing text, and the like (Miljković, 2005).

Braille technology – Blind and partially sighted people – Braille digital monitor, recorder and printer (Okić & Kragić, 2015): In addition to Braille monitors and voice recorders, Braille printers can also be used in practice, which allows printing text from a computer in Braille form. As printers need a bit more time to display the engraving on paper, Braille printers are often very slow and very noisy. When printing, it is possible to use one of two versions (American Foundation for the Blind, 2022). In Bosnia and Herzegovina, only the Center for Blind and Visually Impaired Children and Youth and the Library for the Blind have this printer.

Daisy player – is a device that allows people with severe or partial vision impairment to read books, record conversations, listen to radio programs, etc. The player also allows you to search books, when book Sense reads each title so that a person can know roughly what part of the book they are in (Daisy Player User Guide, 2022).

Windows eyes and JAWS speech program – windows eye is one of the best and most used tools for reading text from the computer screen. It enables the conversion of components of the Windows operating system into synthesized speech, which provides full access to the computer system for 32 blind and partially sighted people at the same time.

Tobi – disabled people with physical impairments, especially those who cannot move their hands, there is the possibility of using some version of the TOBII tool. TOBII is the world's leading tool for tracking eye movements based on which it is possible to use portable and other devices (TOBII, 2022).

Head mouse extreme – an excellent device that is especially intended for people without the ability to move or with limited use of their hands. This device tracks the movement of the entire head and thus moves the cursor on the monitor (Origin Instruments Corporation, 2022).

Keystroke – an advanced keyboard that helps a person with physical disabilities have full access to a computer. KeyStrokes allows you to use a mouse, trackball, head, or another emulator to type characters in any standard Mac OS X application (Origin Instruments Corporation, 2022).

There is also Icommunicator, Signvideo, Proloquo, etc. (Icommunicator; Origin Instruments Corporation, 2022).

7. LAW ON PROFESSIONAL REHABILITATION, TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT OF PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES OF THE FBIH AND THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Although these are laws that specifically and exclusively regulate issues in the field of professional rehabilitation, training and employment of persons with disabilities, this law still has shortcomings that should be harmonized. Given that the provisions of the Convention (Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 2022) are general, i.e. that they contain only appropriate principles and legal standards for the realization and protection of certain rights of persons with disabilities, the Law on Professional Rehabilitation, Training and Employment of Persons with Disabilities needs to be harmonized with the Convention, i.e. to achieve a specification that corresponds to that principles and standards, but also the social circumstances of application in Bosnia and Herzegovina, more specifically in the Federation of BiH. However, without this Law, the majority of employment of persons with disabilities would practically not have been achieved because this Law was the basis for the establishment of Funds for professional rehabilitation and employment of persons with disabilities in both FBiH and the Serbian republic, through which financial incentives for the employment of persons with disabilities are provided.

8. METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK OF WORK

8.1. Subject and Problem of Work

The subject and problem of the work refer to information and communication technologies, which are one of the most important prerequisites for life and work for people with disabilities. The subject of research refers to the importance of entrepreneurship in the sphere of employment of persons with disabilities as one of the most vulnerable, marginalized groups of people in society concerning information technologies. Investigate how and to what extent digital aids can help a person with a disability in work and make work easier. The research problem refers to the legal assumptions that are of great importance when employing people with disabilities. How are they employed, what is the importance of investing in information technology and whether there is state support in that process. How to deal with the problem of employment of marginalized groups, in this case, people with disabilities.

Objectives of work:

- investigate the role of digital aids that can facilitate the work of people with disabilities;
- determine the extent to which the place of employment of a person with a disability is digitized, which facilitates work;
- investigate how much is invested in additional education to improve digital skills;
- investigate how technically equipped the company where people with disabilities work is;
- analyze whether the state provides incentives for the development of information technologies that are crucial for the work of persons with disabilities; point out the importance of incentives from the state in the field of employment of persons with disabilities and the importance of investing in digital technologies, which are one of the most important factors in everything.

Research hypotheses:

- H0: Investment in information and communication technologies and the development of digital competences of persons with disabilities have a pronounced positive impact on the development of social entrepreneurship and employment of persons with disabilities.
- **HP1:** The problem of employment of socially vulnerable categories of people, specifically people with disabilities, is a problem for the whole society.
- HP2: Digital aids greatly contribute to better quality work of people with disabilities.
- HP3: Additional education and training of employees in the field of digital competences will lead to the improvement of the company's operations.
- HP4: The state provides sufficient support, allocates funds and invests in the development of digital technologies, which are one of the essential factors in the work of persons with disabilities.

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

8.2. Work Tasks

The task of this research is to demonstrate the importance of social entrepreneurship in the employment of marginalized groups. Point out the support that the state should provide, which will contribute to increasing the employment of people with disabilities and care for people with disabilities through work engagement.

8.3. Research Methods

The research will collect data using the following methods: survey method, interview method, analysis and synthesis method, inductive method, deductive method, description method, and statistical method.

9. **RESEARCH**

103 respondents participated in the research, 62 female and 41 male respondents.

Do you think that digital aids can greatly help in performing daily tasks in the company you work for? (mark an X in front of the correct answer)									
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent				
Valid	Yes	99	96.0	96.0	96.0				
	No	4	4.0	4.0	100.0				
	Total	103	100.0	100.0					

Table 1. Digital aids

Source: Authors

Please circle the type of disability you have									
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent				
Valid	Physical	39	37.6	37.6	37.6				
	Sensory	28	26.7	26.7	64.4				
	Learning difficulties	8	7.9	7.9	72.3				
	Combined	28	27.7	27.7	100.0				
	Total	103	100.0	100.0					

Table 2. Types of disability

Source: Authors

According to the results of the analysis, the largest number of respondents in the sample have physical disabilities, 37.6%, followed by combined and sensory disabilities, while the smallest number of respondents have learning difficulties. According to the opinions of the surveyed groups, respondents who have a disability between 3 and 6 years of age most agree with the statement that social entrepreneurship has been developed in Bosnia and Herzegovina, while respondents who have been disabled for more than 15 years do not agree with this statement, and consider that it is not sufficiently represented. According to the results of the analysis, it can be concluded that investment in social entrepreneurship is quite modest. Therefore, additional investments in social entrepreneurship are necessary so that people with disabilities have the opportunity to participate in the creation of new values. The research also examined attitudes about the equipment and use of IT aids in the work they do. Respondents answered on a scale from 1 to 5, and the answers are as follows:

To a small extent, the respondents agree with the statement that their workplace is digitized enough for the tasks they perform. The average value of the answers is 3.5, with a medium level of deviation. According to this answer, it can be concluded that additional investments are necessary in the digitization of the equipment of employed persons with disabilities, in order to increase productivity.

- To an even lesser extent, respondents agree with the statement that they regularly attend courses that improve their competencies for digital skills. The average rating of the respondents is 3.3, so it can be concluded that this parameter is also quite neglected by the levels of government dealing with the promotion of social entrepreneurship.
- The respondents have a similar attitude when it comes to communication via e-mail, where the average response of the respondents is also 3.3, with a small degree of deviation.
- The respondents somewhat agree with the statement that their company is equipped with digital aids for all types of disabilities. It can be concluded that companies are working on digital equipment, but that there is significant room for improvement.
- The respondents agree to some extent that the work organization is such that they complement each other when performing tasks. As with the previous cases, it can be concluded that there is room to bring this type of organization of work of persons with disabilities to a higher level.
- According to the results of the analysis, it can be concluded that the respondents agree with the statement that the growth of information technologies is accompanied by the growth of the competencies of persons with disabilities. The average rating for the stated statement is 3.7 with a small degree of deviation around the average value of the answer.
- Respondents generally do not agree with the statement that the state constantly invests in raising the digital competences of people with disabilities. The average score for the above statement is 2.8, which is the lowest score compared to all assumptions from the above set of questions. It is common knowledge that digital competences, in addition to increasing work productivity, make the work of people with disabilities easier and more accessible, so additional education becomes more important. Respondents agree with the statement that planned educations are present for people with disabilities, who are trying to be productive. The average score for this statement is 4.17 with a small degree of deviation around the average value of the answers. The respondents fully agree with the statement that there is absolutely a need for planned education. Also, the respondents agreed with a high rating that the education of persons with disabilities is also important, as well as the knowledge of information and communication technologies.

10. FUTURE DIRECTIONS OF RESEARCH

The topic in question is not yet sufficiently researched and there are not many studies that deal with the same, and in that, it is a contribution and a challenge for research. Future directions of research are reflected in the realization of the importance of digital entrepreneurship as part of sustainable development regarding human resources, where the clear focus is the solution to the existential problem through social entrepreneurship of the most vulnerable groups of people. Digitization in entrepreneurship is used in the context of organizations that have managed to solve the existential problem of those people who could not find employment in the open labor market.

11. CONCLUSION

Information and communication technologies in the context of acquiring digital competences and the importance of information and communication technology for the education and work of people with disabilities were investigated. H0 - Investment in information and communication

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

technologies and the development of digital competences of persons with disabilities has a pronounced positive impact on the development of social entrepreneurship and employment of persons with disabilities. The respondents gave particular importance to the statements related to digital competences, so the ratings were mostly above 4, which is quite high on a scale of 1 to 5. The conclusion is that the main hypothesis was fully tested and proven, through the mentioned set of questions, but also other questions that analyzed the digital competencies of people with disabilities. HP1 - The problem of employment of socially vulnerable categories of people, specifically persons with disabilities, is a problem of the whole society". The respondents agree with the statement that the problem of employment of persons with disabilities is a macroeconomic problem, while to a lesser extent, they agree that it is also a microeconomic problem, however, the score of 4.16 and 3.68 is sufficient to confirm the hypothesis. HP2 - Digital aids greatly contribute to better quality work of people with disabilities. The hypothesis was confirmed because the respondents agree that digital aids contribute to the development of people with disabilities, but they point out that social entrepreneurship is underdeveloped and that investment in it is insufficient. HP3 -Additional education and training of employees in the field of digital competences will lead to the improvement of the company's operations. The hypothesis was confirmed, respondents are aware that investment in digital competences will contribute to personal development, but the problem is reflected in insufficient investment according to the concept of lifelong learning. HP4 - The state provides sufficient support, allocates funds and invests in the development of digital technologies, which are one of the essential factors of the work of persons with disabilities. The hypothesis was partially confirmed because the respondents mostly disagree with the statement that the state constantly invests in raising the digital competences of people with disabilities. The average score for the above statement is 2.8, which is the lowest score compared to all assumptions from the above set of questions. It is common knowledge that digital competences, in addition to increasing work productivity, make the work of people with disabilities easier and more accessible, so additional education becomes more important. Respondents agree with the statement that planned educations are present for people with disabilities, who are trying to be productive. The average score for this statement is 4.17 with a small degree of deviation around the average value of the answers. The respondents fully agree with the statement that there is absolutely a need for planned education. Also, the respondents agreed with a high rating that the education of persons with disabilities is also important, as well as the knowledge of information and communication technologies. Social entrepreneurship is not only the employment of people with disabilities, but it is specifically the most represented in Bosnia and Herzegovina, it is also the employment of other marginalized groups of people, but the employment of people with disabilities can be a good example of how to solve the employment of these other groups of socially vulnerable people.

References

- American Foundation for the Blind. (2022). https://www.afb.org/. Retrieved from http://www.afb. org/info/braille-technology/5
- Association of therapists. (2022). www.er.rs. Retrieved from http://www.er.rs/2011/04/uloga-informatickih-i-komunikacijskih-tehnologijau-obrazovanju-osoba-sa-posebnim-potrebama
- Batelo Kokić, I., & Kisovar-Ivanda, T. (2015). Utjecaj komunikacijsko-informacijske tehnologije na obrazovanje odraslih osoba s invaliditetom. Zadar: *Školski vjesnik Časopis za pedagoška i školska pitanja*.
- Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. (2022). http://dep.gov.ba/ Retrieved from: http://dep.gov.ba/resursni_centar/ljudska_prava/medjunarodni_doc/default. aspx?id=686&langTag=bs-BA

- Čop, M. & Topolovec, V. (2009). Upotreba informacijske i komunikacijske tehnologije (ICT) u obrazovanju djece s posebnim potrebama. Rijeka, Hrvatska: Informatologija.
- Daisy Player User Guide. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.gloria-ferrari.com/asistivne-tehnologije-pomagala-za-slepe-i-slabovide/didakticka-sredstva-za-slepe-i-slabovide/139-sredstva-koja-se-vise-ne-proizvode/1082-daisy-cd-player-i-reproduktori-koji-se-vise-ne-proizvode
- Digital Empowerment. (2016). Retrieved from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/ pf0000244543
- Icommunicator.com. (2022). Retrieved from http://www.icommunicator.com/productinfo/features_benefits.shtml
- Miljković, I. (2005). Tehnologija za ljude sa invaliditetom. Retrieved from https://www. sk.rs/2005/04/skpr02.html
- Muhammad, A. (2022). Connecting People With Disabilities: ICT Opportunities for All. Retrieved from Munich Personal RePEc Archive: http://mpra.ub.unimuenchen. de/17204/1/Connecting_People_With_Disabilities_ICT_Opportunities_for_All-------By_Muhammad_Ali_Shuja.pdf
- Okić, S., & Kragić, G. (2015). Priručnik za obuku slijepih i slabovidnih osoba za korištenje računara. Retrieved from http://www.slijepisa.org.ba/uimages/udocs/Prirucnik_za_obuku_slijepih i slabovidnih osoba za koristenje racunara.htm

Origin Instruments Corporation. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.orin.com/access/headmouse Sotirović, V. (2004). Informatičke tehnologije. Zrenjanin: Institut Mihajlo Pupin.

- The ICT opportunity for a disability-inclusive development framework. (2013). Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/action/accessibility/Documents/The%20ICT%20Opportunity%20 for%20a%20Disability_Inclusive%20Development%20Framework.pdf
- TOBII. (2022). https://www.tobii.com/. Retrieved from http://www.tobii.com/en/assistivetechnology/global/products/hardware/tobii-eyemobile



Changing the Process of the Employee Recruitment in the Labour Market

Mirjana Nedović¹ D Ivona Bajić Sabljo²

Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: February 14, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Human resources management; Digitalization; Electronic human resources management; Digital human resources strategy

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: Human resource management is an important managerial function. Finding quality and motivated people represents a challenge for any business. The ways to reach the best future employees have changed with the development of social networks and digitalization in general. To be competitive, every company needs a well-designed approach to human resource management. The company's set goals can only be achieved based on the abilities of employees with certain skills. The reason for choosing this topic stemmed from the many problems faced by the human resources departments due to the transformation that is happening in the labour market. The purpose of this paper is to show a concrete example, of the recruitment of employees when using a modern method using the social network. All the stages that are used to acquire the best candidate who would complete the set tasks will be explained. The data were obtained using the telephone interview research method. This work will be able to serve the other companies or departments that manage human resources as one of the examples of the new concept of recruiting employees and accordingly, contribute to future research. The findings that are stemming from this research will certainly support further studies of human resource management using new technologies and tools that collect analytical data and skills of employees and consequently help companies to select the best candidates.

1. INTRODUCTION

S killed management, quality human resources and good organization are the key factors for the implementation of any plan. Modern management implies a high degree of proactivity, always balancing between focus and flexibility, i.e., openness towards new perspectives, by means of thoughtful and quick responses to new opportunities, seeking opportunities in diversity and continuous and systematic learning (Rupčić, 2018).

Managerial work is extremely diverse: it requires productivity, efficiency and effectiveness, and depends on many internal and external factors, including a large number of tasks that are taking place in parallel with cooperation with employees and interaction with them. Today, a manager must possess a large amount of formal and informal knowledge, a plentiful of information, and the ability to communicate, negotiate, plan, organize work, manage human resources, and manage and control all processes.

In the long term, choosing human capital is one of the most important elements of any business in these challenging times. Planning and raising capital require knowledge of the purpose, vision and mission of the company, all in order to timely provide the staff by means of the necessary knowledge, competencies and skills.



¹ College of Applied Sciences "Lavoslav Ružička" in Vukovar, Croatia

² Regional Wholesales Market Osijek d.d., Jablanova bb, Osijek, Croatia

An employee can be a source of income for the organization if he provides the necessary opportunities for that individual (Voicu, 2014). Competence and work performance are extremely important factors when it comes to human resource management. In an organized business system, the employment activity by itself (possible dilemmas on how to obtain quality staff), the method of selection, advertising, or invitation to interested candidates, evaluation of their work and professional motivation can significantly vary from one company to another. The modern company is adapting to new ways of work and listens to the changes that are happening in the environment so there is an increasing orientation towards online recruitment.

As the face of technology changes and becomes more social, it is problematic to compare technologies used today and the ones used in the past (Ruleman, 2012). The modernization of human resource management is undergoing a major evolution as digitalisation infiltrates within work operations (Votto et al., 2021). In this context, this article discusses some of the new ways of attracting and recruiting future employees and provides a basis for a better understanding of new business processes.

2. PLANNING AND RECRUITMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

The process of planning human resources is a complex one. It starts with the set goals and with defining needs. Based on the defined goals and strategy, it is necessary to conduct a job analysis: what, who, when, how, where and why it should be done.

Job analysis begins with an analysis of the value creation process by applying a systematic approach, when observing, surveying, and interviewing the existing employees. The collected data are systematized into jobs and job descriptions are made. The job description includes a list of tasks and responsibilities of a particular workplace. Based on the job description, job specifications are made, which include a list of required qualifications, knowledge, skills, and experience, but also the characteristics that are expected from the candidate (Rupčić, 2018).

In order to obtain the desired specter of human resources in the company, during the planning, recruitment and selection of the candidates, the management must have an idea of what type of people they want to hire, what motives and interests drive employees, and what behaviour they want from their employees.

The goal of management of human resources is to create a working environment and professional guidance of employees, in order to enable the achievement of all of the goals of the company, both current, developmental and strategic. Recruitment and selection of staff is a key activity for the present and future successful business of any company. The core indicators of business performance are productivity, efficiency and effectiveness – they all depend on the quality of human potential. The quality of human potential refers to knowledge and skills which human resources dispose of, but also to character properties that create a desirable working environment.

It's possible to achieve business success by developing human potential, but only if staff have the potential for development. The candidate recruitment process begins with defining the need for employees and job specifications. Candidates can be found inside or outside the company, therefore we have internal and external sources of recruitment.

Internal sources of recruitment include filling the workplace using regrouping of existing employees because there may be people in the company who have the conditions for promotion and

it is possible to offer them and reassign them to a suitable vacant position. In this way, it is possible to connect the wishes and capabilities of candidates with the needs of the company, which can also strengthen the motivation of the candidate and guarantee his commitment to work.

In addition to increased motivation and commitment to the company and work, some of the advantages of internal recruitment are better knowledge of the advantages and disadvantages of the candidate - if the candidate knows the company, its goals and organization, the company does not need to invest in its socialization process; stronger perception of the company's concern for the good employees has been created, and also the use of already invested funds in human resources have been used: all of that is much faster and cheaper than external employment.

Potential limitations that can be created by internal employment are the redistribution of good employees to places for which they are not competent, the creation of internal conflicts and decline in motivation and dissatisfaction of other candidates and employees, and the lack of change by which the established way of working is maintained.

The internal competition can be published through the company's internal communication network or newsletter, but also by the recommendation of employees, managers or other key persons.

When the staff are seeking for from external sources, i.e., from the labour market, it is necessary to ensure that information reaches a group of potential workers. We manage this by advertising vacancies in employment agencies, educational institutions or in the appropriate media (such as newspapers, magazines, professional publications and websites that are specialized in employment mediation).

The agencies that offer their mediation services for temporary employment in the Republic of Croatia are Adecco Croatia, Dekra Employment, Demano Temporary Employment Ltd., Trenk-walder, Naton HR, Easy Consult Ltd., and others.

Also, one of the ways to secure staff is the engagement of Headhunting agencies that contact a person with a certain profile when looking for staff for a client. The following Headhunting agencies are present in Croatia: Dekra hr., Hill-croatia.hr, Antal.com, consulteam.hr, Isg.eu, Neumannpartners.com and others (posao.hr, 2020).

Companies can make databases in which inquiries about possible employment are entered, but are also included persons who have done work practice or they have participated in a vocational training program in the company, and this way opportunities for employment are created.

Search for employees can be based on recommendations, prior knowledge, or based on information from online social networks (LinkedIn). Such candidates are probably already working somewhere else, so the company will decide which methods to use to arouse their interest. The advantages of the external method of candidate selection are such that there is a much greater choice of talents who, with new knowledge and skills, can bring new energy, perspective and ideas to the company. Internal tensions, rivalries and conflicts are reduced, and it is possible to change the way of thinking and doing business.

The external method of selection implies attracting, contacting and evaluating the potential candidates, which is much more difficult and expensive and bears the risk that the choice will

ultimately turn out to be wrong. In addition, it is necessary to invest in the process of adaptation and orientation of the new candidate and acquaint him with the goals, organization and characteristics of organizational culture, while in the end causing dissatisfaction and moral problems among existing employees who feel qualified for that particular job.

2.1. Online Recruitment of the Future Employees

Recruitment of future employees has been increasingly done through the use of online platforms that represent the external source of finding the necessary staff. The development of information technology, and unpredictable circumstances in the environment such as the COV-ID-19 pandemic, have brought some new ways of finding future employees remotely, which are gaining momentum, and have become indispensable in today's circumstances.

One of the more recent ways of finding potential employee are the video conferencing applications that have become an integral part of today's world for attending interviews, classes, meetings, and assorted gatherings, as well in the COVID-19 era (Kathiravan et al., 2021).

Traditional methods of recruiting employees still exist, but they are increasingly being overshadowed by modern, new ways of recruiting staff. Online employment (via the Internet) could complement or replace traditional employment methods. Studies have shown that most adults, for example in the USA (over 80% of them) use the Internet (Perrin & Duggan, 2015), while in the Republic of Croatia, all households use broadband Internet access, while the share of households that use mobile broadband Internet access has increased from 66% to 70%, mostly due to the increased availability of mobile devices such as tablets, mobile phones and USB modems that exploit the 3G / 4G technology (Central Bureau of Statistics, 2019).

Also, there has been recorded an increase in Internet users when compared to the previous years. The largest increase was recorded in the age group from 55 to 64 years of age, i.e., 8% when compared to the previous year. As expected, the youngest population is at the forefront of Internet use, and the number of users is declining in proportion to their age. A similar trend was observed in the structure according to employment status in which pupils and students, as the youngest group, most often use the Internet (Central Bureau of Statistics, 2019).

As the Internet has been increasingly used as a means of finding a job, accordingly, today's advertising for new jobs is done through Internet platforms, where data is submitted electronically and the interview of a future employee is done online, and all communication takes place via computer. This way of candidacy through certain platforms, allows us to apply for a job anywhere in the world, which allows job seekers unimaginable opportunity to present themselves, their knowledge and their skills. On the other hand, the availability and presence on social networks allow the future employer more information about the potential candidate, as well as obtaining information that can be obtained indirectly. It is possible to gather a lot of information about a potential candidate by watching the candidate's posts on social networks and getting to know the profile of the person applying for the job in more detail. Very often this can be an advantage when choosing a candidate.

Thus, according to the portal MojPosao (2021), 49% of employers check the profiles of candidates through social networks, because posts on social networks can help them to create an overall image of the candidate. While a profile found on LinkedIn has a professional orientation and purpose, profiles set on Facebook, Instagram and Twitter serve personal purposes and have been used for a person to express his views, preferences and the way he sees the world around him. The employer has the right to choose the person he or she believes will best contribute to the company, so the candidate's activities on social media can leave a significant impact on employment. Inappropriate content on the candidate's profile left a negative impression and influenced the decision on (non)employment in 40% of employers, while 51% of them stated that the candidate's profile can positively influence the selection decision.

A large part of the population uses social networks daily, most often *Facebook*, *Instagram*, *LinkedIn*, *YouTube*, *TikTok*, or some others. It is estimated that at the beginning of 2021, that number was 53% or 4.2 billion users (Murgić Novak, 2021). It is quite certain that today social networks should be part of every employer's business plan, with a focus on how to use them best for individual needs to hire new talents.

Today, the model of searching for human capital with the use of the Internet is becoming more frequent and widely used. This method saves a lot of money while saving a lot of time, and a larger number of candidates from anywhere in the world is "at hand". Also, it is possible to contact candidates who are "passive", i.e., do not look for a new job, but if they are offered something interesting enough, it is possible to get them to apply.

LinkedIn is the largest business social network with nearly 800 million members in more than 200 countries. The goal of this network is to establish contacts and business relationships with people around the world, connect professionals and make them more productive and successful. It was founded by Reid Hoffman in 2003 (About LinkedIn, 2021).

Creating a profile on *LinkedIn* pages is free, simple and fast, and strives for the truth of data. Today, some employers even make it mandatory for their employees to be online for greater visibility.

While in a candidate's CV, only basic and scanty information can be found, the space on *LinkedIn* is less limited and a person can detail the job description, skills and knowledge they possess. The keywords on the candidate's profile help speed up the search for the necessary features and staff, as well as a network of contacts that creates additional opportunities for "first contact" with employers or employees.

LinkedIn Learning is an opportunity where you can learn a lot and also develop a range of new skills and add previously completed courses directly to your profile, while *LinkedIn* groups offer a way to find more like-minded people in your business, industry, or area of interest.

Furthermore, both social networks and the Web are places where users connect and communicate with each other by exchanging information, views and opinions, and as such communication has crossed the boundaries of an e-mail and has become a means of communicating, linkage of people, regardless of distance and time, thus enabling socialization and the creation of a new culture that has not been previously seen in the development of human communities (Grbavac & Grbavac, 2014).

Social networks are virtual communities of interconnected individuals who share content, information, files, images, audio and video recordings and cover all types of connections from work, academic and professional to family connections. Social media has revolutionized the way people communicate and relate to each other and the way they interact with the new tools that information technology offers. In that aspect, they were the turning point in the field of human communication, information flow and immediacy, to the point that the most important issue can be considered as another means of communication (Enciklopedia - titanica, 2022).

To access the social network, it is enough to open a profile that allows you access to the desired platform. Today, social networks are the crucial channel of communication, regardless of the age you belong, and they are ideal for building a relationship of trust and loyalty with existing members, as well as attracting new ones. With the click of a mouse, we'll get news from any of the segments such as sports, politics, culture, weather, or information pertaining to the local, regional, or global level - a lot of data that are accompanied by images or video media. In recent years, professional social networks and similar concepts have been developed to connect candidates with organizations, so in this way, organizations could realise employment faster and more efficiently, establish professional contacts, find jobs and also check their candidates.

3. SELECTION OF CANDIDATES

The selection of candidates is a long and complex process. Using pre-selection, i.e., by a selection of a smaller number of candidates from the group of applicants who meet the formal criteria of the competition announced for a particular job, candidates who have submitted incomplete documentation or who do not meet the required criteria are eliminated.

The candidate selection process varies from company to company and depends on the required candidate profile. The average validity of various predictors of job success puts mental ability tests in the first place that is followed by a probationary period, followed by personal biography, recommendations, and experience, while the success at the university, a sum of education, candidate's interests and age are placed at the bottom of the scale (Adamović Topolčić, 1999). After selecting a shortlist of candidates from the pre-selection method, the candidates are interviewed. To avoid costs, the interview may be preceded by a telephone or video interview. The candidate can then be invited in person for an interview at the company.

Analyses of many companies have shown that the most important characteristics of employees are: personal initiative, creativity, communication skills, analytical skills, intrinsic motivation, flexibility, ability to work in a team and the like (Adamović Topolčić, 1999).

Candidates are selected through interviews and various tests. Interviews are the most commonly used tool when selecting candidates, while the method of conducting interviews varies from company to company; but, their purpose is the same: to check interpersonal, communication and teamwork skills.

According to Rupčić (2018) the interview can be structured, unstructured and semi-structured. The structured interview is conducted in accordance with previously defined questions that were put to all candidates, and the answers are recorded and compared with the answers of other candidates. An unstructured or undirected interview is quite the opposite in approach. The candidate is asked general questions which, according to their content, determine the further course of the interview. This type of interview allows the candidate to present himself independently and without interruption, and can further reveal the candidate's character, behaviour and experience, therefore
obtaining a more complete picture of the candidate. The semi-structured interview is a combination of the first two models. The candidate is asked pre-determined questions, but he is allowed to ask questions or sub-questions that are imposed during the interview.

In addition to interviews, candidate characteristics are tested by various tests, depending on the job for which they are required: abilities and skill tests, personality tests, knowledge tests, physical ability tests, verbal, numerical and abstract reasoning tests, intelligence tests, honesty and integrity tests, and many others.

Employing the abilities and skill tests are put for the assessment of the candidate's existing skills and ability to perform the whole job or certain aspects of the job, as well as the possibility of developing and acquiring new techniques. They are shaped following the skills that are sought and assessed, such as dexterity, strength, or endurance where each test is shaped differently. The personality test measures the basic characteristics of the candidate's personality required for the job, and the degree of compliance of the person with a particular job is determined.

Respondents rate their agreement with the above statements, which identify personal traits such as extroverted ness, conscientiousness, creativity, openness to new experiences, optimism, comfort, stress tolerance, emotional stability and proactivity. Understanding the personality of the employee is especially important if the job on the line requires certain characteristics, but the personality does not ensure the final effect of the job. Knowledge tests are designed to examine technical and professional knowledge and also the specific knowledge of the job for which the candidate applies.

Physical fitness tests use exercises that require a certain level of fitness needed for the job. Strength, speed, endurance and balance can be measured. The test of honesty and integrity is a subtype of the personality test by which are measured honesty, reliability, credibility, and prosocial behaviour. They consist of direct questions about previous experiences to eliminate inappropriate, dishonest and antisocial candidates.

Intelligence tests or cognitive ability tests provide information about the candidate's mental abilities, such as the ability to learn and think quickly, pursue logic and logical reasoning, show analytical skills, reading comprehension and the like. The advantage of these tests is in predicting performance in the workplace and candidates cannot influence the accuracy of the results.

4. ENCOURAGING TO BUSINESS SUCCESS AND MOTIVATION

Successful managers possess ingrained qualities such as organization and perseverance that during further, education, training and work on themselves, do develop and improve. Their job is to direct others to do the job, and they must have the ability to work with different people and also the need to achieve results, success, and experience when working in a variety of positions.

Research has shown that managers have in common: achievement and ambition, the ability to learn from hardships situations, high commitment to work and work energy, inventiveness, skills when working with people, a high level of intelligence, a high level of self-confidence, and also a high level of tolerance for others and interest in economic profits, and from the position of the working values they are: emphasis on the possibility of advancement, strong identification with the organization, interest in salary and status and recognition (Adamović Topolčić, 1999).

Optimal employee performance depends on the company policy and is called compensation. Compensation implies the fee that employees receive for their work: the basic salary as a basis and the incentive part of the salary as a motivation for optimal work performance (bonuses and incentives, innovation fees, knowledge dissemination fees, and flexibility).

Additional employee benefits may include paid sick leave, vacation, Christmas bonuses, gifts for children, holiday regressions, excursions, insurance policies, health check-ups, wellness programs, sharing profit, and others. Material incentives are not the only way to encourage employees and to pursue the achievement of business success. Motivational factors can be intangible, of which we can list the following: job security, good interpersonal relationships, education and training opportunities, creative work, awards, recognitions, reputation, scholarships and tuition fees, study trips, specializations, using of a company car, managerial benefits, etc.

The quality of human resources can be maintained and developed by introducing special benefits that employees value. This can be flexible or part-time work, the possibility of working from home and other locations, the possibility of unpaid leave, or unlimited vacation.

The essence and importance of motivation stem from the following:

- improving productivity, efficiency and creativity of work,
- improving the quality of working life in organizations,
- strengthening the competitiveness and success of the company (Bahtijarević-Šiber, 1999).

Motivation is manifested as any influence that provokes, directs, and sustains the target human behaviour. It is achieved by involving the whole chain of reactions - from the feeling of needs that cause desires to be fulfilled, and otherwise, some tensions cause (re)actions that lead to satisfaction as a final result of this process (Buble, 2006).

Motivation has an extremely large effect on employee work performance. Such a motivated employee can easily become demotivated (in case the superior does not notice and does not react to the achievement of the performance that is above the standard) and vice versa.

5. FINDINGS – TOWARD CONSIDERATION OF RECRUITING EMPLOYEES

The respondent, who was interviewed by telephone gives a clear description of the stages of getting the desired job and then lists all the stages that need to be passed when recruiting, by the desired employer. This is an example of an employer from the IT sector.

- 1. Representing a person by creating a good profile on a social network. This includes the use of keywords and terms that are relevant to the business. The profile should be representative and politely arranged. The candidate profile is actually a CV that should contain all of the previous business experiences.
- 2. Employers contact a person's profile if the person suits them. In case the candidate's profile is interesting to the employer, the interview process begins as in any other company when the interview takes place in person ("live"). Recruiting employees goes through several stages.
 - a. First phase Interview with a person from the Human Resources Department.
 - b. Second phase The level of communicativeness of the person who is important for the job is checked.
 - c. Third phase The next phase is an interview with an expert from the department looking for an employee (e.g., IT department, an interview with a person working in

the IT sector). Often this person is a future colleague, head of the department, etc. Here the level of professional knowledge is checked in detail and it can be immediately seen whether the person has the necessary knowledge or not.

- d. Fourth phase Another interview is conducted, chiefly with the general manager of the department. The conversation is similar to the one held in the previous phase.
- e. Fifth phase Another round of interviews is held, mainly with the human resources manager who was the initiator of the selection at the beginning of the employee recruiting. Salary and working conditions are discussed here. In case the candidate did not satisfy in one of the previous stages, here can also be explained why the person did not get the desired job and why they did not decide to assign him or her a job.
- f. Sixth phase In case the candidate has passed all of the previous stages of recruitment, an agreement is concluded between the human resources manager and the candidate when he can start with the work.
- g. Seventh phase The candidate becomes an employee of the company and the employment relationship begins, so as the process of socialization in a new work environment.

The previously cited phases may vary from company to company, but in most cases, the recruitment is carried out as it was shown above. The number of phases depends on the size of the company, the pyramid structure itself, and the level of management. An important factor is the matter of urgency of the search for the employees (when some phases are skipped).

In the case where a person applies for a job individually, the stages of recruitment are almost identical, except that in this case, the person contacts the first potential employers through social networks.

6. CONCLUSION

Today, most companies adapt their business to the changes that have occurred in their environment, and also when it comes to finding new employees. Companies recruit employees through social media or websites, after studying the profile of a particular person they think (he or she) might have all the qualifications and skills that are required for a particular job. The described process of recruiting employees by contacting through social networks/websites indicates the importance of a good presentation of the job seeker (good Web profile) that will further rise the interest of the future employer for a particular candidate, and thus allow him to introduce himself. The traditional way of acquiring employees has not disappeared, but it is quite certain that today the influence of social networks has become extremely large because it is easier to find the desired employees. This article can offer a good guide for both employers and employees, and a good foundation for future research on the pros and cons of social media recruitment.

References

- Adamović Topolčić, M. (1999). *Human Resources Management Reviews (Menadžment ljudskih potencijala osvrti i recenzije)*, Retrieved January 24, 2022 from hrcak.srce.hr: https://hr-cak.srce.hr
- Bahtijarević-Šiber, F. (1999). *Human Resource Management (Menadžment ljudskih potencija-la)*, Zagreb: Golden Marketing.
- Buble, M. (2006). Management (Menadžment), Split: Faculty of Economics, University of Split.

- Central Bureau of Statistics (Državni zavod za statistiku). (December 4, 2019). Retrieved January 24, 2022 from https://www.dzs.hr
- Grbavac, J., & Grbavac, V. (2014). The emergence of social networks as a global communication phenomenon, (Pojava društvenih mreža kao globalnog komunikacijskog fenomena), 4 (15).
- Kathiravan, M., Madhurani, M., Kalyan, S., Ray, R., & Jayan, S. (2021). *Sciencedirect*. Retrieved January 24, 2022 from https://www.sciencedirect.com
- Perrin, A., & Duggan, M. (2015). *Americans Internet Access: 2000-2015*. Retrieved January 20, 2022 from http://www.pewresearch.org/wp-content
- Ruleman, A. (2012). Social media at the university: a demographic comparison. USA. Retrieved January 24, 2022 from http://www.stepstone.com
- Rupčić, N. (2018). Contemporary management. Theory and practice, (Suvremeni menadžement. Teorija i praksa), Rijeka: Faculty of Economics, University of Rijeka.
- Voicu, M.-C. (2014). Social and Behavioral Sciences. Proceedings, pp. 34-42.
- Votto, M., Valecha, R., Najafirad, P., & Rao, R. (January 2021). Artificial Intelligence in Tactical Human Resources Management: A Systematic Literature Review. *International Journal of Information Management Data Insights*, pp. 1-15.
- *Encyclopedia Titanica*. (2022). Retrieved January 22, 2022 from Technology and Innovation: https://en.encyclopedia-titanica.com
- Moj posao. (November 26, 2021). Retrieved January 24, 2022 from https://www.moj-posao.net
- *posao.hr.* (1. 12 2020). Retrieved January 24, 2022 from the List of employment agencies in Croatia, (Popis agencija za zapošljavanje u Hrvatskoj): https://www.posao.hr
- *About LinkedIn.* (November 25, 2021). Retrieved January 25, 2022 from https://about.linkedin. com
- Murgić Novak, P. (2021). *Miracle (Mirakul)*, Retrieved February 24, 2022 from mirakul.hr: https://www.mirakul.hr/blog/zapošljavanje-putem-društvenih-mreza



Effect of the 4th Industrial Revolution on Employability – Case of Albania

Milena Shehu¹ D Areti Stringa²

Received: November 5, 2022 Revised: February 6, 2023 Accepted: February 9, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: 4th Industrial Revolution; Employability; Skills gap

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The labor markets are undergoing significant changes as a result of the fourth industrial revolution's implementation in every sphere of the economy. One easy image may come to mind when you hear the term "digital economy": a robot employee, designed to perform specified tasks automatically. In any case, digitalizing employability entails more than just applying Al codes; it also entails raising performance standards, emphasizing soft skills among workers, eliminating low - and middle-level roles, and increasing demand for highly qualified workers.

Albania has made significant strides toward economic digitalization. Numerous businesses, especially large ones, are spending money to advance the technologies they work with. Technological developments at the macroeconomic and sectoral levels are fundamentally changing the work market and employability in our country, having a significant impact on both employers and employability

1. INTRODUCTION

ur manner of living and working has undergone a major change as a result of the technological revolution. The reaction to transformation is integrated and comprehensive, including all participants in the global policy, from the public and corporate sectors to academia and civil society, and is unlike anything humankind has ever encountered before. Since the middle of the 20th century, the Fourth Industrial Revolution has been occurring, and it is defined by a fusion of technologies that is obfuscating the distinctions between the physical and digital environments (Schwab, 2016). The Fourth Industrial Revolution is developing exponentially rather than linearly when compared to earlier ones. Additionally, technology is upending virtually every sector of the global labor market. With enormous processing, storage, and knowledge access capabilities brought forth by billions of people being connected via mobile devices, the possibilities are virtually limitless. Emerging technological advances in areas like artificial intelligence, robots, the Internet of Things, automated vehicles, quantum computing, etc. will extend these possibilities. Artificial intelligence has recently made impressive advancements. Artificial intelligence is already all around us in self-driving cars, drones, virtual assistants, and the matching of criteria that form the basis of investment or translation software. The labor markets in both developed and developing countries are undergoing profound change as a result of the fourth industrial revolution, which has caused an increase in the number of employees required in some economic sectors and/or a decrease in the number of employees in many traditional economic sectors. Digital technologies have made it possible to create more products and services with fewer employees, exposing employers to the risk of chronic unemployment. Digital technology' labor-saving effects quickly affect employment, but new job opportunities develop slowly. New labor markets are developed, assets are transferred between industries, business know-how is

¹ Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Rruga Arben Broci 1 1001, Tirana, Albania

² Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Rruga Arben Broci 1 1001, Tirana, Albania



accumulated, and businesses are obliged to employ employees with new skills, particularly after COVID-19. While all of this takes time, companies were compelled to make quick adjustments during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Are all of these transformations brought about by the fourth industrial revolution beneficial to the labor market? To accelerate the creation of new job roles in the digital economy, investments in data and digital infrastructure are crucial. The adoption of cutting-edge digital technologies by businesses may also increase. For instance, the increased use of digital information in companies demands employees with high levels of planning, time management, critical thinking, leadership, and teamwork skills. However, the majority of job seekers do not seem to have these digital world abilities. Furthermore, it has been seen that people with the skills advance more quickly, which could lead to greater inequalities among a country's population. Additionally, experts argue that the rise of digital technology has increased the demand for hard and soft skills at all levels and decreased the necessity for conventional talents. Innovation, productivity, and employment development can all be sustained through encouraging investment in ICTs and related reforms. New markets will continue to expand with the help of policies that encourage market competition, foster entrepreneurship, assist the development of new products and services made possible by ICT, and advance professional and soft skills and competences. Helping people adjust to new occupations will minimize social costs and facilitate the adjustment. In the digital economy, it's more important than ever to have active labor market policies, income support, lifelong learning, and responsive educational systems (World Economic Forum Annual Report, 2021-2022).

2. EFFECTS OF THE 4TH INDUSTRIAL REVOLUTION ON ALBANIA'S EMPLOYABILITY

Employers in Albania were somehow compelled to experience the effects of the fourth industrial revolution during the epidemic. ICT is currently one of Albania's primary economic drivers (Science, technology, R&D and innovation in Albania, 2020). In Albania, businesses using computers for work purposes made up 99.0% of businesses with 10 or more employees in 2022, up from 98.5% in 2021 (INSTAT, 2022).

It has been noted that ICT and digitization processes aid in the modernization of the following processes:

Economic processes, through the establishment of start-ups, the growth of creative job activities, and an increase in productivity in the majority of Albania's economic sectors;

Social processes that support and facilitate social innovation by enhancing the services offered to the community and generating the common good;

Administrative and institutional operations are greatly simplified by e-government services, digital identity, enabling interagency interoperability, offering additional services online, and participation in decision-making by both citizens and companies (AKSHI, 2022).

New job vacancies brought on by digitization may reduce the unemployment rate, but they also seek highly skilled employers, including both professional backgrounds and soft skills. Even though growth in other economic sectors in Albania remained essentially stagnant, jobs were mostly produced in the ICT sector. Rising activity and employment rates, which are the highest in the region at over 70% and 60%, respectively, also reflect these improvements (Western Balkan Labor Market Trends, 2020). Large skill gaps brought about by the fourth industrial revolution have negatively impacted company growth and job creation in Albanian companies, particularly for positions needing "new economy" and "non-routine" skills. Employers in companies that are innovative and connected to international markets use more "new economy" soft skills than employers in the local Small and Medium Enterprises operating in Albania. It is believed that these kinds of employers are more likely to use advanced computer skills and are more likely to be skilled in personal and organizing, and planning competences. On the other side, these companies face greater challenges in finding and recruiting workers with the necessary skills, whether for "routine" or "non-routine" jobs.



% of hiring firms that faced skills problems among employees



Finally, the Fourth Industrial Revolution will alter both what we as job seekers do and who we are. Our feeling of privacy, ideas of ownership, how much time we spend working, how we establish relationships, and how we develop careers all of these things will be impacted. The possibilities are unlimited because they are only limited by our imagination.

Albanian children and young people must have the professional and soft skills they need to succeed in life and at work. While necessary but not sufficient for success in life, foundational skills, also known as deep learning skills, are those that lay the groundwork for future skill enhancements. These skills include communication (speaking, reading, and writing), numeracy, problem-solving, collaboration, interpersonal skills, and information access and processing.

Soft skills development is a lifelong process that starts in prenatal and is supported by appropriate stimulation, instruction, and training. Early skill-development interventions offer significant benefits because they help shape the brain in ways that will make learning and adapting in the future more successful. Professional skills are required to carry out particular tasks. As a result, they must be taught in upper secondary and postsecondary programs, and training should have to take place in close cooperation with companies. It is more likely that students will find a job and be able to adapt to the fourth and forthcoming industrial revolutions if they are better equipped in terms of both soft and professional skills.

Higher-order cognitive and socioemotional skills that will ensure employers' adaptability and upskilling/reskilling of skills throughout their employability are also developed through VET and higher education.

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

3. CONCLUSION

Technology is not an exogenous force that humans do not influence, and neither is the disruption it brings. In our daily choices as citizens, customers, and investors, we are all accountable for directing its progress. To shape the Fourth Industrial Revolution and steer it toward a future that represents our shared goals and values, we should use the chance and leverage we have.

It all comes down to people and values in the end. We need to prioritize and empower people in order to create a future that benefits us all. The Fourth Industrial Revolution may indeed have the ability to "robotize" humans and rob us of our hearts and soul in its gloomiest, dehumanized form. Nevertheless, it can also elevate humanity into a new collective and moral awareness based on a shared sense of destiny, as a complement to the best aspects of human nature— creativity, and empathy.

References

- INSTAT. (2021). 'Usage of Information and Communication Technologies in Enterprises', http://instat.gov.al/en/themes/science- technology-and-inovation/information-and- communication- technologies/publication/2021/ usage-of- information-and-communication-technologies-in-enterprises-2021/
- Schwab, K. (2016). 'The Fourth Industrial Revolution', World Economic Forum.
- Science, technology, R&D and innovation in Albania (September 2020). Weekly Briefing, Vol. 32, No. 2 (Al),
- VENDIM. (Nr. 370, 1.6.2022). Për miratimin e strategjisë ndërsektoriale "Agjenda digjitale e Shqipërisë" dhe të planit të veprimit 2022–2026. https://akshi.gov.al/wp-content/up-loads/2022/06/vendim-2022-06-01-370-Agjenda-Digjitale-e-Shqiperise-22-26-dhe-plani-i-veprimit.pdf
- Western Balkan Labor Market Trends. (2020). https://wiiw.ac.at/western-balkans-labor-market-trends-2020-dlp-5300.pdf
- World Economic Forum Annual Report. (2021-2022). https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_ Annual_Report_2021_22.pdf

Human Resources Management in Quality 4.0 Maturity Assessment

Anastasia Vlastaridou¹ Evdokia Nikou² Ioulia Kouroupaki³ Michail Glykas⁴

Keywords: Human resource management (HRM); Quality 4.0;

Maturity assessment

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: December 14, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Abstract: The paper analyzes critical success factors and enablers for the maturity assessment of Quality 4.0 implementations. The emphasis is on how digital transformation technologies have impacted human resource processes and how technology and quality are related. This study presents a literature review on Quality 4.0 and provides an overview of the key issues and future perspectives for quality management in the digital era. The research results contribute to the digitalization and quality literature and a holistic approach that should be composed of CSFs and Enablers. No previous studies have been identified that provide a holistic analysis.

1. INTRODUCTION

Technology has been used to create significant changes in society. The term digital era refers to the period when the changes were most significant. The recent discourses have focused on digital transformation which is defined as the changes associated with the use of technology in various aspects of human society (Veldhoven & Vanthienen, 2021). Due to the increasing use of digital tools, the human resource management (HRM) function is affected by its effects on the organization's core values. One of the advantages of digitalization is the ability to gather and analyze vast amounts of data. This process enhances the knowledge acquired in the organization and increases the analytical capabilities of the collected data, by using algorithms and an increase in information flows.

Due to the rapid emergence of DT in the workplace, HRM has become more diverse, and people-oriented. The various changes that are happening in the industry are some of the challenges that the profession faces. The rise of digital employees has required HR professionals to make operational and strategic changes in order to influence their behavior and attitudes (Fregnan et al., 2020).

The need for a relationship between technology and quality has become clear as we recognize the importance of quality in today's environment. Quality Management is a process utilized for optimizing the operations of organizations. This discipline can help improve the productivity

⁴ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece





¹ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

² Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

³ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

and competitiveness of businesses in times of societal change. The goal is to help companies develop their capabilities in order to capitalize on the opportunities presented by Industry 4.0 (I4.0). This includes developing their innovation management capabilities and improving their skills in this field. Models for the Quality Management System (QMS) could play a role in supporting the development of skills and competencies in I4.0. As a result, there is a term of Quality 4.0 (Q4.0) signifying an integral part and extended concept of I4.0. The core culture and managerial approaches of quality managers are considered as factors that drive the success of the Q4.0 concept. This argues that adopting a quality management system could help improve the profitability of the organization. Quality 4.0 is a shift that addresses the challenges of working with production systems that are constantly monitored and assessed in real-time.

While Quality 4.0 is mainly focused on the technical aspects of improving efficiency and effectiveness, it has a social side. This concept tackles issues such as the need for people to develop new skills and attitudes, as well as the establishment of a supportive culture. One of the key factors that the Q4.0 transition needs to be considered is the development of skills in leadership. The new era of quality management requires a leader who combines the principles of quality with the demands of I4.0. This leader should have the necessary resources and the mindset to implement Q4.0 effectively.

The transition to Q4.0 requires continuous learning and innovation. A quality-based knowledge is also necessary to support the development of effective and efficient processes and procedures, setting benchmarks for sharing digitalization-related practices. The goal of an agile approach is to enable cross-functional collaboration and the sharing of knowledge. This method facilitates the continuous improvement of processes and the dissemination of ideas and experiences, which leads to positive results.

2. HUMAN RESOURCES PRACTICES

Human Resources Management (HRM) refers to a set of practices that organizations use to ensure that their workforce is well-equipped to meet their operational needs. HRM Practices are focused on the combination of administrative personnel functions with performance, employee relations and resource planning. They help organizations maximize their return on investment and minimize financial risk. HRM practices can affect various aspects of an organization's performance such as turnover, stress, and burnout, etc., which in turn influences organization performance indicators like reputation, sales per employee, sales growth, return on investments, etc. (Alam & Mukherjee, 2014).

A particular definition of HRM is the one defined HRM as those decisions and actions which concern the management of employees at all levels in the business and which are related to the implementation of strategies directed towards creating and sustaining competitive advantage (Syed & Bayeroju, 2019). HRM practices can improve and sustain an organization's performance. These practices are based on employee selection that fits with the company's culture, behavior, attitude, and necessary technical skills required by the job, compensation contingent on performance, and employee empowerment to foster teamwork. Seven HRM practices that improve organizational performance are employment security, selective hiring of new personnel, self-managed teams and decentralization of decision-making as the basic principles of organizational design, comparatively high compensation contingent on organizational performance, extensive training, reduced status distinctions and barriers, including dress, language, office arrangements, and wage differences across levels, extensive sharing of financial and performance information throughout the organization (Pratibha et al., 2021).

Due to digitalization, the competition between workers has changed into competition between people and machines. Employees' careers depend on their skills in digital technologies, regardless of their qualifications. People take responsibility for their qualifications and skills and may be more or less willing to learn new technologies in any environment they want and to be open to change.

Technological, cognitive, social, and emotional are skills that are in great demand. Companies need to offer continuous learning and training to their employees to acquire these skills. Education and continuous training must be based on the learning culture and HRM practices of organizations to be effective. Among the human resources practices that favor the success of training is the reward and promotion system of organizations that values continuous learning at the individual level and compensates employees accordingly for recently acquired skills. Creating a climate of continuous learning requires organizations to adopt characteristics such as openness, innovation, discipline, interactive collaboration and constructive confrontation (Zaitouni et al., 2020).

3. SOCIAL NETWORKS, HRM PRACTICES AND E-HRM IN THE TECHNOLOGY ERA

The rise of social media has completely changed the way people connect. Social networks are tools that allow people to connect and share interests and activities, by developing online communities. Social networking tools allow organizations to create and maintain their own social networks without the need for extensive training or expertise. From an organizational point of view, by adopting social networking technologies companies could communicate with stakeholders inside and outside the organizational boundaries: they could be effective in creating and directing their culture, in managing change, in stimulating collaboration, in increasing motivation, in empowering expertise and in sharing and building knowledge (Manuti & de Palma, 2018). The term collaboration is an evolving process whereby two or more social entities actively and reciprocally engage in joint activities aimed at achieving at least one shared goal (Bedwell et al., 2012). The explosion of social media has highlighted the importance of collaboration in organizations. It has also called for a redefinition of what constitutes collaboration. The emergence and evolution of technologies within an organization's context have contributed to the creation of the so-called Enterprise 2.0, featured by an extended use of technology mainly addressed to four main working processes: communication, collaboration, cooperation, and connection (Manuti & de Palma, 2018). People use various platforms to communicate with each other. These platforms allow people to interact with each other in various ways. They help people at work with their needs related to operation and sociality. These platforms allow people to communicate with others in various ways, such as text, image, voice, video, or a combination of these.

E-HRM (Electronic Human Resource Management) is the use of online technologies for HRM services and practices within an organization. It is the first field of HRM to make use of webbased technology and it embraces e-recruitment and e-learning.

From this base e-HRM has expanded to embrace the virtual delivery of all HR policies and strategies. E-HRM is a tool that allows HR professionals to perform various HR activities such as planning and conducting appraisals, training, and analyzing employee development programs, training, and evaluation labor costs. Employees can use e-HRM to plan their own development, apply for promotion, transfer, and career development plans and access a range of information on HR policy and strategy. This system is essentially the devolution of HR functions to management and employees. They access these functions typically through web technology channels. E-HRM involves the configuration of human resources, and it is a way of implementing human resource management in an organization. This implementation can be done through the application of strategies, policies, and practices. Improvement in the HR strategic orientation, improvement in client focusses and satisfaction and decrease in costs or increase in efficiency can be achieved by following a specific e-HRM direction. Companies are aware of the fact that human resources have changed from a cost factor to a success factor. E-HRM is an automated and web-based tool that supports various HR processes. The three main tiers of e-HRM are *operational, relational, and transformational*. Operational e-HRM is concerned with administrative functions payroll and employee personal data. Relational e-HRM is concerned with supporting business processes by means of training, recruitment, performance management and so forth. Transformational e-HRM is concerned with strategic HR activities such as knowledge management, strategic re-orientation. An organization may choose to pursue e-HRM policies from any number of these tiers to achieve their HR goals (Prakash & Mores, 2019).

Hiring is the process by which employers look for candidates to fill jobs in their business. The beginning of the process is the search for recruits, and the end is the submission of applications. Through an online application, managers have more efficient and effective ways of recruiting. Electronic recruitment is the implementation of this process through network technology. The websites used to fill the posts are resume databases, marketing, search engines, or social networking platforms.

Companies hire employees through many websites. E-recruitment channels are corporate websites, online recruiting platforms such as CV online, professional social media platforms such as linkedin.com and xing.com and social media platforms such as facebook.com and twitter.com. The services allow users to communicate with peers by voice using a microphone, video by using a webcam, video conferencing and instant messaging over the Internet. Skype is a computer program that can be used to make free voice calls over the Internet to anyone who is also using Skype. It is more useful for selecting the right candidate. E-recruitment offers wider access and geographical spread, a larger audience, better chances of finding the right candidate, time and cost savings, better matching of staff with vacancies, efficiency, easy access to job seekers, reduction of unqualified candidates and more opportunities for smaller companies. Apart from these advantages, it also has several disadvantages such as checking the validity of CV skills, low Internet penetration and lack of knowledge in many locations worldwide and the non-exclusive dependence of organizations on e-recruitment methods (Ltd, 2019).

Through online recruitment job, search costs are much lower, there are more opportunities for candidates to show their skills, there is no factor of geographical location, vacancies can be filled in less time, because through social media networking answers are faster, young people have more job opportunities and positions can be viewed by more candidates.

E-learning technology is the utilization of web technology to deliver learning. E-learning as an idea covers a scope of uses, learning techniques and procedures. E-learning allows the learners to watch different activities and listen to lessons repeatedly as required (Ghosh et al., 2021).

E-learning technology is in great demand worldwide. Organizations prefer e-learning because it reduces employee stress and increases collaboration and satisfaction. The growing preference

for e-learning is attributed to the motivation of the individual to interact with others, to exchange views, to receive feedback, to share knowledge, to improve communication and to facilitate the relationship that maintains learning agility.

E-learning technology can help employees maximize their performance by giving them the knowledge they need at the right time. E-learning (distance mode) technologies enable organizations to support the complete Human Value Cycle (HVC): recruit, assess, train, test, certify, and retain (Prakash & Mores, 2019). E-learning is successful when the focus on everyone working is ensured. By combining the right tools and methods of collaboration, knowledge and e-learning, employees can easily achieve higher performance. E-learning tools help identify and address a skills gap in one part of the solution while helping collaborate on one outcome that can improve the performance of the workforce.

4. THE NEED FOR NEW COMPETENCIES AND SKILLS

Companies, employees, and managers are not only confronted with completely new issues in their work and organizational processes as a result of digital transformation. To keep up with and adapt to these rapid changes, new skills and abilities are required, such as capturing and filtering information. Whereas it used to be easy to cover one's entire working life with information gained through apprenticeships or studies, this is no longer the case. The half-life of expert knowledge has drastically diminished, and the task of lifelong learning has taken on a whole new meaning. No longer is it simply needed to learn to move ahead, but it is also needed to learn to stay up with the constant changes.

Expert knowledge must be continuously expanded and partially aligned in the workplace multiple times, to the point where there will be completely distinct job profiles every 10 years in the future. Recognizing, evaluating, and using relevant data is becoming increasingly critical. As a result, Markgraf's research has identified a number of new skills that will become increasingly important in the context of the fourth industrial revolution (Brauweiler et al., 2020). The respondents were asked to rate how essential things will be short, from their perspective. The significance was graded on a scale of 1 to 7, with 7 indicating the highest level of significance. In total, more than 500 people took part in the assessment of future competency requirements.

Participants were able to make their own additions to the given competencies in addition to rating them. This option was frequently used, but there was no clear idea of what additional skills would be necessary. The data included a wide range of themes related to teamwork and communication in many cases. Only self-organization and ethical action or ethical moral responsibility can be identified as extra points.

Overall, it is clear that abilities connected to new problems, new situations, and communication and interaction are becoming increasingly important. The participants anticipate a constant metamorphosis and the opportunity to continuously train themselves.

Organizations in practically all industry categories are implementing different programs to study and utilize the benefits of emerging digital technologies, such as social networks, mobile, big data, and so on. Companies must adopt management strategies to oversee these complex transitions, which usually entail transformations of critical company operations and impacts products and processes, as well as organizational structures. As a result of the maturing of digital technologies and their widespread penetration across all marketplaces, society as a whole is undergoing rapid and drastic transformation.

Digital technologies help companies reduce costs, improve work efficiency and productivity, improve customer satisfaction, and optimize the company's supply chain. These digital technologies have been defined as Artificial Intelligence (AI), Big Data, Cloud Computing, the Internet of Things (IoT), Virtual and Augmented Reality (VR/AR), and cyber-physical systems, social media, analytics, mobile devices, or built-in devices. Features of digital technology are reprogramming, homogenization of data and self-referential character of digital technology.

A digital artefact is a digital component, multimedia content, or application that composes a portion of a new product or service and provides value or specific functionality to the end user. Examples may be different applications running smartwatches (Sukreep et al., 2019), Amazon Dash Button (Sharma, 2021), Google Pay (Poongodi et al., 2021), and Face ID. Digital objects work either as standalone software or as a hardware component in a physical gadget or as part of a wider ecosystem running on a digital platform. A digital artefact makes natural products or services support innovation. For example, companies use social networking sites to create and grow social capital and find new business opportunities (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

Digital platform corresponds to the common sets of services and architectures used to promote product and service offerings. Examples are the Google Chrome browser which allows you to work with the Google search engine and Apple's iOS platform which allows you to run different applications on your smartphone. Digital platforms have facilitated the transformation of the industry while creating new bases of innovation and positions.

Digital infrastructure or tools are the set of digital technology systems and tools that contribute to collaboration and communication. These tools support business and innovation. Examples of digital infrastructure include Microsoft Azure, the Google Cloud Platform, or Stanford FabLearn and MIT Fab Central Labs used for digital prototypes and mock-ups.

Successful Digital Transformation necessitates the development of a diverse set of talents, the relevance of which will vary based on the business context and the specific demands of the organization. In order to be competitive, digital technology must become integral to how businesses run, and businesses must rethink and possibly re-invent their business models.

Because of their pervasiveness and economic effect, digital technologies spread quickly. They're referred to as general-purpose technology (GPTs) (Casalet & Stezano, 2020). The phrase GPTs has been thrown around a lot in recent discussions of the role of technology in economic growth, and it usually refers to changes that affect both domestic life and corporate practices. For this reason, steam, electricity, internal combustion, and information technology (IT) are frequently characterized as GPTs. This transformation comes in the shape of a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to increase welfare and solve major social challenges ranging from health care to education, or environmental protection. GPTs have four main characteristics: pervasiveness, which means they can be used in a wide range of industries; improvement, which means they should improve over time and thus improve quality; cost-cutting, which means they should continue to reduce costs for their users; and innovation spawning, which means they should make it easier to invent and produce new products or processes.

Interinstitutional and collaborative ties were increasingly important as Industry 4.0 took shape, helping to solve the digital ecosystem's execution and implementation issues. As social networks grew in size, decision-making became more important, opening up new avenues for thinking about highly specialized environments in collaborative settings.

5. DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY TRENDS

Value networks are reshaped by developing the digitalization of products and services. Organizations must monitor technological changes to make improvements to the transformation and business. These improvements can give organizations a competitive advantage. Digitalization of products and services requires the application of new digital solutions.

Many companies monitor the trends in digitalization and its influence in the services and production sectors. The term digitalization is sometimes associated with industry 4.0. Industry 4.0 is defined as the integrated digitalization and connection of production processes, starting from the customer's order, through the creation of production processes, up to the next stage of products (Wilkesmann & Wilkesmann, 2018). In course of the digitalization concept, it is important to apply to common technology trends in Industry 4.0. As shown in figure 1, PricewaterhouseCoopers has identified the following core digital technologies for the production: Mobile devices, IoT platforms, Location detection technologies, Advanced human-machine interfaces, Authentication & fraud detection, 3D printing, Smart sensors, Big data analytics and advanced algorithms, Multilevel customer interaction and customer profiling, Augmented reality/wearables, and Cloud computing (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).



Figure 1. Key contributing digital technologies Source: Stepantseva and Breitenecker, 2020.

Several trends in digital technology are important changes for society and business. With *an-alytics* organizations extract information about markets, customers, operations, and anything else related to their operations through big data. Since the amount of data is constantly increasing, companies use supporting infrastructures such as algorithms and analytics engines. The *cloud* is a tool that can differentiate a business from its competitors. It is used to expand the data center and shift the workload, while allowing access to artificial technology, digital reality, blockchain, quantum computing and for other more. The term *digital reality* refers to the way

people interact with technologies and data. These are virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR), mixed reality (MR), the Internet of Things (IoT) and spatial technologies. Large companies implement *blockchain* solutions to manage different databases. It is expected that business process reengineering will enable companies to realize massive transformation across various functions and locations. *Cognitive technologies* make decisions and activate business opportunities, for people. Some examples are Robotic process automation (RPA), neural networks, bots, machine learning (ML), natural language processing (NLP), and the broader domain of artificial intelligence (AI) (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

Companies need to deal with strategic digital trends. *Automation* tools such as robots, autonomous vehicles, and drones, use artificial intelligence and perform automated functions that used to be done by humans. *Augmented Analytics* are a key feature of modern analytics, data preparation and management, data process mining, data science platforms and business process management. To create more artificial location solutions, developers can work independently using *AI-Driven Development*, and advanced models delivered as a service. A *digital twin* is a digital representation of a system. Companies carry out digital representations in order to improve their ability to collect and display data and to apply the right analytics. *Empowered Edge and IoT* are endpoint devices. Edge computing outlines a computing topology where information processing, content collection and delivery, are located closer to these endpoints. *Digital reality* includes virtual (VR), augmented (AR) and mixed (MR) reality. It helps employees to understand digital world and be able to interact with it. Respectively offers a digital experience to customers. *Blockchain* ensures trust and reduces excessive interaction between business ecosystems. It reduces costs and time and increases cash flow (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is a tool that improves human well-being, increasing individual and social well-being and facilitating progress and innovation. It also contributes to achieving the goals of sustainable development by monitoring climate change, the proper utilization of natural resources, the improvement of human health and the business processes of companies.

Trust in artificial energy systems concerns the internal characteristics of technology and quality assurance of socio-technical systems that provide the use of artificial energy. Similarly, in systems related to food safety, aviation, and nuclear energy. The reliability of the system and the systemic approach must be applied to all parts and processes of the system, during its alllife cycle.

Reliability of AI applied throughout the life cycle of system should be legal, in line with human ethical values and principles, and technically and socially strong, in order not to damage the systems. These elements are necessary all together, but they are not enough alone to achieve reliability.

A reliable approach is a driver for providing responsible competitiveness by enabling the base for all players they can trust that their development, expansion, and application of AI systems are lawful, ethical, and robust. The requirements for reliable artificial intelligence are human agency and oversight, technical robustness and safety, privacy and data governance, transparency, diversity, non-discrimination and fairness, societal and environmental well-being and accountability (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

6. DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY IN PRACTICE

Connectivity and mobility are the key features of digital technology. These features are found in modern products and services and operate regardless of geographical location. The structure of the industry and the view of the company on its customers is changing due to technology. This means that to maintain their market position, organizations must interact with change.

Business transformation of companies is necessary to be part of their strategy. Organizations are now developing new digital divisions, shaping existing ones and hiring experts in digital transformation and technology. Companies that rely on digital technology, even if they are new to the market, are gaining a competitive edge. The reason is that they have not introduced changes at all or not changed promptly enough, or because these companies have not succeeded to adapt own business models to the competitive market conditions they meet from digital giants and major digital service providers, for example, as Amazon, Google, Facebook, Apple, Alibaba, Microsoft, Snap and eBay, Airbnb, Uber, Booking.com or Spotify. The music industry is one illustrative example of how rapidly change can occur. Ten years ago, Apple radically changed the industry by launching iTunes. But up to date, new streaming services (e.g., Spotify, the new Apple Music, and Deezer) are turning the successful iTunes model inefficient. Thus, Apple has moved from a pioneer in its industry to an imitator (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

Artificial life and machine learning are new digital technologies that have been developed. For example, voice-user interfaces such as Google Assistant, Amazon Alexa, Apple Siri, Microsoft Cortana and Yandex Alice (Golenkov et al., 2020). These virtual assistants are based on voice recognition software and intelligent interfaces that enable collaboration between humans and computers. They can help you find information and follow some instructions. Recently, Amazon patented a new Alexa feature that it could understand based on speech and emotion when a user is sick and offer medication. All this enhances the customer experience and creates added value for the company's customers.

Digital technology became an important tool for organizations and new forms of work have emerged. Nevertheless, companies continue to use and enforce the old procedures and laws. An example is Uber, a company that provides digital taxi services. The government was against the company because it applied technology to open up and enhance access to taxi services for both providers and customers (Stepantseva & Breitenecker, 2020).

New digital technologies require constant updating of employees' skills. Digital skills, the use of innovation and the ability to organize and make decisions are important for employees to be able to confront new technologies. Organizations that implement digital transformation are looking for candidates with critical thinking, entrepreneurship and problem-solving while providing opportunities for learning and adaptation to new transformational work environments. The necessary skill of an employee in a business is cooperation. Cooperation includes an ability to read and react to emotions, intentions and needs.

Digital technology has affected job search in the labor market. Platforms have been created that allow finding employees, while also finding a job. Such platforms are LinkedIn and Facebook. LinkedIn and Facebook have become important tools for companies, for facilitating the recruitment processes and attracting candidates. Young people have the opportunity to connect with

potential employers or start their own businesses. For recruiters, social networking platforms have become one of the key tools in finding potential employees (Marin & Nila, 2021).

Digital technology has also become an integral part of the banking system. Digital technologies have contributed too many changes in banking processes, in terms of management, production and delivery. Digital transformation has affected banks in new business models, operational efficiency, higher quality and faster service, personalization, transparency of operations and cybersecurity and largest investments. Digital technologies were incorporated in the business processes of the banks and new business banking models were created, resulting in the development of digital banking. Banks improve their efficiency by transforming business models and automating business processes. In this way they save their workforce in simple functions that are not necessary and direct it to tasks related to strategic tasks. Financial technology allows improving the accessibility and speed of operational services and reduces errors and deviations in the work process. Banks offer targeted content thanks to a better understanding of lifestyle, interests, stage needs and social affiliation preferences. Financial technology helps prevent the risks associated with financial technologies. Artificial selection allows the problem to be solved. The application of digital technologies in the business processes of banks requires time and investments in research and development. The digitalization process improves the customer experience by delivering better, faster, and more personalized banking services and products. Factors that create added value to customers for banking products and services are higher personalization, increased service speed, access to the service or product anytime and anywhere, better functionality and forecasting, a better understanding of customers' needs in advance, and offering relevant products and services early.

7. INDUSTRY 4.0 AND HRM 4.0: NEW SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Human Resources Management (HRM) activities are impacted by The Fourth Industrial Revolution (i.e., Industry 4.0) from three perspectives.

Firstly, Industry 4.0 puts Human Resources Management to the test by asking it to add value to the emerging smart organization, where work transcends organizational borders and successful human-machine collaboration can potentially deliver new benefits. Human Resources Management may play a new critical role as a change agent, assisting smart organizations in developing new workforce digital mindsets and competencies to communicate with machines, as well as colleagues and supervisors, in an open community setting (Imperatori & Bissola, 2018).

Second, workplace digital transformation necessitates a reform of existing HR policies, which must accommodate the evolving employee-organization relationship, in which employees can work from anywhere, have no set working hours, and collaborate with people both inside and outside the company. Hierarchical control loses its effectiveness in such circumstances, performance evaluation becomes more important, and all employees are expected to actively contribute ideas and decisions. In the same vein, smart technology allows e-HRM to expand and deliver new HRM solutions that usually provide more direct contact between workers, HR, and the organization. They also better correspond with people's routines and behaviors when it comes to connectivity, and they offer a more flexible work environment (Imperatori & Bissola, 2018).

In this context, HR systems must be compatible with the new manner of working and the new types of workers, and supervisory and worker behaviors must be aligned with the new digital

culture. Performance must be clearly defined and measured in terms of work results. Career paths must be organized consistently. Ways of interaction, as well as the time and space for collaborations, must be openly set, and organizational spaces (i.e., offices and plants) must be specifically redesigned for the new work processes, allowing workers to better manage their time and space.

Human Resources practices should also enable firms to manage a segmented and composite workforce. Diverse people practices are needed, among other things, for a diverse workforce that can balance the organization's and people's expectations sustainably and fairly. To effectively recruit, select, and engage external as well as internal stakeholders, as well as to best match the demand and supply of talents and competences across the product lifecycle, new and aligned management methods are required. Real-time employee data is becoming more common, which can provide useful insights and enable data-driven decision-making. The data necessitates firms' and HRM experts' digital and analytical capacities to be enhanced (Bissola & Imperatori, 2019).

Third and most importantly, the Human Resources department should be the organizational unit that is most committed to Industry 4.0's human-centered approach and supports its implementation in a socially sustainable manner (Schneider, 2018).

People are becoming more conscious of how their actions and lives affect others. The current economic crisis revealed some of the capitalism socio-economic system's contradictions, resulting in undesirable phenomena including unemployment, austerity, and social insecurity. Customers, communities, employees, governments, and shareholders are among the stakeholder groups putting pressure on businesses to be socially sustainable (Bissola & Imperatori, 2019). Organizations have reacted in a variety of ways to this pressure. *Society and business, social issues management, public policy and business, stakeholder management*, and *corporate accountability* are just a few of the phrases that have been used to characterize the phenomenon of corporate responsibility in society.

Sustainability, according to Wheeler, Colbert, and Freeman, is an ideal toward which society and business can continually strive; the way we strive is by creating value, by creating outcomes consistent with the ideal of sustainability along social, environmental, and economic dimensions (Bissola & Imperatori, 2019).

Human Resources Management 4.0 has the potential to play a pivotal role in the development and implementation of socially sustainable solutions. It can provide a stimulus for positive social change and the long-term adoption of new digital technologies and innovative organizational solutions, supporting the positive outcomes of Industry 4.0 while avoiding potential downsides.

Human Resources Management experts and academics must assist corporate executives and employees in adopting a 4.0 attitude, which entails using digital tools to manage, organize, lead, and work for positive social change. Human Resources Management 4.0 can help with work innovation, employee empowerment, competency development, and enabling them to actively address current labor concerns. Employees have been considered as passive performers of their assigned job activities for a long time. Several academics have recently emphasized that work design theory must take into account the effect of employees on their job design. Human Resources Management 4.0 could be the key to allowing employees to have more control over their job characteristics, resulting in increased work motivation and more sustainable social growth. In this new world, the concept of an unnecessary trade-off between *doing well* and *doing good* must become a crucial issue, and HRM experts and practitioners share a significant social duty (Bissola & Imperatori, 2019).

This is a new world for the HRM area, which may provide HR professionals with new employment options. Furthermore, it has the potential to change the impact that scholars have on people, businesses, and society at large by promoting the positive and, more importantly, long-term aspects of ongoing work transformation and allowing for a human-centered organization (figure 2).



Figure 2. Ecosystems for Human-centered Approach in Industry 4.0 Source: Bissola and Imperatori, 2019.

8. CONCLUSION

Quality 4.0 framework can be developed and defined in a variety of ways. It can be based on a variety of factors, including a move from products to services, value creation in markets, and the quality of business models, among others. Zairi (2017) proposes such a response to the quality profession's crisis. He proposes that the quality profession requires a new quality DNA by changing how quality is understood as a concept and the notion of customer satisfaction, by employing disruptive thinking to keep up with business evolutions, particularly the digital revolution, for the proactive pursuit of excellence and quality leadership, and by changing the meaning of strategy in the role of quality to reflect the need for agility and flexibility and to focus on a customer-centric approach (Zonnenshain & Kenett, 2020).

For the new quality revolution, which Zairi refers to as Quality Mark II, he proposes the following framework: The discovery as the propelling force; the value creation generator which includes: personalization, perfection, partnership, prediction and delivery; the business renewal rocket which includes: experience, engagement, experimentation, enlightenment, disruption and distinction (Zonnenshain & Kenett, 2020).

The Quality 4.0 system's goal is to help companies attain maturity in their Industry 4.0 capabilities. Real-time data management, interoperability, virtualization, decentralization, agility, service orientation, and integrated business processes are all Industry 4.0 design principles (Ranjith et al., 2021). These design concepts are relevant for developing the framework since they are organizational capabilities for both Industry 4.0 and Quality 4.0. In addition, achieving Sustainability is a vital competence for enterprises in the Industry 4.0 age. The core goal of Quality 4.0 strategy and implementation is to achieve maturity in these eight skills.

Aldag and Eker defined Quality 4.0 (or Q4.0) as the blending of traditional quality management practices and techniques with new technologies such as machine learning, cloud technologies, Big-Data, connectivity devices, Internet of Things, and Artificial Intelligence (Sader et al., 2021). Through the integration of various functions, such as supply chain and customer relationship management, the management of these activities were brought to a more collaborative environment. Jacob defined Quality 4.0 as the leverage of traditional quality management techniques which was gained by modern technologies in order to reach a new level of excellence at the functional and operational levels (Sader et al., 2021). He noted that adopting Q4.0 enabled manufacturers to improve their efficiency and effectiveness, which in turn boosted their market share and enhanced brand recognition.

In 2018, Allcock explained how Q4.0 refers to the shift from manual measurement to fully automated manufacturing. This process involves the use of sensors and software to automate the manufacturing process. Schnreiter defined Q4.0 as the process of integrating and managing data related to manufacturing activities and processes (Sader et al., 2021). Quality 4.0 required an analysis system that can monitor and control the entire value chain.

Quality 4.0 combines quality management with digitalization and technology, which provides a management and process dimension to the digital transformation technology driver (Fonseca et al., 2021). Industry 4.0 requires product and process quality, to support flexibility, productivity, planning and implementation of the new processes. Quality 4.0 can improve Industry 4.0's quality and results.

Quality management is related to the four elements of business analysis, namely the organizational structure, jobs, processes, and management systems, and the six business resources which are buildings, equipment, human resources, stocks, technologies, and capital. More specifically with quality management the organization can detect defects in products or processes, trackback its processes, identify the cause of the defect in the resources or analysis data and perform actions to correct the defects and ensure that they do not reappear. The four processes that describe quality management are *total quality management, quality methodologies, quality standards* and *excellence awards*. Total quality management focuses on human resources, and it is desirable to transfer to the employee level. Quality methodologies install the four quality elements, quality organizational structure, quality jobs, quality control procedures and quality management systems. The goal is continuous improvement with various methodologies, such as Six Sigma. There is a continuous improvement in the quality standards with the difference that it needs certification and renewal every year (e.g., ISO, IEEE, ANSI). According to excellence awards, there is a list of indicators that evaluate the organization in terms of quality management, which are divided into two categories, people enablers and people result (e.g., EFQM model).

The concept of digital transformation is often interconnected with the concept of I4.0 and Q4.0. This concept proposes that the goals of digital transformation are aligned with the goals of quality and that the use of digital tools and methods can achieve these goals. The main driver for I4.0 is a technology and Artificial Intelligence (AI) while Q4.0 focuses on a customer-centric approach. Quality 4.0 refers to the capacity of a product to meet the needs of its customers at any

stage of its life cycle. It can be seen as a way to improve the efficiency of the entire value chain. It can be used to measure and improve the quality of production through digital tools.

Quality 4.0 is often referred to as a major transformation that affects all levels of an organization. The new era of technologies can help people and businesses achieve their goals and needs. They should be used to improve processes and efficiency. The evolution of human capabilities and the fusion of various Quality Control disciplines enable organizations to achieve an agile Q4.0 transition. This can be achieved through the development of the TQM 4.0 environment consisting of the convergence of Industry 4.0, Total Quality Management (TQM), and Quality Control (QC) (Dias et al. 2021).

References

- Alam, A., & Mukherjee, U. (2014). HRM A Literature Survey. IOSR Journal of Business and Management, 16, 31–38.
- Bedwell, W. L., Wildman, J. L., DiazGranados, D., Salazar, M., Kramer, W. S., & Salas, E., (2012). Collaboration at work: An integrative multilevel conceptualization. *Human Resource Management Review*, 22 (2), 128–145.
- Bissola, R., & Imperatori, B. (2019). *HRM 4.0 For Human-Centered Organizations*. Emerald Group Publishing.
- Brauweiler, H.-C., Kurchenkov, V. V., Abilov, S. & Zirkler, B., eds. (2020). Digitalization and Industry 4.0: Economic and Societal Development: An International and Interdisciplinary Exchange of Views and Ideas [online]. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-658-27110-7 [Accessed 27 Apr 2022].
- Casalet, M., & Stezano, F. (2020). Risks and opportunities for the progress of digitalization in Mexico. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 29(7), 689–704.
- Dias, A., Carvalho, A. M,. & Sampaio, P. (2021). Quality 4.0: literature review analysis, definition and impacts of the digital transformation process on quality. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, ahead-of-print.
- Fonseca, L., Amaral, A., & Oliveira, J. (2021). Quality 4.0: The EFQM 2020 Model and Industry 4.0 Relationships and Implications. *Sustainability*, 13, 1.
- Ghosh, S., Muduli, A., & Pingle, S. (2021). Role of e-learning technology and culture on learning agility: An empirical evidence. *Human Systems Management*, 40 (2), 235–248.
- Imperatori, R., & Bissola, B. (2018). HRM 4.0: The Digital Transformation of the HR Department. *In: Human Resource Management and Digitalization*. Routledge.
- Ltd, I.-I. B., (2019). EDITORIAL. VADYBA, 34 (1), 5-6.
- Manuti, A., & de Palma, P. D. (2018). The Cognitive Technology Revolution: A New Role of HR Practices? *In*: Manuti, A. and de Palma, P. D., eds. *Digital HR: A Critical Management Approach to the Digitalization of Organizations* [online]. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 39–53. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60210-3 3 [Accessed 6 Jul 2021].
- Marin, G. D., & Nila, C. (2021). Branding in social media. Using LinkedIn in personal brand communication: A study on communications/marketing and recruitment/human resources specialists perception | Elsevier Enhanced Reader [online]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S259029112100070X [Accessed 31 Oct 2021].
- Prakash, N. B., & Mores, G. S. (2019). Digitalization of HRM Practice in the Present Scenario, 5.
- Pratibha, Shiva, A. & Arora, R. (2021). Impact of HRM practices on organisational commitment: evidence from school educators' in Indian context. *World Review of Entrepreneurship, Man*agement and Sustainable Development, 17 (2–3), 186–205.

- Ranjith, K. R., Ganesh, L. S., & Rajendran, C. (2021). Quality 4.0 a review of and framework for quality management in the digital era. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management* [online], ahead-of-print (ahead-of-print). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1108/ IJQRM-05-2021-0150 [Accessed 4 May 2022].
- Sader, S., Husti, I., & Daroczi, M. (2021). A review of quality 4.0: definitions, features, technologies, applications, and challenges. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 0 (0), 1–19.
- Schneider, P. (2018). Managerial challenges of Industry 4.0: an empirically backed research agenda for a nascent field. *Review of Managerial Science*, 12 (3), 803–848.
- Sukreep, S., Elgazzar, K., Chu, H., Mongkolnam, P. & Nukoolkit, C. (2019). iWatch: A Fall and Activity Recognition System Using Smart Devices. *International Journal of Computer and Communication Engineering*, 8 (1), 18–31.
- Sharma, P. (2021). Internet of Things and Blockchain. In: Blockchain for Business [online]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 296–336. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/9781119711063.ch13 [Accessed 31 Oct 2021].
- Poongodi, S., Jayanthi, P., & Ramya, R. (2021). Users Perception towards Google Pay. PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt / Egyptology, 18 (1), 4821–4825.
- Stepantseva, A., & Breitenecker, R. (2020). Digital Transformation of Business Models in the banking sector: a multiple case study. [online]. Linz. Available from: https://resolver.obvsg.at/urn:nbn:at:at-ubl:1-38982 [Accessed 10 Oct 2021].
- Syed, J., & Bayeroju, O. (2019). HRM and business performance. In: 5TH BIENNIAL CONFER-ENCE - Nigeria 2020 [online]. Presented at the 5TH BIENNIAL CONFERENCE - Nigeria 2020. Available from: https://www.africaacademyofmanagement.org/conferences/index.php/ afambc/bc2020/paper/view/158 [Accessed 6 May 2021].
- Wilkesmann, M., & Wilkesmann, U. (2018). Industry 4.0 organizing routines or innovations? *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, 48 (2), 238–254.
- Zaitouni, M., Harraf, A., & Kisswani, A. M. (2020). Resources for development: the relationship of HRM practices and continuous learning culture with training success, 18.
- Zonnenshain, A., & Kenett, R. S. (2020). Quality 4.0—the challenging future of quality engineering. *Quality Engineering*, 32 (4), 614–626.



Study of the Motivating Factors of the Human Resources Management System in the Municipality of Plovdiv

Liliya Nedeva¹

Received: August 28, 2022 Accepted: February 7, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Motivation; Communication; Efficiency

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Motivation can encourage employees to achieve the organization's goal because if workers feel that managers practically communicate with them, it motivates them to perform better and work as a team. Mismanagement of motivation in any organization can lead to demotivation, apathy and even resistance. The symptoms of a lack of inspiration in the workplace are frequent turnover, frequent absences from work, delays, low quality of performed activities, lack of interest in new exercises, etc. Employees with high job satisfaction are more focused on tasks and activities and are more motivated to stay with the organization. The conducted research found low motivation among employees in the municipality of Plovdiv, which is why improving interpersonal communication is a prerequisite for increasing job satisfaction.

1. INTRODUCTION

r mployee motivation is at the core of any organization's competitive positioning. Work motivation is often defined as low, caused by insufficiently good economic, social, and cultural conditions in the workplace. Lowered motivation and even its absence led to a decrease in labour intensity, and the lack of a built and operating effective management system led to the non-fulfilment of official duties. Job satisfaction is the general attitude and motivation of the worker to perform the assigned tasks, which can be influenced by factors such as working conditions, pay and benefits, the philosophy of employees to the organization, exercised control and leadership style of managers, autonomy, recognition, communication, working conditions, the importance of work, colleagues, professionalism, organizational climate, interpersonal relations, working in a cohesive team, etc. Low job satisfaction is often associated with labour-intensive tasks such as processing a lot of documentation, monotony of activities, the tension of expectations of constant shifts in the hierarchy, frequent conflicts with colleagues, feeling overwhelmed, overtime, etc. Motivation varies depending on individual worker behaviour and organizational behaviour. It is essential to mention that all people have different reasons when doing work, as well as different perceptions of the effectiveness of interpersonal communication.

2. SPECIFIC FEATURES OF WORK MOTIVATION

The motive is the basis for the performance of specific actions by the person, and the motives acting in one direction are defined as motivation. In modern psychology, the concept of motivation expresses the directed activity of the person regarding his action. Motivation is the force that causes people to act in a certain way, to treat someone or something in a certain way in a specific situation and in a way that is chosen by them (Balevska & Simeonova, 2016, p. 91). In essence, motivation is a degree of desire and choice of a given person, which is necessary to

University of Plovdiv "Paisii Hilendarski", 24 Tsar Asen Str., Plovdiv, Bulgaria



undertake one or another behaviour expressed in an active direction of the person. Motivation describes the wants and needs that direct behaviour to achieve a specific goal, a hierarchical system of many levels in which the various motives are in unity and interaction. When the person realizes a given motive in this system, it becomes a goal and receives an actual motivational force (Paunov, 2009, p. 91).

Mismanagement of motivation in any organisation can lead to demotivation, apathy and even resistance (Yaneva, 2007, p. 428). The symptoms of a lack of motivation in the workplace are frequent turnover; frequent absences from work; delays; low quality of performed activities; lack of interest in new activities, etc. When such symptoms appear, the management team should look for the reasons, the factors that motivate this behaviour and the lack of motivation of the workers. Essential for workplace motivation is interpersonal communication. It is often a barrier to effectively motivating employees. The quality of interpersonal relationships in the workplace determines the behaviours employees use to communicate with each other (Szostek, 2019, p. 2), with effective relationships leading to better engagement, task performance, motivation, innovation, error detection, teamwork, helping others, reducing conflict, and resisting reactions to negative events. Conversely, ineffective relationships between employees negatively impact all aspects of performing organisational activities.

Interpersonal relationships in the workplace are influenced by various factors that determine their effectiveness, such as:

- Organizational climate (working atmosphere, built trust between workers);
- Interpersonal relationships (sharing personal information, contact after work, mutual assistance, celebrating important occasions together, etc.);
- Building interpersonal relations on the part of the organization (meetings with employees, researching their opinions, conducting informal company events);
- Presence of distance between workers resulting from management style.

Effective interpersonal relationships in the workplace depend on the ability to deliver and receive messages in the exchange of information between individuals, as well as generate feedback so that the message can be understood by both parties, i.e. with the method of transmission of information, regard for the feelings of others, providing feedback, efficient use of time and providing comfortable conditions for receiving information (McShane & Von Glinow, 2010, p. 202). Motivation is goal-directed behaviour that forces people to achieve a set goal persistently. The level of motivation of workers, commitment and, accordingly, dissatisfaction with the work in each organization is most often measured by the number of people who left over a certain period. Employees with high job satisfaction are more focused on tasks and activities and are more motivated to stay with the organization. The importance of motivation and job satisfaction in the workplace is evident, as well-motivated and committed workers with high levels of job satisfaction affect both their and organizational performance. Employees with high levels of job satisfaction go to work on time and are usually more motivated to put in the extra effort. On the other hand, employees with low levels of job satisfaction are the least motivated and have more excuses, such as illness or transportation issues etc., compared to satisfied workers.

Job satisfaction is the general attitude and motivation of the worker to perform the assigned tasks, which can be influenced by factors such as working conditions, pay and benefits, the attitude of employees to the organization, exercised control and leadership style of managers,

autonomy, recognition, communication, working conditions, the importance of work, colleagues, professionalism, organizational climate, interpersonal relations, working in a cohesive team, etc. This perception and, accordingly, motivation can be negative or positive depending on the employees' job satisfaction. Low job satisfaction is often associated with labour-intensive tasks such as processing much documentation, the monotony of activities, the tension of expectations of constant shifts in the hierarchy, frequent conflicts with colleagues, feeling overwhelmed, overtime, etc. (Wahyuni et al., 2016, p. 91). Motivation varies depending on individual worker behaviour and organizational behaviour. It is essential to mention that all people have different motivations when doing work and different perceptions of the effectiveness of interpersonal communication.

Modern models and approaches to increase motivation include, in addition to using salary as a motivating factor and removing stereotypes and subjectivism in human resource planning, providing more and more authority, providing positive role models and the opportunity to provide effective feedback connection.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY

The purpose of the research is to examine the motivation of employees in the municipality of Plovdiv, as well as to indicate the problems and opportunities for its improvement. The limitations that accompany the research are mainly related to the confidentiality of the information of the researched organization. The study's relevance is determined by the difficulty in attracting and retaining employees in municipal administrations, observed in recent years in Bulgaria.

Research thesis: Employees in the municipality of Plovdiv are not motivated to perform their duties effectively, and improving interpersonal communication is a prerequisite for increasing job satisfaction.

The research questions are:

- What is the level of employee motivation in the organization under study?
- What are the main factors influencing the employees in the municipality of Plovdiv?
- Are there opportunities to improve the motivation of employees in the municipality of Plovdiv?

A survey is used to study employees' motivation in the municipality of Plovdiv. The developed questionnaire consists of 15 closed-ended questions aimed at measuring the motivation of employees from all hierarchical levels in the organization.

4. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF PLOVDIV

The municipality of Plovdiv is in southern Bulgaria, and the mayor is the employer of the employees. The structure of employees in the municipality includes the mayor and deputy mayors, secretary, chief architect, general and specialized administration. The individual positions are divided into directorates and departments, with the "Human Resources Management" department having the main functions of developing and updating the staff list of positions, developing salary rules, planning, and organizing employee training, creating documents for concluding and terminating employment relationships, keeping, and storing personal files, etc. 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

5. RESEARCH RESULTS

Forty-seven employees from the municipality of Plovdiv participated in the research. The largest percentage of respondents are between 40 and 49 age (27%). The most significant percentage of work experience in the municipality of Plovdiv of the surveyed employees is between 5 and 10 years - 38%. 74% of the respondents indicated they were satisfied with their working position. The rest are of the opposite opinion. The employees of the Plovdiv municipality need to be more satisfied with how the work is organized. 64% of employees define it as insufficiently effective, and only 29% as satisfactory. Only 4% of the surveyed employees give an excellent rating. The surveyed employees believe that the higher basic remuneration strongly influences their motivation (the statement is valid for 44% of the surveyed employees). Good working conditions are essential for 26%, and opportunities to receive bonuses for achieving results for 19%. Important factors are also the excellent attitude of the employer and the opportunity for professional development.

The surveyed employees do not change their jobs often, 60% have not changed their jobs in the last five years, and 34% have changed their jobs once. Employees in the Plovdiv municipality are not satisfied with the remuneration they receive. Almost all surveyed employees are unanimous that receiving bonuses motivates them to perform their work duties better, with only 16% having the opposite opinion. It can be assumed that insufficient satisfaction with the salary received and insufficiently effective organization of work in the municipality of Plovdiv are the reasons why 69% of the surveyed workers indicate that they do not accept the goals of the municipality as their own. For 74% of the surveyed employees, the provision of an opportunity by the municipality to improve their qualifications is an important motivational factor for work. Only 41% of the surveyed employees' daily responsibilities in the Plovdiv municipality correspond to their expectations. Employees categorically do not express their opinion at their workplace. Regarding the degree of control over daily decisions related to work duties, the respondents indicate that they mainly have no control (48%) or the control exercised is over a small part of the decisions (44%). 68% of the respondents think they do not have any influence to make the municipality of Plovdiv a better place to work.

6. POSSIBILITIES FOR IMPROVING THE MOTIVATION OF EMPLOYEES IN THE MUNICIPALITY OF PLOVDIV

The survey of employees in the municipality of Plovdiv shows low motivation and satisfaction of workers. Due to the lack of financial resources to increase the salary, the municipality must improve its organizational culture to motivate employees. Organizational culture is a system of values and beliefs adopted by management and all workers, expressed in norms, rules, and standards that are accepted and maintained in interpersonal relationships and communication. The culture of any organization is based on rules and norms that are perceived as key to any activity carried out, being a factor that unites the self-determination of the group of people in the organization through accepted values, contributing to the experience and feeling of belonging and satisfaction of the achievement of the organization's general goals.

Possibilities for improving the motivation of employees in the municipality of Plovdiv:

- Positive climate in communication;
- Overcoming the barriers that prevent effective interpersonal communication;
- Adopting a management style allows organizational culture to be introduced and employee objections to be overcome;

- Building a system of stimulation regarding the perception of the presented values and norms of behaviour;
- Innovative personnel selection process;
- Socialization of employees.

The effective management of cultural diversity in the organization provides an opportunity to improve individual and group indicators to increase interpersonal communication and labour productivity. The set of cultural specifics of any organization forms its cultural appearance. The awareness and compliance with the existing differences are related to the need for increased awareness on the part of managers, who, based on this information, can direct it to the achievement of company goals through the development of personal potential and uniting workers on a moral-value basis. On the other hand, the change in the management style to build an organizational culture requires building values and activities based on a new approach to implementing communication and building relationships and managing employees, through which to achieve an increase in their motivation.

7. CONCLUSION

Strong motivation provides the employer with:

- New ideas for changing the activities performed,
- Getting feedback,
- Ability to increase labour productivity and efficiency.

The benefits of motivation for the individual worker are related to:

- Opportunity for career development,
- Opportunity to perform,
- Receiving additional tangible and intangible benefits.

The key is the role of the organisation's management staff to increase the workers' motivation by determining the built sense of empathy and defining the roles and the desired goals. Leadership is effective when it helps workers to develop and stimulates them to learn new things. Managers need to involve workers in making various decisions related to their activities, ensuring that a sense that managers are fair is maintained. The sense of justice helps to increase satisfaction and empathy with the enterprise and the desire to achieve its goals through the more effective performance of the activities.

8. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Future research directions are based on the possibilities of using innovative methods to motivate modern personnel accustomed to using technology, receiving, and exchanging information quickly and communicating in a digital environment.

References

- Balevska, M., & Simeonova, D. (2016). Staff motivation. *Management past, present and future*. Veliko Tarnovo.
- McShane, S., & Von Glinow, M. (2010). Organizational Behaviour, Emerging Knowledge and Practice for the Real World. McGraw Hill Higher Education.
- Paunov, M. (2009). Work motivation. Siela, Sofia.
- Szostek, D. (2019). The Impact of the Quality of Interpersonal Relationships between Employees on Counterproductive Work Behavior. *Sustainability*. 11, p. 2.
- Wahyuni, S., Widodo, S., & Retnowati, R. (2016). The Relationship of Interpersonal Communication, Working Motivation and Transformational Leadership to Teachers Job Satisfaction. *International Journal of Managerial Studies and Research*. Volume 4, Issue 8, p. 91.
- Yaneva, D. (2007). Motivational factors for increasing labour efficiency. *Management and sustainable development*. 1 (16), p. 428.



University-Industry Cooperation, from the Viewpoint of Top-Level Management in Albanian Companies

Ketrina Çabiri Mijo¹ 💿 Ermira Qosja² 💿

Received: August 29, 2022 Accepted: December 7, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Challenges; Motivational factors; Barriers

Abstract: Economic development is conditioned upon many actors, where the cooperation of higher education institutions with industry and business plays an important role. Companies are highly interested in the "primary product" of higher education, in the sense of knowledge that benefits students, the absorption of talents, but also in the product of scientific research, patents, start-ups, etc.

This paper aims to measure the perception of the top-level managers in Albanian companies regarding the challenges and barriers that appear in university-industry cooperation. Through a qualitative analysis, based on the questionnaire of the KALCEA³ project (Erasmus + CBHE) in a sample of 27 large and medium-sized companies, an attempt has been made to investigate the main factors that increase this cooperation as well as the factors that hinder it. An important role is also paid to the identification of factors that motivate companies and the challenges they will have to face. The findings of the paper are of interest to the industry, universities and politicians and focus mainly on the mentality and culture of cooperation.

1. INTRODUCTION

further permission.

Creative Commons Non BY NC Commercial CC BY-NC: This

article is distributed under the terms of

the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-

Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which

permits non-commercial use, reproduc-

tion and distribution of the work without

Higher Education in Albania has for several years undergone a series of reforms in the ongoing efforts to implement the Bologna System and align with the European system of higher education.

Genuine scientific research and applied research are challenges that, in addition to the quality of education and scientific research funds, require a cultural approach and mentality within universities that ask for change and, like any change, encounter resistance and require a strategic approach.

Ad hoc experiences and models exist, but they must be implemented and contextualized with persistence and creativity, to obtain a product that has value and contributes to the national economy. The most recent Albanian law on higher education gives more autonomy to Departments and this can be a good start to facilitate academic entrepreneurship with a connection to the industry (https://arsimi.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/AKTET_NENLIGJORE.pdf).

Historical evidence around the world shows that collaborations between universities and industry have given life to many successful discoveries over the years, and there are excellent examples of fruitful collaboration between universities, industry partners and startups (Gann et al., 2018).



¹ European University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

² Universitety "Aleksandër Moisiu", Durrës, Albania

³ https://kalcea.com

To the question "Why do people value the cooperation between universities and industry?", world-renowned researchers have given the following five reasons (Elsevier, 2021):

- Better potential for impact on society;
- Better outcomes and student opportunities;
- Increase in funding;
- Potential for economic development;
- Use of government programs for financing.

OECD countries have implemented a set of financial, "soft" and regulatory instruments to support the transfer of knowledge from university to industry. The financial instruments include grants for innovation and R&D, tax incentives with a focus on collaboration, and grants for doctoral and postdoctoral students. Regulatory instruments include the regime of intellectual rights (IP), regulations required by student spin-offs, sabbatical periods and mobility schemes for staff; soft instruments include the readiness to build network events (OECD, 2019).

This paper aims to analyze how Albanian companies perceive university-industry collaboration and explore the factors that influence it.

The objectives of this study are:

- to observe the current state of cooperation between companies and universities;
- to observe the purpose of the cooperation of companies with the university;
- to observe the influencing factors, barriers, challenges and results of this cooperation;
- to observe the factors that motivate companies to cooperate with universities.

The research question addressed in this paper is: *What is the approach of Albanian companies toward cooperation with universities and research centers?*

The methodology used is qualitative, based on the questionnaire conducted in WP1 of the Erasmus + CBHE KALCEA project. The questionnaire was answered by 27 top-level managers of large and medium-sized Albanian companies, who were selected from a database of the authors of the paper based on the approach these companies have in cooperation with the academy.

The results of this research can be the basis for research in larger samples, grouped according to the sectors of the economy and where the academic product and the opportunities for impact are more inherent. It remains an important factor, the mentality and culture to build bridges of cooperation and to believe in partnership, private and government funds in support of research at universities.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The role of the university has changed over time, university-industry collaboration is not a new phenomenon, but it became more visible around the 1970s, and since that moment it has been accepted by governments and policymakers (Vedovello, 1998). Knowledge is a requirement for economic development, universities are deemed as important centers for learning and innovation for industries in advanced economies. Universities are also competing towards meeting the demand for basic knowledge and skilled human resources (Hall & Rosenberg, 2010). The universities in developing economies are expected to meet the local demand for knowledge-based economies which would bring about socio-economic development.

There are the accepted models of university-industry collaboration: Linear model, Mode 2 framework and Triple Helix framework (Nkrumah, 2015).

Linear model - argues that universities play a major role in economic growth and for that reason, government funding of basic research should be increased (Fagerberg et al., 2005).

Mode 2 framework - argues that the University-Industry interactions should be complemented by interactions with other institutions. It seeks to champion the interconnectedness of a network of several actors in the national innovation system (Fagerberg et al., 2005).

Triple helix model - each actor of the system has to play a specific role while working in close synergy with others: universities produce new knowledge and technologies that can have an industrial application; government acts as a public entrepreneur in addition to its traditional regulatory role in setting the rules of the game; venture capital and large companies act as engines of innovative systems, bringing capital, managerial skills, and a network of relationships that foster the development of innovative businesses (Ankrah & Al-Tabbaa, 2016).

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The authors of this paper, within the project Erasmus + KALCEA, have conducted a complete study on university-business cooperation, seen from the perspective of both parties. This paper presents part of the study carried out on businesses in Albania, which aimed to analyze how Albanian companies perceive their cooperation with universities and to explore the factors that positively affect it and those that hinder it. With this goal in mind, the authors have decided to observe as objectives:

- The current state of cooperation between companies and universities;
- The purpose of cooperation between companies and the university;
- Influencing factors, barriers, challenges and the results of this cooperation;
- Factors that motivate companies to cooperate with universities.

The research question in this paper is: What is the approach of Albanian companies toward cooperation with universities and research centers?

The methodology of the paper is qualitative; the questionnaires distributed to more than 30 businesses were used as a research instrument, in line with WP1 of the KALCEA project. The questionnaire is composed of 20 closed questions with multiple choices.

The questionnaire was answered by 27 managers of large and medium-sized Albanian companies, who were selected from a database of the authors of the paper based on the approach the former have in cooperation with the academy. As a limitation of the work, one can see the limited number of responses from business top-level managers, despite the large and mid-scale companies that have answered. It should be clarified that the authors have tried to measure the perception of the top-level managers of important companies in the country; 63% of the companies in the sample are large and mainly they have a rather serious approach to cooperation with universities.

It should be taken into consideration that 98,3% of Albanian businesses are SMEs, 1,7% are large enterprises (with over 50 employees), 86,6% of enterprises are service producers and their

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

interaction with universities is mainly only for the employment of students (INSTAT, 2021). The sample of businesses consists of 93% private companies; 7 companies have over 500 employees; 4 companies have 200-500 employees; 6 companies have 50-200 employees and 10 companies have less than 50 employees. The respondents are company top-level managers, 44% of them have over 15 years in company management, while 81% of them have over 15 years in management positions.

4. FINDINGS

Business top-level managers have answered a series of questions, divided into categories within the same topic. To the question of who the initiator for university-industry cooperation among universities, companies and research centers should be, 85% of them perceive the university and about 50% of them perceive the companies (Figure 1.a).



Figure 1. University-Industry cooperation Source: Own research

Regarding cooperation mechanisms, the most useful is that of personal contacts, 81% of managers admit that currently their companies have cooperation with universities (Figure 1.c), 44% of them cooperate with 1-2 universities and 26% cooperate with 3-4 universities (Figure 1.d).

Regarding the purpose of cooperation with universities referring to 4 indicators: Education, Research Work, Monetization and Shared Interest, the results are presented in Figure 2. The perception of university-industry cooperation in *education* has priority internships and the employment of students, then open lectures at the university. Cooperation seems limited in relation to the design of curricula. As far as scientific leadership in the master's and the doctoral cycle is concerned, there is currently an obstacle in the Law of Higher Education, a formal barrier that can be overcome if there is a will to cooperate in concrete and incentive projects. Regarding *shared interests*, it appears that for companies it is a priority the use of common assets and then participate in each other's boards, and the third choice remains the use of grants and scholarships. Regarding the *research work*, the first choice is cooperation in the research work. Regarding *monetization* as the first choice is seen – the application of the results of the research work.



Figure 2. The purpose of cooperation with universities Source: Own research

When company managers were asked about the results of cooperation with universities currently or in the last three years, the answers obtained are presented in figure 3.



Figure 3. The results of cooperation with the university in the last 3 years Source: Own research

As can be seen from Figure 3, the most important result of university-industry cooperation seems to be the employment of students, then the creation of new connections between University and Industry and the third choice are suggestions from universities and businesses for problems to be addressed. The current model of cooperation looks far from the triple helix model. Company top-level managers were asked to identify the 5 factors that mostly influence the growth of cooperation with universities. The distribution of responses is shown in Figure 4.





From figure 4 we can see that the 5 most important factors that influence university-industry cooperation are: *Efficient communication among companies and universities; A well-defined framework of cooperation (contracts, procedures, management structure); Partner flexibility; Clear determination of goals and objectives / Understanding and mutual expectations between companies and universities; Willingness to donate time and human and financial resources.*

Next, company top-level managers were asked about the top 5 barriers that limit business collaboration with universities. The distribution of the responses is presented in figure 5.



Figure 5. The main barriers that limit the cooperation of businesses with universities Source: Own research

As one can see in figure 5, the 5 main barriers that limit the cooperation of businesses with universities are perceived: Insufficient private funds; Ignorance of the opportunities that come from cooperation; Lack of common vision/ Lack of a good cooperation scheme- defined; Insufficient government funds; Failure to properly evaluate each other's goals/ lack of recognition by university staff of the real needs of business and its development inside and outside the country.
Industry collaboration with universities certainly has its challenges, thus company top-level managers were asked about these challenges (figure 6).



Source: Own research

The challenges that are perceived as most important to be faced by businesses are: differences between two organizational cultures; Lack of knowledge on the business side of the specifics of research work; and other challenges or obstacles.

The last question is about the factors that can motivate companies to cooperate with universities as shown in figure 7.



Figure 7. Factors that motivate companies to cooperate with universities Source: Own research

Factors perceived to motivate companies to cooperate with universities and research centers are: Improving business reputation; Positive impact on society; Improving the professional skills of employees through training; Improving innovative capacities; Benefiting from access to new technologies and knowledge. 6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

5. CONCLUSION

Since 2004, with the signing of the Bologna Agreement, Albanian universities have been involved in an important process of change and transformation, which, on the one hand, needed to transform the system in accordance with the Bologna process, and on the other hand, internationalize and make them competitive within the country, in the region and beyond. The newest law on Higher Education, in addition to increasing university autonomy, also presents a challenge for scientific research and the generation of funds by universities trying to approach to the implementation of the Triple Helix model in cooperation with the government and industry.

The study carried out through a methodology based on the Erasmus + CBHE KALCEA project, focused on the data collected through a questionnaire with the leaders/managers of 27 important companies in Albania, led to the following conclusions:

The model of cooperation between universities and industry seems to be close to the Mode 2 framework: cooperation exists, but it is mainly focused on the interest of companies for internships and the employment of students (of course also finding talents).

Business representatives perceive that universities should be the primary initiators of cooperation between parties (85%) and only 50% of them see the industry as the initiator of this cooperation. Regarding shared interests, it seems that the priority remains the use of common assets, the last choice remains that of supporting students and staff with grants and scholarships. The results of this research can be the basis for research in larger samples, grouped according to the sectors of the economy and where the academic product and the opportunities for impact are more inherent.

Based on the factors that the industry perceives as more important in cooperation with universities, is suggested that universities should find the right communication channels and build efficient cooperation schemes. It should also be considered that from a strategic point of view, in the lecturer's employment contract or in the performance evaluation schemes, weight should be given to contract jobs with industry and sabbaticals in industry.

The cultural difference between universities and industry is considered a challenge that must be taken into consideration by universities to establish sustainable cooperation. The research work that takes place at the university should be aimed at having as much application as possible in the industry because that is the only way to increase the interest of the industry. The motivation of the industry to work with universities can be inspired through common projects that create an image and social impact first, then through the training of the industry's staff and the creation of spaces for innovation and further access to knowledge and new technologies.

References

- Ankrah, S., & Al-Tabbaa, O. (2016). Universities—industry collaboration: A systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Management 31(3)*, 387-408.
- Elsevier. (2021). *University-industry collaboration: A closer look for research leaders*. Retrieved from www.elsevier.com:

https://www.elsevier.com/research-intelligence/university-industry-collaboration

- Fagerberg, J., Mowery, C., & Nelson, R. (2005). *The Oxford handbook of innovation*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gann, D., Eisenberg, J., & Montresor, F. (2018). 3 ways to nurture collaboration between universities and industry. Retrieved from World Economic Forum: https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2018/11/3-ways-to-nurture-collaboration-between-universities-and-industry/
- Hall, H., & Rosenberg, N. (2010). *The Handbook of the economics of innovation*. London. Boston: Elsevier B.V.

https://arsimi.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/AKTET_NENLIGJORE.pdf https://kalcea.com/

- INSTAT (2021). *Regjistrat e biznesit-2021*. Tirana: http://www.instat.gov.al/media/10065/regjistrat-e-biznesit-2021.pdf.
- Nkrumah, J. K. (2015). UNIVERSITY-INDUSTRY COLLABORATION: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS ON SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION POLICY. *GRIPS*.
- OECD. (2019). University-Industry Collaboration New Evidence and Policy Options. https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/science-and-technology/university-industry-collaboration_ e9c1e648-en#page1.
- Vedovello, C. (1998). Firms' research and development activity and intensity and the university–enterprise partnerships. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *58*, 215-226.



EFQM Maturity Assessment

Maria Vitzilaiou¹ Thaleia Dima² Michail Glykas³

Received: November 21, 2022 Accepted: December 14, 2022 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Glykas Quality Compass (GQC); Quality Management (QM); EFQM; Critical Success Factors (CSFs)

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The paper identifies the approaches of Quality Management Maturity Assessments and proposes the novel Quality Maturity Assessment framework called Glykas Quality Compass (GQC) that evaluates implementation initiatives holistically and comprehensively through a matrix of Critical Success Factors (CSFs) and Enablers. The authors apply the proposed framework in the newly published EFQM Model in order to verify the framework's ease of use and concept validity. The EFQM model criteria were analyzed based on the CSFs and enablers presented in the GQC maturity framework. Based on the results of the analysis, the GQC - EFQM Model correlation table is presented. The results emphasize the importance of the contribution of excellence in improving the quality and performance of organizations that desire long-term results and sustainable value. GQC provides and integrates the CSFs with management principles and organizational resources with business objectives and leads to an integrated framework of quality management and corporate sustainability.

1. INTRODUCTION

Models of excellence, according to the bibliography, provide a proper framework of reference about the way how one can implement TQM in an organization, as they ensure that the principles and key factors, underlying this philosophy, are fully applied, transferred to the daily activity of the companies as a coherent set and are systematically developed according to schedule. The fundamental concepts (leadership, strategy, people, alliances, resources and processes), which are presented in the models of excellence, bear a strong relationship with TQM factors, representing a valuable guide for organizations that aim to introduce and manage improvement activities following TQM philosophy.

According to Hsu et al. (2021), in actual practice, the principles and theories of TQM are not static but are constantly evolving. The outcome of TQM is organizational commitment and the collaborative effort to achieve business excellence (BE). In the research of Periañez-Cristobal et al. (2021), it is stated that the achievement of the outcomes is dependent on the application of TQM principles and practices. This research refers to the principles, which are based on experts or quality management gurus (Deming, Juran, Crosby), to the models of excellence and, finally, to theoretical or empirical research deductions.

The pursuit of excellence was mainly referred to, until the previous edition (2012), by the European Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM Excellence Award) model. Evans (2008) stated that performance excellence requires a total effort involving a total change in thinking

³ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece



¹ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

² Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

rather than a new collection of tools. In 2021, the revised EFQM 2020 model was published, in which the term "excellence" was replaced by the term "outstanding" referring to the organization achieving outstanding results (Nenadál, 2020).

As defined in the EFQM itself: "Outstanding organizations achieve and maintain excellent levels of performance that meet or exceed the expectations of all their stakeholders." Thus, excellence is a way of managing and understanding the organization, which seeks to achieve excellent results not only financially, but also in relation to its customers, employees and society as a whole. An organization is considered as really excellent when, except achieving results in terms of its competitiveness in the market, it has also influenced its groups of interest in a positive and lasting way (Calvo-Mora et al., 2014; Para-González et al., 2022).

In section 2 the paper presents a review of the research on the revised model EFQM 2020. Periañez-Cristobal et al. (2021), argue that the EFQM model of excellence supports organizations to achieve sustainable development through continuous improvement, learning, innovation and process development. It also allows for the prosecution of thorough management review, for the reception of comparison with other organizations, for the availability of a guide to determine and develop strategy, and for the identification of competencies and key resources. It is a self-assessment model in which criteria are defined based on the organization's activities and processes and are evaluated according to its operation and performance (Fonseca, 2022).

Dahlgaard-Park et al. (2018) have conducted a study to compare the historical development of TQM with eight, known management theories. Applying the core values and elements of the EFQM Model of Excellence as a framework for their analysis, they concluded that TQM should be regarded as an evolving theory that adopts and is adaptable to an ever-changing environment. The same researchers, in 2019, studied a four-decade literature and concluded that success in TQM implementation is related to the maximum participation of employees in all the functions of the organization according to proper training, coaching and motivation. There has been highlighted the necessity for an everlasting adaptation concerning the Quality Management frameworks in a holistic way; this necessity was emphasized, based on better tools and techniques that meet the needs of the new services in any organization.

Due to globalization, dissemination and widespread implementation of Quality Management Systems, numerous governments around the world have attempted to establish or have already established National Quality Awards. Their purpose is to support, recognize and promote the efforts of their organizations to implement TQM systems. The National Quality Awards are the highest recognition for those companies that achieve excellent performance and a top-quality degree.

A National Quality Award is legislated to meet the following objectives: to promote knowledge of TQM as an essential element to improve quality and productivity, to provide guidance for the implementation of evaluation and continuous improvement and to be the starting point of a national attempt to increase competitiveness and long-term, financial development of each country.

In section 3 the paper presents a maturity framework that was developed for and is being used in QM implementation assessment called the Glykas Quality Compass (GQC). The model is composed of a ten by ten matrix containing the ten most prominent critical-success factors, which are identified in our literature survey of QM maturity-assessment frameworks and the ten most prominent enablers also identified in the same survey.

To evaluate the validity of the proposed maturity assessment framework and investigate how a maturity assessment matrix can be created especially for EFMQ 2020, in section 4 we present our research efforts on the application o EFMQ 2020 in GQC. The result is the advanced "GQC-EFMQ 2020" matrix. The matrix depicts the relationships of EFMQ 2020 criterions with the critical success factors and the enablers of GQC.

2. EFQM MODEL CRITERIA ANALYSIS

The design of the revised EFQM Model (2020) is based on years of experience in unsteady markets that drive transformation by leveraging the benefits of organizational analysis and future forecasting (Nenadál, 2020). It is based on the connection between the purpose and strategy of an organization, i.e. the cause with the results it achieves (Murthy et al. 2021; Nenadál, 2020; Fonseca, 2022). It is aligned with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, to simultaneously deliver performance and ensure transformation, creating lasting value for key stakeholders and achieving remarkable and lasting results (Fonseca, 2022). The EFQM 2020 model represents a significant evolution of the EFQM 2012 model. It emphasizes the necessity of transforming organizations for the future and comprehensive feedback from key stakeholders (Nenadál, 2020). The main difference is the change in the outline of the model and the activation and outcome criteria. The new structure of the model includes five criteria/enablers (leadership, policies, processes, resources and people) and two categories (out of 4) of results (EFQM Model Revised 2nd Edition). The criteria have been renamed and reduced from 9 to 7 while the sub-criteria from 32 to 25 (Murthy et al. 2021).

The criteria, according to the 2nd revised edition, are grouped into 3 dimensions/modules, which are easy to understand by those involved in the practical development of management systems (Nenadál, 2020). They are based on the simple but powerful logic of asking three questions:

- 1. **Direction:** Two criteria that answer the question "Why" the particular organization exists. What is its purpose and why does it have that particular strategy/direction? Moreover, the question "Why" are we implementing certain policies and practices ensures that only actions that add more value to the organization are taken. The criteria are related to Purpose, Vision and Strategy, Organization and Leadership.
- 2. **Execution:** Three criteria that answer the question of "How" it intends to respond to execute its purpose and strategy. It is about process design, stakeholder engagement, sustainable value creation, performance and transformation.
- 3. **Results:** Two criteria that answer the question "What" has the organization actually achieved to date and "What" results it intends to achieve in the future. The outcome criteria are directly related to Stakeholder Perceptions, Strategy and Operational Performance as attributes that drive the organization to success.

When grading the above criteria, Direction and Execution represent 60% of the score while Results from 40% as they are important but represent what has already happened. The greater emphasis on the criteria of the first two dimensions is due to the special importance given to the questions: why an organization exists, if it has the necessary culture to succeed, whom it serves to and how it creates and distributes lasting and sustainable value to its stakeholder groups (Fonseca, 2022).

In its latest edition, the official title of the model has changed from "The EFQM Excellence Model" which was in 2012 to "EFQM Model". The term "excellence" was removed by the

committee and replaced by the term "outstanding" which characterizes an organization that wishes to achieve its best (Nenadál, 2020). In the revised model, the term "ecosystem" was adopted as a keyword emphasizing the interaction and interdependence of organizations as part of a wider system (Nenadál, 2020). According to the EFQM Model Revised 2nd Edition (2020), the use of the term "ecosystem" is based on the vision and planning that will lead each organization to achieve exceptional levels of performance, through transformation and organizational governance that will meet or exceed the basic expectations of its stakeholders. The new EFQM 2020 model also emphasizes the term "sustainable value" as a more general term regarding the value that the organization offers to all key stakeholder groups (Nenadál, 2020).

Critical to the model is the connection between an organization's purpose and strategy and how these are implemented to create sustainable value for key stakeholders and achieve outstanding results. An organization is considered to be truly exceptional when, in addition to achieving results related to competitiveness within the market, it has a positive and lasting impact on its stakeholders (Calvo-Mora et al., 2014; Para-González et al., 2022).

3. MATURITY ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK IN EFQM 2020

3.1. Maturity Assessment Framework

In recent decades, Total Quality Management (TQM) has become an important aspect of the business environment, and the subject of research due to the great impact it has on individual and organizational performance (Ooi et al., 2009). In a series of studies, it has been argued that TQM is a management philosophy that focuses on organizational and human values. For the implementation of TQM these values should be taken into account and developed to create an organizational culture in which the importance of quality improvement will be felt by all stake-holders (Krajcsák, 2019).

In the literature, many research questions have emerged, during the maturity assessment of Quality Management (QM), regarding the connection of the Critical Success Factors (CSFs) with the Basic Management Principles (Jehangiri, 2017; García-Alcaraz et al. 2019; Asante & Ngulube, 2020). The quality management maturity assessment framework Glykas Quality Compass (GQC), is categorized into four quality management perspectives (philosophies, frameworks, standards and excellence awards) and analyzes the successful implementation of QM through the analysis of ten key quality concepts (Table 1), providing a clear distinction between the use of QM concepts.

The ten concepts follow the Deming cycle or PDCA (Plan, Do, Check, Act), a well-known methodology for continuous improvement that consists of four phases, each of which requires, in a different way, the existence of management principles and organizational resources to implement quality management.

In GQC management principles are considered as necessary conditions or factors to achieve the ten quality concepts which are further subdivided into three categories: five core concepts (customer focus, human resource management, leadership, process, strategy), three intra-core concepts (performance measurement, change measurement, continuous improvement) and two auxiliary concepts (collaborations and corporate social responsibility and information/knowledge management) (Glykas, 2019).



Table 1. The Glykas Quality Compass Table



1. Five Core Concepts

- **Strategy**: The strategy defines the type and scope of activities in the long term, the quality management system, the objectives and standards that the organization will apply, and ensures optimal decision-making and the achievement of the required levels of quality and performance of the organization. At GQC the strategic focus is on developing business objectives and critical success factors (Glykas, 2019).
- **Customers**: It is the recipient of the final products/services provided by the organizations. Attracting and retaining loyal customers drive organizations to higher levels of performance. It is perhaps the most important stakeholder group for which the organization seeks to create sustainable value. At GQC customer focus is about practices and processes related to meeting customer needs and expectations (Glykas, 2019).
- **Process:** GQC focuses on managing processes as a sequence of activities (Glykas, 2019). Defining processes includes a series of specific actions, methods, rules and steps (Petridou 2011, p.288). Processes use resources, interact with each other add value for internal and external customers (Zalvanos, 2006, p.97) and contribute to efficiency and the effectiveness of organizations.
- **People:** It includes employees at all levels of an organization. It is the responsibility of organizations and human resources managers to establish policies and practices that promote the skills and behaviors of employees that are necessary to achieve strategic goals (Dessler, 2011). The active participation of employees contributes to the acquisition of new knowledge, the understanding of the importance of quality and their commitment to the organization. At GQC the "Human Resource Focus" includes performance appraisal, education and training, rewards and incentives and career development (Glykas, 2019).
- Leadership: According to the literature review, it is a common position that leadership is a critical success factor in quality management and the sustainability of organizations. In today's uncertain, complex, unpredictable and highly competitive environment, leaders should be characterized by special management skills. Transformational leadership is perhaps the nature of leadership necessary to enable an organization to respond to the rapidly changing environment, stimulating the interest of people within the organization, encouraging their involvement at every level, investing in empowerment and development, and motivating employees that will lead to engagement and improved performance (Zavlanos, 2006).

6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

2. Three Intra-Core Concepts

- **Performance Measurement:** Performance measurement is one of the key strategic processes that determine the level of implementation of an organization's goals (Zavlanos 2006; Petridou, 2011). It is a goal-oriented process that aims to ensure that an organization has the necessary processes to maximize the productivity of employees, teams and ultimately the organization itself (Mondy & Martocchio, 2019). The indicators and the performance measurement system should be designed and linked to the organization's objectives, strategy and stakeholder demands. Performance measurement should assess the effectiveness of internal processes in conjunction with their impact on key stakeholder groups (Cagnazzo et al., 2010). Analyzing and interpreting data that will lead to corrective actions is considered essential for performance measurement (Zavlanos, 2006).
- Change Measurement: It is an organizational process that helps guide the transition from a current state to a specified desired future state that will bring about positive future outcomes. Change management measurements should be done progressively, planned and with the participation of all employees (Zavlanos 2006) in order to help the stakeholders affected by the change to understand and accept it. Additionally, they should be viewed holistically to provide information that will help the organization make informed decisions about how to adjust its tactics and take the necessary corrective actions to achieve goals.
- **Continuous Improvement:** In GQC, continuous improvement is directly related to the PDCA quality cycle (or Deming quality cycle) for continuous improvement. The PDCA cycle is a methodology consisting of four phases: Plan, Do, Check and Act and different techniques (Glykas, 2019). A key element in achieving continuous improvement is the existence of a culture of continuous improvement and an emphasis on feedback (Deming, 1986) which reveals system weaknesses and lays the bases for improving processes and value-added activities.

3. Two Auxiliary Concepts

- Partnership & Corporate Social Responsibility: Mondy & Martocchio (2019) define Corporate Social Responsibility as "the implicit, imposed or inherent obligation of management to serve or protect the interests of key stakeholder groups outside the organization itself". CSR is reflected in management, the policy and values of an organization (Frolova & Lapina, 2014) and concerns the wider impact of corporate activities on society, environment, economy and all stakeholders. The implementation of CSR activities related to employees, in the long term, can bring about a significant reduction in the costs of the organization, while increasing loyalty and commitment and improving the overall quality of performance (Frolova & Lapina, 2014). The authors in the conclusions of their study noted that the quality management system provides a framework for the implementation of CSR policy, strategy, activities and culture at all levels of management of organizations, creating the basis for sustainable value creation and achieving business excellence. In the GQC maturity framework, partnerships are about an organization's relationships with suppliers and partners, and social responsibility is about the relationship with the wider community (Glykas, 2019).
- **Knowledge Management:** Knowledge management is the process of acquiring, exchanging and exploiting the knowledge and experiences of employees for the benefit of the organization (Iordanoglou, 2008). According to Yusr et al., (2017) study, an organization's ability to acquire and manage knowledge is a critical innovation factor. It helps maximize

collaborative expertise and improve performance by avoiding previous failed approaches and strategies. In GQC knowledge management relates to how knowledge is documented in an organization.

The GQC Maturity Assessment Framework assesses quality management initiatives holistically through a matrix of critical success factors and enablers. The matrix is based on the ten most important critical success factors identified in existing maturity assessment frameworks and the ten best known factors identified in the literature.

Critical factors for achieving the CSFs, according to studies by Shafiqah et al. (2020), Jehangiri (2017), Monge-Mora et al. (2020) is the presence of all the necessary organizational resources. In GQC the six organizational resources identified are: Land and Buildings, Equipment, Human Resources, Inventories, Capital, and Technology and Information Systems (Glykas, 2019). The six organizational resources with the four management principles constitute the ten GQC enablers (Table 2).



Table 2. Framework of Glykas Quality Compass (2019)



3.2. Application of GQC on EFQM 2020

In order to investigate whether the Glykas Quality Compass (GQC) maturity assessment framework in quality management can be further extended and apply the EFQM model, the EFQM – GQC table (table 4) was created, which provides the relationships of the criteria of the EFQM 2020 model (table 3) and the critical success factors and enablers of the GQC model.

3.2.1. Discusion on GQC – EFQM Table

In the Glykas Quality Compass (GQC), the main management principles (table 2) are considered as necessary conditions or factors to achieve the ten quality concepts in the context of performance management practices. In the EFQM 2020 organizations use the model to prepare and then undergo external recognition by qualified EFQM assessors who review current activity, identify key strengths and weaknesses and provide relevant insights. The correlation carried out identified significant relationships between the EFQM 2020 model and the GQC, at the level of criteria and critical success factors, which can support and combine organizational excellence with quality in order to improve performance and create sustainable value.

	Direction							
Criterion 1	Purpose, Vision & Strategy							
1.1	Define Purpose & Vision							
1.2	Identify & Understand Stakeholders Needs							
1.3	Understand the Ecosystem, own Capabilities & Major Challenges							
1.4	Develop Strategy							
1.5	Design & Implement a Governance & Performance Management System							
Criterion 2	Organizational Culture & Leadership							
2.1	Steer the Organization's Culture & Nurture Values							
2.2	Create the Conditions for Realizing Change							
2.3	Enable Creativity & Innovation							
2.4	Unite Behind & Engage in Purpose, Vision & Strategy							
	Execution							
Criterion 3	Engaging Stakeholders							
3.1	Customers: Build Sustainable Relationships							
3.2	People: Attract, Engage, Develop & Retain							
3.3	Business & Governing Stakeholders – Secure & Sustain Ongoing Support							
3.4	Society: Contribute to Development, Well-Being & Prosperity							
3.5	Partners & Suppliers: Build Relationships & Ensure Support for Creating Sustainable Value							
Criterion 4	Creating Sustainable Value							
4.1	Design the Value & How it is Created							
4.2	Communicate & Sell the Value							
4.3	Deliver the Value							
4.4	Define & Implement the Overall Experience							
Criterion 5	Driving Performance & Transformation							
5.1	Drive Performance & Manage Risk							
5.2	Transform the Organization for the Future							
5.3	Drive Innovation & Utilize Technology							
5.4	Leverage Data, Information & Knowledge							
5.5	Manage Assets & Resources							
	Results							
Criterion 6	Stakeholder Perceptions							
	Customer Perception Results							
	People Perception Results							
Examples	• Business & Governing							
-	• Stakeholders Perception Results							
	Society Perception Results Partners & Suppliers Percention Results							
Critorion 7	Stratagic & Operational Performance							
	A chievements in delivering its Durnose and Creating Sustainable Value							
	Financial Performance							
	• Fulfillment of Key Stakeholders Expectations							
Examples	Achievement of Strategic Objectives							
	Achievements in Driving Performance							
	Achievements in Driving Transformation							
	Predictive Measures for the Future.							

Table 3.	Criteria of EFQM 2020						
D: (*							

Г

		Enabler Ma	anagerial P	Principle (E	EMP)	Enabler Resource (ER)				
		Organizational Structure	Job Description	Processes	Managerial Systems	Land and Buildings	Inventories	Human Resources	Capital	Technology and Information Systems
s Factors (CSFs)	Strategy	1.1 1.4 1.5 2.1 4.1 5.2		1.1 1.3 3.3 5.1	1.3 7	1.3		1.3 3.2	1.3	1.3 5.2
	Customer	1.2 3.1 4.2		3.1 5.3	7					
	Process	5.1		1.3 5.1 5.3	1.5 5.3			5.3		5.3
	People	1.2 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 4.1 4.2 4.3 5.5	3.2	3.2 3.3	7					
	Leadership	1.1 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 3.4 4.1 4.2 4.3			2.1			2.3 2.4 4.1 4.2		
Succes	Performance Measurement		1.5	1.5	5.1			1.5		
cal	Change Measurement	4.2		2.2				4.2		
Criti	Continuous Improvement	1.1 2.2 2.3 3.4 4.2 5.1 5.5		1.1 5.1 5.3	5.1			5.1 5.5	5.5	5.3
	Information Knowledge Management	1.3 4.4 5.3		4.4						5.3 5.4
	Partnership & Corporate Social Responsibility	1.1 1.2 1.5 3.4 4.2 4.3 5.1		1.5 3.3 5.1 7						

 Table 4. Table GQC – EFQM

From the results of the analysis and correlation of the EFQM 2020 model and the GQC framework presented in the GQC - EFQM 2020 correlation table, it is worth highlighting some inferences.

• Strategy, Purpose and Vision, constitute a critical criterion that defines the way to create sustainable value to stakeholders and contribute to improving current and future effectiveness in the EFQM 2020 model, while in GQC it is a critical factor in developing a quality culture and quality management. Though, the design of the processes that is the basis in GQC for any development and improvement of the management system is missing from the EFQM 2020 model which does not emphasize the framework of key processes used for the effective implementation of the organization's strategy (Nenadál, 2020). The EFQM 2020 model highlights the role of organizational policies and practices implemented by an organization that have a direct impact, in both models, on the interaction with all key stakeholder groups, on issues related to the organization's financial performance but also on the impact of actions in the environment and society. Organizations that want to achieve outstanding results ensure that strategy and processes are implemented through a set of interdependent and interconnected systems, processes and data that add value to stakeholders. These are processes that are evaluated on a regular basis and adapted to new data each time, allowing realistic decision-making and ensuring the effective management of potential risk and the trust of stakeholders.

- Leadership at all levels is a common important factor for success and improving the performance and quality of an organization. In the EFQM model, leadership has a significant and direct influence on the configuration of strategy and culture, the implementation of processes, the management of resources and key stakeholder groups. Leadership is responsible for developing and communicating a culture of transformation that will create the bases for an agile and adaptive environment focused on success, utilization of the results to date, driving change and creating sustainable value aligned with the purposes and values of the organizations and will be based on the co-creation with the organizations of the ecosystem to which the organization belongs. Establishing and maintaining a sustainable relationship with customers, as a key stakeholder group, is a vital factor that directly affects the achievement of outstanding results. On the same basis in the GQC maturity framework, leadership is a critical success factor and a key quality management principle. **Employee** involvement in quality management is vital as human resource management practices encourage value alignment and participation that support sustainability efforts
 - practices encourage value alignment and participation that support sustainability efforts (de Meneze et al., 2022). Investing in employee development and engagement maximize their participation and contribution to the achievement of organizational goals. An organization's employees, the knowledge and skills they possess are an inimitable resource and a competitive advantage for the organization. Organizations that invest in employees provide support, rewards, and side with their personal development by maximizing their potential, encouraging active participation, and ensuring their commitment. Employee involvement in the EFQM 2020 model and GQC appears to be a key factor affecting all key quality management practices and creating a sustainable future. However, the EFQM 2020 model does not present a comprehensive approach to human resource management since it does not provide recommendations on defining skills, competencies and the level of performance of employees (Nenadál, 2020).

Furthermore, the EFQM (2020) model does not refer to the job description. To recruit, develop and retain human resources, the job description investigates whether the holder of the position get above the duties required by the position and through performance measurement is informed and encouraged to reach the best possible level of performance. In the GQC maturity framework, the job description is a key management principle that provides information about the position but also about the organization itself and its intention to implement quality management systems (Ahmed et al., 2022).

- Learning as part of **knowledge management** is considered a key strategic activity for the growth and sustainability of organizations. The management of existing knowledge and experience can contribute to the creation of new knowledge and consequently to new strategies for the improvement of an organization (Para-González et al. 2022). In the GQC maturity framework knowledge management is a critical success factor in quality management and achieving optimal results. In the EFQM model (2020) the management and exchange of knowledge within the ecosystem leads to the creation of radical innovations through a culture of continuous learning and development. The positive correlation of knowledge management in the two models proves that organizations that leverage prior knowledge and apply continuous learning processes create sustainable value and a strong competitive advantage.
- In the EFQM model, an organization's **corporate social responsibility** is expressed through its values and ethical approach. CSR encourages transparency and stakeholder participation and promotes social responsibility and environmental sustainability without

providing recommendations for measuring and optimizing the impact of an organization's operations, product life cycle and services on public health, safety and the environment (Nenadál, 2020). Corporate social responsibility in the GQC is presented as a critical success factor for quality management and the adoption of corporate social responsibility initiatives is a useful tool for improving corporate performance and the sustainability of an organization. Organizations that demonstrate corporate social responsibility in practice enhance the organization's public image and gain the trust of stakeholders.

- **Change management** has a significant impact on the performance of an organization seeking to achieve excellent results and a long-term sustainable future. The EFQM 2020 model is characterized as a transformational model that promotes change, improvement and long-term sustainability starting with the vision and strategy that each organization will implement and then with management systems and practices. Through evaluation criteria and metrics, it encourages organizations to understand where they are, manage change and improve performance. However, a study by Nenadál (2020) highlights the absence of indicators related to getting results in terms of stakeholder perceptions and strategic and operational performance of criteria 6 and 7. Accordingly, in the GQC, change management metrics are considered holistically and provide information that helps the organization make well-documented decisions about how to adjust its tactics and take the necessary corrective actions to achieve its goals.
- For GQC, the **management of resources and assets** are activators that support the organization's strategy and efficient operation (Zavlanos 2006) while at the same time contributing to the achievement of the desired results. However, the revised EFQM model does not directly refer to land and buildings and inventories. Capital can be considered to be mean to acquire the assets and resources that are considered necessary to achieve optimal performance, achievement of objectives and competitive advantage but are not directly mentioned as criteria that contribute to the improvement of performance, sustainability and achieving exceptional results.
- Regarding results orientation, in the revised model there is a clear relevancy between cause and effect (Murthy et al. 2021, Nenadál 2020, Fonseca 2022) to improve performance and create sustainable value. In the GQC framework performance measurement results are considered as critical success factors. But this is not the case for the perceptions of key stakeholder groups. A study by de Meneze et al. (2022) challenges the perception that financial expectations can be met through a quality management system as they contradict perceptions based on high involvement management and mutual profit perspectives. In addition, a study by Nenadál (2020) highlights the absence of indicators related to obtaining results of criteria 6 and 7 of the EFQM 2020 model. In GQC stakeholders (people) at every level of an organization must participate and contribute to the achievement of its goals organization, without clear reference to their perceptions. Therefore, the results associated with these two factors and the organization's ability to implement its strategy, fulfill its purpose and create sustainable value that can be correlated with the existence of appropriate management systems and predictive models that will provide a clear picture of the current and future state of the organization, as a consequence of the effects of management decisions so far. According to the third stage of control of the Deming quality cycle (PDCA: Planning, Execution, Control, Action), the results obtained from the last two criteria will give the organization the necessary information for further action (stage 4: Action) and the future appropriateness of the organization. In conclusion, in order for an organization to create sustainable value it has to achieve outstanding results that satisfy all key stakeholder groups. Results orientation contributes to understanding current

and future requirements for high performance, setting realistic goals and in turn adds value and sustainability at every level.

- Organizations that wish to **transform** and improve can take advantage of the EFQM 2020 and change the current situation to the desired one by shaping the strategy, implementing processes and managing the results of the model. In the GQC framework, **performance measurement** includes evaluating processes, measuring and determining the performance of the processes implemented by the organization and includes, among other procedures, the evaluation of employee performance in the context of feedback and motivation to improve performance. In the EFQM 2020 model benchmarking focused on performance indicators and while is still listed as a pillar of RADAR methodology logic, it is visibly suppressed in the guidance points (Nenadál, 2020).
- **Technology** and **information systems** are key elements in both models to enable performance in EFQM 2020 and successfully implement quality management in GQC.

In the Glykas Quality Compass (GQC), the main management principles (table 2) are considered as necessary conditions or factors to achieve the ten quality concepts in the context of performance management practices. In the EFQM 2020 organizations use the model to prepare and then undergo external recognition by qualified EFQM assessors who review current activity, identify key strengths and weaknesses and provide relevant insights. The correlation carried out identified significant relationships between the EFQM 2020 model and the GQC, at the level of criteria and critical success factors, which can support and combine organizational excellence with quality in order to improve performance and create sustainable value.

4. CONCLUSION

Organizations use maturity models to evaluate how they work and compare it to best practices. Through comparison, they should be able to create their own roadmap to improve and determine the future desired level of maturity (Glykas, 2019). The holistic approach of the GQC maturity model, which combines CSFs with quality management principles and the use of organizational resources, can be applied to assess the maturity of EFQM 2021 implementation.

The results of the association of GQC with EFQM 2020 emphasize the importance of the contribution of excellence in improving the quality and performance of organizations that desire longterm results and sustainable value. GQC provides and integrates the critical success factors with management principles and organizational resources with business objectives and leads to an integrated framework of quality management and corporate sustainability. Accordingly, the EFQM 2020 model is based on the principle of creating a sustainable future through the criteria of strategy, leadership, corporate governance, stakeholder management to define organizational purpose and culture, and quality management (de Menezes et al., 2022). The criteria and guidelines of the EFQM 2020 model in line with the ten concepts of the GQC maturity assessment model, can support any organization, regardless of sector or size to be flexible in dealing with opportunities and threats, manage change, create sustainable value, improve organizational performance and adopt quality management principles in a general and holistic manner that will support business ethics and meet or exceed the expectations of key stakeholder groups.

The contribution of the present research through the QM maturity framework lies in the implementation of an integrated maturity framework in the criterions of EFMQ 2020. A literature review revealed that GQC is the only maturity model that makes a clear distinction and incorporates QM perspectives (TQM, Methodologies, Standards, and Excellence Awards). In addition, it provides a clear distinction between CSFs, quality management authorities and organizational resources (Glykas, 2019).

Research specialization is proposed to be applied to future research in a public administrative environment. The need to address the pathogenesis of the public sector, inefficiency and the growing demands of citizens for better services have led to the need to adopt approaches and practices of modern public management (Kritas et al., 2021). Implementation in a public organization evaluated by the criterions and certified of EFQM 2020 will contribute to the creation of a general GQC-EFQM 2020 matrix, by adapting and developing new techniques and methodology to be used as a reference by future researchers in the field of QM maturity assessment and a new toolkit for this case, which will be an extension of the research on implementation in public administration.

References

- Ahmed, J., Ur Rehman, H., & Ahmad Baig, S. (2022). Lda Topic Modelling On Job Advertisements To Analyze Transformation Of Traditional Quality To Quality 4.0. Webology, 19(2), 3992-4004. https://www.webology.org/data-cms/articles/20220226030613pmwebology%2019%20(2)%20-%20296%20pdf.pdf
- Asante, E., & Ngulube, P. (2020). Critical success factors for total quality management implementation and implications for sustainable academic libraries. *Library Management*, 41(6-7), 545-563. https://doi.org/10.1108/LM-02-2020-0017
- Cagnazzo, L., Taticchi, P. & Brun, A. (2010). The role of performance measurement systems to support quality improvement initiatives at supply chain level. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Measurement*, 59(2), 163-185. https://doi. org/10.1108/17410401011014249
- Calvo Mora, A., Ruiz-Moreno, C., Picón-Berjoyo, A., & Cauzo-Bottala, L. (2014). Mediation effect of TQM technical factors in excellence management systems. *Journal of Business Research*, 67 (5), 769–774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.11.042
- Dahlgaard-Park, S. M., Reyes, L., & Chen, C.-K. (2018). The evolution and convergence of total quality management and management theories. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 29(9-10), 1108-1128. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2018.1486556
- de Menezes, L. M., Escrig-Tena, A.B. and Bou-Llusar, J.C. (2022), "Sustainability and Quality Management: has EFQM fostered a Sustainability Orientation that delivers to stakeholders?", *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 42 No. 13, pp. 155-184. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-10-2021-0634
- Deming, W. E. (1986). Out of The Crisis. MIT Press
- Dessler, G. (2011). A Framework for Human Resource Management. 6th edition. Prentice Hall. Prentice Hall, Inc., A publishing imprint of Pearson Education
- EFQM Model Revised 2nd Edition. Retrieved October 2022, from https://efqm.org/ news/818-the-efqm-model-brochure/
- Evans, J. R (2008). Quality and performance excellence management, organization and strategy (5th ed.). Mason, OH: South-Western.
- Fonseca, L. (2022). The EFQM 2020 model. A theoretical and critical review. *Total Quality* Management & Business Excellence, 33(9), 1011-1038. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2 021.1915121
- Frolova, I. & Lapina, I. (2014). Corporate social responsibility in the framework of quality management. 19th International Scientific Conference; Economics and Management 2014,

ICEM 2014, 23-25 April 2014, Riga, Latvia. Procedia - *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 156(2014) 178 – 182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.11.166

- García-Alcaraz, J. L., Montalvo, F. J. F., Sánchez-Ramírez, C. Avelar-Sosa L. Saucedo J. A. M & Alor-Hernandez, G. (2019). Importance of organizational structure for TQM success and customer satisfaction. *Wireless Networks 27*, 1601–1614. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11276-019-02158-5
- Glykas, M. (2019). Quality Management Review: A Case Study of the Application of the Glykas Quality Implementation Compass. Journal of Multidisciplinary Engineering Science and Technology, 6(12), 11260-11279. https://www.jmest.org/wp-content/up-loads/JMESTN42353230.pdf
- Hsu, S-H., Chen, Y-F. & Chou, Y-C. (2021). Topic analysis of studies on total quality management and business excellence: an update on research from 2010 to 2019. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 33(9-10), 1039-1055. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1 4783363.2021.1916392
- Iordanoglou, D. (2008). Human Resource Management in modern organizations. New trends and practices. Kritiki Publications SA
- Jehangiri, R. (2017). Identification of Critical Success Factors for Total Quality Management Implementation in Organizations. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6(3) https://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000420
- Krajcsák, Z. (2019). Leadership strategies for enhancing employee commitment in TQM. Journal of Management Development, 38(6), 455-463. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JMD-02-2019-0056
- Kritas, D., Sidiropoulos, S., & Kakouris, D. (2021). Total Quality Management and leadership: a way to improve healthcare services in Greece. In: Sidiropoulos, S., Tzagkarakis, S. I. & Kritas, D. (Eds). *Ist Politeia International Conference Proceedings*. Europe at the Crossroads: Leadership, Challenges and State of Play. Hellenic Association of Political Scientists.
- Murthy, M. A. N., Sangwan, K. S. & Narahari N. S. (2021). Tracing evolution of EFQM and its relationship with Industry 4.0. Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2021.1999802
- Mondy, R. W. & Martocchio, J. J. (2019). Human Resources Management, 14th Edition. PEAR-SON Education, Inc. A publishing imprint of Pearson Education
- Monge-Mora, P. M., Oliveira, D. L. G., Shevchenko, K., Cabecinhas, M., & Domingues, P. (2020). Critical success factors during the implementation of ISO 22000:2018. Proceedings of the 4th ICQEM Conference, University of Minho, Portugal, 2020.
- Nenadál, J. (2020). The New EFQM Model: What is Really New and Could Be Considered as a Suitable Tool with Respect to Quality 4.0 Concept? *Quality Innovation Prosperity*, 24(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.12776/qip.v24i1.1415
- Ooi, K. B., The, P.-L. & Chong, A. Y. -L. (2009). Developing an integrated model of TQM and HRM on KM activities. *Management Research News*. 32(5), 477-490 https://doi.org/110.1108/01409170910952976
- Petridou, E. (2011). Management: An Introductory Approach. "Sofia" Publications
- Para-González L., Jiménez-Jiménez D. & Martínez-Lorente A.-R. (2022). Does EFQM enhance learning and innovation? *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 33(7-8), 727-751. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2021.1890016
- Periañez-Cristobal, R., Arturo Calvo-Mora, A., Rey-Moreno, M. & Suárez, E. (2021). Organisational profiles: key factors and results from the EFQM model perspective. *Total Quality Management*, 32(16). 1850–1873. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2020.1787144

- Shafiqah, N., Daril, M. A. M. & Subari, K. (2020). A Study of the Critical Success Factor of Quality Tools and Techniques Implementation: A Current Review. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7 (8). https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.08.288
- Yusr, M. M., Mokhtar, S. S. M., Othman, A. R., & Sulaiman, Y. (2017). Does interaction between TQM practices and knowledge management processes enhance the innovation performance?. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 34(7), 955-974, https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-09-2014-0138

Zalvanos, M. (2006). Quality in Services and Products, Stamoulis Publications SA



The Level of Development - Students' Perceptions and Beyond: The Case of Balkan Countries

Vladimir Šimić¹ **b** Lena Malešević Perović² **b**

Received: November 15, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Level of development; Students' perception; HDI index; Life satisfaction

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** This paper investigates the level of development in Balkan countries through comparison of the common development indicators. A starting point is the perception of the level of economic development by a group of first year economics students at the Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism in Split, Croatia. With the students typically not being aware (familiar) of how rich (poor) their country is, this study provides a deeper investigation of the level of development of Croatia and compares it with several countries from the neighborhood. The investigation employs commonly used indicators of economic development - GNI (Gross national income) per capita as usually reported by the World Bank, but also takes into account additional indicators like HDI (Human development index) and life satisfaction indicator. Overall, the study provides an interesting review and comparisons between countries and resolves some misperceptions that are typically present in general public.

1. INTRODUCTION

The public's understanding of economic indicators is, arguably, vital for a well-functioning society. However, in spite of the commonly established fact that their understanding is extremely low, research on this topic is very scarce (Runge & Hudson, 2020). There are, of course, considerable differences in economic knowledge among different groups of population. One would assume that students of economics, for example, would perform better than the average nonprofessional does, in assessing the economic stance of a country. Our own 20-year experience in teaching economics at the Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism in Split, however, shows that even students sometimes struggle with understanding the relative position of a country in the world income distribution. This paper, therefore, overviews the level of economic development of Balkan countries through common development indicators, and contrasts them with students' perception of economic development.

As noted by Brandts et al. (2022), more often than not, general public views of the economy are at odds with reality, i.e. with the data as well as theory. They, therefore, label these conditions as misconceptions. Following Bensley and Lilienfeld (2017), they go on to argue that these misconceptions, which represent behavioral and mental processes refuted by psychological research, can be applied to other fields of science also. Analogously, misconceptions exist in economics as well, whereby widespread opinions about the state of the economy can conflict with the empirical evidence. It is important to be aware of these misconceptions, and work on their refute, as they may lead to sub-optimal economic policies. Hopkins (2012), similarly, notes that, in the US, public opinion and presidential approval depend primarily on perceptions of the economic variables being readily available in everyday life, perceptions of economic performance often

¹ Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, University of Split, Cvite Fiskovića 5, 21000 Split, Croatia

² Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism, University of Split, Cvite Fiskovića 5, 21000 Split, Croatia



deviate from the actual values. Along the same lines, Hauser and Norton (2017) argue that laypeople's perceptions about the economic stance of a country can affect their attitudes toward various economic matters, even though they can be false. Hauser and Norton (2017) particularly focus on misperceptions of inequality, and find that people tend to underestimate the degree of inequality that exists in their country. In exploring what determines these perceptions, they identify three key factors. First, people tend to generalize, and believe that whatever exists in their immediate surroundings can be applied to the whole economy. Second, the extent of media coverage of a certain topic has a large effect on people's perceptions. Lastly, people who accept hierarchies are more likely to accept higher levels of inequality. A largescale study by Runge and Hudson (2020) investigates the public understanding of economics and economics statistics in the UK, and finds that people typically assess economic issues from their personal economic situation, and that the national economy is something abstract to them. GDP, in particular, is found to be a rather uncomprehensive measure, with less than 50% of the British public being able to define it. Participants in focus groups in this research could not see the connection between the performance of their personal economy and economic performance at the state level.

When it comes to economic indicators, the difference between perception and reality, be it by lay public's or economics students', therefore, seems to be significant and worth exploring. This paper attempts at investigating this issue further by presenting official data on various indicators of development, thus creating a basis for objective valuation of the relative economic positions of selected countries.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents students' (mis)perception of economic development. Empirical data on the typical indicators of economic development across Balkan countries is presented in Section 3. Directions for future research are discussed in Section 4. Concluding remarks are outlined in Section 5.

2. THE LEVEL OF DEVELOPMENT – STUDENTS' PERCEPTIONS

The level of economic development is an important topic in economics, but it also stands as a subject of great interest and importance in the general public. This comes only natural as it is directly connected with the standard of living people around the world enjoy in their countries. Unfortunately, despite the enormous technological advances and all the economic successes that man has achieved resulting in historically high productivity, the world is still faced with huge inequalities around the globe. While in some countries people live in prosperity and huge wealth, the number of people and countries living in extreme poverty in the least developed parts of the world is stubbornly high and resistant. World Bank is among the institutions that deal with the issue of economic development, strongly recognizing the need to help people around the world rise from poverty. As an institution that investigates these important issues, the World Bank classifies countries into four groups using the indicator GNI (Gross National Income) *per capita*, calculated using the World Bank Atlas method. These four groups of countries are as follows:

- 1. High-income economies (Rich economies) a GNI per capita of \$13,205 or more in 2021.
- 2. Upper middle-income economies a GNI *per capita* between \$4,256 and \$13,205.
- 3. Lower middle-income economies a GNI per capita between \$1,086 and \$4,255.
- 4. Low-income economies (Poor economies) a GNI *per capita* of \$1,085 or less in 2021. (see https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups for more details).

A snapshot from the World Bank country classification (available at https://blogs.worldbank. org/opendata/new-world-bank-country-classifications-income-level-2022-2023) presented below, pictures nicely the dispersion of countries and world regions by income levels (by the level of economic development).



Figure 1. World Bank country classification by income level



Figure 1 nicely presents the differences in the income level between the countries in the world. As can be seen, the rich economies (high-income countries) are situated in North America, Europe and the Pacific. The poor economies (low-income countries) are mostly in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia. To provide a comparison, the GNI *per capita* in, for example, Norway is 84090 US\$ in 2021, whilst the same indicator in Congo stands at 580 US\$, suggesting that GNI *per capita* in Norway is 145 times higher than the one in Congo. Indeed, this difference is gigantic. This difference in GNI *per capita* represents a huge gap in productivity levels and consequently will be reflected in the standards of living people in these countries enjoy.

Using this World Bank classification of countries across the four groups, we investigated as to what first year students at the Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism in Split, Croatia believed to which group a specific country belonged. This interview (an online game) was conducted using the Kahoot platform which is often used in playing games with students using their mobile phones. In general, these sorts of games make lectures much more interesting and keep the students more engaged and interested in the topics being discussed. To provide honest and objective answers students were allowed to use nicknames of their choice so that they can participate freely without worrying what their fellow students or teachers will think of their answers. This online game was conducted in December 2021 among first-year undergraduate economics students. The game was played by 100+ participants. A question was posed to 10 countries and students had to pick one answer. One example of the question posed is: "According to the World Bank classification of countries which classifies countries in 4 groups Switzerland belongs to...." and the offered answers included the classification explained above (high income-countries, upper middle-income countries, lower middle-income countries and low-income countries). The students were asked to decide on ten countries as follows: Switzerland, Austria, Congo, Germany, Norway, China, Croatia, USA, Angola and India. The results of this game are presented in Table 1 below.

	Swit- zerland	Austria	Congo	Ger- many	Norway	China	Croatia	USA	Angola	India
Participants	100	92	101	102	101	102	104	99	95	100
Correct answer	69	29	48	74	58	25	6	76	37	36
% correct answer	69.00	31.52	47.52	72.55	57.43	24.51	5.77	76.77	38.95	36.00
Group as classified by WB	HI	HI	LI	HI	HI	UPI	HI	HI	LMI	LMI
Most believed	HI	UMI	LI	HI	HI	HI	LMI	HI	LI	LMI
	69	56	48	74	58	72	75	76	47	36
Most believed %	69.00	60.87	47.52	72.55	57.43	70.59	72.12	76.77	49.47	36.00

Notes: HI – high income (rich) country; UMI – upper middle income country; LMI – lower middle income country; LI – low income (poor) country

Table 1 reveals many interesting findings. It appears that the first year undergraduate students guessed (answered) most correctly (i.e. with the highest percentage of correct answers) mainly in the group of the richest economies those being USA, Germany and Switzerland with the percentages 76.77%, 72.55% and 69%, respectively. To take USA as an example, the data in the table reveal the following. USA is classified by World Bank in the group of high income (rich) countries. 76 out 99 students (76.77%) correctly answered that USA belongs to the group of high income countries. Among the countries for which the students answered least correctly (i.e. with the lowest percentage of correct answers) are Austria, China and Croatia with percentages 31.52%, 24.51% and 5.77%, respectively. In the case of Austria, World Bank classified this country in the group of high income (rich) countries, while only one third of students correctly recognized this fact. An interesting finding is also that only one quarter of students classified China correctly, i.e. in the group of upper middle income countries (as classified by World Bank). The lowest percentage of correct answers is, interestingly, in the case of Croatia. World Bank classifies Croatia as a high income (rich) country. Only 5.77% of students classified Croatia correctly as a rich country. What appears to be most interesting from these data is that it was Croatian students that classified their own country the least correctly. We repeat: only 5.77% of students were familiar with the fact that Croatia is classified by the World Bank as a rich economy. This suggests that there seems to exist a huge misperception about the level of economic development by Croatian students. Interestingly, this misperception is identified among economics students which are expected to be more familiar with economic matters in society. One has to pose the question of what would the percentages be among, for example, law students or the general public. This immediately invites another, detailed investigation across different professions, or even the general public, not only in Croatia but possibly across different countries which would allow interesting comparisons. The

reader would probably by now start considering the question of how representative the sample under investigation is and whether any strong conclusions may be drawn from a sample of 100 firstyear undergraduate students. While this concern, and possible criticism, admittedly, is easy to understand, let us state that we only use this investigation as a starting point to highlight the need to explore the economic facts concerning economic development further, and familiarize society with these important issues. Indeed, low awareness (or consciousness) about economic reality strongly questions the ability of people to make individual or social choices correctly.

Another interesting part of Table 1 reveals which group most of the students (and in which percentage) believed a country belonged to. Attention should be dedicated to those countries in the table where the students' beliefs and official World Bank classifications did not match. This will typically be the case where the least correct answers by students were given (i.e. the countries with the lowest percentage of correct answers). The first country where we can notice this mismatch is Austria. While Austria is classified by World Bank to be a rich (high income) country, only one third of students responded in this vein. Most of the students (60.87%) believed Austria belonged to the upper middle income group. China is also an interesting example but the students' answers here went in the opposite direction, i.e. students believed that China is more developed (has a higher income per capita) than is actually the case. Thus, World Bank classified China in the group of upper middle income countries, whilst most of the students (70.59%) believed (wrongly obviously) China belonged to the group of high income (rich) economies. Of particular importance for this study is the Croatian case. As outlined above, the percentage of correct answers was by far the lowest, with only 5.77% of students correctly identifying that Croatia is a rich economy by World Bank classification. This misperception is further exacerbated by the percentage of students believing that Croatia belonged in one of the below-rich income groups. 72.12% of students responded that by World Bank classification Croatia belonged into the lower middle income group, two income classes below the actual income class. These wrong perceptions clearly invite a much broader investigation, probably more of a sociological sort of study being adopted. For the purpose of present study, we use this as a starting point which invites the investigation as to what the actual level of development in Croatia is (apparently different from what is usually thought if the data at hand are to be trusted) and how it ranks to some of the neighboring countries. In the rest of this study we, thus, focus on investigation of the relative level of economic development in Croatia and some Balkan countries, compared to the rest of the world.

3. EMPIRICAL DATA

In this section, we investigate and present graphically the data on various development indicators. We start with the GNI *per capita*, that is used by the World Bank when classifying the countries across the four income groups (i.e. by the level of economic development). We present the data for Croatia, and in order to allow comparison we also include other Balkan countries (by applying the geographical criterion this would include the following countries: Albania, Bulgaria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Greece, Kosovo,³ Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia, Slovenia and Romania). We use the latest year available, which is 2021.

Figure 2 provides interesting insights into economic development of Balkan countries using the GNI *per capita*, the indicator used by World Bank to classify countries across the four groups explored earlier. The countries which have their GNI *per capita* above the red dashed line are classified by the World Bank as high income (rich) economies. These would include

³ Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99.

Slovenia, Greece, Croatia and Romania. The remaining countries are classified as upper middle income economies (above the blue full line and below the red dashed line). Out of the 11 Balkan countries presented in Figure 2, Slovenia appears to have the highest GNI *per capita*. Greece ranks second, whilst, interestingly, Croatia is ranked third, lagging behind Slovenia and Greece only. We in particular focus on Croatia here, as we used the survey of Croatian students as a starting point for our investigation. Thus, not only Croatia is classified as a high income country, but it also ranks pretty well among the other Balkan countries, outperforming all countries except Slovenia and Greece. Romania and Bulgaria, even though being EU members longer than Croatia, are also behind Croatia. Although the typical perception by people in Balkan countries is that they live in dire economic circumstances, the data in Figure 2 appear to suggest none of the countries would be classified as a poor economy by the World Bank. Apparently it is the case that none of the countries would be classified as a lower middle income economy.



Source: World Bank WDI

Economists are, of course, aware that comparisons between countries should also take into account different price levels of goods and services across countries. To that end, the indicators (e.g. GDP *per capita* or GNI *per capita*) may be modified and used in their PPP (purchasing power parity) versions. We present GNI *per capita* in PPP form in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3. GNI per capita (PPP) across selected countries (in US \$) Source: World Bank WDI

Figure 3 reveals that the differences among countries are less pronounced when PPP data are used. Expectedly, with the PPP modification in all the countries GNI *per capita* is at significantly higher levels. Slovenia ranks first again, whilst Romania follows. Croatia is again in third place, with Greece weakening its position and being ranked only fourth. Kosovo⁴ remains at the bottom even with this modification to the GNI *per capita* indicator.

In order to provide somewhat broader perspective on economic development and to account for some of the criticisms of the GDP (or GNI) data we include additional indicators in our analysis (for criticisms of GDP as a measure of wellbeing see for example Stiglitz et al., 2009; Fleurbaey, 2009; Fraumeni, 2022). Namely, economic development is defined by Encyclopedia Britannica as "the process whereby simple, low-income national economies are transformed into modern industrial economies" (Krueger & Myint, 2022). It is often used interchangeably with GDP *per capita*, even though these two terms are not the same. Namely, GDP *per capita* measures economic performance of a country and is useful for making cross-country comparisons of average living standards. However, it also entails some weaknesses. For example, GDP *per capita* does not take into account income distribution, informal economy, ecological and health issues, life satisfaction, etc. Overall, it does not reflect a nation's welfare. The term economic development goes beyond GDP *per capita*, in that it additionally accounts for poverty reduction and income redistribution. One of the key indicators that measure economic development is Human Development Index (HDI).

HDI incorporates three main dimensions of human development: health dimension (measured by life expectancy at birth), education dimension (assessed via mean of years of schooling for adults aged 25 years and more, and expected years of schooling for children of school entering age) and the standard of living (measured by gross national income *per capita*). Overall index results from the aggregation of the above-listed three dimensions using geometric mean. The overall index (column 1), the three dimensions (columns 2a, 2b, 3 and 4), as well as the HDI rank (column 5) out of 191 countries, are given in Table 2.

	(1)	(2a)	(2b)	(3)	(4)	(5)					
	Human Development Index (HDI)	Life expectancy at birth	Expected years of schooling	Mean years of schooling	Gross national income (GNI) <i>per capita</i>	HDI rank					
Country	Value	(years)	(years)	(years)	(2017 PPP \$)						
	2021	2021	2021	2021	2021	2021					
VERY HIGH HUM	VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT										
Slovenia	0.918	80.7	17.7	12.8	39,746	23					
Greece	0.887	80.1	20.0	11.4	29,002	33					
Croatia	0.858	77.6	15.1	12.2	30,132	40					
Montenegro	0.832	76.3	15.1	12.2	20,839	49					
Romania	0.821	74.2	14.2	11.3	30,027	53					
HIGH HUMAN DE	VELOPMENT										
Albania	0.796	76.5	14.4	11.3	14,131	67					
Bulgaria	0.795	71.8	13.9	11.4	23,079	68					
Bosnia and Herzegovina	0.780	75.3	13.8	10.5	15,242	74					
North Macedonia	0.770	73.8	13.6	10.2	15,918	78					
World	0.732	71.4	12.8	8.6	16,752						

Table 2. Human development index for selected countries in 2021

Source: https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/human-development-index#/indicies/HDI

⁴ Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99.

The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), in addition to publishing the data on HDI, categorizes countries into four categories depending on the level of human development achieved. As can be seen from Table 2, of the Balkan countries in our sample, Slovenia, Greece, Croatia, Montenegro and Romania pertain to the category of Very high human development. Albania, Bulgaria, Bosnia and Herzegovina and North Macedonia are listed in the category High human development. Neither of the countries in our sample pertains to the groups: Medium human development and Low human development. As for the HDI components, the analyzed Balkan countries mostly pertain to high-levels of development in each of the three components.

Finally, acknowledging the fact that high income and/or level of development need not necessarily reflect one's wellbeing, i.e. subjective feeling of satisfaction with one's life, we also look at the life-satisfaction data. Quality of life or life satisfaction indicators typically measure how people evaluate their life as a whole by asking them to rate their satisfaction with life on various scales. These are often used in addition to GDP as an indication of the overall wellbeing in a country. Figure 4 shows the relationship between GDP *per capita* and self-reported life satisfaction in our sample of countries in 2020⁵.



Source: World Happiness Report (2022); Data compiled from multiple sources by World Bank OurWorldInData.org/happiness-and-life-satisfaction/ • CC BY



Figure 4 depicts a clear positive relationship between the two variables, suggesting that in countries with higher GDP *per capita* people report higher levels of life-satisfaction. Moreover, the levels of reported life-satisfaction are high in our sample of countries relative to the rest of the world, with all the countries being above level 5. Figure 5 further shows that once a trend line is added to

5

The data was not available for 2021.

the above scatter gram, a following picture emerges. The dots that represent Kosovo,⁶ Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia, Croatia, Romania and Slovenia are all above the trend line, suggesting that people in these countries have a subjective feeling of satisfaction with life that is greater than their GDP levels would suggest. In Albania, North Macedonia, Montenegro, Bulgaria and Greece, on the other hand, one's life-satisfaction is less that one would expect looking purely at GDP numbers.



Figure 5. Relationship between self-reported life satisfaction and GDP per capita in 2020 in selected Balkan countries

Source: Ortiz-Ospina and Roser (2013)

Overall, therefore, there is no reason to perceive the observed Balkan countries, and Croatia in particular, as relatively under-developed. More precisely, the data shows that Croatia is ranked as high-income country (according to the World Bank classification); a country with a very high level of human development (according to UNDP classification) and a country with high levels of life satisfaction.

4. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Level of development and the related standard of living is one of the most important issues in people's life. Given its huge importance, the misperception related to the standard of living people enjoy in their countries comes as a big surprise. While this issue of misperception of development has been present in economic literature, it certainly deserves more attention. One direction for future avenues of research is provided in our study. In particular, we would suggest a broader line of inquiry to be followed with a much higher number of respondents being interviewed about the level of development. In addition to economics students, it would be interesting to investigate students' perception across different scientific disciplines. Additionally, it might be interesting to broaden the country coverage to explore if there are significant differences in students' perception of development among economics students in Croatia and the neighboring countries.

5. CONCLUSION

This paper investigated the level of development across Balkan countries. A starting point for the investigation was the (mis)perception of economic development by a group of first year economics students at the Faculty of Economics, Business and Tourism in Split, Croatia. The

⁶ Under UN Security Council Resolution 1244/99.

typical misperception motivated a deeper investigation of the level of development of Croatia and comparison with countries from the Balkan neighborhood. The investigation of the common indicators of economic development like GNI *per capita*, as well as additional indicators like HDI indicators and life satisfaction, suggests that objectively people in Croatia and the neighboring Balkan countries live relatively good lives. This, in particular, holds for Slovenia, Greece, Croatia and Bulgaria which are classified by the World Bank as rich economies. Other investigated countries are classified as upper middle income economies. By HDI indicators these countries also fare relatively well, being classified as countries with either very high or high human development. Overall, the study provides an interesting review and comparisons between countries and resolves some misperceptions that are typically present in general public.

References

- Bensley, D.A. & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2017). Psychological Misconceptions: Recent Scientific Advances and Unresolved Issues. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 26(4), 377–382.
- Brandts, J., Busom, I., Lopez-Mayan, C. & Panadés, J. (2022). Dispelling Misconceptions in Economics. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 88, 1-19.
- Fleurbaey, M. (2009). Beyond GDP: The Quest for a Measure of Social Welfare. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47(4), 1029-1075.
- Fraumeni, B. (2022). Gross domestic product: Are other measures needed? *IZA World of Labor* (available at: https://wol.iza.org/uploads/articles/609/pdfs/gross-domestic-product-are-oth-er-measures-needed.pdf) (https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.368.v2)
- Hauser, O. P. & Norton, M.I. (2017). (Mis)perceptions of Inequality, *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 18, 21-25.
- Hopkins, D. J. (2012). Whose Economy? Perceptions of National Economic Performance During Unequal Growth. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 76(1), 50–71.
- https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/new-world-bank-country-classifications-income-level-2022-2023
- https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups
- Krueger, A.O., & Myint, H. (2022). Economic development. Encyclopedia Britannica, 14 Oct. 2022, https://www.britannica.com/topic/economic-development. Accessed 27 October 2022.
- Ortiz-Ospina, E. & Roser, M. (2013). Happiness and Life Satisfaction. Published online at Our-WorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/happiness-and-life-satisfaction' [Online Resource, details on GDP and happiness available at: https://ourworldindata. org/grapher/gdp-vs-happiness, accessed November 5th 2022]
- Runge, J. & Hudson, N. (2020). Public Understanding of Economics and Economic Statistics. EScoE Occasional Paper 03
- Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A. & Fitoussi J. P. (2009). Report by the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress. Paris: Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress, 2009.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). (2022). Human Development Report 2021-22: Uncertain Times, Unsettled Lives: Shaping our Future in a Transforming World. New York. Available at: https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/human-development-index#/indicies/HDI [accessed November 5th 2022]



Received: November 21, 2022

Accepted: December 7, 2022

Published: June 12, 2023

Industry 4.0 Process-Operations Management Maturity Assessment: A Literature Survey

Anastasia Vlastaridou¹ Christos Mpafas² Georgios Melidis³ Michail Glykas⁴

Keywords: Industry 4.0; Operations management; Maturity assessment; Digital transformation

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** The aim is to demonstrate the necessity of evaluating industry 4.0 maturity in order to discover capabilities and opportunities for potential ongoing improvements to company operation management. There will be a thorough review of the literature in the areas of operations management and Industry 4.0. Because there aren't enough tools and terms to help firms assess their attempts to undergo digital transformation, the paper's findings show that they are unable to establish their Industry 4.0 maturity level. It is critical to assess their effectiveness and develop strategies and practices that work by employing evaluation frameworks and models. A digital transformation maturity model is necessary. There is no prior research that offers a comprehensive examination.

1. INTRODUCTION

Industry 4.0 (or I4.0) is understood as a new industrial stage in which there is integration between manufacturing operations systems and information and communication technologies (Glogovac et al., 2020). Industry 4.0 affects various aspects of our lives, such as employment, consumption, and trade and refers to the process of transforming an industrial facility into a modern one. Industry 4.0 can help improve a firm's financial performance and stock returns. It helps companies improve their efficiency and profitability of manufacturing through increased product connectivity.

Manufacturing organizations are not able to define their I4.0 maturity level. This is due to the lack of tools and definitions that can help them assess their digital transformation journey. Through the use of assessment frameworks and models, enterprises can help themselves in evaluating their progress and develop effective strategies and practices. An assessing digital transformation maturity model is needed to help companies define their digital transformation strategy.

The term maturity refers to a state of being complete, perfect, or ready for the next step in the development of a system. Maturing systems refer to the accumulation of capabilities that can be utilized for a desirable future state. A maturity model is a tool that measures and evaluates an organization's maturity. It can be performed continuously or discretely. Maturity can be labeled as readiness models.

⁴ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece



¹ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

² Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

³ Department of Financial and Management Engineering, School of Engineering, University of the Aegean, Kountouriotou 42, Chios, 82100, Greece

2. INDUSTRY 4.0 AND MATURITY MODELS

Industry 4.0 (or I4.0) is a conceptual framework that focuses on the continuous evolution of the physical world. Its various components are cyber-physical systems, Internet and future-oriented technologies, and smart systems. The increasing complexity of business operations can be handled through the enhanced connectivity of these human–machine paradigms (Fonseca et al., 2021).

Before the 4th industrial revolution, the 3rd industrial revolution started with the introduction of robots and computers. The 3rd industrial revolution followed the 2nd with the development of mass production and electric vehicles and before was the 1st with mechanical production and steam-powered machines. Industry 4.0 is a framework for uniting the physical and virtual worlds. It features a variety of technologies such as artificial intelligence, 3D printing, Big data and analytics and simulations, etc.

Industry 4.0 is a methodology for transforming manufacturing from a machine-dominated to a digital-dominated state. The Industry 4.0 standard must be thoroughly understood in order to achieve a successful transformation. It's critical to assess Industry 4.0 components and characteristics in order to determine the fundamental pillars of a concrete future manufacturing environment (Oztemel & Gursev, 2020).

Industry 4.0 refers to the digital transformation of the entire industry, which involves the virtual representation of various business models and systems. It is a set of principles that aims to accelerate the evolution of organizational efficiency and adopt new business models that are designed to address the circular economy. Industry 4.0 uses a set of processes and products that are designed to support intelligent and efficient processes. It is supported by nine pillars: The Industrial Internet of Things (IoT), Cloud computing, Big data, Simulation, Augmented reality (AR), Additive manufacturing, Horizontal and vertical system integration, Autonomous robots, and Cybersecurity (CS). The IoT is a concept that enables people and things to connect and interact with each other. Cloud computing provides a variety of advantages, such as reducing hardware complexity, improving system performance, and facilitating data sharing. Big data refers to the large volume of information that can be collected and analyzed quickly, with advanced techniques. Simulation is the process of developing digital twin models that can improve productivity and maintenance performance. Augmented reality improves a person's performance by providing them with the information they need to complete a given task. Additive manufacturing (or 3D printing) is a technology used for the rapid creation of 3D models and prototypes. It can be used for the design and development of new products and business models. Horizontal and vertical system integration, with collaborative scenarios of system integration and real-time sharing. Autonomous robots with artificial intelligence and improved adaptation and flexibility can support different manufacturing processes and decrease production costs. Cybersecurity is related to a high level of information security and involves technology to protect, detect, and respond to attacks (Fonseca et al., 2021).

Artificial intelligence (AI) can help minimize waste and improve efficiency by developing new solutions that can solve real-world problems. Increased automation can improve processes and reduce human stress while reducing environmental impacts. Industry 4.0 can help companies reduce waste and improve the profitability of their product lifecycle by delivering real-time data to their decision makers. Some benefits of I4.0 that have been identified are business processes

integration across the entire value chain, the ability to improve productivity and efficiency, reduce costs and improve the customer's experience, support new business models that allow customers to create value through innovative products and services, improve the quality of products, and minimize the impact on the environment and focus on optimizing resource utilization and social sustainability.

The combination of I4.0 and methodologies can help improve employee morale, reduce lead times, improve product quality, and reduce waste. It is also identified that Industry 4.0's potential negative impacts on sustainability are considerable. These include increased labor-saving technologies and consumption rates, which could result in higher resource consumption and income inequality.

Due to the continuous evolution of industries, quality concepts have also undergone a major change. This has led to the emergence of digital transformation processes, which help organizations achieve better quality and performance. Through the Digital Transformation process, we can transform an organization and its various business models and operations. This process brings new strategic objectives and enhances the organization's capabilities. Digital transformation is driving businesses to create new jobs and improve their operations.

3. INDUSTRY 4.0 AND OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

Industry 4.0 has been defined as technology advancements, organizational re-designs, operations management developments, and market revolutions in fields such as engineering, management, control, and data science. Industry 4.0, according to Piccarozzi et al. (2018), is the integration of Internet of Things technologies into industrial value creation, allowing manufacturers to harness completely digitized, connected, smart, and decentralized value chains capable of delivering greater flexibility and robustness to firm competitiveness and enabling them to build flexible and adaptable business structures with the permanent ability for internal evolution (Dmitry et al., 2021).

There are only a few studies on industry 4.0 in the operations management research field. Recent studies have revealed that, in the context of industry 4.0, operations management research has mostly focused on industrial applications of technologies including additive manufacturing, the Internet of Things, blockchain, advanced robots, and artificial intelligence (Dmitry et al., 2021). From the perspective of operations management, Industry 4.0 refers to the consistency of technologies, organizational concepts, and management principles that underpin a cost-effective, responsive, resilient, and sustainable network that is data-driven and dynamically and structurally adaptable to changes in demand and supply by rapid rearrangement and reallocating its components and capabilities.

Researchers have provided several overviews of the changes in organization, technology, and management that have culminated in industry 4.0 during the last four decades. The 1980s and 1990s saw a shift from stable markets served by mass production to increasingly volatile variety and volume market environments that necessitated adaptable, small-lot manufacturing using technologies like flexible manufacturing systems (FMS) and reconfigurable manufacturing systems (RMS) (Dmitry et al., 2021). Advances in manufacturing and information technology enable and support the development of computer-integrated manufacturing (CIM) and automated manufacturing processes, which are enabled and supported by novel systems such as enterprise resource planning (ERP) and modular and fractal factories. The key management and organizational principles of these periods were flexibility and integration.

To serve the increasingly unpredictable new market models, the evolution between 2000 and 2010 was marked by the development of management principles such as coordination, collaboration, decentralization, and agility. Advances in information and manufacturing technologies, such as multi-agent systems, complex adaptive systems, RFID, and APS (advanced planning systems), enabled the adoption of these new organizational principles (Dmitry et al. 2021). The virtual enterprise framework, as well as vendor-managed inventory (VMI) and collaborative planning, forecasting, and replenishment (CPFR) principles, were developed around the same time. In virtual firms, supply chain dynamics included so-called competence cells or agents networking. Collaborative control theory is another contribution that can be considered a water-shed moment in the development of industrial enterprise systems. Collaborative control is based on the idea of combining decentralized agent-oriented control with bio-inspired coordination and control, adaptation, and learning.

The constituent components of a nascent Industry 4.0 (e.g. collaborative robots, sensors, agents, modular factories, Internet-of-Things (IoT), etc.) were familiar to some in the industry in the early 2010s, but their relative utility and utilization contexts and requirements were not evident (Dmitry et al. 2021). Attempts to connect these local solutions frequently failed. Following significant advancements in data processing and robotics technologies, this became practical later. Industry 4.0 is producing major consequences such as digital supply chains, smart manufacturing, and cloud manufacturing. Sensors, autonomous guided vehicles (AGVs), blockchain, additive manufacturing, augmented reality, Big data analytics, track&trace systems (T&T), and mobile robots are all helping to construct cyber-physical systems (CPS) in production and supply chains.

New disruptive manufacturing and supply chain business models have emerged, in which supply chains are no longer thought of as inflexible physical systems with the fixed and static allocation of specific processes to specific enterprises. Separate physical firms provide supply, production, logistics, and sales services at different periods, resulting in dynamic process allocation and supply chain topologies. Electronic merchants, for example, are leveraging their massive transactional and behavioral customer data to provide customers with new options to try, experience, and purchase their products (e.g., Amazon with Alexa). Logistics and supply chain control with real-time data, dynamic resource allocation in Industry 4.0 customized assembly systems, improving forecasting models using Big data and combining optimization, machine learning algorithms, and agent-based modeling for supply chain resilience are all examples of digitalized supply chain and operations (Dmitry et al. 2021).

Intelligent logistics solutions, such as the IoT-based Omni-Channel Logistics Service, can help manufacturers, retailers, and logistics providers exploit synergies and facilitate real-time self-optimization. Supplier relationship management is also determined by integrated information systems and enhanced forecasting methods (SRM) (Caiado et al., 2021). Blockchain technologies can help with real-time information sharing from the supply chain to numerous parties for increased transparency, allowing suppliers and buyers in virtual markets to employ intermediate manufacturing resources and services.

Industry 4.0 is drastically transformed operational Operations Management tasks and decision-support systems, particularly in manufacturing and logistics. Manufacturing is the primary application of Industry 4.0 engineering technology and infrastructure. The majority of data processing technologies are used in the decision-making domains of planning and sourcing. The communication component of Industry 4.0 dominates the logistics space.

One of the key features of Industry 4.0 is an individual approach to customers, which is why concepts for customer involvement/integration in the value creation process (Customer Order Decoupling Point, Co-Creation, Co-Development, and so on) are becoming increasingly important for manufacturing operations management (Koleva & Andreev, 2018).

The advantages that are expected to accompany Industry 4.0 appear to be numerous. Automation improves product quality while also increasing the efficiency of industrial processes. This is especially relevant when considering the transformation that many businesses are going through as a result of Industry 4.0. Lower product processing time, manufacturing cost reduction, improved value chain coordination, enhanced process flexibility, better customer service, and higher product customization are a few of the benefits that Industry 4.0 technologies can provide in the management of operations. Because many of these benefits are centered on process automation, they can provide outputs for a variety of areas within operations management, particularly in technology management. Additionally, automated processes can improve all actions carried out in a company, resulting in improvements in all areas of operations management.

Industry 4.0 technology can still transform a company's core competences, and it's been highlighted as an enabler of several operations management concepts, such as agile manufacturing and mass customization. Lean manufacturing is a commonly utilized method that strives to reduce waste while increasing productivity and quality following customer needs (Schumacher et al., 2016). The application of the lean strategy is based on a human-centered approach to numerous management ideas and practices. This technique is frequently cited in contrast to the consequence of implementing Industry 4.0 technologies, which tends to reduce human involvement.

4. INDUSTRY 4.0: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

In the current setting, global industries are confronted with significant economic issues as a result of the rapid rate of societal and technical development, such as declining natural resource availability, rising energy prices, an aging workforce, and market globalization. Customer demands for enhanced product-service innovation, product diversity, quality standards, support services, and immediate gratification are also on the rise.

In order to meet these difficulties, industrial businesses must be able to manage their entire value chain flexibly and responsively. Companies require virtual and physical frameworks that enable close collaboration and rapid adaptation across the whole lifecycle, from product development to distribution.

Industry 4.0 is a set of pull applications and push technologies that enable the high level of sustainability required in future factories (Landeta Echeberria, 2020). Industry 4.0 addresses today's resource and energy efficiency concerns, as well as urban production and population change, by enabling ongoing resource productivity and efficiency.

Internet-based and Internet of Services are two of the most widely pushed technologies, with fresh improvements in computational capacity favoring cloud computing and services. These

technologies have the potential to usher in a new generation of service-based industrial systems with on-device and cloud-based features. Talented employees, a robust IT infrastructure, economic power, and forward-thinking manufacturers are required to develop these technologies and applications successfully.

An Industry 4.0 factory has the potential to predict future products and respond to increased variety and complexity at low cost and with minimal environmental effect.

Management challenges in adopting Industry 4.0 are challenges that pertain to managerial issues in implementing Industry 4.0. These difficulties can include, for example, a lack of financial resources, a lack of personnel resources, security concerns, and so on. These issues can arise as a result of either the overall deployment of the Industry 4.0 concept or the implementation of a specific Industry 4.0 technology category.

Technology implementation challenges in Industry 4.0 relate to specific technical issues that arise during the deployment of Industry 4.0. Device incompatibility, data analysis, algorithm development, and other issues are examples of these problems. Technological obstacles are associated with the execution of a given technology category.

Industrial artificial intelligence is constrained by the physical nature of the systems and processes it manages, which other types of artificial intelligence are not. Retrieving industrial data in sufficient quantity and diversity to train industrial or defense artificial intelligence is extremely difficult. Industries are hesitant to divulge data that could reveal product manufacturing processes. The demand for competence has increased. Industrial artificial intelligence models are more difficult to create, train, and test, and the costs of failure are higher.

Industrial artificial intelligent systems frequently rely on data gathered via sensors that attempt to digitally represent the real environment, as opposed to born digital data captured, for example, from web interaction logs (Fuller et al., 2020). This method can produce intrinsically noisy datasets. Sensor data might be quite large. Obtaining this information and keeping it for analysis might be a difficult task. Simulation is frequently utilized due to the high expense of acquiring training data under a wide range of scenarios. High-fidelity simulations, often known as digital twins, can be very effective, but they can be difficult to design and maintain, as well as computationally costly to run (Fuller et al., 2020). At training issues, the success of deep *learning* has fueled a lot of the recent buzz regarding artificial intelligence. The majority of these achievements are based on supervised learning issues, in which deep neural networks are trained with labelled training data. Testing artificial intelligent systems on live production lines, industrial equipment, warehouses, and other industrial systems is both costly and disruptive due to testing expenses and complexity. As a result, simulation is frequently used to train and evaluate industrial artificial intelligent systems, which has its own set of issues. Modern industrial systems are exceedingly complicated at huge state spaces, with tens or hundreds of inputs that machine learning algorithms can optimize. This may necessitate the employment of advanced approaches to reduce the problem and ensure convergence to a solution, resulting in more complex development and training routines, both in terms of time and expense.

A factory using Industry 4.0 technologies is smarter than any other factory, requiring greater intervention from artificial devices, including robots, and minimizing employee engagement. Different factories, on the other hand, require different smart device configurations, and smart
device development takes a long time and a lot of money before it can be used in an Industry 4.0 facility.

The Fourth Industrial Revolution was originally assumed to be a digital revolution sweeping the manufacturing industry. Industry 4.0 is now defined as the digital transformation of all industrial value chains (Ghobakhloo & Iranmanesh, 2021). Implementing specific digital technologies and adopting valuable design concepts are hallmarks of Industry 4.0's digital revolution.

Low or high tier modern digital breakthroughs or advanced manufacturing technologies that enable the digital industrial revolution are Industry 4.0 technological developments. Low tier Industry 4.0 technology developments include smart sensors, industrial robots, smart wearables, and machine controllers, which can be procured and installed as discrete digitalization initiatives inside the industrial environment. Industry 4.0's higher tier technology trends, such as the industrial Internet of Things (IoT), Cyber-physical Production Systems (CPPS), and digital twins, are built on the integration of a variety of lower tier digital and operations technologies, such as networking infrastructure, sensors, machinery, and even connected human components.

Industry 4.0 design principles, as a building block of digital transformation, are required conditions for industrial value chain members to reap the benefits promised by the Industry 4.0 transition. Previous research has shown a wide range of Industry 4.0 design principles (Ghobakhloo & Iranmanesh, 2021). Horizontal and vertical integration, real-time capability, and client focus are some of the most commonly acknowledged Industry 4.0 design ideas. Scholars have been very interested in discussing the benefits and problems of Industry 4.0 for social medias. Another common research topic is evaluating social medias' behavior in integrating Industry 4.0 technology trends. The most popular research streams have been strategic management of digital transformation, company value generation strategies for competitiveness, and digitalization maturity evaluation.

Industry 4.0 was defined by Kagermann and Wahlster (2013) as a smart factory, a manufacturing unit with horizontal and vertically integrated operations (Schumacher et al., 2016). In order to produce smart products and services, the smart factory relies on a high level of connectivity that enables end-to-end digital integration across the value chain. The particular manufacturing unit is part of a network that shares information and knowledge with other units, suppliers, and customers. Automated and digital technologies work in a completely connected environment with entire information transparency, as data from processes is always available. The following research focused on framing Industry 4.0 by outlining the capabilities of linked technology and data applications. AM, augmented reality, CPS, Big data, CC (CPS), and IoT are some of the technologies usually linked with Industry 4.0.

Implementing Industry 4.0 has a significant organizational impact that is directly linked to the digital transformation process. Adoption of technologies such as IoT and CPS, as well as the ability to treat data and integrate processes inside internal departments and with external partners, encourages innovation and changes in business models. New technology may allow for alternate production methods and/or the creation of new value propositions. In any event, data derived from manufacturing processes or interactions with suppliers or consumers is a valuable resource. Data can be utilized to give useful information for predictive or corrective reasons, to increase process efficiency, or to develop new revenue streams in situations where services add value. The relationship between the supplier and the customer in a collaborative process can be

used to produce value through services. As a result, the offer becomes more complex, and the value proposition may comprise customized products and services resulting from value co-creation between the supplier and the client. The integration of the value proposition with distribution through digital platforms generates a new sort of customer connection downstream in the value chain, where the digital, physical, and social components interact to create a customer experience that ensures long term engagement.

While the potential of Industry 4.0 for the service of manufacturing is extensively documented, some authors acknowledge its relevance to service-providing activities that are not directly tied to manufacturing processes. Along the supply chain, integration of processes and data generation allows for inventory tracking, information exchange, and collaborative ordering, while smart labeling may deliver interactive content to the final consumer. Similarly, supply chain 4.0 and the incorporation of building information modeling may aid the construction industry.

Products, devices, and services become smarter as a result of the integration of microprocessors with AI techniques, possessing not just processing, communication, and control capabilities, but also autonomy and sociality. Adaptive and flexible robots, in combination with artificial intelligence, make it easier to manufacture various items by recognizing the lower segments of each part. This segmentation proposes lower manufacturing costs, shorter production times, and shorter wait times in operations. In manufacturing systems, adaptive robots are particularly beneficial throughout the design, manufacture, and assembly phases. As an example, allocated tasks are broken down into smaller subproblems, which are then assembled into a series of modules to address each subproblem. Integration of the modules is required at the end of each subtask to arrive at an optimal solution. Co-evolutionary robots, which are energetically independent and have scenario-based thinking and reaction-focused operating principle, are one of the sub-technologies underlying adaptive robots.

Embedded systems, also known as Cyber-Physical Networks (CPS), are a type of technology that helps to organize and coordinate networking systems between physical infrastructure and computing capabilities (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). In order to achieve decentralized actions, physical and digital tools should be merged and connected with other devices. Embedded systems are systems that combine physical reality with novel features such as computation and communication infrastructure.

An embedded system must meet two main functional requirements, advanced networking to provide real-time data processing from the physical infrastructure as well as information feedback from the digital structure, and intelligent data processing, decision-making, and computational capability to support the physical infrastructure (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). RTLS technologies, sensors, actuators, controllers, and a networked system that transforms and transfers data or information from every device are used in embedded systems for this purpose. In terms of using computational intelligence supported by learning methodologies such as case-based reasoning, information acquisition can be obtained from data processing and data gathering.

Additive manufacturing is a group of new technologies that uses an additive method to create three-dimensional objects directly from digital models, primarily by storing and combining the products with appropriate polymers, ceramics, or metals (Ustundag & Cevikcan 2018). Additive manufacturing begins with the creation of computer-aided design and modeling, which organizes a collection of digital features for a product and sends descriptions of the products to industrial

machinery. By adding material layers, the machines use the sent descriptions as blueprints to create the item. The layers, which are measured in microns, are repeatedly added until a three-dimensional object is formed. Plastics, other polymers, metals, and ceramics are common raw materials. They might be in the form of a liquid, powder, or sheet. In this regard, additive manufacturing is divided into two parts, software for creating 3D objects and material procurement.

Although there are hurdles to present technologies, particularly in production processes, 3D printers and additive manufacturing have unequaled properties. For example, for some products, additive manufacturing procedures outperform traditional manufacturing mechanisms, such as molding previously inconceivable geometries like pyramidal lattice truss systems (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). The printing technique reduces waste by just using the resources that are required. A networked system that includes ordering and injection molding selection is also required to monitor process variables and parameters on a specific interface. Customer needs are included in the manufacturing design, and the necessary components for the manufacture of these plastic parts are obtained ahead of time. The metal blades are encased in the injection molding machine, and the design features information system combines the individual design process phases with correct additive manufacturing system operations. In addition, a laser-marking phase is used in the manufacturing process.

Another important topic for the contribution of networked system integration in the Industry 4.0 revolution is cloud-based operation. Cloud computing and cloud-based manufacturing and design are both included in the term cloud (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). Cloud manufacturing refers to the coordinated and networked production that makes products accessible on demand. Demand-based manufacturing creates and operates reconfigurable cyber-physical manufacturing processes by bringing together a collection of distributed manufacturing resources. The primary goal is to improve efficiency by lowering product lifecycle costs and enabling optimal resource utilization by dealing with fluctuating demand customer-focused projects. Cloud-based design and manufacturing operations suggest integrated and collaborative product development models based on open innovation through social networking and crowd-sourcing platforms (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018).

Virtualization technologies are based on augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) tools, which are defined as the integration of a computer-supported reflection of a real-world environment with additional and useful data (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). Virtual information can be included into real-world presentations with the goal of enhancing human perceptions of reality through the use of augmented items and features. Existing VR and AR applications do this by associating graphical interfaces with the user's current environment view. Users can directly influence visual representations of elements by performing instructions on the screen and interacting with these menus referenced by ad hoc feedbacks, which is the primary job of graphical user interfaces.

Visualization technologies must meet four functional requirements, scene capture, scene identification, scene processing, and scene visualization (Ustundag and Cevikcan 2018). For implementation, handheld devices, stationary visualization systems, spatial visualization systems, head mounted displays, smart glasses, and smart lenses are used. Key issues for the adaption of visualization scenarios, on the other hand, include providing a realistic environment for a better user experience, adding important information via meta graphics, and enriching users' perception through color saturation and contrast. Approaches for visualization technologies' displays are based on three foci, video-based adaptation, which uses the camera to aid enhanced information, optical adaptation, in which the user provides information by wearing a specific display, and projection of mentioned items (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018).

Various types of simulation, such as discrete events and 3D motion simulation, can be used to improve product or process planning in a variety of situations. For instance, simulation can be used in product development, testing, and optimization, as well as in the development and optimization of manufacturing processes and facility design and improvement (Ustundag and Cevikcan 2018). In the context of Industry 4.0, simulation can be viewed as a useful tool for tracking the effects of various parameter changes and facilitating visualization in decision-making. Simulation tools can be utilized in conjunction with other Industry 4.0 basic technologies.

Communication and networking can be characterized as a link between individually defined physical and dispersed systems (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018). Machines can interact via communication tools and devices to achieve predetermined goals, with a focus on embedding intelligent sensors in real-world settings and processes. Distributed computing and parallel computing for data processing, Internet Protocol (IP), communication technology, embedded devices such as RFID tags or Wireless Sensor Networks (WSN), and application are the major needs for communication and networking (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018).

Industry 4.0 transformation necessitates extensive data collection and processing. As a result, the security of data storage and transfer protocols is a critical issue for businesses. Regarding data exportation technologies' security, privacy regulations and standardization of communication protocols, personal authorization level for information sharing, and detection and reaction to unexpected changes and unauthorized access by standardized algorithms, security should be provided in both cloud technologies, machines, robots, and automated systems (Ustundag & Cevikcan, 2018).

5. INDUSTRY 4.0 MATURITY MODELS

A maturity model or framework is a structured approach designed to support companies moving toward Industry 4.0 by providing comprehensive guidance on how to initiate a roadmap. The term maturity is used to define, evaluate, and form guidelines and a basis for evaluating an organization's progress. The purpose of a maturity model is to describe the level of the perfectness of an entity, such as a new business model or newly developed software. The main idea of a maturity model is to identify maturity levels associated with different aspects of an organization's progress in achieving performance.

According to Suh et al. (2017), an organization's maturity, which indicates its ability to plan, use, and control information systems internally, is considered an important consulting factor for business success (Bandara et al., 2019). They proposed a maturity framework to assess the maturity level of information systems. The framework consists of three main dimensions, such as information system quality success, information system utilization success, and information system utilization success. The first dimension, information systems quality success, is weighted by system quality, information quality, and service quality. The second dimension, success in using information systems, is weighted based on usage and user satisfaction. The third dimension, the effectiveness of information systems, is measured in terms of operational excellence and strategic positioning (Bandara et al., 2019).

An assessing digital transformation maturity model is needed to help companies define their digital transformation strategy. A maturity model is a tool used to measure and evaluate an organization's maturity. It can be used to identify processes and procedures that are ready to be executed. Readiness models as synonyms are intended to capture the starting point and allow to start of the development process. This distinction between readiness and maturity pertains to the various stages of a maturing process. Readiness assessment takes place before engaging in the maturing process whereas maturity assessment aims for capturing the as-it-is state whilst the maturing process. In the production domain, recent readiness and maturity models have been proposed for example in energy and utility management, in eco design manufacturing. Below are the following models and tools for assessing readiness or maturity (Schumacher et al., 2016).

The concept of the IMPULS - Industry 4.0 Readiness Model is based on a comprehensive data set and offers details of various dimensions and items. The model is well-documented, and its results are explained transparently. Other approaches listed in Figure 10 provide only a limited overview of the development process and do not provide a base for comparison. Industry 4.0 Maturity Model aims for an extension of existing models and tools through its strong focus on organizational aspects (Schumacher et al., 2016). Schumacher et al. (2016) propose a model to gain solid data about the current state of manufacturing companies in order to understand industry 4.0 strategies to extract potential success factors. This model presents a set of 62 key maturity items that are grouped into nine main company dimensions. The objective is to provide a conceptual framework for analyzing the various dimensions of Industry 4.0. It helps assess an organization's Industry 4.0 maturity and reflects the suitability of its current strategy. The model consists of nine dimensions, four of which serve as basic drivers and the rest as organizational drivers. The nine dimensions are product, customer, operations, technology, strategy, leadership, governance, culture, and people. These dimensions are weighted according to six factors including use of the Industry 4.0 roadmap, availability of resources, communication and documentation of Industry 4.0 activities, suitability of the business model, digital transformation strategy, and alignment of Industry 4.0 with the corporate vision. Maturity for each dimension is calculated using a weighted average so that the overall maturity level of the organization is represented in a radar chart (Schumacher et al., 2016).

To the evolution path, each item undergoes five maturity levels. The first level involves a description of the lack of attributes that support the concepts of Industry 4.0 and level 5 represents the state-of-the-art of required attributes. Measuring, determining, and representing the enterprise's maturity follows a three-step procedure: measurement of maturing items in enterprise via questionnaire, input of calculation of maturity level in nine dimensions software supported and output of representation and visualization of maturity via maturity report and radar charts.

The evaluation of maturity is carried out using a standardized questionnaire that consists of one closed-ended question per item. The answer type is Likert-scale, reaching from 1 *not distinct* to 5 *very distinct*. The objective is to find out respondents that have basic knowledge regarding Industry 4.0. The answers to the questions serve as data input to the model and determine the maturity level.

Several models have been developed to assess an organization's maturity in industry 4.0, with the majority of the models focusing on the manufacturing sector. As a result, the maturity models' application to the service sector is quite limited.

Despite the fact that there are numerous maturity models, there is still room for improvement in order to best fit the chosen business. A maturity model, also known as a framework, is a structured method that was created to help organizations navigate the industry 4.0 journey by giving thorough assistance. The term maturity is used to define, measure, and create a framework for analyzing a company's progress. A maturity model consists of major characteristics that must be evaluated in order to measure an organization's maturity in the adoption of a new business model or software system. As a result, it has a variety of maturity levels.

The majority of models have numerous maturity stages, but most of them do not focus on the features that must be addressed at each level in order for the organization to continue to improve. To comprehend the maturity level of industry 4.0 and increase performance to the next maturity level, it is necessary to analyze how an organization operates under each facet of the maturity assessment model.

Even if organizations compromise advanced technologies to redesign their operations in order to benchmark with world-class performance, sustainability is important. Because Industry 4.0 is still in its development, it's critical to outline the structure and technique of implementation guidelines explicitly. As a result, there is a need to advise enterprises that are transitioning to smarter operations in order to improve their capabilities.

6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Industry 4.0 had an impact on employment, consumption, and trade, among other things. It was demonstrated how Industry 4.0 can benefit a company's financial performance and stock returns. Increased product connectivity helps organizations enhance their manufacturing efficiency and profitability.

Manufacturing organizations are unable to determine their Industry 4.0 maturity level, according to the findings of this paper. This is due to a lack of tools and terminology that can assist them in evaluating their digital transformation efforts. Enterprises can assist themselves evaluate their success and build effective strategies and practices by using evaluation frameworks and models. To assist companies in defining their digital transformation strategy, it is required a digital transformation maturity model.

The aim was to analyze the impact of technological applications on operations management. The paper defined operations management and examined some of its business applications.

The goal is to assist businesses in developing their capabilities so that they can take advantage of the opportunities given by Industry 4.0.

Organizations must assess the maturity of industry 4.0 in order to identify present capabilities as well as prospects for possible continual improvements. As a result, developing a maturity model for the optimal fit is critical.

Operations Management necessitates an investigation into the major components and sectors of a business, such as procedures, models, and strategies. A number of operations strategies have been found to have a significant and beneficial impact on organizational performance. The appropriateness of an individual strategy or a mix of methods that may benefit a given industry is one of the areas of future research. It is advised to conduct a study on the impact of digital transformation and its application in industrial operations management.

References

- Bandara, O., Vidanagamachchi, K., & Wickramarachchi, R. (2019). A Model for Assessing Maturity of Industry 4.0 in the Banking Sector.
- Caiado, R. G. G., Scavarda, L. F., Gavião, L. O., Ivson, P., Nascimento, D. L., de M. & Garza-Reyes, J. A. (2021). A fuzzy rule-based industry 4.0 maturity model for operations and supply chain management. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 231, 107883.
- Dmitry, I., Christopher, S. T., Alexandre, D., Daria, B., & Ajay, D. (2021). Researchers' perspectives on Industry 4.0: multi-disciplinary analysis and opportunities for operations management [online]. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/epub/10.1080/0020754 3.2020.1798035?needAccess=true [Accessed 14 Apr 2022].
- Fonseca, L., Amaral, A., & Oliveira, J. (2021). Quality 4.0: The EFQM 2020 Model and Industry 4.0 Relationships and Implications. *Sustainability*, 13, 1.
- Fuller, A., Fan, Z., Day, C., & Barlow, C. (2020). Digital Twin: Enabling Technologies, Challenges and Open Research. *IEEE Access*, 8, 108952–108971.
- Ghobakhloo, M., & Iranmanesh, M. (2021). Digital transformation success under Industry 4.0: a strategic guideline for manufacturing SMEs. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Man*agement, 32 (8), 1533–1556.
- Koleva, N., & Andreev, O. (2018). Aspects of Training in the Field of Operations Management with Respect to Industry 4.0. In: 2018 International Conference on High Technology for Sustainable Development (HiTech). Presented at the 2018 International Conference on High Technology for Sustainable Development (HiTech), 1–3.
- Landeta Echeberria, A. (2020). A Digital Framework for Industry 4.0: Managing Strategy [online]. Cham: Springer International Publishing. Available from: http://link.springer. com/10.1007/978-3-030-60049-5 [Accessed 19 Apr 2022].
- Oztemel, E., & Gursev, S. (2020). Literature review of Industry 4.0 and related technologies. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, 31 (1), 127–182.
- Schumacher, A., Erol, S., & Sihn, W. (2016). A Maturity Model for Assessing Industry 4.0 Readiness and Maturity of Manufacturing Enterprises. *Procedia CIRP*, 52, 161–166.
- Ustundag, A., & Cevikcan, E. (2018). *Industry 4.0: Managing The Digital Transformation* [online]. Cham: Springer International Publishing. Available from: http://link.springer. com/10.1007/978-3-319-57870-5 [Accessed 15 Apr 2022].



Impact of the Ukrainian Crisis on Investments in Online Market in Slovakia

Vlastimir Čobrda¹ 💿

Received: November 19, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Online market Slovakia; Ukrainian crisis	Abstract: This article provides a comprehensive analysis of the impact of the Ukrainian crisis on investments in marketing and the online market in Slovakia, in the context of the largest military conflict in Europe since World War II. Given the changing perception of normality in society and the significant impact of economic sanctions against Russia by the EU and the US on the global macroeconomic picture, the paper focuses on the Slovak online market as a relevant case study.
	The article first examines the current state of the online market in Slovakia and the influence of political and economic factors on its development. It is analyzed how economic sanctions and geopolitical tensions, directly and indirectly, affected the business of Slovak companies in various segments.
	In the second part of the paper, the needs and opportunities for the improve- ment of the online market in Slovakia are reviewed, taking into account the current challenges and uncertainties.
Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non- Commercial 4.0 License (https://creative- commons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduc- tion and distribution of the work without further permission.	As the main goal of this work, the author wants to show how the current cri- sis, caused by the events in Ukraine, can be successfully overcome by adapt- ing the market to the new rules of business, using the experience and knowl- edge gained during the crisis years during the Covid-19 pandemic. The pa- per ends by summarizing the key conclusions and provides recommenda- tions for further development of this topic, to encourage experts, research- ers and decision-makers to work together to solve the challenges brought about by the Ukrainian crisis.

1. INTRODUCTION

Thanks to the increasing penetration of the internet and the widespread use of smartphones and other digital devices, the online market in Slovakia has experienced significant growth over the past few years. This growth has led to a shift away from traditional media, such as print newspapers and magazines, towards digital media consumption.

The media market in Slovakia can be described as a collection of all existing and potential customers who purchase certain products and services. An industry represents a group of companies that provide a product or category of products that are close substitutes. This includes all products and services offered on the market (Kotler, 2004).

Slovakia's online media market is characterized by a combination of local and international subjects, including news portals, social media and digital marketing agencies. The main Slovak news portals are SME.sk, Aktuality.sk, Denník N, TVNoviny.sk and Topky.sk which offer a mix of general news, sports, entertainment and lifestyle (IABmonitor, Gemius Audience, 2022). Besides them, there are also international platforms like Google, Facebook and YouTube – which also have a significant presence in the market.

¹ Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Management, Odbojárov 10, 820 05 Bratislava 25, Slovak Republic



Digital advertising is becoming more and more important in Slovakia, as companies recognize the potential for targeting specific groups and measuring the effectiveness of their campaigns through online platforms. Digital marketing agencies in the country offer a variety of services such as search engine optimization (SEO), social media marketing, content marketing, and payper-click advertising.

However, since the beginning of the crisis in Ukraine, the online market in Slovakia is also facing challenges, such as the spread of misinformation and fake news on social media platforms. This has led to an increased emphasis on media literacy and the importance of promoting reliable sources of information. One of the biggest challenges for the online market in Slovakia, but also in the whole world, was the crisis caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, which has not yet ended, and we already have a crisis caused by the events in Ukraine. The current events in Ukraine can be called a humanitarian disaster that has a noticeable negative impact on both the Slovak and European economies and brings an increased level of uncertainty (Národná banka Slovenska, Vojna a dopady na ekonomiku, 2022).

The beginning of 2022 was a challenging period for employees in positions of marketing experts. On the one hand, companies exerted significant pressure on the suspension of communication, i.e. the reduction of investment in advertising. On the other hand, marketers were faced with the imperative of finding the most effective methods and channels of communication to ensure the survival of companies while minimizing losses in the market. In this context, the analysis of adaptation and innovation in marketing strategies provides a deeper insight into the evolution of the industry and contributes to the understanding of the key factors for success in turbulent times.

2. RESEARCH GOAL

The primary goal of this research is to demonstrate the potential for market development even in the context of a global crisis, such as the largest military conflict in Europe since the end of World War II. This paper was written to contribute to the development of this topic in the European context. To achieve such a goal, it is necessary to clarify concepts, research successful examples from practice on the Slovak market, present solutions and provide recommendations for future market development.

The research goal of this paper is to analyze the current state of the market and the factors that affect the entire online market in Slovakia. Also, this paper intends to examine the obstacles, needs and potential opportunities arising from a quick reaction and adaptation to market demands in the crisis that has affected the whole world, and especially Europe.

Hopefully, this analysis will serve as a basis and stimulus for the development of new strategies that will be applied and later implemented in practice. Along with summarizing the conclusions and recommendations, this research aims to contribute to encouraging further development of this topic in an academic context.

3. METHODS AND METHODOLOGY

The research presented in this paper was carried out using a wide range of scientific methods and procedures. In the first part, I analyzed the current state of the market in the period from

the first half of 2021 to the first half of 2022, using data obtained from the company IAB Slovakia (2022). Additionally, statistical data publicly available on the official website of the National Bank of Slovakia was analyzed. In this research, a joint study carried out by ČSOB bank and the research agency Datang was also analyzed.

The methodology includes the identification of research assumptions, as well as the methods and sources used in the work. The results were obtained as part of the main analysis through comparative and descriptive analysis. Based on this, a list of recommendations has been compiled that can be useful for future research and development on this topic.

4. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The media space (traditional media) plays a key role in our daily life. Apart from the media space, we must also take into account the cultural space as a symbol of the social environment, and the cyberspace that includes new digital and mobile media, including platforms and virtual space. All these spaces influence the type of information we will encounter, and the way we will spread, store and apply it. The media space affects the distribution of information to individuals and the way they interpret it, while the social and cultural space functions as a virtual gateway that allows access to information (Šoltésová, 2016).

In the first half of 2022, the Slovak online market amounted to about 87 million euros. When compared to the same period of the previous year marked by the Covid-19 pandemic, a 10% increase was recorded (IAB, Výdavky do internetovej reklamy za polrok, 2022).

Ad Format	1HY 2021	1HY 2022	% Change	
Non video display	30 256 737 €	31 331 893 €	3,60%	
Paid for search	17 550 986 €	19 306 085 €	10,00%	
Video display	16 027 187 €	16 715 979 €	4,30%	
Classifieds and directories	9 290 618 €	11 706 740 €	26,00%	
Native	4 103 694 €	4 568 782 €	11,33%	
Other	1 463 121 €	3 264 653 €	123,13%	
- affiliate advertising	N/A	1 900 128 €	N/A	
- digital audio advertising	425 283 €	744 481 €	75,00%	
TOTAL:	78 692 343 €	86 894 132 €	10,42%	

Table 1. Spending in online advertising 1HY 2021 vs 1HY 2022

The growth achieved in the Slovak market in the first six months of 2022 can be considered satisfactory, especially taking into account the forecasts for the European market. If we consider the geopolitical situation in the world, the military conflict in Ukraine has brought uncertainty to the entire European region, which means that companies are becoming more cautious when it comes to investing in marketing. As a result, we have a slowdown in the growth of investments in online advertising. The reason for the slower growth of advertising in Slovakia is the reduced advertising budgets of the state administration, the significantly lower growth of multinational companies compared to the previous period and the saturation of the market with video advertising by Slovak media companies. In order to increase publishers' income, it is necessary to provide additional media space. However, its production and/or implementation can be relatively expensive. It is assumed that this will be the biggest challenge for Slovak publishers in the future, considering that video advertising is globally considered a key factor for the potential growth of the overall online market. From the table, we can see that different formats contributed to the overall growth of the market in the first half of 2022. Formats such as Classifieds and directories with an increase of 26%, search with an increase of 10% and native advertising with an increase of 11% contributed the most to this growth. In terms of percentages, the highest growth was recorded by audio advertising, as much as 75%, but in absolute numbers, it still did not exceed the figure of 1 million euros per year. If we look at display advertising, here we have a growth of 3.60%, which is the lowest recorded growth of all formats, however, in absolute numbers, display advertising has the largest share in online advertising.

5. EXAMPLE

85% of entrepreneurs in Slovakia felt the consequences of the war in Ukraine

The research, the consequences of the war in Ukraine felt by 85% of entrepreneurs in Slovakia, was carried out by the company ČSOB Bank and the research agency Datank in a representative survey where 300 companies of different sizes were included (ČSOB, 2022).

In the aforementioned analysis, only 15% of companies did not feel the consequences of the conflict in Ukraine on their business. In contrast, more than 50% of companies expressed a moderate to severe impact of the war on their business.

Among the surveyed industries, the transport and warehousing sector was the most affected, where only 9.1% of the surveyed representatives managed to continue their activities, while the other 36.4% reported very significant negative effects. Entrepreneurs in the field of agriculture, forestry, fishing, as well as accommodation and hospitality services also critically assess the situation. On the other hand, companies operating in the IT and communications sector reported the least consequences, which is expected given the nature of their activities.

6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This paper aimed to review the current state of the online market in Slovakia. The overall economic and geopolitical events in the world also have an impact on the development of the online market in the Slovak Republic. The current situation has been reflected in the change in consumer behavior and the increased focus on corporate social responsibility. In order for companies to successfully face these challenges, it is necessary to adapt marketing strategies to new market conditions, take advantage of innovations and develop the credibility of their campaigns. In the future, the development of investments in online advertising in Slovakia will depend on several factors, including the stabilization of the geopolitical situation and the ability of companies to adapt to new market conditions.

During the research and analysis of data from available sources, I concluded that the online market did not behave in accordance with the expectations that there would be an assumed drop in income. On the contrary, the growth of the online market in Slovakia since the beginning of the crisis in Ukraine in the first half of 2022 compared to the same period in 2021 was recorded as much as 10.42%.

If we analyze the research conducted jointly by ČSOB Bank and the research agency Datank, we come to know that in the first months of the crisis in Ukraine, the state did not adequately

and timely respond to all challenges and provided adequate financial assistance to companies. This led to a situation where as many as 85% of companies felt the consequences in their operations due to poor engagement or rather non-engagement of the state.

Based on the conducted analysis, I would like to propose several key steps that are of crucial importance for the continued growth of the online market in Slovakia. It is recommended that the Government of the Slovak Republic intensify communication with small and medium-sized enterprises, providing timely financial support or various tax incentives. Such measures can significantly contribute to the improvement of the entire online market in the country.

One of the most important recommendations is that the entire segment of the online market should focus more on local companies in this year of crisis, and with that help local companies to invest more money in advertising, which would probably lead to an even greater increase in the online market in Slovakia.

Based on previous experiences with various crises, which arose as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, I recommend that leading companies in Slovakia engage and support the development of the local online market. To achieve this, companies should redirect part of their advertising budgets, otherwise allocated to global platforms such as Facebook, Google and YouTube, to local media companies, which would encourage the expected growth of the overall market.

I hope that this paper will serve as an incentive and inspiration for the development of new strategies, plans, and contribute to further progress in the research on this topic.

References

- ČSOB (2022). Dopady vojny na Ukrajine pocítilo 85% podnikateľov na Slovensku, https://www. csob.sk/o-nas/pre-media/tlacove-spravy?p_p_id=pressReleases_WAR_portalfoundation&p_p_lifecycle=1&p_p_state=normal&p_p_mode=view&_pressReleases_WAR_ portalfoundation_render=page&p_auth=cwMKpt5a#entryId=2029231 [online]
- IAB, *Výdavky do internetovej reklamy za polrok 2022 (SK)*. (2022). https://www.iabslovakia.sk/ vydavky-do-reklamy/vydavky-do-internetovej-reklamy-za-polrok-2022-sk/ [online]

IABmonitor, Gemius Audience. (2022). https://rating.gemius.com/sk/tree/115 [online]

Kotler, P. et al. (2004). Moderní marketing 4. vydanie Praha: Grada Publishing.

Národná banka Slovenska, Vojna a dopady na ekonomiku. (2022). https://nbs.sk/vojna-a-dopady-na-ekonomiku/ [online]

Šoltésová, S. (2016). Memetické texty a digitálne médiá. Prešov: Prešovská univerzita.

A Contribution to Analysis of the Space Productivity in a Seaport

Deda Đelović¹

Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Seaport; Space Productivity

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** After the general theoretical introduction on port development trends, space productivity is taken into consideration in this paper. As an object of research is selected open storage area at the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal in the Port of Bar (Montenegro). Some of the group of basic operational features of the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal are taken into consideration. Based on data series on cargo quantities stored within the open storage area at the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal, from the period from January 2014 to July 2022, related utilization rates are calculated. In that context, the intensity of the influence of different subjects (port terminal operator, exporter/importer, etc.) on port space productivity is analyzed. The principal direction of actions aiming to increase space productivity at the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal in the Port of Bar (Montenegro) is identified, too.

1. INTRODUCTION

S eaports play a role of utmost importance and act as an incentive for the development of the national economy in general (Nguyen, 2020).

The importance of seaports for countries cannot be underestimated. Ports work to encourage all industries so that they can export them to countries abroad and also works to open new businesses and projects (https://tijaratuna.com/en/importance-of-seaports/).

Ports must be agile and flexible to be able to quickly respond to rapidly changing economic, geopolitical and environmental realities (ESPO, 2022). Also, ports are important for the support of economic activities in the hinterland since they act as a crucial connection between sea and land transport (https://www.vliz.be/projects/sail/fiches/10.pdf).

According to Deloitte Global Port Advisory (2020), key development trends in the port sector in the time horizon to 2030 are Space productivity; Waterfront redevelopment; Reshoring of industries; Port infrastructure; Changes in supply and demand; Impact on trade; More technological solutions; More cyber risk; Less focus on physical infrastructure investments; Overcapacity; Niche markets; Shift from big, bigger, biggest to green, greener, greenest; Sustainability; Shorter trade routes; Increased trade; New resources; A physical trade platform; Impact on Maritime trade; Technology as a competitive advantage; Sustainability as a competitive advantage; Collaboration between carriers; Collaboration at ports.

Ports are crucial for the European transport business, for Europe's competitiveness, and have a huge potential for job creation and investment. There is a forecast: a 50% growth of cargo handled in European Union ports is predicted by 2030. The European Commission has estimated that by 2030 between 110 000 and 165 000 new jobs can be created in ports (European Commission, 2013).





Port of Bar, Obala 13. jula 2, 85 000 Bar, Montenegro

The major challenges facing ports are (European Commission, 2013): High predicted growth, a structural performance gap in Europe, the changing nature of shipping (the size and the complexity of the fleet are increasing, deployment of bigger vessels for short sea shipping and feeder services, recent trends in logistics and distribution systems attract more value-added services within a port's area, energy trades are changing).

Pre-existing megatrends – generators of port development – are (UNCTAD, 2021): geopolitical, technological, and environmental.

In addition, in references (PTI, 2021; Piernext, 2022) is stated that the starting point of the maritime traffic study in Europe in the 2040 Horizon has been to identify the trends which have the highest degree of consensus: economic trends, environmental trends, social trends, trends linked to supply chains, such as the increasing appearance of global disruptions; the development of electronic commerce and circular economy or the role additive printing or autonomous transport can take, trends in maritime transport, mainly the development of mega-ships.

2. SPACE PRODUCTIVITY

Space productivity, according to Deloitte Global Port Advisory (2020), is related to the shortage of space in the existing urban ports. Innovation and automation can contribute to increasing efficiency, i.e. by raising berth and terminal occupancy. It is therefore expected that technological developments will increasingly be used to tackle the challenges of space scarcity.

On the other hand, in (ESPO, 2022) is recognized that the scarcity of available port land enlarges the case for port cooperation. In considering how best to accommodate increasing trade demand, in (https://www.portvancouver.com/projects/) is given an example of a business objective: Making the best and most efficient use of existing land and facilities.

One of the key components of the space in a port is an open storage area, for different cargo types (dry bulk cargoes, general cargoes, containers, ...). Taking open storage area for dry bulks as a topic of further consideration, it can be said that, in general, the capacity of an open storage area for storing dry bulk cargoes, C (t), is a function of the following parameters: net size of the area, P_n (m²), storing height, h_i (m), the specific density of dry bulk cargo stored, ρ (t/m³), coefficient of the storage volume utilization, k. It can be interpreted by the following relation:

$$C = f(P_n, h_i, \rho, k)$$
(1)

Quantity of cargo stored at any moment, v, on the open storage area, Q_t (t), can be defined based on the following equation:

$$Q_{v} = q_{0} + \left[\left(\Sigma q_{jt} + \Sigma q_{kw} + \Sigma q_{ls} \right) - \left(\Sigma \delta_{mt} + \Sigma \delta_{nw} + \Sigma \delta_{os} \right)$$
⁽²⁾

Where:

 $q_0(t)$ – initial cargo quantity stored;

q(t) – quantities transported to an open storage area by trucks, wagons, ships, in a certain period;

 δ (t) $\,-$ quantities delivered from an open storage area by trucks, wagons, ships, in a certain period;

Maximal dry bulk cargo quantity stored, Q_{max} (t), in open storage area is a maximum of quantities of stored cargo, Q_v (t) (according to equation (2)), which can be interpreted as follows:

$$Q_{max} = g(Q_{v1}, Q_{v2}, ..., Q_{vp}, ..., Q_{vr})$$
(3)

Space productivity of an open storage area, S_p (t), related to dry bulk cargoes, in one of possible variants, could be defined as dry bulk cargoes quantities passed through that area for a certain period, V (h), as given by the relation (4):

$$S_{p} (t/period of time) = f[\Sigma(q - \delta)_{v}, Y_{x})$$
(4)

Where:

 $\Sigma(q - \delta)_v$ – cargo quantities stored (for all cargo types); Y_x (h) – storing period of each cargo type, x;

3. A RESEARCH ON THE SPACE PRODUCTIVITY OF THE OPEN STORAGE AREA AT A DRY BULK CARGO TERMINAL

In this paper segment are shown results of research on space productivity of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal in the Port of Bar (Montenegro).

3.1. Object of Research

The object of research is the open storage area (its space productivity) at the Dry bulk cargo terminal in the Port of Bar. Some of the group of basic operational features of the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal in the Port of Bar are systematized in Table 1. The total size of the open storage area is area: $27,845.1 \text{ m}^2$ (length x width (m) = $556,90 \times 50 \text{ m}$); the dimension of 26 m corresponds to the maximum outreach of the gantry cranes towards the open storage area, as well as the outreach of the mobile harbour cranes in relation to their optimal positions towards the line of the key.

3.2. Objective of Research

The objective of the research has the following components: **to define** the utilization rate of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal in the Port of Bar (related to storing volume); **to define** parameters that determine space productivity of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal and analyzing their variations over the time; **to identify** the intensity of influence of different subjects (port terminal operator, exporter/importer, ...), participating in the supply chain realization, on space productivity; **to define** principal directions of actions aiming to increase space productivity at the Dry bulk cargo terminal in the Port of Bar;

3.3. Research Methodology

Basic elements of the research methodology, adjusted to the object of research, are given in Table 2.

Results of the Research

Due to the limited volume of this paper, in further parts will be shown results of the research R_2 and R_4 (as per elements of Table 2.).

Table 1. Operational features of the Dry Bulk Cargo Terminal in the Port of Bar

Be	rth	(1)	01
Berth lei	ngth (m)	(2)	185,63
Water de	epth (m)	(3)	14,00
Ship dr	raft (m)	(4)	12,80
Availability of the	Yes	(5)-1	*
shore port machinery	No	(5)-2	
Type of the po	ort machinery	(6)	Ship to shore gantry cranes (3 pcs.), SWL: 12 t, rail mounted, movable by all three berths; outreach to open storage area: 26 m;
ral Lo-Lo; C Ro;	LB	(7)-1	
e handled Lo-Lo - Gene - General Ro-l	DB	(7)-2	*
ss which can b Jry bulks; G – 0; G - Ro-Ro -	G Lo-Lo	(7)-3	*
Cargo type bulks; DB – L ntainers Lo-L	С	(7)-4	
(LB – Liquid – cc	G Ro-Ro	(7)-5	
Cargo handlin ship to shore (a (sum of possi opera	g operations – and vice versa) ible handling tions)	(8)	Dry bulks: Ship to shore-open storage area/truck/wagon (and vice versa); ship to silo (and vice versa) (8); General Lo-Lo: ship to shore-open storage area- distant close warehouse/truck/ wagon (and vice versa) (8);
Availability of area behind	f open storage d the berth	(9)	Yes. Dimensions: 185,63 x 50,00 m

Be	rth	(1)	02	03
Berth lei	ngth (m)	(2)	185,63	185,63
Water de	epth (m)	(3)	14,00	14,00
Ship dr	aft (m)	(4)	12,80	12,80
Availability of the	Yes	(5)-1	*	*
shore port machinery	No	(5)-2		
Type of the po	ort machinery	(6)	Mobile harbour crane Liebherr LHM420 outreach: 48 m; Mobile harbour crane Li 144 t, maximal outreach: 54 m; Remark: b cranes installed) (on rubber tyres); SWL: 124 t; maximal iebherr LHM550 (on rubber tyres); SWL: y these two berths can be used and gantry by the berth 01.
ral Lo-Lo; C Ro;	LB	(7)-1		*
e handled Lo-Lo - Gene: - General Ro-J	DB	(7)-2	*	*
ss which can b bry bulks; G – o; G - Ro-Ro -	G Lo-Lo	(7)-3	*	×
Cargo type bulks; DB – I ontainers Lo-L	С	(7)-4	*	×
(LB – Liquid – cc	G Ro-Ro	(7)-5		
Cargo handlin ship to shore (a (sum of possi opera	g operations – and vice versa) ible handling tions)	(8)	Containers: ship to shore-open storage area/truck/wagon (and vice versa) (6) Liquid bulks: Ship – reservoir (1); Dry bulks: Ship to shore-open storage are/ truck wagon (and vice versa) (6); General Lo-Lo: ship to shore-open storage area-distan close warehouse/truck/wagon (and vice versa) (8);	
Availability o area behin	f open storage d the berth	(9)	Yes. Yes. Dimensions: 185,63 x 50,00 m Dimensions: 185,63 x 50,00 m	

 Table 1. - continuation

Methodology phase, PH _i	Expected result, R _j
PH ₁ : An analysis of cargo quantities stored within open storage	R ₁ : Quantities (data series) of cargoes stored within open storage
area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal for the period from January	area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal, per cargoes types and in
2014 to July 2022, per cargoes types and in total;	total, for the period from January 2014 to July 2022;
PH ₂ : Calculation of utilization rate of the open storage area at	R ₂ : Utilization rate of the open storage area at the Dry bulk
the Dry bulk cargo terminal for the period from January 2014	cargo terminal for the period from January 2014 to July 2022;
to July 2022; identifying principal influential factors on the	influential factors on the utilization rate;
utilization rate values;	
PH ₃ : Identifying intensity of influence of different subjects (port	R ₃ : Intensity of influence of different subjects, participating in
terminal operators, exporter/importer,), participating in the	the supply chain realization, on space productivity at the Dry
supply chain realization, on space productivity at the Dry bulk	bulk cargo terminal;
cargo terminal;	
PH ₄ : Defining principal directions of increasing space	R ₄ : Principal directions for increasing space productivity at the
productivity at the Dry bulk cargo terminal;	Dry bulk cargo terminal;

05

Source: Author

Result 2 – A) Utilization rate of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal for the period from January 2014 to July 2022

In table 3 are given the results of analyses of the utilization rate of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal for the period from January 2014 to July 2022 - it's variant related to the utilization of available storing volume. Basic values of the utilization rate, k_1 , are calculated based on the input parameters recognized in the process of analyzing performances of the open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal (Table 1).

Volumes per cargoes types are calculated according to the following equation:

(volume per cargo type) $[m^3] = (\text{cargo quantity stored}) [t] / (\text{specific density of cargo}) [t/m^3] (5)$

Calculated available volume 1 is defined based on the following values of parameters: open storage area dimensions – length x width (m) = $556,90 \times 50$ m; up to a part of the storage area width of 26 m, storing at a height of 8 m, at the remaining part of the open storage area, of 24 m width, storing at height of 4 m.

In order to establish bases for conclusions on the simultaneous influence of characteristics of open storage area and used port machinery–implemented cargo handling technology, in Table 4. are presented calculated values of utilization rates k_2 and k_3 .

Calculated available volume 2 is defined based on the following values of parameters: open storage area dimensions – length x width (m) = $556,90 \times 50$ m; up to a part of the storage area of 26 m width, storing at height of 10 m (comparing with variant 1, height is increased for 2 m), at the remaining part of the open storage area, of 24 m width, storing at height of 6 m (comparing with variant 1, height is increased for 2 m).

Calculated available volume 3 is defined based on the following values of parameters: open storage area dimensions – length x width (m) = $556,90 \times 50$ m; up to a part of the storage area of 26 m width, storing at a height of 10 m (storing height remains the same as in variant 2), at the remaining part of the open storage area, of 24 m width, storing at height of 10 m (comparing with variant 2, height is increased for 4 m).

				-
(1)	2014, 1 January	2014, 1 April		2022, 1 July
(2)	2,223.01	2,223.01		56,343.91
(3)	1,482.00	1,482.00		37,562.61
(4)	8,920.18	2,443.33		0.00
(5)	0.00	0.00		705.41
(6)	0.00	0.00		0.00
(7)	0.00	0.00		0.00
	13818.79	7163.19		63133.56
(9)	169,297.60	169,297.60		169,297.60
(10)=(8)/(9)	0.08	0.04		0.37
	(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (7) (7) (9) (10)=(8)/(9)	2014, 1 January (2) 2,223.01 (3) 1,482.00 (4) 8,920.18 (5) 0.00 (6) 0.00 (7) 0.00 13818.79 13818.79 (9) 169,297.60 (10)=(8)/(9) 0.08	$\begin{array}{c cccc} & 2014, & 2014, \\ 1 \ January & 1 \ April \\ \hline (2) & 2,223.01 & 2,223.01 \\ \hline (3) & 1,482.00 & 1,482.00 \\ \hline (4) & 8,920.18 & 2,443.33 \\ \hline (5) & 0.00 & 0.00 \\ \hline (6) & 0.00 & 0.00 \\ \hline (6) & 0.00 & 0.00 \\ \hline (7) & 0.00 & 0.00 \\ \hline (7) & 0.00 & 0.00 \\ \hline (9) & 13818.79 & 7163.19 \\ \hline (9) & 169,297.60 & 169,297.60 \\ \hline (10)=(8)/(9) & 0.08 & 0.04 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 3. Utilization rate of the open storage area for the period from January 2014 to July 2022

Source: Author

date	Total volume (m ³)	Calculated available volume 2 (m ³)	Calculated available volume 3 (m ³)	K2	К3
2014, 1 January	13818.79	224,987.60	278,450.00	0.06	0.05
2014, 1 April	7163.19	224,987.60	278,450.00	0.03	0.03
2022, 1 July	63133.56	224,987.60	278,450.00	0.28	0.23

Table 4. Values of utilization rates k_2 and k_3

Source: Author

Result 2 - B) influential factors on the utilization rates values

Taking into account the results of analyses shown in tables 3. and 4., the following key groups of influential factors on utilization rates values, k_i , can be defined: **cargo characteristic** (specific density, angle of repose, ...); **parameters which characterize implemented cargo handling and storing technology** (type of port machinery, SWL of used port machinery, positional flexibility of used port machinery, an outreach of used port machinery, etc.); **parameters which characterize open storage area** – the existence of elements which contribute to increasing utilization of available storing volume (e.g. reinforced concrete blocks);

Result 4 - Principal directions for increasing space productivity at the Dry bulk cargo terminal

Respecting previously shown results of research, following principal directions of increasing space productivity of open storage area at the Dry bulk cargo terminal can be defined: **improv-ing implemented cargo handling and storing technology** (introducing new port machinery with an increased level of technological adequacy; here is considered the necessity of analyzing investments justification, fully respecting, among other, port investment capability); **improv-ing performances of the open storage area** – building elements which contribute to increased utilization of the available storing volume; **improving the level of coordination between sub-jects participating in the supply chain realization**;

4. DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

Only two cargo types – bauxite and scrap metal - were registered on all dates analyzed through the period from January 2014 to July 2021.

Utilization rate of the storage volume, k_1 , ranges from 0.03 (October/2014 and October/2015) to 0.76 (January/2020).

Utilization rate k_2 is within the range of 0.02 (October/2014 and October/2015) to 0.57 (January/2020).

Utilization rate k₃ has values from 0.02 (October/2014 and October/2015) to 0,46 (January/2020).

The biggest stored cargo quantity (April/2021): 177,796.36 t does not correlate with the biggest utilization rate of the available storing volume (January/2020) which directly suggests that throughput structure (types of cargo handled and stored and their characteristics) of the port (terminal) has a significant influence on the space productivity – quantity passed through the certain area in the concrete period.

5. CONCLUSION

Optimization of space productivity in a seaport has to be one of the priority business objectives. It is determined by the general efforts to maximize available resources and potential utilization and to allow the biggest cargo quantities to pass through the concrete peace of space in a certain period.

In this paper were taken into consideration some elements on which space productivity is depending on (cargo characteristics, parameters that characterize implemented cargo handling and storing technology, parameters that characterize open storage area, and level of coordination between subjects participating in the supply chain realization). Demands related to space productivity are very relevant for the ports with limited available open storage areas and a lack of potential to expand it up to the necessary level. Among others, it is important to recognize the existence of a correlation between space productivity and overall throughput in a seaport.

The author plans to continue engagement in this field, being focused in the next phase on the research of mentioned correlation between space productivity in a seaport and the structure of its annual throughput.

References

- Deloitte Global Port Advisory. (2020). *Global Port trends 2030, the future port landscape*. https://www2.deloitte.com/
- ESPO. (2022). Trends in EU port's governance. https://www.espo.be
- European Commission. (2013). Europe's Seaports 2030: Challenges Ahead, Brussels. https:// ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/ca/MEMO 13 448
- https://tijaratuna.com/en/importance-of-seaports/

https://www.portvancouver.com/projects/

https://www.vliz.be/projects/sail/fiches/10.pdf, Economic importance of ports.

- Nguyen, D. P. (2020). The importance of seaports to the country's economy. http://m.tapchiqptd.vn/en/research-and-discussion/the-importance-of-seaports-to-the-countrys-economy-16048.html
- Piernext. (2022). https://piernext.portdebarcelona.cat/en/governance/planning-the-port-of-the-future-the-methodology-of-the-port-of-barcelona-to-develop-its-new-strategic-plan/

Port of Bar. (2022). Documentation of the Development Department.

PTI. (2021). https://www.porttechnology.org/news/port-of-barcelona-releases/

UNCTAD. (2021). Review of maritime transport, United Nations, Geneva. https://unctad.org/

Additional Reading

https://www.aqua-calc.com/page/density-table/substance/ https://www.cargohandbook.com/Bulk_Cargo https://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/dumping-angles-d_1531.html Lloyd`s Register. (2013). *Global Marine Trends 2030*. https://www.lr.org/



Elements of Food Security in the Current Geopolitical Context

Mancia Mircea-Sebastian¹ ⁽¹⁾ Gabriela A. Popoviciu² ⁽¹⁾

Received: November 16, 2022 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: European solidarity; European agricultural model; Global crisis; Green corridors; Agro-Food sector

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Given the current context - the health pandemic, the armed aggression of a state - the food security of the entire population of the globe is an essential element. Therefore, in this paper, and considering the most relevant and newest articles on food security in Romania and Europe, the authors will try to analyze the effects listed above, following which the problem of providing food to a growing population could be a problem with relentless considerations in the current environment, but also in the sustainability of this situation. Therefore, in the following, the authors will make an analytical approach to the studied ones and they will try to conclude what should happen in crises so that food security represents a landmark on the work agenda of the governors.

1. INTRODUCTION

In the second half of century XX, the world economy experienced rapid development. Statistical and economic indicators reflect this economic progress. Development and economic policies have led to the gradual degradation of environmental factors, with the slow but sure destruction of ecological systems. If global management continues to be geared towards excessive production and consumption without complying with environmental protection regulations, climate change and disruption will be exacerbated.

The 21st century is an explosive one in terms of global population growth. In February 2022 it was 7.930.443.166 inhabitants. The population of the European Union in 2021 was 447,3 million citizens. For Governments, the challenge is to apply sustainable technologies that combine productivity with sustainable development. The EU advocates for food, social security and the health of its citizens. Its policy aims to promote protection measures against threats in various fields. Member States' policies need to be complemented and harmonized with EU policies, adapting their legislation in this regard, including in terms of food security. Food security policies are a security challenge in this area. It is a key component that must respond to social change in society, climate change and the growing needs of populations. Ensuring "sustainable development" and "sustainable consumption", which emerged as a concept at the 1992 Rio de Janeiro Environment Conference, are defining elements today. Man transforms renewable resources into non-renewable resources through the aggressive exploitation of the soil, water, flora and fauna.

Interventions made in nature through the use of inappropriate technologies can lead to irreversible effects. Soil and water are very important environmental resources of a country, which

² University of Oradea, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Cadastre and Architecture, 4 B. St. Delavrancea, 410058, Bihor, Romania



¹ University of Oradea, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Cadastre and Architecture, 4 B. St. Delavrancea, 410058, Bihor, Romania

aggressively exploited can have an impact on the quality of the environment, but also on human health. According to data from the National Institute of Statistics, Romania has an agricultural area of 14,6 million ha, with 8,7 million ha of arable land and a dense hydrographic system, with 4.864 watercourses.

It is the 6th largest agricultural area among EU member states. Agricultural land is a national resource that must be protected and rationally exploited. Globally, in 2022 on 1.956.359 ha there were desertification and on 1.141.410 ha there were soil erosion phenomena. Agricultural overexploitation and pollutant emissions lead to a decrease in organic matter content and loss of biodiversity. Desertification is also gaining ground due to climate change. The principle of food sovereignty, sustainability and the ability to react in extreme cases were verified during the years 2020-2022 when the health crisis COVID-19 was a "test" that overlapped with the resulting economic crisis. Green agriculture and SMART agriculture are elements of sustainable development. In Romania, in 2020, only 470,000 ha were cultivated in an ecological agricultural system.

2. STRATEGIC AUTONOMY IN FOOD - AN OPPORTUNITY FOR THE EU

According to the European Commission, strategic autonomy is the EU's ability to make its own choices and shape the world around it through leadership and involvement, reflecting its interests and strategic values. This allows the EU to be stronger, both economically and geopolitically, by the following:

- is sustainable and responsible, taking the lead in the international arena in shaping a greener and fairer world, strengthening existing alliances and working with many partners;
- is open to trade and investment, which helps the EU economy recover from the crisis and remain globally competitive and connected;
- is able to take a stand against unfair and coercive practices and is ready to exercise its rights, while promoting international cooperation to address global issues.

Strategic food autonomy needs to be better defined with regard to food systems. We believe that the EU should be better prepared for future crises. Therefore, we believe that this should be part of the EU's recovery plan, for example through the use of "Next Generation EU" funds. To this end, strategic autonomy should be based on food production, labor and fair trade, with the general objective of ensuring food security and sustainability for EU citizens through fair, sustainable and resilient food supply chains. Amid the global crisis caused by the COVID-19 crisis, there is a glimpse of the economic crisis - the effect of this pandemic, as well as the global crisis that occurred as a result of the invasion of Ukraine by Russia. In this sense, the agri-food sector must ensure food stability and security as a strategic sector of Romania. The EU needs a system to prevent situations where, due to interdependencies, events such as power outages and network outages or cyber-attacks become uncontrollable. Examples include a city that has to be isolated for several weeks, a power outage that lasts for several days, a food company, or a retailer that is the target of a cyber-attack.

In order to improve adaptation mechanisms, it is necessary to develop existing food systems, while diversifying them, including business models for farm shops, urban agriculture, vertical agriculture and the approach based on local production for local needs in general, which means wider implementation of research and innovation results by farmers and cultivators, thus helping to minimize the risk of 'food waste' and specialization of production. At the same time, the benefits of an

efficient distribution system from farms to processing points and markets need to be strengthened. The population working in agriculture must be supported because the food of a nation is a priority, an indispensable good, and the agri-food sector is essential. The three types of crisis that have manifested themselves in the last 3 years have brought agriculture back to the forefront.

The Great Union (1918) brought to Romania an agricultural area of 6,5 million ha of agricultural land. After the First World War, "agriculture remained the most important branch of the economy. Although production per hectare for both, corn and wheat, was well below the European average, Romania, due to its large arable area, ranked first in Europe and 5th in the world in the production of corn and on the 4th and respectively 10th place in the production of wheat. Romania was in first place in the world in sunflower production (Gros, 2016). Globally, at present, "food demand has exceeded supply. First, supply is very low in Africa and other poor areas; second, climate change has shocking influences in Australia, Europe and other growing areas; third, part of food production was diverted to organic fuels; fourthly, the grain supply was not very large, the surplus was small, so prices exploded; fifthly, trade barriers for prices to rise in importing countries" (Sachs, 2018; Fox, 2011).

At present, some of these phenomena have emerged and there is a sharpening trend with the prospect of fighting for a new world order. According to specialized studies, climate change with possible temperature increases of $3^{0}-6^{0}$ C by the end of the 21^{st} century will lead to intensification of natural disasters, drought, sea and ocean level rises and conflicts over natural resources.

3. DIVERSIFICATION OF EU FOOD SYSTEMS

In the current geopolitical context, "Romania has a duty to convince the other EU partners that without solidarity and innovation, we cannot move forward. The European Union must pursue a policy designed to support farmers in providing goods and services to citizens" (I.E.R., 2019). The Common Agricultural Policy (PAC) plays a vital economic, social and ecological role. It should stabilize markets during crises while providing a safety net for farmers and processors and protecting the environment, labor, climate and animal welfare. The PAC plays a role in maintaining strategic production capacity, food security and sufficiency. The PAC needs reform. Green agriculture is a priority; in the wake of the armed conflict in Ukraine, an important goal is to increase agricultural production to supplement grain imports from Russia and Ukraine.

Romania entered the European Union with a large deficit in terms of productivity in agriculture; Romania's strengths were the resources that led to economic growth and stability.

Farms, fertile land and water are strategic assets and must be protected to some degree throughout the EU: they are the basis of our strategic food autonomy. By its geographical location and size, "Romania is a small state [...] that can benefit from its elites a favorable context. Geopolitics is a science practiced by the great powers" (Dungaciu, 2014). Global food flows have been disrupted by the invasion of Ukraine, a country with huge agricultural potential and an important role in world grain production.

In some European countries, agricultural land is protected by law. Agricultural land is a resource that does not reproduce, is rare and represents the food security of a country. The restrictions imposed by their own legislation refer to the limitation of land concentration, the avoidance of speculation and the maintenance of such land for agricultural use. The phenomenon of "seizure" of agricultural land has been studied by the European Union institutions as an alarm signal for the Union's agricultural productions (Szőcs-Boruss, 2015). Rising energy prices have a direct impact on all goods, including food. According to the Farmers' Training House (AFR), Romania had record wheat production in the agricultural year 2021. World wheat production is 775 million tons compared to the estimated 786 million tons needed for consumption. The demand is very high and the prices are constantly rising.

After the COVID-19 crisis, an economic crisis broke out, which was overcome by the drought of 2020. The political factor also led to rising prices: many countries imposed tariff barriers on the export of raw materials. Russia's attack on Ukraine has blocked grain exports from Ukraine. About 20 million tons of wheat and corn are blocked due to this conflict. Among the countries that buy wheat from Ukraine and Russia are (Table 1):

Country Cereals percentage, %				
Turkey	75			
Egypt	70			
Tunisia	52			
Kenya	34			
Nigeria	31			

Table 1. Cereals purchased from Ukraine and Russia

Source: Gallup, 2022.

The war is leading to global food security risks. The consequences of the war in Ukraine are increasing hunger and also make products more expensive (Nitu, 2021). For example, as for wheat, its price reached 386 Euros/ton, with an advance of 44% compared to four weeks ago and, going backwards, it is double compared to three years ago, according to EuroNext data. The price of maize also rose by almost 40% in just one month and stood at 346 Euros/ton, but the highest level since the outbreak of the conflict was 368,5 Euros/ton. Also, the reason should certainly tell us that even in cases where an increase in prices is imminent, for various reasons we cannot buy enough of any product, so the benefits of an overstock are limited. For certain social categories, however, any saving of money, given that purchasing power continues to erode visibly, cannot be ignored. In our opinion, these situations are an alarm signal that indicates a significant risk of declining consumption. AFR claims that in Romania there are fewer and fewer farmers doing high-performance agriculture. "In 2020 in Romania there were 2,887,000 agricultural holdings that used 12.8 million agricultural lands. The provisional results of the General Agricultural Census 2020 show that the agricultural area decreased by 543.000 ha, i.e. 4,1%. The average area increased / agricultural holding with a legal personality from 190,78 ha to 194.,8 ha. In the current geopolitical context, a food crisis is possible, not because of its lack of food, but because it will be too expensive for too many people" (Nemes, 2022). The events in Ukraine cause new difficulties in the activity of Romanian farmers: the increase in the price of diesel, unstable markets, and the lack of fertilizers on the market. According to the current President of France, Emmanuel Macron, "Community agriculture must be transformed to continue producing, pursuing agricultural independence." Many countries are facing large increases in food prices. It is necessary to reduce dependence on the food system, to eliminate excessive dependence on energy imports, fertilizers, animal feed, and supply chains.

In the context of the armed conflict in the vicinity of Romania, a possible food crisis is to be feared by the citizens of Romania. Romania is the largest producer of sunflower without the EU with 3 million tons in the agricultural year 2021. The production of corn was 16 million tons, with Romania being also in 1st place and the production of wheat with 11 million RON ranked 4th (figure 1).



Figure 1. Romania's position in the EU on the main cereal crops /2021 Source: European Commission; Hostiuc, 2022.

Romania is among the top 10 sunflower producers in the world. These are: Ukraine, Russia, Argentina, Turkey, Hungary, Romania, France, Bulgaria, Spain, Kazakhstan (figure 2).



Figure 2. Top 10 sunflower producers in the world (thousand tons) / 2019 Source: FAOSTAT; Hostiuc, 2022.

The agri-food sector is the area in which farmers and producers face great difficulties and increasing pressure. Romanian farmers have demanded that the Ministry of Agriculture be included in the Supreme Council of National Defense (CSAT), because food security is very important in the current international context.

4. RESILIENCE AND SUSTAINABILITY OF FOOD SYSTEMS

Recent events caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, extreme weather conditions due to climate disruption and cyber-attacks demonstrate the need to improve the resilience and sustainability of food systems. Under the 'Farm to Consumer' (F2F) strategy, the European Commission is drawing up an EU Food Supply and Food Security Emergency Plan and a related mechanism for responding to the food crisis. This would contribute to raising awareness of risks and include identifying, assessing, mapping and monitoring key risks by testing the strengths of critical systems

at both EU and Member State level, leading to the introduction of measures to address the problems encountered. In order to ensure long-term production of sufficient and healthy food and viable livelihoods, natural resources must be used sustainably, conserving soil and water resources, combating climate change and declining biodiversity, and protecting animal welfare. The EU should also strengthen local and regional production in order to combine well-balanced food production and processing with a low carbon footprint. According to the FAO, our humanity and food security are facing many new and unprecedented threats, such as extreme weather events caused by climate change, disease and pandemics. Agriculture faces many risks that, in a hyper-connected world, interact with each other. The FAO notes in its report that, over the period 2020/21, food prices have risen to their highest level since 2011. A common finding is that price volatility is partly driven by speculation. The UN and the OECD note that by 2020, between 720 and 811 million people will be starving. Nearly one in three people in the world (2,37 billion) did not have access to adequate food by 2020, an increase of 320 million people in one year.

The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrates that food security should not be taken for granted, not even in Europe. All the actors and all the activities along the food chain are hyperconnected. During the pandemic, countries introduced trade restrictions. Even within the EU, Member States have taken unilateral measures to close borders, which have made it difficult to transport food and seasonal workers. Due to the ability of farmers and food chain partners to adapt quickly, production, processing and distribution continued to work. The Commission has also taken steps to maintain the functioning of the internal market. However, many entrepreneurs have been economically affected by the crisis as travel, tourism and food services have been shut down.

5. CONCLUSION

Romania is the largest producer of sunflower seeds in Europe. Therefore, Romania, as it produces more than it consumes, provides the raw material for the European Union through exports. The crisis in the region must increase the processing capacity of products in the country so as not to be affected by disruptions in supply chains. Romania has agri-food resources to turn into a finished product to ensure the food security of its citizens. The energy crisis has influenced the results of Romanian farmers with a major impact on production costs. It is necessary to establish long-term strategies with the integration of European policies in their own activities. It was found that it is necessary to increase the efficiency of production factors, the availability of alternative practices, in case of crisis, sustainability, but also the fight against food waste, as well as reducing the dependence on chemical fertilizers. The European Union is preparing a detailed action plan to ensure food security within the Union, eliminating deficiencies resulting from excessive dependence on imports of energy, fertilizers, and feed from one supplier or too few suppliers. There is a need to apply consolidated measures and incentives for the development of agriculture and the use of all agricultural land. The European Commission is invited by the European Parliament to suspend all Green Pact initiatives that have a negative impact on food production. The EU must ensure that borders remain open and that the manpower and logistics needed for food production and distribution ("green corridors") are maintained, both within the EU and to third countries. This requires a strong coordination mechanism between Member States, the EC and third countries. It is emphasized that the current crisis has shown that there are weaknesses; disruption of agricultural activities and trade flows with worsening financial difficulties for many European families. Strategic autonomy must be seen as an opportunity for the EU to ensure its security of food supply and to set high standards of food sustainability, especially in the context of the European Green Pact and the UN Sustainable Development Goals. The European food sustainability challenge needs to be

addressed both internally and externally, and the opinion will also examine possible ways to protect and improve the availability of sustainable food for all European citizens, especially in times of crisis. Food security should be approached from an international, national and local perspective. As is already known, 55% of the world's population lives in cities where few fresh foods are produced - the so-called "food deserts". The UN predicts that this percentage will increase to 68% by 2050. Forecasts show that urbanization, combined with the global growth of the world's population, could add another 2.5 billion people to the urban population by 2050. The level of urbanization in Europe will increase to about 83.7% in 2050. In the EU's internal market, food is transported daily in most rural areas and from processing points to supermarkets in urban areas. However, local farms and online stores have enjoyed increasing popularity among consumers during the 2020/21 isolation measures. The development of short supply chains contributes to Europe's resilience. Local channels should correspond to the needs of the population and the specific characteristics of the territories and climatic conditions. Processing capacity should be further developed at the local level.

References

- Dungaciu, D. (2014). "Interviu: Cele trei variante de lucru în cazul că Rusia nu va invada Ucraina; Ura din România îi afectează politica externă; Polonia joacă în altă ligă; Ce vor S.U.A; Cazul Ungariei e uluitor" ("Interview: The three options for working if Russia does not invade Ukraine; Romania's hatred affects its foreign policy; Poland play in another league; What the U.S. wants; The case of Hungary is amazing "), available at www.cursdeguvernare.ro
- Fox, T. (2011). "Creșterea populației: provocarea definitorie a secolului XXI", Institutul de Inginerie Mecanică ("Population growth: the defining challenge of the 21st century", Institute of Mechanical Engineering). available at www.natoreview
- Gallup. (2022). https://news.gallup.com/opinion/gallup/390395/ukraine-war-threatens-world-food-supply.aspx
- Gros, V. (2016). "Marea Unire a adus României păduri, terenuri agricole, căi ferate", in *Ziarul Capital* ("The Great Union brought to Romania forests, agricultural lands, railways", in Capital Newspaper), available at www.capital.ro
- Hostiuc, C. (2022). "Care este răspunsul la una din cele mai importante întrebări ale românilor: vom avea ce pune pe masă cu războiul la graniță?" ("What is the answer to one of the most important questions of Romanians: will we have something to do with the war on the border?"), in *Business Magazine*, available at www.businessmagazine.ro
- Institutul European din România (I.E.R.). (2019) "Reforma Politicii Agricole Comune" (European Institute of Romania, "Reform of the Common Agricultural Policy")
- Nemes, R. (2022). "Consecințele războiului din Ucraina, 50 de țări ar putea fi afectate în scurt timp de o criză alimentară" ("The consequences of the war in Ukraine, 50 countries could soon be affected by a food crisis"), available at www.romania.europalibera.org
- Nițu, F. (2021). "România are o producție record de grâu în 2021, dar pâinea se scumpește" ("Romania has a record wheat production in 2021, but bread becomes more expensive"), *Business Magazine*.
- Sachs, J. (2018). "Țările sărace trebuie să producă mai multă hrană" ("Poor countries need to produce more food"), available at www.europarl.europa.eu
- Szőcs-Boruss, M. A. (2015). "Acapararea terenurilor agricole în România", in *Buletin Informativ Eco Ruralis* (Seizure of agricultural land in Romania ", in the Eco Ruralis Newsletter), available at www.ecoruralis.ro



Analysis of Agriculture in the European Union

Sandra Mrvica Mađarac¹ D Zvonimir Filipović² D Sandra Jurić³ D

Keywords:

Agricultural policy of EU; Main challenges for agricultural production; Agricultural and livestock production; Size of agricultural holdings

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. Accepted: March 7, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023 Abstract: With its agricultural policy, the European Union wants to encour-

Received: November 20, 2022

age member states to invest in agricultural production, production and promotion of quality agricultural products, care for the environment, development of rural areas, increase market transparency, and encourage innovation in agriculture. The main challenges for agricultural production in the European Union are global market competition, economic and political crises, climate change and rising costs of production factors. The European Union wants to provide support for the sustainable income of agricultural holdings and the stability of the agricultural sector, and it contributes greatly to the financing of agriculture in the member states. In this way, the aim is to ensure the long-term security of the food supply and the agricultural diversity of the member states. The paper states the objectives of the agricultural policy of the European Union, researches and analyzes data on the number of employees in agriculture, the age structure of farmers, the size of agricultural holdings, agricultural and livestock production, fishing and promotional activities of agricultural production in the European Union.

1. INTRODUCTION

The European Union wants to encourage its member states to invest in agriculture and it provides opportunities through the co-financing of agricultural holdings; most of all, it wants to incite young people to engage themselves in the agriculture business. The European Union strives to have greater exports than imports of agricultural products, because this will mean an increase in the number of people employed in agriculture, and as a result, a greater share in the gross national product will follow. Considering that the common agricultural policy represents a set of different measures and programs that are subsidized by the European Union, its goal is to ensure acceptable prices and the quality of agricultural products and to meet the income and preservation goals of rural heritage. With the enlargement of the European Union, there have been an increase in the workforce and the quantity of available arable land. This paper analyzes the agricultural activity of the European Union and the objectives of the agricultural policy.

2. EU AGRICULTURAL POLICY

Agriculture is defined as an activity that is closely related to the cultivation of useful plants and animals, for the purpose of processing, transportation and commerce of plant and animal products produced by one's own activity (Petrač, 2002). During recent decades, we have seen major changes in the agricultural policy of the European Union, and the reason for this is to help farmers so that they can face the various challenges on what they encounter. With these changes, the European Union covered an extremely wide range of areas, which include: food quality, traceability, trade and promotion of agricultural products from the EU. The European Union



¹ College of Applied Sciences "Lavoslav Ružička" in Vukovar, Županijska 50, Vukovar, Croatia

² PIK Vrbovec plus d.o.o., Gospodarska zona 20, Antunovac, Croatia

³ Croatian Health Insurance Fund, Kapucinska 33, Osijek, Croatia

helps finance the farmers, especially those farmers whose goal is to increase ecological efficiency and effectiveness (European Union, 2022).

The Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) represents ten key objectives on which the common agricultural policy will be based in the course from 2023 to 2027. The agricultural goals within the EU are as follows (European Commission, 2022): better positioning of farmer in the food supply chain: here, the goal is to increase market transparency and introduction of more effective mechanisms and fight against climate change: the goal is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and to proceed with the advancement of execution of sustainable energy and improving carbon sequestration (carbon uptake by plants through photosynthesis), care for the environment: the aim is to effectively manage natural resources (of air, water and soil), encouragement of sustainable development and reducing upon dependence on chemicals, preservation the landscape and encouragement of biodiversity: the aim is to increase ecosystem services, preserve landscapes and habitats, as well as to contribute to reducing and stopping the loss of biodiversity, encouraging generational renewal: here, the goal is to attract and provide great support to the new and young farmers, and to support dynamic rural areas: the goal is to increase the employment rate, to harmonize gender equality, which includes the representation of women in agriculture and the local, internal development of the rural area, which includes sustainable forestry and circular bioeconomy, and also protection of food quality and health: here, the goal is to ensure safe and high-quality food that will be produced in a sustainable way, and the aim is to reduce wasting of food, to encourage knowledge and innovation: the goal is to modernize and digitize agriculture and rural areas, to ensure a fair income for farmers: the aim is to support the sustainable income of agricultural holdings with the aim of providing food and agricultural diversity, when increasing competitiveness: the goal is to increase competitiveness through a greater focus on research, as well as technology and digitalization.

From the aforementioned objectives, it can be concluded that the European Union wants to support the sustainable income of agricultural holdings and keep hold of the resilience of the agricultural sector throughout the EU, in order to achieve the long-term security of food supply and agricultural diversity, as well as the economic sustainability of agricultural production.

The support that is offered to young farmers (income support) that national authorities must accomplish is as follows (by the regulation of the European Commission, 2022): the making of allocations of up to 2% of the total funds that are intended for income support, to decide on how many hectares will be allocated per farm for young farmers (it's maximum is 90 hectares), to choose a quality method for calculating payments for young farmers, also to investigate whether the users of the program for the young farmers have the relevant knowledge and skills and whether they meet certain conditions, after starting a business by the user, to provide young farmers with grants through a period of five years, and also to ensure certain advantages to young farmers.

3. PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION IN THE EU

According to data based on the statistical structure of the agricultural economy, in 2013 the total labor force of the member states of the European Union was 9,5 million working units. The share of regularly employed workers was 92%, which amounts to 8,7 million work units. Compared to the results from 2007, the number of work units decreased by 2,3 million in 2013. During the period from 2007 to 2013, almost all member states experienced a decrease in their workforce, except for Ireland, Malta and Hungary, where these members recorded an increase in their workforce. The largest decline was experienced by: Bulgaria, Cyprus, Italy and Slovakia, where the labor force fell by at least one-third. With regards to the regularly employed workers, Latvians are the largest in terms of their percentage, because they have almost all regularly employed workers, while Spain features the smallest share of regularly employed workers (Eurostat, 2022). Figure 1 shows the share of regularly employed workers in agriculture in 2013 in the European Union.



Figure 1. Presentation of the share of regularly employed workers in the agricultural economy in 2013.





Source: European Commission, 2022.

From Figure 2, it can be seen that the largest share of individual farmers is older than 65 years of age, which is certainly not a good sign for future events, as even 34% of those over 65 years of age are engaged in agricultural activities. Also, there is a large percentage of workers between 45 and 64 years of age, which amounts to 46%, which means that, according to these data, as

many as 80% of those over 45 years of age are engaged in agricultural work, while the youngest (up to 25 years) is only 2%, which does not represent a good situation for the European Union and sets before it a great challenge to encourage young people to engage in farming. Figure 3 shows the average size of farms in the European Union.



Figure 3. Average size of agricultural holdings in the European Union **Source:** European Commission, 2022.

Following the main statistical findings in 2013, 10,8 million observed agricultural holdings were recorded. The analysis found that 6,5 million or 59,8% of these farms achieved a regular result of more than 2000 Euros. The member states of the European Union used approximately 175 million hectares of agricultural land, which is approximately 40% of the total land area. France and Spain have the largest share of used agricultural land, with 15,9% and 13,3% shares, respectively, while the shares of Germany and the now former member of the European Union, the United Kingdom recorded to be below 10%. Romania has the largest number of agricultural holdings with 3,6 million and one-third of all agricultural holdings were present in Romania. From Figure 3, it can be seen that the Czech Republic has the largest agricultural holdings in 2013 with 133 hectares while the United Kingdom was behind it and even six member states have the size of agricultural holding that was less than 10 hectares in size. When compared to 2010, it can be seen that almost all of the member countries have experienced an increase in the size of their agricultural holdings except for the Czech Republic, whose agricultural holdings fell by approximately less than 20 hectares, and Greece and Ireland, which experienced a slight decrease. In 2013, the total utilized agricultural area amounted to 40% of the total land area observed in the group of EU member states. The rest of the land, which amounts to 9%, belongs to the agricultural economy for types of land that have not been used (2,3%), or in the form of forest areas (6,7%).

The largest share of the production of plant products that belong to farming is the production of cereals and oilseeds. The cereal group includes the production of corn, wheat, barley, oats and other grains, while the oilseed group includes the production of rapeseed, sunflower, soybeans and others. According to data, cereals are being produced in the largest quantities, especially wheat (the total amount of wheat produced for 2022 amounts to 134.000 tons). Wheat is followed by corn with almost 60.000 tons produced, and barley with slightly more than 50.000
tons produced (European Commission, 2022). Almost two-thirds of the produced grains are used for animal feed, one-third for human feed and a very small share is used for producing biofuels (3%). The most commonly used oilseed is rapeseed, represented by almost 60% that is followed by sunflower and soybeans. Oilseeds are used for food products, animal feed, industrial needs and fuel (European Commission, 2022). According to data from 2021, the number of livestock in the EU amounted to 142 million pigs, 76 million cattle, 60 million sheep, and 11 million goats. Per Eurostat, most of the cattle are raised in several member states, and Spain, France and Germany own most of the cattle. Spain leads the list with 24% of pigs, 25% of sheep and 23% of goats in the EU, while France leads the list with 23% of cattle in the EU. The Republic of Croatia, when compared to the EU in terms of the percentage of cattle is at the very bottom, together with Latvia, Estonia, Luxembourg, Cyprus and Malta. When observing at the percentage that is related to pigs, the Republic of Croatia is slightly below the average (Agroklub, 2022). According to data from the European Commission for 2016, the EU exports most of its beef to Turkey, followed by Bosnia and Herzegovina and Switzerland. The EU is closely related to imports from other countries from South America. Most beef is imported from Brazil, followed by Uruguay and Argentina. The problem was in the relationship between imports and exports, because until 2015 the EU's trade balance was negative, and after that period the relationship between imports and exports began to gain back the balance (Agroklub, 2022).

According to data from 2018, Estonia and Italy have the largest number of people employed in fisheries in the EU. The European Union imports much more seafood than it exports them. Given that Estonia has the largest number of employees in fisheries, it was expected that it would also have the largest allocated funds from the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund. The Republic of Croatia is in the average field in terms of allocated funds from the EU fund (European Parliament, 2022).

The Common Fisheries Policy (CFP) has been first formulated when the Treaty of Rome was agreed. In the beginning, it had a connection with CFP, but over time it has become independent. The main goal is to ensure sustainable fisheries and provide permanent income and jobs. According to the last reform of the CFP from 2013, an effort has been made to ensure the long-term ecological sustainability of activities in the fishing sector, with the goals of ensuring the realization of economic and social benefits, and also benefits for employment (European Parliament, 2022).

4. PROMOTION OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS IN THE EU

The European Union wants to help its farmers (producers) sell their own agricultural products, given the current situation on the large market, and at the same time to help them with the creation of new jobs that will result in the growth of agricultural products and security of diet in the EU in the future time. Promotional campaigns are designed to provide new opportunities on the market to farmers and the food industry, and to help the development of existing businesses. There are two types of promotional activities (European Commission, 2022): promotional activity carried out by a European trade or inter-trade association that is co-financed by the EU and promotional activity that is executed directly from the EU such as, for instance, participation in communication campaigns and fairs and diplomatic offensives by commissioners in third countries, due to the development of trade in agricultural and food-stuff products. Policy rules dictate that EU funds can be used for promotion and information initiatives in EU member states and also in non-EU countries.

In 2022, the European Commission has allocated 185,9 million Euros to promote activities about agricultural and food products from Europe on the domestic and foreign markets. Campaigns that

are aimed at countries outside of the European Union mainly take place in the markets that are characterized with high growth potential, such as: South Korea, Mexico, Canada and Japan. The financial amount that the European Commission has prepared for promoting the activity is quite large, but it indicates that they want to ensure a secure future for the member countries of the European Union (European Commission, 2022). The European Union invests considerable resources in the promotion of ecological agriculture. Ecological agriculture is a complete system of agricultural management that encourages the natural activity of the soil, ecological system and people, and also ecological processes, biodiversity and natural cycles (Srpak & Zeman, 2018).

5. CONCLUSION

The advantages of agricultural production in the EU are as follows: production tradition, diversification of culinary traditions and modernized production. The biggest problem of agricultural production in the EU is the old population that is engaged in agriculture production, and the departure of young people from the countryside.

One of the European Union's goals is to motivate young people to work in agriculture, in order to maintain a more secure future in terms of feeding the population. It is difficult for farmers to secure wages that will keep workers in the countryside, but this is exactly where the European Union brings help with its subsidies. By means of the common agricultural policy, the EU strives to achieve its goals: to modernize agricultural production, co-finance investments in agriculture, adopt the measures that would incite interest in young people to engage in agriculture, increase exports, ensure further quality and diversity of its products, etc. The EU invests considerable resources in the promotion of the quality of its agricultural products, in order to gain even more access to large markets, such as Mexico, Canada, South Korea, and others. Due to diverse climatic conditions, modernization of farmers, fertile soil and the quality of its products, the EU is one of the largest producers and exporters of agricultural products in the world.

References

- Agroklub. (2022). https://www.agroklub.com/stocarstvo/vecina-eu-stoke-se-uzgaja-u-nekolikodrzava-clanica/77183/, retrieved September 10, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=-File:Average_utilised_agricultural_area_per_holding,_2010_and_2013_(%C2%B9)_(hectares)_YB16.png, retrieved July 10, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/common-agricultural-policy/ cap-overview/new-cap-2023-27/key-policy-objectives-new-cap hr, retrieved June 16, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/common-agricultural-policy/income-support/young-farmers hr, retrieved June 20, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/common-agricultural-policy/market-measures/promotion-eu-farm-products hr, retrieved July 22, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/common-agricultural-policy/income-support/young-farmers_hr, retrieved July 20, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/farming/crop-productions-and-plant-based-products/cereals_hr, retrieved September 6, 2022.
- European Commission. (2022). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=-File:Share_of_regular_workers_in_the_farm_labour_force_and_distribution_by_work_intensity,_2013_(%25)_YB16.png, retrieved July 20, 2022.

- European Parlament. (2022). https://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets/hr/sheet/122/europ-sko-ribarstvo-u-brojkama, retrieved September 6, 2022.
- European Parlament. (2022). https://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets/hr/sheet/114/zajednic-ka-ribarstvena-politika-nastanak-i-razvoj, retrieved September 7, 2022.
- European Union. (2022). https://european-union.europa.eu/priorities-and-actions/actions-topic/ag-riculture_hr, retrieved June 16, 2022.
- Eurostat. (2022). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Archive:Farm_structure_statistics/hr&oldid=418310, retrieved June 20, 2022.
- Petrač, B. (2002). Agrarian economy. Osijek, Croatia: Ekonomski fakultet u Osijeku.
- Srpak, M. & Zeman, S. (2018). Ecologically sustainable agriculture. Zbornik radova Međimurskog Veleučilišta u Čakovcu. Vol 9, No 2, 68-75.



Bulgarian Agriculture - Principles, Traditions and Development of the Organic Agriculture

Kristina Petrova-Hristova¹ 💿

Received: November 19, 2022 Accepted: March 7, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Bulgarian agriculture; Rural areas; Economy; Traditions; Organic agriculture

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: Agriculture as a traditional branch has a strategic importance for Bulgaria, not only because it ensures food security, and creates raw materials for many other industries and sectors of the national economy, but also provides work and income for a significant part of the population in rural areas. When we talk about agriculture as an economic activity we must always consider it in direct correlation with rural areas and their vitality. The sector is among the most dynamically developing in terms of modernization, robotization, digital transformation, also provoked by the ambitious goals related to climate and green challenges on a global scale. Precisely the agricultural sector is at the center of the circular economy and bio-based societies, preservation and development of the regions, and is in close connection with the development of science - from applied to the top - called to carry humanity into the next era. Bulgarian agriculture has deep traditions in society, its history can be traced back in time. But in the circumstances of alobalization, facilitating access to imported food, it is important to increase the competitiveness of Bulgarian agricultural products. In recent years, there is more and more talk about ecologically clean production, and Bulgaria is no exception because it is making serious attempts to develop organic agriculture in the country.

1. INTRODUCTION

1

A griculture is a branch of the economy for the production of plant and animal products to meet the needs of the population and industry. Agriculture is traditionally one of the most important sectors of the Bulgarian economy. Regardless of all the problems and contradictions in its development after 1990, the sector remains one of the pillars of Bulgarian socio-economic life. The stable positive development of the country's economy in recent years has reduced the relative weight of agriculture in terms of the gross domestic product it creates and the level of employment; but, despite this, the agricultural sector will continue to play a significant role in the Bulgarian economy in the future and will determine to a significant extent the general state of the country. The main branches of agriculture are crop and stock-breeding.

The agricultural sector, both globally and in Bulgaria, faces many challenges - climate change, the attitude towards the environment, the development of the economy and trade, social and demographic changes, the health status of people, the rural economy and regional development and the development of science and technology.

A new stage in the development of Bulgarian agriculture is the development and popularization of organic or ecological agriculture. As an agricultural practice, it is related to the evolutionary development of traditional agricultural practices and the new attitude of producers to the environment in which they carry out their activity, i.e. to natural resources.

Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski", Faculty of Geology and Geography, "Socio-Economic Geography" Department, Tzar Osvoboditel 15, Sofia, Bulgaria



2. STAGES OF DEVELOPMENT OF BULGARIAN AGRICULTURE

Traces of agricultural activity have been found on Bulgarian lands since prehistoric times. Many artefacts found in different parts of present-day Bulgaria reveal that domesticated animals provided food, skins, wool, and bone material for agricultural implements. After the establishment of the Bulgarian state, the cultivation of a number of cultivated plants, mainly cereals - wheat, barley, rye, oats, millet - emerged as the main livelihood for the Bulgarians. After Liberation (1878), agriculture in Bulgaria was enriched with new agricultural crops - sugar beet, tomatoes, alfalfa, sainfoin, etc. Vegetables were mainly grown for own needs. Fruit nurseries and gardens are established in agricultural schools. Valuable fruit species and varieties from the European range are imported and propagated. The state takes care to improve stock-breeding. The first state livestock farms and scientific units were opened, which assisted in the importation and distribution of more productive breeds, in the improvement of local ones and the creation of new breeds, in their nutrition and breeding, etc. In general, however, during this period, agriculture in Bulgaria was extensive and low-productivity. After September 9, 1944, the Bulgarian communist party, using the resources of the state dominated by it, made a spectacular attempt to implement a complete change of the model of Bulgarian agriculture. Pursuant to the Law on Agrarian Reform adopted in 1946, over 200 decares of land was nationalized. Obviously, agriculture has been affected by many negative consequences of an economic and political nature, as a result of which the production of agricultural products of both plant and animal origin has greatly decreased.

Since 1984, the country has been forced to import large quantities of wheat. The permanent import of agricultural products traditional for Bulgaria, such as: wheat, corn, sunflower, beans, garlic, potatoes, soybeans, etc. has started. The export of fruits and vegetables, of grapes for fresh consumption is greatly reduced. The country spent more than 800 million dollars on the import of agricultural products. As a result of this incorrect economic policy, during the period 1944-1989, the number of people employed in agriculture decreased to 17% of the active population (750 thousand people), and this very important agricultural sector provided only 11% of the national income in 1990. Of all goods exported from Bulgaria, only 1,8-2,2% are unprocessed agricultural products, not because the export of industrial products was high, but because the necessary amount of fresh fruits and vegetables was missing. A large part of our agricultural products have a very high content of nitrates, and this makes them uncompetitive in world markets. Concerning the development of agriculture in our country during this period, it is worth clarifying some of the frequently encountered terms in specialized literature - extensive and intensive development. The extensive path of development is expressed in an increase in agricultural production by increasing arable land and the number of farm animals. The intensive path is associated with an increase in average yields per hectare and the productivity of domestic animals. This can be achieved by using intensive methods of work in agriculture, expressed in mechanization, chemicalization and irrigation (artificial watering). The excessive use of fertilizers and pesticides, to which the agricultural production in Bulgaria was subjected, although it led to a significant increase in the average yield per hectare of cultivated area, which reached a record 480 kg wheat and in places even 850 kg corn, led to many environmental problems that adversely affected the development of this industry.

In general, Bulgarian agriculture has always been, and continues to be, polycultural - i.e. numerous cultivated plants and various types of domestic animals are grown.

When we talk about agriculture as an economic activity we must always consider it in direct correlation with rural areas and their vitality. And to be aware of its two important aspects,

economic and social – ensuring food/nutrition security and maintaining biodiversity on the one hand and maintaining the vitality of rural areas on the other.

Agriculture is of strategic importance for Bulgaria, not only because it ensures food security, and creates raw materials for many other industries and sectors of the national economy, but also provides jobs and income to a significant part of the population in rural areas. At the same time, the sector is among the most dynamic developments in terms of modernization, robotization, and digital and digital transformation, also caused by ambitious goals related to climate and green challenges at the global level. It is precisely the agricultural sector that is at the center of the circular economy and bio-based societies, the preservation and development of the region, and is closely related to the development of science - from applied to the top - that is called to carry humanity into the next era.

3. DEVELOPMENT OF ORGANIC AGRICULTURE IN THE COUNTRY

Bulgarian agriculture has a long historical development, passing through different paradigms, to reach the modern stage of development and the introduction of the so-called organic or ecological farming.

Unlike the developed countries, however, in our country, we move from one paradigm to another without a clear transition, without the old paradigm being finished, and in recent times the transition from one paradigm to another is connected with an imported influence. The example of Bulgarian agriculture from the 70s of the 20th century is a recent one. Under Soviet influence and for the first time in Eastern Europe, an attempt was made to create a socialist agribusiness. However, the attempt was unsuccessful. The application and acceptance of Bulgaria into the EU bring Bulgarian agriculture to a new development - acceptance and implementation of the so-called "green" paradigm (Boyadzhiev et al., 2021).

The first agricultural paradigm from a historical point of view is the pre-productivist one. This is a natural product, in which the vast majority of what is produced serves the self-satisfaction of the immediate producers. The goal is to meet nutritional needs and fight hunger. The main problem is uneven production, which in its primitiveness and low productivity is entirely dependent on seasonality, while consumption is much more uniform over time.

The second paradigm is the productivist one. With it, industrialization and the market economy push agriculture so far that unprecedented changes in its proportions and structure occur, and the system of agribusiness and the global common market are created. All kinds of policies, and reforms are implemented, and the concept of "green revolution" is born. The goal is ever-increasing production in the hope that its outpacing consumption rate will mitigate and combat hunger. The change in the geography of agricultural plants and animal breeds continues. Each new variety and breed spread in just a few years all over the world. At the end of the period of filling this paradigm, the greatest social changes occur world wars, socialist states, the collapse of the colonial system, the binding of international relations with world organizations, including the FAO, as well as binding treaties. Industrial society is exhausting itself, and along with the eternal problems of hunger and thirst, of peace and health, there are problems with waste and various violations of nature and the environment. The third agricultural paradigm is the post-productivist one. It corresponds to post-industrial society. The share of those directly employed in agriculture is negligible, an ever greater part of agricultural production undergoes ever more in-depth processing and processing.

and trade is looking for new and new forms for the realization of overproduction. The next paradigm, the fourth, in which we are at the moment, is associated with the concepts of ecology, green economy, territorial approach, circular economy, strategies, etc (Boyadzhiev et al., 2021). Organic farming is such a production system that does not allow or completely exclude the use of synthetic fertilizers, pesticides, growth regulators and feed additives, and in which the crop and crop residues are relied upon to maintain and improve the soil's nutritional status, manure, green manure and biological plant protection. It is important to realize that organic farming is much more than the exclusion of pesticides and mineral fertilizers. This is a different manufacturing method, which is non-holistic in nature, involving the implementation of many preventative measures. Organic production can only be successful if its overall concept is understood and applied (Mitev, 2019).

The organic sector in Bulgaria has been rapidly developing during the past years. According to Eurostat data, in 2017 Bulgaria had a total area of 136 618 ha (2016 - 160 620 hectares) of cultivated as organic, up 13 646 ha. In 2017 the organic area in Bulgaria has increased 10 times compared to 2007. For example, Romania has an increase of only 2 times. The above absolute figures tell us only part of the story. Although this is a big increase, the whole organic area represents only 2.72% of total utilized agricultural area (UAA) in Bulgaria (in EU – 7.03%).



Figure 1. Share of areas in total utilized agricultural area (UAA), % Source: Mitova (2021) by Eurostat

Of the total number of operators, producers seem to take the lead. When analyzing the number of organic holdings in comparison to the total number of holdings in Bulgarian agriculture, a diverging trend is observed. Available data shows that the number of organic farms is increasing while there is a consolidation of conventional agricultural holdings in the country (Mitova, 2021).



Bulgarian organic products are quality and competitive - according to unofficial data, more than 90% of Bulgarian organic products are exported to EU countries, the USA and Japan. By size of certified areas for the collection of wild fruits, herbs and mushrooms, Bulgaria ranks second in the EU, and fourth in number of certified bee families. Bulgaria is the largest producer of organic rose oil in the world. National regulation for organic farming is harmonized with the requirements of the European Union (Mitev, 2019).

An important aspect is the type of production (arable crops and perennials) of organic farms. The choice of type of production in the regions and Member States depends on various factors (including the technical aspects of organic production and the structure of consumer demand). A large part of the land is used for permanent meadows and pastures, but also for perennials (such as fruits) and for cereals. When considering the organic farming area compared to the total area of the different agricultural holdings in Europe, the available data show that organic crops (in total) account for 5% of the total area cultivated in the EU-28. The comparison of the main categories of use for the biological sector shows interesting features. The share of permanent crops is high in the organic sector (15%), as the demand for fruit and vegetable products is among the highest in the organic market. The share of permanent meadows and pastures represents more than 50% of the total area occupied for organic production.

Conversely, cereals cover more than 30% of the total EU farmland, but a lower percentage of organic land use. The explanation lies in the fact that organic farming systems are wider than conventional farming (greater dependence on grazing on permanent pasture). Permanent meadows and pastures are often eligible for agri-environment payments and are easier and less risky to transform into the organic sector than other crops (e.g. field crops). Depending on the national characteristics of agri-environmental and/or environmental payments for rural development and the characteristics of land use at regional level, this could lead to preference for the development of permanent meadows and pastures for organic production (Branzova, 2019).

4. CONCLUSION

The development of Bulgarian organic agriculture is among the priorities of the state policy, especially the Ministry of Agriculture and Food. Their work is aimed at maintaining the trend of increasing the number of organic operators and the size of the areas, as well as increasing the species diversity of organically grown crops and farm animals. The benefits of biologically produced foods and products for human health, as well as the biological method of production as sparing the environment and conserving natural resources, are increasingly popularized. Therefore, the fact that the issues of healthy eating and sustainable use of natural resources concern increasingly large groups and communities of people both in the EU and in our country, also contributes to this.

In conclusion, we can formulate several more important conclusions about organic production in Bulgaria - first of all, it marked a noticeable growth after the country acceded to the EU; organic farming is more profitable than conventional farming; the development of organic vegetable production and fruit growing shows a permanent trend of growth in the regional aspect; organic production is highly dependent on local markets and the solvency of the population.

Unfortunately, producers of organic products are also faced with some problems, mostly related to the high prices of biological preparations and fertilizers and the high risks of losses, which partly hinder the future development of more producers. With the help of the implemented policies in the field, as well as the different types of subsidies, solutions are sought to reduce the threats to organic producers.

References

- Boyadzhiev, V., Veselinova, N., Patarchanov, P., & Zarkov, V. (2021). Agricultural paradigms and return to nature, Proceedings of the scientific forum with international participation "Ecology and agrotechnologies – fundamental science and practical realization", Vol. 2, Nikola Pushkarov Institute of soil science, agrotechnologies and plant protection, Sofia, p, 109, ISSN 2683-0663
- Branzova, P. (2019). Organic farming in Bulgaria and EU comparative dimensions, *Economic studies, Vol. 28, 1*, pp. 183-187

Eurostat. (2022). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/

- Mitev, G. (2019). Organic farming the future of the agricultural economy of Bulgaria, Trakia Journal of Sciences, Vol. 17, Suppl. 1, pp. 572-576, ISSN 1313-3551
- Mitova, D. (2021). Development of organic farming in Bulgaria highlights, Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Economics and Management, 1, pp. 87-96.

Additional reading

Boyadzhiev, V. (2012). Economic-geographical priorities of Bulgarian agriculture, Sofia, ISBN 978-954-479-039-4

https://www.mzh.government.bg/bg/sektori/rastenievadstvo/biologichno-proizvodstvo/

Nikolova, M. (2013). Biological agriculture - status and potential for development, Academic publishing house "Tzenov", Svishtov, ISBN 978-954-23-0813-3

Constant

Taxation of Agricultural Sector in Albania

Brunilda Duraj (Zani)¹ 💿 Viola Theodhori² 💿

Received: November 20, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Abstract: Agriculture contributes about 20% to the Gross Domestic Prod-Tax policy; uct in Albania. It is one of the main sectors of the Albanian economy, which Incentives; supports and impacts other important sectors such as tourism, product pro-VAT cessing and exports. In the conditions of the globalization of the economy, the free movement of goods and capital, and multilateral and bilateral agreements for the removal of tariff barriers, Albanian agriculture faces the challenges of very strong competition from the countries of the region, EU countries and beyond. In these conditions of strong competition, what can make Albanian agriculture survive, is that its products appear not only in the domestic market and those of the region but also in the international markets of goods and products. The ambitions of our country for the development of intensive, yearround, coastal and mountain tourism, elite and agrotourism, requires the increase of the quantity, quality and lowest possible prices of agricultural and livestock products, in order to avoid the competition of imported goods that can be traded at lower prices. How should agriculture, farmers, livestock, agricultural and livestock production be stimulated? Should they be incentivized through exemptions from the tax system or should the process of stimulating production through subsidizing the elements of agricultural and livestock production be used more efficiently? The strategy implemented in our country has strengthened tax exemptions for inputs, agricultural and livestock products, farmers' income, etc. This strategy intends to promote the cooperation of agricultural and livestock production in Agricultural Cooperation Societies by offering minimum tax rates. Considering the great impact that agriculture has on the economy, especial-Creative Commons Non BY NC Commercial CC BY-NC: This ly in the tourism sector, we will deal with the tax policies applied in the agriculture and livestock sector and the effects of tax incentives over the years. article is distributed under the terms of The objective is not only to support the farmers and livestock farmers with the Creative Commons Attribution-Nonfunds but also to ensure tax relief and stimulate tax treatment for agricul-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which tural and livestock production, aiming to increase competitiveness not only permits non-commercial use, reproducin the regional market but also in the EU market, without compromising the tion and distribution of the work without quality of the product. further permission.

1. INTRODUCTION

A griculture has been the main branch of the Albanian economy in most of the periods that our country has gone through after the declaration of independence. From 1912 till the end of the Second World War, Albania was an entirely agrarian backward country. Even during the 45 years of communist rule, agriculture was still the dominant sector of the economy, especially in the first 20-25 years. The regime of the time, based on its interests, undertook very deep reforms in the field of stimulating agricultural production, starting with the draining of marshlands and the benefit of agricultural land, its reclamation and systematization, the construction of a national land irrigation network, the construction of dams, reservoirs and canals for irrigation and

¹ University of Tirana, Faculty of Economics, Str. Arben Broci Tirana, Albania



² University of Tirana, Faculty of Economics, Str. Arben Broci Tirana, Albania

drainage. Initially, the agricultural land was divided between the peasants through the Agrarian Reform, to pass in the following years and decades to the total collectivization of the agricultural sector, which, despite increasing agricultural production through concentrated work, mechanization, and the use of chemical fertilizers, did not make possible an intensive sustainable development of agriculture sector, due to the mechanism of the centralized economy itself, which stimulated laziness and the waste of common property, completely inhibited private initiative and the peasant's interest in increasing agricultural and livestock production.

The year 1990 found Albania in a problematic economic stagnation, with an agricultural sector that not only did not meet the needs of the population with agricultural and livestock products but also, due to the organization of agricultural cooperatives and state farms, had resulted in the apparent impoverishment of population in the village, which made up 65% of the population in the country. The first reform undertaken by the Albanian political class in the new conditions of political pluralism was the dissolution of cooperatives and agricultural farms and the granting of land owned by former cooperatives and used by former farm workers. The agricultural land was thus fragmented into tens of thousands of small parcels, where in the following years it would be impossible to apply modern methods for increasing production. Albanian agriculture has been organized in this way since 1990. The various governments that ruled the country, have tried to stimulate and support agriculture, but within the limits allowed by a modest income budget such as the Albanian state budget (Bank of Albania, 2000).

The agricultural sector is considered one of the priority sectors for the development of the country. This is because a large part of the population still lives in the village side, whereas about 40% of the labor force is employed in the private sector of agriculture, approximately 460 thousand farmers. Apart from the fact that it forms 20% of the country's Gross Domestic Product, agriculture is meanwhile a very important factor in the supply of the tourism industry. At the same time, the development and growth of agricultural production affect the increase of agricultural exports and the decrease of imports, gradually improving the balance of payments.

In the last 5 years, exports of agricultural products have increased by an average of +10.07% compared to the previous year, while imports of agricultural products have been generally stable and without growth during the years 2017-2020. Only in 2021, they are presented with an increase of 12.8%, but this is conditioned by the very large increase in the prices of food goods in international markets due to the war in Ukraine. However, the average increase in imports in the last 5 years is 5.4%. So, the exports of food products have increased with a growth 2 times higher than imports, which shows that Albanian agriculture is meeting the needs of the local market in sustainable growth.

If in 2017, exports of agricultural products were as much as 28% of the volume of imports of the same products, in 2020 and 2021, they were as much as 35% of the volume of imports, this indicates the gradual reduction of dependence on imports of goods for food and livestock consumption.

Year	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Import	106,738,000,000	106,508,000,000	110,365,000,000	110,927,000,000	130,017,000,000
Export	30,081,000,000	32,334,000,000	35,374,000,000	39,050,000,000	44,469,000,000

Table 1. Import and export 2017-2021

Source: Institute of Statistics, 2022.

As we pointed out, the development of the agricultural sector has been the priority of the Governments after the 90s, which have tried to support agriculture with various subsidizing, stimulating and facilitating measures such as:

- Investments in the improvement of agricultural land;
- Investments in drainage and sewerage networks;
- Supporting farmers with funds from EU support programs;
- Support with subsidies from the state budget;
- Support through exemption from taxes and duties;
- Support through the fiscal system by relieving the agricultural sector from taxes and duties:
- Support through the farmer's compensation scheme.

2. **RESEARCH DATA AND METHODS**

Agriculture constitutes one of the most dominant and potential sectors of the Albanian economy, as a result, the exemptions or fiscal incentives for this sector have been greater or more frequent in relation to other sectors. To measure the effects of fiscal incentives, in order to ensure a facilitating and stimulating fiscal treatment of agricultural and livestock production, data for the period 2015 - 2021 were used.

3. **RESULTS**

3.1. Fiscal Measures Taken to Stimulate Agriculture

The agricultural sector has generally been outside the focus of taxation as a sector. This is with the good intention of stimulating it, and increasing investments and production. Fiscal measures have been numerous and for long periods, among which we can mention the most important: a.

- Exemptions from Value Added Tax in support of the agricultural sector for:
 - _ importing animals for fattening;
 - animal feed and equipment needed during animal transport; _
 - machines and equipment in the function of realizing investment contracts in the ac-_ tive processing and agribusiness sector;
 - agricultural machinery imported by farmers and merchants; _
 - live animals of the breed, donated by different donors.
- Exemption from Excise b.
 - reimbursement of excise duty for fuels used in greenhouses with heating for agricultural production;
 - excise-free diesel for farmers.
- Exemptions and reduced fees for agricultural enterprises (Agricultural Cooperation Societies). c.
 - reducing the income tax of enterprises organized in Agricultural Cooperation Societies from 15% to 5%;
 - there is no turnover limit for benefiting compensation under the scheme.
- Exemptions and reduced tariffs for agricultural inputs d.
 - Reduced VAT by 10% for the import and sale within the country of agricultural inputs, earlier its total exemption.
- Incentives for the individual farmer e.
 - VAT compensation for the farmer in years: 20% and 6% of the selling price of the product to traders and producers;

- increasing the registration limit in the VAT scheme for farmers from 5 million to 10 million ALL. So, for sales up to 10 million ALL per year, the farmer uses only the auto-invoicing scheme, without having to register as a taxpayer or to pay income tax as a business.

In international practices, which aim to support the agricultural sector and farmers, one of the following mechanisms is generally applied:

- 1. The inclusion of farmers in the VAT scheme, allows them to credit (deduct) the VAT paid on the purchase of inputs from the VAT calculated for the sale of agricultural products.
- 2. The non-inclusion in the VAT scheme of farmers, but exemption from VAT of inputs that participate in the production of agricultural and livestock products, or;
- 3. The non-inclusion in the VAT scheme of farmers, as well as compensation of the VAT that the farmer pays in the purchase of inputs, through the auto-invoicing system from his buyer.

Mechanisms 2 and 3 have been adopted due to the fact that the farmer in these cases is not a VAT-taxable person and there is no mechanism to release the VAT paid on the purchase of inputs from the VAT calculated for the sale of agricultural products and livestock, as it happens in the case of scheme 1. However, the scheme implemented in our country includes all possible stimulating elements:

- a) The exclusion of farmers from the VAT scheme for turnover up to 10 million ALL per year;
- b) The return of VAT paid on the purchase of some inputs;
- c) The exemption from VAT of agricultural inputs;
- d) The exemption from VAT and excise duties of many other goods (live animals, fuel, etc.)

The farmers' VAT compensation scheme is designed to support (compensate) the agricultural producer, thus aiming to reduce production costs. Then, by offering agricultural products at competitive prices, it also impacts the growth of exports or domestic production. EU countries apply a certain methodology in calculating the specific importance of the agricultural product, inputs and outputs used for it, resulting in a necessary compensation level of around 6% which is sufficient to cover that part of the VAT paid on the purchase. Meanwhile, the VAT compensation scheme with the level of 20% that was applied in our country, represented the highest rate applied, not only in the countries of the region but also beyond them.

Until 2014, the VAT compensation scheme in agriculture was applied at the rate of 6%. In 2014 the fees increased from 6% to 20%. In 2019, fees were reduced again to 6% after another fiscal incentive was undertaken, through the exemption from VAT of agricultural inputs.

The 2019 fiscal package, starting from the strategy for further incentivizing the agricultural sector and finding new effective schemes, which bring these incentives and benefits to the farmer, as they were designed for, it is intended to stimulate the reduction of costs of agricultural products. This cost reduction is intended through the revision of the fiscal treatment of agricultural inputs, using a reduced rate of VAT on their import, or exemption from VAT, as a measure that will lead to the reduction of production costs. At the same time, besides the revision of the agricultural input handling policy, the parallel compensation scheme would also be revised. This is due to the fact that the compensation was given explicitly for the compensation of VAT paid for inputs. By this logic, in December 2018, the Assembly decided to exclude agricultural

inputs from VAT and at the same time to apply VAT compensation to the vehicle invoice at the rate of 6%. This compensation at the level of 6% will balance some other tax costs charged to the farmer, which are not resolved through the exclusion of inputs from VAT, such as VAT on fuel or electricity.

	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		1		ï
Year	No. of taxpayers	No. of taxpayers	Buying from local	Farmer	VAT received by
	who have submitted	with purchase	farmers	compensation	the farmer
	their VAT return	from the farmer		rate	
2015	38,081	827	4,667,517,055	20%	933,506,270
2016	40,976	1,376	10,489,013,588	20%	2,097,802,721
2017	42,898	1,230	11,814,280,177	20%	2,362,856,042
2018	59,018	1,397	14,107,557,453	20%	2,821,511,463
2019	61,081	638	12,895,817,129	6%	773,749,031
2020	62,577	603	13,604,322,300	6%	816,259,385
2021	35,000	580	11,215,660,410	6%	672,940,000

Table 2. Level of VAT compensation

Source: Author's Calculation

The table above shows that, despite the fact that the VAT compensation level was reduced from 20% to 6%, the purchases of economic operators from farmers have not decreased, on the contrary, they have increased in 2019 and 2020. So, the decrease in the compensation rate has not inhibited the production and sales of agricultural products. For the period from January 2014 - June 2021, farmers were subsidized by the state budget through the VAT compensation scheme for about 9.98 billion ALL or 99.8 million USD.

The change in the farmer's compensation scheme and the reduction of the compensation from 20% to 6% does not impact collectors, local producers of agri-food products and exporters.

- VAT is a consumption tax, it is paid by the final consumer, not by the collector, nor by the agro-processing producer, or the exporter.
- The change in the VAT level of the auto invoice, both in the case of its reduction and in the case of an increase, even increases or decreases the subsidy for the farmer, it does not affect the costs and profits of the trader or exporter.

3.2. Effects of Stimulus Fiscal Measures

- a) Imported agricultural machinery without paying VAT. The effect of the VAT exemption for the years 2019 2021 is ALL 922 million (Table 3).
- b) Agricultural inputs exempted from VAT. The effect of the VAT exemption for the years 2019 2021 is ALL 4.86 billion (Table 4).
- c) Live animals for fattening exempted from VAT payment. For the period from 2017-2021, the unpaid VAT for their import is 1.45 billion ALL (Table 5).
- d) Other tax exemptions (Table 6).
- e) Excise-free oil subsidy for farmers in the amount of 800 million ALL/year.
- f) Subsidizing livestock farmers with 10 ALL/liter of milk delivered, paying an amount of 300 million ALL/year.

Total of Tax Exemptions for 2021 (Table 7).

Table 3.	The	effect	of VAT	exemption	on imported	l agricultural	l machinerv
				1	1	0	2

Year	VAT excluded	VAT paid
2017		151,423,000
2018		124,012,000
2019	183,317,000	
2020	343,545,000	
2021	395,280,000	

Source: Author's Calculation

Table 4. The effect of VAT exemption for agricultural inputs

	1	e 1
Year	VAT excluded	VAT paid
2017		1,163,927,000
2018		987,799,000
2019	1,530,091,000	
2020	1,429,990,000	
2021	1,932,385,000	

Source: Author's Calculation

Table 5. The effect of the VAT exemption for live animals

Year	VAT excluded
2017	254,359,000
2018	272,564,000
2019	316,441,000
2020	249,325,000
2021	328,943,000

Source: Author's Calculation

Table 6. Effects of other tax exemptions

Year	Unpaid excise tax from fishing	Unpaid excise duty on heated greenhouses
2016	263,000,000	214,000,000
2017	302,000,000	242,000,000
2018	363,000,000	280,000,000
2019	351,000,000	310,000,000
2020	478,000,000	334,000,000
2021	384,000,000	292,000,000
Total	2,141,000,000	1,672,000,000

Source: Author's Calculation

Table 7. Tax exemptions for 2021

Tax exemptions/benefits	Billion All
The farmers' VAT compensation scheme of 6%	0.67
VAT exemption for imported agricultural machinery	0.4
VAT exemption for agricultural inputs	1.9
VAT exemption for Live Animals	0.3
Unpaid excise tax from fishing	0.38
Unpaid excise duty on heated greenhouses	0.92
Excise-free oil	0.8
Subsidizing livestock farmers with 10 ALL/liter of	
milk delivered	0.3
Total amount of benefits	5.1

Source: Author's Calculation

4. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

The data used in this paper are secondary data, without the possibility of obtaining data from farmers and collectors. One of the biggest problems of the agricultural sector in this country is the lack of registration of farmers as well as the non-declaration of activity on their part, so the only access to data from public institutions may not fully reflect the reality.

In order to expand this work, to measure the real effect that the fiscal changes over the years have had on the category of farmers, as well as to determine which is the most effective government incentive, direct contact with farmers would be necessary.

5. CONCLUSION

This study aims to measure the effects of fiscal incentives in the agricultural sector. Due to the role of this sector in the economy, employment and well-being of Albania, as well as the high contribution to GDP, the Albanian government over the years has been oriented towards fiscal policies that help and encourage agriculture.

Based on the analyzed data, tax exemptions for the agricultural sector resulted in continuous growth after 2014, and for the year 2021, this sector is exempted from taxes and duties with 5 billion All or 50 million USD.

References

Bank of Albania. (2000). https://www.bankofalbania.org/Botime/Botimet_sipas_viteve/Buletini_ekonomik_Vellimi_3_Nr_2-Bujqesia_Shqiptare_ne_periudhen_e_tranzicionit.html Institute of Statistics. (2022). http://www.instat.gov.al/en/themes/international-trade/ international-trade-in-goods/publication/2022/foreign-trade-in-goods-october-2022/

Additional Reading

AKPA. (2022). https://akpa.gov.al/publikime-shkp/

- European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. (2019). Agritourism sector in Albania: Development Potentials and Financial Needs. Available at: https://aasf.com.al/wp-content/ uploads/2020/03/AgritourismEN-Final.pdf
- Ministry of Finance and Economy. (2021). Economic Reform Programme 2021-2023 (2021). Available at: https://www.financa.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Economic-Reform-Programme-2021-2023.pdf



The Chaotic Wheat Producer Price Growth Model

Vesna Jablanovic¹ 💿

Received: November 19, 2022 Revised: February 8, 2023 Accepted: February 14, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords: Wheat; Producer price; Chaos

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** Movements in wheat producer prices are indicators of changes in the fundamentals of supply and demand. This paper creates the chaotic wheat producer price growth model and explains the local stability of the wheat producer price in the period 1991-2020 in the U.S., Germany and the Russian Federation. This paper confirms the stable growth of wheat producer price in those countries in the observed period.

1. INTRODUCTION

1

Guegan (2009) focuses on the use of dynamical chaotic systems in Economics and Finance. According to Guegan (2009), chaotic systems are complex systems that belong to the class of deterministic dynamical systems.

Namely, mathematicians were the first to be interested in this theory. In biology, scientists have used chaotic deterministic systems since the 1970s (May 1976). In physics, it is a long tradition for researchers to use these models. In economics, people working on stability and instability have flirted with bifurcation theory since the 1980s. Between the years 1986 and 1998, a lot of studies in economics used chaotic systems, following the idea of Grandmont (1988) (Guegan, 2009).

Chaos theory started with Lorenz's model (1963). Chaos theory has been applied in economics by Day (1983), Goodwin (1990), Medio (1993), Lorenz (1993), Jablanovic (2022), etc.

Stability of motion and chaos theories can detect sensitivity to initial conditions. Tapia Cortez et al. (2018) explain mineral commodity prices dynamics. Their paper examines the chaotic behavior of annual copper prices between 1900 and 2015. They combine chaos theory, stability of motion and statistical techniques to reconstruct the long-term dynamics of copper prices. Their study recommends that the use of chaotic behavior improves our understanding of mineral commodity markets. In this sense, it improves the performance of traditional techniques for selecting key factors that influence market dynamics (Tapia Cortez et al., 2018).

The basic aim of this paper is to construct the chaotic wheat producer price growth model. The model is estimated.

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Agriculture, Nemanjina 6, 11081 Belgrade, Serbia



6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

2. THE MODEL

The chaotic wheat producer price growth model is presented by the following equations:

$$D_t = \alpha - \beta P_t \alpha > 0, \quad \beta > 0 \tag{1}$$

$$S_t = -\gamma + \delta P^e_{\ t} \gamma > 0, \quad \delta > 0 \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{P_{t+1} - P_t}{P_t} = \mu (D_t - S_t), \quad \mu > 0$$
(3)

$$\mathbf{P}_{t} = P_{t}^{e}$$
(4)

Where P_t is the wheat producer price; P^e – the expected wheat producer price; S_t – supply function of wheat; D_t – demand function for wheat; μ – the adjustment coefficient; α , β – the coefficients of the demand function for wheat; γ , δ – the coefficient of the supply function of wheat. (1) defines demand function for wheat; (2) defines supply function of wheat; (3) determines the relation between wheat producer price growth rate and surplus of demand for wheat; (4) explains relation between producer price for wheat and the expected producer price for wheat. By substitution one derives:

$$P_{t+1} = [1 + \mu (\alpha + \gamma)] P_t - [\mu (\beta + \delta)] P_t^2, \quad \alpha, \beta, \mu, \gamma, \delta > 0$$
(5)

It is important to introduce p as $p = P / P^m$, where p range between 0 and 1. P^m is the maximal size of the producer price in its time series . Further, growth rate of the producer price of wheat is obtained as:

$$p_{t+1} = [1+\mu (\alpha + \gamma)] p_t - [\mu (\beta + \delta)] p_t^2, \quad \alpha, \beta, \mu, \gamma, \delta > 0$$
(6)

This model given by equation (6) is called the logistic model. It is possible to show that iteration process for the logistic equation

$$z_{t+1} = \pi \, z_t \, (1 - z_t) \,, \, \pi \in [0, 4], \, z_t \in [0, 1] \tag{7}$$

is equivalent to the iteration of growth model (6) when we use the identification

$$z_{t} = \frac{\mu \left(\beta + \delta\right)}{\left[1 + \mu \left(\alpha + \gamma\right)\right]} p_{t} \text{ and } \pi = \left[1 + \mu \left(\alpha + \gamma\right)\right]$$
(8)

Using (6) and (8) we obtain:

$$z_{t+1} = \frac{\mu (\beta + \delta)}{[1 + \mu (\alpha + \gamma)]} p_{t+1} = \frac{\mu (\beta + \delta)}{[1 + \mu (\alpha + \gamma)]} \{ [1 + \mu (\alpha + \gamma)] p_t - \mu (\beta + \delta) p_t^2 \} =$$
$$= \mu (\beta + \delta) p_t - \left[\frac{\mu^2 (\beta + \delta)^2}{[1 + \mu (\alpha + \gamma)]} \right] p_t^2$$

On the other hand, using (7) and (8) we obtain:

$$\begin{split} z_{t+1} &= \pi \ z_t \ (1-z_t) = \left[1+\mu \ (\alpha+\gamma)\right] \ \left[\frac{\mu \ (\beta+\delta)}{1+\mu \ (\alpha+\gamma)}\right] p_t \ \left\{1-\left[\frac{\mu \ (\beta+\delta)}{1+\mu \ (\alpha+\gamma)}\right] p_t\right\} = \\ &= \mu \ (\beta \ +\delta \) p_t - \ \left[\frac{\mu^2 \ (\beta+\delta)^2}{1+\mu \ (\alpha+\gamma)}\right] p_t^2 \end{split}$$

It is obtained that: (i) For parameter values $0 < \pi < 1$ all solutions will converge to z = 0; (ii) For $1 < \pi < 3,57$ there exist fixed points the number of which depends on π ; and (iii) For $3,57 < \pi < 4$ the solution become "chaotic".

3. EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE

The main aim of this analysis is to present the producer price growth stability in USA, Russian Federation, Germany in the observed periods by using the logistic model (9). In this sense,

$$p_{t+1} = \pi p_t - v p_t^2, \quad \pi \in [0, 4]$$
(9)

where p – producer price of wheat, $\pi = [1+\mu (\alpha + \gamma)]$ and $v = \mu (\beta + \delta)$. Now, we estimate the model (9). The results are presented in Tables 1-3 (FAO, 2022).

Table 1. The estimated model (9): Wheat Producer price (USD/tons), 1991-2020, USA

π	υ
1.239126	0.348518
0.124734	0.171399
9.934113	2.033373
0.00000	0.051952
	$ \pi 1.239126 0.124734 9.934113 0.00000 $

Source: FAO, 2022.

Because $\pi = 1.239126$, then producer price of wheat monotonically increased in the period 1991-2020, in the USA.

Table 2. The estimated model (9): Wheat Producer Price (USD/tons)Annual value, 1992-2020, Russian Federation

R=0.62878 variance explained 39.536%	π	υ
Estimate	1.437326	0.714277
Std. Err.	0.18665	0.251491
t(26)	7.700671	2.840163
p-level	0.000000	0.008644

Source: FAO, 2022.

Because π =1.437326, then producer price of wheat monotonically increased in the period 1992-2020, in Russian Federation.

Table 3. The estimated model (9): Wheat Producer Price (USD/tons) Annual value,1991-2020, Germany

R=0.72285 Variance explained 52.851%	π	υ
Estimate	1.305768	0.451004
Std. Err.	0.14943	0.199413
t(27)	0.734643	2.261655
p-level	0.00000	0.31981

Source: FAO, 2022.

Because π =1.305768, then producer price of wheat monotonically increased in the period 1991-2020, in Germany.



Figure 2. Wheat Producer Price (USD/tons) Annual value, 1992-2020, Russian Federation Source: FAO, 2022.



Source: FAO, 2022.

4. CONCLUSION

This paper creates the chaotic producer wheat price growth model. Also, this paper confirms that the coefficient $\pi = [1+\mu (\alpha+\gamma)]$ plays a crucial role in explaining the local stability of the producer wheat price, where, μ is the adjustment coefficient; α is the coefficient of the demand function for wheat, γ is the coefficient of the supply function of wheat. The estimated values of the coefficient π were between 1 and 2 in the USA, Russian Federation and Germany in the observed periods. These results confirm a stable growth of producer wheat price in those countries in the observed periods.

References

- Day, R. H. (1983). The emergence of chaos from classical economic growth, *Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, 98, 200-213.
- FAO. (2022). www.fao.org
- Goodwin, R. M. (1990). Chaotic economic dynamics. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Guegan, D. (2009). Chaos in Economics and Finance. *Annual Reviews in Control*, *33(1)*, 89-93. Elsevier.
- Jablanovic, V. (2022). *The Golden Ratio and the Equilibrium Stock Market Index in Elliott Wave Theory*. Aracne, Roma.
- Lorenz, E. N. (1963). Deterministic nonperiodic flow, *Journal of Atmospheric Sciences*, 20, 130-141.
- Medio, A. (1993). *Chaotic dynamics: Theory and applications to economics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Tapia Cortez, C.A., Coulton, J., Sammut, C., & Saydam, S. (2018). Determining the chaotic behaviour of copper prices in the long-term using annual price data. *Palgrave Communications 4*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-017-0060-x



Economic Assessment of Sea Buckthorn Cultivation and Processing in Conditions of Intensive Production

Ľubomír Gurčík¹ (D Zuzana Bajusová² (D) Jana Ladvenicová³ (D)

Received: November 20, 2022 Accepted: February 7, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Sea buckthorn; Functional food; Static investment assessment methods; Dynamic investment assessment methods; Conventional crops

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission.

Abstract: The cultivation of medicinal plants is a current topic of growing importance. In Europe, but also the world, the demand for high-quality food is constantly growing. Sea buckthorn can be considered a functional food, which is an intermediate step between classic foods and medicines. Sea buckthorn contains a high content of vitamin C, which makes it an ideal helper in the treatment of flu or angina; thanks to the high content of vitamin B, it heals burns, has antiseptic effects, consumption of products from this medicinal plant ensures prevention in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases and cancer, supports digestion, detoxifies the body, purifies and supports the activity of the kidneys and urinary system, reduces high cholesterol, improves memory, has anti-inflammatory effects. In the contribution, we focus on the economic assessment of the cultivation and processing of this superfood in an intensive cultivation method. We modeled two alternatives: "Alternative A" - frozen fruits, "Alternative B" - 100% sea buckthorn juice. Based on the performed analysis, the second alternative is more economically efficient, given that the payback period is before the seventh vegetation year, the internal rate of return is at the level of 35.67% and the net present value reaches the level of 1,379,316 €. In the contribution, we also evaluated the intensity of production based on the resulting indicators (revenues, costs, management result per hectare, average profitability of revenues and costs) with conventional crops grown in the corn production area (wheat, barley, corn). We found that the values of all indicators were more favorable for sea buckthorn.

1. INTRODUCTION

Sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L., SBT) is being used as a folk medicine for its diverse medicinal properties. Flavonoids are generally considered the main bioactive and characteristic ingredients in SBT (Liu et al. 2021). Sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.), an ancient plant widely found in China, Mongolia, Russia, and northern Europe containing yellow or orange, fleshy, juicy, and soft berries, has gained increasing attention from scientists and consumers. It has a long history as a traditional Chinese herbal medicine, owing to its diverse phytochemical components and excellent antioxidant potential for improving the health of individuals suffering from chronic diseases (Ma et al., 2021). Sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L., SBT) belongs to the Elaeagnaceae family and is a thorny, deciduous, dioecious shrub, which grows in cold-temp areas and arid regions, and is naturally distributed in Asia, Europe and North America. It has been used historically as a folk medicine to treat circulatory diseases, skin damage, metabolic disorders and digestive diseases in traditional Chinese medicinal prescriptions, being formally documented in the Chinese Pharmacopoeia in 1977 (Olas, 2018; Suryakumar & Gupta, 2011).

³ Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 94976 Nitra, Slovakia



¹ Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 94976 Nitra, Slovakia

² Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 94976 Nitra, Slovakia

Sea buckthorn (SB) has been indicated to have hypoglycemic potential, but its effects on glucose in people with impaired glucose regulation (IGR) are still unclear (Ren et al., 2021). At present, increasing attention on the possible positive effects of SB berries for glycemic control was also noted. Several animal studies have shown the positive effects of SB protein/fruit oil extract on reducing blood glucose, as well as alleviating insulin resistance. (Gao et al., 2017; Yuan et. al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2010). In human trials, for example, compared with strawberries, SB decreased and delayed insulin response and improved glycemic profile following a sucrose-containing berry meal (Mortensen et al., 2018).

Sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.), which has been categorized as a "medicine food homology" fruit by China's National Health Commission for both nutritional and medicinal purposes, has nearly 200 kinds of nutritive and bioactive compounds such as polyunsaturated fatty acids, carotenoids, sugar alcohols, superoxide dismutase and phytosterols. Significant bioactivity, including cardiovascular improvement, antidiabetic and anti-obesity activity, have highlighted the application of sea buckthorn (Wang et al., 2021). Sea-buckthorn is an ancient plant with modern advantages, due to its nutritional and medicinal value. It is cold resistant, and native to Europe and Asia. All parts of sea-buckthorn, e.g. berries, leaves, and seed or pulp oils, contain many bioactive compounds. They are a rich source of natural antioxidants, such as tocopherols, carotenoids, flavonoids; they also contain proteins, vitamins, minerals, lipids (mainly unsaturated fatty acids), sugars, organic acids and phytosterols. Sea-buckthorn extracts have therefore many beneficial properties, mainly antioxidative, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, antibacterial and tissue protective (Cho et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2017; Suryakumar & Gupta 2011; Zhang et al., 2018; Zargar et al., 2020; Ji et. al., 2020). Recent clinical studies have also shown that consumption of extract from sea-buckthorn berries leads to an increase in the number of selected types of stem cells (progenitor, endothelial and lymphocytoid mesenchymal stem cells) in circulating blood. This, in turn, may affect the repair and regeneration processes in damaged tissues, as well as the suppression of inflammation (Drapeau et al., 2019).

Sea buckthorn and its derived products (oil; alcoholic extracts), rich in flavonoids and essential fatty acids, are among these healthcare products. Specifically, sea buckthorn and its derivatives are reported to have antioxidant and antitumor activity in dysplastic skin cells. (Dudau et al., 2021). Sea buckthorn (Elaeagnus rhamnoides L.) is a unique medicinal and aromatic plant, frequently used as part of various pharmaceutical treatments, some of which are related to skincare. Sea-buckthorn-derived alcoholic extracts and seed oil were tested for antioxidant, antitumor and regenerative properties (Gegotek et al., 2018; Olas et al., 2018).

The processing of sea buckthorn berries for juice extraction leads to a large amount of residues, accounting for 20% of the total fruit weight, consisting of pulp, seed and skin which are known to be rich in carotenoids, polyphenols, fatty acids and sterols (Rösch et al., 2004; Dulf et al., 2012; Radenkovs et al., 2018). To reduce waste, sea buckthorn pomace is generally utilized as animal feed or for the extraction of biologically active compounds, providing beneficial food constituents, antioxidants, and cosmetics products (Périno-Issartier et al., 2011). Other food applications targeted the addition of sea buckthorn pomace to bread and other bakery products in order to increase their nutritive value (Lougas et al., 2005; Kant et al., 2012) and the direct enrichment of edible oils with sea buckthorn carotenoids (Chemat et al., 2012).

2. MATERIAL AND METHODOLOGY

The goal of our research is an economic assessment of the simulation of operating inputs and outputs of a sea buckthorn plantation with an intensive cultivation method in the conditions of the Slovak Republic. The source of data for the simulation of the economic efficiency model of the cultivation of the medicinal plant selected by us was primary data from growers who are engaged in the cultivation of this medicinal plant. The missing data, especially of a production nature, which the growers were not willing to provide us, were obtained mainly from the professional literature by Valíček and Havelka (2008) and Bajer (2014).

Expected assumptions of research results:

- 1. The finalization of the total production in the form of sea buckthorn juice is more economically advantageous compared to the processing of the total harvest in the form of frozen fruits;
- 2. The resulting indicators evaluating the economic level of our model (total yields, costs, farming economic result per hectare, average profitability of costs and yields) will achieve more favorable economic results compared to the cultivation of conventional crops in the corn production area (wheat, barley, corn).

The plantation modeled by us has the character of an intensive cultivation method. Intensive agriculture is characterized by increasing the yield of the land using mechanization, chemical agents and the irrigation system. It does not require a large area of land, so it focuses on maximizing a specific, albeit smaller, area. In this method of cultivation, a whole range of preparations and modern methods are used to keep the soil as productive as possible. Compared to extensive agriculture, it represents a change in approach to crop cultivation, soil care, and thus to agriculture.

The reasons for choosing the mentioned medicinal plant are:

- the mentioned crop does not have sufficient economic evaluation (justification) in the Slovak Republic or in the world in the scientific databases accessible to us, there is a minimum of contributions that would relate to the economy of medicinal plants in general, or specifically to sea buckthorn;
- with sea buckthorn, there are enough articles from an agrotechnical, production, medical or chemical point of view, but not from an economic point of view;
- it was not our intention to focus on the economic evaluation of plantation cultivation of conventional medicinal plants on arable land (echinacea, chamomile, calendula);
- almost the entire territory of the Slovak Republic has suitable conditions for growing this crop;

it is a perennial medicinal plant;

- fruit tree or fruit bush;
- contains a large amount of substances beneficial to health;
- final products from this medicinal plant are increasingly popular among end consumers.

The sea buckthorn plantation fulfills the legal conditions for its inclusion in the category of long-term tangible assets. It will be depreciated in the fourth depreciation group with a depreciation period of 12 years.

2.1. Procedure for Determining Investment Expenses

Investment expenses will be determined in the amount of own costs for planting and tending the plantation until the first year of fertility, which is the fourth year after planting for sea buckthorn.

The economic evaluation was carried out through static and dynamic methods of evaluating investment projects:

- 1. Use of static methods:
 - **a. average profitability of revenues** the indicator compares the average economic result of the project before taxation and the average revenues that will be produced during the lifetime of the project (Gurčík et al., 2012);
 - **b. average profitability of costs** the indicator compares the average economic result from the project before taxation and the average operating costs incurred during the life of the project (Gurčík et al., 2012). We use the pre-tax farming result for subsequent comparison with conventional crops (wheat, barley, corn);
 - **c.** return period of invested funds is the time during which the funds invested in the project will be returned. It is the period that elapses from the investment expenditure to the time when the accumulated revenues from the project cover this expenditure (Krištofík et al., 2009).
- 2. Use of dynamic methods:
 - a. Net present value can be defined as the difference between the discounted cash income from the investment and the capital expenditure. An interpretation of the various possible net present value outcomes is as follows:
 - NPV > 0 the discounted cash income exceeds the capital expenditure, the investment project is acceptable for the company,
 - NPV < 0 the discounted cash income is less than the capital expenditure, the investment project is not acceptable for the company,
 - NPV = 0 the investment project is indifferent from the point of view of the company (Bielik & Turčeková, 2013).
 - **b.** Internal rate of return can be defined as the interest rate at which the present value of the cash income from the investment equals the capital expenditure. We can also define it as an interest rate at which the net present value is equal to zero (Bielik et al., 2018).
 - c. Discounting as part of dynamic investment calculations the discount rate plays an important role in the calculation of dynamic indicators, the amount of which depends on the cost of own equity. This cost should evaluate the fact that the investor used the capital for a specific project and thereby got rid of the possibility to invest the free funds in other investment opportunities (Kislingerová, 2001). Over the last 15 years, the average return on government bonds is at the level of 3.5%. For projects with higher risk, the discount rate can be up to 5% higher than the average cost of own equity. Investments in agriculture are among the projects with a higher risk. Based on the above, the discount rate in our project was set at 8%.
 - **d.** Analysis of sensitivity factors Sensitivity analysis consists of monitoring the impact of a change in some determinants on a change in the net present value (Krištofik et al., 2009). In the paper, we examine the impact of an increase in operating costs and a decrease in revenues on the net present value.

2.2. Break-Even Point Analysis

To determine the Break-even point represents for the enterprise the important information because it defines the minimum amount of products that the enterprise needs to produce to cover its fixed and variable costs. Knowing the Break-even point allows an enterprise to properly estimate the revenues necessary to ensure profits (Majerčáková & Majerčák, 2015).

3. **RESULTS**

The input parameters of our model are shown in Table 1. Cultivation of sea buckthorn in the Slovak Republic is rather an exception, it is not a widespread crop. Sea buckthorn is a unique cultural crop grown in Slovakia. Before we proceeded to the actual creation of the model, we personally visited several entities that are dedicated to the cultivation of this interesting crop, which contains a large number of substances beneficial to health, but in the mosaic of input data, we lacked data of a production nature, which either our respondents were not willing to provide us or provided them to us, and through subsequent cross-checking, we found that they are false or unreliable data. We sorted the collected data into data that is probably correct and data that is irrelevant. That's why we supplemented these missing data from the professional literature. We chose the varieties that are most planted under the conditions of the Slovak Republic. When growing this crop, it is necessary to consider its basic biological peculiarities. This includes a dioeciousness, demanding light, the need for sufficient air flow, water-protected land with enough organic matter and mineral substances.

Dioeciousness means that without the presence of a male, or a female plant does not pollinate the flower, which would prevent the harvest. In our model, we consider growing the Pollmix and Leikora varieties, which achieve the best production values in our conditions. On one hectare, approximately 90% of the female plants will be planted and the rest will be male plants. In the project, we calculate with the alternative that the business entity has the land at its disposal, i.e., j. without the cost of its procurement. The model compiled by us points to the individual work steps necessary for planting and tending the plantation, harvesting, and processing the crop, as well as the disposal of the plantation. Input prices of material assets, which are unavoidable during cultivation, or processing of this crop (mower, fencing, drip irrigation, freezer box, sorter) were determined based on consultation with potential suppliers of these capital inputs. We received information about the amount of labor costs directly from the growers. Personnel costs for harvesting were set at the level of 7 \in /hour (net). Material costs (e.g., fertilization, electric shears needed for harvesting, etc.) were set based on a market survey carried out by us.

In the economic assessment, we assumed the finalization of the production in 2 forms:

- "Alternative A" we plan to sell frozen sea buckthorn,
- "Alternative B" 100% sea buckthorn juice.

The technological-economic project assumes 12 production years with an average annual yield of 9.50 kg per bush, i.e. j. 11 t/ha. The first production year is the fourth year after planting. This year we expect a yield of 0.60 kg per bush, while we assume that it will reach the maximum yield in the fifth to seventh production year (13.3 kg). After this period, the planned yield per hectare decreases slightly every year. The average annual yield in the eighth to twelfth production year per bush is 11.5 kg.

Data		
10		
Leikora, Pollmix		
1 281		
1 159		
122		
yes		
by hand using electric scissors		
52 %		
7 €/kg		
22 €/1		

Table 1. Model input parameters

Source: Own processing

Our plantation model has an area of 10 hectares; to ensure the annual harvest, it is necessary to plan to plant 5 hectares in the first year, then 5 hectares in the following year. The reason for this is the fact that during harvesting, whole branches are cut, including the fruits (due to the sharp thorns on the branches), which will affect the productivity of the plant. The cut branches and the fruits are still in the field and placed in containers that go to the freezer box, where they are frozen for 48 hours at a temperature of -15 °C. Subsequently, the fruits frozen in this way are easily separated from the twigs. The fruits go to the sorting line, where they are separated from the leaves and in this condition, they can either be further stored in another freezer box at a temperature of -18 °C (like other small fruits) or they can be processed into a whole range of products. The yield of sea buckthorn is 52%, which means that we get approximately half a liter of juice from 1 kg of fruit. In the model, we assume the price of frozen fruit at the level of 7 €/kg, while we plan an annual price increase of 5% until the sixth year of production. This price increase was determined based on the current development of the price increase of this crop. The price of the juice was also determined based on market research. In the first year, we expect a price of 22 €/l, but the price of juice has grown significantly more slowly in the last period, and that is the reason why we expect only a 1% annual price increase.

Table 3 shows our planned operating costs that will arise during the production period of the sea buckthorn plantation, as well as the share of individual cost components in the total costs. Fixed costs include those whose volume does not change depending on the scale of production (mowing costs, fertilization costs, sorting machine maintenance costs, depreciation, operation of the freezer, liquidation of the plantation at the end of its life). During the life of the plantation, we will depreciate not only the plantation itself, but also the mower (reinvestment in the 4th production year), the fence, the irrigation system (reinvestment in the 4th production year) and the building (from the 1st production year) that will serve as a warehouse for storage not yet sold, or unprocessed crops from the plantation, a freezer box (from the first year of production) and a sorter (from the first year of production). Among the variable costs are the costs of manual harvest from the plantation, as well as other harvesting costs, among which we include the work of the tractor, the cost of transporting the fruit from the plantation, as well as the cost of procuring electric shears with which the crop is cut from the branches. Harvesting will be done by cutting branches. This alternative was chosen due to the

fact that mechanized harvesting with a harvester (adapted for cutting branches) would be disadvantageous due to high investment costs and poor utilization of the harvester considering that this harvester can cut 4-8 ha per day, and we calculate with harvesting in one year on an area of 5 hectares. There is also an alternative with vibrating mechanized technology. In Romania, they tested vibrating harvesters very successfully with the Moldova variety. The harvesting speed was 29-30 bushels per hour, which represented a harvest of approximately 800-900 kg of fruit (Bajer, 2014). However, this method does not seem to be effective due to the fact that there is a high loss of fruit, meaning that such a mechanized harvest would have to be followed by pruning of the branches as well. When we compare both alternatives, we find that the share of variable costs is higher in "Alternative B", which is related to the additional costs of pressing and packaging juices.

In Table 2 we see the quantification of investment expenses for the establishment of 10 hectares of sea buckthorn plantation within the first year of fertility, which in the case of this medicinal plant is the fourth year from the establishment of the plantation. At the beginning of the growing season, an investment in the procurement of a mower, fencing and an irrigation system is necessary. Together, these costs make up more than 50% of the total investment expenses. As for the plantation itself, the most expensive item is the planting itself, the share of which is almost 24% of the total investment expenses. Among other costs, we include the costs of preparing the plantation itself before planting, fertilizing the soil in the year of planting, as well as the costs of care until the first production year, which includes mowing, fertilizing and cutting bushes. Fertilization is ensured by both organic (manure) and inorganic (superphosphate, potassium sulphate, ammonium nitrate) fertilizers.

Item	Costs per 10 ha	Percentage share		
Procurement of a mower	4 000	1.45		
Procurement of fencing	19 200	6.94		
Procurement of an irrigation system	127 500	46.06		
Preparatory work	10 000	3.61		
Soil fertilization	13 072	4.72		
Planting a plantation	65 406	23.63		
Treatment costs	37 633	13.60		
Total	276 811	100 %		
	~ ~ !			

Table 2. Quantification of investment expenses up to the first production year (in Eur)

Source: Own processing

From the comparison of the alternatives modelled by us, it is clear that the implementation of "Alternative B" is more economically efficient (Table 4). The internal rate of return for this alternative is 35.67%, the payback period is before the seventh vegetation year, the net present value of the investment is at the level of $1,379,316 \in$. The average break-even point is at the level of 14,524 kg, or 9,481 l. Based on the above, the research assumption was confirmed that the finalization of the production in the form of 100% sea buckthorn juice is economically more interesting for the business entity compared to the finalization of the harvest in the form of frozen sea buckthorn.

Furthermore, we analyzed how an increase in operating costs by 10% or a decrease in revenues by 10% will influence the net present value (Table 5). The results of the analysis show that a more significant impact in the modeled alternatives is the decrease in revenues compared to the increase in operating costs. This impact is more significant with "Alternative B", in absolute terms we record a decrease of $261,056 \in$ or 34%.

Table 3. The amount of total costs in € during the production period of the sea buckthorn plantation and their share in the total costs

Type of costs/Alternative	A (€)	A (%)	B (€)	B (%)
Fixed costs	1 055 967	28.74	1 055 967	22.7
Mowing costs	46 484	1.27	46 484	1
Costs of fertilization	29 078	0.79	29 078	0.63
Maintenance costs	12 400	0.34	12 400	0.27
Depreciation	392 761	10.69	292 761	8.44
Freezer operation	563 308	15.33	563 308	12.11
Disposal of plantation	11 936	0.32	11 936	0.26
Variable costs	2 617 806	71.26	3 595 281	77.3
Personnel costs for annual fruit collection	378 514	10.30	378 514	8.14
Other costs of harvest	2 051 315	55.84	2 051 315	44,1
Cleaning	187 977	5.12	187 977	4.04
Cost for pressing juices	0	0	195 496	4.2
Cost per bottle	0	0	781 979	16.81
Costs	3 673 772	100	4 651 247	100

Source: Own processing

 Table 4. Resulting indicators of the economic efficiency of the investment - sea buckthorn (intensive cultivation method)

Indicator/alternatives	Α	В
Payback period (in years)	7,59	6,75
Average profitability of revenues (%)	36,19	42,31
Average cost profitability (%)	56,72	73,35
Net present values (€)	767 080	1 379 316
Internal rate of return (%)	26.41	35.67
Break-even point	14 524 kg	9 481 1

Source: Own processing

Table 5. Analysis of the sensitivity of factors to changes in the net present value - sea

 buckthorn (intensive cultivation method)

Alternatives	Α		В		
10% increase in operating costs	-184 348 €	-24%	-228 525 €	-17%	
10% decrease in revenue	-261 056 €	-34%	-366 457 €	-27%	

Source: Own processing

When performing any business activity, the primary goal is to achieve profit, maximize production and increase competitiveness in the market. Agricultural production, which tries to generate a positive economic result, is no exception. In general, the operating result represents the difference between revenues and costs. The amount of total revenues is also affected by subsidies that are paid in Slovakia through the Agricultural Payment Agency. Since we were unable to obtain information on the amount of subsidies provided to sea buckthorn growers, in Table 6 we present a comparison of selected economic indicators without taking into account subsidies. The source of data for conventional crops was the publication Cost of Agricultural Products published by the National Agricultural and Food Centre of the Slovak Republic. When comparing individual crops, we can see that of the conventional crops, corn achieves the most economically favorable values. The result of wheat management reached the value of -26 €, which was reflected in the negative profitability of revenues as well as costs. With sea buckthorn, we see much more interesting economic values compared to commonly grown crops. When comparing the economic indicators between the alternatives modelled by us, we again see more interesting values for "Alternative B". **Table 6.** Comparison of selected economic indicators between sea buckthorn and selected conventional crops (intensive cultivation method vs. corn production area)

Alternative	Wheat	Maize	Barley	Sea buckthorn	
	wneat			Α	В
Revenues per hectare (€)	804	995	770	95 959	134 379
Costs per hectare (€)	831	971	757	64 230	77 521
Profit per hectare (€)	-26	24	13	34 730	56 858
Return on costs (%)	-3.18	2.47	1.78	56.72	73.35
Return on revenues (%)	-3.28	4.41	1.75	36.19	42.31

Source: Own processing

From the data presented in Table 6, it is clear that the first research assumption has been confirmed, which means that the cultivation of sea buckthorn with an intensive cultivation method is economically more interesting compared to the cultivation of conventional crops selected by us in the corn production area.

4. FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

International trade with sea buckthorn has developed within the last ten years with great success. More and more not only berries but also semi-products are marketed, and trade channels become more complex. There is a great demand for assuring quality and defining distinct parameters for products from sea buckthorn. In 2013 International Sea Buckthorn Association (ISA) launched a working group to propose sea buckthorn standards. The first draft documents presented in 2014 indicate that there are tremendous differences in understanding what standardization means. In general, standardization means the unification of dimensions, types and procedures. In production, it is used to unify products (typification) or/and define common sets of parameters (properties) (Morsel, 2015).

Sea buckthorn is a plant-producing fruit containing high levels of complex nutrients that competes within a developed market of internationally traded natural nutraceutical products. It has been grown as an agricultural crop in Europe since the 1970s. This is part of a global production that is largely Asian-centered, where investment in processing development and facilities has grown significantly since the year 2000. Health-conscious consumers in Europe spend \notin 9 billion a year on nutritional supplements. Sea buckthorn as a crop is expanding in some EU member states, but cost structures and technical difficulties relating to harvesting need to be answered for production to grow (Eagle, 2015).

Erdos and Szollosi (2018) focus on the business management-related advantages and disadvantages of sea buckthorn production and processing based on economic analyses. It is the main objective of the authors to identify the expected economic findings in a high-standard plantation with different average yields. A deterministic model calculation was performed based on technological processes, using the primary data collected from enterprises dealing with sea buckthorn production. The calculation is based on the assumption of a 10-hectare plantation with intensive production technology (high soil quality (golden crown value: 32 GC per ha), irrigation, high plant density per hectare). The cost and income relations and the long-term return of the plantation were examined in the case of different average yields (12 t/ha, 18 t/ha and 24 t/ha). Under the economic circumstances of 2016, the planting cost of an intensive plantation is around 4-4.1 million HUF/ha. In the years following the fruit-bearing stage, direct production costs are between 2.5-3.9 million HUF/ha, depending on the given average yield. On the contrary, 5.6-11.1 million HUF/ha revenue can be reached based on the current market prices, resulting in a gross margin of 3.1-7.1 million HUF/ha. Under the modelled circumstances, return is realized on the plantation's costs in 6-8 years. The net present value (NPVr=3.24%) calculated for the 15-year-long life cycle of the 10-hectare plantation is between 151-466 million HUF, while the internal rate of return (IRR) is between 23-45%. From the business management aspect, the advantage of sea buckthorn production is that it provides better income and return at a planting cost that is similar to that of other small fruits and berries. At the same time, the disadvantage of sea buckthorn production is the fact that yields are harvested every two years due to the technological characteristics of harvesting. The negative impact of this bi-year-ly yield on liquidity can be eliminated with the so-called delayed planting.

In the economic evaluation of the cultivation of sea buckthorn, we started with the authentic documents of a specific farm operating in the territory of Slovakia. In the work, we evaluated basic economic indicators such as sales, costs, profit as well as selected ratio indicators of economic efficiency for the period 2012-2016. The profit from a hectare of plantation for the period 2012-2016 ranges from 600 € to 9,584 €, depending on harvest and realization price of production. It is assumed that at the time of full productivity of the plantation, an average yield of 15 kg per bush will be achieved and it is realistic that the profit from 1 hectare will be at a level exceeding the value of 30,000 €. When comparing the economic results of growing conventional crops such as cereals, root crops, but also oilseeds, the profit achieved when growing sea buckthorn is commercially interesting. And this even though building a plantation requires considerable investment expenses. The economic effect can also be increased by finalizing sea buckthorn fruits under farm conditions (Gurčík et al., 2019). A topic for further research can be the economic evaluation of the cultivation and processing of sea buckthorn using other varieties, given that we have several dozen varieties of this medicinal plant, or the economic evaluation of the plantation cultivation and processing of other medicinal plants that are interesting for the consumer in terms of health benefits (arrow rose, goji).

5. CONCLUSION

The scientific contribution aimed to evaluate the economic efficiency model of growing and processing sea buckthorn using an intensive cultivation method. In the paper, we present the finalization of the production in two forms: "Alternative A" - frozen fruits, "Alternative B" - 100% sea buckthorn juice. Based on the performed analysis, the most economically acceptable option for the grower is the implementation of "Alternative B". With this alternative, the payback period was before the seventh growing year, the internal rate of return was 35.67% and the net present value was 1,379,316 €. The results of the sensitivity analysis showed that in both modeled alternatives, the net present value was more affected by the decrease in yields, which are affected by the variability of the harvest and the unit price per kilogram, respectively.

Both formulated research assumptions were confirmed:

- 1. The finalization of the total production in the form of sea buckthorn juice is more economically advantageous in comparison with the processing of the total harvest in the form of frozen fruits;
- 2. The economic indicators chosen by us (total revenues, costs, farming result per hectare, average profitability of costs and revenues) will achieve economically more interesting values compared to conventional crops grown in the corn production area (wheat, barley, corn).

References

Bajer, J. (2014). Rakytník, zázračná rostlina, oranžový poklad. Czech Republic: Mladá Fronta.

- Bielik, P., & Turčeková, N. (2013). *Podnikové hospodárstvo*. Nitra: Slovak University of Agriculture. 4
- Bielik, P., Turčeková, N., & Svetlanská, T. (2018). *Podnikové hospodárstvo*. Nitra: Slovak University of Agriculture. 326 pp.
- Dudau, M., Vilceanu, A. C., Codrici, E., Mihai, S., Popescu, I. D., Albulescu, L., Tarcomnicu, I., Moise, G., Ceafalan, L. C., Hinescu, M. E., Enciu A-M., & Tanase, C. (2021). Sea-buckthorn Seed Oil Induces Proliferation of both Normal and Dysplatic Keratinocytes in Basal Conditions and under UVA irradiation. *Journal of personalized Medicine*, 11(4) : 278. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm11040278
- Dulf, F. V., Andrei, S., Bunea, A., & Socaciu, C. (2012). Fatty acids and phytosterol contents of some Romanian wild and cultivated berry pomaces. *Chem Papers* 66, 925–934. https:// doi.org/10.2478/s11696-012-0156-0
- Drapeau, Ch., Benson, K. F., & Jensen, G. S. (2019). Rapid and selective mobilization of specific stem cell types after consumption of a polyphenol-rich extract from sea buckthorn berries (Hippophae) in healthy human subjects. *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 14, 253-263. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S186893
- Eagle, D. (2015). Are quality standards necessary for sea buckthorn a business perspective Sanna, K., Ekaterina, P., eds. Producing Sea Buckthorn of High Quality. *Natural Resources and bioeconomy studies 31/2015*. Proceedings of the third European Workshop on Sea Buckthorn EuroWorks. 1416 October 2014, Naantali, Finland, 31-3.
- Erdos, A., & Szollosi, L. (2018). Economics of sea buckthorn production and processing in Hungary. *International Journal of Horticultural Science*, 24(3–4), 21–25. https://doi.org/10.31421/IJHS/24/3-4./2049
- Gao, S., Guo, Q., Qin, Ch., Shang, R., & Zhang, Z. (2017). Sea buckthorn fruit oil extract alleviates insulin resistance through the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in type 2 diabetes mellitus cells and rats. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 65(7), 1328–1336. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b04682
- Gegotek, A., Jastrzab, A., Jarocka-Karpowicz, I., Muszynska, M., & Skrzydlewska, E. (2018). The Effect of Sea Buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) Seed Oil on UV-Induced Changes in Lipid Metabolism of Human Skin Cells. *Antioxidants*, 7(9):110. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antiox7090110
- Guo, R., Guo, X., Li, T., Fu, X., & Liu, R. H. (2017). Comparative assessment of phytochemical profiles, antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of Sea buckthorn (Hippophaë rhamnoides L.) berries. *Food Chemistry*, 221(15), 997-1003. https://10.1016/j. foodchem.2016.11.063
- Gurčík, Ľ., Porhajaš, V., Červený, D., & Bajusová, Z. (2019). Economic evaluation of cultivation and finalization of the products from the sea buckthorn. *Visegrad journal on bioeconomy and sustainable development*, 8(1), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.2478/vjbsd-2019-0005
- Gurčík, Ľ., Adamičková, I., Porhajaš, V., & Turčeková, N. (2012). *Metodologické aspekty hodnotenia ekonomickej efektívnosti výroby ovocia v podmienkach Slovenskej republiky*. Nitra: Slovak University of Agriculture. 230 pp.
- Chemat, F., Périno-Issartier, S., Loucif, L., Elmaataoui, M., & Mason, T. J. (2012). Enrichment of edible oil with sea buckthorn by-products using ultrasound-assisted extraction. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 114(4), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ejlt.201100349

- Cho, C. H., Jang, H., Lee, M., Kang, H., Heo, H. J., & Kim, D-O. (2017). Sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) leaf extracts protect neuronal PC-12 cells from oxidative stress. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 27(7), 1257-1265. https://doi.org/10.4014/ jmb.1704.04033
- Ji, M., Gong, X., Li, X., Wang, C., & Li, M. (2020). Advanced research on the antioxidant activity and mechanism of polyphenols from Hippophae species-a review. *Molecules*, 25(4), 917. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25040917
- Liu, S., Xiao, P., Kuang, Y., Hao, J., Huang, T., & Liu, E. (2021). Flavonoids from sea buckthorn: A review on phytochemistry, pharmacokinetics, and role in metabolic diseases. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 45(5):e 13724. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfbc.13724
- Kant, V., Mehta, M., & Varshneya, Ch. (2012). Antioxidant potential and total phenolic contents of seabuckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides) pomace. *Free Radicals and Antioxidants*, x 2(4), 79–86. https://doi.org/10.5530/ax.2012.4.14
- Kislingerová, E. (2001). *Oceňování podniku*. 2nd edited edition. Prague. Czech Republic: C. H. Beck. 367 pp.
- Krištofík, P., Šuranová, Z., & Saxunová, D. (2009). *Finančné účtovníctvo a riadenie s aplikáciou IAS/IFRS*. Bratislava: IURA EDITION. 767 pp.
- Lougas, T., Veskus, T., Martverk, K., Täht, R., Rada, K., & Vokk, R. (2005). Sea buckthorn and its new field use. *IntraFood— Innovations in Traditional Foods*. *EFFOST Conference*. Valencia. (pp 719–722)
- Ma, CH-G., Zhao, M., Si, T-L., & Chen, X-W. (2021). Comparative study of adsorption polysaccharide on bioactive components and in vitro antioxidant activity of sea buckthorn (Hippophae, rhamnoides, L.) pulp oil. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 141, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.110896
- Majerčáková, E., & Majerčák, P. (2015). Break-even Point analysis and its benefit for enterprise.
 In: 10th International Scientific Conference on Financial Management of Firms and Financial Institutions. Czech Republic: Ostrava. (pp. 718-724)
- Morsel, J. T. (2015). Standardization of sea buckthorn -local and global aspects and demands. Sanna, K., Ekaterina, P., eds. Producing Sea Buckthorn of High Quality. Natural Resources and bioeconomy studies 31/2015. Proceedings of the third European Workshop on Sea Buckthorn EuroWorks 2014. 1416 October 2014, Naantali, Finland, 31-3.
- Mortensen, M. W., Spagner, C., Cuparencu, C., Astrup, A., Raben, A., & Dragsted, L. O. (2018). Sea buckthorn decreases and delays insulin response and improves glycaemic profile following a sucrose-containing berry meal: A randomised, controlled, crossover study of Danish sea buckthorn and strawberries in overweight and obese male subjects. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 57 (8), 2827–2837. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00394-017-1550-8
- Olas, B. (2018). The beneficial health of Sea buckthorn (Elaeagnus rhamnoides (L.) A. Nelson) oil. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 213, 183-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.11.022
- Olas, B., Sklaski, B., & Ulanowska, K. (2018). The Anticancer Activity of Sea Buckthorn [Elaeagnus rhamnoides (L.) A. Nelson]. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9:232. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00232
- Périno-Issartier, S., Huma, Z., Abert-Vian, M., & Chemat, F. (2011). Solvent free microwave-assisted extraction of antioxidants from sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides) food by-products. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 4, 1020–1028. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11947-010-0438-x
- Radenkovs, V., Pussa, T., Juhnevica-Radenkova, K., Anton, D., & Seglina, D. (2018). Phytochemical characterization and antimicrobial evaluation of young leaf/shoot and press
cake extracts from Hippophae rhamnoides L. Food Bioscience, 24, 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbio.2018.05.010

- Rösch, D., Krumbein, A., & Kroh, L. W. (2004). Antioxidant gallocatechins, dimeric and trimeric proanthocyanidins from sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides) pomace. *European Food Research & Technology*, 219 (6), 605–613. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-004-1002-6
- Suryakumar, G., & Gupta, A. (2011). Medicinal and therapeutic potential of Sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.). *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 138(2), 268-278 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2011.09.024
- Valíček, P., & Havelka, E. (2008). Rakytník rešetlákový. Prague: Start. 88 pp.
- Wang, K., Xu, Z., & Liao, X. (2021). Bioactive compounds, health benefits and functional food products of sea buckthorn: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(24), 6761-6782. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1905605
- Yuan, H., Zhu, X., Wang, W., Meng, L., Chen, D., & Zhang C. (2016). Hypoglycemic and anti-inflammatory effects of seabuckthorn seed protein in diabetic ICR mice. *Food & Function*, 7(3), 1610–1615. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5FO01600B
- Zargar, R., Raghuwanshi, P., Lal Koul, A., Rastogi, A., Khajuria, P., Wahid, A., & Kour, S. (2020). Hepatoprotective effect of seabuckthorn leaf-extract in lead acetate-intoxicated Wistar rats. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(1)), 476-480. https://doi.org/10.1080/01480 545.2020.1775630
- Zhang, G., Liu, Y., & Liu, P. (2018). Active components from sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) regulate hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrogenesis *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66 (46), 12257-12264. https://doi.org.10.1021/acs.jafc.8b05306
- Zhang, W., Zhao, J., Wang, J., Pang, X., Zhuang, X., Zhu, X., & Qu, W. (2010). Hypoglycemic effect of aqueous extract of seabuckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) seed residues in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 24(2), 228–232. https://doi. org/10.1002/ptr.2917



Introducing Green Infrastructure into Urban Policy Documents – The Case of Croatian Cities

Željka Kordej-De Villa¹ 💿

Received: November 22, 2022 Accepted: January 19, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Green infrastructure; Urban areas; Policy documents; Physical planning; Croatia

Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission. **Abstract:** More and more cities are coping with the challenges of unsustainable urbanization, degradation, loss of natural capital, climate change, and increased risk of natural disasters. Green infrastructure (GI) and especially urban green infrastructure (UGI) could have a key role in dealing with these development issues.

The main goal of the paper is to evaluate the role of GI in development strategies, both on national and local levels. The role of GI as a policy tool is analyzed. In addition to national development strategies, the paper reviews the development strategies of several Croatian cities. The four biggest and most developed cities are selected: Zagreb, Split, Rijeka, and Osijek. As the most developed cities in economic terms, they are expected to base their development on new development patterns, including GI.

The paper is structured as follows. After presenting GI and the literature review, the third section discusses national regulation and urban policy documents related to GI. The final section presents some conclusions and some proposals for future research agenda.

1. INTRODUCTION

Urban areas, primarily cities, are the main drivers of economic growth, but at the same time, they also have the greatest impact on sustainable development. Since 75 percent of the European and 58 percent of the Croatian population live in urban areas it is important to improve the sustainability of urban areas, improve the environment, and increase the quality of life in cities.

More and more cities are coping with the challenges of unsustainable urbanization, degradation, loss of natural capital, climate change, and increased risk of natural disasters. Green infrastructure (GI) and especially urban green infrastructure (UGI) could have a key role in dealing with these development issues.

The main goal of the paper is to evaluate the role of GI in development strategies, both on national and local levels. The role of GI as a policy tool is analyzed. In addition to national development strategies, the paper reviews the development strategies of several Croatian cities. We select the biggest and the most developed cities: Zagreb (790.017 inhabitants), Split (178.102), Rijeka (128.624), and Osijek (108.048). As the most developed cities in economic terms, they are expected to base their development on new development patterns, including green infrastructure. Besides, these cities also formulate development strategies for urban agglomeration. The existence of specific strategies for GI development for Croatian cities is rare, so general development strategies are used.

The paper is structured as follows. After presenting GI and the literature review, the third section discusses national regulation and urban policy documents related to GI. The final section presents conclusions and some proposals for future research agenda.

The Institute of Economics, Zagreb; Trg J.F. Kennedyja 7, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia



6th International Scientific Conference ITEMA 2022 Conference Proceedings

2. INTRODUCING GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

There are different conceptual approaches to green infrastructure as well as its numerous classifications, while the concept is still evolving. GI is a very broad concept that can be interpreted in different ways. According to Sandström (2002), the concept of GI was introduced in the 1990s in the USA, but its implementation in Europe is growing, especially with the introduction of the EU's Green Infrastructure strategy (EC, 2013). GI plays a social, structural, and environmental role (function) in urban spaces. Therefore, Maruani and Amit-Cohen (2007) propose that definitions can be divided into two groups, those dealing with human needs and those dealing with environmental values.

The complexity of the concept was mentioned in academic literature and in policy papers formulated by different agencies and organizations, including companies and community groups (Pauleit et al., 2011). Naumann et al. (2011) analyzed green infrastructure predominantly from a policy perspective. It can be used as a tool or strategy to achieve sustainable development and smart growth (Demuzere et al., 2014). Therefore, the role of GI is especially emphasized in spatial planning while it encompasses multi-functional zones and includes different measures in land-use policies (EC, 2012; EU, 2013; Sandstrom, 2002).

The role of GI in planning development policy in Croatia is the focus of this paper. Hence, the insights of Wang and Bazhaf (2018) are the most valuable here. They highlight three main interpretations of GI based on "transferring or translation processes" (Wang and Bazhaf, 2018: 760). First, the link between humans and natural systems is to reach the balance of anthropocentric and eco-centric approaches. The second is a translation from the theory approach to the practical policy measure, and the third is the translation of the GI definition to understand its multifunctionality on different scales (local, urban, regional, and national). Wang and Bazhaf (2018) review six principles of green infrastructure, where multifunctionality is considered the most crucial one. The integral approach to green infrastructure functions, including environmental, social, and economic benefits, has to be applied to different scales and levels. According to Sternlieb et al. (2013) conceptual developments of green infrastructure should be related to the proper level of decision-making. Garmendia et al. (2016) emphasize the role of GI in spatial planning and argue that the concept of multifunctionality is more convenient for operationalization than the concept of sustainability. In addition, Garmendia et al. (2016) stress the importance of functional connectivity among policy planners, developers, and different disciplines.

The other concept which is closely related to green infrastructure is the urban green infrastructure (UGI) which was introduced to position green areas in urban environments using processes, approaches, and selected policy themes (Davies & Lafortezza, 2017: 94). Notions of UGI as a planning process are strategic, inter-and transdisciplinary, and socially inclusive planning. Concepts of UGI as a planning approach are connectivity (creating networked geographical areas), multifunctionality (different functions including ecosystem services), integration, and multi-scale. UGI policy themes are climate change adaptation, green economy, human health, social cohesion, biodiversity, and ecosystem services (Davies & Lafortezza, 2017: 94).

Recently, the concept of GI is associated with the term blue infrastructure (rivers, streams, ponds, lakes, etc.) which today is considered the pillar of UGI.

The benefits of GI are numerous and diverse. They are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Potential benefits of the GI		
Environmental benefits	•	Provision of clean water
	•	Removal of air pollutants
	•	Protection of soil erosion
	•	Rainwater retention
	•	Increased pest control
	•	Mitigation of land take and soil sealing
Social benefits	•	Better health and human well-being
	•	Creation of jobs
	•	Diversification of the local economy
	•	More attractive, greener cities
	•	Higher property values and local distinctiveness
	•	More integrated transport and energy solutions
	•	Enhanced tourism and recreation opportunities
Climate change adaptation	•	Food alleviation
	•	Strengthening ecosystems resilience
	•	Carbon storage and sequestration
	•	Mitigation of urban heat island effects
	•	Disaster prevention (storms, fires, landslides)
Biodiversity benefits	•	Improved habitats for wildlife
	•	Ecological corridors
	•	Landscape permeability
	0	EG 2012

Table 1. Potential benefits of the GI

Source: EC, 2013.

Environmental benefits encompass improving the functions and resilience of ecosystems, conservation of biodiversity by connecting existing natural areas, and preservation of natural habitats by preventing their fragmentation (Schäffler & Swilling, 2013). Providing multifunctional outdoor spaces and creating safe spaces that encourage activity are the principal social benefits. Protection of significant landscapes and natural heritage that affect the local identity in combination with fostering the inclusion of the community's environmental action are significant.

Economic benefits entail the creation of favorable conditions for the sustainable development of agriculture, tourism, and leisure industries. Well-planned and high-quality urban spaces increase land and real estate values. All of that can result in creating new jobs (Rutt & Gulsrud, 2016).

The most perceived barriers to the development of GI are conflicting interests of different stakeholders, physical barriers in the case of private areas, and institutional barriers. Among the major barriers, institutional barriers must be emphasized. According to Biernacka and Kronenberg (2018) institutional barriers affect the availability, accessibility, and attractiveness of GI. Implementation barriers range from legislation to a lack of cooperation, knowledge, and awareness, including a lack of communication between different stakeholders.

3. CROATIAN GREENSPACE PLANNING AND POLICY DOCUMENTS ANALYSIS

3.1. National Regulation and Policy Documents

A policy document analysis and a desk study were the main methods used for this article. The desk study of relevant literature and documents (development strategies for cities, and urban agglomerations) had been conducted to provide insight into whether or how different approaches and policy themes were considered in planning.

GI is defined in Croatian legislation. The term GI is defined by the *Law on Spatial planning*, which states that "green infrastructure is planned green and water surfaces and other nature-based spatial solutions applied within cities and municipalities that contribute to the conservation, improvement and restoration of nature, natural functions and processes in order to achieve the environmental, economic and social benefits of sustainable development".

The Construction Act stipulates the need for the formulation of The Program for the Development of GI in urban areas. The Program for the Development of GI in Urban Areas for the period 2021-2030 was prepared by the Ministry of Physical Planning, Construction, and State Property and adopted by the Government of the Republic of Croatia in December 2021. According to the EU documents, the Program defines objectives and measures for the development of green infrastructure in urban areas to establish sustainable, safe, and resilient cities and settlements through increasing the energy efficiency of buildings and construction areas, developing green infrastructure in buildings and urban transformation, and urban rehabilitation. It is in accordance with the National Development Strategy of the Republic of Croatia until 2030, which is an overall strategic document that defines the national development vision, strategic objectives, and priority areas. Strategy for Adaptation to Climate Change in the Republic of Croatia for the period up to 2040 with a view to 2070 and Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan for the Republic of Croatia 2021-2030 highlight the importance and role of GI in achieving the objectives of sustainable development with the nature-based solutions. GI Development Program is also essential for the reduction of energy consumption and therefore it is related to the Long-term Strategy for the renovation of the national building stock by 2050 and to the Strategy for Low-Carbon Development of the Republic of Croatia by 2030 with a view to 2050. The GI Development Program is in accordance with *The Spatial Development Strategy*² which is a guiding document implemented on the national, regional, and local levels. One of the priorities stated in the Strategy emphasizes the importance of strengthening natural capital by planning the development of GI.

Reviewing the national strategy documents reveals that the importance of GI in the planning and development of urban areas has already been recognized. This paper questions the presence of GI approach in lower spatial scales. The urban development strategies for the four biggest cities (Zagreb, Split, Rijeka, and Osijek) are selected and analyzed.

3.2. Urban Development Strategies

For the purpose of this article the following urban strategies are analyzed: Zagreb development strategy for the period up to 2020 (ZAGREBPLAN), Zagreb urban agglomeration development strategy for the period up to 2020³, City of Rijeka development plan 2021-2027⁴, Osijek development strategy – from industrial to intelligent city 2016-2020⁵, Osijek urban agglomeration

² Croatian system of physical planning could be classified as the continental style of planning in combination with a comprehensive integrated approach (Katurić et al., 2018).

³ Zagreb Urban Agglomeration contains 7 cities and 20 municipalities (within Zagreb County, Krapina-Zagorje County, Karlovac, and Sisak-Moslavina County). They have common interests related to environmental and natural protection, as well as cultural resources and heritage. In April 2022 the development of the new Zagreb Urban Agglomeration Development Strategy for the period up to 2027 has begun.

⁴ Strategic objectives are harmonized with the five objectives of the new regional and cohesion policy of the European Union for the period 2021-2027 (Smarter Europe, Carbon-free Green Europe, A more connected Europe, A more social Europe, and Europe closer to citizens). A Green infrastructure strategy for the City of Rijeka was adopted in 2020.

⁵ The City of Osijek is a member of the Intelligent Cities Forum.

development strategy for the period up to 2020⁶, Split development strategy for the period up to 2020, and Split urban agglomeration development strategy for the period up to 2020⁷.

These are fundamental strategic documents of regional development policy for selected cities. Documents were developed in accordance with the Law on Regional Development of the Republic of Croatia (Official Gazette, OG 147/14) and the Guidelines of the Ministry of Regional Development and EU funds for the development of county development strategies, monitoring, and evaluation of their implementation from September 2015. The development strategies are also aligned with the Regional Development Strategy of the Republic of Croatia until the end of 2020 (OG 75/17) and the spatial planning documentation for selected cities. All development documents, except the strategic document for the City of Rijeka, expired in 2020. And that's one of the limiting factors of analysis.

In reviewing documents, the focus was on the *selected green areas approach*, *objectives* related to green areas, *actions* for achieving these objectives (strategy), and *indicators*.

The green areas approach is questioned by the presence of GI in urban strategies. The first finding was that green areas are rarely present as a stand-alone chapter (section) in the strategies of selected cities and most commonly they are included within broader environmental sections. The exception is the development strategy for the City of Rijeka. In analyzed documents, there is no definition of GI concept, and there is a lack of theoretical characteristics associated with UGI. The most prevalent occurrence of GI is its description. All selected strategies include so-called flagship categories of GI such as parks, forests, gardens, cemeteries, and street greenery which are managed by urban authorities and located on public land. In addition, there is no sufficient planning of public green spaces within the new settlements. Roof terraces and vertical gardens are recognized as a great potential for improving the quality of housing and life. Urban Strategies of Rijeka and Split pay more attention to blue infrastructure, compared to Zagreb and Osijek. In the development document of Rijeka, the broader context of GI is applied, and concepts of green growth (including green jobs) and green public procurement are introduced. The idea of a circular economy as well as the principles of the doughnut economy are mentioned (Raworth, 2017). The urban strategy of Rijeka is the most ambitious one and the goal is to become a regional hub for Southeast Europe for developing and implementing smart solutions in urban management.

The *benefits* of GI, the associated *problems*, and potential *barriers* to future development for GI are elaborated on in all selected urban documents. All development strategies for selected urban agglomeration consider the benefits of functional and physical networks. These benefits were generally referred to as either environmental (biodiversity) or social (recreation). All urban agglomeration documents emphasize the importance of connectivity and multifunctionality (provision of multiple functions and services) which are the essence of GI.

Urban strategies are seen as an umbrella concept for reviewing future development plans in terms of *objectives, actions* to achieve them, and *indicators* for monitoring. The general objectives identified in the analyzed document are increasing the surface of green areas, protection and conservation, and better management of existing GI.

⁶ Out of 19 local self-government units that make up the Osijek Urban Agglomeration, 18 of them are in Osijek-Baranja County and one in Vukovar-Srijem County.

⁷ It consists of 12 local self-government units within Split-Dalmatia County. In October 2020 Split began the formulation of the Action plan for the green city according to EBRD and OECD methodology.

Specific Croatian development issues presented in urban strategies are the unresolved property status of green spaces, illegal construction, and expansion of other objects into the greening area, inconsistent standards for the design, regulation, and protection of GI components, as well as management and detachment of competent authorities in the planning and implementation of GI process. As the most urgent challenges, cities identified design of an appropriate model of a multifunctional network of GI, mapping, and inclusion of GI in other planning acts and spatial planning documents, just to name a few⁸. Urban agglomerations stress the lack of communication between competent authorities and inadequate vertical coordination among the members of agglomeration. The cities within urban agglomerations are preparing for a new generation of programs funded as integrated territorial investments for urban agglomerations, and a stronger emphasis on joint and big strategic projects.

Sound policies and strategies should be based on quantitative data describing UGI showing the availability and accessibility of GI, including their values and costs of management. A green atlas of the City of Zagreb is prepared, including the indicator of green area per inhabitant. More detailed data on green areas for the City of Zagreb are under construction, including the number of square meters per capita. Rijeka formulated indicators for monitoring the achievements of key strategic goals, including the surface of parks and other green areas till 2030. Although, there is no data on green area surface per inhabitant. Osijek prepared a Green cadaster and is expected to prepare it for agglomeration. In the Split urban strategy, quantitative indicators for planning and building new public green areas are presented. The creation of green cadaster is also planned.

To conclude this section, it is necessary to point out that all selected documents emphasize the sustainable spatial development of the urban agglomeration as one of the development priorities. To achieve this goal, integral spatial planning is one of the most important activities. It includes establishing the appropriate model of the multifunctional network of GI of the agglomeration, with mapping and valorization of the area, the inclusion of green determinants infrastructure into spatial plans, and other planning development documents. Participation of key stakeholders is a prerequisite for sustainable spatial development, and it assumes the involvement of key stakeholders (at all levels) and the public in the planning and implementation of development plans (spatial plans, green infrastructure plans).

4. CONCLUSION

GI is a significant and influential concept, but it is not fully recognized in Croatian urban planning. By reviewing selected urban development strategies, it is evident that implementing the GI concept has many challenges, including its integration into the physical planning process.

It can be concluded that Croatian cities show moderate commitment to GI development. The most demanding task is to find an appropriate mix of solutions for urban specificities which is also in line with previous European research (Andersson, 2016; Wagner, 2016; Garcia, 2017).

Why Croatian cities are not greener? Authorities are predominantly focused on a part of green areas for which they are responsible, and still, there is a lack of a coherent basis for GI research.

⁸ The need for the participation of key stakeholders in the processes, educational programs related to GI, and effective use of ESI funds in the next period are also highlighted.

An effective policy requires data on GI, and a database of existing public green spaces established in the GIS environment will improve the management of public green spaces.

The future research agenda includes the following issues - is green infrastructure viewed differently by different user groups; what are the future opportunities for GI development; how to quantify intangible benefits of GI, etc.

In addition to further research, the implementation of information campaigns and educational programs are required.

References

- Biernacka, M., & Kronenberg, J. (2018). Classification of institutional barriers affecting the availability, accessibility and attractiveness of urban green spaces. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 36, 22-33.
- City of Rijeka Development Plan 2021 2027. available at https://www.rijeka.hr/wp-content/up-loads/2021/03/Plan-razvoja-Grada-Rijeke-za-razdoblje-2021.-2027..pdf
- Construction act, Official Gazette 153/13, 20/17, 39/19, 125/19, available at https://narodne-novine. nn.hr/search.aspx?upit=Zakon%200%20gradnji&sortiraj=0&kategorija=1&rpp=10&qtype=3&pretraga=da&naslovi=da, article 47.
- Davies, C., & Lafortezza, R. (2017). Urban green infrastructure in Europe: Is greenspace planning and policy compliant?. *Land Use Policy*, 69, 93-101.
- Demuzere, M., Orru, K., Heidrich, O., Olazabal, E., Geneletti, D., Orru, H., Bhave, A.G., Mittal, N., Feliu, E., & Faehnle, M. (2014). Mitigating and adapting to climate change:multi-functional and multi-scale assessment of green urban infrastructure. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 146, 107–115.
- European Commission. (2012) *The multifunctionality of green infrastructure*, Science for Environment Policy- In-depth Reports, European Commission's Directorate-General Environment.
- European Commission. (2013). *Building a green infrastructure for Europe*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Garmendia, E., Apostolopoulou, E., Adams, W. M., & Bormpoudakis, D. (2016). Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure in Europe: Boundary object or ecological trap?, *Land Use Policy*, 56, 315-319.
- Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan for the Republic of Croatia 2021-2030, available on https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/hr_final_necp_main_hr.pdf.
- Katurić, I., Šmit, K., Gregar, M. (2018). Scenarijsko modeliranje u prostornom planiranju obalnog područja, *Prostor*, 26, 233-245.
- Law on spatial planning, Official Gazette 153/13, 65/17, 114/18, 39/19, 98/19), available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/search.aspx?upit=zakon+o+prostornom+ure%c4%91enju&naslovi=da&sortiraj=0&kategorija=1&rpp=10&qtype=3&pretraga=da.
- Long-term Strategy for the renovation of the national building stock by 2050, available at https://mpgi.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/EnergetskaUcinkovitost/DSO_14.12.2020.pdf.
- Maruani, T., & Amit-Cohen, I. (2007). Open space planning models: A review of approaches and methods, *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 81 (1-2), 1-13.
- Naumann, S., Davis, M., Kaphengst, T., Pieterse, M., & Rayment, M. (2011). *Design, Implementation and Cost Elements of Green Infrastructure Projects*. Final Report. Brussels: European Commission.

- Osijek Development Strategy from industrial to intelligent city 2016-2020, available at https://www.osijek.hr/wp-content/uploads/pdf/57-konacni%20prijedlog%20strategije-akt-1.pdf.
- Osijek Urban Agglomeration Development Strategy for the Period up to 2020, available at https://www.osijek.hr/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/STRATEGIJA-RAZVOJA-UA-OSI-JEK-DO-2020.pdf.
- Pauleit, S., Liu, L., Ahern, J., & Kazmierczak, A. (2011) Multifunctional green infrastructure planning to promote ecological services in the city. In: Niemelä, J. (ed.) Urban Ecology. Patterns, Processes and Applications. (pp. 272-286). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Raworth, K. (2017). *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist*, White River Junction, Vermont: Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Rutt, R. L., & Gulsrud, N. M. (2016). Green justice in the city: A new agenda for urban green space research in Europe. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 19, 123–127.
- Sandstrom, U. G. (2002). Green infrastructure planning in urban Sweden. *Planning Practice & Research*, 17(4), 373–385.
- Schäffler, A., & Swilling, M. (2013). Valuing green infrastructure in an urban environment under pressure the Johannesburg case. *Ecological Economics*, 86, 246–257.
- Sternlieb, F., Bixler, R.P., & Huber-Stearns, H. (2013). A question of fit: reflections on boundaries, organizations and social–ecological systems. Journal of Environmental Management, 130, 117–125.
- The Strategy for Adaptation to Climate Change in the Republic of Croatia, Official Gazette 46/20, available at https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2020_04_46_921.html.
- The Strategy for Low-Carbon Development of the Republic of Croatia by 2030 with a view to 2050, available at https://mpgi.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/EnergetskaUcinkovi-tost/DSO_14.12.2020.pdf.
- The Spatial Development Strategy, Official Gazette 106/2017, available at https://narodne-novine. nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2017_10_106_2423.html.
- The Development Strategy of the Urban Agglomeration Rijeka for the Period up to 2020, available at https://www.rijeka.hr/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Prilog-Strategija-razvoja-Urbane-aglomeracije-Rijeka-za-razdoblje-2016.%E2%80%932020.-godine.pdf.
- The Development Strategy of the Urban Agglomeration Split for the Period up to 2020, available at https://www.split.hr/DesktopModules/Bring2mind/DMX/API/Entries/ Download?language=hr-HR&Command=Core Download&EntryId=7641&PortalId=0.
- Wang, J., Banzhaf, E. (2018). Towards a better understanding of Green Infrastructure: A critical review. *Ecological Indicators*, 85(1), 758–772.
- Zagreb Development Strategy for the Period up to 2020 ZAGREBPLAN, available at https:// www.zagreb.hr/userdocsimages/arhiva/zagrebplan-ciljevi_i_prioriteti_razvoja_do_2020. pdf
- Zagreb Urban Agglomeration Development Strategy for the Period up to 2020, available at https://www.zagreb.hr/userdocsimages/gu%20za%20strategijsko%20planiranje/Strategija%20razvoja%20Urbane%20aglomeracije%20Zagreb.pdf.



Priority Substances in Waters of Albanian Ports

Esmeralda Halo¹ Bledar Murtaj² Aurel Nuro³

Received: November 3, 2022 Revised: February 10, 2023 Accepted: February 13, 2023 Published: June 12, 2023

Keywords:

Adriatic Sea; Organochlorine pesticides; PCBs; PAH; BTEX; Water analyze; GC/ECD/FID



Abstract: This study was to determine the concentration of organochlorine pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and o-, m- p-xylenes) in water samples of Adriatic Sea on the Albanian coastline. These pollutants are classified as priority substances because of their stability and toxicity. Stations near the ports of Durres and Vlora were selected for this study. Durres and Vlora ports are the largest ports in Albania which are processing more than 90% of shipping transport for people and commerce in Albania. Intense ship transport and commercial processing are the main reasons for water pollution in port areas. Water currents and new arrivals from Albanian rivers can influence their pollution. Marine water samples from the ports of Durres and Vlora were taken in for the same stations in two periods, May and July 2022. Liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and hexane as extracting solvents were used to isolate organochlorine pesticides and PCBs by water samples. PAHs were extracted using two steps LLE technique. Firstly, by using dichloromethane and after that hexane as extracting solvent. Organic phases were dried by using Na2SO4 anhidrous. Clean-up procedures were performed by using SPE techniques. After the concentration, the samples were injected in Varian 450 GC equipped with ECD and FID detectors. BTEX was analyzed using HS/SPME technique followed by GC/FID technique. Organochlorine pesticides (mostly their metabolites) were detected almost in all analyzed water for both periods of sampling. The main factors can be their previous use, new arrivals from rivers, and the water currents of the Adriatic Sea. PCBs, PAHs and BTEX were found almost for all analyzed samples. Their presence could be because of anthropogenic factors (intense activity and ship transport) in the port area. The higher level of all pollutants was in July because of the intense ship transport in this period of the year. The higher levels were found inside port areas for both periods. Priority substance levels in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports were higher/comparable with reported levels of them from other stations of the Adriatic Sea (Albania coast).

1. INTRODUCTION

This study determined priority substance concentrations in water samples for the ports of Durres and Vlora which are the main ports of Albania. These ports are located respectively in the central and south Adriatic Sea, Albanian coastline. Both ports are processed more than 90% of shipping for people and commerce in Albania. The port of Durres is the largest seaport in Albania. It is an artificial basin that is formed between two moles. The Port is located at the north end of the Bay of Durres, located in the central Adriatic Sea. Part of the port of Durres is a fishing harbor that lies at the north end of the East Mole. From 2014, the port ranks as the largest passenger port in Albania and one of the largest passenger ports in the Adriatic Sea. In the north of Durres port (5 km distance) is located the hydrocarbon ports of Porto-Romano.

³ Tirana University, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Albania



¹ Tirana University, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Albania

² Tirana University, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Albania

Shortly, it is thought that the port area will be re-conceptualized and expanded as one of the largest ports of the Mediterranean Sea. The port of Vlora is the second port of Albania. It is located in Vlora bay, near the city of Vlora, south Albania. The port is considered part of the Lungomare Master Plan of Vlora. Part of this project is the construction of a yacht port, and some new roads to make the port area most accessible. Until now, Vlora's port is the main function of passengers and commercial shipping. In fact, beside Vlora port in the area of Vlora bay are located other ports such as a petroleum port (Petrolifera near Zverneci), Marina port for Delta Force (near Radhima), Military Base of Orikumi and a fishing harbor (near Zverneci). In the area of Vlora bay operates some tourist ships and many small boats (motorized one) that serve as tourist transportation to visit beautiful areas of Sazani Island and the Karaburuni peninsula. Vlora bay (and Vlora's port) has intense ship transport and except this, the geographical position of the bay favors the concentration of pollutants inside of it. The negative impact of Vjosa and Semani rivermouth that bring new arrivals of pollutants (pesticide, hydrocarbons, detergents, etc.) as well as the internal/external water currents are not excluded as factors that affect pollution of Vlora bay. Vlora's port is affected by this pollution adding the pollution to this area by ships, automobile transport and commercial import/export that operate on it.

Organochlorine pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and benzene are classified as Persistent Organic Pollutants (POP) because they are persistent for many years after their application (Shayler et al., 2009). Great concern was caused by chlorinated compounds, which proved to be extremely persistent in the environment and after that in the food chain (Penttila & Siivinen, 1996; WHO & FAO 1983; Wilhelm et al., 2002). For more than 50 years (after the Second World War to 90') organochlorine pesticides were used widely in Albania for agricultural purposes. The main agricultural areas are located in the western of the country near the Adriatic Sea. The use of pesticides in Albania after 1990 decreased rapidly due to migration and the immigration of the population. PCBs were not in use in Albania until 90'. They can be found only in some electrical transformers that were used in the early 1990s, but they were reported in many water ecosystems of our country because of their atmospheric depositions. PAHs and BTEX are pollutants generated by automobile transport, extracting/processing of the oil industry, coal mine, and other industries. These hydrocarbons could be found in marine water because of ship transport or some accidental spills of hydrocarbons. Forest burning and their natural background make them very often in the environment. These pollutants have high stability, high bioaccumulation capacity, and the ability to spread out far away from the application site. Generally, these compounds are difficult to degrade and can persist for many years in particular in water ecosystems (Corsi et al., 2010; Nuro et al., 2012).

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Water Sampling in the Adriatic Sea

Water samples were taken in 12 different stations of the port of Durres (8 inside and 4 outside its area) and 10 stations of Vlora's port (6 inside and 4 outside port area) for two periods May and July 2022. Sampling periods were chosen for these months because May is a normal working period for both ports while July is the intense period (two to three times higher than the normal period). The sampling stations for Durres and Vlora ports are presented in Figure 1. A quantity of 2,5 litre of marine water was taken from each station in Teflon bottles. The sampling method was based on ISO 5667-3:2018. Water samples were transported and conserved at +4°C before their analysis.



a) Port of Durres sampling site, D1 (left) – D12 (right)



b) Port of Vlora sampling site, V1 (left) – V2 (right)
 Figure 1. Sampling stations in the port of Durres and port of Vlora, May and July 2022.

2.2. Treatment of Water Samples for Pesticide and Pcb Analyzes

Liquid-liquid extraction was used for the extraction of organochlorine pesticide and polychlorinated biphenyls from marine water samples. One liter of water and 50 ml n-hexane as extracting solvent were added in a separatory funnel. After extraction, the organic phase was dried with 5 g of anhydrous Na_2SO_4 for water removal. A florisil column was used for the sample clean-up. 20 ml n-hexane/dichloromethane (4/1) was used for elution. After concentration to 1 ml hexane, the samples were injected in GC/ECD (Lekkas et al., 2004; Vryzas et al., 2009; Nuro et al., 2012).

2.3. Gas Chromatography Analysis of Pesticides and PCBs

Organochlorine pesticides and PCBs were analyzed simultaneously using capillary column type Rtx-5 (30 m long x 0.25 mm i.d. x 0.25 μ m film thicknesses) on a gas chromatograph Varian 450

GC with ECD detector. Helium was used as carrier gas (1 ml/min) while nitrogen as make-up gas (24 ml/min). The manual injection was done in splitless mode at 280°C. The organochlorine pesticides detected were DDT-related chemicals (o,p-DDE, p,p-DDE, p,p-DDD, p,p-DDT), HCHs (a-, b-, γ - and d-isomers), Heptachlor's (Heptachlor and Heptachlorepoxide); Aldrin's (Aldrine, Dieldrine and Endrin) and Endosulfanes (Endosulfan alpha, Endosulfan beta and Endosulfan sulfat). Analysis of PCBs was based on the determination of the seven PCB markers (IUPAC Nr. 28, 52, 101, 118, 138, 153 and 180). Quantification of OCPs and PCBs was based on an external standard method (Vryzas et al., 2009; Lekkas et al., 2004; Nuro et al., 2014).

2.4. Treatment of Water Samples for PAH Analyzes

Two steps liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) was used for extracting PAHs from marine water samples. One liter of water with firstly 30 ml dichloromethane (first step LLE) and after that 30 ml hexane (second step LLE) as extracting solvent was added in a separator funnel. After extraction, the organic phase was dried with 5 g of anhydrous Na_2SO_4 for water removal. Extracts were concentrated to 1 ml hexane using Kuderna-Danish and then were injected in GC/FID for qualification/quantification of PAHs (Nuro et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2009; Lekkas et al., 2004).

2.5. GC/FID Determination of PAH in Water Samples

Gas chromatographic analyses of PAHs in water samples were realized with a Varian 450 GC instrument equipped with a flame ionization detector and PTV injector. VF-1 ms capillary column (30 m x 0.33 mm x 0.25 µm) was used for the qualification and quantification of 13 PAHs according to EPA 525 Method. Helium was used as carrier gas with 1 ml/min. FID temperature was held at 280°C. Nitrogen was used as the make-up gas (25 ml/min). Hydrogen and air were flame detector gases with 30 ml/min and 300 ml/min, respectively. EPA 525 Standard Mixture was used for qualitative and quantitative analysis of PAHs. Acenaphthylene, Fluorene, Phenanthrene, Anthracene, Pyrene, Benzo [a] anthracene, Chrysene, Perilene, Benzo [b] fluoranthene, Benzo [k] fluoranthene, Indeo [1,2,3-cd] pyrene, Dibenzo [a, b] anthracene and Benzo [g, h, i] perylene were determined in seawater samples. Quantification of PAHs was based on an external standard method (Nuro et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2009; Lekkas et al., 2004).

2.6. HS-SPME Technique for Determination of BTEX in Water Samples

Determination of BTEX in water samples was realized using solid phase micro-extraction in static headspace mode (HS/SPME) followed by GC/FID technique. 5 ml of water sample was put in a 10 ml headspace vial. 100 um PDMS fiber was used to extract BTEX from water samples. The adsorption process was realized at 50°C (using a water bath) for 45 minutes. The desorption process (30 seconds in 280°C) was realized in a PTV injector (HS mode was selected) of a Varian 450 GC instrument. VF-1 ms capillary column (30 m x 0.33 mm x 0.25 µm) was used for the separation of Benzene, Toluene, Ethyl benzene and Xylene isomers. Helium was used as carrier gas with 1 ml/min. FID temperature was held at 280°C. Nitrogen was used as the make-up gas (25 ml/min). BTEX Mixture was used for their qualitative and quantitative analysis based on an external standard method (Nuro et al., 2014).

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this study were analyzed organochlorinated pesticides, PCBs, PAHs and BTEX were in marine water samples from the ports of Durres and Vlora, Adriatic Sea. These are the main ports of Albania for passengers and commercial shipping. Samples were taken in May and July 2022. Organochlorine pesticides, their degradation products and PCB markers were analyzed using GC/ECD techniques. The analysis of pesticides is based on the EPA 8081B standard, in which Lindane and its isomers, Heptachlors, Aldrins, Chlordanes, DDTs and Endosulfanes are analyzed. Analysis of PCBs in water samples was based on determination of seven PCB markers. Polycyclic aromatic and volatile hydrocarbons were analyzed using GC/FID techniques. OCPs, PCBs, PAHs and BTEX were classified as priority substances because of their stability and toxicity.

Organochlorine pesticides were detected in all water samples analyzed from the ports of Durres and Vlora, for both periods (May and July 2022). The higher average value of pesticides was found in Vlora port (July 2022) with 8.2 ng/l. Vlora samples were the most polluted for both periods. The presence of pesticides in the marine water of the Adriatic Sea must be due to their previous uses in agricultural areas near the ports, river discharges (new arrival because of soil rinsing), water currents, punctual sources near the port, etc. The total of pesticides for each station was higher for water samples in July 2022 (Figure 2). Agricultural activity and new arrivals from the rivers could be the main factors. Momentum values are not excluded. It was noted that levels of pesticides for Vlora stations were higher than for Durres because of the geographic position of Vlora Bay. It favors the concentration of pollutants inside the bay. The most polluted stations for Durres were D11 in May and D10 station in July while for Vlora were V4 in May and V6 in July (Figure 3). All these stations are inside the ports of Durres and Vlora. Semi-closed areas of ports influence their concentration. Distribution and profile of organochlorine pesticides (Figure 4) were found to be different for the ports of Durres and Vlora, for both periods (May and July 2022). Their presence is based mainly on the individual concentration of some pesticides. Endrine ketone was found higher for both ports in May but Endosulfane I, Heptachlor and d-HCH were found higher in July. This fact could be connected mainly with the momentum values of these pollutants in water samples. OCP levels in water samples of Albanian ports were comparable with the reported data in previous studies on the Adriatic Sea, Albanian part (Murtaj et al., 2014; Como et al., 2013, Nuro et al., 2017).



Figure 2. Total of organochlorine pesticides (ng/l) for both periods (May and July 2022) in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports, Adriatic Sea

Source: Own research



Figure 3. Total of pesticides (ng/l) for each station of Durres and Vlora ports **Source:** Own research



Figure 4. Distribution and profile of pesticides (ng/l) in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research

PCB markers were detected in all water samples analyzed from the ports of Durres and Vlora, for both periods (May and July 2022). Also for PCBs, the higher average value was found in the port of Vlora (July 2022) at 5.4 ng/l (Figure 5). Again, Vlora samples were the most polluted for both periods. Their presence can be related to the elevated industrial activity near the ports of Durres and Vlora. Punctual sources and momentum values are not excluded. Again, the total of PCBs for each station was found in higher concentrations for water samples in July 2022. Also, levels of pesticides for Vlora stations were higher than Durres, because of the geographic position of Vlora Bay (Figure 6). It favors the concentration of pollutants inside the bay. The most polluted stations for Durres were D1 in May and D1 station in July while for Vlora were V2 in May and V7 in July. D1 and V2 stations are located outside the port areas while D11 and V7 stations are inside the ports of Durres and Vlora. Terrestrial sources and industrial activity are the main reasons for PAC's presence. The distribution and profile of PCB markers (Figure 7) were found to be different for the ports of Durres and Vlora and for both periods (May and July 2022). Their presence is based mainly on the individual concentration of PCB congeners. PCB 52 was found higher for both ports in May and PCB118 was found higher in July. This fact could be connected with different pollution origins of PCBs in these areas of the Adriatic Sea. It's a combination of atmospheric deposition of volatile congeners (PCB 28 and PCB 52) and terrestrial sources of heavy PCBs (PCB

118 – PCB 180) that are the main factors. Water currents and momentum values can influence their profile. PCB levels in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports were higher/comparable with the reported data in previous studies on the Adriatic Sea, Albanian part (Murtaj et al., 2014; Como et al., 2013, Nuro et al., 2017).



Figure 5. Total of PCB markers (ng/l) for each period of sampling (May and July 2022) in Durres and Vlora ports

Source: Own research



Figure 6. PCB markers (ng/l) for each station of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research



Figure 7. Distribution and profile of PCBs (ng/l) in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were detected in all water samples analyzed from the ports of Durres and Vlora, for both periods (May and July 2022). The higher average value of PAHs was found in the port of Durres (1.2 ug/l) in May and Vlora port in July 2022 (5.5 ug/l). PAH levels in water samples found in July were higher in July. Their presence could be because of elevated ship transport in this period 2-3 times higher than normal. Automobilist transport and any possible accident spillage could be another source of PAH pollution in marine water samples of Durres and Vlora ports. The total of PAHs for each station was higher for water samples of July 2022 (Figure 8). The presence of PAHs is mainly because of the intense ship and automobilist transport in this period. Momentum values are not excluded. Again, levels of PAHs for Vlora stations were higher than Durres because Vlora Bay favors the concentration of pollutants inside the bay as well as in Vlora port. The most polluted stations for Durres were D8 in May and D3 station in July while for Vlora were V8 in May and V4 in July (Figure 9). All these stations are inside the ports of Durres and Vlora. Ship transport and semi-closed areas of ports influence their concentration. Distribution and profile of PAHs (Figure 10) were found to be different for the ports of Durres and Vlora in May but it was almost the same for both ports in July. Their presence is based mainly on the individual concentration of some PAHs. Fluorene and Acenaftilene were found higher in May while Benzo[k]fluoranthrene and Anthracene were at a higher level in July respectively for Durres and Vlora samples. This fact could be connected mainly with the momentum values of these pollutants in water samples. PAH levels in seawater samples of Albanian ports were in the same range/higher than the reported levels for other stations of the Adriatic Sea, Albania (Magi et al., 2002; Marini & Frapiccini, 2013; Mandić & Vrančić, 2017). The concentration of PAH individuals (Anthracene) was higher than the permitted level according to Albanian and EU norms (Directive 2008/105/EC).





Source: Own research



Figure 9. Total of PAH for each station of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research



Figure 10. Distribution and profile of PAHs in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research

BTEX was detected in all water samples analyzed from the ports of Durres and Vlora, for both periods (May and July 2022). The higher average value of BTEX was found for Durres port (July 2022) with 2.7 ug/l. Durres samples were most polluted for both periods. The presence of BTEX could be because of elevated ship transport, automobilist transport and any possible accident spillage of hydrocarbons near the areas of Durres and Vlora ports. Momentum values of BTEX are not excluded. The total BTEX for each station was higher for water samples in July 2022 (Figure 11). The presence of PAHs is mainly because of the intense ship and automobilists transport in this period. Momentum values are not excluded. BTEX levels in Durres stations were higher than in Vlora because of the elevated ship transport in the port of Durres. The most polluted stations for Durres were D9 in May and D3 station in July while for Vlora were V8 in May and V4 in July (Figure 12). All these stations are inside the ports of Durres and Vlora. Ship transport and semi-closed areas of ports influence their concentration. The distribution and profile of BTEX (Figure 13) were found to be different for the ports of Durres and Vlora and for both periods (May and July 2022). Their presence is based mainly on the individual concentration of volatile hydrocarbons. In the May sampling period: Benzene was found higher in the port of Durres while Ethylbenzene was in the port of Vlora. In July: Toluene was higher in Durres while Benzene in Vlora samples. BTEX origin could be the same (ship transport, automobile transport, hydrocarbon spillage, etc.) but momentum values of these pollutants influence their level in water samples. Benzene concentrations were found in higher/comparable concentrations than reported levels for other stations of the Adriatic Sea, Albania (Nuro et al., 2014). Benzene level was higher than the permitted level according to Albanian and EU norms (Directive 2008/105/EC).



Figure 11. Total of BTEX in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research



Figure 12. Total of PAHs in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research



Figure 13. Profile of BTEX in water samples of Durres and Vlora ports Source: Own research

4. CONCLUSION

Organic pollutants (Pesticides, PCBs, PAHs and BTEX) were found in all water samples of Durres and Vlora ports for both periods, May and July 2022. The higher levels for all pollutants were found in July because of the intense activity in this period (2-3 times higher than normal). Organochlorine pollutants (OCPs and PCBs) were found at a higher level for the samples of the Vlora port. It was noted the presence of degradation products of pesticides at higher levels compared to their active products. This fact is connected with the previous use of pesticides in Albania and their degradation process. PCBs volatile were found at high levels for all seawater samples. Their presence could be because of their atmospheric deposition. In some water samples, heavy PCBs were detected. This could be connected with terrestrial. Momentum values of them are not excluded. The presence of PAHs and BTEX could be because of elevated ship transport, automobilistic transport, and any possible accident spillage of hydrocarbons near the areas of Durres and Vlora ports. Concentrations of some individuals (Endrin ketone, Heptachlor, PCB52, PCB 118, Acenaftilene and Benzene) were found relatively in higher concentrations than others. Punctual sources and water currents can affect this. Generally, priority substance concentrations in the water of Durres and Vlora ports were lower than permitted levels for surface waters according to EU Directive 2013/39 and Albanian norms. Exclude was for some individual pollutants (Acenaftilene and Benzene were found at a higher level than the permitted level). Monitoring of organic pollutants in the water of Albanian ports and the Adriatic Sea should be continuous because of their presence.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors want to thank Tirana University for financial support of this study in the frame of the project titled "Analyzes of priority substances in water samples of main Albanian ports" as part of program: "UT-Research, Excellence and Innovation" (2021 - 2024).

References

- Como, E., Nuro, A., Murtajn, B., Marku, E., & Emiri, A. (2013). Study of Some Organic Pollutants in Water Samples of Shkumbini River", *International Journal of Ecosystems and Ecol*ogy Sciences (IJEES), Vol 8, Issue 4. 573-579.
- Corsi, I., Tabaku, A., Nuro, A., Beqiraj, S., Marku, E., Perr, G., Tafaj, L., Baroni, D., Bocari, D., Guerranti, C., Cullaj, A., Mariottini, M., Shundi, L., Volpi, V., Zucchi, S., Pastore, A. M., Iacocca, A., Trisciani, A., Graziosi, M., Piccinetti, M., Benincasa, T., & Focardi, S. (2010).
 "Ecotoxicologial assessment of Vlora Bay (Albany) by a biomonitoring study using an integrated approach of sub-lethal toxicological effects and contaminants levels in bioindicator species". *Journal of Coastal Research, Special Issue 58 Coastal Research in Albania: Vlora Gulf [Tursi & Corselli]*: pp. 116 120. https://doi.org/10.2112/SI 58 1
- Directive 2008/105/EC. The European Parliament And The Council on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directives 82/176/EEC, 83/513/EEC, 84/156/EEC, 84/491/EEC, 86/280/EEC and amending Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council
- ISO 5667-3:2018. Water quality Sampling Part 3: Preservation and handling of water samples
- Lekkas, T., Kolokythas, G., Nikolaou, A., Kostopoulou, M., Kotrikla, A., Gatidou, G., Thomaidis, N. S., Golfinopoulos, S., & Makri, C. (2004). Evaluation of the pollution of the surface waters of Greece from the priority compounds of List II, 76/464/EEC Directive, and other toxic compounds, *Environment International, Volume 30, Issue 8*, 995–1007.
- Magi, E., Bianco, R., Ianni, C., & Di Carro, M. (2002). Distribution of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the sediments of the Adriatic Sea, *Environmental Pollution, Vol. 119*, 91–98.
- Mandić, J., & Vrančić, M. P. (2017). Concentrations and origin of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments of the middle Adriatic Sea, *Acta Adriatica: International Journal of Marine Sciences, Vol 58(1)*, 3 – 24.
- Marini, M., & Frapiccini, E. (2013). Persistence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments in the deeper area of the Northern Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea), *Chemosphere, Volume* 90, issue 6, 1839-1846.
- Murtaj, B., Nuro, A., Como, E., Marku, E., & Mele, A. (2014). "Study of Organochlorinated Pollutants in Water Samples of Karavasta Lagoon" *Science Bulletin of Faculty of Natural Sciences, Tirane, Nr 14.* 178-185.
- Nuro, A., Marku, E., & Myrtaj, B. (2017). "Levels of Organic Pollutants in Water Samples of Vjosa River, Albania" Zastita Materijala/ Materials Protection, Vol. 58 (3), 385-384.
- Nuro, A., Marku, E., & Shehu, M. (2012). "Organochlorinated Pesticide Residues in Marine Water in the South of Albania". *International Journal of Ecosystems and Ecology Sciences* (*IJEES*), Vol 2, Issue 1, 27-34.
- Nuro, A., Marku, E., Murtaj, B., & Mance, S. (2014). "Study of Organochlorinated Pesticides, their Residues and PCB Concentrations in Sediment Samples of Patoku Lagoon" International Journal of Ecosystems and Ecology Sciences (IJEES), Vol 2, Issue 1, 15-20.
- Penttila, P. L., & Siivinen, K. (1996). Control and intake of pesticide residues during 1981-1993 in Finland, *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A, Volume 13, Issue 6*, 609 621.

- Shayler, H., McBride, M., & Harrison, E. (2009). "Sources and Impacts of Contaminants in the Soil", Cornell Waste Managemant Institue, Ithaca.
- Vryzas, Z., Vassiliou, G., Alexoudis, C., & Papadopoulou-Mourkidou, E. (2009). Spatial and temporal distribution of pesticide residues in surface waters in northeastern Greece, *Water Research, Volume 43, Issue 1*, 1–10.
- Wang, B., Yu, G., Yu, Y. J., Huang, J., Hu, H. Y., & Wang, L. S. (2009). Health risk assessment of organic pollutants in Jiangsu Reach of the Huaihe River, China. *Water Sci Technol* 59(5). 907–916.
- Wilhelm, M., Schrey, P., Wittsiepe, J., & Heinzow, B. (2002). Dietary intake of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) by German children using duplicate portion sampling. *Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health. Vol. 204.* 359-362.

Additional reading

- Akkanen, J., Tuikka, A., & Kukkonen, J. V. K. (2005). Comparative sorption and desorption of benzo[a]pyrene and 3,4,3',4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl in natural lake water containing dissolved organic matter. *Environ Sci Technol* 39(19):7529–7534
- Stogiannidis, E., & Laane, R. (2015). Source characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by using their molecular indices: an overview of possibilities. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* 234: 49–133.

ISBN 978-86-80194-63-9